

Volume 4, Issue 4 ICETOL Special Issue Dec, 2021



About the Journal

Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning (JETOL) is an open-access, double-blind-peer reviewed academic educational technology and online learning journal. The Journal targets researchers, practitioners and policy-makers of educational technology and online distance learning fields. JETOL is available free-of-charge to anyone with access to the internet, and there are no article submission or access charges for publication. JETOL has been published triannually since 2018 and is released on the last days of January, May, and September.

JETOL is currently indexed by ERIC - Education Resources Information Center, ProQuest, Google Scholar, J-Gate, BASE - Bielefeld Academic Search Engine, ResearchBIB - Academic Resource Index, ROAD - Directory of Open Access Scholarly Resources, Asos Index. The following names constitute the editorial board.

Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief Dr. Gürhan Durak

Balıkesir University

Anadolu University

Anadolu University

Eskişehir Technical University

İzmir Demokrasi University

Associate Editors

Dr. Hasan Uçar Dr. Nazire Burçin Hamutoğlu Dr. Nil Göksel Dr. Serkan Çankaya

Editorial Board Members

Dr. Abdulkadir Karadeniz Dr. Alper Tolga Kumtepe Dr. Aras Bozkurt Dr. Cengiz Hakan Aydın Dr. Ebba Ossiannilsson Dr. Ela Akgün Özbek Dr. Engin Kurşun Dr. Evrim Genç Kumtepe Dr. Gülsün Kurubacak Dr. Hakan Altınpulluk Dr. Hasan Çalışkan Dr. Jeffrey Keefer Dr. Levent Şahin Dr. Mehmet Kesim Dr. Murat Ataizi Dr. Necip Serdar Sever Dr. Nil Göksel Dr. Nilgün Özdamar Dr. Nilgün Tosun Dr. Ramashego Mphahlele Dr. Ramesh Sharma Dr. Santosh Panda Dr. Serpil Kocdar Dr. Suzan Köseoğlu Dr. Tevfik Volkan Yüzer Dr. Utku Köse

Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University The Swedish Association for Distance Education (SADE) Anadolu University Atatürk University Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University New York State University Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University Anadolu University Trakya University University of South Africa Wawasan Open University The Indira Gandhi National Open University (IGNOU) Anadolu University Goldsmiths, University of London Anadolu University Süleyman Demirel University

Table of Contents

From the Editors	iv
1. Assuring quality in online learning Dennis CHEEK	546-561
2. Psycho-social and Educational Dimension of the COVID-19 Lockdown for Elementary School Students Ayşe TAŞKIRAN	562-575
3. Evaluation of academic procrastination behavior in management of personal learning environments within intelligent tutoring systems Zübeyde YARAŞ	576-593
4. An investigation of the integration of blogs into EFL classes: Learners' views toward blogs and preferences for writing classes Samet BAL	594-604
5. Video feedback via QR codes for pre-service English teachers Meral ÇAPAR	605-625
6. Action research as a tool of teaching ESP in a flipped learning environment Ogün İLTER & Savaş YEŞİLYURT	626-655
7. Prospective English language teachers' perceptions of online and face-to-face education on knowledge, skills, and competencies Didem KOBAN KOÇ & Serdar Engin KOÇ	656-672
8. Examination of a computer-delivered English proficiency test for flight attendants: Test-takers' experiences Sezen ARSLAN	673-687
 A study on the applicability of in-service hybrid education in food and beverage businesses (The example of culinary trends) Mehmet SARIOĞLAN, Cevdet AVCIKURT & Bilal DEVECİ 	688-701
10. Determination of science teaching students learning of several concepts of radyoactivity subject taught with emergency remote education and students' opinions on emergency remote education Gamze DOLU	702-725
11. Distance education in the Covid-19 pandemic period: opinions of primary pre-service teachers about teaching practice course Umit IZGI-ONBASILI & Burcu SEZGINSOY	726-744
12. Investigating learner motivation in online education in terms of self-efficacy and self-regulation Emin ÖZEN & Nilgün KARACA	745-758
13. DDD-E model: Teaching four arithmetic operations in decimal expressions using the problem-based learning approach Şeyma ATAHAN & Sevinç MERT UYANGÖR	759-773
14. Examination of classroom teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge and teacher self- efficacy beliefs Tuxee KASCL & Gülenaz SELCUK	774-792
15. The effect of the training program of digital game design and escape rooms on science and art center teachers' technology acceptance, digital game development self-efficacy and use of digital games Sibel YOLERI & Gizem UYUMAZ	793-804
16. Examination of technology acceptance and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers who are involved in distance education practices during the pandemic process Ozan Deniz KIYICI & Filiz DİKKARTIN ÖVEZ	805-821

17. Teaching writing skills in EFL classes with blending learning Murat ATAİZİ & İstek AKSAK KÖMÜR	822-834
18. Online peer assessment in teacher education Fatma Betül KURNAZ ADIBATMAZ	835-853
19. The relationship between teacher candidates' fear of missing out levels and behavior on social media Can MIHCI & Deniz Mertkan GEZGIN	854-863
20. Covid-19 effects on distance education in higher education: A comparison with bibliometric analysis before Covid-19 pandemic and the Covid-19 pandemic periods Aslihan İSTANBULLU, Murat TOPAL & Sirin KUCUK-AVCI	864-879
21. Opinions and suggestions of classroom teachers in online mathematics education during the Covid-19 pandemic Veli TOPTAŞ, Büşra USLUOĞLU & Gökhan ŞENGÜN	880-895
22. A systematic review of educational suggestions on generation Z in the context of distance education Hülya DÜZENLİ	896-912

From the Editors

Dear JETOL readers, We are proud to announce that Volume 4 Issue 4- ICETOL Special Issue has been published with 22 articles. The International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning (ICETOL), which was held for the first time in **Cunda Island, Ayvalik, Balikesir, Turkey** between **22-24 September 2021.** The main theme of ICETOL was "Transforming and Expanding Online Education for a Better Future". A large number of participants took part in the conference, which was held for the first time. A special issue of JETOL V4 I4 ICETOL has been prepared for those selected papers at the conference.

In this issue, JETOL introduces 22 articles. These articles emphasize many of the important dimensions related to current issues in educational technology and online distance education. We are sure that the topics will gain our readers' attention immediately. In this connection, we would like to thank to all authors and reviewers who contributed to the advancement of scientific knowledge and to the field of educational technology and online learning.

We strongly believe that as an open access journal, JETOL will move forward and contribute the universal knowledge ecology. Hope you enjoy reading this issue. We wish everyone a healthy and happy new year.

Yours respectfully,

Editorial Team

JETOL

December 2021

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Assuring quality in online learning

Dennis CHEEK ^a * 🛈

^a IESEG School of Management, France

Suggested citation: Cheek, D. (2021). Assuring quality in online learning. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 546-561.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Quality assurance Online learning Assessment and evaluation Review Article	The pervasive nature of online learning worldwide necessitates the creation, administration, and improvement of quality assurance mechanisms for higher education institutions. This article delineates a number of principles regarding features of high quality online learning systems and principles related to assessment of student learning, teacher quality measurements, and course and program evaluations. An overview of select world-leading online learning universities, leading standards for online learning systems, some important players providing services regarding online learning and quality assurance, and an extensive further reading list are provided.

1. Introduction

Online learning (OL) environments continue to evolve within and outside of institutions of higher education all over the world. EDUCAUSE, a US-based organization, reports annually on the growth of higher education OL worldwide with a particular emphasis on teaching and learning and notes that matters of quality continue to be important year after year. A keynote address and this corresponding paper concerning quality assurance was requested by the organizers of the 2021 ICETOL conference in Turkey. The discussion and nearly all resources within this article are from institutions and endeavors in multiple countries where English is very widely used with all the many limitations that this implies.

Adequate Quality Assurance (QA) is frequently and self-evidently missing from many efforts at OL all over the world. Frequently online courses and even entire programs reflect learning design mistakes that are readily apparent to experienced learning designers and also noticed by students exposed to these insufficient efforts to advance their learning.

The author experienced some of these dilemmas as a learner when enrolling in some not-to-be-named institutions to take online courses. In one case the overload of work that was assigned in the course was a clear indication that someone in that university clearly thought that the only way to assure others that learning outcomes were the same as face-to-face (f-2-f) environments was to pile the work even higher on these students at a distance from the university. Any protestations that the course was not as rigorous as its f-2-f counterpart could be quickly extinguished by showing that in fact, it was more rigorous. But this clearly cannot be the way forward in assuring quality in online learning.

This article reflects on a series of matters related to QA in OL. Many of these reflections grew out of my own experiences as a learner and as an experienced professor who has taught a wide-array of courses over

e-mail address: ststoday@gmail.com

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Dennis CHEEK, ESEG School of Management, France.

The article is based on the writer's keynote presentation delivered virtually at the ICETOL 2021 conference in Turkey.

many years in f-2-f, distance, and online formats. In some cases, I taught the same course in at least two of these formats – occasions that called for substantial redesign of the course in question before it was well suited to its new format. My thoughts also reflect longtime experience as an evaluator of educational programs and learning environments including creating, promulgating, and educating others about learning standards in varied subjects as well as judging learning quality within both programs and across institutions. Extensive involvement in issues related to creation, analysis, and use of tests and measurements has deepened my wariness towards many educational claims based on dubious evidentiary bases as well as clarified principles regarding assessment, human behavioral responses to assessment, and institutional responses to measurement both in principle and in practice.

2. Important Presumptions about Online Learning

When we say the words quality assurance, it reminds us of the task at hand but also raises key questions – what do we mean by quality? how do we know that what is being delivered is of quality? and just exactly how much quality does it display? Since quality connotes the degree or grade of excellence to be assigned, it involves data, human judgment, as well as sensitivity to relevant contexts.

Assurance carries with it the idea that there is someone – to be determined – who cares about the quality enough to want to know something about it. Quality only is assuring if it puts the mind at rest and distinguishes doubt. Assurance informs the recipient in a positive manner about the goods or deeds in question. There are often multiple audiences seeking assurance with frequently competing needs, desires, or objectives – not all of which are transparent. In terms of OL, these audiences could include students, professors, department heads, heads of institutions, government officials, corporations and nonprofits who employ the people engaging in OL, and the public at large (in respect to public institutions of higher education). QA is therefore frequently carried out in situations with less than perfect knowledge about who wants to know, why they want to know, and what they intend to do with the information they are given. With this wider context for QA in mind, we can consider a series of important presumptions that should be held about OL as it relates to QA matters. The following brief list highlights some important but not exhaustive presumptions:

- 1) Hold online learning to the same standards and analogous types of evidence as f-2-f in terms of student learning outcomes and results and NO HIGHER. Not infrequently, the exact opposite of this statement occurs as people are deluded into thinking that OL should solve problems that are evident in f-2-f learning by going beyond it. On the other hand, there are those that harbor deep suspicions about OL and wish to derail its progress on philosophical grounds alone despite any evidence. Neither view should reign supreme. There is ample experience worldwide to suggest that learners benefit most by having a choice of learning environments since human beings learn in many different ways both as individuals and in groups. There are no a priori reasons why OL should be treated differently from a QA perspective than that of other learning environments in terms of its necessity. The kinds of evidence that is amassed in the respective QA process across diverse learning environments will inevitably differ but the standards to which we hold student learning should be identical.
- 2) Meaningful online learning should be happening at the credential, course, and program level across an entire institution. Too often meaningful OL is limited to a particular program, a particular course, or a particular credential. Our goal should be to ensure that ALL OL is meaningful to its intended audience(s) and it should be meaningful consistently across multiple teachers, topics, and programs within the same institution. Whether OL is being used for the benefit of students, staff, professors, or the public at large, it should always be designed in such a manner as to be meaningful to its intended recipients.

- 3) Learning is so complex that its completeness can never be fully measured, thus all data is illustrative rather than definitive. Human learning is incredibly complex and no matter how we assess it, our best efforts cannot capture its duration, depth, breadth, application, and growth in its entirety. Instead, we should think of our measurements as collectively providing glimpses of learning that are illustrative and illuminating rather than definitive or exhaustive.
- 4) Margins of error occur in measurement and evaluation systems and should be factored into any decisions made on the basis of such measurement or evaluation. An important and foundational principle of metrology, the science of measurement, is that there are margins of error no matter how exquisite and precise the measurement tool. This is even true for exacting weights and measures overseen by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) in the USA and its worldwide counterparts. It is even more true for the behavioral and social (human) sciences when we are trying to measure different types, levels, and degrees of human learning. The science of measurement continues to create new tools that help us in this important venture but the very best of the best still contain variance in results even when measuring the same thing over and over. This should breed humility on both the part of those doing the assessing and those who are the recipients of such assessments whatever they may be measuring.
- 5) Exact answers in quality assurance are costly; proximate measures are sufficient for most QA in OL purposes. Too much time is spent in many enterprises deriving exactitude in measurement when for many practical decisions that must be made, an exact answer is not required. This obviously holds true for things like building atomic bombs as the Nobel Prize winning physicist Enrico Fermi was famous for both noting and practicing in his calculations, but it holds true for many areas in human life. An answer that is approximately 75, 80, 85, or 90 percent correct is often more than sufficient for an informed decision to be taken. Getting to the next ten, five, or one percent depending on the starting point can turn out to be a return on investment (ROI) that just doesn't make sense in the situation. So good QA systems state how good the measurement needs to be in order to be acceptable for the uses for which it is intended. This principle also applies to situations where you are making decisions about a group and an exhaustive examination of each member of the group is completely unnecessary as annual surveys by Gallup, NORC, and other organizations that produce surveys as their core business fully realize and act upon. When a well-known polling organization says that XX percent of the world's population believes YYY, we all know this is based on a carefully drawn sample of the world's population, but it is sufficient to give us a known degree of confidence in the results. If we need even further assurance, we can read the technical report that accompanies such a survey and understand even more precisely what the results do and do not mean.
- 6) Clear online course development requirements for all faculties are vital and should include agreed upon standards of quality with annual updates. Some variation from teacher to teacher in higher education is inevitable. Yet there needs to be boundaries for human variation within systems if the intent is to produce graduates with certain guaranteed capability, knowledge, and skills. Articulated standards for the development of OL courses is imperative to maintain a sufficient and dependable level of quality across the enterprise. OL institutions that were set up this way from their commencement have always seen the need to engage in such efforts because the reputation of the institution itself is on the line if too much variance is permitted to exist. Furthermore, standards ensure that no development steps are forgotten or diminished and that both the highly skilled and experienced teacher and the novice teacher are always working towards and achieving the same exact course standards albeit with plenty of room for individuality to express itself.
- 7) Student evaluations of both their learning experiences and tuition (teaching) should be longitudinal in character rather than near-term, one-time affairs. Institutions should always be

concerned about the long-term prospects and achievements of their graduates and not just what initially gets registered in a single course. Furthermore, some things which students need to acquire and in which they must become proficient to a high standard, cannot be mastered in a single course or in a single year. Many institutions are now using portfolios of student work, some of which is revisited and further revised across their students' journeys within a program of study, as one way in which to take a more longitudinal (developmental) view of student learning that goes beyond a single week, month, or year.

- 8) Institutions and teachers within them must take responsibility for ALL students' learning. Too often we have placed the responsibility for learning almost entirely on the student and resisted efforts in higher education that seek to hold the individual professor equally accountable for the learning of their students. In some programs in fact, failing students is taken as a mark of excellence and rigor of the program when it should be seen as a failure to design courses in a way that enhances student learning no matter how initially "hard" the subject matter is believed to be. Schools that have taken this message to heart have clearly demonstrated that many more students can succeed if we create the right conditions for such success to be realized. We also know from tracking individual students that most students who fail out of one university program frequently achieve marked success in another program which an independent observer might consider to be equally difficult to master. Institutions that take this presumption to heart end up with both happier students and happier, more wholesome professors.
- 9) Learning design within courses and programs should be transparent, constantly adapted in light of ongoing data collection, and continuously improved. Caveat: Learning design is itself a highly refined, scientifically-based set of methods that require skill in their proper application to various content and contexts. Many institutions have now realized that learning design is itself a highly specialized profession that requires advanced knowledge, experience, and skills. AECT, the leading global professional organization for learning designers, has grown in membership over the years as learning designers contribute positively to organizations and institutions across all sectors of society. Institutions at the forefront of OL not surprisingly have large numbers of individuals who are skilled at learning design derived either as part of their formal educational preparation or picked up on the job through tutelage from experienced learning designers who love to share their expertise and help professors continuously improve their course designs and their repertoire of instructional techniques.
- 10) Learning can be purposefully synchronous, asynchronous, a blend of synchronous and asynchronous, discontinuous or intermittent, and/or spread over a long period of time (months or even years). There is no one single way for human beings to learn and this includes within the OL environment. A quick scan of many different universities reveals that courses are designed in dramatically different ways, spaced out in entirely different manners, and increasingly designed with specified audiences in mind. The same exact "course" can be offered in dramatically different forms and configurations to suit different audiences and with equally effective results. Some of this inventiveness takes time to develop as one of the principles of learning design is to design, test, adapt, check, redesign, etc., in iterative manner until the required results are obtained.

3. Select Principles of Human Performance Assessment

At the core of QA is data that is collected actively, passively, or in a variety of ways from students, professors, employers, and other parties. Much of this data is utilized for the purpose of assessing some desired learning outcomes. It provides evidence of different kinds that bears on the achievement of the articulated outcomes that are sought. So just as there are presumptions about OL, there are also underlying principles of human performance assessment which need to be evident within any QA system within an

institution. Better understanding and more fully applying these principles in all the various situations in which they apply can alter the behaviors of those doing the assessment as well as those who are being assessed. It also raises the level of discourse within an institution about assessment matters because in a most fundamental manner – assessment really does and should matter to everyone.

The following list of principles is once again not exhaustive but sufficiently illustrative to help us understand why thinking more about assessment principles can improve our understandings and approaches to QA, make us both more welcoming of its findings over time, and enable critiques of naïve attempts to apply QA in inappropriate ways. With these caveats, here are some principles of human performance assessment with brief commentary:

- 1) Repeated measures matter. Repeating a measurement helps establish its reliability. One-time "snapshots" of performance could be anomalies, but we can only rule this out if we have more frequent and spaced observations on which to rely. If our goal is to have all students reach a particular learning standard, we should give all students multiple opportunities to provide evidence that they have attained that standard. We should banish the "one time- then done" mentality which often afflicts even institutions supposedly dedicated to advancing human learning.
- 2) Favor frequencies over attitudes (both are important). Attitudinal data should always, when possible, be complemented by frequency data which tells us far more about the actions that we presume might be aligned with the attitudes that have been expressed. Knowing how often someone does something is worth far more than any expressed attitude that they strongly believe something. The old adage, "actions speak louder than words," should be plainly visible in our QA actions as well as in how we assure quality in our institutions.
- 3) Trend lines tell you more over time. Year-to-year changes tend to be episodic and provide less clear evidence of positive or negative directions in quality or impact than the use of rolling averages or other forms of trend line creation that track change over time, smoothing out the inherent variations in cohorts of students, different instructors, and other sources of variance within systems.
- 4) No one is ever a "zero;" you only know what you chose to measure you know nothing about what you did not measure. Far too often a single test administration or evaluation is used to make a relatively permanent judgment about a student's performance or even an entire course or program. "Absence of evidence" is only very rarely the same as "evidence of absence." This is why providing alternative means of measurement or alternative indicators of performance is superior to a single measurement or evaluation approach used to the exclusion of all other possibilities. Our goal should be to constantly increase our confidence in our QA system. This can only be achieved by constant questioning of our results, deeply probing the strength of our evidence, seeking out sources of evidence that present contrary views, and welcoming reasoned and insightful dissent from those who are subjected to our measurements or evaluations.
- 5) The fundamental purpose of measurement is improvement not punishment. It is hard to maintain faith in a measurement system that only punishes people based on the results. This inevitably breeds corruption, malaise, rebellion, or other undesirable but entirely human responses. A quality QA system helps provide direction for ongoing quality improvements and measurable gains in efficiency, learning, effectiveness, sustainability, or other matters. It informs work to redesign our courses and programs so that more students can achieve at higher levels over time. It helps provide both impetus for and evidence of improvements in faculty teaching and the increasing capability set of our graduates.
- 6) All actions have effects, so be careful what you measure. It is a truism in the measurement industry that WYMIWYG "what you measure is what you get," so be careful what you measure. As soon as a question is asked within an organization through a questionnaire or other

- 7) Human beings adjust their behaviors to measurement systems. Since humans are sensitive to measurements applied to their behaviors, they inevitably adjust their behaviors over time to the fundamental nature of those measurements. The easier the measurement is to measure the more readily people adapt to its presence and change their direction or actions in the manner desired. This results in quick achievement of a management-intended goal, but it frequently proves illusory since the chosen measurement is often a simple surrogate for something far more desired but vastly more difficult to measure. The push within QA systems should always be for increasingly sophisticated measurements that are more likely to spur desired higher-level and meaningful changes within the system.
- 8) "Data always speaks but it speaks softly and slyly" (attributed to the late Fred Mosteler, Harvard University). At the core of QA systems are reams of data that must be collected faithfully, combined correctly, understood deeply, manipulated properly, analyzed perceptively, and discussed and applied appropriately. This requires the engagement of people with advanced knowledge of statistics as well as knowledge about the social uses of information, data ethics, data privacy, cultural differences, and other issues. Much damage has occurred within universities when inappropriate attention is paid to the many aspects of data conception, collection, curation, analysis, reporting, and use.
- 9) People are not widgets on an assembly line. QA systems are a technological means by which organizations seek to improve themselves and also regularly report their progress to varied publics. QA efforts need to be designed and implemented in a manner that is humane and respectful of the human beings within the system being measured and evaluated. There are often good reasons for the use of exclusion rules, probationary periods, suspension of measurements, adaptation of measurements, etc., which should be regularly discussed, debated, and altered as needed to serve the purposes of the organization while continuing to ensure the overall integrity of the QA processes and system as enacted. Since QA systems are human designed artifacts, they can also be changed by human beings when situations require it for the system to achieve its intended purpose(s).
- 10) Learning effects are visible from almost immediately to those evident only over a much longerterm. QA systems in higher education have frequently been guilty of measuring only short-term effects of the process of education on their students and surrounding environs. A wise approach to QA will incorporate some measurements that occur over longer periods of time such as longitudinal or panel studies, regular studies of randomly selected alumni, or other means of tracking longer term returns on investment (ROIs). Vignettes of exemplars can and should also be created to be shared with appropriate audiences as part of a signaling mechanism of the worth of the academic institution within the wider community, the nation, or the world.
- 11) Learning effects last from ephemeral (fleeting) to those virtually permanent. Some learning is for all intents and purposes permanent in nature. Other learning effects can be captured almost immediately after they have occurred, but they are rapidly extinguished. Most learning effects are somewhere between these two extremes. Earlier principles capture some of the gains to be gleaned from studying individuals on a more extended basis. More consideration can be profitably given to capturing learning effects beyond the level of an individual course to seek evidence of impacts across an entire program of study or an entire institutional unit within the university (e.g., department, college, or larger aggregates).
- 12) Assessment of learning at the individual level is not the same as program or course evaluation; simply rolling up the results of individuals does not adequately measure course or program features or impacts. Institutions should expend more efforts on QA that takes account of well-

designed and executed program evaluations at the level of programs as well as for courses that are offered in multiple sections taught by multiple instructors. Some program evaluations can be competently done by other units within the institution. Sometimes an external program evaluator outside of the institution is the proper choice, especially for those that involve highstakes, are complex, require longer-term engagement, or are socio-politically sensitive.

Straightforward 1-2-3 ranking systems are almost always misunderstood, misapplied, and 13)misleading (Three "misses" in a row!). In a world now filled with rankings of systems of higher education institutions at national and international levels, it remains the case that serial ranking systems can be hugely misleading. There are many reasons that account for this problem but some of the more important ones include: 1) data is often not normalized, 2) different types of institutions are grouped together when they serve different types of students, 3) technical subjects such as engineering, the sciences, and medicine publish at a much higher rate than areas like the arts and humanities, 4) funding support for research varies widely within and across jurisdictions, and 5) intake variables vary widely across institutions. A long-running exemplar in assessing research universities is the Center for Measuring University Performance, now jointly run by the University of Massachusetts - Amherst and the University of Florida (mup.umass.edu/content/measuring-university-performance). Its annual report on the Top American Research Universities is available for the years 2000-2019. These annual reports show what a difference more thoughtful and sophisticated ranking systems can make in helping us understand institutional performance in a comparative manner.

4. Online Learning Quality Assurance among Seven Highly Experienced Universities

Now that we have overviewed some presumptions about OL and some principles about human performance assessment, we can turn to the question - where might we find exemplary QA practices regarding OL? While there are many choices available worldwide from which to choose, this paper will identify only seven examples. These examples were chosen either because they have been delivering distance learning programs for at least four decades, or because they have some unusual focus or orientation that makes their mention here worthwhile. In all cases, it would be a mistake to simply copy whatever QA processes they or others have and to transpose them fully into one's own institution. A better approach is to identify some useful processes, methods, and explanations that are employed elsewhere and to adapt them to the environment in which your institution operates. You may be drawing upon other approaches because your own QA processes need some ideas for improvements, or you are just commencing creation of a new QA system. What you adapt from these universities or others like them around the globe needs to be informed most by what purposes your QA system seeks to serve, who are the potential recipient parties for your QA results, and for what purposes are they being provided. These seven English-language institutions in Canada, UK, and the USA based on their most recent publicly available data (2021), presently serve just over 500,000 students around the world enrolled in at least one of their programs of study. They are arranged here beginning with three of the oldest distinctly distance-learning institutions (UK and Canada respectively) and then the remaining four being all well-known providers of OL based in the USA:

1) **University of London Worldwide** – With over 160 years of experience in running well-known and highly-regarded distance learning programs, ULW is possibly the most widely known and venerable provider of OL in the world. It has over one million alumni found in virtually every country on Earth. ULW currently runs collaborative programs with 11 of its 17 constituent institutions across the entire University of London system, and offers OL learning for over 100 certificates, diplomas, and full-fledged degrees. In addition, it makes available through ULW as well as directly within all 17 of its constituent institutions, the opportunity to enroll in highly-regarded PhD programs via research across virtually all subjects at the university completely at a distance or in a combined distance and f-2-f format. In 2021, there were over 50,000 enrolled

students in 180 countries below the PhD level. There is a General Prospectus 2021 available online that overviews their entire efforts as well as detailed downloadable prospectuses for each of the relevant program areas on offer. Each prospectus is quite detailed about the course design and academic content, learning outcomes, measurement techniques, timelines, learning demands, entry requirements, costs, etc.

- 2) **Open University, UK** The OU is a long-running (50+ years) totally distance or online university with over 175,000 enrolled students in 2021 up through PhD programs across all areas covered by a typical research university. Many PhD students choose to relocate to the OU's campus at Milton Keynes north of London to access research laboratories, library facilities, and subject matter experts. The OU has detailed factsheets available regarding all elements of its quality assurance procedures and processes that are updated every two years including a framework for academic quality and standards, collaborative provision, student support and guidance, accountability to stakeholders, and internal review procedures. Each course and each program have detailed information for students about expectations, time demands, content, assessment procedures, materials, assignments, timelines, costs, supervision, etc.
- 3) Athabasca University, Canada AU was originally chartered in 1970 as a traditional university; it quickly pivoted to meet evident needs and graduated its first online students in 1977. The following year it was recognized as a self-governing public university in Alberta Province that would concentrate on online and distance learning across Canada. It quickly moved to accept students from anywhere in the world. AU currently enrolls about 40,000 students annually. It offers 55 undergraduate and graduate programs including 18 master and two doctoral degrees. Its 5-year IT strategy promulgated in April 2018 is well worth a look when thinking about adequate infrastructure for OL. Additionally, its easily downloaded course development policies and course development procedures are helpful guides to inform efforts elsewhere.
- 4) University of Maryland Global Campus (UMGC) Initially commenced as a unit of the University of Maryland at College Park focused on distance learning, it became a free-standing university on its own within the University of Maryland System of state higher education institutions several decades ago, operating as the University of Maryland University College (UMUC). It was renamed UMGC a few years ago and offers 90 degrees, specializations, and certificates including 30 undergraduate degrees, and 55+ graduate degrees, including two doctorates, to over 60,000 students annually. UMGC offers f-2-f and mixed format degrees in Adelphi, MD, and the wider Washington, DC area and at US military bases around the world, in addition to wholly OL programs available globally. It has well-established procedures for the creation, delivery, and support of OL.
- 5) **Penn State World Campus** Initially a unit within The Pennsylvania State University main campus in University Park, PA, the world campus has operated for many decades and grown into a separate entity within the Penn State System of campuses offering over 150+ degrees and certificates, including 37 bachelor's degrees, 56 master's degrees, and one doctoral degree to students anywhere in the world. The PSWC enrolls about 15,000 students annually exclusively online. It is also widely used for OL coursework (but not entire degree programs) by thousands of additional students at Penn State's 24 campuses across the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as well as external students all around the world who want to pick up some additional concentrated coursework in selected areas. Once again, it has well-established and regularly updated procedures for the creation, delivery, and support of OL.
- 6) Arizona State University Online and Extended Campus A more recent yet significant player in online learning than the universities already profiled, the ASU online and extended campus offers over 289 programs including 134 undergraduate degrees and 166 graduate degrees, including two doctorates, to around 38,000 students annually. It will continue to rapidly

grow due to signing learning agreements with employers such as Starbucks and Walmart who offer partially or fully subsidized university educations to their workforces via ASU as well as other OL degree providers. Some programs are offered with hybrid options, and some require limited f2f learning components. ASU has invested heavily in data analytics that undergird its entire learning environments both online and at its large f2f campus in Phoenix, AZ. ASU has won national awards for its highly successful work with traditionally underrepresented learners and first-time learners in higher education – achievements impossible without the powerful learning analytics embedded within all of its educational infrastructure. Its president, Michael Crow, is well-known for his influential, sometimes controversial, but always informed views about the future of higher education in the USA and beyond which is detailed in two recent books.

7) Western Governors University – This nontraditional private institution was created in 1997 in response to the collective efforts of the governors of 19 states in the American West who envisioned through their Western Governors Association a university design that would feature a competency-focused approach to learning not based on seat time or courses but rather based solely on evidence of student performance. They believed that a strong focus on students already existing capabilities, knowledge, and skills would enable many residents across the American West to earn job-relevant degrees at undergraduate and master levels in the high demand fields of business, teaching (education), IT, and health & nursing. The university is agnostic about where, when, or how you learned something. In 2021 its annual enrollment was over 128,000 students and it is open to students anywhere in the world.

5. Sampling of Mostly US-Based Organizations Supporting Quality Online Learning

With the growth of OL systems in institutions of higher education worldwide and its further increase during the continuing Covid-19 pandemic, organizations founded to support OL efforts have found themselves overly busy providing help and resources to many for whom quality OL is still a distant objective. This list of providers, mostly located within the US, is given in alphabetical order with some brief synopses of what kinds of services they provide. Nearly all are open to members from around the world and a number of them regularly organize conferences, publish research studies or feature research articles, and coordinate collaborative R & D projects among multiple institutions to advance OL environments.

AECT – the Association for Educational Communications and Technology: the largest professional association in the world of learning designers, AECT members can be found all over the globe. AECT as a service organization organizes and convenes annual conferences, research symposia, webinars, and consultations. Their many affiliates organize within their own divisions additional meetings and opportunities for extended online interactions about learning design. They also have national affiliates in a growing number of nations and/or regions. AECT has a long-standing partnership with Springer and publishes numerous peer-reviewed journals, a massive one-volume encyclopedia of research now in its 5th edition (2020), and numerous Springer book series. Individual and organizational memberships are available. Members have full download free access to all AECT publications so long as they continue their membership.

Aurora Institute (formerly **iNACOL**): With a focus on K-12 schooling in the online environment, the Aurora Institute organizes and convenes symposia and provides numerous resources through its Center for Policy, *Competency Works*, and Action Research Center.

Council for Adult and Experiential Learning (CAEL): CAEL has for many years focused on the adult learner – work environment interface. It sponsors an annual conference and provides practical advice and solutions through various programs including *Work Learn Earn* solution, *Credit Predictor Pro*, *Adult Learning 360*, microcourses, webinars, industry events, and research studies. CAEL is now part of the *Strada Collaborative*, a wider entity that offers many useful resources and programs.

Digital Learning Collaborative (DLC): A federation of preK-12 school districts primarily in the US and Canada and organizations who serve them, DLC organizes and convenes an annual conference and topic-focused webinars, as well as providing publications such as its annual *SNAPSHOT*.

EDUCAUSE: Since its inception with a higher education focus, EDUCAUSE has grown into one of the largest and most active players in advancing technology applied to educational environments including but not restricted to OL. It provides a series of resources including analytics institutional self-assessment, *Learning Space Rating System* (LSRS) v.3, resources (online learning, online teaching, online course development planning), conferences, topical webinars, and *EDUCAUSE Institute Leadership & Management Programs* which helps leaders advance their knowledge and proficiencies through focused collaborative learning experiences.

Instructional Technology Council (ITC): ITC is home to the *Distance Education Leadership Academy*, a large Annual eLearning Conference, and topically-focused webinars across an array of subjects.

International Council for Open and Distance Education (ICDE): ICDE is the largest global organization focused on open and distance education and has been based in Norway since 1988. ICDE serves as both a clearinghouse for projects around the world and the organizer of various collaborative projects involving international organizations like OECD, UNESCO and other UN-affiliated organizations, major philanthropic funders, global networks, research consortia, academic institutions, and governments. Its many worthwhile resources include its *Knowledge Hub*, ICDE Projects, ICDE Publications, networks, *Open Praxis* (journal), and the ICDE Quality Review Service.

International Network for Quality Assurance Agencies in Higher Education (INQAAHE): The INQAAHE like its name indicates, is the global organization for quality assurance agencies in higher education at the ministerial level within countries and their respective national networks. The rotating Secretariat in 2021 is housed at the Catalan University Quality Assurance Agency in Spain. UNESCO was a founding partner of the organization and is active in support of the organization's continuing role. It is the preeminent source for QA matters related to higher education contexts. Its many resources include a journal, *Bulletin*, query service, good practice database, conferences and regular webinars on selected topics, *INQAAHE Guidelines of Good Practice – Procedural Manual 2018*, and the very helpful and free *Graduate Qualification in Quality Assurance* program (a set of four complete modules as free downloads for self-study, 2011).

National Council for Online Education (NCOE): NCOE is a partnership of the Online Learning Consortium (OLC), Quality Matters (QM), University Professional and Continuing Education Association (UPCEA), and WICHE Cooperative for Education Technology (WCET). Its products include regular news bulletins, announcements of partner publications, and advocacy efforts in national and state policy arenas in the USA.

Online Learning Consortium (OLC): OLC is a wide-ranging, very active federation of organizations across the USA and beyond working to advance OL with a focus on professional development of OL teachers at all educational levels. Its many resources include the *Online Learning Journal*, two annual conferences: OLC Accelerate and OLC Innovate, Founding Days, OLC Ideate – Virtual Salon Series, OLC Institute for Professional Development [Online teacher certification program, instructional designer programs & courses, Mastery series, On-demand offerings, OLC Institute badges, leadership courses, Institute for Emerging Leaders in Online Learning (annual), webinars], Research Center, Blog – OLC Insights, OLC Continuity Planning and Emergency Preparedness, Awards, *Quality Scorecard Suite*, *Quality Scorecard Navigator*, OLC Quality Scorecard Official Review, Quality Scorecard Case Studies, Quality Scorecard Endorsement, and a Speakers Bureau.

Quality Matters (QM): QM is an organization that started serving the needs of OL providers in the state of Maryland in the USA. It has grown into a national organization with a global presence by providing

resources on quality assurance (QA) in online learning, proprietary QA standards, QA training on the proprietary standards, research on quality matters in online learning, and providing external reviews of quality assurance for OL to institutions on a fee basis.

University Professional and Continuing Education Association (UPCEA): UPCEA is a US-based federation of higher education personnel responsible for professional and continuing education programs within universities. It provides a variety of services including convening the Council for Chief Learning Officers and organizing or providing the Summit on Online Leadership and Administration, UPCEA Hallmarks of Excellence in Online Leadership, Hallmarks of Excellence in Professional and Continuing Education, Hallmarks of Excellence in Credential Innovation, UPCEA Professional Development Certificates, Learning Center, Publications, and benchmarking, research, & consulting services.

Virtual Learning Leadership Alliance (VLLA): VLLA is a well-known K-12 virtual network of state virtual schools' leaders and consortia school organizations in the USA. It provides research and reports, resources, and collaborative projects by members.

Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education Cooperation for Educational Technologies (WCET): Originally focused on the Western US states alone, WCET has grown to include members in all US states and all Canadian provinces and provides resources on institutional success, policy and regulation, student success, and technology. They also organize and convene largescale events and joint initiatives and regularly publish reports and distribute annual awards.

6. Standards for Quality Online Learning

At the core of QA there must exist standards against which assessments of quality are made. Many countries have now created and promulgated standards for QA regarding OL. Only three providers of such standards are highlighted here because these are widely known and have been the basis for the creation of many others in ensuing years. All three providers have informed efforts in higher education QA for OL. They are in alphabetical order:

Quality Matters (2018). Quality Matters Standards (qualitymatters.org; now in its 6th edition).

Tertiary Education and Quality Standards Agency (2017). Quality assurance of online learning toolkit. Department of Education and Training, Australian Government. September.

Virtual Learning Leadership Alliance & Quality Matters (2019a). NSQ National Standards for Quality Online Programs, 2e (www.nsqol.org).

Virtual Learning Leadership Alliance & Quality Matters (2019b). NSQ National Standards for Quality Online Teaching, 3e (www.nsqol.org).

Virtual Learning Leadership Alliance & Quality Matters (2019c). NSQ National Standards for Quality Online Courses, 3e (www.nsqol.org).

A good QA set of standards must address the very different domains which must work together to result in a suitable, sustainable, and successful online environment for students, professors, and support staff wherever they may physically be located. The QM standards, for example, address the following general standards areas: 1) Course Overview and Introduction, 2) Learning Objectives (competencies), 3) Assessment and Measurement, 4) Instructional Materials, 5) Learning Activities and Learner Interactions, 6) Course Technology, 7) Learner Support, and 8) Accessibility and Usability. The Australian standards are organized into nine domains: 1) Leadership and Management, 2) Staffing Profile and Professional

Development, 3) Review and Improvement, 4) Resources, 5) Student Information and Support, 6) Student Experiences, 7) Curriculum Design, 8) Assessment and Integrity, and 9) Learning Outcomes.

These standards are entirely consistent with the QA processes in place in the seven exemplary distance learning universities profiled earlier. What specific QA standards for OL in your institution need to be is an issue that can only be answered by informed insiders of the organization working in concert with representative players from the constituencies that you intend to serve both now and in the future. You do want to ensure that administrators at all levels understand the systemic nature of support systems for effective OL and that success usually requires adaptations of existing platforms, continuous evolution of IT systems and support, and other changes that the OL environment absolutely requires to be successful. The 5-year IT Strategy document from Athabasca University mentioned previously is highly informative on some relevant matters.

7. Conclusion

Effective OL for all requires a sustained commitment from many parties with the intended beneficiaries of such endeavors kept front and center at all times and directly involved in the creation and revision processes. Quality assurance is a vital component of any effective distance learning effort. It is always a continuing effort where tomorrow can be better than today. Institutions that have provided quality OL for decades do so because they have understood thoroughly the nature of their endeavor and the need to constantly improve their efforts. QA only works as intended if there is substantial buy-in to all that it requires in terms of data, engagement of experts with differing expertise, dialogue, debate, reframing, recentering, and resourcing (human, technological, and fiscal). These brief thoughts are intended to aid you on your continuing journey towards excellence in OL. The references have been carefully selected from current offerings to further expand and inform the horizons of your own efforts moving forward.

8. Suggested Further Reading

- AERA, APA, NCME (2014). *Standards for educational and psychological testing*. American Educational Research Association.
- Ali, M. B., & Wood-Harper, A. T., Eds. (2021). Fostering communication and learning with underutilized technologies in higher education. Information Science Reference, IGI Global.
- Banta, T. W., & Palomba, C. A. (2014). Assessment essentials: Planning, implementing, and improving assessment in higher education. Jossey-Bass, 2e.
- Barkley, E. F., & Major, C. H. (2016). *Learning assessment techniques: A handbook for college faculty*. Jossey-Bass.
- Bishop, M. J., Boling, E., Elen, J., & Svihla, V. Eds. (2020). Handbook of research in educational communication and technology: Learning design. AECT and Springer, 5e.
- Boettcher, J. V. (2021). The online teaching survival guide. Jossey-Bass, 3e.
- Bordoloi, R., & Das, P., Eds. (2021). Open higher education in the 21st century. Nova Science Publishers.
- Bosch, C., Laubscher, D. J., & Kyei-Blankson, L. (2021). Re-envisioning and restructuring blended learning for underprivileged communities. IGI Global.
- Careaga Butter, M., Aguilera, M. E., Quintana, G. B., Pérez, J. L., & Sepúlveda, V. E. (2017). Quality assurance for postgraduate programs: Design of a model applied on a university in Chile. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(1), 267-292.

Cifuentes, L. (2021). A guide to administering distance learning. Brill.

- Conceição, S. C. O., & Howles, L. L. (2021). *Designing the online learning experience: Evidence-based principles and strategies*. Stylus Publishing.
- Conrad, D., & Openo, J. (2018). Assessment strategies for online learning: Engagement and authenticity. Athabasca University Press.
- Council for the Advancement of Standards in Higher Education (2019). CAS professional standards for higher education. 10e.
- Davis, V., Dowd, C., Poulin, R., & Silverman, D. (2020). *Pursuing regulatory compliance for digital instruction in response to Covid-19: Policy playbook.* Every Learner Everywhere. Retrieved from https://www.everylearnereverywhere.org/Resources/.
- Dick, E. (2021). *The promise of immersive learning: Augmented and virtual reality's potential in education*. ITIF – Information Technology & Innovation Foundation.
- Digital Learning Collaborative (2019a). *Planning for quality: A guide for continuous improvement of digital learning programs*. Keeping pace with digital learning report. Retrieved from https://www.digitallearningcollab.com.
- Digital Learning Collaborative (2019b). *Planning for quality: A guide for starting and growing a digital learning program. Keeping pace with digital learning report.* Retrieved from https://www.digitallearningcollab.com.
- Digital Learning Collaborative (2020). SNAPSHOT 2020: A review of K-12 online, blended and digital *learning*. Retrieved from https://www.digitallearningcollab.com.
- Espino-Román, P., Olaguez-Torres, E., & Inzunza-Moraila, R. M., Eds. (2021). Developing e-assessment tools and technologies in higher education. Information Science Reference, IGI Global.
- European University Association (2021). Universities without walls: A vision for 2030. Author.
- Fawns, T., Aitken, G., & Jones, D., Eds. (2021). Online postgraduate education in a postdigital world: Beyond technology. Springer.
- Forss, K., Lindkvist, I., & McGillivray, M., Eds. (2021). Long term perspectives in evaluation: Increasing relevance and utility. Routledge.
- Foster, B. L., Donaldson, J. F., & Graham, S. W., Eds. (2021). *Paths to the future of higher education*. Information Age Publishing.
- Giancola, S. P. (2021). *Program evaluation: Embedding evaluation into program design and development*. SAGE Publications.
- Glazier, R. A. (2021). *Connecting in the online classroom: Building rapport between teachers & students.* Johns Hopkins University Press (December).
- Gunder, A., Vignare, K., Adams, S., McGuire, A., & Rafferty, J. (2021). *Optimizing high-quality digital learning experiences: A playbook for faculty. Every Learner Everywhere.* Retrieved from https://www.everylearnereverywhere.org/resources/.
- Heller, R. F. (2022). *The distributed university of sustainable higher education*. Springer (appearing December 2021).
- Hoffman, J., & Blessinger, P., Eds. (2021). *International perspectives in online instruction*. Volume 40. Emerald Publishing.
- Hoidn, S., & Klemenčič, M., Eds. (2021). *The Routledge handbook of student-centered learning and teaching in higher education*. Routledge.

- ICDE Working Group (2019). The present and future of alternative digital credentials (ADCs). Report of the ICDE Working Group. International Council for Open and Distance Education.
- Johnson, D., López, Eds. (2021). *The Wiley handbook of collaborative online learning and global engagement*. Wiley Blackwell (November).
- Joosten, T., Weber, N., Baker, M., Schletzbaum, A., & McGuire, A. (2021). *Planning for a blended future: A research-driven guide for educators.* [Report]. Every Learner Everywhere Network. Retrieved from https://www.everylelarnereverywhere.org/resources/.
- Jørgensen, T. E., & Claeys-Kulik, A-L. (2021). *Pathways to the future: A follow-up to "Universities without walls A vision for 2030."* European University Association.
- Jung, I., Latchem, C. R., & Herrington, J., Eds. (2012). *Quality assurance and accreditation in distance education and e-learning:* Models, policies, and research. Routledge.
- Kilman, R. P., & Cook, J. R. (2021). *The practice of evaluation: Partnership approaches for community change*. SAGE Publications.
- King, J. A. (2021). The American Evaluation Association's program evaluation competencies. New Directions for Evaluation, No. 168. Wiley Periodicals.
- Kosslyn, S. M. (2020). Active learning online: Five principles that make online courses come alive. Alinea Learning.
- Magd, H., & Kunjumuhammed, S. K., Eds. (2022). *Global perspectives on quality assurance and accreditation in higher education institutions*. Information Science Reference, IGI Global.
- Mansell, S., & Gravells, Ann (2021). 50 quality improvement & quality assurance approaches. Simple, easy, and effective ways to improve performance. Learning Matters, a SAGE company.
- Marciniak, R. (2016). Autoevaluación de programas de educación universitaria virtual. [Self-assessment of virtual higher education programs.] Doctoral dissertation. Autonomous University of Barcelona, Spain.
- Marciniak, R. (2018). Quality assurance for online higher education programmes: Design validation of an integrative assessment model applicable to Spanish universities. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 19(2), 126-154.
- Mathes, J. (2018). *Global quality in online, open, flexible and technology enhanced education: An analysis of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats.* International Council for Open and Distance Education.
- Merriam, S. B., & Baumgartner, L. M. (2020). *Learning in adulthood: A comprehensive guide*. Jossey-Bass.
- Niemi, D., Pea, R. D., Saxberg, B., & Clark, R. E., Eds. (2018). *Learning analytics in education*. Information Age Publishing.
- Nilson, L. B., & Goodson, L. A. (2021). Online teaching at its best. Jossey-Bass, 2e.
- Nolan, S. A., Hakala, C., & Landrum, R. E. (2021). Assessing undergraduate learning in psychology: Strategies for measuring and improving student performance. American Psychological Association.
- Office of Inspector General, U.S. Department of Education (2014). *Title IV of the higher education act programs: Additional safeguards are needed to help mitigate the risks that are unique to the distance education environment.* Final audit report. ED-OIG/A071.001, February.

- Palenberg, M., & Paulson, A. (2021). The realpolitik of evaluation: Why demand and supply rarely intersect. Routledge.
- Parchoma, G., Power, M., & Lock, J., Eds. (2020). *The finest blend: Graduate education in Canada. Issues in Distance Education.* Athabasca University Press.
- Peck, A., & DeSawal, D. M., Eds. (2021). Applying design thinking to the measurement of experiential learning. Information Science Reference, IGI Global.
- Pelletier, K., Brown, M., Brooks, D. C., McCormack, M., Reeves, J., & Arbino, N. (2021). 2021 EDUCAUSE Horizon Report, Teaching and Learning Edition. EDUCAUSE.
- Piña, A. A., Ed. (2017). *Instructional design standards for distance learning*. AECT the Association for Educational Communications and Technology.
- Quality Matters (2018). *Quality matters higher education rubric (6th edition)*. Quality Matters. https://www.qualitymatters.org/sites/default/files/PDFs/standardsfromtheQMHigher EducationRubric.pdf.
- Rienties, B., Hampel, R., Scanlon, E., & Whitelock, D., Eds. (2021). *Open-world learning: Research, innovation and the challenges of high-quality education.* Routledge (December).
- Roberts, D. M., Biddix, J. P. (2021). *Frameworks for assessing learning and development outcomes*. Council for the Advancement of Standards in Higher Education.
- Schwegler, A. F. (2019a). Academic rigor: A comprehensive definition. Part one of a three-part series. Quality Matters. September 12, 2019.
- Schwegler, A. F. (2019b). *Contextualizing academic rigor. Part two of a three-part series*. Quality Matters. October 11, 2019.
- Schwegler, A. F. (2019c). Aligning institutional processes to support academic rigor. Part three of a threepart series. Quality Matters. October 25, 2019.
- Secolsky, C., & Denison, D. B., Eds. (2017). Handbook on measurement, assessment, and evaluation in higher education. Routledge, 2e.
- Sengupta, E., Blessiner, P., Ssemwanga, S. A., & Cozza, B., Eds. (2021). *The role of external examining in higher education: Challenges and best practices*. Emerald Publishing.
- Shah, M., Richardson, J. T. E., Pabel, A., & Oliver, B., Eds. (2021). Assessing and enhancing student experience in higher education. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Tanaka, M., Ed. (2011/2019). *Student engagement and quality assurance in higher education: International collaboration for the enhancement of learning*. Routledge.
- Tertiary Education and Quality Standards Agency (2017). *Quality assurance of online learning toolkit*. Department of Education and Training, Australian Government. September.
- Thomas, V. G., & Campbell, P. B. (2021). *Evaluation in today's world: Respecting diversity, improving quality, and promoting usability.* SAGE Publications.
- Ubell, R. (2021). Staying online: How to navigate digital higher education. Routledge.
- Vlachopoulos, D. (2016). Assuring quality in online course design: The roadmap. *The International Review* of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 17(6), 183-205.
- Waldrop, D., Reschly, A. L., Fraysler, K., & Appleton, J. J. (2019). Measuring the engagement of college students: Administration format, structure, and validity of the student engagement instrument –

college. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 51(2), 90-107. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2018.14972129.

- Web Accessibility Initiative of the Worldwide Web Consortium (2021). Why standards harmonization is essential to web accessibility. https://w3.org/WAI/standards-guidelines/harmonization. Retrieved 07.30.2021.
- Xu, D., & Xu, Y. (2019). *The promises and limits of online higher education: Understanding how distance education affects access, cost, and quality.* American Enterprise Institute (AEI), March.
- Yarbrough, D. B., Shulha, L. M., Hopson, R. K., & Caruthers, F. A. (2010). *The program evaluation standards: A guide for evaluators and evaluation users*. Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation. SAGE, 3e.
- Zhoc, K. C. H., Webster, B. J., King, R. B., Li, J. C. H., & Chung, T. S. H. (2018). Higher education student engagement scale (HESES): Development and psychometric evidence. *Research in Higher Education*, 60(2), 219-244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-018-9510-6.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Psycho-social and educational dimension of the COVID-19 lockdown for elementary school students

Ayse TASKIRAN ^a * 🕩

^a Anadolu University, TURKEY

Suggested citation: Taskiran, A. (2021). Psycho-social and educational dimension of the COVID-19 lockdown for elementary school students. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 562-575.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Child anxiety Psycho-social well-being Online education COVID-19 lockdown SCARED	The aim of this study is to investigate psycho-social status and online education experiences of elementary school students during COVID-19 lockdown process. Constructed as a mixed methods research, this study follows a sequential explanatory design. Quantitative data was gathered through snowball sampling technique by using The Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders (SCARED) Scale, and qualitative data was gathered through one-to-one interviews with volunteer participants. Descriptive statistics of the SCARED revealed the presence of an Anxiety Disorder in general. Separation Anxiety Disorder factor stood out among others with the highest score. Content analysis revealed that students were dissatisfied with the online education applications conducted during the lockdown. Based on the findings, implications related to the social and educational dimensions of the lockdown period for young learners were discussed. Suggestions for designing online educational applications that aim to meet target learners' age-specific needs and characteristics were made
itebearen i naeie	anger reactions and spectric needs and characteristics were indee.

1. Introduction

Besides in the field of health, the countries around the world have also had to fight against financial, sociological and psychological effects of COVID-19 pandemic, which was first reported on 31 December, 2019 by Wuhan Municipal Health Commission, China. Since the novel coronavirus was identified, in many countries around the world certain precautions, one of which is the application of lockdown, have been taken. "Different countries worldwide have introduced various solutions during the pandemic to continue the education process. Although children appear resistant to this type of infectious disease, they play an important role in the spread of the outbreak, which was the main reason to close the schools worldwide (Abdulamir & Hafidh, 2020). According to an announcement by UNESCO (2020), 290.5 million primary and secondary school young learners were affected by the nationwide shutdowns in March, 2020. The number soared up to over 1.6 billion students worldwide in December (UNESCO, 2020), which means that education was disrupted for 90% of the world's student population due to the pandemic (UNICEF, 2020b). Following the school closures, face-to-face education was replaced by online education applications at all levels around the world. During the transition to online teaching, measures in a way to support school life academically at all levels have been taken. However, in particular, the education life of primary school students is not only about teaching and comprehending lessons. Not only academic development but also

Received 26 Oct 2021; Revised 20 Nov 2021; Accepted 22 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



Corresponding author. Computer and Instructional Technologies Department, Anadolu University, Turkey. e-mail address:aysetaskiran@anadolu.edu.tr

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

social and psychological development of children through interaction with peers during formal education at schools should be considered seriously. January report of UNESCO (2021) emphasizes that long-term school closures rise psycho-social toll on students and disproportionately affecting the most vulnerable. Furthermore, among other formal lessons at the primary school level, guidance activities organized and followed by counselors focusing on psychological counseling were also interrupted.

Children's psychological health is shaped within the social environment they live as Bandura (1989) highlights the significance of social environment as contributing factor in shaping an individual's behavior in Social Cognitive Theory (SCT). For children, social and psychological development is maintained by social interactions with peers; therefore, long-term isolation and casting away from school environment might affect psycho-social well-being of children and adolescents negatively (Giford-Smith & Brownell, 2013). Erikson's (1963) school age stage (6-12 years) is associated with psycho-social development referred to industry versus inferiority, and it takes place in school and neighborhood through significant relations with others. During this stage the children are exposed to challenges from their parents or peers, and they try to gain competence by putting efforts to achieve certain skills to meet those challenges. If they are not able to gain those skills, they might experience sense of failure and disappointment (Erikson, 1963). In the time of pandemic, the children generally cannot receive input regarding the above-mentioned challenges from their parents. Moreover, due to the home confinement during the lockdowns, they cannot interact with their peers. The cultural and educational development of the children is shaped depending on the quality of their personal, social and emotional development at early ages. Therefore, isolation process of the primary school children should be monitored closely.

2. Literature

COVID-19 lockdown and isolation, which led to casting away from peers and school environment due to strict social distancing measures, should be considered seriously in terms of well-being of young learners. Because of the lockdown and school closures, children have become devoid of essential social–emotional learning, missed out formative relationships with peers, and more importantly, missed out the opportunities for play (Levinson et al., 2020). In addition, uncertainties regarding school closure periods, execution of online exams, novel distance performance evaluations and family-induced stress might also be counted as factors affecting young learners' psycho-social well-being negatively.

Long-term closure of schools and being kept at home in different conditions that are not natural might have physiological and psychological negative effects on children (Brazendale et al., 2017; Brooks et al., 2020). As Wang et al. (2020) point out, it is observed that children are physically less active, have more irregular sleep and are cardiovascularly weak at the end of long-term separation from school and when they are closed at home. With the decrease of time spent outside in the case of home closure during the period of epidemic diseases, physiological and psychological problems caused directly or indirectly by distancing from activities and not being able to interact with their peers become more serious (Wang et al., 2020). Pandemics are known to have undesired psychological effects on children such as fear, boredom, long-term stress, frustration, loneliness due to lack of face-to-face contact with classmates, and teachers, and researchers point out that these effects might be long-lasting (Brooks et al., 2020). Miranda et al. (2020) caution that during the outbreaks, a special care should be provided for children and adolescents more than others in order to help preserve mental health because they are at the critical stage of the development. Limited social contact with peers during the pandemic in Japan has led to anxiety and distress for children and their families (Isumi et al., 2020). Similarly, in another study by Zhou et al. adolescents showed depression and anxiety symptoms due to COVID-19 pandemic in China. During times of outbreaks of disasters not only adults but also children are exposed to radical changes in their daily routine and social lives (Danese et al., 2019). The researchers asserted that alternative solutions, such as web-based platforms, were developed for delivering the lectures; however, uncertainty regarding the duration of the

closures and challenges regarding online education might have negative effects on students' psychological health (Zhou et al., 2020).

World-wide pandemics might occur at any time. Therefore, the solutions for the adverse effects of such inconveniencies on children's psychological well-being and academic development should be considered for all possible disaster scenarios, not just specific occurrences. As can be seen, the psychological effects of epidemics should be taken seriously, as well as the negative physiological effects. Considering the epidemic diseases that have occurred in the world in recent years, many countries as well as Turkey have had to take the large-scale measures against COVID-19 outbreak. While the spread of the epidemic is tried to be slowed down through social isolation and lockdown measures that are applied throughout the country, the public is informed through public spots published in the national media. According to the Address Based Population Registration System (ABPRS) results, the child population rate was 27.5% across the country as of the end of 2019 (TUİK, 2019). From this point of view, child population seems to be considerably high in Turkey. It should be considered that children as well as adults can be affected by the practices that are reflected in daily life within the scope of lockdown measures and education interruption throughout the country. This study intends to investigate well-being of elementary school students in terms of psycho-social status and online education during COVID-19 lockdown process. It aims to elaborate how children are feeling in terms of their social and educational life during the curfew. The research questions of the study are as follows:

- 1. Do elementary school students experience any anxiety disorder during COVID-19 lockdown?
- 2. How do elementary school students feel about their social lives during the lockdown?
- 3. How do elementary school students evaluate online education experiences during the lockdown?

The findings of this study might shed light on the social, educational and emotional needs and expectations of this age group. The findings could also help authorities become more aware of this social issue and help them figure out possible solutions for this phenomenon for the target age group. To be able to get the bigger picture of the issue, the quantitative data was gathered through snowball sampling technique, which does not limit the source of data to a specific location but lets the spread of the instrument to many different participants in various cities of the country. Upon receiving the quantitative data through a valid and reliable scale specifically designed for children, one-to-one interviews with the volunteer participants were conducted in order to complement and elaborate the quantitative findings.

3. Methodology

3.1. Participants

The participants of this study were elementary school children from various cities in Turkey. The data was collected during COVID-19 lockdown in May, 2020. The sample was selected through snowball sampling technique. This is a useful technique in exploratory, qualitative and descriptive research, especially in those studies that focus on vulnerable population (Baltar & Brunet, 2012). Digital form of SCARED was first sent to the parents who are known by the researcher, and the parents of the initial group were asked to spread the scale to as many parents they know as possible. In two-week time the number reached to 154 participants. Demographic information of the participants can be found in Table 1.

Table 1.

Demographic i	information	of the	participants
---------------	-------------	--------	--------------

City	Number of Participants
Ankara	45
Eskişehir	37
Bursa	27

İstanbul	19	
OTHER	26	

The ages of the participants ranged from 7 to 14. They were all primary school students. The distribution of participants by age can be seen in Table 2.

Table 2.

Age range of the participants

Age	Frequency
7	20
8	28
9	14
10	20
11	11
12	18
13	20
14	23
Total	154

3.2. Instruments

In the quantitative data collection phase of the study The Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders-SCARED (Birmaher et al., 1999) scale, which was developed to scan childhood anxiety disorders, was used. The Turkish validity and reliability study of SCARED was performed by Çakmakçı (2003). The scale consists of 41 items. Each item receives zero, one or two points according to the severity of the symptom. Total score and five separate factor points are obtained. The total score is suggested as a cut-off point of 25 and is thought to indicate the presence of an Anxiety Disorder. Each factor points to a separate Anxiety Disorder. The five factor points, each calculated separately, have their own cut-off points and are calculated as follows:

- Panic Disorder and Somatic Symptom: when items 1, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 19, 22, 24, 27, 30, 34 and 38 have a total score of 7 and above,
- Common Anxiety Disorder: when total score of items 5, 7, 14, 21, 23, 28, 33, 35 and 37 is 9 and above,
- Separation Anxiety Disorder: when total score of items 4, 8, 13, 16, 20, 25, 29 and 31 is 5 and above,
- Social Anxiety Disorder: when total score of items 3, 10, 26, 32, 39, 40 and 41 is 8 and above,
- School Phobia: when total score of items 2, 11, 17 and 36 is 3 and above.

For the qualitative data, open-ended questions were prepared by the researcher. The questions aimed to gather in-dept information related to participants' feelings, daily routines, and online education practices during the lockdown.

3.3. Research Design and Procedure

Constructed as a mixed methods research, this study follows a sequential explanatory design. Sequential explanatory design has two stages. Following the quantitative phase, qualitative phase is conducted in order to o elaborate or improve the quantitative results (Creswell, 2003). In this study quantitative data was gathered through snowball sampling technique by using The Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional

Disorders (SCARED) Scale and qualitative data was gathered through one-to-one interviews with volunteer participants.

SCARED was transferred to a Google Form by adding a section containing information about the content of the research, the confidentiality of the data, what purpose the data will be used for and the consent of the parents. Parents of the participating children were asked to provide guidance for those who are younger than 10 years old. The form was shared with the participating parents in the third week of May, 2020 when the lockdown for those who are under 20 years old had been going on for about a couple of months.

For the qualitative phase of the study five children whose parents accepted the invitation took part in oneto-one interviews. The interviews lasted for about 10-15 minutes. All interviews were conducted on the phone and the conversations were recorded. The demographic information about interview participants can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3.

Demographic information about the interview participants

Participant	Age	City
Deren	9	Bursa
Ela	10	Eskisehir
Gokhan	10	Eskisehir
Pinar	9	Ankara
Ada	8	İstanbul

3.4. Data Analysis

For the quantitative data, the statistical package SPSS was used to carry out the exploratory factor analyses of the scale. For the qualitative data, the researcher transcribed the recorded conversations, and two independent researchers carried out the content analysis. The researchers revised the data until they reach consensus on the codes and themes. Different methods are used for content analysis in the literature. One of these methods involves coding the data related to the theoretical and conceptual structure of the study according to some pre-determined codes or themes in the literature. This method can be categorized as deductive (Potter & Levine-Donnerstein, 1999). Another widely used method in literature is the traditional content analysis method. In this method, researchers avoid using preset themes in the literature (Kondracki & Wellman, 2002). Instead of using predefined themes, researchers allow the names of categories and themes to flow from the data (Kondracki et al., 2002). This method is defined as inductive category development (Mayring, 2004). In this study, traditional content analysis method was used since the purpose of the study was to describe a relatively new phenomenon and the existing contextual research literature on the phenomenon was limited. The inductive approach used in this study includes simultaneous comparison of all semantic units obtained by inductive category coding (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). First, important expressions were highlighted, then codes were created from these expressions, and then more general themes were reached by bringing these codes together.

3.5. Findings and Discussions

Descriptive statistics on each factor of SCARED revealed different mean scores that can be seen in Table 4. For each factor, scores of relevant items were added up and the total score for each participant was found. Next, by using the total score, the mean score for each factor for all participants was calculated. The mean score for Panic Disorder and Somatic Symptom factor was found to be 5.85, which is lower than the cut-off-point 7. For Common Anxiety Disorder factor, the mean score for all participants was found to be 5.51, which is lower than the cut-off-point 9. For Separation Anxiety Disorder factor, the mean score was 6.34, which is higher than the cut-off point 5. For Social Anxiety Disorder, the mean score was 6.34, which is lower than the cut-off point 8. Finally, for School Phobia factor, the mean score was 1.75, which is lower than the cut-off-point 3. Based on the findings, Separation Anxiety Disorder factor was the only factor that

exceeded the threshold value among others. Scores of the rest of the factors showed no serious anxiety problems. However, total score of five separate factor points is suggested to have a cut-off-point of 25, and when the total score is higher, it is thought to indicate the presence of an Anxiety Disorder. In this study total score of five factors was found to be 25.93, which is higher than the cut-off-point.

Table 4.

Descriptive statistics of factors in SCARED

	Ν	Range	Min.	Max.	Mean	Cut-off Points	Std. Error	Std. Devia	ation Variance
Panic Disorder	154	25	0	25	5.85	7	.398	4.936	24.363
Common Anxiety	154	18	0	18	5.51	9	.338	4.195	17.598
Separation Anxiety	154	15	0	15	*6.34	5	.258	3.200	10.238
Social Anxiety	154	14	0	14	6.48	8	.249	3.087	9.532
School Phobia	154	8	0	8	1.75	3	.140	1.736	3.014
Total					*25.93	25			

*Higher values boldfaced

Table 4 also shows the range of each factor. It can be seen that the range for each factor is quite high. That is, while some of the participants were experiencing high degree of anxiety for any factor, some others did not have any symptom of anxiety for any factor. Therefore, rather than averaging the scores of all participants, it is more reasonable to examine the scores for each participant individually. Figure 1 shows frequency of high level anxiety for each factor according to their cut-off points. Among 154 participants 109 of them had high level of Separation Anxiety Disorder, which nearly equals to two third of the total participants. It was followed by Social Anxiety Disorder with 55 participants, that means almost one third of all participants. Both Panic Disorder and School Phobia had the same frequency with 46 participants each. The least frequent factor was found to be Common Anxiety Disorder with only 31 participants, the frequency which corresponds to one fifth of the participants.



Fig. 1. Cut-off point frequency for each factor

The data of each factor was also analyzed in terms of age groups. Table 5 shows how mean scores for each factor differ according to age groups. Panic Disorder factor was found to be higher than the cut-off point among participants in the age group of 14. None of the age groups scored higher than the cut-off point in Common Anxiety Disorder factor, which means 31 participants with higher scores than the cut-off point were scattered across all age groups. Except for age group of 12, all age groups scored higher in Separation Anxiety Disorder factor. There was no higher score than the cut-off point in the age groups for Social

Anxiety Disorder factor, which means 55 participants who scored higher than the cut-off point were scattered across all age groups. Finally, there was no higher score than the cut-off point in any age group for School Phobia factor, which means 46 participants with high scores were scattered across all age groups.

Table 5.

Distribution of factors by age group

Age		Panic	Common	Separation	Social	School
		Disorder	Anxiety	Anxiety	Anxiety	Phobia
7	Mean	4.95	3.05	8.10	7.30	1.20
	Ν	20	20	20	20	20
	Std. Dev.	3.546	2.328	3.110	3.063	1.881
8	Mean	4.68	5.18	7.25	7.43	1.36
	Ν	28	28	28	28	28
	Std. Dev.	3.300	3.897	2.888	2.574	1.283
9	Mean	6.64	5.21	5.86	6.14	1.29
	Ν	14	14	14	14	14
	Std. Dev.	4.088	3.191	3.255	2.797	1.490
10	Mean	6.20	5.10	6.05	5.70	2.05
	Ν	20	20	20	20	20
	Std. Dev.	5.782	4.553	3.410	3.420	2.038
11	Mean	5.09	6.55	7.27	7.82	1.64
	Ν	11	11	11	11	11
	Std. Dev.	4.300	4.180	3.101	3.219	1.286
12	Mean	5.83	4.78	4.89	6.44	1.39
	Ν	18	18	18	18	18
	Std. Dev.	4.643	3.574	2.349	3.091	1.145
13	Mean	6.30	6.80	5.95	5.55	2.25
	Ν	20	20	20	20	20
	Std. Dev.	6.634	4.884	3.576	3.395	1.743
14	Mean	*7.26	7.57	5.26	5.70	2.61
	Ν	23	23	23	23	23
	Std. Dev.	6.151	4.897	3.003	2.930	2.190

The interviews were conducted with five children from different cities. The findings revealed six different themes with various corresponding codes based on the important statements of the participants. The themes, codes and the important statements of the participants can be seen in Table 6.

Table 6.

Themes, Codes and important statements

Themes	Codes	Important Statements
	Positive	Deren. I am bored because of this curfew. I am longing for my friends
	Hopeful	and I miss school. I miss going out on the street and playing games. I
	Good to be with mom	miss the forest, the trees. I am worried a little bit. Sometimes I am
	Good to be with family	hopeful. I miss hugging each other tightly. I am happy because
	Negative	everyone is at home.
	Bored	Ela. When Corona first came out I was scared. I was worried. I was
Feelings	Miss school	anxious. I miss school very much. I long for being with my friends.
	Long for friends	It is hard to communicate with friends in online lessons.
	Miss hugging	Gökhan. Not being allowed to go outside is boring. I cannot go out
	Miss nature	and I miss my cousin very much. I want to go out and play but I
	Miss playing games	cannot. I miss the streets. I am bored because I am home all the time.
	Scared	I am not too worried thanks to my mom. My mom is with me and this
	Afraid being outside	is good. She is on leave.

	Difficult communication	Pinar. Being with mom is good. We have a lot of time to spend
	Anxious	together. I miss school very much. I miss my class very much. I
	Worried	cannot see my friends. This is really bad. I sometimes want to go to a
		park but I am not allowed to. I am nome all the time.
		Ada. 1 am bored. 1 am also a little scared. 1 am afraid of going outside.
	Awareness for cleanliness	Deren. I have understood the reason for cleanliness and hygiene.
	Awareness for hygiene	Ela. I have learned to pay more attention to cleanliness. I have
	Awareness for neatness	understood the value of school. I have understood the value of my
	Understanding value of school	friends.
	Understanding value of friends	Gokhan. Being with mom is good. When you pay attention to
Calma	Great to be with mom	nygiene, there is no problem.
Gains	Start loving nome	<i>Pinar</i> . Being with mom at nome and playing games together is great.
	Learning now to protect onesen	I have learned to love my nome. I have learned to duy up my room. I
		wash my hands muy times a day. Clean mess is a must. A da I true to be chosen and nector. I true to store super from others. I
		Add. I try to be cleaner and neater. I try to stay away from others. I
	Traing to be henry	Deren L try to be henry L spend my free time doing activities I do
	Vacaning busy with activities	<i>Deren.</i> I uy to be happy. I spend my nee time doing activities. I do
	Drowing	Fla I find compating to do at home. I draw nictures comptimes. I play
Coping	Diawing Playing games alone	games on my own
Strategies	Helping housework	<i>Gäkhan</i> Sometimes I help mom setting up the table. Sometimes I do
Sualegies	Playing computer games	my homework or play computer games
	Reading	Pinar I sometimes organize my bookcase. I read a lot many books I
	Singing	sing songs and spend time drawing
	Organizing room	Ada I watch ty I spend time coloring I play games on my own
	Watching ty	Sometimes I help my mom do housework
	Coloring	bolitetilles i help illy moni do nousework.
	Positive	Derin In real life school I could see my teachers alive
	Home is like school	<i>Ela</i> . Online lessons are harder than real school lessons. Lessons on
	Online teachers better	the internet are more difficult than usual lessons so sometimes I do
	Negative	not understand.
	Cannot see teachers alive	<i>Gökhan</i> . Even if we do not go to school, our home is like a school.
School	More difficult online lessons	We often have serious internet connection problems during online
Lessons	Internet connection problems	lessons. Sometimes there is no sound and sometimes video freezes.
	Cannot understand lessons	Sometimes we are logged out completely. Nonstop homework, online
	Monotonous	lessons, homework, online lessons! My brain burns.
	Boring	<i>Pinar</i> . We have online lessons on the Internet. Some teachers on the
	Not real break times	internet are giving lectures a lot better than school teachers. But I am
	Low motivation to participate	bored.
		<i>Ada</i> . It is both like school and not like school. There are lessons but
		break times are not like the ones in the school. Sometimes I do not
		want to listen to online lessons. Sometimes I do not understand.
	Real life school	Deren. I prefer real life school.
	Seeing people face to face	<i>Ela.</i> I'd rather see my grandparents face to face. Talking on the phone
	Playing games face to face	is not the same
	Staying home staying safe	Gökhan. We videoconference with my cousin but I want to play
Preferences	Playing in nature	games with him
	Going to school	<i>Pinar</i> . Playing in the grass near the trees is better than home.
	Playing outside	Ada. I always want to be outside and go to school. Lessons at home
		are not like at school.
	Catting and af the inter	Dence I wish this semanations of 11 definited as a line of
	Getting rid of the virus	Deren. I wish this coronavirus will definitely expire as soon as
	visiting grandparents, relatives	possible. I want to see my grandparents and my aunt.
	Playing outside	I want to run outside and play games right away.
	Boing to the stores	<i>Lua</i> . I want to go to my grandma's nouse, I want to go to the store, I
Wishes	Going to acurress	Wall to go out into the garden in the open air.
	No vigue in the world	it to be around from all over the world. I want to get well actively and want
	Schools start accin	n to be clased from an over the world. I want to get well soon.
	Schools staft again	

Playing with friends	<i>Gökhan.</i> I want to go out and relax, I want to play with my friends,
Being in the nature	but I'm stuck with my mom here!
Hugging friends tightly	<i>Pinar</i> . I want my school to be opened immediately. I want to go to
Turning back to norma	the park, near the trees. I want to play games with my friends.
-	Ada. I want to hug my friends tightly. I wish everywhere was as
	before.

In terms of positive feelings, the participants repeatedly expressed how nice it was to be with their mothers or families, which can be concluded that they would never wish to be apart from them. Some of their statements are as follows:

Gökhan: "It's boring not going out. But my mother is with me. Because she is a teacher and on leave, she is at home. That's why, it's fine. It's not too boring for me because my mom is with me."

Deren: "I spend my free time doing activities. So I try to be happy. I can also see my mother more. I am happy that everyone is at home."

Interviews revealed some negative feelings related to home confinements. Participants repeated that they long for meeting their peers and socializing at school. Some of their statements are as follows:

Ela: "When the minister of health first announced the curfew, I was very upset. I became nervous. I want the corona to pass immediately, I want this virus to extinguish from the world."

Deren: "I am bored because of this curfew. I am longing for my friends and I miss school. I miss going out on the street and playing games. I miss the forest, the trees. My friends and I were playing games in the school yard, I miss that, and I also miss hugging each other tightly. I am worried a little bit."

Ada: "I used to spend time outside every day. I miss being out. I miss being free. Everywhere is dangerous now and I am tired of this."

Participants also mentioned about some personal gains that they have experienced during the curfew. They highlighted that curfew created some awareness about health, hygiene and value of school and social relations. Some of their statements are as follows:

Ela: "I learned to pay more attention to cleanliness, and I understood the value of the school. I understood the value of my friends"

Pinar: "There might be viruses everywhere. Even if we can't see them, they are there. So, we should protect ourselves every time. I learned the importance of washing my hands. Now I wash my hands every minute."

Deren: "I am bored with this lockdown, but on the one hand, I understood the reason for cleanliness, that is, hygiene."

As coping strategies during the curfew, participants mentioned various activities that they enjoyed doing at home. Some of these activities involved doing art activities, helping mom, playing computer games, reading and watching tv. Some of their statements are as follows:

Deren: "I do a lot of things to try to entertain myself. For example, I get up early in the morning and deal with many activities until the evening. I spend my free time doing activities, so I try to be happy."

Ada: "I sometimes draw pictures, listen to music or watch cartoons on TV. I often play online games on my mom's phone."

Ela: "Now I am not allowed to go out, but I can find something to do at home. I occasionally paint, I play games myself. Although I cannot go out on the streets, I can find things to do at home.

Related to school life at home, the interviews with the participants revealed few positive and some negative opinions. One participant mentioned that he was happy with homeschooling and one other participant claimed that online teachers were better than school teachers. In general, participants emphasized that they were bored with homeschooling. Some of their statements are as follows:

Gökhan: "Do homework, do homework in online lesson, then do normal homework, then play computer games, then sleep, so my routine is like that, and I'm bored now. I want to go out and play, but coronavirus is out there and I don't want to be infected. I want to go out and relax but I am trapped with my mother here"

Deren: "I miss attending lessons, I miss break times. I miss being at school with my friends. If I were with my friends, I would do activities, I would do lessons. When I had a breakfast break, I would eat my breakfast with my friends. I miss my school."

Ela: "Lessons on the Internet are a bit more difficult than school. Sometimes I do not understand. I miss going to school. I can't go to school right now, there are online lessons, but communicating in online lessons is more difficult than normal school."

Gökhan: "There is a lot of trouble in internet connection during online classes. Sometimes the sound goes off, sometimes the video freezes. Sometimes the connection is completely disconnected and we are discarded. In online lessons my teacher does not give me the right to speak even though I lift a finger."

Ada: "Online lessons are fine but sometimes I am bored because online classes is not like being at school. I cannot talk to my friends. Sometimes I hardly listen to my teacher on the screen."

Interviews revealed other themes related to preferences and wishes of the participants during the curfew. One of the common wishes of the participants was to end the pandemic as soon as possible and return to the old normal. Some of their statements are as follows:

Ela: "I video chat with my grandparents, but then I can't hug them. I can't do activities with them. I prefer to see them. Video chat is not like that."

Gökhan: "I mean, the worst thing is not being able to see my cousin, there is video chat but I want to play games with him, I want to have fun."

Deren: "We are talking on WhatsApp now. But it is better to play games by hugging tightly I wish this coronavirus will definitely expire as soon as possible."

Gökhan: "I want to go out and relax, I want to play with my friends, but I'm stuck with my mom here! I wish it weren't be like this."

Ada: "I want to hug my friends tightly. I wish everywhere was as before."

Pinar: "I want my school to be opened immediately. I want to go to the park, near the trees. I want to play games with my friends."

For such a sensitive study in which the participants were young children, it was considered that integrating not only quantitative but also qualitative data was important for obtaining more in-dept data from the participants. By utilizing mixed methods research, it was possible to gain in breath of understanding and identification of the phenomenon more accurately. For the first phase of the study, descriptive statistics of the SCARED revealed the presence of an Anxiety Disorder in general as the score was slightly higher than the cut-off point. This finding is parallel with the relevant research indicating that children who are isolated or quarantined during pandemic diseases are more likely to develop feelings such as acute stress disorder, adjustment disorder, anxiety, and grief (Sprang & Silman, 2013). A systematic review research performed by Chew et al. (2020) revealed the presence of anxiety with rates varying between 3.2% and 12.6% across eleven out of eighteen SARS-related studies, two H1N1-related studies, and two out of four Ebola-related studies.

When looked into closely, Separation Anxiety Disorder factor stands out among others with the highest score. Also, this factor's high score is seen in all age groups except for age group of 12. One reason for this may be that children feel the fear of losing one of their families due to the news on loss of lives on the media they are exposed to. As Brooks et al. (2020) point out, fear of family losses is one of the negative psychological impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on neglected children, which might remain permanent. Also, that the children had never left their families during the long quarantine process might have had such an impact on them.

For the Panic Disorder factor, only the age group of 14 scores higher than the cut-off-point and the scores get higher as the participants get older. It can be concluded that as the kids get older, they become more aware of what is going around them. That is, authorities should not be mistaken for older children to handle such processes more easily. It seems that they feel more panicked than the younger ones. Another factor that should be highlighted is Social Anxiety Disorder, which was scored high by one third of the participants and which had a score closest to the cut-off point among the other factors. This finding seems quite expected as those children are bombarded with the warnings and alerts from their parents and the media about not being close to the other people and keeping their social distance. As McCloskey et al. (2020) pointed out that soon after the outbreak, the warnings about avoiding public gatherings, family occasions and group meetings came from governments, media, doctors, celebrities and many different sources in the societies in order to stop the spread of the pandemic. Similarly, in the study of Roy et al. (2020), most (98 %) of the participants thought social distancing was essential to stop the virus from spreading. Likewise, the participants in this study might have tended to feel uneasy when they were with people other than their family members.

In general School Phobia factor seems to be the one with the lowest score. The reason behind this might be the fact that government in Turkey has made a decision to stop face to face education for the spring term in 2020. Therefore, the children knew that they were not going to attend the classes in their schools.

The content analysis of the interviews revealed some themes. For the 'feelings' theme it can be concluded that the participants had more negative feelings than positive ones. Positive feelings were about being hopeful and content with being together with mother and the rest of the family. Negative feelings were about missing school, friends, relatives and the previous routine. Children seem to be scared of going out either due to the prohibitions or threat of coronavirus. The other theme was about "gains". The children mentioned about some lessons they learned thanks to this pandemic and lockdown process. The participants mentioned the importance of hygiene and value of being in good health.

The participants also mentioned about how they spent time during the curfew. Although adults seemed to be having hard time during conditions like these, children seemed to be more capable of finding their own way to cope with the curfew. The children in this study stated that they figured out their own techniques to cope with that boring process in their own ways. While some of them tended to be busy with art or music, others talked about leisure activities such as watching television or playing computer games.

The measures taken against this pandemic included online platforms and distance education applications to be employed for the educational needs of individuals at all levels, yet the interview participants in this study seem to be dissatisfied with the distance education applications. They complain about certain issues like online classes' not being like the real classes, online lessons' being too hard to understand or due to the internet connection problems, the lessons' being hard to follow. Similar worries mentioned in a study among the majority of the adult participants in Philippines during the COVID-19 pandemic (Pastor, 2020). The participants were mostly worried about quality of internet connection in the area. Also, the study revealed that the majority of the students are not yet ready in a synchronous mode of delivery. Moreover, some participants in this study complained that there was no school environment, breaks, friendships in distance classes. Some participants were not happy with the routine. In general, they felt bored and tired of online education.

The participants of this study all share common ideas when it comes to preferences and wishes. All of them prefer communicating with their relatives and friends face to face to talking to them online or on the phone. They all want to be in real school environment to be able to meet their friends and teachers face to face. Also, they all want this pandemic to be gone all around the world as soon as possible.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

This study aimed to explore the well-being of elementary school children in terms of psycho-social and educational aspects during the curfew process initiated due to the new coronavirus pandemic in Turkey. When the study was conducted, as one of the most vulnerable part of the society, elementary school children had been experiencing curfew for about a couple of months due to the pandemic. This world-wide pandemic has been a condition that many countries as well as Turkey has not been familiar with in this century. Like in many other countries, in Turkey, measures at all levels, from local to nation-wide administrations, had to be taken hastily. Measures in a way to support school life academically at all levels have been taken, yet academic support is not the only component of healthy school life. Therefore, this major change in elementary school children's daily life is worth examining more closely.

All in all, the pandemic has many negative social and economic effects on the countries all around the world. However, psycho-social effects may be more important than the others as they may have permanent effects. Especially for young children, the social and educational dimensions of the lockdown period become more important. It might be easier to cope with those negative effects as adults by means of certain regulations and coping strategies when compared to children. Children are the most vulnerable part of the society and they might not understand why such a thing is happening and how they should react best. Sociological and psychological needs and well-being of young children should be taken into consideration both on the basis of families and country administrations.

Age-specific learning needs and characteristics of the young learners should be considered while designing emergency online teaching applications. Adult learners, who are generally associated with distance education, have substantially different learning needs and learner profiles from children. That is why, online instructions should be designed keeping in mind young learners' age-specific needs and characteristics. These applications should not be merely on conveying contents of formal lessons to the students. They should also include online psychological counseling and guidance service activities during pandemics. Children should be provided with more opportunities for social interaction in online learning environments. Therefore, design of online courses should be more learner-centered and engaging. For this purpose, online in-service education programs consisting of elaborative guidance on interactive online course design principles, and educational technologies that enhance motivation and engagement should be offered for elementary school teachers.

Some principles can be considered to design online courses according to young learners. More interactive content and activities should be embedded in the online lessons. Authentic materials, which learners can associate with their lives, might contribute to higher interest among young learners. Educators should get rid of the prejudice that mostly individual learning can take place in online learning environments, and they should realize that collaborative work can also be done easily in online environments. It is suggested that there is a positive correlation between interaction and meaningful learning experience (Rich et al., 2009). "Students who are not engaged and who feel separated from the learning environment can become dissatisfied with online courses" (Redmond, 2010, p. 37). As young learners are not familiar with formal distance learning applications including synchronous lessons on computers, transactional distance they might experience may lead them to lose their motivation. In order to eliminate these negative feelings, interactive activities can be initiated. Activities that include asking questions to each other, information exchange with peers, working on a group project together can increase collaboration, engagement and eventually motivation. Moreover, considering that not all learners have high quality internet connections, learning materials that enhance individual learning can be designed without conducting synchronous

lessons. Asynchronous lessons that offer opportunities for engagement at home should be emphasized rather than synchronous lessons in areas with connection problems.

References

- Abdulamir, A. S., & Hafidh, R. R. (2020). The Possible Immunological Pathways for the Variable Immunopathogenesis of COVID--19 Infections among Healthy Adults, Elderly and Children. *Electronic Journal of General Medicine*, 17(4).
- Baltar, F., & Brunet, I. (2012). Social Research 2.0: Virtual Snowball Sampling Method Using Facebook. *Internet Research* 22 (1), 57-74.
- Birmaher, B., Brent, D. A., Chiappetta, L., Bridge, J., Monga, S., & Baugher, M. (1999). Psychometric properties of the Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders (SCARED): A replication study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *38*(10), 1230-1236.
- Brazendale, K., Beets, M. W., Weaver, R. G., Pate, R. R., Turner-McGrievy, G. M., Kaczynski, A. T., ... & von Hippel, P. T. (2017). Understanding differences between summer vs. school obesogenic behaviors of children: the structured days hypothesis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition* and Physical Activity, 14(1), 100.
- Brooks S.K., Webster R.K., Smith L.E., Woodland L., Wessel S., Greenberg N., Rubin, G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet.* 395, (10227), 912-920.
- Chew, Q.H., Wei, K.C., Vasoo, S., Chua, H.C., & Sim, K. (2020). Narrative synthesis of psychological and coping responses towards emerging infectious disease outbreaks in the general population: practical considerations for the COVID-19 pandemic. *Singapore Medical Journal*. 2020, 1-31. doi:10.11622/smedj.2020046
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches*. California: Sage Publications.
- Çakmakçı F.K. (2004): Çocuklarda Anksiyete Bozukluklarını Tarama Ölçeği Geçerlik ve Güvenirlik Çalışması [Validity and Reliability Study of SCARED], *Çocuk ve Gençlik Ruh Sağlığı Dergisi*, 11(2).
- Danese, A., Smith, P., Chitsabesan, P., & Dubicka, B. (2020). Child and adolescent mental health amidst emergencies and disasters. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 216(3), 159-162.
- Erikson, E.H. (1963). Childhood and society. New York: W.W. Norton and Company.
- Glaser, B. G. & Strauss, A. (1967). *The Discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. New York: Aldine.
- Kondracki, N. L., Wellman, N. S., & Amundson, D. R. (2002). Content analysis: Review of methods and their applications in nutrition education. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *34* (4), 224-230.
- McCloskey, B., Zumla, A., Ippolito, G., Blumberg, L., Arbon, P., Cicero, A., ... & Borodina, M. (2020). Mass gathering events and reducing further global spread of COVID-19: a political and public health dilemma. *The Lancet*, *395* (10230), 1096-1099.
- Mayring, P. (2004). Qualitative content analysis. A companion to qualitative research, 1, 159-176.
- Pastor, C. K. L. (2020). Sentiment Analysis on Synchronous Online Delivery of Instruction due to Extreme Community Quarantine in the Philippines caused by COVID-19 Pandemic. Asian Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies, 3(1), 1-6.

- Potter, W. J., & Levine-Donnerstein, D. (1999). Rethinking validity and reliability in content analysis. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 27, 258-284
- Redmond, T. (2010). The Teacher's Role in Enforcing Hand Washing Techniques Among School-Aged Children in the Midst of the H1N1 Pandemic. *Perspectives in Learning*, 11(1), 33-38.
- Rich, L. L., Cowan, W., Herring, S.D., & Wilkes, W. (2009). Collaborate, engage and interact in online learning: Successes with wikis and synchronous virtual classroom at Athens State University. [Paper presentation]. The Fourteenth Annual Instructional Technology Conference, Murfreesboro, TN.
- Roy, D., Tripathy, S., Kar, S. K., Sharma, N., Verma, S. K., & Kaushal, V. (2020). Study of knowledge, attitude, anxiety & perceived mental healthcare need in Indian population during COVID-19 pandemic. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 51 (2020),1-7.
- Sprang, G., & Silman, M. (2013). Posttraumatic stress disorder in parents and youth after health-related disasters. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*, 7(1), 105-110.
- TUİK. (2019). Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu [Turkish Statistical Institution]. Accessed July 2 2020., from https://biruni.tuik.gov.tr/medas/?kn=206&locale=tr
- UNESCO. (2020, March 30). 290 million students out of school due to COVID-19: UNESCO releases first global numbers and mobilizes response . https://en.unesco.org/news/290-million-students-out-school-due-covid-19-unesco-release s-first-global-numbers-and-mobilizes
- UNESCO (2021) https://en.unesco.org/news/unesco-figures-show-two-thirds-academic-year-lost-average-worldwide-due-covid-19-school
- Wang, G., Zhang, Y., Zhao, J., Zhang, J., & Jiang, F. (2020). Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. *The Lancet*, 395, 945-947

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021

http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Evaluation of academic procrastination behavior in management of personal learning environments within intelligent tutoring systems

Zübeyde YARAŞ ^a * 问

^a Hatay Mustafa Kemal University, Turkey; ORCID ID

Suggested citation: Yaraş, Z. (2021). Evaluation of academic procrastination behavior in management of personal learning environments within intelligent tutoring systems. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 576-593.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Academic procrastination Intelligent tutoring systems Personal learning	In the study, it is aimed to investigate the academic procrastination behaviors of teacher candidates in the management of personal learning environments within intelligent tutoring systems. In the study, which was structured in the phenomenological pattern, included in the qualitative research method, the participants were formed from 52 teacher candidates studying at Hatay Mustafa Kemal University Faculty of Education with the 'criteria sampling' method. In line with the findings; teacher candidates are in the opinion that intelligent tutoring systems will have a significant role in the education systems of the future and that the characteristics of learners have altered in digital transformation. When the reasons of academic procrastination behaviors are examined, there are reasons such as low motivation, the design of the course, the digital competencies of the learner and the teacher, while as the solution strategies are examined, the motivation of the learners and teachers, increasing the level of interaction between the learners with intelligent tutoring systems, communication, time management, providing digital competencies. Furthermore, strategies such as providing technical competencies have
Research Article	been suggested by teacher candidates.

1. Introduction

Along with the development of information and communication technologies, educational processes have been restructured in the digital world. In this restructuring transformation, intelligent tutoring systems have gained importance and the effective use of intelligent tutoring systems in education processes has been a crucial factor in determining the quality of digital education. The guiding impact of school administrators and teachers on the transformation process has gained more importance. Since the management of teaching environments directly affect the quality of the teaching process, it is probable to indicate that digital alterations have an impact on quality management. Therefore, distance learning, online learning, digital skills, smart or intelligent systems, personal learning environments, instructional management systems have appeared in learning environments and academic procrastination behaviors were examined in terms of the effectiveness of educational administration. The management of intelligent tutoring systems, which we encounter in learning environments with digital changes, has gained importance in educational administration. The management of intelligent tutoring systems, which are structured on the basis of learner

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1015928

Received 28 Oct 2021; Revised 17 Dec 2021; Accepted 18 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author: Department of Educational Sciences, Hatay Mustafa Kemal University, Faculty of Education, Turkey. e-mail address: <u>zubeyde.yaras@mku.edu.tr</u>

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.
autonomy, learners and educational institutions have more responsibilities than traditional education environments. According to Rasheed et al. (2020), these responsibilities covers structuring learning in accordance with the learners' own pace, learners' self-control skills and digital competencies; in order for this whole teaching process to be efficient, creating digital competencies and technological infrastructure in online learning environments and effectively managing learning environments have taken their place among the new responsibilities of educational institutions. Autonomy in personal learning environments with intelligent tutoring systems sometimes causes this situation not to be managed by the student. This situation creates a justification for the emergence of academic procrastination behavior; therefore, in terms of the management of education, academic procrastination is considered as one of the negative situations that prevent teachers and learners from reaching their educational goals.

It is considered that determining the procrastination behaviors of learners in online learning environments where learners take the responsibility of learning at a higher level on the basis of learner autonomy is important in terms of turning the disadvantages of online learning into advantages. You (2015) stated that one of the reasons for academic procrastination is flexible learning environments, namely online learning environments. Therefore, it is important to examine academic procrastination behavior in online learning environments.

Given the studies, while there are studies investigating the relationships academic procrastination and time management (Nayak, 2019; Ocak & Boyraz, 2016; Van Eerde, 2015); self-efficacy (Steel, 2007); academic achievement (Hen & Goroshit, 2012); emotional intelligence (Deniz et al., 2009); and motivation (Brownlow & Reasinger, 2000; Klassen et al., 2008), there are limited studies examining procrastination behaviors of learners in online environments (Hong et al., 2021; Cheng & Xie, 2021). As stated by Balkıs (2006), teachers who have an important place in the management of learning; time planning skills, self-regulation, academic procrastination behavior tendencies are expected to be absent. It is thought that researching these behaviors expected from education administrators and teachers, who are determinative in the management of learning environments, through prospective teachers of today who will be education administrators and teachers of the future will contribute to the determination of effective education management strategies. Therefore, in this study, it is aimed to examine the academic procrastination behaviors of teacher candidates in the management of personal learning environments with intelligent systems. In line with the purpose, it is aimed to determine the place of intelligent tutoring systems in education, changing learner characteristics, causes of academic procrastination behavior and solution strategies.

2. Literature

2.1. Intelligent Tutoring Systems

In traditional learning environments, or in other words, in classrooms where face-to-face teaching takes place, the teacher is liable for the teaching process and the student is responsible for the learning process. And at the same time, since the teacher takes on responsibility for more than one learner in the classroom, teachers try to increase the learning motivation by ensuring the cognitive and affective adaptation of the students (Lehman et al., 2012). In online learning environments where learner autonomy exists, issues such as individual differences in learning, immediate correction of incorrect learning, interaction, and intelligent systems gain importance in order to eliminate the negative effects that may occur.

Intelligent teaching systems can be expressed as a learning environment based on artificial intelligence technology that enables student-specific individual teaching, taking the individual differences of each student into account in distance learning and teaching processes (Bernacki et al., 2014; Sarrafzadeh et al., 2008). Intelligent systems provide rapid feedback by combining the fields of education, psychology and artificial intelligence, and it also enables the student's learning to be individually structured according to a face-to-face learning environment where the level of interaction is high and learning has been analyzed,

(Kenny & Pahl, 2009; Phobun & Vicheanpanya, 2010; Popescu, 2010). For the structuring of the teaching process, the use of pedagogical strategies as well as information and communication technologies is considered as important in integrating the learning environment and technology (Knezek & Christensen, 2016).



Fig. 1. Components of Intelligent Tutoring (Phobun & Vicheanpanya, 2010:4066)

Figure 1 shows the components of intelligent tutoring systems. When these components are examined, it is seen that there are four components as expert model, instructional model, learner model and interface module. The expert model includes subject information. The instructional model includes instructional strategies for the learner to achieve learning goals. The learner model records the learner's level of knowledge in the interaction between the learner and the course. The interaction between the system and the learner is provided in the interface model (Phobun & Vicheanpanya, 2010). Huang et al. (2019), on the other hand, evaluated intelligent systems as four components: domain expertise, wisdom, evaluation and error correction system.

2.2. Personal Learning Environments

Personal learning environments have been frequently the subject of studies carried out in recent years, especially in the period expressed as the digital age in digital transformation, and it appears as one of the relatively new topics for education (Hernández Fernández, 2016).

Personal learning environment, taking individual differences into account, provides learners with the opportunity to learn independently, as well as providing the opportunity for lifelong learning (Alharbi et al., 2013; Wheeler, 2012). Personal learning environments increase learner responsibilities and the behaviors of learners who construct their own learning become important in the teaching process (Attwell, 2007; Valtonen et al., 2012). When evaluated in terms of the management of education and the future of education, it is possible to state that it will ensure the development of a lifelong learning culture.

By establishing a connection between the learners and the learning objectives, personal learning environment can facilitate the learning of the learners, and consider the learner characteristics positively and also affects the learners (Afini Normadhi et al., 2018). In addition to this positive effect, personal environments can direct the student's attention to the right areas by shifting through the content depending on the student's preferences (Baylari & Montazer, 2009).

2.3. Academic Procrastination Behavior

Although it is a well-known fact, procrastination behavior, which occurs when people delay the work that covers within their area of responsibility (Ackerman & Gross, 2005), has been defined as a complex process to explain, which brings the failure of low performers, (Fee & Tangney, 2000; Steel, 2007). In procrastination, people cannot perform adequately to turn the thought of completing a task into a concrete situation, and therefore, the ability to complete the task remains only at the level of thought, when a situation of inconsistency arises between the behavior that is intended to be done and the behavior actually exhibited (Blunt & Pychyl, 2005). In other words, having a desire to do things but not being able to do them is related

to procrastination. It is significant to determine the reasons for postponing the behaviors that cannot be realized in order to prevent these behaviors.

With the development of technology, digital tools that can create a time trap have more place in our daily life (Heath & Anderson, 2010), and factors such as stress can boast procrastination behavior (Beleaua & Cocorada, 2016). It has been emphasized in studies that it is effective to investigate the procrastination behaviors of individuals, since increasing procrastination behaviors may cause negative situations such as interpersonal problems, increased anxiety level, stress, and depression in the future (Stead et al., 2010; Rozental & Carlbring, 2015). The question of why people tend to procrastinate turns into the question of why students tend to procrastinate in educational environments and learning processes. In this process, the predictability of the causes and possible consequences of academic procrastination is considered as an important requirement for the management of teaching processes in intelligent tutoring personal learning environments.

Academic procrastination behavior emerges when students postpone the fulfillment of academic tasks in the teaching process and expresses the delay of academic tasks by not fulfilling them on time (Hussain & Sultan, 2010; Steel & Klingsieck, 2016; Zhao & Elder, 2020). In this context, academic procrastination is considered as a common behavior problem (Klingsieck, 2013; Michinov et al., 2011) which significantly affects the success of university students (Hussain & Sultan, 2010; Hen & Goroshit, 2012; Howell & Watson, 2007; Kim & Seo, 2015; Setayeshi et al., 2017).

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Model/Design

In this study, which was structured with the basic qualitative research method, the phenomenology design was used. Qualitative research is a method that aims to reveal thoughts more deeply (Denzin & Lincoln, 1998; Patton, 2014). Phenomenology pattern, on the other hand, focuses on revealing people's experiences and perceptions (Gill, 2014; Merriam & Grenier, 2019). Since the primary objective of the research was to examine the academic procrastination behavior experiences of teacher candidates in the management of personal learning environments with intelligent systems, the phenomenological design, which is among the qualitative research methods, was preferred in determining the research model. The purpose of choosing this method is the place of intelligent tutoring systems in education, changing learner characteristics, and the causes of academic procrastination, which is more common in online learning environments than in traditional learning environments, depending on the learning experiences of teacher candidates who have experience in the distance education process and take their courses through online learning and to reveal the solution strategies in more depth.

3.2. Data Collecting Tools

A semi-structured interview form containing four questions was used as a data collection tool in the research. Interview is frequently preferred as a data collection tool in phenomenological qualitative research (Starks & Trinidad, 2007). The phenomenon is tried to be explained by conducting the interviews through a semi-structured interview form (Wimpenny & Gass, 2000). Interview forms allow participants to reveal their thoughts on the specified phenomenon (Greasley & Ashworth, 2007). Therefore, it is aimed to determine the opinions of the teacher candidates for the case by using the interview form as a data collection tool. Opinions were received from two faculty members in the field of Educational Administration and Computer Instructional Technologies in the creation of the interview form.

The first question is "With digital transformation, teaching processes are being restructured in a digital ecosystem in education, and the place of intelligent tutoring systems in the teaching process is increasing. In your opinion, what will be the impact of intelligent tutoring systems on the teaching process in this digital ecosystem?", The second question is "Learning takes place rapidly on the basis of purposefulness and practicality, as information is in a rapid flow process with the spread of digital tools. In this context, how have the learning characteristics of learners changed with digitalization?", the third question is "For what

reasons do you think academic procrastination behaviors, which emerge as one of the problems that arise in the education environment based on intelligent tutoring systems, arise?" and the fourth question "Which solution strategies can you develop to prevent academic procrastination behaviors?" The interview form was implemented for application.

3.3. Sampling or Study Group

Participants in the study were composed of 52 teacher candidates studying at Hatay Mustafa Kemal University, Faculty of Education. The teacher candidates who will participate in the research were determined by the "criteria sampling" method. Among the teacher candidates who have online course experience, being enrolled in the 'Open and Distance Learning' course was determined as a criterion. The criterion has been determined in line with the research purpose, and the information infrastructures have been made sufficient within the scope of the course regarding the research variables. In this context, the participants were composed of teacher candidates enrolled in the undergraduate elective course "Open and Distance Learning", which was given synchronously through distance learning in the spring semester of the 2020-2021 academic year. In the first stage, 99 teacher candidates who took the course were informed about the purpose and scope of the research. In the second stage, it was determined that there were 52 teacher candidates who wanted to participate on the condition of being voluntary, and the gender, undergraduate program and class of the teacher candidates who wanted to participate were determined. This information is given in Table 1.

Table 1.

Gender	Number of Teacher Candidates	Class Level	Teaching Programs	Total Number of Teacher Candidates	
Female	7	4			
Male	5	3	Classroom Teaching (CT)	16	
Female	4	3			
Female	3	4			
Male	2	4	English I an ana an Taoghing (EI T)	15	
Female	6	3	English Language Teaching (ELT)	15	
Male	4	3			
Female	9	3	Elementary Mathematics Teaching (EMT)	9	
Female	4	4			
Male	1	4			
Female	2 3		Art Teaching (AT)	8	
Male	1	3			
Female	ale 1 3		Control Sciences Teaching (SST)	2	
Male	1	3	Social Sciences Teaching (SST)	2	
Male	2	3	Psychological Counseling and Guidance Teaching (PCGT)	2	

Information Regarding Teacher Candidates

In the third stage, interviews with 52 teacher candidates were conducted in the online platform through voice interviews in line with their permission. As a result of the interviews with the teacher candidates, the research data consisting of a total of 402 minutes of audio recording were obtained.

3.4. Data Analysis

The data obtained in the research were analyzed by inductive content analysis. First of all, the 402-minute audio recording obtained as a result of the interviews with 52 teacher candidates was converted into text documents, and a single text file was obtained with the interview recording of each teacher candidate on separate pages. The page of each teacher candidates was coded by giving numbers according to the order

of the interview. The coding were structured in the "Teaching Programs- Number/G" format, including teaching programs, interview order (number) and gender (G). This coding style was also used when giving direct expressions.

In order to avoid the problem of conflict in the first stage in the creation of codes and categories (Guba, 1978 as cited in Patton, 2002), concepts that are compatible with each other during the coding stage were searched in the data set. Categories were created based on repetitive concepts. After the categories, themes were created. Since there was only one researcher in the study, two experts in the fields of educational administration and computer and instructional technologies were determined as additional coders. For reliability of coding, the formula "Reliability Percentage = [agreement code / (agreement code disagreement code)] X 100)" first put forward by Miles and Huberman (1994) and the Fleiss Kappa coefficient was used secondly. First, the reliability compliance percentage was 86.3% of the Reliability Percentage = [38/(38)]6)] X 100). Miles and Huberman (1994) stated that the percentage of compliance between encoders must be 80% or more in order to be considered reliable. Secondly, the Fleiss Kappa coefficient was calculated since there were three evaluators in total with the researcher (Fleiss, 1971). The calculator developed by Randolph (2008) was used to calculate the Fleiss Kappa coefficient. According to the resulting value, the Fleiss Kappa coefficient was 0.82. The criteria set by Landis and Koach (1977) were used to interpret the resulting value. Landis and Koach (1997) found that the coefficient value obtained between 0.81-1.00 indicated excellent numbness. According to the values obtained from both reliability calculation methods, intercoder compatibility is considered reliable. The codes, categories and themes were finalized by reaching consensus on the codes that emerged with the additional coders. In addition, in qualitative research, obtaining the consent of the participants is considered as one of the ways to be preferred in order to ensure the validity of the data obtained (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004). Therefore, participatory feedback was sought regarding the results obtained, the results obtained from the data were shared by the researcher in order to reach a consensus with the participants, and the teacher candidates approved the appropriateness of the results.

3.5. Findings and Discussions

Table 2

The findings obtained in the research were gathered under the themes of the effect of intelligent tutoring systems on learning processes, changing learner characteristics in digital transformation, causes of academic procrastination behaviors and solution strategies.

The first theme, 'With digital transformation, teaching processes are being restructured in a digital ecosystem in education, and the place of intelligent tutoring systems in the teaching process is increasing. In your opinion, how will intelligent tutoring systems affect the teaching process in this digital ecosystem? What do you think?' The themes, categories and codes related to the question are given in Table 2.

	53	Category	Code
	cer		Learner autonomy
	Prc		Be independent of time
5	Bu		Access from anywhere
me	rni		Increase motivation to learn
hei	ea	Positivo	Learning tracking
Τ	f I	Tosnive	Objective assessment
	ct o		Quick feedback
	bai		Raising learner self-confidence
	Im		Equality of opportunity in learning
			Facilitating learning

Categories and Codes Obtained Regarding the Theme of Impact on Learning Processes

When we look at Table 2, the opinions obtained were gathered under the theme of 'influence on learning processes. It has been obtained that intelligent tutoring systems will have a positive impact on the teaching process in terms of learner autonomy, independence from time, access from anywhere, increasing learning motivation, learning tracking, objective evaluation, rapid feedback, increasing learner self-confidence, equal opportunity in learning and facilitating learning. The teacher candidates expressed their views on the positive effect of learner autonomy and learning motivation expressed by the teacher candidates as follows:

CT-3/M: "...Students experience learning according to their own learning styles..."

CT-6/F: "...I think that the learning motivation of the students who adjust the learning process themselves will also increase..."

ELT-20/F: "...As the success evaluation of the student is determined according to completely objective criteria, there is no distrust of the student in the assessment and evaluation processes. In this respect, the teacher can also end the problems with the grade among the students..."

The opinions expressed regarding the other codes obtained were as follows:

CT-6/F: "...I had such an experience while I was preparing for the university exam. I can say that I was very productive when I was a student. Now, when I evaluate the teaching process as a teacher candidate, I think that we will often need to use these systems since these systems can be configured in accordance with the individual learning speeds of the students."

EMT-34/F: "...In the traditional environment, especially in crowded classrooms, when there are students who learn a little later, they have difficulty in compensating for their learning losses, and in these systems, the student uses all the information they need in such a way as to learn."

AT-41/F: "I think that with the standardization of the contents for each level, the discussions between students such as good school and good teacher will come to an end. Through these systems, every student realizes the learning process equally..."

The second theme, 'Learning takes place rapidly on the basis of purposefulness and practicality, with the rapid flow of information with the widespread use of digital tools. In this context, how have the learning characteristics of learners changed with digitalization? The themes, categories and codes related to the question are given in Table 3.

Table 3

		Category	Code
	S		Digital collaboration
	ure	Digital Competencies	Digital tool choice
Sa	eat		Using social networks in learning
sme	E F		Online learning preference
The	uing		Digital course materials
	ark		Interactive learning
	Le	Active in Learning	Audio-visual support
			Active in learning processes
		Speed	More information soon

Categories and Codes Obtained for the Theme of Learner Characteristics

Looking at Table 3, it is seen that the categories of digital competence, effective in learning, and speed were obtained under the theme of learner characteristics. In the digital competence category, digital collaboration, digital tool preference, using social networks in learning, online learning preference, digital course materials took place. In this category, teacher candidates expressed their views as follows:

ELT-27/F: "...Students now feel the need to communicate in online environments, and this reveals the necessity of carrying teaching to these environments..."

AT-48/F: "Learners who use the internet frequently expect to access their lessons through digital tools..."

CT-14/M: "...I have seen the benefits of using social networks, especially in the distance education process. In this respect, social networks have an important place in learning for me..."

ELT-25/M: "I use the phone and computer for long hours during the day. This is reflected in my learning styles as well. Because I prefer tools such as telephones and e-readers rather than looking at books."

EMT-39/F: "Learners who use the internet frequently expect to access their lessons through digital tools..."

Active learners took part in interactive learning, audio-visual support and learning processes in the category of being active in learning. In this category, teacher candidates expressed their views as follows:

EMT -35/M: "... With the development of technology, learning environments that consist of four walls, which we describe as the traditional education system, and that are realized by transferring the subjects that a teacher has mastered to the student, have begun to leave their place to virtual environments, and in these environments, learning objectives can be achieved by being more active as students."

The third theme, 'For what reasons do you think academic procrastination behaviors emerge as one of the problems that arise in the education environment based on intelligent systems?' The themes, categories and codes related to the question are given in Table 4.

Table 4

	ис	Category	Code
	atic		Low motivation
	stin	Management of	No interaction
	ras	Table Transformer	Inability to set a goal
	roc	Teaching	Not feeling responsible for learning
es	c P ior		Time traps
вm	mi av	Digital	Low digital proficiency
Th	Bel	Competencies	Digital tool shortage
	Aca	Academic	Feeling of failure
	of .	Competency	Underestimate course content
Reasons	sue		Lesson design
	Quality of lesson	Easy course content	
		Difficult course content	
		Manner	Negative learning experiences

Categories and Codes Obtained for the Theme of Reasons for Academic Procrastination Behavior

When we look at Table 4, the causes of academic procrastination are the categories of management of instruction, digital competence, academic competence, quality of the course and attitude. It can be seen that there are factors that negatively affect the teaching process in the category of instructional management. These factors included low motivation, lack of interaction, inability to set goals, not feeling responsible for learning, and time traps. In this category, teacher candidates expressed their views as follows:

CT - 4/F: "...The source may be phone, social media or personal reasons. Since the phone takes up too much of my time, I sometimes missed my classmates..."

CT - 9/M: "...When it is not meaningful for me to follow the lesson, when I do not have a purpose, the tasks related to the lesson that are not done on time pile up."

Yaraş, Z.

ELT -17/M: "... The question of why is one of the most important questions to be answered in learning, in my opinion. I do not think that students who cannot answer the question 'Why am I learning' can have high academic success in learning. I think that a student who does not have a learning goal will not be able to arrange his time and will always postpone his lessons with an excuse..."

Yaraş, Z.

ELT - 29/M: "... When teachers are reluctant and stagnant, or when they do not communicate and interact with students during the course, students may tend to postpone the subjects related to that course..."

AT-41/F: ".... If the student does not make a plan, he/she will postpone it all the time as whether or not he/she will attend the classes depends on his/her decision. Postponed lessons will increase more and more and it will seem like a huge burden when the student has to watch them. As in the proverb many a little makes a mickle, the course content, which was very few and simple at the time, will become more and more difficult..."

Regarding the academic procrastination behavior stemming from digital competence, teacher candidates expressed their views as follows:

CT -2/M: "...Students with weak computer skills may hesitate to log in to the system. In time, they can stay out of the teaching process..."

EMT-33/M: "...*I* think that the lack of opportunities is reflected in the learning behaviors of the students. Not having devices that do not have their own computer or that are not new enough can drive the student away..."

Regarding the academic procrastination behavior based on academic proficiency, teacher candidates expressed their views as follows:

CT-11/F: "...At the same time, reasons such as fear of failure and thinking that homework is difficult can cause academic procrastination. That's why the student says he will do it on the last day anyway and delays it..."

ELT-20/F: "... During my distance education process, this situation created stress for me because there were too many types of homework and some of the homework were difficult. Even though I wanted to do it every day, I postponed it until the last time and after a while I had a hard time doing my lessons and homework..."

Regarding the academic procrastination behavior due to the nature of the course, the teacher candidates expressed their views as follows:

EMT-35/M: "...Some of the courses did not attract our attention due to reasons such as not paying attention to the content and the small and dense texts. Being in front of a screen can be pretty boring these days. And I didn't want to go to these classes most of the time..."

The fourth theme, 'Which solution strategies can you develop to prevent academic procrastination?' The themes, categories and codes obtained for the question are given in Table 5.

Table 5

		Category	Code
	_		Interaction
			Setting learning goals
	ies	Management of	Reducing communication barriers
50	teg	Management of	Active feedback
nes	tra	Learning	Identifying student needs
hei	u Co		Time planning
L	utic		Reducing time traps
	llos		Mentoring
	•1	Technical	Digital tool supply
		Equipment	Internet infrastructure
		Digital	Increase digital competence
		Competency	Data security

Categories and Codes Obtained for the Theme of Solution Strategies

Looking at Table 5, it is seen that strategies are determined in the subjects of management of education, technical equipment and digital competence under the theme of solution strategies determined to prevent academic procrastination behaviors. Solution strategies were determined in the context of providing interaction, determining learning goals, reducing communication barriers, effective feedback, identifying student needs, planning time, reducing time traps and mentoring suggestions. In this category, teacher candidates expressed their views as follows:

CT-1/M: "...I can plan the course contents and learning objectives in accordance with the expectations of the students ..."

CT-10/M: "...Students who know what stage they are at in learning can make their own evaluations. For this reason, I attach importance to effective feedback..."

EMT-36/M: "...I think the most effective method as a solution to academic procrastination is to make a plan. Being certain of what to do when and the fact that the student feels a bit obligated will push him to do it on time."

CT-12/F: "...One of the factors affecting academic procrastination in the distance learning process can be technological tools. Arrangements should be made for the lack or restriction of stimuli that trigger procrastination, such as tablets, smartphones, computer games or television."

ELT-21/F: "...I think that there is a greater need for people who can guide students in digital environments compared to traditional environments. I would identify people who guide students in all learning processes without being able to use time efficiently..."

ELT-28/F: "... The internet should be turned off when it is not necessary during the lesson or while doing homework, and the distracting applications (e.g.: Netflix, Instagram, Twitter) should not be taken into consideration... I saw the bad effects of it, so I will try to follow the solutions I specified and try not to procrastinate. In short, all students, including me, should not leave today's work for tomorrow and do it on time. I think that academic success can only be achieved in this way."

EMT-34/F: "First of all, the biggest factor can be time management. Not being able to gain time management skills brings the habit of procrastination..."

PT-39/F: "...as much as possible, one room of the house should be reserved for study and there should be no distracting objects and belongings in the room, the household should support this issue and a disciplined working environment should be prepared..."

SST-50/M: "In order to solve this problem, students who have the habit of procrastination but are not aware of this habit and its negative effects will probably increase their motivation in parallel when they can establish a certain order in time management. Apart from that, I can say that teachers should pay attention to interaction in lessons, be as energetic and/or smiling as possible, and give more useful assignments instead of very superficial and non-contributing assignments..."

SST-51/F: "…People who show academic procrastination can make a schedule for themselves, or they can make a timeline and sort their work from the most important to the least important because they leave their homework and lectures to the last minute…"

PCGT-52/M: "... The internet should be turned off when it is not necessary during the lesson or while doing homework, and the distracting applications should not be taken into account... I saw the bad effects of it, so I will try to follow the solutions I specified and try not to procrastinate. In short, all students, including me, should not leave today's work for tomorrow and do it on time. I think that academic success can only be achieved in this way."

In the category of technical equipment, teacher candidates who think that academic procrastination can be prevented by providing technical equipment have determined solution strategies for providing digital tools and internet infrastructure.

Teacher candidates who think that the behavior of increasing digital competence and ensuring data security can be prevented in the Digital Competence category expressed their views in this category as follows:

AT-40/F: "...First of all, I find it important to increase students' technology literacy. In this direction, I can create programs that students can develop."

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

In distance learning processes, while intelligent personal systems configure the learning process of learners through artificial intelligence and evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of these systems, it is important to consider dimensions such as changing learner and learner roles, limitations and disadvantages of the system. In short, the excellence of these systems can be determined within the scope of learning management, teachers and learners; The goal is to achieve effective learning. The effective realization of learning depends on the management of these systems. The realization of the goals from the most general goal to the most specific goal in the learning processes is under the responsibility of the education administration. Therefore, learners, who are at the core of educational processes, are also the focus in intelligent tutoring systems and online learning environments. In this context, Bahceci and Gurol (2010) reveals that the basic element of these systems is the student and the variables that depend on the student are effective in the use of intelligent tutoring systems. In addition, Butz et al. (2006) states that intelligent tutoring systems are learner-centered systems created on the basis of constructivist education. Therefore, although academic procrastination behaviors are encountered in traditional learning environments, as stated by Cheng and Xie (2021), such procrastination behaviors will be encountered more frequently in online environments, and online environments are less likely to avoid such behaviors for reasons such as increasing individual learning and learner responsibility. It has been emphasized that it is more open to the effects of likewise, Michinov et al. (2011) reveals that learners in the distance learning process will stop following the lessons after a while. In this context, it is considered important to examine academic procrastination behaviors in the study and it was aimed to examine the academic procrastination behaviors of teacher candidates with distance learning experience in the management of intelligent tutoring systems and personal learning environments.

According to the obtained results, it has been revealed that in the educational processes restructured by the teacher candidates within the digital transformation they think that the use of intelligent tutoring systems within the education digital ecosystem will be positive. As a result of the research conducted by Ndukwe

et al. (2019), it has been stated that artificial intelligence gives very objective and accurate results when the results of artificial intelligence and human evaluation are compared in learning environments designed with intelligent systems. In other similar studies, rapid feedback has been evaluated as one of the positive aspects of intelligent tutoring systems (Bakeer & Abu-Naser, 2019). This result is similar to the result of the intelligent tutoring systems providing the opportunity for objective evaluation, which is stated among the positive effects by the pre-service teachers. In addition, studies have shown that digital environments integrated into the education process positively affect students' academic achievement (Yu et al., 2010).

In line with the findings, among these features in which the learner characteristics have changed with digitalization in education, there are learners who can take responsibility for learning, the desire to access information faster today, where it is important to increase the digital competencies of the learners and speed is even more important. Mohamed and Lamia (2018) stated that new technologies and new approaches should be used in education. The results obtained in this context revealed that the digital competencies of learners and teachers should be increased in digital transformation. Similarly, it has been stated that there are changing roles such as autonomy, flexibility, technology use proficiency, and problem-solving skills in learning with digitalization (Ndibalema, 2020; Rejón Guardia et al., 2020).

Among the reasons for academic procrastination, there were problems in the management of teaching, low level of digital competence, students' anxiety about academic competence, the quality of the course and the attitudes of the learners. Similar results were found in other studies as well. When these studies are examined, the reasons for academic procrastination are seen as low self-efficacy levels of learners (Di Paula & Campbell, 2002); low academic achievement and low self-confidence (Steel, 2007; Yerdelen et al., 2016), tasks that do not interest learners (Ackerman & Gross, 2005), negative attitudes towards learning and inability to focus (Balkıs et al., 2006), and inability to plan time (Balkıs et al., 2006; Swart et al., 2010; Díaz-Morales & Ferrari, 2015).

Considering the results in terms of solution strategies developed to prevent academic procrastination behavior, these strategies have been developed in terms of instructional management, technical equipment and digital competence. Burnam et al. (2014) revealed that the procrastination behavior of learners with planning skills decreased. The low level of motivation of learners was revealed as one of the reasons for academic procrastination in the study. Considering other studies showing similar results, there is a correlation between learners' motivation levels and academic procrastination behaviors, and an inverse correlation between motivation level and academic procrastination behavior tendencies (Balkıs et al., 2006; Lee, 2005; Rakes & Dunn, 2010; Vij & Lomash, 2014); it has been revealed that while low motivation increases academic procrastination behaviors, increased intrinsic motivation significantly prevents academic procrastination behaviors (Hee Seo, 2013; Lee, 2005). In this context, it can be said that increasing the motivation of the learners will significantly prevent academic procrastination behaviors, as was obtained in the study. As a result of the research, interaction, which is among other solution strategies, is an issue that maintains its importance in intelligent tutoring systems. Similarly, Gregori et al. (2018) emphasized that the interaction between the learner and the teacher is very important in intelligent tutoring systems. It has been revealed that the social and technical competencies of the learners are important in the interaction between humans and machines (Siemens, 2005). In order to ensure this interaction, it is necessary that the digital skills and information literacy of the learners are at the desired level (Molotsi, 2020; Špiranec & Zorica, 2010). In addition, web 2.0 tools have an important place in intelligent systems and personal learning environments (Kompen et al., 2019; Laakkonen, 2011; Rahimi et al., 2015). The effective use of these tools in digital environments depends on digital competencies. For this reason, increasing the digital competencies of learners will provide an important solution for academic procrastination in the management of personal learning environments with intelligent tutoring systems, while at the same time, it will also ensure that important problems can be solved in digital environments. In this context, it will be an important issue for teachers and learners, especially education administrators, to maximize digital competencies, to foresee the problems that may be encountered in the online learning Suggestions based on the results are given below.

- ✓ Revealing results that do not reflect the real situation determination in the success evaluations of the students, which are easy according to both academic failure anxiety and student level, may cause students to exhibit academic procrastination behaviors. For this reason, course contents and assessment and evaluation processes can be planned in accordance with student levels.
- ✓ Raising digital proficiency levels in the management of learning environments of education managers, teachers and students can be included in the strategic plans of institutions.
- ✓ Interaction has been found to be a factor that may hinder academic procrastination behavior. Therefore, course designs can be created to effectively enable interaction in order to prevent academic procrastination behavior.
- ✓ In order to prevent academic procrastination behaviors, needs analysis can be carried out to improve the material and physical conditions of learners such as infrastructure and digital vehicle supply.
- ✓ Although adaptable and customizable intelligent tutoring systems have superior aspects compared to traditional environments, it is important to identify the problems that have a negative impact on the management of the teaching process. For this reason, feedback mechanisms should be used effectively among education administrators and teachers. In addition, education administrators can use data-based decision systems.
- ✓ Educational administrators can manage this process by educating themselves on issues such as digital safety, digital security, and digital ethics, and by creating modules for students to reach a sufficient level in information security and digital ethics.

Limitations

There are limitations in the research. The first of these limitations is that the data obtained are limited to the teacher candidates in the working group. Researchers can perform studies with students at different universities using different sampling methods. In addition, researchers can work with a working group of teachers and school administrators from a broader perspective. Evaluation of the management of intelligent systems and personalized learning environments are limited to the academic snooze behaviour variable. This was considered the second limitation of the research. Researchers can uncover different variables that can have an impact on the management of learning environments in intelligent personalized learning environments. The third limitation of the research is that it was designed by qualitative method. Researchers can design their research in different patterns or mixed methods within qualitative research methods.

References

- Ackerman, D. S., & Gross, B. L. (2005). My instructor made me do it: Task characteristics of procrastination. *Journal of Marketing Education*, 27, 5–13.
- Afini Normadhi N.B., Shuib L., Md Nasir H.N., Bimba A., Idris N. & Balakrishnan V. (2018). Identification of personal traits in adaptive learning environment: Systematic literature review. *Computers & Education*, 130, 168-190.
- Alharbi, M., Platt, A. & Al-Bayatti, A. H. (2013). Personal learning environment. *International Journal for e-Learning Security*, *3*(1-2), 280 288.

Attwell, G. (2007). Personal learning environments the future of e learning? *E Learning Papers*, 2(1), 5-5.

- Bahçeci, F., & Gürol, M. (2012). Bireyselleştirilmiş öğretim sistemlerinde öğrenci modelinin oluşturulması ve ders materyallerinin sunumu. *Education Sciences*, 7(2), 700-712.
- Bakeer, H. M. S., & Abu-Naser, S. S. (2019). An intelligent tutoring system for learning TOEFL. International Journal of Academic Pedagogical Research (IJAPR), 2(12), 9-15.
- Balkıs, M. (2006). Öğretmen adaylarının davranışlarındaki erteleme eğiliminin, düşünme ve karar verme tarzları ile ilişkilerinin incelenmesi. Doktora tezi, Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İzmir.
- Baylari, A., & Montazer, G. A. (2009). Design a personalized e-learning system based on item response theory and artificial neural network approach. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *36*(4), 8013-8021.
- Beleaua, R. E., & Cocoradă, E. (2016). Procrastination, stress and coping in students and employees. *Romanian Journal of Experimental Applied Psychology*, 7(1), 191-195.
- Bernacki, M.L., Aleven, V., & Nokes-Malach, T.J. (2014). Stability and change in adolescents task spesific achievement goals and implications for learning mathematics with intelligent tutors. *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 37, 73-80.
- Blunt, A., & Pychyl, T. A. (2005). Project systems of procrastinators: A personal project-analytic and actioncontrol perspective. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 28, 153–167.
- Brownlow, S., & Reasinger, R. D. (2000). Putting off until tomorrow what is better done today: Academic procrastination as a function of motivation toward college work. *Journal of Social Behavior & Personality*, 15(5), 15–34.
- Burnam, A., Komarraju, M., Hamel, R., & Nadler, D. R. (2014). Do adaptive perfectionism and selfdetermined motivation reduce academic procrastination?. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 36, 165-172.
- Butz, B. P., Duarte, M., & Miller, S. M. (2006). An intelligent tutoring system for circuit analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Education*, 49(2), 216–223.
- Cheng, S. L., & Xie, K. (2021). Why college students procrastinate in online courses: A self-regulated learning perspective. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 50, 2-17.
- Deniz, M. E., Tras, Z., & Adygan, D. (2009). An investigation of academic procrastination, locus of control, and emotional intelligence. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 9, 623–632.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1998). The landscape of qualitative research: Theories and issue. London: Sage Publications.
- Di Paula, A., & Campbell, J. D. (2002). Self-esteem and persistence in the face of failure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83, 711. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.3.711.
- Fee, R. L., & Tangney, J. P. (2000). Procrastination: A means of avoiding shame or guilt? *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 15, 167–184.
- Fleiss, J. L. (1971). Measuring nominal scale agreement among many raters. *Psychological Bulletin*, 76(5), 378–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0031619</u>
- Gill, MJ. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research. *Organizational Research Methods*, *17*(2), 118-137. doi:10.1177/1094428113518348.
- Graneheim, U. H., & Lundman, B. (2014). Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: Concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Educ Today*, 24(2), 105-12. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001.

- Greasley, K., & Ashworth, P. (2007). The phenomenology of "approach to studying": The university student's studies within the lifework. *British Educational Research Journal*, 32, 819-843.
- Gregori, P., Martínez, V., & Moyano-Fernández, J. J. (2018). Basic actions to reduce dropout rates in distance learning. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 66, 48-52.
- Heath, J. & Anderson, J. (2010). Procrastination and the extended will. In C. Andreou & M. D. White (eds.) *The Thief of Time*. Oxford University Press, 233-253.
- Hee Seo, E. (2013). A comparison of active and passive procrastination in relation to academic motivation. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *41*(5), 777-786.
- Hen, M. & Goroshit, M. (2012). Academic procrastination, emotional intelligence, academic self-efficacy, and gpa: A comparison between students with and without learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 47(2), 1-9, 10.1177/0022219412439325.
- Hernández Fernández, M. A. (2016). Knowledge management, scientific activity and personal learning environments (ples): A bibliometric of the ple conference. *Edutec. Revista Electrónica De Tecnología Educativa*, (55), 329. https://doi.org/10.21556/edutec.2016.55.653.
- Hong, J. C., Lee, Y. F., & Ye, J. H. (2021). Procrastination predicts online self-regulated learning and online learning ineffectiveness during the coronavirus lockdown. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 174, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2021.110673.
- Howell, A. J., & Watson, D. C. (2007). Procrastination: Associations with achievement goal orientation and learning strategies. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 43, 167–178.
- Huang, R., Spector J.M., & Yang, J. (2019). Systems perspective of educational technology: A primer for the 21st Century. In: Educational technology (pp. 65-76). 10.1007/978-981-13-6643-7_4.
- Hussain, I., & Sultan, S. (2010). Analysis of procrastination among university students. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 5,1897-1904.
- Kenny, C., & Pahl, C. (2009). Intelligent and adaptive tutoring for active learning and training environments. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 17(2), 181–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820802090277.
- Kim, K. R., & Seo, E. H. (2015). The relationship between procrastination and academic performance: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 82, 26–33.
- Klassen, R. M., Krawchuk, L. L., & Rajani, S. (2008). Academic procrastination of undergraduates: Low self-efficacy to self-regulate predicts higher levels of procrastination. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 33, 915-931. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2007.07.001.
- Klingsieck, K. B. (2013). Procrastination: When good things don't come to those who wait. *European Psychologist*, *18*(1), 24–34.
- Knezek, G., & Christensen, R. (2016). Extending the will, skill, tool model of technology integration: Adding pedagogy as a new model construct. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 28(3), 307–325.
- Kompen, R. T., Edirisingha, P., Canaleta, X., Alsina, M. & Monguet, J.M. (2019). Personal learning environments based on web 2.0 services in higher education. *Telematics and Informatics*, 38, 194-206.
- Laakkonen, I. (2011). Personal learning environments in higher education language courses: An informal and learner-centred approach. In S. Thouësny & L. Bradley (eds) *Second language teaching and learning with technology: Views of emergent researchers*, Dublin, 9-28.

- Lehman, B. & D'Mello, S. & Graesser, A. (2012). Confusion and complex learning during interactions with computer learning environments. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 15, 184-194. 10.1016/j.iheduc.2012.01.002.
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis. Jossey-Bass.
- Michinov, N., Brunot, S., Bohec, O., Juhel, J., & Delaval, M. (2011). Procrastination, participation, and performance in online learning environments. *Computers & Education*, 56(1), 243-252. 10.1016/j.compedu.2010.07.025.
- Miles, M, B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook. (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mohamed, H., & Lamia, M. (2018). Implementing flipped classroom that used an intelligent tutoring system into learning process. *Computers & Education*, 124, 62–76.
- Molotsi, A. R. (2020). The university staff experience of using a virtual learning environment as a platform for e-learning. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, *3*(2), 133-151.
- Nayak, S. G. (2019). Impact of procrastination and time-management on academic stress among undergraduate nursing students: A cross sectional study. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 12(3), 1480-1486.
- Ndibalema, P. (2020). Unlocking the potential of ICT for transformative learning among youth: A path to 21st century competencies. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, *3*(3), 245-271.
- Ndukwe I.G., Daniel B.K., Amadi C.E. (2019). A machine learning grading system using chatbots. In: Isotani S., Millán E., Ogan A., Hastings P., McLaren B., Luckin R. (eds) Artificial intelligence in education. AIED 2019. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 11626. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-23207-8_67.
- Ocak, G., & Boyraz, S. (2016). Examination of the relation between academic procrastination and time management skills of undergraduate students in terms of some variables. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 4, 76-84. 10.11114/jets.v4i5.1313.
- Patton, M.Q. (2002). Qualitative research & evaluation methods. (3rd Edition). Thousands Oaks: Sage.
- Patton, M.Q. (2014). *Nitel araştırma ve değerlendirme yöntemleri*. (M, Bütün & SB, Demir, Çev.) Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Phobun, P., & Vicheanpanya, J. (2010). Adaptive intelligent tutoring systems for e learning systems. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2, 4064–4069.
- Popescu, E. (2010). Adaptation provisioning with respect to learning styles in a web-based educational system: An experimental study. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 26(4), 243–257.
- Rahimi, M. (2015). The role of individual differences in 12 learners' retention of written corrective feedback. *Journal of Response to Writing*, 1, 19-48.
- Rakes, G. C., & Dunn, K. E. (2014). The influence of perfectionism on procrastination in online graduate education students. In M. Searson & M. Ochoa (eds.), Proceedings of society for information technology & Teacher education international conference, (pp. 799-803). Chesapeake, VA: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).

- Rasheed, R. & Kamsin, A., & Abdullah, N. (2019). Challenges in the online component of blended learning: A systematic review. *Computers & Education*. 144, 1-17.
- Rejón-Guardia, F., Polo-Peña, A.I., & Maraver-Tarifa, G. (2020). The acceptance of a personal learning environment based on Google apps: The role of subjective norms and social image. Journal of Computing in Higher Education, 32, 203–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-019-09206-1.
- Rozental, A., & Carlbring, P. (2014). Understanding and treating procrastination: A review of a common self-regulatory failure. *Psychology*, *5*(13), 1488–1502.
- Sarrafzadeh, A., Alexander, S., Dadgostar, F., Fan, C., & Bigdeli, A. (2008). How do you know that I don't understand? A look at the future of intelligent tutoring systems. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(4), 1342-1363.
- Setayeshi, A. M., Mir, N. M. M., & Mohebbi, M. (2017). The relationship between hopefulness and academic achievement: The mediating role of the academic procrastination. *Journal of Educational Sciences*, *10*(37), 125-142.
- Siemens, G. (2005). Connectivism: A learning theory for the digital age. Retrieved 02.10.2021 from https://jotamacs.uveblog/files/Connectivism.pdf.
- Špiranec,S.,& Zorica, M.B.(2010). Information Literacy 2.0: Hype or discourse refinement?, *Journal of Documentation*, 66(1), 140-153.
- Starks, H. & Trinidad, S.B. (2007). Choose your method: a comparison of phenomenology, discourse analysis, and grounded theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17, 1372-1380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307307031.
- Stead, R., Shanahan, M. J., & Neufeld, R. W. J. (2010). I'll go to therapy, eventually: Procrastination, stress and mental health. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49(3), 175-180.
- Steel, P. (2007). The nature of procrastination: A meta-analytic and theoretical review of quintessential self-regulatory failure. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*(1), 65–94.
- Steel, P., & Klingsieck, K. B. (2016). Academic procrastination: Psychological antecedents revisited. *Australian Psychologist*, 51(1), 36–46.
- Swart, A. J., Lombard, K., & Jager, H. D. (2010). Exploring the relationship between time management skills and the academic achievement of African engineering students a case study. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 35(1), 79-89.
- Valtonen, T., Sointu, E., Kukkonen, J., Kontkanen, S., Lambert, M., & Mäkitalo, K. (2017). TPACK updated to measure pre-service teachers' twenty-first century skills. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 33, 10.14742/ajet.3518.
- Van Eerde, W. (2015). Time management and procrastination. In K. M. D. Mumford, & M. Frese (Eds.), *The psychology of planning in organizations: Research and applications* (pp. 312-333). Routledge.
- Vij, J., & Lomash, H. (2014). Role of motivation in academic procrastination. *International Journal of Scientific & Engineering Research*, 5(8), 1065-1070.
- Wan, H. C., Downey, L. A., & Stough, C. (2014). Understanding non-work presenteeism: Relationships between emotional intelligence, boredom, procrastination and job stress. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 65, 86–90.

- Wheeler, S. (2012). *Learning with e's: Educational theory and practice in the digital age*. Llandysul: Gomer Press.
- Wimpenny, P. & Gass, J. (2000). Interviewing in phenomenology and grounded theory: is there a difference? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *31*(6), 1485-1492.
- Yerdelen, S., McCaffrey, A., & Klassen, R. M. (2016). Longitudinal examination of procrastination and anxiety, and their relation to self-efficacy for self-regulated learning: Latent growth curve modeling. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 16(1), 5–22.
- You, J. W. (2015). Examining the effect of academic procrastination on achievement using lms data in elearning. *Educational Technology & Society*, 18(3), 64-74.
- Yu, W., She, H., & Lee, Y. (2010). The effects of web-based/non-web-based problem-solving instruction and high/low achievement on students' problem-solving ability and biology achievement. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 47(2), 187–199.
- Zhao Y., & Elder K.G. (2020). Evaluating pharmacy student perceptions and effectiveness of procrastination prevention events. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 12, 570–576.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021

http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



An investigation of the integration of blogs into EFL classes: Learners' views toward blogs and preferences for writing classes

Samet BAL^a* 问

^a Yildiz Technical University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Bal, S. (2021). An investigation of the integration of blogs into EFL classes: Learners' views toward blogs and preferences for writing classes. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 594-604.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Writing skills Blogs ICT tool EFL learners Technology in education.	Writing is especially considered to be a difficult language skill to master for beginner learners. However, this century offers innovations in language education through Information and Communication Technology tools. For instance, blogging platforms like Tumblr, Blogger, and WordPress can be employed in writing classes. At this point, the present research aimed to investigate the views and preferences of English as a Foreign Language learners after they practiced their writing skills with blogs for eight weeks. The research utilized WordPress blogs, and a group of 28 learners attended the study. These students were supposed to start a blog and write an essay each week on their blogs. The research was designed as a qualitative exploratory case study. To collect the data, semi-structured interviews with ten randomly chosen learners were conducted to understand their views toward blogs and preferences for writing classes at the end of the treatment. The content analysis method was instrumented to analyze the qualitative data inductively; thus, the data was first coded, and themes emerged. Unlike the previous studies in the field, these findings have revealed the learners' views towards their self- confidence, digital literacy, and writing habits, which changed in a positive manner.
Research Article	Besides, it was also understood that the participants made their preferences in favor of blogs rather than paper-based activities.

1. Introduction

Writing, as a productive skill, necessitates EFL learners to produce output in the target language. However, learners rarely produce excellent works for which they should make much effort as they usually think that meeting the minimum expectations to pass a class is enough for them. As a result, a teacher cannot make them produce competitive and challenging works and has to give feedback for some assignments delivered after a simple process involving a pen, a paper, and some paragraphs meeting lower limit expectations (Roy, 2016).

To overcome this significant problem that teachers may experience in an EFL classroom setting, teachers should look for some alternative ways for EFL learners to complete their writing tasks in a relatively challenging and productive way rather than submitting the tasks with the assumption that meeting lower limit expectations is enough to succeed in that class. At this point, Uzun (2017) claims that the teaching process has started to lose its power while the learning process has become much more creative and innovative. One of the innovative ways that can be implemented in classrooms is the utilization of blogs,

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 18 Dec 2021; Accepted 20 Dec 2021

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{ISSN}}\xspace:$ 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author: School of Foreign Languages, Yildiz Technical University, Turkey. e-mail address: <u>samettbal@gmail.com</u>

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

which have been defined in similar ways by different researchers. For instance, Goodwin and Jones (2003) stated that a blog is a web space where editing and writing are achieved through a web browser and produce works visible to the public, while Zhang (2009) stated that blogs are professional or personal journals often updated and intended for public consumption. The journal form, style, and opportunity to publish a post every day are some of the basic features of blogs. Plus, most blogs let you publish videos, audio, and photos (p. 65). In my opinion, blogs can be used for specific aims (educational, business, or to introduce a product, service, or individual) by offering users simplified interfaces that let them administer their space on the internet. On these blogs, students can share their views, works, and thoughts without facing real-life restrictions, such as hesitancy to speak out or embarrassment to express themselves. Therefore, blogs as a Web 2.0 tool can help language teachers in writing classes in different aspects. They can, for instance, enable teachers to create an atmosphere that can stimulate not only interactions and collaboration among learners but also creativity. Furthermore, it can be claimed that these Web 2.0 tools give students the chance to be more productive and creative in the language learning process since they trigger interactions and collaboration and are greatly adaptable thanks to the enrichment with multimedia, accessibility from anywhere, interaction with other readers or writers unlike Web 1.0 tools; for example, traditional webpages or e-mails can neither offer interactions or collaboration among language learners (Harrison & Thomas, 2009; Pegrum, 2009). Thus, blogs are considered one of the best Web 2.0 tools to use in language classes (Tu, Blocher & Ntoruru, 2008).

Moreover, Blogs, as free, basic Web 2.0 tools, allow learners to share their ideas on an online platform and publish them on the internet (Bloch, 2007, p. 128). In addition, blogs can not only foster constructivist learning strategies (Gresham et al., 2012, p. 44) but also help learners of today's digital world improve their digital literacy and become relatively more digitally competent. Besides, bloggers can express their views readily without facing any traditional classroom problems or difficulties, such as looking for an eraser, pen, or new sheet of paper since they can edit their work by simply clicking on a button, all the while respecting the conditions that a traditional classroom can offer. Furthermore, they are more likely to feel free to express themselves and write on their blogs without hesitating due to the fear of facing some objections from their classmates, which could prevent them from speaking out in a classroom. Besides, EFL students can develop their language skills with blogs since they will be required to use some new words and take responsibility for their writing tasks, which can help them become autonomous language learners for the rest of their lives (Pinkman, 2005). Besides, blogs, complete the assignments, and submit the link to the teacher.

Considering all these advantages, language teachers should start learning more about how to integrate their classes with Web 2.0 tools and Information and Communication Technology (ICT) tools, like blogs. Indeed, each teacher expects to see a competitive or collaborative atmosphere, which has been created by methods and techniques instrumented in the classroom and encourages learners to complete their tasks by performing their best and reflecting their creativeness. Many studies in the field have also investigated the effects of blogs on EFL learners (Hashemi & Najafi, 2011; Amir, Ismail, & Hussein, 2011; Yunus et al., 2013; Wang & Vásquez, 2014; Jin, 2015; Roy, 2016) and shown that blogs help language learners perform better at the target language skills and improve their vocabulary and grammar as a consequence of looking for vocabulary, phrases, and structures to be able to clearly express their views (Hashemi, Najafi, 2011; Yunus et al., 2013). However, there are still some gaps in the literature as few studies investigated EFL learners' views toward blogs through interviews and the evaluation of the qualitative aspect after a long treatment period. The present research aims to contribute to the literature and further reshape teachers' practices in the classroom through the 8-week treatment with 28 EFL learners.

2. Literature

Language skills are classified under two categories; listening and reading are identified as receptive skills, while reading and speaking are identified as productive skills (Harmer, 2007). Compared to the other main

skills, writing requires relatively more systematic effort to be produced efficiently. It indeed necessitates mental processes in which EFL learners are supposed to share their ideas, views, and comments in order; reflect them on a paper or platform considering the punctuation, grammar, and linguistics rules; and have both vocabulary and grammar knowledge to express themselves. In other words, writing makes learners' brains, eyes, and hands function in a cooperative way (Hamid, 2011).

The importance of writing should not be underestimated since learners need to improve their writing skills, as well as other skills, to master the target language and function both in official and unofficial contexts. However, writing is generally regarded as a difficult skill to master, particularly for beginner learners (Boscolo & Hidi, 2007). The reason may be that writing, contrary to other skills, requires learners to plan their ideas and organize them before reflecting them on paper. Furthermore, they may need to look up some words, check grammar rules, check dictionaries for punctuation, or some other sources to look for alternatives in their works (Harmer, 2004). Besides, the fact that learners do not need to master their writing skills until they attend a school may be another reason for that view, as stated in Javed, Juan, and Nazli (2013) 's study, as students start to communicate in written forms when they start to interact with people at school. Additionally, someone who is acquiring their first language skills makes use of listening and speaking until they begin to produce systematic language writings at schools, which makes writing seem unnatural and challenging for them (Raimes, 1983).

Krashen and Lee (2004) have claimed that a person becomes cleverer thanks to writing since writing requires the writer to use their brain effectively and actively to find out suitable structures, words, and phrases to organize their ideas and thoughts. Thus, many methods and techniques have been offered or implemented by researchers to assist learners in becoming proficient writers. Some of them are free writing, creative writing, process-oriented writing, and product-oriented writing, to name a few. These various approaches and methods all have a single common aim: to help learners improve their writing skills, although each method prioritizes different aspects. For example, free writing fosters writing for communicative purposes by prioritizing fluency and does not focus on grammar rules, while product-oriented writing regards vocabulary and grammar rules as significant aspects in writing (Scott, 1996).

At this point, Uzun (2017) states teachers should utilize innovative methods for digital native students. Therefore, we can claim that teachers should take learners' needs and interests into account and choose the most appropriate method to apply in EFL classes because, if the instruction of writing skills fails in the classroom, learners' performance may be affected negatively. Consequently, some of them are likely to change their views toward these classes, and their aptitude level may decrease.

2.1. Technology and Writing

In this century, the methods and approaches of writing can be supported by internet technologies as those offer simplicity, creativity, flexibility, and surely, modernity, which completely contrasts with traditional classrooms. It should not be forgotten that today's learners are familiar with technology as they rely on it in every field of life. Wilber (2010, p. 9) states that

"Every day, when I walk from my car to my office on campus, I see students all around me immersed in technology. Many are using their cell phones, not to talk but to text each other ... Most of the students in the study lounges I pass are working on their laptops. Since our campus is wireless, they are doing anything from coursework to checking their Facebook page."

Unsurprisingly, learners are very likely to spend hours on their cellphones and computers. At this point, Similarly, Hutchison & Wang (2012) state that it has become ordinary and common for learners to spend time playing games, chatting, surfing, and listening to music on a computer or cellphone. They spend a lot of time on those kinds of technological devices. Hyland (2008) states that "in a world increasingly dominated by electronic Information and Communication Technologies (ICT), it is unsurprising that writing teachers are often faced with demands to integrate these technologies into their classes" (p. 144).

Therefore, it is clearly seen that digital native learners may have different demands that will meet their needs in accordance with the modern-day world technology and opportunities offered to them in their lives.

Taking these statements from previous studies into consideration, teachers can be advised to integrate and improve writing skill classes with the tools offered by technology. In this way, they will be able to keep up with today's world facts and update their classes by regarding these opportunities and learners' needs and habits daily. Similarly, Hyland (2008) and Stapleton (2010) stated that ICT tools greatly influence the writing process, which is why the instruction of writing should benefit from computer and internet technologies as those can affect learners' writings, blogging thus could be put forward as one of the Web 2.0 and ICT tools that can be integrated into writing classes. However, when it comes to the obligatory technology integration process as it was seen in the Covid pandemic days, the process should be carefully implemented since it may lead to a negative impact on the motivation of learners due to the mismatch among the factors such as organizational problems, the learning environments, expectations, and content (Meşe & Sevilen, 2021); at this point, students can be encouraged and educated to be a good digital citizen (Öztürk, 2021) as they can become someone who use digital tools to cooperate with other people; care about physical, emotional and mental health; utilize technology to support and develop social goals (ISTE, 2018).

2.2. Previous Research

There have been early studies on blogs and EFL learners with different findings. For instance, these studies pointed out that EFL learners have positive attitudes and experiences with blogs (Tu, Chen, & Lee, 2007), the blogs could enhance learners' motivation and trigger their autonomy (Sun, 2010; Taki & Fardafshari, 2012), besides, blogs play an important role in individual, social, and academic dimensions (Yuen, Deng, 2012) and they could encourage students to perform actively and reflectively in knowledge sharing and knowledge generation and could also help with the development of various strategies to deal with problems occurring throughout the writing process and reward students with a sense of authorship (Sun, Chang, 2012), blogs not only affect learners' writing skills but also arouse their curiosity (Koçoğlu, 2009), and finally, they had a great potential to improve learners' writing skills (Arslan, Şahin-Kızıl, 2010).

More research on blogs has also been conducted in the current decade with different purposes. These studies also showed that blogs enhance EFL learners' writing skills in specific tasks and promote collaboration (Vurdien, 2013); blogs and essays best function as complementary writing tasks since both promote learners writing and research skills (Hansen, 2016). Besides, Yakut and Aydin (2017) investigated the effects of blogs on reading comprehension achievement, which was hardly ever studied before. However, the researchers reported that blogs do not ensure the improvement of EFL learners' comprehension skills. Sütçü (2020) also studied blogging and academic writing, and his research indicated that blogging enhances learners' writing skills, and a significant increase in the scores of these students was observed. With regards to the previous research, it can be claimed that no research has solely focused on the views of EFL learners and asked them their preferences in comparison to paper-based writing activities, which makes this research novel and unique as the previous research generally focused on achievement levels, motivation and evaluated their writing skills.

2.3. Research Questions

The present research seeks answers to the following research questions, with the aim of understanding the effects of blogs on EFL learners, as well as their views toward blogs at the end of the treatment.

- 1. What are EFL learners' views toward blogs after the treatment?
- 2. What are EFL learners' preferences in terms of writing classes at the end of the treatment?

3. Methodology

The present research, built upon the constructivist paradigm in which the researcher tries to understand participants' experiences from their point of view as they are the ones who experienced the process (Schwandt, 2000), was designed as an exploratory case study aiming to understand EFL learners' views and preferences at the end of the treatment. For that, we used semi-structured interviews to explore a phenomenon in context by gathering data with one or more tools (Creswell, 2013). This study involved 28 EFL learners who were enrolled in the engineering department of a state university and were attending intermediate English classes. Ten of these participants were invited to take part in interviews at the end of the treatment.

3.1. Data Collection Tools

All students were first asked to start their own blogs — a procedure introduced by the researcher. There are many alternatives when it comes to starting a free blog, such as blogger.com, blogcu.com, wordpress.com, tumblr.com, and more. Once all the alternatives were analyzed, it was detected that the most suitable platform for educational purposes was WordPress as it came with no cost, limited ads, many features, and a functional panel, which offered learners some freedom in terms of themes, writing styles, domain name, and offered privacy for learners who wanted to hide their posts or set a password for a specific post. Therefore, the group utilized WordPress blogs. The study implemented semi-structured interviews to collect the data to answer the research questions at the end of the treatment with 10 participants who were chosen using the random sampling method (Creswell, 2012). Therefore, every other student on the class's registered student list was invited to the interviews. "A pre-prepared, elaborate interview schedule/guide" (Dörnyei, 2007, p. 135) has been followed for the format of interviews, which requires a particular set of questions to be addressed with each interviewee to make it possible for the researcher to compare the data across all the participants.

- 1. Do you think that blogs affect your writing skills? If yes, how?
- 2. What are the advantages and disadvantages of blogs for you?
- 3. Do you practice writing in another way than through blogging? If yes, how?
- 4. Do you prefer to write an essay on a blog or on paper? Why?

3.2. Data Collecting Procedures

The students were required to write a 225-to-250-word essay in 45 minutes at the computer lab. They were explained that they were supposed to write an essay and that the evaluation criteria were shared and explained to them to prevent a probable disappointment in the future. Furthermore, the teacher followed all of the learners' blogs using his own account to get notified whenever their works were published. While the students were writing their essays, the teacher wandered around the computer lab to help those who needed help to overcome the problems they could experience, both technically and linguistically. Twenty-eight students in the group started their blogs on WordPress and practiced writing for eight weeks by typing out essays on the topics that were shared on their teacher's blog. At the end of the treatment, semi-structured interviews were held with ten students. As previously explained, these students were randomly selected and kindly asked to participate in the interviews. The above-mentioned questions were addressed with the interviewees to understand their views and beliefs toward blogs. Each interview took approximately 15 minutes. The answers were recorded by a smartphone, and students were notified of this procedure.

3.3. Reliability and Validity of the Data

The data were coded by two experts, they then worked on these codes, and the themes emerged from the data; apart from that, the interviewers' notes and the recordings of the interview sessions were utilized to increase the reliability by eliminating any personal and methodological biases, and validity of the data set with by ensuring findings clearly reflect the data (Noble & Smith, 2015)

3.4. Data Analysis

The qualitative data gathered through the interviews were analyzed through the content analysis method, which aims to reveal thematic patterns from the data (Neuendorf & Kumar, 2015). The researcher and a colleague, who had his master's degree in English Language Education program, rigorously analyzed the data and applied the open coding firstly, and process coding and descriptive coding were performed for some statements of the learners (Flick, 2009) as the coding procedure enabled the researchers to regroup similar codes, then, these codes were placed under different themes whose numbers varied from one question to another.

4. Findings

4.1. Views of EFL Learners

The first and second interview questions were asked to answer the first research question, which seeks to understand EFL learners' views toward the use of blogs in writing classes. Therefore, the answers to the question "Do you think that blogs affect your writing skills? If yes, how?" were first coded. Then, these codes were placed under the emerging themes (Table 5). This question's purpose was to understand learners' views toward the efficiency of blogs. Surprisingly, all the participants stated that they believed blogs helped them improve their writing skills; however, what makes writing on blogs is unique can be understood in the next statements of these learners as they stated that they felt more confident in language classes and blogs made writing attractive.

Table 1.

Themes	Codes	Ν
Language skills	It is a chance to practice the target language.	7
	Blogging enhances vocabulary learning.	6
	It contributes to grammar learning.	3
Cognitive skills	It makes me think in English.	3
	It enables creative thinking.	1
	I felt more confident in language classes.	4
Positive views	It makes writing attractive.	2
	It turns writing into a habit.	1

Do you think that blogs affect your writing skills? If yes, how?

Following the first answers, they were asked why they thought blogs helped them. The most frequent statements were related to practicing the target language, learning vocabulary, and feeling self-confident. For example, one interviewee stated that "While writing the posts, I learned new vocabulary because the words that I know did not meet my needs ... I used dictionaries and translation tools, and it was all about practicing the language for me." The findings of this question show that EFL learners believe blogs enable them to practice the target language, help them learn new words and use them, and, particularly, make them feel capable of using the target language, which makes them feel self-confident. Some of the interviewees stated that blogs helped them improve their writing skills in different ways. For instance, they believed they enabled them to think in English while using the target language. They also made the writing process attractive, which turned into a habit over time. Besides, one interviewee stated that "[blogs] helped [them] to think in a creative way since producing the target language and meeting the expectations of the teacher

may be challenging from time to time for [students]." All in all, these results point out that blogs can be utilized to enhance learners' cognitive skills, in addition to their language skills, in EFL classrooms.

The next question was, "What are the advantages and disadvantages of blogs for you?" and the codes and the themes given in the next table (Table 2), which aimed to clarify EFL learners' views toward blogs at the end of the treatment. Many interviewees stated that they believed blogs were advantageous (N = 8), although some of them stated they had some disadvantages and advantages (N = 2). For instance, one interviewee stated, "I can make use of other online tools such as Thesaurus to look for synonyms, and Cambridge Dictionary to understand how to use that word in a sentence." Additionally, another one said, "I really get bored when I have to write something on a paper ... But in the computer lab, writing becomes attractive, and I can embed some videos and visuals to my post." On the other hand, one interviewee who reported positive views on blogs also claimed, "I have seen some friends while they were copying some sentences from other websites to compete with us. I think they deceived themselves, but this may be regarded as a disadvantage." However, none of them claimed that blogs were solely disadvantageous.

Table 2.

What are	the advantage	a and diadu	ontogos of	blogg for you?
what are	auvainag	zs anu uisauv	amages of	blogs for you?

Themes	Codes	Ν
	Writing online is attractive.	4
	It is competitive.	3
	It enhances digital literacy.	2
	Benefitting from online tools is possible.	6
	It is free to write.	2
Advantages of blogs	Embedding visuals in posts is doable.	4
	Posts are public.	4
	It is easy to access thanks to the internet.	3
	I can edit the post later if necessary.	4
	I can self-evaluate and compare.	5
	Translation tools are usable.	1
Disadvantages of blogs	Internet connection sometimes fails.	1
	Plagiarism is possible.	1

As it can be inferred from interviewees' answers, blogs are regarded as advantageous as they enable EFL learners to make use of internet tools and post their essays easily. Furthermore, they can be visited by everyone and accessed easily by writers themselves, as well as other people. The interviewees believe that blogs are attractive since they can enrich their posts with visuals and videos to support their works. Plus, they make it easy for them to edit an essay compared to paper-based writing activities. Moreover, some learners like that they can compare their current works with their previous ones to see how much progress they made and evaluate their achievements (N = 5).

On the contrary, some interviewees mentioned some disadvantages as writing essays on blogs at computer labs could offer some opportunities for learners to cheat. For example, one interviewee stated that "translating a passage from Turkish to English is doable within seconds." Another one reported that "plagiarizing some other essays on other websites could be done without teachers noticing." One of them

also stated that the internet connection sometimes failed, which surely was a disadvantage. At this point, we can understand that learners can take advantage of various opportunities thanks to an internet connection and may try to deceive teachers. For this reason, teachers should wander around the computer lab to monitor the learners in order to make them feel like they are being followed. Furthermore, they could check students' works through plagiarism checkers, such as turnitin.com, to ensure the uniqueness of the essays published on the blogs.

4.2. Learners' Preferences

The next two interview questions were designed to offer data for the second research question, which aimed to investigate EFL learners' preferences for writing classes and whether the treatment affected their choices or not. The third interview question was "Do you practice writing except blogging? If yes, how?" and aimed to find out whether students applied any other methods or techniques besides the blogs on which they were required to write an essay each week over the last eight weeks to improve their writing skills. One of the interviewees stated, "I believe I already do much in terms of writing practice. I do not feel it is necessary to practice writing apart from blogs." Another interviewee also claimed, "I just use my blog, and even after the classes finish, I will use my blog as a personal diary ... I will write about the places I visit and the books I read." Through similar statements, all of the participants reported that they had no other techniques to practice their writing skills. All in all, on the one hand, EFL learners did not practice writing skills outside the classroom. They just made use of blogs and believed that blogging would be enough to help them master their writing skills. On the other hand, we can thus state that EFL teachers should not assume the learners would practice their writing skills unless they are told to do so.

Table 3.

Do you prefer to write an essay on a blog or on paper?

Preferences	Ν
I prefer writing on blogs.	9
I prefer writing on both blogs and paper.	1

After the interviewees shared their views on the advantages and disadvantages of blogs, the researcher aimed to disclose their final choice between blogs or paper-based writing activities. Therefore, the following question, "Do you prefer to write an essay on a blog or on a paper? Why or why not?" was asked to understand ESL learners' preferences (Table 3). It was seen that all of the interviewees wanted to use blogs in their writing classes. For instance, one interviewee said, "I did not think blogs would be that much easier for me to publish a post and edit it later if necessary. For sure, I want to go on writing exercises with my blog." Another one stated, "Blogs are easy to access, and my friends can also see my posts. I like writing in this way as it becomes public and stays there forever. On the contrary, I can easily lose my essays on paper." Despite these positive views on blogs, one interviewee pointed out a negative aspect of blogs by stating that "we also need to practice on a paper since we will not use blogs in a real life exam and we should also be fast and well organized while we write essays on a paper." These findings indicate that the EFL learners who made use of blogs for eight weeks were still willing to practice their writing skills through an ICT tool rather than paper-based activities. Besides, we can claim that interviewees were really affected by the advantages that blogs offer to them. Thus, they did not hesitate on which method to choose to practice their writing skills.

5. Discussion and Conclusion

Firstly, it should be noted that the present study is one of the rare studies that investigated EFL learners' views toward the use of blogs and their preferences for writing classes and has reached some unique findings. Regarding learners' views, we can claim that blogs should not only be evaluated in terms of the scores learners get as they have some other crucial effects on learners. At this point, some previous studies have indicated that blogs enhance motivation and trigger learners' autonomy (Tak & Fardafshari, 2012); encourage them to perform actively and reflectively in knowledge sharing (Sun and Chang, 2012) and promote collaboration (Vurdien, 2013). Accordingly, the present study has also found some positive effects reported by learners. For instance, it has been understood that blogs helped them build self-confidence, contributed to their grammar and vocabulary learning, enabled them to think in English, and turned the writing process into an attractive process. Besides, the majority of ESL students also reported that blog assignments helped them practice the target language. Overall, all these opportunities are understood to enable them to have positive views toward blogs. In this aspect, the present study aligns with one of the early studies conducted by Tu, Chen, and Lee (2007), which again revealed learners' positive attitudes toward blogs.

When it comes to the second research question, the study has found that all of the participants preferred blogs to paper-based writing activities for the various reasons they listed as advantages. For instance, they reported that writing online is attractive and that their digital literacies had been positively affected since they started benefiting from various online tools and websites. They performed the writing tasks for months on WordPress, a blogging platform, and have become capable of starting a blog, publishing a public post, and using audiovisual materials in their essays. Furthermore, learners can compare their most recent essays with previous ones and write well-established essays compared to previous works thanks to the feedback provided by the teacher.

Finally, the present study indicated some significant results of the integration of blogs into writing classes that had not been reported before, as it has revealed the views of EFL learners in terms of whether blogs affect their digital literacy skills and help them improve their creative thinking skills and self-confidence. Besides, few studies conducted interviews to compare paper-based writing activities with blogs. At this point, it has been understood that learners definitely favor blogs over paper-written essays if presented with a choice. Considering all these reasons, we can conclude that EFL teachers should abandon traditional teaching methods for digital native students (Uzun, 2017); in other words, teachers should not insist on traditional teaching methods for digital native students as they may perform better if this opportunity is given to them. The teachers should also consider the positive views that learners build toward ICT tools and enable them to improve their language skills with the help of such tools. However, the present research also encountered a limitation; further research could be conducted with a bigger sample and may direct additional questions to investigate the issues to a better extent.

References

- Abidin, M. J. Z., Pour-Mohammadi, M., & Hamid, F. B. A. (2011). Blogging: promoting peer collaboration in writing. *International Journal of Business, Humanities and Technology*, Vol. 1, No. 3, 98-105.
- Amir, Z., Ismail, K., & Hussein, S. (2011). Blogs in language learning: Maximizing students' collaborative writing. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 18, 537-543.
- Arslan, R. Ş., & Şahin-Kızıl, A. (2010). How can the use of blog software facilitate the writing process of English language learners? *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 23(3), 183-197.
- Bloch, J. (2007). Abdullah's blogging: A generation 1.5 student enters the blogosphere. *Language Learning and Technology*, Volume 11, Number 2, 128-141.

- Boscolo, P., & Hidi, S. (2007). The multiple meanings of motivation to write. In S. Hidi & P. Boscolo (Eds.), *Writing and motivation* (pp.1–16). Elsevier.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches*. (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M., & Hanson, W. (2003). Advanced mixed methods research designs. In A. Tashakkori & C. Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research* (pp. 209–240). Sage.
- Deng, L., & Yuen, H. K. (2012). Understanding student perceptions and motivation towards academic blogs: An exploratory study. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 28(1), 48-66.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2007). Research methods in applied linguistics. Oxford University.
- Flick, U. (2009). An introduction to qualitative research (4th ed.). Sage.
- Gresham, J., Carlson Bowles, B., Gibson, M., Robinson, K., Farris, M., & Felts, J. (2012). "Death planning for the inevitable: a hybrid honors course". *Honors in Practice*, Online Archive, 159. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/nchchip/159
- Hansen, Holley. (2015). The Impact of Blog-Style Writing on Student Learning Outcomes: A Pilot Study. *Journal of Political Science Education*. 12. 1-17. 10.1080/15512169.2015.1060887.
- Harrison, R., & Thomas, M. (2009). Identity in online communities: social networking sites and language learning. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies and Society*, 7(2), 109-124.
- Hashemi, M., & Najafi, V. (2011). Using blogs in English language writing classes. *International Journal* of Academic Research, 3 (4), 599 604.
- Hutchison, A., & Wang, W. (2012). Blogging within a social networking site as a form of literature response in a teacher education course. *Educational Media International*, 49(4), 263-275.
- Hyland, K. (2008) Second Language Writing (5th edition). Cambridge University Press.
- International Society for Technology in Education [ISTE] (2018). Citizenship in the digital age. Retrieved from https://elearninginfographics.com/citizenship-digital-age-infographic/
- Javed, M., Juan, W. X., & Nazli, S. (2013). A Study of students' assessment in writing skills of the English language. International Journal of Instruction.
- Jin, S. (2015). Using Facebook to promote Korean EFL learners' intercultural competence. *Language*, *Learning & Technology*, 19(3), 38–51.
- Koçoğlu, Z. (2009). Weblog use in EFL writing class. Ankara University Journal of Faculty of Educational Sciences, 42(1), 311-327.
- Krashen, S., & Lee, S. Y. (2004). Competence in foreign language writing: Progress and lacunae. *Literacy across Cultures*, 12(2), 10-14.
- Meşe, E. & Sevilen, Ç. (2021). Factors influencing EFL students' motivation in online learning: A qualitative case study. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(1), 11-22.
- Noble, H. & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35.
- Öztürk, G. (2021). Digital citizenship and its teaching: A literature review. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(1), 31-45.

- Pegrum, M. (2009). Communicative networking and linguistic mashups on Web 2.0. In M. Thomas (Ed.), *Handbook of research on Web 2.0 and second language learning* (pp. 20-41). IGI Global.
- Pinkman, K. (2005). Using blogs in the foreign classroom: Encouraging learner independence. *JALT CALL Journal*, 1(1), 12-24.
- Raimes, A. (1983). Techniques in teaching writing. Oxford University Press.
- Roy, C. K. (2016). Be creative and collaborative: strategies and implications of blogging in EFL classes. *English Language Teaching*, Vol. 9, No. 7, Canadian Center of Science and Education.
- Schwandt, T. A. (2000). Three epistemological stances for qualitative inquiry: Interpretivism, hermeneutics, and social constructionism. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed., pp. 189–214). SAGE.
- Scott, V. M. (1996). Rethinking Foreign Language Writing. Heinle & Heinle Publishers.
- Stapleton, P. (2010). Writing in an electronic age: A case study of L2 composing processes. *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, 9, 295-307.
- Sun, Y. C. (2010). Extensive writing in foreign-language classrooms: A blogging approach. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 47(3), 327-339.
- Sutcu, S. (2020). Blogging in EFL Learners' Academic Writing. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 16(6), 344-351. doi: 10.29329/ijpe.2020.280.21
- Taki, S., & Fardafshari, E. (2012). Weblog-based collaborative learning: Iranian EFL learners' writing skill and motivation. *International Journal of Linguistics*, 4(2), 412-429.
- Tu, C. C., Chen, P. C., & Lee, M. Y. (2007). Fostering EFL learners' writing competence through webbased guided writing. *An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 53, 225-244.
- Tu, C., Blocher, M., & Ntoruru, G. (2008). Constructs for Web 2.0 learning environments: A theatrical metaphor. *Educational Media International*, 45(4), 253–269. doi: 10.1080/09523980802588576
- Uzun, L. (2016). The educational and technical courses in the ELT program in Turkey: Do they contribute to ICT skills? *Cogent Education*. 3:1. doi:10.1080/2331186X.2016.1141454
- Uzun, L. (2017). Using the second life digital environment for FL education: a postmodern perspective. *Teaching English with Technology*, 17(2), 42-54.
- Vurdien, R. (2013). Enhancing writing skills through blogging in an advanced English as a Foreign Language class in Spain. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 26(2), 126-143.
- Wang, S., & Vásquez, C. (2014). The effect of target language use in social media on intermediate-level Chinese language learners' writing performance. *CALICO Journal*, 31(1), p. 78-102. doi: 10.11139/cj.28.2.345-368
- Wilber, D. J. (2010). Using Blogs, Wikis, and Digital Stories in the English Classroom. *iWrite*, Heinemann.
- Yakut A.D., & Aydın, S. (2017). An experimental study on the effects of the use of blogs on EFL reading comprehension. *Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching*, 11:1, 1-16. doi: 10.1080/17501229.2015.1006634
- Yunus, M. M., Nordin, N., Salehi, H., Embi, M. A., & Salehi, Z. (2013). The use of information and communication technology (ICT) in teaching ESL writing skills. *English Language Teaching*, 6(7), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v6n7p1
- Zhang, D. (2009). The Application of Blog in English Writing. Journal of Cambridge Studies, 4(1).

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Video feedback via QR codes for pre-service English teachers

Meral CEYLAN ÇAPAR ^a* ^(D),

^a Anadolu University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Ceylan Çapar, M. (2021). Video feedback via QR codes for pre-service English teachers. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 605-625.

Article Info	Abstract				
Keywords:	QR Codes have been flourishing the education for many long with the variety of activities in use it provides, and have been preferred especially for being simple and				
Video Feedback	quick in education. Feedback is another significant element for learners since it guides				
Online learning	the learners for qualified essays. The aim of this qualitative study is to find out the				
Preservice English teachers	experiences of preservice English teachers on video feedback via QR codes. 50				
Academic writing	preservice teachers were asked to write two essays. At the end of the term, data were				
	collected via an open-ended questionnaire and semi-structured interviews. 23 of the				
	candidates completed the open-ended questionnaire and 8 of them accepted to be				
	interviewed. Data were analyzed through thematic coding. It was expected that the				
	participants would develop positive attitudes towards video feedback, yet the findings				
	showed they prefer written feedback on their word files and felt safer that way. This				
	study may contribute to the field in terms of how to develop ways to provide more				
Research Article	efficient feedback for preservice teachers and may show that affective factors have also				
Research Article	key roles in the success of certain methods and approaches in teaching.				

1. Introduction

Feedback has an important role in language learning, especially for online language courses (Atwater et Al., 2017; Belt & Lowenthal, 2021; Borup et al., 2015). Via video feedback, learners can have the opportunity to improve themselves (Donkin et al., 2019). Since the learners have limited opportunities to meet their instructors face-to-face, instructors providing more frequent and detailed feedback becomes a necessity because it can be seen as a way to prevent the feeling of isolation in online learning (Goldingay & Land, 2014; Yuan & Kim, 2014). Moreover, the instructors can promote their learners' satisfaction, learning and motivation by providing feedback (Garrison, 2009; Li et al., 2020; Thoms, 2011). Hyland and Hyland (2006) claim that feedback is regarded as a vital developmental tool in process-oriented and learner-centered classrooms because it provides learners to move through multiple drafts to effective self-expression. Therefore, according to the feedback students receive, they can be aware of what they have learned and what they need for further improvement in language learning. Especially, in teaching writing (Hyland & Hyland, 2019; Yu et. al, 2018), with the process-oriented approach, feedback has become more important. Since students produce many drafts before the final product, they receive feedback on each draft, so by revising the drafts using the feedback, they learn how to express their ideas through writing.

Feedback can focus on both global (content, organization, and so forth) and local issues (grammar, mechanics, and so forth) (Sheen & Ellis, 2011). Although Truscott (2007) claims that grammar correction

^{*} Corresponding author: ELT Department, Education Faculty, Anadolu University, Turkey. e-mail address: <u>meralceylan@anadolu.edu.tr</u>

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1016636

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 21 Dec 2021; Accepted 22 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

does not lead to an improvement in student writing development, many teachers prefer giving feedback on grammar. As a result, the students only see grammar corrections on their papers. Bould and Molloy (2013) claim that the aim of feedback should not only be the correction of grammar and weak points in the written text but also create a positive impact on what learners can do. These views about feedback may lead us to the belief that feedback is a "communicative act" in fact (Ajjawi & Boud, 2018, 3). While providing oral (face-to-face) feedback to learners, they have the chance to interact. They can focus on both global and local level problems in the text, the learners can ask further questions, and so on. However, this may not be the case for online courses. Thus, video feedback provides learners the opportunity to interact with their instructors and gives the instructors the chance to talk about more details about the learner text unlike written and audio feedback (Mahoney et al., 2019). Researchers and educators have focused on written and audio feedback has received less attention especially with English Language Teaching preservice teachers. Consequently, the aim of this study is to investigate ELT preservice teachers' experiences on video feedback via QR codes they received on their essays.

2. Literature

Feedback has a significant role in the learning process no matter what the field is. For especially preservice ELT teachers, it is of the most importance because they need to be good and effective writers and teachers and provide feedback to their future learners. In other words, providing ELT preservice teachers with effective feedback will also teach them how to give feedback to their future learners and calling this as "butterfly effect" would not be wrong.

Feedback

Feedback on students' papers is categorized into two groups: global and local feedback. Global feedback focuses on content and organization development, and local feedback focuses more on form, such as grammar and mechanics. When teaching writing, it is believed that paying attention to both global and local levels is essential. The focus of this study is both. Since students are learning a new language, they constantly need feedback to improve the language both in speaking and writing skills for both at the global and local level (Ferris, 2004). Hsieh and Hill (2021) found in their study that instructors pay more attention to academic writing style, comment on tone and word choices besides language-related errors (Waller & Papi, 2017). According to them, instructor feedback in language learning and writing can be seen as an aid for language learning and in developing writing skills (Ellis, 2006; Ferris & Roberts, 2001).

Providing feedback for learners can encourage them to learn more and trigger their enthusiasm for it. It is significant to remember that without short-term gains long-term gains cannot be achieved (Ferris, 2002), and Ferris adds that students expect error correction on their papers and providing what they expect can motivate them in writing. When learners receive feedback, they feel important and struggle more to develop their language and writing skills (Kormos, 2012; Ruegg, 2018; Wright et al., 2019). While learners require feedback for their work and feel enthusiastic for it, for the teachers, providing feedback to language learners needs time and a lot of effort. Hyland and Hyland (2006) state that although teachers are reluctant to give feedback, they think that they should provide feedback according to the students' needs. Besides, as the study of Chen (2019) suggests language learners become more interactive when the teacher is involved in their learning process. Providing feedback and discussing it is one way to support this interactive learning process.

The importance of providing feedback cannot be denied according to the literature; however, what matters now, in the current era, is the means the feedback is delivered. Surely, what the learners benefit most is oral feedback, the feedback they receive face-to-face, but the developing technology and the changing profile of learners-namely, digital learners-encourage teachers to find more effective and motivating ways to provide feedback for their digital learners, especially during the pandemic which COVID-19 has caused.

Alternatives for face-to-face feedback should be found to support the learners, such as, written feedback, audio feedback or video feedback.

Written Feedback

Written feedback usually means corrective feedback. The teacher provides feedback on the margins of the text, underlines the parts which need revision, and so on. Feedback focuses mainly on the language use, content development, and/or the organization of the ideas. The literature at issue puts forward that written feedback has a highly positive effect on the text quality (Bitchner & Knoch, 2009; Bonilla López et al., 2018; Van Beuningen et al., 2012). This type of feedback can be considered the basis for audio and video feedback. In other words, audio and video feedback are based on written feedback. During the pandemic/lockdown, the teachers and learners had to decide how the feedback should be delivered: sending the written feedback via word file or similar, or in audio form or video form.

Audio Feedback

Audio feedback is the recorded feedback that the instructor provides for the learner. This type of feedback comprises the comments of the teacher and can be an opportunity to cover the points that written feedback may lack (Kostka & Maliborska, 2016) since the teacher will have more room to explain their point of view. Moreover, there are some studies which show that learners may pay more attention to audio feedback (Cavanaugh & Song, 2014; Ice et al., 2007). Wood et. al. (2014) echo this statement by emphasizing that since audio feedback is a way to construct interaction with the learners, learners may feel important, cared, and eventually, they get more motivated. Also, Ahern-Dodson and Reisinger (2017) found that foreign language learners in their study favored feedback which was presented in written and audio form because it was more "thought-provoking" (p.138). Audio feedback can be delivered in form of MP3 files, software programs, such as Turnitin, and so on.

Video Feedback

Video feedback can also be referred to as screencast feedback by some experts such as Mathisen (2012), Thompson and Lee (2012), and Turner and West (2013). Screencast feedback can be explained as the recording that the teacher makes from his/her computer screen and shows the mouse movements, scrolling and typing, and provides audio feedback (Henderson & Phillips, 2014).

Although written feedback is the basis for video feedback, video feedback gives the learners the chance to receive more detailed feedback (Mayhew, 2017; Vincelette & Bostic, 2013). The study of Moore and Filling (2012) supports this view with the findings of their study. They found that while providing video feedback, teachers were giving more detailed suggestions, tried to make comments on language use and elaborated the important points and details. Moreover, in other studies, it was found that video feedback encouraged the teachers to focus more on positive aspects of the learner texts (Lamey, 2015; Thomas et. al., 2017). Henderson and Phillips (2015) claim that video feedback may lead teachers to focus less on surface-level mechanics of writing and more on global aspects of the texts (Lamey, 2015; Orlando, 2016). Thus, video feedback encourages teachers to provide more feedback on content development, organizational problems, unity, and coherence. The aforementioned studies also found that students work on global issues of their texts more when they receive video feedback.

Furthermore, video feedback can be a means for constructing interaction with the learners. Since the teacher greets the students at the beginning of the video and says 'bye' at the end, and perhaps addresses the students by name during the video, the learners perceive the video feedback as more conversational (Anson et. al., 2016; Grigoryan, 2017). Anson et. al. (2016) found in their studies that video feedback could be a means for face-to-face interaction and may improve the relationship between the teacher and the learner. The study

of Meşe and Sevilen (2020) revealed that L2 learners had negative attitudes towards online learning because of lack of social interaction. Video feedback can be a means to support social interaction with the learners.

Since the advantages of video feedback overweigh the ones of audio feedback when the literature is considered, in this study, video feedback was preferred as a means to provide feedback for preservice ELT teachers. Also, studies on feedback have mainly focused on language learners rather than ELT teacher candidates (Dowden et al., 2013; Ellis, 2006; Ferris & Roberts, 2001; Gould & Day, 2013; Ene & Upton, 2018; Jolly & Boud, 2013; Ruegg, 2018; Vardi, 2013; Waller & Papi, 2017). Nonetheless, it is obvious that every method applied with teacher candidates does not only develop their English writing skills but also may contribute to their teaching skills. This is based on the belief that any experience with preservice teachers contributes to their teaching skills and this may create a "butterfly effect". Accordingly, this study focuses on the opinions of ELT teacher candidates on video feedback in their writing skills course. Thus, it is believed that this study can contribute to the literature and the field of ELT in terms of developing ELT preservice teachers' academic writing skills and teaching skills. Regarding this aim, the research question of the study is:

- 1. What type of feedback do preservice English teachers prefer while having an online writing skills course?
 - a. What are the reasons for their preferences?

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Model/Design

In this study, qualitative research, more specifically, phenomenological study design was used. Phenomenological research is based on the experiences reported by the individuals which allow us the opportunity to see the perspectives of the subjects (Creswell, 2005). Since the aim of the study was to find out the experiences and opinions of the ELT preservice teachers on video feedback, the phenomenological study design was found to be the most suitable design to be applied. In other words, this study is concerned with describing the participants' experiences rather than explaining them, and gaining insights in the preservice teachers' motivation and actions in receiving video feedback for their essays.

The study was conducted in a "writing skills II" course at the ELT department of an education faculty in Turkey. The course focuses on academic writing and the syllabus comprises some basic types of essays. Since the pandemic suddenly hit the education system in a sudden way, the syllabus was revised and two types of essays were taught online to preservice teachers: cause-effect essay and argumentation essay.

The course applies process approach for homework where the preservice teachers receive feedback on their essays and then, they are required to revise their essays according to the feedback they receive from their instructors. For the cause-effect essay, the preservice teachers received feedback on the word file they submitted to the LMS (Learning Management System) the university was using. For the argumentation essay, they were provided with video feedback which they could reach via a QR (Quick Response) code sent to their emails (Figure 1).



Fig. 1: Type of feedback according to the essay type

3.2. Study Group

The participants of the study were 50 ELT preservice teachers attending the 'writing skills II' course in the spring term of the academic year of 2019-2020 They were freshman students whose ages ranged from 18 to20. The feedback for two essay types was provided in written-only and video +written format for all 50 participants. Although 20 participants completed the survey, 3 participants were not able to complete the survey due to health and technological problems. 8 of the participants agreed to be interviewed. The rest of the participants did not complete the survey although they received feedback during the term. All preservice teachers were provided with feedback during the term, but they participated in answering the survey and the interview on a voluntary basis.

3.3. Data Collecting Tools

Video Feedback and QR code

The participants received feedback for the cause-effect essay in written format in the word file they uploaded on the LMS. The word files were sent one by one to each participant's mailbox. For their argumentation essay, they received feedback both in written form and video format. At this point, since the size of videos was big and could not be sent via email, QR codes were used by sending the participants the codes they had to use to access their feedback. Another reason why QR codes were preferred was the application called "Qwiqr" (https://uk.qwiqr.education/). This application offers the easiness to record the video on the application directly and creates QR codes for it; in other words, it also saves time. On the recording, the participants could see their written feedback, and they could also listen to their instructor explaining both the strong and weak sides of the essay by showing them on the screen with the mouse and

by highlighting the necessary parts (see Picture1). Thus, the participants could read the comments of the instructor, listen to the feedback, and see the relevant parts.



Pic.1: Qwiqr Screen

Dosya	Giriş	Ekle	Tasarım	Sayfa Düzeni	Başvurular	Posta Gönderileri	Gözden Geçir	Görünüm	Yardım	Q Ne y	yapmak istediğinizi söyleyin	, Paylas
						QE61K						
				Nearly the bu with ti office in a n traditi cooper	In these days, per everything has to siness sector. That he help of the ap as a distance wor ormal situation. I onal office is a mu- ration, and securit	sople are discussing abo urned to be done online aks to improving technoi plication. People have s king in this pandemic, v However, although som ach better option than ho yy.	ut doing things from such as family gathe logy, most of the peot started to think that we can also stop wor he people can think me office in terms o	a distance due to rrings, education, ople can do their j if we can apply king in a traditio and agree with f labor productiv	the virus. and even ob distant the home nal office this idea, ity, social		MERAL Deat sense bits the topic laterative first	
				Emplo time, I home purpor disturt lovely or the home if you what h	The traditional of yees work from vare a professions office is a place work office is a place work office is a place work office is a place work is solved work of First of all; even heed, the traditiona family can be a b y are not doing the office situation. The office is doing is office is doing is of the situation of	office is part of the eco 9-to-5 and it-they used. I appearance, and be re- hinch is made in personal e more comfort in terms if you create a room juu al office is much calmer ig problem by hindering its knowingly of course hings may also be differ a baby, you may want	nomic system just li expected from them spectful to their colla- house teat home to a of rules at home offic for you to focus or you to do your job i. However, they ma rent from your point to take of your child to focus on your wor	ike other ones and a the agues. On the of complete official ice, ice as a complete official ice, because you c a your work. Even they are not you ay not keep pace of view too. For or you can como rk. Moreover, yo	ach as office on ther hand, bussiness an still be en if your ur enemy with this example; erm about u can also		MEPAL Tapis havkground guaranab, for home offsets we do not credit this information, are signed on performant and not credit the defaure 4 file table in waterceasars. Or was credit base mentioned should: COVID-19 and white benne offlices base because a choice.	

Pic.2: Student sample video feedback via QR code

Open-ended Survey

An open-ended questionnaire was prepared online for the participants. The questions consist of three parts: demographic information, 8 experience-related questions and consent for the use of their answers for academic purposes. Before the questionnaire was applied to the participants, two field-related experts examined the questionnaire and provided feedback both for the format of the questionnaire and the wording of the questions so that they would be clear enough for the participants. 5 of the participants who were excluded from the main study answered the survey beforehand in terms of checking the difficulty of the questions, and the problematic ones were revised accordingly. Thus, based on the critics of the experts and the five participants, revisions were made.

Semi-structured Interview

Two questions related to the experiences of the participants were prepared. During the interview, when the necessity for further questions arose, follow-up questions were asked to the participants too. The interviews were conducted with eight volunteer participants. The two questions were as:

- 1. Which feedback type do you prefer? Written or video feedback? Why?
- 2. Why wouldn't you prefer the other one?

The interviews were carried out on Zoom and they were recorded with the permission of the participants. The interviews were transcribed verbatim for detailed content analysis. Figure 2 shows the data collections tools used for the study.



Fig. 2: Data Collection Tools

3.4. Application Process

The aim of the study was to explore the experiences of ELT preservice teachers on video feedback during the online writing course during the lockdown. The preservice teachers were expected to write two essays as homework in the spring term. The homework was assigned to the participants after they were taught each essay type. Hence, the first essay type was the cause-effect essay and the second was argumentation essay (as presented in Figure 1).

The participants received written feedback only for their first homework on a word document. The feedback was provided within the text by correcting mechanical errors and with margin notes which would help them

to improve their texts in terms of content, organization, unity, and coherence. The documents with the feedback were uploaded to the LMS.

After the argumentation essay was taught, the second homework was assigned. This time, the participants were provided with written feedback and video feedback. Mechanical errors were mentioned in written feedback. If they were very frequent and of a specific type, then they were explained in the video. Margin notes were used again for content and organization development, but this time video feedback supported those notes. In the video feedback, the problematic part was shown exactly to the participant and necessary information was provided on how to solve the problem and develop their text. The video feedback was recorded via the web tool Qwiqr" (https://uk.qwiqr.education/). QR codes were preferred because sending the video recording would be difficult in terms of size, so this application assisted in sharing the feedback with the participants in a practical way. The files with written feedback and QR codes for the video feedback were planned to be uploaded on the LMS; however, there was a technical problem and the upload failed, so the instructor had to send the files to each student via email.



Figure 3. Application Process

At the end of the term, after the final exams, the participants were asked to complete the open-ended survey for the study and to consent for their participation in the data collection process. After the survey, volunteer participants were interviewed on their experiences of receiving feedback and how this improved their essays.
3.5. Data Analysis

Qualitative data analysis was used for both the survey data and interview data sets. More specifically, content analysis was carried out. The interviews were transcribed verbatim. For both data sets, theme coding was applied on NVivo12. Two experts applied theme coding to the data sets, and a third expert was consulted for the parts where consensus was needed.

3.6. Validity and Reliability

For coding reliability, two coders identified the themes in the data. At the first stage, after 30% of the data were coded by the coders, for the themes which could not be agreed on, a third expert was consulted. The whole data were analyzed by two experts; then, the reliability Kappa coefficient was found on NVivo12 as 0.83, which can be considered as highly reliable. Figure 4 shows the procedure for data analysis and reliability.



Fig. 4: Data Analysis Procedure

3.7. Findings and Discussions

The aim of the study is related to the preferences and opinions of the pre-service teachers. They were asked which feedback type they preferred: written-only feedback or video feedback +written feedback. While 60% of the participants preferred video feedback and written feedback, 40% of the participants preferred written-only feedback.

When the reason for their preferences was asked, the participants stated that receiving video feedback during the pandemic made them feel cared and important because they thought it was a sign that the instructor cared about them. Also, they added that more detail was provided via video feedback. On the other hand, the participants who preferred written feedback stated the reason for their choices as they were not good at using technological devices and found it time-consuming to download a QR scanning application and then to watch the video. They preferred written feedback because it was more straightforward for them.

Table 1.

Preference of Feedback Type

Type of Feedback	Percentage	Reasons
Written-only feedback	40%	Straight forward Practical Traditional
Video Feedback+Written feedback	60%	More detailed Felt more cared Visual and audio feedback

Considering this finding, the study went through a more detailed analysis of their preferences and experiences about video feedback+written feedback and written-only feedback. The participants were asked which type of feedback they found effective (Table 2). When they were asked about their opinions on the effectiveness of video feedback+written feedback and only written feedback, 48% of the participants found video feedback more effective whereas 52% found written feedback only more effective. This finding may seem contradictory because while most of the participants preferred video feedback+ written feedback, they found the one with video feedback less effective (Table 2).

Table 2.

Type of feedback preference and its effectiveness

	Preference (Percentage)	Effectiveness (Percentage)
Written-only feedback	40%	52%
Video Feedback+Written feedback	60%	48%

Reasons for Preferring Written-only Feedback type

The participants uploaded their cause-effect essays on a word file on the LMS of the university. On the file, the instructor corrected the language use, suggested more complex vocabulary and grammar structures, and wrote suggestions on the margins as comments about the content and organization of the essays. The files were sent via email to the participants.

When participants stated their preference as written-only feedback, the reasons for their choices were found out. Figure 4 presents the reasons why written-only feedback was preferred over video feedback+written feedback.



Fig.4: Reasons for Preferring written-only feedback

There are mainly two advantages stated by the preservice teachers. First, they found written-only feedback time-saving because they might get in contact with the instructor only when disagreements about the feedback occurred. Thus, instead of watching the whole video, they could focus only on the points which were not understood. This finding is also in line with the study of Borup et al. (2015) and Orlando (2016) where the students also preferred written feedback to video feedback because written feedback was easier to access and faster to skim through the comments.

The participants stated that they could get in touch with their instructors in case the feedback had some confusing points; however, they missed the point that during the pandemic, they were not able to meet their instructors face-to-face. Stating such a reason may show that the participants were used to the traditional procedure for receiving feedback and they felt safer that way during the pandemic too. This may imply that the participants could not adapt to the new methods in receiving feedback and might feel safer with the traditional procedure. During the interview, participant 8 stated:

[...] I would prefer written feedback. I feel safe that way...I do not like using technology that much...codes...videos. Learning should be simple.

Another advantage they stated was the benefit of a more detailed explanation they could receive with the written feedback. The feedback provided to the participants was more detailed in video feedback because the instructor explained the margin notes, commented on the video and suggested ways to improve the text. It may seem surprising that the written-only feedback was found more detailed. There may be two reasons for this finding. First, perhaps the participants did not watch the video feedback, and second, perhaps it was difficult to comprehend the feedback as stated in the second part of Figure 4. Thus, the margin notes and comments may seem more detailed to them. The learners may be visual learners and maybe they felt more comfortable with written-only feedback.

While coding the themes, it was found that the participants who prefer written-only feedback over video-feedback+written feedback, made their choices because of the disadvantaged experiences they had with the video feedback+written feedback. As seen in Figure 4, the participants had difficulty in hearing the video feedback and seeing the written parts (meaning the notes, corrections and comments). Also, they experienced problems with the QR codes. For example, they had difficulty in opening the video with the code, they needed an application for scanning the code and perhaps their mobile did not have the size for that. Participant 13 supported his opinion during the interview with these lines:

[...]uhmm well, I liked to watch the video. I could also follow the feedback from the Word file....but it takes long time to receive the feedback. Uhmm I mean ... just the Word file is enough. For the video, I need the QR code application, a bigger screen...and finding these takes time.

Participant 19:

[...]The Internet connection was weak on my phone...I could not download the video so it was difficult to watch... Written feedback was easier to access.

Because of these difficulties they experienced, the participants also made suggestions. They suggested screen video usage and video files to be sent via email. However, the problem with sending the video files via email was the size of the files causing difficulty in sending them.

As stated by the participants, they preferred written-only feedback mostly because of the technical difficulties they experienced with the procedure rather than the effectiveness of the written-only feedback type. Since they were away and in their hometowns during the pandemic, some of the participants did not have a computer or strong internet connections, so they usually used their mobile phones for working on the feedback they received. This may have been also a challenge for the participants.

Reasons for Preferring Video feedback+Written feedback

The participants were provided with video feedback and written feedback for their argumentation essays. They could reach their video feedback via a QR code. After scanning the code, they could watch their feedback on their screens. When the participants were asked about the reasons for preferring video+written feedback, they stated that they found video feedback more detailed and effective (Figure 5). They stated that video feedback was more detailed because the instructor had to explain the comments and suggestions made on the written feedback file in more detail. In other words, the instructor elaborated the written feedback. Also, they added that seeing their paper during the video made the confusing points clearer. Seeing-listening-reading helped them to comprehend the points to be improved in their essays more easily. Since they did not have the opportunity to have oral feedback sessions, video feedback was the closest to it to be used. This finding supports the literature about video feedback since it has put forward that video feedback provides the opportunity to receive more feedback and more detailed (Borup et. al., 2015; Crook et al., 2012; Elola & Oskoz, 2016; Henderson & Phillips, 2015; Lamey, 2015). Instead of focusing on corrective feedback like in written feedback, during video feedback, the instructor provided more feedback on global level of the essay. Thus, s/he explained the current situation in more detail.

Additionally, the way video feedback was used by the instructor was found effective. Both the video feedback and the way it was delivered to the participants, namely the QR codes, were satisfying for the participants. One of the participants even stated that the QR codes became a tool for her to increase her curiosity about the feedback and the learning process.

Participant1:

[...]...I liked the video. I could get more detail actually...it was fun to receive feedback with QR code... it created curiosity...

Thus, the participants found video feedback so effective that they suggested receiving more video feedback during the term not only for one essay.



Fig.5: Reasons for preferring video feedback

In contrast to the reasons the participants stated for their written-only feedback, the participants who prefer video feedback+written feedback stated more details about their choice (Figure 6). First of all, the participants found video feedback beneficial for their final exam where they were also asked to write an essay. They could see their mistakes and understand how to correct them. This may be the reason why the participants found video feedback more detailed. They claimed that video feedback helped them improve their essay writing skills. However, they would like to receive more feedback on mechanical issues in the video feedback in addition to the feedback on the content and organization of their essays. The instructor focused more on global issues rather than mechanics and language use. This finding is also in line with previous studies (Anson et al., 2016; Borup et al., 2014; Elola & Oskoz, 2016; Henderson & Phillips, 2015).

The participants were also satisfied with video feedback because they received feedback on what they did better and were motivated to learn more. In addition, video feedback supported a way for building interaction with the learners during the pandemic and as Chen (2019) suggests interaction with the instructor may motivate the learner. This is also a finding in line with the study of Lamey (2015). Perhaps, the reason why instructors focus more on the positive aspects of the product of the learner can be the feeling of having an interaction with the learner via the recording. Psychologically, the instructors feel the need to greet the learner, address with their names and focus on positive aspects too so that it seems like a real interaction (Anson et al, 2016). A possible explanation can be that video feedback may reduce the perceived distance between the learner and the instructor (Thomas et al., 2017).



Fig.6: Opinions of participants on video feedback

Another point to be mentioned can be the feeling of being cared by the instructor. Participant 4 made the point that being cared during the pandemic made her feel safe and comfortable. Since they had no chance to meet the instructor face-to-face for receiving feedback, video feedback opened a new way to interact with the instructor about their essay.

Participant 4:

[...] Because of the pandemic, we couldn't receive live feedback...the video feedback was a little bit like live and like feeling safe and kind of cared by the teacher..."

Since the learner can hear the voice of the instructor, and the instructor focuses on positive achievements and encourages the learner, the learner may feel safer and more cared with video feedback (Anson et al., 2016; Harper et al., 2012). This may explain the feeling of participant 4.

To sum up, most of the preservice ELT teachers preferred video feedback+written feedback rather than written-only feedback for their essays. Despite this choice, they might have thought that written feedback was more effective than video feedback. The technological requirements for video feedback via QR codes and technical problems, such as poor Internet connection and the use of mobile phones for receiving the feedback made written-only feedback more preferable. Similarly, Agormedah et al. (2020) found in their study on online learning during the pandemic that learners feel satisfied using technology but have negative attitudes because of poor internet connection and not being trained for online learning. All the technical requirements for video feedback might have seemed like a waste of time for the participants. One reason for this situation may be the concerns the pandemic caused in terms of education. Moving to online education was a novel situation for both teachers and students. Also, the poor level of readiness of technology use for educational purposes can be another underlying reason for the findings of the study.

4. Discussions

The study aims at finding out the experiences of ELT preservice teachers on video feedback which they received via QR codes for their essays. The participants were required to write two essays during the term for their Writing Skills course. Different from the aforementioned studies, this phenomenological study focused on the views of ELT pre-service teachers and the reported results revealed that most of the participants prefer written feedback+video feedback for their essays. Consequently, the contribution of using video feedback and written feedback with teacher candidates was two-fold; (1) the ELT preservice teachers could develop their academic writing skills, and (2) they had the opportunity to learn how to provide feedback for their future learners.

The ELT preservice teachers were found more encouraged for writing when they received written and video feedback from their instructors. The reasons for this phenomenon can be inferred as the inborn need for being cared. These findings echo what Borup et al. (2014; p.249) stated on video feedback. According to the researchers, video feedback can be regarded as a beneficial means for establishing "social presence" because social presence is less achieved in blended courses where learning is face-to-face, so it cannot be wrong to state that for online courses social presence is a significant issue too. In other words, Belt and Lowenthal (2021) state that video feedback can be considered as a tool in terms of the social constructivist theory because video feedback can be seen as a prospect for establishing social presence and a form of affective relationships between the learners and instructors (see also Draus et al., 2014). The participants of the study in question stated that video feedback was a sign for them that their instructor cared about them, especially during the sudden lockdown. Unanticipatedly, they had to switch from face-to-face to online education where they felt especially frustrated for their academic lives. They were aware that their instructor spent effort on the individualized feedback which may have helped them feel less frustrated.

Video feedback presents advantages for the learners as it provides the learners with more detailed feedback (Mayhew, 2017; Vincelette & Bostic, 2013; Moore & Filling, 2012), the instructor's voice, and intonation. It can be seen as a tool for establishing social presence for both face-to-face and online courses since the instructor starts the video by greeting the learner by name, praises (Lamey, 2015; Thomas et. al., 2017) the achieved tasks first and connects to the learners socially (Anson et al., 2016; Grigoryan, 2017). The findings of the current study are in line with the literature. Most of the participants preferred written+video feedback for their essays because they thought they received more detailed feedback especially on the global level of their work. During the video feedback, since the participants heard the instructor talking, it was like a conversation so they did not feel isolated. Thus, the subjects reported that they found video feedback the closest to oral feedback they had been receiving before the lockdown. The participants found video feedback for their previous work, too. However, they highlighted that they would like to have been provided with more feedback on mechanical issues during the video feedback sessions, this finding is also in line with the literature (Anson et al., 2016; Borup et al., 2014; Elola & Oskoaz, 2016; Henderson & Phillips, 2015).

Motivation was reported as another reason for choosing video feedback. The underlying reason may be the positive language that the instructor used during the video. The instructor greeted the learners, addressed them with their names, and started giving feedback by focusing on the positive sides of their work (Anson et al., 2016). Social interaction has a key role in motivation and the study of Meşe and Sevilen (2020) supports this (also see Chen, 2019). As a result, video feedback may reduce the perceived distance between the learner and the instructor (Thomas et al., 2017), and in return, the motivation to develop better texts can come to an existence (Garrison, 2009; Li et al., 2020; Thoms, 2011).

Despite the advantages video feedback+written feedback presents for the learners in the study at issue, the participants found written-only feedback more effective for the development of their writing skills. In other words, this finding can be considered to be contradictory because, as stated before, while most of the participants preferred written+video feedback, they found written-only feedback more effective (Borup et

al., 2015; Li et al., 2020). The reason for this alleged contradiction may be the efficient nature of the text (Li et al., 2020) since written feedback can be an opportunity for the learners "to read, process, relate and link the feedback to their performance at their own pace" (p.502). While reading the feedback, the learner has the opportunity to skim for keywords, but for video feedback, they should take notes about the key points (Borup et al., 2015; Orlando, 2016). This process may make video feedback disadvantageous because learners need to spend more time figuring out the feedback provided. In addition, written feedback is easier to access compared to video feedback (Orlando, 2016). Another possible reason for this finding can be that mentally the students could not switch to online learning from traditional learning. They felt safer with written feedback because this was what they were used to (see the extract from participant 8). In addition, students' inefficient use of the technology was another aspect considered to have a key role on this contradiction about the ineffectiveness of video feedback. Although most of the participants found video feedback beneficial, some of them reported that they had experienced problems with the technology which led them to choose written-only feedback unavoidably. They explained this by stating that they were not good at using technological devices, watching the video feedback from mobiles was troublesome, and it was time-consuming for them to download a QR scanning application and watch the video. Written-only feedback was regarded to be more straightforward by them. The participants in the current study found video feedback beneficial but had concerns related to technology since they could not make the QR application work, even if they had, they experienced trouble in playing the video; therefore, they could not receive proper feedback for their work. In other words, it can be stated that learners prefer to use technology but because of the negative factors affecting it, so they would rather be taught without technology. This finding is also supported by the literature (Agormedah et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020). These might have led the learners to experience bigger and more psychological drawbacks of using technology which can be stated as *frustration* and *distraction*. These feelings and video feedback's being time-consuming may have caused the learners to create negative feelings towards writing and the course. However, these are problems that can be solved. To illustrate, the learners will download a QR scanning application just once, or the feedback can be shared on drive/cloud systems. When the fact that these participants are the teachers of the future is considered, providing them with video feedback should be regarded as a valuable tool since it will also prepare them for the classrooms of the digital generation.

5. Implications of the study

This qualitative study focused on written+video feedback and written-only feedback for ELT preservice teachers. Thus, the two-sided implications of the study both had been expected by the researcher and were considered as valuable resources for clarifying the phenomenon at issue.

In terms of the learning perspective, written+video feedback can be regarded as advantageous for the language learner since it provides detailed feedback on both local and global issues, establishes social presence, and supports affective factors (such as being cared etc.) in learning. Although the study, like the other studies which had been done so far in the relevant literature, may not support that one way of feedback is superior to the other one, this study reveals that what matters is the learner and his/her preferences. The learners may be asked to make a preference about the medium of feedback before the instructor gives feedback. Besides their preference, the instructor may choose to switch from one type of feedback to another for different reasons. S/he may favor using video feedback at the beginning of the course to show the learner how to interpret the given feedback depending on the needs and expectations of the learners (Li et al., 2020; Palloff & Pratt 2007). In addition, video feedback can be used to boost the motivation of the learners in their process of developing their writing skills. In other words, the feeling of being cared and given importance can trigger the motivation of the learners (Garrison, 2009; Li et al., 2020; Thoms, 2011). Another implication of the study is training students on using technology before starting using it for

teaching and learning. Thus, learners' readiness can be supported via teacher instructions (Agormedah et al., 2020). This can be solution for the complaints on using the QR codes, perhaps.

From the teaching perspective, written+video feedback shows ELT preservice teachers that written feedback is not their only choice but they have other and much more up-to-date alternatives, such as the video format. While interpreting the feedback they receive, the students also learn how to provide feedback for their future learners and the tools/ways which help them facilitate the process. This makes a reference to Putnam and Borko (2000) who state that teacher candidates need feedback from their instructors to get one step further in the teaching profession. Consequently, by providing feedback to learners via text, audio and video tools, the instructor gets the opportunity to show the teacher candidates that providing feedback is significant and they may develop technological skills regarding teaching with technology (Nillas 2008).

6. Limitations

Although this study presented insightful findings for educators, it was limited to the study context. First, the findings were related to ELT preservice teachers and a writing course. Using QR codes for video cannot be mentioned as a limitation but it is worth mentioning that there are other ways to deliver the video feedback to learners, such as uploading the files to drive/cloud systems. This could prevent the complaints about downloading QR scanning applications mentioned by the participants. Some participants complained about their weak Internet connection. This can be regarded as one of the limitations of the study.

7. Conclusion and Suggestions

The aim of this study is to find out the opinions and experiences of preservice ELT teachers on video feedback for their writing skills course. Based on this aim, during the spring term, the participants were provided two types of feedback for their essays: written-only and video feedback+written feedback. At the end of the term, the participants were asked to complete a survey about their experiences, and eight of the participants were interviewed for further information. Considering the design of the study, phenomenological study design was applied to shed light on the use of video feedback in writing skills courses with preservice ELT teachers.

The study revealed that while the preservice teachers prefer video feedback for their essays, they found written-only feedback more effective. The preference for video feedback was the result of more detailed comments, more elaboration, and seeing-listening-reading opportunities. Additionally, video feedback made them feel more cared and motivated for improving their writing, this was found precious because of the difficult conditions experienced during the first lockdown of the pandemic. On the other hand, they were more written-only effective because it was time-saving, no application was required (referring to the QR code scanning application), less technology was demanded for written-only feedback.

Considering, the findings of the study, video feedback can be recommended for teaching academic writing in English because it was found more detailed and made the preservice teachers more motivated for the course. However, video feedback can be demanding for the instructor so further studies could be conducted to find out the experiences of the instructors providing video feedback. Technological readiness was another issue that was found in the study. The participants did not feel ready for using QR codes, videos and etc. at the beginning of the pandemic. Another study can compare their readiness level for technology use and the effect of video feedback on essay development of ELT preservice teachers. Since the participants had difficulty in scanning the QR codes, cloud or drive applications may be used to share the video files. Another enlightening suggested study may focus on the effect of written-only and video feedback on essay development preservice teachers by comparing the revised versions of their essays based on an evaluation criterion.

References

- Ahern-Dodson, J. & Reisinger, D. (2017). Moving beyond corrective feedback: (Re) Engaging with student writing in L2 through audio response. *Journal of Response to Writing*, 3(1), 129-152.
- Agormedah, E. K., Adu Henaku, E., Ayite, D. M. K., & Apori Ansah, E. (2020). Online learning in higher education during COVID-19 pandemic: A case of Ghana. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 3(3), 183-210.
- Ajjawi, R., & Boud. D. (2018). Examining the Nature and Effects of Feedback Dialogue. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 43(7), 1106-1119. doi:10.1080/02602938.2018.1434128.
- Anson, C. M., Dannels, D. P., Laboy, J. I., & Carneirn, L. (2016). Students' Perceptions of Oral Screencast Responses to Their Writing: Exploring Digitally Mediated Identities. *Journal of Business and Technical Communication*, 30(3),378–411.
- Atwater, C., Borup, J., Baker, R., & West, R. E. (2017). Student perceptions of video communication in an online sport and recreation studies graduate course. *Sport Management Education Journal*, 11(1), 3–12.
- Belt, E.S. & Lowenthal, P. R. (2021). Video use in online and blended courses: a qualitative synthesis. *Distance Education*, 42(3), 410-440.
- Borup, J., West, R. E., Thomas, R., & Graham, C. R. (2014). Examining the impact of video feedback on instructor social presence in blended courses. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 15(3), 232–256.
- Borup, J., West, R. E., & Thomas, R. (2015). The impact of text versus video communication on instructor feedback in blended courses. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 63(2), 161–184.
- Boud, D., & E. Molloy (2013). Rethinking Models of Feedback for Learning: The Challenge of Design. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 38 (6), 698–712.
- Bitchener J., & Knoch U. (2009). The relative effectiveness of different types of direct written corrective feedback. *System*, *37*, 322–329.
- Bonilla López M., Van Steendam E., Speelman D., & Buyse K. (2018). The differential effects of comprehensive feedback forms in the second language writing class. *Language Learning*, 68, 813– 850.
- Borup, J., West, R. E., & Thomas, R. (2015). The Impact of Text Versus Video Communication on Instructor Feedback in Blended Courses. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 63(2), 161–184.
- Cavanaugh, A. J., & Song, L. (2014). Audio feedback versus written feedback: Instructors' and students' perspectives. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 10(1), 122-138.
- Chen, C. (2019). A comparative study of online teacher-involved and peer interactive learning: Chinese EFL students' perceptions and practices. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 2(1), 56-73.
- Creswell, J. W. (2005). *Educational Research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (2nd edition)*. Pearson, Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Crook, A. C., Park, J. R., Lawson, C. S., Lundqvist, K. O., Drinkwater, R., Walsh, J., Gomez, S., Orsmond, P., & Maw. S. J. (2010). *ASSET: Moving Forward Through Feedback (Final Report)*. Reading: University of Reading. ASSET website,<u>http://www.reading.ac.uk/web/FILES/asset/ASSET_final_report.pdf</u>.

- Draus, P. J., Curran, M. J., & Trempus, M. S. (2014). The influence of instructor-generated video content on student satisfaction with and engagement in asynchronous online classes. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 10(2), 240–254.
- Donkin, R., Askew, E., & Stevenson, H. (2019). Video feedback and e-learning enhances laboratory skills and engagement in medical laboratory science students. *BMC Medical Education*, 19(1), 1–12
- Dowden, T., Pittaway, S., Yost, H., & McCarthy, R. (2013). Students' Perceptions of Written Feedback in Teacher Education: Ideally Feedback is a Continuing Two-Way Communication That Encourages Progress. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, *38*(3), 349–362.
- Ellis, R. (2006). Implicit and explicit corrective feedback on the acquisition of L2 grammar. *SSLA*, 28(2), 339-368.
- Elola, I., & Oskoz, A. 2016. Supporting Second Language Writing Using Multimodal Feedback. Foreign Language Annals, 49 (1), 58–74.
- Ferris, D. R. (2002). *Treatment of error in second language student writing*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Ferris, D. R. & Roberts, B. (2001). Error feedback in L2 writing classes: How explicit does it need to be? *Journal of Second Language Writing*, *10*(3), 161-184.
- Garrison, D. R. (2009). Implications of online learning for the conceptual development and practice of distance education. *Journal of Distance Education*, 23(2), 93–104.
- Goldingay, S., & Land, C. (2014). Emotion: The "e" in engagement in online distance education in social work. *Journal of Open, Flexible & Distance Learning*, *18*(1), 58-69.
- Grigoryan, A. (2017). Audiovisual Commentary as a Way to Reduce Transactional Distance and Increase Teaching Presence in Online Writing Instruction: Student Perceptions and Preferences. *Journal of Response to Writing*, *3*(1), 83–128.
- Gould, J., & Day, P. (2013). Hearing You Loud and Clear: Student Perspectives of Audio Feedback in Higher Education. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 38(5), 554–566.
- Harper, F., H. Green & Fernandez-Toro, M. (2012). *Evaluating the Integration of Jing Screencasts in Feedback on Written Assignments*. Paper presented at the 15th annual conference on interactive collaborative learning (ICL), Villach, Austria.
- Henderson, M., & Phillips, M. (2014). *Technology Enhanced Feedback on Assessment*. Paper presented at the Australian computers in education conference, Adelaide, Australia. <u>http://acec2014.acce.edu.au/session/technology-enhanced-feedback-assessment</u>.
- Hyland, K. & Hyland, F. (2006). Feedback on second language students' writing. *Language Teaching*, 39(2), 83-101.
- Hyland, K. & Hyland, F. (2019). *Feedback in second language writing: Contexts and issues*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ice, P., Curtis, R., Phillips, P., & Wells, J. (2007). Using asynchronous audio feedback to enhance teaching presence and students' sense of community. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 11(2), 3-25.
- Jolly, B., & Boud. D. (2013). Written feedback: What is it good for and how can we do it well? In D. Boud, and E. Molloy (eds). *Feedback in Higher and Professional Education: Understanding It and Doing It Well*,(pp.104–124). Abingdon: Routledge.

- Kormos, J. (2012). The role of individual differences in L2 writing. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, 21(4), 390-403.
- Kostka, I. & Maliborska, V. (2016). Using Turnitin to provide feedback on L2 writers' texts. *The Electronic Journal for English as a Second Language*, 20(2), 1-22.
- Lamey, A. (2015). "Video Feedback in Philosophy." Metaphilosophy, 46(5),691-702.
- Li, J., Wong, S. C., Yang, X., & Bell, A. (2020). Using feedback to promote student participation in online learning programs:evidence from a quasi-experimental study. *Education Technological Research* and Development, 68, 485-510.
- Mahoney, P., Macfarlane, S. & Ajjawi, R. (2019). A qualitative synthesis of video feedback in higher education. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 24(2), 157-179.
- Mathisen, P. (2012). Video Feedback in Higher Education A Contribution to Improving the Quality of Written Feedback. *Nordic Journal of Digital Literacy*, 7(2), 97–116.
- Mayhew, E. (2017). Playback Feedback: The Impact of Screen-Captured Video Feedback on Student Satisfaction, Learning and Attainment. *European Political Science*, *16*(2), 179–192.
- Meşe, E. &Sevilen, Ç. (2020). Factors influencing EFL students' motivation in online learning: A qualitative case study. *Journal of Educational Technology &Online Learning*, 4(1), 11-22.
- Moore, N. S., & Filling, M. L. (2012). iFeedback: Using Video Technology for Improving Student Writing. Journal of College Literacy and Learning, 38, 3–14.
- Nillas, L. A. (2008). Challenges in preparing preservice teachers to teach using technology. In K. McFerrin (Ed.), Society for information technology & teacher education international conference. (pp.4256– 4261). Chesapeake, VA: AACE.
- Orlando, J. (2016). A Comparison of Text, Voice, and Screencasting Feedback to Online Students. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 30(3), 156–166.
- Palloff, R. M., & Pratt, K. (2007). *Building online learning communities* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Ruegg, R. (2018). The effect of peer and teacher feedback on changes in EGL students' writing selfefficacy. *The Language Learning Journal*, 46(2), 82-102.
- Sheen, Y. & Ellis, R. (2011). Corrective Feedback in Language Teaching. In E. Hinkel (Ed.). *Handbook of Research in Second Language Teaching and Learning Volume II*, (pp.593-610). New York: Routledge.
- Thomas, R. A., West, R. E. & Borup, J. (2017). An Analysis of Instructor Social Presence in Online Text and Asynchronous Video Feedback Comments. *The Internet and Higher Education*, *33*, 61–73.
- Thoms, B. (2011). A dynamic social feedback system to support learning and social interaction in higher education. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, 4(4), 340–352.
- Thompson, R., & Lee. M. J. (2012). Talking with Students Through Screencasting: Experimentations with Video Feedback to Improve Student Learning. *Journal of Interactive Technology, 1. https://jitp.commons.gc.cuny.edu/talking-with-students-through-screencasting-experimentations-with-video-feedback-to-improve-student-learning/.*
- Turner, W., & West. J, (2013). Assessment for 'Digital First Language' Speakers: Online Video Assessment and Feedback in Higher Education. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, c25(3), 288–296.

- Truscott, J. (1996). The case against grammar correction in L2 writing classes. *Language Learning*, 46(2), 327-369.
- Van Beuningen C., De Jong N. H., & Kuiken F. (2012). Evidence on the effectiveness of comprehensive error correction in second language writing. *Language Learning*, 62(1), 1–41.
- Vardi, I. (2013). Effectively Feeding Forward from One Written Assessment Task to the Next. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 38(5), 599–610.
- Vincelette, E. J., & Bostic, J. (2013). Show and Tell: Student and Instructor Perceptions of Screencast Assessment. Assessing Writing, 18(4), 257–277.
- Waller, L. & Papi, M. (2017). Motivation and feedback: How implicit theories of intelligence predict L2 writers' motivation and feedback orientation. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, *35*, 54-65.
- Wood, K. A., Moskovitz, C., & Valiga, T. M. (2011). Audio feedback for student writing in online nursing courses: Exploring student and instructor reactions. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 50(9), 540-543.
- Wright, K. L., Hodges, T. S., & McTigue, E. M. (2019). A validation program for the Self-Beliefs, Writing-Beliefs and Attitude Survey: A measure of adolescents' motivation toward writing. Assessing Writing, 39, 64-78.
- Yu, S., Wang, B., Teo, T. (2018). Understanding linguistic, individual and contextual factors in oral feedback research: a review of empirical studies in L2 classrooms. *Educational Research Review*, 24, 181–192.
- Yuan, J., & Kim, C. (2014). Guidelines for facilitating the development of learning communities in online courses. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, *30*(3), 220–232.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Action research as a tool of teaching ESP in a flipped learning environment

Ogün İlter ^a * D, Savaş Yeşilyurt b

^a Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University, School of Foreign Languages, Erzincan, Turkey
 ^b Atatürk University, Faculty of Education, Department of Foreign Languages Teaching, Division of English Language Teaching, Erzurum, Turkey

Suggested citation: İlter, O. & Yeşilyurt, S. (2021). Action research as a tool of teaching ESP in a flipped learning environment. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 626-655

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Flipped learning English for specific purposes Educational action research Course design.	This study aims to contextualize a flipped learning environment for ESP learners at a faculty of pharmacy, considering learners' suggestions and the teacher-researcher's field
	research. Thus, the study was designed as first-person action research, where the teacher- researcher collaborated with the 38 pharmacy students taking an EOP course in their third year of study at a university in Turkey. The flipped learning instruction was
	evaluated, firstly, during implementation via video-recording 12 weekly three-class-hour courses, collecting learners' reflective journals and keeping field notes; and secondly, after finishing the implementation by holding focus group interviews with the students.
	The data were analyzed by inductive content analysis. The findings of the study indicate that the flipped learning strategy ensured many advantages, including the efficient use of class time, differentiation and peer interaction as well as bringing adoption problems.
	derived from teacher dependence and established learning habits. Conducting action research not only improved the teacher-researcher's relationships with the students but
Research Article	also contributed to her professional identity as an ESP practitioner. Considering the findings of the study, practical implications for professional practice as well as suggestions for further research were presented.

1. Introduction

In English-speaking countries, where individuals learn English as a second language (henceforth, ESL), the English for specific purposes (henceforth, ESP) courses are either designed as English for occupational purposes (henceforth, EOP) courses for immigrants, refugees, business people and students; or as English for academic purposes (henceforth, EAP) courses for non-native speakers in the academic sector. On the other hand, in non-English speaking countries, where the target group learn English as a foreign language (henceforth, EFL), ESP courses are designed for self-motivated learners who aim at learning English for academic or occupational purposes to follow their studies or careers in English in international scope (García Laborda & Litzler, 2015; Johns and Price, 2014). Due to the context-driven differences, the delivery of ESP courses in EFL settings features certain characteristics, such as learners' low proficiency level of English, which necessitates supplementary language support; limited chances to practice English learnt in ESP classes; and the lack of authentic ESP materials in EFL settings, which accordingly influence the ESP

e-mail address: ogunilterr@gmail.com

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.988802

Received 3 Sep 2021; Revised 5 Dec 2021; Accepted 5 Dec 2021;

ISSN: 2618-6586. This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author: Department of English Translation Interpreting, School of Foreign Languages, Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University, Erzincan, Turkey.

This study is based on part of the unpublished doctoral dissertation entitled "A Flipped Learning Syllabus for Teaching English for Specific Purposes: An Action Research Study" supervised by Assoc. Prof. Dr. Savaş YEŞİLYURT at Atatürk University, Turkey. This study also was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

course design and related activities that are often limited to time constraints. Therefore, ESP courses in EFL settings are generated to compensate for learners' limited access to use English out of class unlike the ESP courses in ESL contexts, where the tasks can be done in their natural contexts (García Laborda & Litzler, 2015). Besides, there are further obstacles in ESP classes in EFL environments as in the following: the first is the variety of language backgrounds of learners, which requires individualized learning support for each learner to reach common ground before ESP instruction; the second is the overcrowded student population at one setting in a limited time frame, which hinders delivering counselling to learners with different attention span, learning speed and needs; and the third is the learner profile of *Generation Z* (Twenge, 2017) students who communicate knowledge and learn via the medium of technology, which challenges the conventional ESP instruction as well. To appeal to ESP learners' interests, attention span, language learning needs as well as deliver individualized counselling compatible with their mindset and the way they learn in the 21st century, ESP practitioners are in search of best practices to meet the expectations of the emerging profile of today's ESP learners.

2. Literature

The conventional lecture-based instruction in class time is seemingly no more effective to teach any content to today's YouTube generation, who reaches information easily online without a teacher dictation, and accordingly, requests more from educational institutions in valuable face-to-face class time. Within the ESP context at tertiary level education, ESP practitioners are responsible for catching up with the mindset of this generation via recent blended learning models, where knowledge is reached through technological tools outside the class and acquired by active participation in class time, as is the case with the flipped learning. As Jon Bergmann, one of the pioneers of flipped learning, highlights, 'flipped learning' focuses on one basic question, "What is the best use of face-to-face class time?" (Şahin& Fell Kurban, 2016) that puts the stages of Bloom's taxonomy of the cognitive domain in the centre of course design, through which in- and out-of-class work are organized, as seen in Figure 1 below.



Fig. 1. Aspects of traditional and flipped learning mapped against Bloom's Taxonomy (Şahin & Fell Kurban, 2016, p. 16)

Basically, in flipped learning terms, the tasks at the lower stages of Bloom's taxonomy are attained before class time, which is called 'individual space' while those at the higher stages of Bloom's taxonomy are achieved in in-class time, which is called 'group space'. To be more precise, in flipped learning model, the course content is delivered via short videos and/or supplementary materials on a learning management system (henceforth, LMS), which enables the application of the lower stages of 'remembering' and 'understanding' in individual space. As learners interact with learning material and are tested on content knowledge via short online quizzes, they make sure of their comprehension of the new learning content before class time. Individual space learning enables individualization and flexibility in learning as learners can access course content using any media devices they have whenever, wherever, and as many times as

they want. Since in-class time is freed from the conventional way of content delivery, it becomes possible for learners to engage in tasks in the higher stages of Bloom's taxonomy, which are 'applying', 'analyzing', 'evaluating', and 'creating', and by doing so, to achieve deeper learning. Since learners come to class having prepared for course content, they take ownership of their learning, and as flipped learning provides instructors with more time to deal with the individual learning needs of each student in mini-talks during class time, the instruction becomes more personalized for each learner (e.g. Öznacar, Köprülü & Çağlar, 2019; Şahin & Fell Kurban, 2016).

In the literature on implementing flipped learning in language learning, it is observed that flipped learning takes language learning further by engaging students in learning materials before class, where learners are exposed to authentic use of language more through varied media sources, and by enabling ESP teachers to mentor through higher cognitive level tasks in class, where learners can put what they learn into practice (Cunningham, 2016; Mehring, 2016). As well as using authentic language in class, holding content-based activities, as is the case with ESP teaching, facilitates learners to expand their real-world knowledge and specific uses of language with the integration of technology and task-based activities in class as well as making it possible to practice English via several active learning tasks, such as role-plays, simulations, games, discussion, and presentation in ESP classes (Sakulprasertsri, 2017). As for teaching language skills, flipped learning is considered to provide EFL teachers with many advantages, including carrying out communicative activities more in class through teaching grammar via online tools outside the classroom (e.g. Correa, 2015; Nguyen, 2018; Webb & Doman, 2016); improving learners' collocation skills (e.g. Alnuhayt, 2018; Suranakkharin, 2017); enhancing learners' willingness to communicate and improving learners' speaking skill (e.g. Hung, 2015, 2017a; Lee & Wallace, 2018; Lin & Hwang, 2018); increasing learners' listening skill proficiency due to the high number of chances to listen to English in individual space (e.g. Ahmad, 2016; Leis, 2016); enhancing learners' reading comprehension (e.g. Chavangklang & Suppasetseree, 2018; Karimi & Hamzavi, 2017); facilitating learners' composition skills due to receiving constructive feedback from their teacher in class sessions (e.g. Engin & Donanci, 2014; Pavanelli, 2018); boosting EFL learners' proficiency and academic achievement in English (e.g. Başal, 2015; Engin, 2014; Hung, 2015; Hung, 2017b; Lee & Wallace, 2018); supplying learners with more time to internalize knowledge before applying it, and thus, encouraging deeper thinking (e.g. Boyraz & Ocak; 2017; Choe & Seong, 2016; McKeown, 2016; Sun, 2017; Zainuddin, 2017).

As seen in the related literature, teaching ESP in a flipped learning environment seems to pave the way for learners to acquire content knowledge in individual space and master that knowledge and improve skills via active learning in group space. It is because flipped learning provides individualized instruction that is compatible with the emerging learning culture and renewed needs of the 21st century's ESP learners, appealing to the expectations of learners from the varied language learning backgrounds, attention span and learning speed. However, to the knowledge of the researchers, analyzing the existing literature on empirical ESP research conducted in flipped learning approach, it seems that related research is scarce when compared to the studies conducted in English for General Purposes (henceforth, EGP) courses. Additionally, in the narrow literature on ESP teaching in EFL flipped learning settings, it is observed that no studies are found in Turkey's EFL context. Therefore, to comprehensively evaluate the dynamics of the flipped learning environment in ESP teaching practice in EFL settings, further empirical data is needed so that ESP practitioners can upgrade their teaching practice while adopting the flipped learning approach in their EFL contexts. The knowledge drawn from such experience seems to contribute to ESP practice in EFL environments on the development of technologically integrated innovative approaches that are appealing to today's ESP learner profile.

As for the current study, one of the researchers, who will be mentioned as 'the teacher-researcher' throughout the article, had several challenges in her EOP course at a pharmacy faculty in an EFL setting, including limited chances to practice pharmaceutical communication skills outside the class; the lack of

authentic ESP materials for pharmaceutical purposes suitable for her students' language level and contextual needs; and finally, various English proficiency levels of learners who needed a great deal of language support to handle pharmaceutical tasks in English. To deal with these contextual challenges, the teacher-researcher decided to design an ESP course that is the combination of an EOP course and an EAP course due to the amount of language support learners needed as well as transforming instruction for individualized language learning in overcrowded EFL classrooms. As a result, the teacher-researcher aimed at implementing an English for academic pharmaceutical purposes (henceforth, EAPP) course in a flipped learning environment to achieve differentiation in the learning environment for pharmaceutical English learning purposes.

With the abovementioned purpose in mind, this study was based on a part of the doctoral dissertation (İlter, 2020), the purpose of which was to conduct an action research study in collaboration with learners, faculty members and instructors of English at a faculty of pharmacy to design a syllabus for teaching EAPP in a flipped learning environment. Within the narrow scope of this article, however, to point out that flipped learning strategy may be a spot-on solution in ESP teaching, especially in EFL environments with contextual disadvantages mentioned above, and thus, to highlight the flipped learning dimension of the proposed EAPP syllabus, the implication of flipped learning strategy is given priority in this paper.

Since the evaluation of the flipped learning practice was realized in collaboration with learners during and after the implementation process, the purpose of this article is to contextualize a flipped learning environment for ESP learners at the faculty of pharmacy, considering learners' suggestions and the teacher-researcher's field notes and benefitting from the collaboratively problem-solving processes of action research. To achieve the purpose of the study, the following research questions are sought to be answered in the analysis of the data gathered during an action research process:

1. What are the pedagogical dimensions of the flipped learning environment in terms of teaching EAPP?

1.1. What are the strengths of the flipped learning environment in terms of teaching EAPP?

1.2. What are the weaknesses of the flipped learning environment in terms of teaching EAPP? How can these weaknesses be overcome?

2. What are the views of the learners towards learning EAPP in a flipped learning environment?

2.1. What are the strengths of the flipped learning environment in learning EAPP?

2.2. What are the weaknesses of the flipped learning environment in learning EAPP? How can these weaknesses be overcome?

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Design

To serve the research purpose of designing a flipped learning environment at the faculty of pharmacy, where the teacher-researcher challenged her practices as a teacher and made a difference in her teaching environment via reflective thinking, the current study was designed as first-person (Reason & Bradbury, 2008, cited in Güler, Halicioğlu & Taşğın, 2013) / practical (Creswell, 2005) action research. McNiff, Lomax and Whitehead (1996) emphasize that the purpose of a first-person/practical action research is to change one's thinking, behaviours, and feelings toward a particular issue raised; and to improve their professional approach in this influence area. To do this, action researchers keep records of their practices with the help of reflective thinking. As they emphasize the practice rather than a clear and successful outcome, the action research is set as an example for other practitioners as well to learn from the challenges and good practices and apply them to their settings by putting reflective thinking into it. Accordingly, in

this study, the spiral of the action research cycles offered by Yıldırım and Şimşek (2013, p. 336) was followed as the methodological framework of the study, as Figure 2 illustrates below:



Fig. 2. The process of action research (Yıldırım & Şimşek (2013, p. 336)

3.2. Setting

This study was conducted in the teacher-researcher's ESP teaching context of an EOP course in the third year of study at the faculty of pharmacy of a medium-sized university in the eastern part of Turkey. The study was implemented in the 2017-2018 academic year; more precisely, the implementation and evaluation of the action plan were realized in the spring semester. The implementation lasted for 12 weeks and was realized in two certain platforms for learning: individual and group space. Group space activities were handled either in a classroom; or in a computer lab, depending on the course content, large enough for 38 learners to have a seat. As for the individual space learning of the flipped class, the teacher-researcher used Edmodo as the LMS of the course. Besides, the lecture videos were prepared via the Edpuzzle platform. In the current study, students could have access to course videos on Edmodo with an Edpuzzle link shared on the course page on Edmodo. Additionally, Kahoot was used in group space learning either for presenting new content, practising them or for assessing newly learned items of content or language.

3.3. Data Collecting Tools

In the current study, different types of data collection tools served as parts of a jigsaw puzzle, dimensions of which added to the understanding of the phenomenon in question, and what could be done best to find remedies for problematic situations. In this study, data triangulation is adapted to the research design. That is, multiple sources of data were used to achieve a deeper insight into the phenomenon as seen in Figure 3 below:



Fig. 3. Data collection tools of the current study

As seen above, the data collection of the present study was realized at two phases; that is, the first phase was realized as the formative assessment of the flipped learning implementation; and the second phase was done at the end of the implementation to decide on the revised version of the first implementation. A detailed explanation of the design and application of each data collection tool used at these two phases are explained below.

3.3.1. Students' reflective journals

In the current study, the learners were asked to keep reflective journals at the end of units during the term, which helped the teacher-researcher to keep track of the outcomes of her actions both in individual and group space in the eyes of the students. The students were asked to note down their likes, dislikes and suggestions for the content, lecture videos and group space activities of each week. Analyzing these reports, the teacher-researcher led mini action plans to improve the flipped instruction formatively throughout the implementation. This methodology also supported the professional development of the teacher-researcher in finding immediate solutions to the problems that appeared during the term, or in improving the activities and lecture videos for the better, taking into consideration the demands and needs of the students.

3.3.2. Course Observation Video Recordings

The rationale behind the video recording of the implementation of the flipped class was that this could help the teacher-researcher realize whether or not she behaved in contradiction with her values and beliefs about teaching (McNiff et al., 1996). This enabled reflective practice during and at the end of the implementation, which led to a constant improvement of weekly instruction. During the 12-week flipped learning implementation, every three class hours (50 minutes per session) were video-recorded weekly, which created twelve 150 minute-class sessions, that made 1800 minute-video-record at the end of the term. The teacher-researcher did not only watch these videos during the term but also at the end of the term to decide on which tasks were useful in teaching EAPP as well as how flipped learning instruction could be integrated with the designed EAPP syllabus. During the analysis of the observations, the teacher-researcher used NVivo 11 Pro, by this means, the teacher-researcher could integrate her observation notes nearby with the related video segments, and thus, she could capture the moments that provide meaningful data to evaluate the syllabus in action, through which an outsider look was attained by an insider.

3.3.3. Researcher's Field Notes

As suggested by McNiff et al. (1996), researchers' intentional diary keeping for the reflective practice of their action research helps them to create a time-line for events with their context; to make thick descriptions of the actions taken in the process; to serve as raw data to be analyzed in making sense of the decisions made during the implementation; and to show the development of the action research, including personal reflection of successful and failed actions realized with some personal and professional learning emerged during the process. Accordingly, the teacher-researcher kept a journal during the term to write down the field notes to be used whenever an action needed to be taken. Similarly, she made use of these personal notes during the data analysis process to generate meanings from the events as a reflective practice.

3.3.4. Focus Group Interview with Students

Bogdan and Biklen (2007) recommend preferring focus group interviews to individual interviews when the researcher thinks that informants may not talk so attentively about an issue in individual interviews; in such cases, in focus group interviews, participants feel more relaxed to express their opinions as talking in a group may stimulate talk for oneself. Accordingly, the teacher-researcher held 4 focus group interviews with 9 to 10 students per group (n=38) at the end of the term. These interviews included 4 questions to find out students' likes, dislikes and suggestions on the pharmaceutical content and the flipped learning instruction; the focus group interviews took 1 or almost 2 hours, and they were recorded via a video camera after taking permission from the participants. In the focus group interviews, each student was given a right

to comment on the syllabus and flipped instruction managed during the term as well as on their classmates' speeches, which enriched the data gathered during the interviews. The data obtained from the focus group interviews helped the teacher-researcher adapt the pharmaceutical content, related activities and linguistic elements of the designed syllabus to learners' demands and needs.

3.4. Participants

The participants of the study were composed of 38 students at the faculty of pharmacy and the teacherresearcher who conducted the action study in her institution. The rationale behind choosing the participants is the criterion sampling that falls under the purposeful sampling strategies (Patton, 2002). Since this action research aims to create a flipped EAPP syllabus for pharmacy students, the student participants were intentionally chosen to meet the criteria of learning English for pharmaceutical purposes. The 38 student participants were in their third year of study at the faculty of pharmacy, which was the first year for them to take EOP courses. The EAPP course designed in the current study was aimed at the pre-intermediate level of English proficiency to find a balance between struggling and high achieving students. Besides, the teacher-researcher involved in the study as the action research practitioner since she was the teacher who handled the research in her institution to improve her teaching practice and bring a change to the existing syllabus of the EOP course.

3.5. Data Analysis

The teacher-researcher followed Creswell's (2005) model on the inductive process of data analysis via NVivo 11 Pro qualitative data analysis software program. Accordingly, the teacher-researcher conducted the data analysis as in the following steps suggested by Creswell (2005): 1) Preparing data for analysis in folders in NVivo; 2) Examining the data thoroughly to determine meaningful units, relying on what participants suggested to find answers to the research questions; 3) Coding the data by providing a code label for selected parts of the files; 4) Searching for similarities and differences among coded texts and reorganizing the overlapping codes when necessary; 5) Depending on the codes, generating categories and related themes while disregarding the irrelevant data from the scope of findings; 6) Drawing conclusions with verification of data by looking for patterns within the findings since the beginning of data collection, and inductively generating conclusions as analysis proceeds.

3.6. Trustworthiness of the Study

In qualitative research, the term 'trustworthiness' is achieved through a series of treatments, which are termed as 'credibility', 'transferability', 'dependability' and 'confirmability' that are respectively corresponding to the terms 'internal validity', 'external validity', 'reliability', and 'objectivity' in quantitative research methodology (Yıldırım, 2010). Accordingly, to achieve 'trustworthiness' in this study, as seen in Table 1 below, the following methods are used.

CRITERIA	QUALITATIVE	METHODS USED IN THE
	RESEARCH	STUDY
The exact representation	Credibility	• Data triangulation
of reality with research		 Longitudinal participation
results		Constant observation
		• Peer/ expert review
		Researcher's self-reflection
		Deviant case analysis
Application of research results to other settings	Transferability	• Thick description
Achieving consistency	Dependability	Data triangulation
within the study		• Peer/ expert review
		• Researcher's self-reflection

Table 1.Trustworthiness Measures of the Study

		Research journal
		• Reaching the saturation point
		• Using NVivo 11 Pro for data
		analysis
Being unbiased in research reports	Confirmability	• Researcher's self-reflection
		• Recording data via electronic
		devices
		Using low-inference
		descriptors in the findings
		section

3.7. Research Procedures

As McNiff et al. (1996) suggest, in the centre of action research lies the action committed by the researchers' professional values; one that is informed by their considerations, and one that is intended to achieve the researcher's aims. Data gathered in parallel with the implementation of the action are meaningful only when the researchers themselves can make sense of them, taking into consideration the research aims, reflecting on their practices and evaluating the overall process to generate a further action plan for the ideal answer to the need aroused. Therefore, the teacher-researcher conducted a monitoring process in parallel with the action being implemented. By doing so, it became possible for the teacher-researcher to take a formative assessment of her practice so that she could make necessary adjustments accordingly (see Table 2 below).

Table 2.

Data Collection Procedure

Research Questions	Related Tool	Data Collection Period	Phase	
RQ1.What are the pedagogical dimensions of the flipped learning environment in terms of teaching EAPP?	Students' reflective journals Researcher's field notes Course observation video recordings	The weeks between the 2 nd -15 th weeks of the spring term	Implementation	
RQ2. What are the views of the learners towards learning EAPP in a flipped learning environment?	Focus group interviews	The two weeks just after the end of the spring term (16 th & 17 th weeks)	Evaluation	

In the very first week of the beginning of the term, the teacher-researcher explained to the students that she aimed at teaching the EOP course as the implementation of her study and that their roles as participants would determine the outcome of the study via supplying their feedback throughout and at the end of the term. The students were asked for their consent to take part in the process as the participation was on a volunteer basis. The teacher-researcher always highlighted the importance of the students' role as participants not only during the term when they were asked to keep reflective journals to express their opinions freely without writing their names on the papers but also during the focus group interviews handled at the end of term when they were asked to criticize the implementation.

In the implementation phase, the teacher-researcher recorded the 12 weekly three-class-hour courses via a video camera; kept field notes and asked the participants to keep reflective journals on their experiences of flipped learning during the term. To support the data gathered from the video recordings of the class sessions, the teacher-researcher kept field notes as well whenever a need, a problematic issue or any new idea arouse throughout the term to use for the evaluation of the syllabus formatively. Depending on the diversity of the unit content, almost every Saturday or every second Saturday during the term, the teacher-

researcher uploaded the lecture video(s) to the Edpuzzle and shared the link to the video(s) on the Edmodo platform. The students were asked to interact with the lecture videos before the class. When they came to class, related activities of that unit's task were done; actually, most of the in-class time was spent on realizing the task of that specific unit. Some pre-supposed timing of the syllabus schedule changed as the term went on partly because the students needed some language support more than expected and partly because the content and/or the task required more or less time than planned. At this phase, the cyclical actions took place; that is, planning, acting, observing and reflecting stages were followed in designing lecture videos, tasks and related activities in and out of the class. That is, the teacher-researcher made necessary modifications to the implementation when needed, relying on students' feedback and the field notes she took during the term.

When the implementation finished, the teacher-researcher held 4 focus group interviews with 38 students in 4 different groups of 9 to 10 students per each group to understand their experience in flipped EAPP course which helped the teacher-researcher have multiple perspectives to revise and improve the elements of flipped instruction. Additionally, she watched the 12-week video recordings of the implementation supported by her field notes and students' reflective journals with the data gathered from the evaluations made by the students at the end of the term. This triangulation of data enabled the teacher-researcher to see the multifaceted reality of her implementation of the flipped class during the term and to suggest a better version of a flipped English class for students of pharmacy.

4. Findings and Discussions

The findings on the implementation of flipped learning strategy were examined with references to the participants' responses to the research questions mentioned above, answering the main question "What are the strengths, weaknesses and suggestions to overcome the weaknesses of the flipped learning implementation?" under the two themes, 'individual space learning' and 'group space learning'. The main categories are shown under these themes in Figure 4 below. In the following paragraphs, the implementation process of the flipped learning strategy is evaluated from the learners' points of view and the teacher-researcher's field notes and discussed with references to the related literature.



Fig. 4. The themes and categories emerged from the evaluation of the flipped learning implementation

To make the findings reader-friendly and to ensure the confidentiality of the participants' identities throughout this paper, a specific reference scheme was used to address to learners, who were interviewed in groups of ten in separate four focus group interviews, e.g. Learner X1, Learner E2, etc., as well as pseudonyms, e.g. Kerem, etc. In Table 3 below is found the specific reference scheme used to refer to

learners while excerpting their comments in the findings. To illustrate, if a learner was involved in the first focus group interview, they were referred to as in the following possibilities, Learner E1, Learner M1, Learner X1, etc. while if they were involved in the third focus group interview, they were referred to as Learner E3, Learner M3, Learner X3, etc.

Table 3.

The Reference Scheme of Learners in the Findings

Learners	Е	S	Р	Н	Α	R	Μ	Y	С	Х
~	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
iev	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
cus erv	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Foe grc int	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4

4.1. The Individual Space Learning of the Flipped EAPP Course

As mentioned above, the findings on the individual space learning appeared in two main categories: the design of the lecture videos and watching lecture videos in class, as seen in Figure 5 below, each of which will be dealt with and discussed respectively with references to the teacher-researcher's field notes and the learners' responses as well as the references to the related literature.



Fig. 5. The categories and subcategories emerged from the theme 'individual space learning'

4.1.1. The Design of Lecture Videos

4.1.1.1.Accessing to lecture videos

Accessing lecture videos was a problematic issue for some learners in the study, which required a change in the implementation over time. At the beginning of the term, the teacher-researcher recorded and released lecture videos on the LMS platform supplied by the distance education centre of her institution. The LMS platform could enable lecturers to create synchronous or asynchronous online courses where they could share documents and lecture videos, which were also recorded and released on the LMS, with learners. In the present study, some of the learners could watch the asynchronous online courses with no difficulty; however, there was a group of learners who either had problems with system incompatibility between their smartphones and the LMS or did not have a personal internet connection on their smartphones or Wi-Fi connection in the places where they lived; therefore, it was difficult for them to watch videos before coming to class. In the anonymous learner journals gathered during the first few weeks, some learners mentioned that it was not practical for them to watch videos on the LMS as it was mostly impossible to use that platform via their smartphones at that time:

"It is difficult for me to reach the lecture videos as I do not have a personal internet connection nor do I have a PC." [Anonymous learner journal]

"I had difficulty in watching the videos because of internet connection problems where I stay." [Learner P1]

One of the learners also suggested receiving all the lecture videos and related printed documents at the beginning of the term so that there will not be such accessing problems:

"The course content may be given to us as a package; similarly, the videos may be delivered to learners at first via a flash drive because the internet connection is a huge problem. The internet connection problem will be overcome this way. If the printed documents and the videos should have been given to us at the beginning it would be more efficient." [Learner A3]

This suggestion may be realized by uploading all the lecture videos beforehand to the online class rather than releasing them week by week as was the case with the present study. Similarly, the problem of learners' adaptation to flipped content delivery has been seen in the findings of the previous literature (e.g. Ahmed & Asiksoy, 2018; Akçayır & Akçayır, 2018; Çevikbaş & Argün, 2017; Ekmekçi, 2017; Roehl, Reddy & Shannon, 2013). The struggle with the use of new technologies especially at the very beginning of the transition to flipped learning has been experienced by various researchers as well (e.g. Boyraz & Ocak, 2017; İlic, 2021; Turan & Akdag-Cimen, 2019; Webb, Doman & Pusey, 2014). In such cases, the related literature proposes choosing user-friendly technologies if possible and/or sharing lecture videos through flash drives at the campus (e.g. Bergman & Sams, 2012; Chen, Wang, Kinshuk & Chen, 2014; Long, Cummins & Waugh, 2019; Mehring, 2018). As for the present study, after seeing that sharing videos through the LMS supplied by the university became problematic, the teacher-researcher searched for alternatives, and finally, discovered that Edmodo was more practical as an LMS platform and switched to it immediately rather than using the LMS platform supplied by her institution and delivered lecture videos, which she created using a screenscastifying program, on Edmodo.

4.1.1.2. Use of Edmodo as the LMS platform

As the LMS platform supplied by the teacher-researcher's institution was not user-friendly for some learners due to some system incompatibilities with their android devices, etc. as mentioned above, the Edmodo platform was preferred to communicate with learners and share course content documents as well as allowing learners to send their assignments through it. Similarly, the teacher-researcher sent the lecture videos she created to the Edmodo page of the class so that learners had immediate access to the lecture videos. Learners also stated that they benefitted from the Edmodo platform to have access to course documents and lecture videos and to communicate with their teacher and classmates more easily:

"Rather than teachers instructing the course content on the board, these lecture videos were more beneficial. Meeting online and in the class were better and this reinforced learning. For those who love spending time online-me for example- this strategy was better. I wondered what your videos included, or what you put on Edmodo, like using social media." [Learner E3]

"In exam weeks, I almost always lose my course notes. I didn't feel such anxiety to lose my notes as I could reach them on Edmodo. It was very good for me to be organized." [Learner P4]

Highlighting the efficiency of using Edmodo in a flipped learning environment to interact with students outside the class, to share documents, to engage in course content before coming to group space and to increase learner autonomy, similar results were reported in the related literature (e.g. Erdemir & Yangin-Ekşi, 2019; Insani, Suherdi & Gustine, 2018; Öznacar, Köprülü & Çağlar, 2019; Purnawarman, Susilawati & Sundayana, 2016; Rochmahwati, 2014; Serafim & Meireles, 2019). After all, Edmodo in a flipped

classroom may be considered useful and effective to a large extent as it creates an interactive and collaborative digital learning environment.

4.1.1.3. The Length of Lecture Videos

At the very beginning of the term, the teacher used to record relatively long videos for learners. However, learners asked for shorter videos that contain the core of course ideas instead of unnecessarily long videos. At first, the lecture videos were longer than 15 minutes, which is reported to be the case for many teachers who tried flipped learning for the first time (Akçayır & Akçayır, 2018, 340). As emphasized in the related literature, students found the long lecture videos boring and they lost their attention in the related topic (e.g. Başal, 2015; Campbell, Planinz, Morris, & Truitt, 2019; Ekmekçi, 2017; Gilboy, Heinerichs & Pazzaglia, 2015; Turan & Göktaş, 2015), which was also expressed in the present study by the learners themselves in their journals and focus group interviews as in the following:

"When the videos are long, I have difficulty watching them because of the low internet connection." [Anonymous learner journal]

"When I had a look at your first videos on the LMS system, as they took time, I got bored, and I decided not to watch the videos in the very beginning. It was good that you shortened the videos. Now the lecture videos are clear and short, so I do not face any difficulty in watching them." [Learner C1]

On the issue of shortening the length of lecture videos, Correa (2015) suggests keeping the duration of video lessons less than 15 minutes and avoiding monotony by using multimedia as well as asking students to take notes or answer short questions in a short online quiz, for instance, to keep learners active and engaged in lecture content. In addition, Campbell et al. (2019) suggest optimizing video length by adding instructor notes in the forms of preview and/or highlights; breaking down the video into shorter parts to deliver key points piece by piece, and embedding meaningful questions to increase student engagement while watching lecture videos. Having collected learner journals at the end of units on learners' own experiences of the flipped class during the implementation, the teacher-researcher took into consideration the suggestions made by the learners who demanded shorter lecture videos that contain the core of the course content. Therefore, after conducting a meticulous search for interactive videos in shorter lengths.

4.1.1.4. Use of Edpuzzle in Lecture Videos

Concerning the issue of the length of lecture videos, the teacher-researcher contemplated on creating interactive lecture videos, and she discovered Edpuzzle, where videos either curated from the video-sharing platforms, such as YouTube or Khan Academy or created by the teacher, can be tailored by teachers via embedding multiple-choice and open-ended questions, trimming and voicing over lecture videos. While watching the lecture videos, learners answer the suddenly-appearing questions on Edpuzzle in the course of a video stream, and by this means, they interact with the content rather than passively watching the videos. Here the teacher-researcher observed that the learners found Edpuzzle more interesting and informative for interacting with the content of the lecture videos:

"When the learners are asked questions on video content, they want to learn more. The questionand-answer method is more informative. Even if a student does not know the answer, when they see the answer, they will remember it more." [Learner C3]

"Edpuzzle videos are better because you give your attention as questions will suddenly appear, and you want to answer them correctly. That will be in your mind." [Anonymous learner journal]

Similarly, in the related literature, Edpuzzle was found to be effective (e.g. Bakla, 2017; Campbell et al., 2019; Zou & Xie, 2019), in that it makes it possible for learners to understand the key information of the

videos whenever a question arises as a sign of an important point in the content, and thus, they get more motivated to learn, which leads to better learner autonomy while engaging in individual space activities.

4.1.1.5. The Timing of Lecture Videos Release

As is the case with the first attempts to transition to flipped learning, the timing of the video release has also been an issue for practitioners (e.g. Turan, 2015; Schwartz, Andridge, Sainani, Stangle & Neely, 2016). Therefore, the teacher-researcher searched for alternatives to help the learners who had difficulty watching lecture videos before the class, which also affected the flow of the course. Then the timing of the release of the lecture videos appeared to be very crucial in this process, which was reflected in the teacher-researcher's field notes below:

"I now see that releasing lecture videos in time means a lot in this strategy. It is because each student has different time schedules, and they need time to watch the videos and get prepared beforehand. As a teacher, I may also have shared all the lecture videos at the beginning of the term so that some fast-paced learners would not get bored, and they could have access to the lecture videos long before the schedule reached that content. It would also be useful to enable the learners to have a general view of the course syllabus." [The researcher's field notes, February 21st, 2018]

Some learners also expressed that the timing of video release was crucial in their watching videos beforehand as seen in the following:

"If you could prepare the content at the beginning of the term after the courses finished every week you could release the videos, maybe we could watch the videos during the week." [Learner X4]

"When you upload the lecture videos, we had better receive notifications, and the timing of the video release should be at a specific time on a specific day of the week." [Learner S3]

Turan (2015) suggests releasing lecture videos at least one week before group space activities to enable them to schedule their time to engage in group space activities as much as possible. In that sense, it can be claimed that the earlier the better principle is at work when it comes to video release. Moreover, Schwartz et al. (2016) argue that although both approaches have merits to advocate (i.e., "releasing the entire content at once versus releasing it module by module"), it is found out in their study that the gradual release of materials enables instructors to be more flexible to adapt their course content to the current class. Similar to Turan (2015), Schwartz et al. (2016) recommend releasing current course materials before the face-to-face sessions of the following week course content so that with the flexibility they have, learners will be able to arrange their busy weekly schedule across other courses and responsibilities to engage in individual space activities before attending group space sessions.

In sum, it is concluded that at the tertiary level, when the lecture videos are kept shorter than 15 minutes; released almost a week before face-to-face sessions; delivered through customized video sharing platforms, such as Edpuzzle, where learners are engaged in lecture videos rather than passively watching them; and shared on a user-friendly LMS platform like Edmodo, learners are more likely to participate in individual space learning activities.

4.1.2. Watching Lecture Videos in Group Space

Emerged from the category, 'individual space learning', the findings under the subcategory, 'watching the lecture videos in group space' will be presented and discussed with the related literature below. In the course of time, the teacher-researcher observed that learners at the faculty of pharmacy needed their teacher's support more than expected to help them understand the lecture videos; and that relatively a small majority of the class frequently kept watching the lecture videos while for others this was not the case due to time constraint for their intensive course schedule changing biweekly at the faculty at that time.

Therefore, the teacher-researcher spared some class time for such learners to watch the videos in class before doing related exercises. Below are her observations on the issue:

"As some learners do not watch lecture videos before the class, I have to let them watch the videos in class time, which interferes with the idea of delivering the content to the learners for the first time in individual space. On the other hand, for learners who did not come to class for a certain week, lecture videos have been beneficial to keep them connected to the flow of the course." [The researcher's field notes, February 28th, 2018]

Similarly, the learners stated that watching lecture videos was more difficult and took more time for them to understand when compared to watching them in assistance with their teacher in class. They liked to take notes and study for them with their peers:

"When we watched the video with you again in class today, we remembered the new words more easily then. When we watch it alone at home, it takes more time, we cannot go deeper. Besides, even if the words belong to our area of study, we don't understand them in English. But with you helping us to understand the video, that course was very efficient for me." [Learner H3]

Even if there was a group of learners who kept watching lecture videos from the very beginning, over time, partly because of some learners' low proficiency in English to understand lecture videos, and partly because of the limited time due to their biweekly changing schedule, some learners made the habit of coming to class unprepared, which resulted in their watching lecture videos in class, and this transformed the traditional flipped class into a partly in-class flip by itself. In the beginning, the teacher-researcher thought this process was an unsuccessful attempt of a flipped class; however, as a part of the action research, she searched for the alternatives of flipped class implementations. At the end of the term, she had a clear idea in her mind that an alternative for such a student profile would be an "in-class flip" as a response to the unique needs of the learning culture. In-class flip- a term coined by Jennifer González (2014)- is an alternative for teachers who have tried flipped learning but ended up with having their learners coming to class unprepared as well as for those whose school regulations require a no-homework policy. As clarified by Ramirez (2018) in-class flip refers to learners having access to content delivery through one of the stations in class and applying what they have learnt within other application stations in class; that is to say, teachers bring individual space activities into the class by making use of a stations-set up. This station configuration is seen as a combination of flipped learning, as the content is delivered through lecture videos or other kinds of media, and station-rotation model, as learners rotate the stations where various kinds of activities are handled to complement content learning and/or skill mastering (Tucker, 2016). While the students who have engaged in individual space learning before coming to class may skip the flip station(s) and continue with the practice stations in group space, those who need to cover content may again visit flip stations in the classroom. Depending on the course content, learning outcomes, or class size, the configuration may vary. As González (2014) points out, through in-class flipping, teachers are able to make sure whether the learners are exposed to initial lecture content as they watch the lecture videos in class settings. Likewise, teachers can respond to their students' immediate questions while learning lecture content for the first time. All in all, through in-class flipping, flexibility can be gained to address differentiation among students in terms of not only learner characteristics, such as language background or attention span, but learning culture as well, such as needing a knowledgeable person to support their learning, or resisting pre-class work, while implementing the flipped learning strategy.

4.2. The Group Space Learning of the flipped EAPP Course

As mentioned earlier, the findings on the group space learning appeared in two main categories: 'Learner profile' and 'flipped learning environment', subcategories of which are shown in Figure 6 below, each of which will be discussed below respectively with references to the teacher-researcher's field notes, the participants' comments and the previous research in the related literature.



Fig. 6. The categories and subcategories emerged from the theme 'group space learning'

4.2.1. Issues Related to Learner Profile

Having analyzed the participants' responses and the teacher-researcher's field notes, the findings that emerged from the subcategory, 'learner profile' will be presented and discussed with the related literature in the following paragraphs.

4.2.1.1. Teacher Dependence

Learners showed a tendency towards being delivered the course content in class via teacher leading. Even if they loved the idea of lecture videos, it took time for them to get used to watching the lecture videos without teacher counselling before coming to class. It is observed that learners held a strong dependence on their teacher while learning new content for the first time; in other words, they were used to traditional content delivery:

"I don't like watching videos, I like the teacher telling me the content, and I like taking notes while listening to the teacher, and I study for my notes later. When a PC or smartphone is used in content delivery, I cannot concentrate. I should have the document of the lesson with me and the teacher in front of me teaching me to learn the content." [Learner X2]

The teacher-researcher also challenged herself on continuing to be the guide on the side in her new flipped teaching environment rather than having the central role in content delivery as in the past:

"Even if all the learners complained about the traditional system of instruction, they got used to that system so much that they went on their old learning habit; expecting whole class instruction and being led by the teacher. [...] I now think that as we challenge ourselves to become a flipped teacher, we had better always remind ourselves that we are about to change our old habits as a teacher in traditional class as well [...] by letting learners lead their learning." [Researcher field notes, April 25th, 2018]

Similarly, in the related literature, learners initially showed resistance to flipped learning model as they were not receptive to new ways of teaching, and thus, they viewed teacher-led instruction as superior to lecture videos due to their past rigid learning habits, which is depending on their teacher in content delivery (e.g. Ahmed & Asiksoy, 2018; Chen, et al., 2014; Doman & Webb, 2016; Elmaadaway, 2017; Long, Cummins & Waugh, 2017; Roehl, et al., 2013; Sams & Bergmann, 2013; Webb, Doman & Pusey, 2014). Therefore, learners can show some resistance to change due to established passive learning habits, and they may have some adoption problems (e.g. Ahmed & Asiksoy, 2018; Gasmi, 2016; Long, Logan & Waugh, 2016; Long, et al., 2017; Mehring, 2015; McNally et al., 2017; Nguyen, 2018; Sun, 2017; Zainuddin, Haruna, Li, Zhang & Chu, 2019). In such cases, Long, et al. (2019) suggest helping learners to form flipped

learning habits by teaching them some self-directed learning strategies. In such situations, it is suggested to help learners adopt active learner habits through self-directed learning strategies, such as giving immediate feedback on their submissions, and compliments upon their accomplishment, etc.; encouraging learners to make decisions on their learning by asking them to write what difficulties they faced during learning and what they suggest to overcome these via brainstorming; and gradually switching to flipped learning model with less amount of pre-class work and less challenging in-class work (Bergmann and Sams, 2012; Chen et al., 2014; Elmaadaway, 2017; Long, at al., 2019; Mehring, 2018). It can be concluded that having gradually gained such active learner habits, basically having self-regulation in their learning, and slowly taking control of learning itself with gradually increasing workload, learners may acquire the necessary active learner skills more easily as they engage in the flipped learning environment in each intervention group.

4.2.1.2. Changed Learning Habits

Even though the learners in the study were reluctant to engage in either individual space activities, or in group space activities that require more workload on behalf of the student, and thus, caused resistance to change their old learning habits, there was an increasing number of learners who mentioned a change in their learning habits in the flipped learning environment with time:

"As the flipped method is based on individual learning, I can say I started to learn in class this time. I am glad that as learners we are active in class." [Anonymous learner journal]

Learners also expressed that coming to class getting prepared beforehand helped them learn the content better:

"Rather than just listening to someone telling me the course content in class, I put effort to learn something about a topic, which was very efficient to learn something." [Learner S4]

Learners also stated that the chance of listening to the course content whenever suitable for them was also an advantage during the term:

"When I do not understand a part of the lecture video, I rewind the video stream, or when I get bored, I stop the stream and watch it later, so the content delivery becomes more efficient for me." [Anonymous learner journal]

Learners also remarked that the content delivery outside the class saved in-class time for doing tasks:

"We save time for making a lot of exercises in class via listening to content delivery outside the class." [Anonymous learner journal]

The study results on learners' satisfaction with the flipped learning environment are in line with those in the related literature as well. As is the case with the students in the present study, learners were pleased with the outcomes of this new learning strategy, which are better preparation for the course (e.g. Başal, 2015; Boyraz & Ocak, 2017; Kocabatmaz, 2016; Turan, 2015); more time for practising contextual skills and content knowledge in group space (e.g. Adnan, 2017; Çalışkan, 2016; Çevikbaş & Argün, 2017; Filiz & Benzet, 2018; Gilboy, et al., 2015; Kocabatmaz, 2016; Nguyen, 2018; Turan, 2015; Webb & Doman, 2016); self-paced learning (e.g. Başal, 2015; Chen Hsieh, Wu & Marek, 2017; Çetin- Köroğlu & Çakır, 2017; Hung, 2015); and easier comprehension of the content (e.g. Choe & Seong, 2016; McKeown, 2016; Sun, 2017; Zainuddin, 2017; Boyraz & Ocak, 2017; Kocabatmaz, 2016). Even though it took time to develop active learner habits in the flipped learning environment, the learners in the current study emphasized a change in their learning culture as the time they spent in the flipped class increases.

4.2.2. Issues Related to the Flipped Learning Environment

Having analyzed the participants' responses and the teacher-researcher's field notes, the findings under the subcategory, 'flipped learning environment 'will be presented and discussed with the related literature below.

4.2.2.1. Active Learning Atmosphere

Learners engaged in practising the flipped content and strove to master the occupational tasks in the group space. They were pleased with the active learning environment of the flipped class:

"In a traditional class, we feel that the proficient students keep the course busy and let it go, we do not feel obliged to participate in class activities. But now, as we study individually, we feel the need to do it as our work in class will help us learn." [Learner Y4]

Learners stated that by dealing with the pharmaceutical tasks actively in class time, they acquired the necessary knowledge and ability to perform certain tasks in their field:

"We spent hours to finish the tasks in class. I think we remember some words from these tasks now. Dealing with the tasks in the class led us to attend courses more." [Learner C4]

"I think this flipped method that is based on practising language skills in pharmaceutical content helps us remember what we learn more easily, which also makes it more enjoyable and catchier". [Learner M2]

Additionally, the majority of the learners stated that they enjoyed and benefitted from the flexible environment of the class:

"The class atmosphere was not tiring, that was good for us. The format was enjoyable and different from the traditional style." [Learner Y2]

"The flexible class environment, in which learners work in groups and are free to ask questions one another when they have questions, makes them relax and feel free from stress. That atmosphere is good to stimulate their learning." [Researcher field notes, April 25th, 2018]

The results on the active learning environment of flipped learning strategy are in line with those in the related literature as well. To begin with, flipped learning has been found to allow efficient use of class time, which leads to active learning (e.g. Bishop & Verleger, 2013; Chen, et al., 2017; Correa, 2015; Çevikbaş & Argün, 2017; Elmaadaway, 2017; Fulton, 2012; Karagöl & Esen, 2019; Lo & Hwang, 2018; McNally et al., 2017). Second, since flipped content is delivered outside the class, more time is dedicated to active learning tasks; and thus, the active learners in a flipped class get engaged in deep learning of the subject matter, as is the case with the current study (e.g. Ahmad, 2016; Gasmi, 2016; Karagöl & Esen, 2019; Roehl, et al., 2013; Wagner-Loera, 2018; Wang, 2017). This promotes learners' academic achievement and skill development as well (e.g. Abaeian & Samadi, 2016; Zainuddin, et al., 2019). Finally, the advantages of the flexible learning environment of a flipped class have also been mentioned in the previous studies. The flexible atmosphere in the flipped learning environment, as defined by Flipped Learning Network (2014), creates learning spaces where learners are free to choose whenever and wherever they prefer to learn, and where instructors switch physical arrangement to adapt to tasks handled as either individual or group work in class sessions, thus, making a variety of learning modes possible in class sessions. This flexibility facilitates learning because learners use the opportunity to rewatch lecture videos and review activities in class as many times as they need to fully understand the content (e.g. Çalışkan, 2016; Ekmekçi, 2017; Doman & Webb, 2016; Hung, 2017b; Kang, 2015; Wagner-Loera, 2018).

4.2.2.2. Diversified Activities in Class

In the flipped learning environment, the key point in designing learning spaces is to bind flipped content to the group space activities in a way that enables learners to practice what they have learned in lecture videos

in face-to-face sessions. Therefore, the practitioners of flipped learning should bear this in mind while designing their group space activities. The teacher-researcher also observed this in her courses:

"The group space activities are very effective to understand the course content. No matter how effectively a teacher may prepare a lecture video, when the group space activities are not reinforcing and efficient for practising the content, learning will not occur as desired. [...] the group space activities should be designed accordingly so that the students could practice what they have learned by using their content knowledge in English." [The researcher's field notes, March 7th, 2018]

At the beginning of the term, for the first unit, the major focus was on generating a pamphlet for common diseases by firstly reading a sample pamphlet, and then, searching for common diseases, etc. The learners were engaged in writing a pamphlet in class time while receiving feedback and support from their teacher. As the task of writing a pamphlet itself took up time, learners expressed that group space activities had better be diversified rather than studying the specific task of that unit. Having considered the learners' feedback, the teacher modified her activities to be as varied as possible for the following units, including online quiz games and more group works in class, for instance:

"I loved it when we have online quiz games on content and/or target vocabulary in addition to some translation works and in-class practices of some pharmacy-related dialogues." [Anonymous learner journal]

"It is great and makes it easy for us to do tasks that we have moved to the computer lab for about two weeks now for the occupational English course so that we can prepare our pamphlets there on computers and finish the tasks in class settings." [Anonymous learner journal]

The group space activities in flipped learning are aimed at learners' using higher-order cognitive skills, which are application, analysis, synthesis and evaluation in class sessions, either at the individual level or in collaborative works at the group level. The teacher-researcher observed that collaborative works in class serve for these purposes in the flipped class:

"Learners help each other do the tasks in class, using the content and the related language points and consult teacher when necessary. The teacher's role in the class should be guiding not interrupting or taking all the responsibility of content delivery. Learners study together to figure out the content. I see that before they ask me a question, other students in the group try to answer that question. When they could not give the right answer I may interrupt, guide and answer." [The researcher's field notes, March 21st, 2018]

Learners also stated that they enjoyed engaging in group works in class, which in turn contributed to their learning through peer learning:

"Group work was good. My friend may teach me something I do not know when we study together." [Learner X1]

"Kerem and his friends were asking questions to one another while practising the passive form on the exercise sheet. That helped them learn from each other in groups. The learners may give feedback to one another, give interesting ideas, discuss something, and evaluate others' work, etc. while studying in groups. When designing the activities, the teacher should take those possibilities of peer learning into account and design in-class activities accordingly." [The researcher's field notes, February 21st, 2018]

Peer interaction has also been found to reinforce learning in a flipped learning environment in the related literature (e.g. Bergmann & Sams, 2012; Filiz& Benzet, 2018; Fulton, 2012; Lo & Hwang, 2018; Wang, 2017). As well as in collaborative activities in group space, such as group discussion, collaborative reading and/or writing tasks, etc., Wang (2017) suggests peer interaction can also be achieved via technology-supported collaborative activities, such as online discussions through forum or chat, and asynchronously

handled collaborative writing tasks through LMS systems. In addition to facilitating content mastery, learners improve teamwork and leadership skills, and they receive social support from their peers as well, all of which provide benefit among peers in the learning process in group work (DeLozier & Rhodes, 2016).

At the end of in-class sessions, as the pharmaceutical content was delivered in English, learners in the study expressed a need for feedback for their understanding of the content. Additionally, in the introductory course of a new topic, the teacher-researcher also felt the need to check learners' comprehension of this new content. In the search for alternatives to confirm learners' grasping the new content in English, she found "Kahoot!" as a valuable tool to assess learners' comprehension and application of the concepts they learned in the flipped class. Learners enjoyed Kahoot! exercises in class so much that they asked for a Kahoot! quiz at the beginning and end of almost every class session.

"Kahoot! was wonderful. I watched the lab equipment on a lecture video, but I didn't remember them much later when we tried to answer questions on Kahoot! quiz, we saw the incorrect answers and the correct ones, which was very beneficial for me. I remembered them more easily later on." [Learner E4]

"Having a Kahoot! quiz after videos stimulated our interest in lecture videos more. I learned the terminological words we frequently use in our profession." [Learner S2]

Learners stated that Kahoot! converted classroom atmosphere into a livelier one by inviting everyone to join in the activity in the class, which indirectly led to the active participation of the learners:

"Kahoot! was good. Everyone gets involved in the class activity. [...] We pay more attention and we learn. It is enjoyable and we feel the need to do the quiz because of the rivalry among us to score best on the quiz." [Learner S4]

"I think when the learning material is enjoyable, we learn it easily and as we feel comfortable while enjoying ourselves, the things stay in our minds longer. Kahoot! was good in that sense." [Learner H2]

The student response systems (SRS), in other words, clickers, have been found efficient to activate class atmosphere in the literature, noting its benefits on learning, such as providing instant feedback, increasing learners' engagement in class, and promoting retention (e.g. Chien, Chang, & Chang, 2016; Hunsu, Adesope, & Bayly, 2016). As for Kahoot!, a cloud-based SRS application that can be freely accessed by any device with a web browser, it has been widely preferred in flipped classrooms to date due to its reported positive aspects to the learning environment, namely, stimulating learning, promoting participation, motivation and enthusiasm, creating a rivalry environment in class due to its game-like features, and supporting retention (e.g. Douligeris, Seralidou & Gkotsiopoulos, 2018; Hung, 2017c; Pinna, Mena & Funes, 2017; Wang & Qi, 2018). Such elements contribute to in-class dynamics of a flipped class, and Kahoot! may be used in many alternative ways in flipped language courses, such as checking for any misunderstandings and mislearning of the content in individual space; assessing learners' content knowledge in ESP dimension; vocabulary and grammar knowledge in EGP dimension at the end of the class; and checking learners' listening comprehension by exposing them to authentic listening texts in language courses. All in all, Kahoot! may be very useful to check, practice, and even expose new content and language input in flipped language classrooms.

4.2.2.3. Closer teacher-student relationship

Learners stated that they were pleased with their teacher's utilizing class time to help them individually while they were doing the tasks. Especially, when there is a huge gap between high and low achiever students in the class, this differentiated learning made it possible to meet the needs of different learner profiles:

"I could remember when you told me where to use a specific word in a sentence. In a traditional class, we don't have such a chance to ask you that many questions. For me, the advantageous part of the flipped class was translating and having close interaction with the teacher." [Learner Y1]

"In a traditional class, teachers instruct and then go away without checking students' learning. While doing these tasks in class, you can have a closer relationship with us, when I have a very complicated sentence to form in English, you can help me simplify it. That motivated me that I could translate texts in English." [Learner C1]

The teacher-researcher also felt satisfied with helping her learners on an individual basis in the flipped class:

"When students have questions to ask me, they can immediately take my support. As they see I help them on an individual basis, they become more willing to attend the class activities. The teacher is there when needed for practising the content and crosschecking understandings, etc. Learning is facilitated in this way." [The researcher's field notes, March 21st, 2018]

The issue of differentiation in the flipped learning environment has been mentioned in the previous studies as well (e.g. Correa, 2015; Cunningham, 2016; Filiz & Benzet, 2018; Gilboy et al., 2015; Mehring, 2018). Bergmann and Sams (2012) emphasize reaching out especially the struggling students to assess their learning of the key concepts of course content. On the other hand, for students who grasp the content quickly, Bergmann and Sams (2012) suggest engaging such students in more advanced topics in fewer activities. All in all, using the face-to-face time to walk around the room to support students along a wide range of abilities help teachers personalize the learning for all, which enables learners to receive immediate feedback that reinforces their learning (e.g. Amiryousefi, 2017; Choe & Seong, 2016; Lee & Wallace, 2018, Zainuddin, 2017). Additionally, due to the extra time obtained by removing content delivery from in class sessions, instructors connect personally with their students; and thus, they gain insight into their students' learning (e.g. Correa, 2015; Filiz & Benzet, 2018; Lo& Hwang, 2018; Marks, 2015). As Bergmann and Sams (2012) emphasize, those mini conversations held with individuals or particular groups, who have difficulty in the same content, result in just-in-time instruction when learners feel exactly ready to learn. As a result, students learn better because teachers know their students better and build better relationships with them, as expressed in one of the journal entries of the teacher-researcher:

"Flipped learning makes learning personalized; that is, the teacher can direct each group of learners to answer to their needs, as some are faster while some are slower to do a task, and the support they may ask for may be either on sentence building or on vocabulary. As a teacher, I feel pleased to be able to help and support different types of learners who need different kinds of support." [The researcher's field notes, May 2nd, 2018]

4.2.2.4. Formative Assessment

As the syllabus under study was based on handling occupational tasks on particular pharmaceutical topics, the assessment was handled accordingly; that is, the task performances were taken into consideration in the passing grade. The main idea behind this decision was to focus on students' learning of the pharmaceutical content and occupational skills in English while they were engaged in specific tasks in class. In addition, the teacher-researcher could give individual or group feedback and assistance to her students in mini-talks she had with them while they were engaged in these occupational tasks; when she had Kahoot! quizzes in group space; and when the students submitted their works to her.

As the assessment of learner performances relied on the tasks they completed in class, the feedback on their assignments was as important as the task itself. The stronger side of the flipped method is that it enables the teacher to give immediate feedback to each individual formatively during the term, which may not be that efficient and possible in the summative form of assessment when learners' performances and/or

homework are assessed at the end of the term. When learners receive immediate feedback on their performances, they learn while doing the tasks. By this means, the assessment becomes a part of the learning process:

"The teacher helps motivated but underachieving learners a lot in this method. When I contact them and give individual answers to their questions while doing something in English and when I give immediate feedback to their work on-site, this stimulates their willingness to participate in tasks in English. In flipped instruction, the in-class time is managed to a great extent to meet learners' situational and personal needs." [Researcher field notes, April 18th, 2018]

As Graney (2018) states, the formative assessment in flipped classrooms also differs since more inclass time is available for active learning activities and giving feedback to students. In a flipped classroom, student progress is evaluated constantly in the group learning space, which is the reverse in a traditional class where the teacher makes use of tests to determine where learners are at the time of assessment. In a flipped class, however, the formative assessment shows the teacher how well learners are doing on their way to learn as the assessment is ongoing; that is, the evaluation does not focus on a result, but on the process itself. As is the case with the findings of the present study, formative assessment in the flipped learning environment has been found to enable teachers to perform scaffolding, individualization, and differentiation in various ways, including mini-talks between students and teachers, pop quizzes held during the term, and using online tools or applications on smartphones. In these assessments, teachers adjust their teaching and learning material to help the unique needs of their students as well as giving them individual feedback and assistance, which makes it characteristic in flipped learning environments to hold assessment "for learning", rather than for evaluating achievement (e.g. Graney, 2018; Khalil & Fahim, 2016; Onodipe & Ayadi, 2020; Zhang, Chen, Ge, Hung & Mei, 2019). In sum, it is observed in the present action research that not only the dimensions of flipped learning strategy played role in the dynamics of the learning environment under study but the learner profile also affected the implementation process. Therefore, it can be concluded that present results related to the individual and group space activities may have occurred due to the characteristics of the particular group of learners as well.

5. Conclusion and Suggestions

Based upon the first flipped learning practice, the teacher-researcher derived lessons from the experiences in a flipped ESP class. These lessons are presented in the order of individual space and group space learning settings. Accordingly, it is concluded from the individual space learning experience that at the tertiary level, when the lecture videos are kept shorter than 15 minutes; released almost a week before face-to-face sessions; delivered through customized video sharing platforms, such as Edpuzzle, where learners are engaged in lecture videos rather than passively watching them; and shared on a user-friendly LMS platform like Edmodo, learners are more likely to participate in individual space learning but ended up with having their learners coming to class unprepared as well as for those whose school regulations require a no-homework policy. Therefore, flexibility can be gained to address differentiation among students in terms of not only learner characteristics, such as language background or attention span, but learning culture as well, such as needing a knowledgeable person to support their learning, or resisting pre-class work, while implementing the flipped learning strategy.

As for group space learning experience, first of all, teacher dependence may be a challenging issue in flipped learning for the first time. In other words, learners may initially show resistance towards learning new content by watching lecture videos before coming to class due to their passive learning habits, and they may have some adoption problems as a result of increased pre-class workload for the first flipped learning experience. The researchers suggest for the first-time practitioners of flipped learning to gradually transform their traditional classes into flipped classes by teaching their students to adopt flipped learning habits via a series of hands-on self-directed learning strategies such as rehearsing notetaking while watching

lecture videos in face-to-face sessions, sending online questions to their teacher, etc. with their teacher demonstrating them in the introductory week, then it will probably help them acquire the new learning habits more easily.

Secondly, the active learning atmosphere of the flipped learning strategy allows efficient use of class time, which promotes learners' academic achievement and skill development as well. It is because learners can find chances to better prepare for courses owing to lecture videos they got engaged in before face-to-face sessions; to improve self-paced learning because of the flexible learning environment. Because more time is dedicated to active learning tasks by practising contextual skills and content knowledge in group space, the active learners in a flipped class get engaged in deep learning of the subject matter. Thirdly, peer interaction has been found to reinforce learning in a flipped learning environment. It is because in addition to facilitating content mastery, learners improve teamwork and leadership skills, and they receive social support from their peers in collaborative activities in the learning processes of the group space.

Finally, the issue of differentiation is one of the strongest dimensions of the flipped learning strategy. Using face-to-face time to walk around the room to support students along a wide range of abilities help teachers personalize the learning for all. Due to the extra time obtained by removing content delivery from face-to-face sessions, instructors connect personally with their students; and thus, they gain insight into their students' learning. Accordingly, when learners receive immediate feedback on their performances, they learn while doing the tasks. By this means, the formative assessment becomes a part of the learning process. Therefore, in a flipped class, the assessment shows the teacher how well learners are doing on their way to learning as the assessment is ongoing. As is the case with the findings of the present study, formative assessment in the flipped learning environment has been found to enable teachers adjust their teaching and learning material to help the unique needs of their students as well as give them individual feedback and assistance, which makes it possible in flipped learning environments to hold assessment "for learning", rather than for evaluating achievement. Considering the findings of the present research, the practical implications for practice are presented below, in the hope of the study providing beneficial suggestions for practice in the field.

5.1. Implications for Teachers who are interested in Flipped Learning

First of all, in the flipped learning environment, the key point in designing learning spaces is to bound flipped content to the group space activities in a way that enables learners to practice what they have learned in lecture videos in group space learning, then learning is reinforced by this way. Therefore, the practitioners of flipped learning should ask themselves the question, "What is the best use of my face-to-face class time with students?", and they should bear this in mind while designing their group space activities. Accordingly, taking the flipped learning version of the Bloom's Taxonomy into consideration (Şahin & Fell Kurban, 2016) while the individual space activities are supposed to be aimed at achieving the tasks of 'remembering' and 'understanding', the group space activities in the flipped learning environment should be aimed at learners' using higher-order cognitive skills, such as 'applying', 'analyzing', 'evaluating' and 'creating'. This simple rule of thumb will pave the way for designing diversified activities that promote active learning in a flipped class.

Secondly, before starting to teach a flipped class, an introductory week to engage learners in a flipped environment should be considered. As mentioned earlier, the self-directed learning strategies may be introduced to the learners at the very first weeks of the semester. The activities should demonstrate learners' responsibilities in a flipped learning environment, such as engaging in lecture videos/texts in class and taking notes on what they watch/read. This rehearse will most likely promote their forming flipped learning habits in their first experience. All in all, teachers are responsible for fostering learners' attendance in individual and group space learning. By following a slow progression in the level of difficulty or terms of quantity in the design of the assignments, teachers may increase the participation of students in the flipped

learning atmosphere. Thirdly, the practitioners who would like to try in-class flipping can transform group space activities into stations in class and learners rotate the stations where various kinds of activities are handled to complement content learning and/or skill mastering in addition to the flip station where content is delivered through lecture videos or other kinds of media in class.

Finally, regarding the unexpected scenarios that may result in having less face-to-face time with students in the teaching environment, as is the case with the COVID-19 pandemic, the flipped learning practitioner should keep asking themself the question, 'What is the best use of my face-to-face class time with students in these unexpected situations?', such as teaching all remote, in some form of hybrid or face-to-face. As mentioned above, at this point, the levels of Bloom's taxonomy should be set as a rubric to design learning spaces. That is to say, lower levels of Bloom's can be done when students study the easier stuff independently in the individual space, and higher levels of Bloom's taxonomy can be done when students are in a synchronous class studying hard stuff in the group space. In either case, as there will most likely be less face-to-face class time with students, due to sanitary measures, it is the teacher's responsibility to provide support for students in the individual space that will probably increase in time. In either case, flipped learning strategy enables teachers the flexibility to adapt to such unexpected scenarios, with its key principle to consider the best use of face-to-face time with students, keeping in mind the use of Bloom's taxonomy while designing the learning spaces.

5.2. Implications for Language Teachers who are interested in Flipped Learning

What the flipped learning strategy supplies teachers with is to enable differentiation in the design of learning materials and tasks in teaching practice. Accordingly, teachers having learners of varied language backgrounds may create a supplementary archive of lecture videos on basic grammar rules, pronunciation tips, or instructions on sentence making, depending on the learners' needs and demands in addition to the lecture videos related to the specific content.

As the authentic listening experience plays a huge role in improving EFL learners' listening comprehension, in a flipped language class, teachers may expose learners to listening audio or video clips in the individual space. Similarly, online platforms can be more socialized through forums for extra listening, speaking and writing practice for learners; for instance, learners may be asked to send audio files to rehearse occupational skills in an ESP course. To handle such interactive exercises, online tools can be utilized, especially for speaking and listening practice.

As the formative assessment is ongoing in the flipped learning environment, to serve for the 'assessment for learning' principle, flipped language teachers may ask learners to keep a portfolio or webfolio to evaluate their performances by supplying individualized feedback to reinforce their learning. By performing scaffolding, individualization, and differentiation through making use of a portfolio or webfolio in a flipped class, teachers adjust their teaching and learning material to help the unique needs of their students as well as give them individualized feedback and assistance.

Researchers may benefit from action research design as a powerful tool of professional development for in-service teachers who are interested in flipped learning strategy as well as in any other aspects that are aimed to be developed in their professional identity. To realize action research on developing a flipped learning environment, teachers may collaborate on syllabus design, implementation and evaluation phases of course development. Within the ESP domain, action research on needs analysis, program evaluation, or developing innovative teaching methods in classes can be conducted as well as digitalizing their learning environment to create flipped learning experience better, especially, regarding the unexpected scenarios that may result in differences in teaching practice, as is the case with the COVID-19 pandemic.

Finally, researchers who would like to conduct action research in a similar context may benefit from the limitations of the current action research, which needs to be considered in future research. Mainly, the present action research depends solely on qualitative data sources, depending on participants' meaning-
making of their experiences to have multiple perspectives to suggest a practical solution that may satisfy the expectations of all. However, in case researchers wish to concentrate on the efficiency of the learning outcomes of the syllabus, the present study may need supporting quantitative data as well. Researchers may conduct studies in mixed-methods design to determine the efficiency of learning outcomes on specific learner characteristics via attitude scales, achievement tests or portfolio assessment so that the practitioners can contribute to the variety of activities in the syllabus according to the evaluation of learner characteristics of the particular group of learners.

To conclude, the teacher-researcher mainly benefitted from the ongoing evaluation phases of the action research which also coincided with the steps in designing and implementing a flipped learning environment. As the teacher-researcher faced her weaknesses in her teaching practice and focused on remedies to mend and reform the problematic situations in practice, she gained an understanding of her previous practices. To do so, she followed the basic four-step cyclical process in action research, which are planning, taking action, evaluating the action, and leading to further planning. Through this dynamic process, she handled the cycles concurrently, which means gathering scientific knowledge while simultaneously involving in action. Therefore, the teacher-researcher acknowledges the contributions of the reflection cycles in action research design to her professional development. It is hoped that the study will be set as an example of an action research process as a model of professional development practice on the design, implementation and evaluation processes of teaching an ESP course in a flipped learning environment at a tertiary level EFL setting.

References

- Abaeian, H., & Samadi, L. (2016). The effect of flipped classroom on Iranian EFL learners' L2 reading comprehension: Focusing on different proficiency levels. *Journal of Applied Linguistics and Language Research*, 3(6), 295-304. Retrieved from http://www.jallr.com/index.php/JALLR/article/view/442
- Adnan, M. (2017). Perceptions of senior-year ELT students for flipped classroom: A materials development course. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 30 (3-4), 204-222. doi: 10.1080/09588221.2017.1301958
- Ahmad, S. Z. (2016). The flipped classroom model to develop Egyptian EFL students' listening comprehension. *English Language Teaching*, 9(9). doi: 10.5539/elt.v9n9p166
- Ahmed, H. D., & Asiksoy, G. (2018). Flipped classroom in language studies: A content analysis of recent articles. *Near East University Online Journal of Education (NEUJE)*, *1*(1), 11-19. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/neuje/issue/42721/515508
- Akçayır, G., & Akçayır, M. (2018). The flipped classroom: A review of its advantages and challenges. *Computers & Education, 126*,334- 345. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2018.07.021
- Alnuhayt, S. S. (2018). Investigating the use of the flipped classroom method in an EFL vocabulary course. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 9(2), 236-242. doi:10.17507/jltr.0902.03
- Amiryousefi, M. (2017). The incorporation of flipped learning into conventional classes to enhance EFL learners' L2 speaking, L2 listening, and engagement. *Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching*, 13(2), 147-161. doi:10.1080/17501229.2017.1394307
- Bakla, A. (2017). Interactive videos in foreign language instruction: A new gadget in your toolbox. *Mersin University Journal of the Faculty of Education*, 13(1),124-137. doi:10.17860/mersinefd.305769
- Başal, A. (2015). The implementation of a flipped classroom in foreign language teaching. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, *16*(4). doi: 10.17718/tojde.72185

- Bergmann, J., & Sams, A. (2012). *Flip your classroom: Reach every student in every class every day.* Washington, DC: International Society for Technology in Education.
- Bishop, J. L., & Verleger, M. A. (2013). The flipped classroom: A survey of the research. Paper presented at the 120th ASEE Annual Conference & Exposition. Atlanta, GA.
- Bogdan, R. C.& Biklen, S. K. (2007). *Qualitative research in education: An introduction to theory and methods* (5th ed.). London: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Boyraz, S., & Ocak, G. (2017). Implementation of flipped education into Turkish EFL teaching context. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, 13(2), 426-439. Retrieved from http://www.jlls.org/index.php/jlls/article/view/728
- Campbell, L.O., Planinz, T., Morris, K., & Truitt, J. (2019). Investigating undergraduate students' viewing behaviors of academic video in formal and informal settings. *College Teaching*, 67(4), 211-221. doi: 10.1080/87567555.2019.1650703
- Chavangklang, T., & Suppasetseree, S. (2018). Enhancing Thai EFL university students' reading comprehension through a flipped cooperative classroom. *PEOPLE: International Journal of Social Sciences*, 4(3), 238-261. doi:10.20319/pijss.2018.43. 238261
- Chen, Y., Wang, Y., Kinshuk, & Chen, N.S. (2014). Is FLIP enough? Or should we use the FLIPPED model instead? *Computers & Education*, 79, 16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2014.07.004
- Chen Hsieh, J. S., Wu, W.-C. V., & Marek, M. W. (2017). Using the flipped classroom to enhance EFL learning. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 30(1–2),1–21. doi:10.1080/09588221.2015.1111910
- Chien, Y. T., Chang, Y. H., & Chang, C. Y. (2016). Do we click in the right way? A meta-analytic review of clicker-integrated instruction. Educational Research Review, 17, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2015.10.003
- Choe, E., & Seong, M.-H. (2016). A case study of the flipped classroom in a Korean university general English course. *Journal of Pan-Pacific Association of Applied Linguistics*, 20(2), 71-93. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1129484
- Correa, M. (2015). Flipping the foreign language classroom and critical pedagogies: A (new)old trend. *Higher Education for the Future*, 2 (2), 114–125. doi:10.1177/2347631115584122
- Creswell, J. W. (2005). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Cunningham, U. (2016). Language pedagogy and non-transience in the flipped classroom. *Journal of Open, Flexible and Distance Learning, 20*(1), 44- 58. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1112349.pdf
- Çalışkan, N. (2016). Examining the influence of flipped classroom on students learning English as a foreign
language (Master thesis). Retrieved from
https://tez.yok.gov.tr/UlusalTezMerkezi/TezGoster?key=OykDDeWBWTL9-
Wm52sZBrBAXlymGhS1udBjzN8QGhPnU59N_J1eRyfsmX-ByPE6z (Thesis ID. 445646).
- Çetin- Köroğlu, Z., & Çakır, A. (2017). Implementation of flipped instruction in language classrooms: An alternative way to develop speaking skills of pre-service English language teachers. *International Journal of Education and Development Using Information and Communication Technology* (*IJEDICT*), 13 (2), 42-55.
- Çevikbaş, M., & Argün, Z. (2017). An innovative learning model in digital age: Flipped classroom. *Journal* of Education and Training Studies, 5(11), 189-200. doi:10.11114/jets.v5i11.2322

- DeLozier, S. J., & Rhodes, M. G. (2016). Flipped classrooms: A review of key ideas and recommendations for practice. *Educational Psychology Review*, 29(1), 141–151. doi: 10.1007/s10648-015-9356-9
- Doman, E., & Webb, M. (2016). The flipped experience for Chinese university students studying English as a foreign language. *TESOL Journal*, 8(1), 102-141. doi: 10.1002/tesj.264
- Douligeris, C., Seralidou, E., & Gkotsiopoulos, P. (2018). Let's learn with Kahoot! In *IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON)* (pp. 677-685). Tenerife, Spain. doi: 10.1109/EDUCON.2018.8363296
- Ekmekçi, E. (2017). The flipped writing classroom in Turkish EFL context: A comparative study on a new model. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, *18*(2), 151-167. doi: 10.17718/tojde.306566
- Elmaadaway, M.A. (2017). The effects of a flipped classroom approach on class engagement and skill performance in a blackboard course. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 49(3), 479-491. doi:10.1111/bjet.12553
- Engin, M. (2014). Extending the flipped classroom model: Developing second language writing skills through student created digital videos. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *14*(5), 12-26. doi: 10.14434/josotlv14i5.12829
- Engin, M., & Donanci, S. (2014). Flipping the classroom in an academic writing course. *Journal of Teaching and Learning with Technology*, 3 (1), 94-98. doi: 10.14434/jotlt.v3n1.4088
- Erdemir, N., & Yangın Ekşi, G. (2019). The perceptions of student teachers about using an online learning environment 'Edmodo' in a 'flipped classroom'. SDU International Journal of Educational Studies, 6(2), 174-186. doi: 10.33710/sduijes.638795
- Filiz, S., & Benzet, A. (2018). A content analysis of the studies on the use of flipped classrooms in foreign language education. *World Journal of Education*, 8(4), 72-86. doi: 10.5430/wje.v8n4p72
- Flipped Learning Network (FLN). (2014). *The Four Pillars of F-L-I-PTM*. Retrieved from https://flippedlearning.org/definition-of-flipped-learning/
- Fulton, K. P. (2012). 10 Reasons to Flip. *New Styles of Instruction*, 94(2), 20-24. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/41763589?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents
- García Laborda, J., & Litzler, M. F. (2015). Current perspectives in teaching English for specific purposes. *Onomàzein: Journal of Linguistics, Philology and Translation, 31*(1), 38-51. doi: 10.7764/onomazein.31.1
- Gasmi, A. A. (2016). An exploratory study of students' lived experiences in a blended-flipped writing class. *Arab World English Journal*, *3*, 210–226. Retrieved from https://awej.org/index.php/specialissues/67-special-issue-on-call-july-2016/962-afef-ahmed-gasmi
- Gilboy, M. B., Heinerichs, S., & Pazzaglia, G. (2015). Enhancing student engagement using the flipped classroom. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 47(1), 109-114. doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2014.08.008.
- González, J. (2014, March 24). *Modifying the flipped classroom: The "in-class version"* [Blog post]. Retrieved from https://www.edutopia.org/blog/flipped-classroom-in-class-version-jennifergonzalez
- Graney, J. M. (2018). Flipped learning and formative assessment in an English language class. In J. Mehring &A. Leis (Eds.), *Innovations in Flipping the Language Classroom* (pp. 59-68). [eBook] doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-6968-0

- Güler, A., Halıcıoğlu, M.B.& Taşğın, S. (2013). *Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma*. [Qualitative research in social sciences]. Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık.
- Hung, H.-T. (2015). Flipping the classroom for English language learners to foster active learning. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 28(1), 81-96. doi:10.1080/09588221.2014.967701
- Hung, H.-T. (2017a). The integration of a student response system in flipped classrooms. *Language Learning & Technology, 21*(1), 16–27. Retrieved from http://llt.msu.edu/issues/february2017/hung.pdf
- Hung, H.-T. (2017b). Design-based research: Redesign of an English language course using a flipped classroom approach. *TESOL Quarterly*, 51(1), 180-192. doi: 10.1002/tesq.328
- Hung, H.-T. (2017c). The integration of a student response system in flipped classrooms. *Language Learning & Technology, 21*(1), 16–27. Retrieved from http://llt.msu.edu/issues/february2017/hung.pdf
- Hunsu, N. J., Adesope, O., & Bayly, D. J. (2016). A meta-analysis of the effects of audience response systems (clicker-based technologies) on cognition and affect. *Computers & Education*, 94, 102– 119. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2015.11.013
- İlic, U. (2021). Online course satisfaction in a holistic flipped classroom approach. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(3), 432-447. doi:10.31681/jetol.935325
- İlter, O. (2020). A flipped learning syllabus for teaching English for specific purposes: An action research
study (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from
https://tez.yok.gov.tr/UlusalTezMerkezi/tezSorguSonucYeni.jsp (Thesis ID. 650225).
- Insani, H. N., Suherdi, D., & Gustine, G. G. (2018). Undergraduate students' perspectives in using Edmodo as an educational social network. *English review: Journal of English education*, 6(2), 61-68. doi: 10.25134/erjee.v6i2.1254.
- Johns, A.M., & Price, D. (2014). English for specific purposes: International in scope, specific in purpose. In M. Celce-Murcia, D. Brinton & M.A. Snow (Eds.), *Teaching English as a second or foreign language*, (4th ed., *pp*. 471-487). Boston: National Geographic Learning.
- Kang, N. (2015). The comparison between regular and flipped classrooms for EFL Korean adult learners. *Multimedia- assisted language learning*, *18*(3), 41-72. doi: 10. 15702/mall.2015.18.3.41
- Karagöl, İ., & Esen, E. (2019). The effect of flipped learning approach on academic achievement: A metaanalysis study. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education*, 34(3), 708-727. doi: 10.16986/HUJE.2018046755
- Karimi, M., & Hamzavi, R. (2017). The effect of flipped model of instruction on EFL learners' reading comprehension: learners' attitudes in focus. Advances in Language and Literary Studies, 8(1), 95 103. doi: 10.7575/aiac.alls.v.8n.1p.95
- Khalil, R. M. R., & Fahim, S. S., (2016). Assessment as a learning tool in a flipped English language classroom in higher education. *Arab World English Journal (AWEJ)*,4-19. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2895534
- Kocabatmaz, H. (2016). The ideas of pre-service teachers regarding the flipped classroom model. *Journal* of Research in Education and Teaching, 5(4), 14-24. Retrieved from http://www.jret.org/FileUpload/ks281142/File/02a.handan_kocabatmaz.pdf
- Lee, G., & Wallace, A. (2018). Flipped learning in the English as a foreign language classroom: Outcomes and perceptions. *TESOL Quarterly*, 52(1), 62-84. doi: 10.1002/tesq.372

- Leis, A. (2016). Flipped learning and EFL proficiency: An empirical study. *TELES Journal*, 36,77-90. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/303759005_Flipped_Learning_and_EFL_Pr oficiency_An_Empirical_Study
- Lin, C. J., & Hwang, G. J. (2018). A learning analytics approach to investigating factors affecting EFL students' oral performance in a flipped classroom. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 21(2), 205-219. Retrieved from https://www.j- ets.net/ETS/journals/21_2/18.pdf
- Lo, C. K., & Hwang, G. J. (2018). How to advance our understanding of flipped learning: Directions and a descriptive framework for future research. *Knowledge Management & E-Learning*, *10*(4), 441–454. doi: 10.34105/j.kmel.2018.10.027
- Long, T., Cummins, J., & Waugh, M. (2017). Use of the flipped classroom instructional model in higher education: Instructors' perspectives. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 29(2),179-200. doi: 10.1007/s12528-016-9119-8
- Long, T., Cummins, J., & Waugh, M. (2019). To flip or not in higher education: A tale of three instructors. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*. doi:10.1007/s40299-019-00470-4
- Long, T., Logan, J., & Waugh, M. (2016). Students' perceptions of the value of using videos as a pre-class learning experience in the flipped classroom. *TechTrends*,60 (3), 245–252.
- Marks, D.B. (2015). Flipping the classroom: Turning an instructional methods course upside down. *Journal* of College Teaching & Learning (TLC), 12(4), 241–248. doi: 10.19030/tlc.v12i4.9461
- McNally, B., Chipperfield, J., Dorsett, P., Fabbro, L.D., Frommolt, V., Goetz, S.,...Rung, A. (2017). Flipped classroom experiences: Student preferences and flip strategy in a higher education context. *Higher Education*, 73(2), 281-298. doi:10.1007/s10734-016-0014-z
- McNiff, J., Lomax, P., & Whitehead, J. (1996). You and your Action Research Project. New York: Routledge.
- McKeown, J. (2016). From "sage on the stage to guide on the side": A case study of a transition to flipped English language learning in a higher education setting in Turkey. *ELT Research Journal*, 5(2), 145-154. Retrieved from http://dergipark.ulakbim.gov.tr/eltrj/article/view/5000194876
- Mehring, J. (2015). An exploratory study of the lived experiences of Japanese undergraduate EFL students in the flipped classroom. Paper presented at the 4th International Conference on Communications and Information Technology. ICCIT, Abu Dhabi. Retrieved from https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/An-exploratory-study-of-thelived-experiences-of-in-Mehring/60c55cc8b938920925a1420faf1b101c98f4d0cd#citing-papers
- Mehring, J. (2016). Present research on the flipped classroom and potential tools for the EFL classroom. *Computers in the Schools, 33*(1), 1-10. doi: 10.1080/07380569.2016.1139912
- Mehring, J. (2018). The flipped classroom. In J. Mehring &A. Leis (Eds.), *Innovations in Flipping the Language Classroom* (pp. 203- 220). [eBook]doi:10.1007/978-981-10- 6968-0
- Nguyen, T. (2018). Implementation of English flipped classrooms: Students' perceptions and teacher's reflection. *International Journal of Research Studies in Language Learning*,7(3), 87-108. doi: 10.5861/ijrsll.2017.1876
- Onodipe, G., & Ayadi, M. F. (2020). Using smartphones for formative assessment in the flipped classroom. *Journal of Instructional Pedagogies*, 23, 1-20. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1241944
- Öznacar, B., Köprülü, F., & Çağlar, M. (2019). The success of implementing flipped classroom in teaching foreign language for international students. *BRAIN: Broad Research in Artificial Intelligence and*

Neuroscience, *10* (2), 151- 158. Retrieved from http://www.edusoft.ro/brain/index.php/brain/article/view/913

- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods*. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Pavanelli, R. (2018). The flipped classroom: A mixed methods study of academic performance and student perception in EAP writing context. *International Journal of Language and Linguistics*, 5(2), 16-26. doi:10.30845/ijll.v5n2p3
- Pinna, G., Mena, J., & Funes, S. (2017). Undergraduate students' perceptions about the use of Kahoot as part of the flipped classroom methodology. In Editors: M. Á. C. González, F. J. R. Sedano, C. F. Llamas, & F. J. García-Peñalvo (Eds.), *TEEM'19: Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Technological Ecosystems for Enhancing Multiculturality* (pp. 619–625). New York, NY, United States: Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3362789.3362900
- Purnawarman, P., Susilawati, S., & Sundayana, W. (2016). The use of Edmodo in teaching writing in a blended learning setting. *Indonesian Journal of Applied Linguistics*, 5(2), 242-252. doi:10.17509/ijal.v5i2.1348
- Ramirez, M. (2018) In-Class Flip: Flipping a Literature Class for Student-Centered Learning. In J. Mehring & A. Leis (Eds.), *Innovations in Flipping the Language Classroom* (pp. 93-103). [eBook] doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-6968-0
- Rochmahwati, P. (2014). Developing learner autonomy online through micro blogging Edmodo. *Lingua Scientia*, 6(2), 151-158. doi: 10.21274/ls.2014.6.2.213-221
- Roehl, A., Reddy, S. L., & Shannon, G. J. (2013). The flipped classroom: An opportunity to engage millennial students through active learning strategies. *Journal of Family & Consumer Sciences*, 105(2), 44-49. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/daa3/b94cdc7b52b3381a7c7e21022a7a8c005f84.pdf
- Sakulprasertsri, K. (2017). Flipped learning approach: Engaging 21st century learners in English classrooms. *LEARN journal: Language education and acquisition research network journal, 10*(2). Retrieved from https://www.tci- thaijo.org/index.php/LEARN/article/view/111741/87203
- Sams, A., &Bergmann, J. (2013). Flip your students learning. *Educational Leadership*,70(6), 16-20. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/mar13/vol70/num06/Flip-Your-Students'-Learning.aspx
- Schwartz, T. A., Andridge, R.R., Sainani, K. L., Stangle, D. K., & Neely, M. L. (2016). Diverse perspectives on a flipped biostatistics classroom. *Journal of Statistics Education*, 24(2), 74-84. doi: 10.1080/10691898.2016.1192362
- Serafim, V. F., & Meireles, A. R. (2019). Affordances of Edmodo for the flipping and expansion of the L2 classroom. *BELT Brazilian English Language Teaching Journal*, 9(2), 293-307. doi: 10.15448/2178-3640.2018.2.31963
- Suranakkharin, T. (2017). Using the flipped model to foster Thai learners' second language collocation knowledge. *3L: The Southeast Asian Journal of English Language Studies*, 23(3), 1 20.doi: 10.17576/3L-2017-2303-01
- Sun, Y.-C. (2017). Flipping every student? A case study of content-based flipped language classrooms. *E-Learning and Digital Media, 14*(1–2), 20–37. doi: 10.1177/2042753017692428
- Şahin, M., & Fell Kurban, C. (2016). The flipped approach to higher education: Designing universities for today's knowledge economies and societies. Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

- Tucker, C. (2016, January, 7). *In-class flip: The flipped classroom meets station rotation model* [Blog post]. Retrieved from https://catlintucker.com/2016/01/inclassflip/
- Turan, Z. (2015). *The evaluation of flipped classroom method and examination of its effects on academic achievement, cognitive load and motivation.* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://tez.yok.gov.tr/UlusalTezMerkezi/
- Turan, Z., & Akdag-Cimen, B. (2019). Flipped classroom in English language teaching: A systematic review. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 1, 1-17. doi: 10.1080/09588221.2019.1584117 [Taylor & Francis Online]
- Turan, Z., & Göktaş, Y. (2015). Yükseköğretimde yeni bir yaklaşım: Öğrencilerin ters yüz sınıf yöntemine ilişkin görüşleri [A new approach in higher education: The students' views on flipped classroom method]. Yükseköğretim ve Bilim Dergisi,5(2), 156-164. doi: 10.5961/jhes.2015.118
- Twenge, J. M. (2017). *iGen: Why today's super-connected kids are growing up less rebellious, more tolerant, less happy--and completely unprepared for adulthood--and what that means for the rest of us.* (2nd ed.). New York: Atria Books.
- Wagner-Loera, D. (2018). Flipping the ESL/ EFL classroom to reduce cognitive load: A new way of organizing your classroom. In J. Mehring &A. Leis (Eds.), *Innovations in Flipping the Language Classroom* (pp. 169-184). [eBook] doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-6968-0
- Wang, F.H. (2017). An exploration of online behaviour engagement and achievement in flipped classroom supported by learning management system. *Computers & Education*, 114, 79-91. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2017.06.012
- Wang, Y., & Qi, G. Y. (2018). Mastery-based language learning outside class: Learning support in flipped classrooms. *Language Learning & Technology*, 22(2), 50–74. doi:10125/44641
- Webb, M., & Doman, E. (2016). Does the flipped classroom lead to increased gains on learning outcomes in ESL/EFL contexts? *The CATESOL Journal*, 28(1), 39-67. Retrieved from http://www.catesoljournal.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/CJ28.1_webb.pdf
- Webb, M., Doman, E., & Pusey, K. (2014). Flipping a Chinese university EFL course: What students and teachers think of the model. *The Journal of Asia TEFL*, *11*(4), 53-87. Retrieved from http://www.asiatefl.org/main/download_pdf.php?i=389&c=1420009720&fn=
- Yıldırım, A., & Şimşek, H. (2013). *Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma yöntemleri*. [The qualitative research methods in social sciences]. (9th ed.). Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık.
- Zainuddin, Z. (2017). First-year college students' experiences in the EFL flipped classroom: A case study in Indonesia. *International Journal of Instruction*, 10(1), 133-150. doi:10.12973/iji.2017.1019a
- Zainuddin, Z., Haruna, H., Li, X., Zhang, Y., Chu, S. K. W. (2019). A systematic review of flipped classroom empirical evidence from different fields: What are the gaps and future trends? *On the Horizon*, 27(2), 72-86. doi:10.1108/OTH-09-2018-0027
- Zhang, Y., Chen, B.-L., Ge, J., Hung, C. Y. & Mei, L. (2019) When is the best time to use rubrics in flipped learning? A study on students' learning achievement, metacognitive awareness, and cognitive load. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 27(8), 1207-1221. doi: 10.1080/10494820.2018.1553187
- Zou, D., & Xie, H. (2019). Flipping an English writing class with technology-enhanced just-in-time teaching and peer instruction. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 27(8), 1127-1142. doi: 10.1080/10494820.2018.1495654

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Prospective English language teachers' perceptions of online and face-to-face education on knowledge, skills, and competencies

Didem Koban Koç^a* ^(D), Serdar Engin Koç^b

^a İzmir Democracy University, Turkey

^b Başkent University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Koban Koç, D. & Koç, S. E. (2021). Prospective english language teachers' perceptions of online and face-to-face education on knowledge, skills, and competencies. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 656-672.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Covid-19 Online education face-to-face education, Skills Knowledge Social competencies	The present study, which was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic, aims to investigate college students' opinions regarding online and face-to-face education. The study, which is based on an explanatory sequential mixed-method approach included quantitative and qualitative data. The data were collected from 85 prospective English language teachers enrolled in a teacher-training program at a government university in Turkey. They were ranged in age from 18 to 47. The participants responded to an online two-part questionnaire. In the first part, the participants provided socio-demographic information regarding their gender and age. In the second part, they stated their previous experiences about online education, how they accessed their courses, and their frequency of participation in the courses. Additionally, they expressed their opinions about the advantages and disadvantages of both online and face-to-face learning as well as the effects of both learning platforms on their educational knowledge, skills, and social competencies. A thematic analysis approach was also used in the form of semi-structured interviews to explain the quantitative results. Interviews were conducted with six participants. Descriptive statistics was used to analyze the quantitative data. According to the results, the participants favored online lessons because of their accessibility even after their regular scheduled time but disfavored the lessons due to the fact that they had to look at a screen for a long time, had technical problems such as Internet connection, insufficient interaction with the course instructor and classmates. Moreover, the participants reported that they benefited more from face-to-face learning than online learning in terms of gaining new knowledge, skills, and competencies. To solve the issues that arise in online education, they suggested prolonging the duration of the exams
Research Article	but shortening the duration of the lessons due to connection problems.

1. Introduction

Due to Covid-19 Pandemic, restrictions and lockdown of certain facilities all around the world marked the transformation of education from traditional classes to online learning systems at an alarming rate. Measures taken by World Health Organization (WHO) about social distancing forced governments to implement large scale restrictions in their countries. In Turkey, March 2020 marked the beginning of lockdown, which ended up in teachers and learners working and learning from home using online technologies. This emergent transformation mostly ignored that fact that online lessons require more time

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1016509

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 5 Dec 2021; Accepted 5 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586. This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author: İzmir Democracy University, Turkey. e-mail address: dkoban2@gmail.com.

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

to prepare than traditional lessons since learner presence must be assured with social elements and interaction between learners, teachers and activities. Furthermore, learner abilities have changed in terms of technical knowledge and interacting with their peers and teachers in addition to coping with the pandemic (Handel et al., 2020). Some universities also had to adopt their courses by lowering their syllabi and decreasing education content and lesson time. In fact, both educational institutions and learners experimented with new methods until they found what was suitable for them to teach and learn. The psychological effects of Covid-19 cannot be ignored as it affects learners and can cause burnout in teachers due to excessive workload. For instance, loss of interaction and social distancing caused half of people in China covering 194 cities, including learners to experience psychological repercussions (Wang, Horby, Hayden, & Gao, 2020). This fact is supported by WHO (2020) that showed the scale of psychological effects on people all around the world. Triggering such a reform in education has brought both opportunities and obstacles to learning, the former being creativity in learning and teaching and the latter leaving stakeholders with technological expenses and difficulties both in pedagogy and reaching uninterrupted education. While distance education has been implemented in many universities and higher education programs, application at all levels of education was unprecedented. According to Online Learning Consortium (2015), distance education remained critical for higher education administrators and a recent report of NCES (2020) stated that 84% of learners changed in their enrollment by moving online only for some or all classes. In this situation, it is not possible to understand the efficiency of distance education programs during Covid-19 period without learner perceptions that would lead to frameworks and usability studies. Perception studies can be recognized as the first step in validating learners' opinions about and attitudes towards new technologies or methods. That is why this study aims to compare distance and faceto-face education in terms of their weaknesses and strengths and their effect on learners' knowledge, skills and social competencies by analyzing learner perceptions with the following research questions:

- a) What are the college students' opinions regarding the advantages and disadvantages of online learning?
- b) What are the effects of distance and face-to-face education on the students' educational knowledge, skills, and social competencies, as reported by the participants?
- c) What kinds of solutions do the participants provide to the problems that arise during online learning?

1.1 Frameworks of online learning and distance education

Dabbagh (2005) states that e-learning framework consists of a pedagogical model, teaching strategies and what we use as technology such as Moodle, Teams, Zoom. Today, when we think about online learning or distance education, this e-learning framework manifests itself in the form of distributed learning as learning became ubiquitous whether synchronously or asynchronously. While it is not easy to form a knowledge building community, with enough support from peers, administrators and partnerships in this respect with other universities, it is possible to build online organizations where people with similar interests can benefit and boost their online learning through collaboration.

Another constituent of the e-learning framework is the instructional strategy. While it is appropriate that every learning situation begs for a different instructional strategy, in emergent online education, it may be that every learning situation is treated as similar to each other. Therefore, few instructional strategies were used and that may have destroyed the novelty of online education, decreased interactivity and resulted in monotonous online sessions. Instructional strategies are highly important because they are the keys to enabling learners' involvement and using learning strategies. First of all, instructional strategies and learning technologies should be paired as not all strategies can be used with all learning technologies match with instructional strategies. Online courses require more work and more detailed activities to make

up for the lack of social interaction that naturally occurs in face-to-face education and tracking of students as it is difficult to monitor students and how they react to lessons synchronously or asynchronously. Through instructional strategies, teachers implement learning strategies into learners and they consciously use these strategies because their content is scaffolded or is interwoven with metacognitive strategies, or the content is carefully organized so the output of one lesson becomes the input of another activity. Also, supporting multiple perspectives through collaborative activities motivates learners upon achievement, adds to their culture that becomes part of their learning and encourages learners to participate in knowledge building communities.

As our target learners are university students for online learning, we must also include the principles of effective adult learning as it is appropriate for the mindset of distance learners. Chin and Williams (2006) lay down the principles of adult learning that are relevant to distance or online learning frameworks in their study. The most obvious principle that comes from adult learning is that adults learn a content much better if they can relate it to their professional or personal life or interests, which can also be seen in experiential learning. In other words, the content of an online lesson should be built in a way that has clear purposes and motivates the learner by giving examples of what the learner will experience. This kind of motivation can lead the learner to owning his/her learning if properly supported by activities of reflection, prompting and monitoring because another principle of learning states that the adult learner should participate in his/her own evaluation and planning of learning. The transfer of learning depends on the design of authentic learning activities with tangible outcomes. Therefore, real-world examples and scenario-based outputs where learners can see the result of their actions help learners retain knowledge. In this way, learning can happen from different sources and that is why this framework views learning as a holistic phenomenon. Connectivism (Siemens, 2004) also adds to online learning frameworks by supporting the idea that learning requires different perspectives and deciding on what steps and content to learn is important.

We can see social and teacher presence in the community of inquiry model of learning (Garrison, Anderson & Archer, 2000) that values interaction among teachers and learners through communicative media. Pedagogical Purpose Model developed by Bosch (2016) adds to this framework by stating that using multiple modalities in activities and approaches is effective in making sure that every learner benefits from one activity or another as different media and technologies are used. Figure 1 shows the components of an integrated model of distance education. In this model, the social emotional part and self-paced study are left out and communicative part for collaborative work, reflection and discussion are supposed to increase interaction between content and learner, learner and learner and teacher and learner.



Fig. 1. Integrated Model of Distance Education (Picciano, 2017, p.20).

2. Literature Review

In this section, recent studies about learner perceptions of advantages and disadvantages of learning and their possible effects, especially during Covid-19 are presented with an emergent online transformation perspective. As there are major differences between online and face-to-face learning when instructional or platform support is not enough there can be problems originating from the lack of interaction, social presence and Internet skills of learners and teachers. Blaine (2019) performed qualitative content analysis of student and teacher focus groups and found differences between teacher and learner perceptions of interaction leading to social presence. Social presence of learners points to the degree of their participation in online class activities socially and emotionally. As interaction is a major influencer of social presence, in this study, teachers experienced favorable interaction whereas learners did not like the kind of interaction with their peers and teachers. They also found that the cause of low interaction was related to learners' motivation, initiative, and lack of community presence and high interaction was related to face-to-face classroom with appropriate pace and increased motivation. The researcher concluded by saying that learners' expectations as guidance were not met and they had difficulty in navigation and using selfregulatory strategies. Furthermore, Richter and Schuessler (2019) used qualitative methods to find out perceptions of learners with their online learning experiences and found that technological proficiency and time turned out to be barriers to online learning and they needed a better friendly instructional platform with increased instructional support.

When the learners' preferences in terms of taking online courses are taken into consideration, Sellnow-Richmond, Strawser and Sellnow (2020) reported that most learners wanted to take online courses again stating that they could learn at their own pace. In addition, less competition in online learning motivated them. Similar results were obtained in Ni et al. (2021) who also found that online learning eliminated face-to-face challenges but at the same time, it enabled learners to feel social presence and trust in the online teaching system. Sellnow-Richmond et al. (2020) used open-ended questions to understand advantages and disadvantages of online learning and found interaction to be less than face-to-face learning. Moreover,

learners experienced decreased class time while struggling to complete assignments within required time. For interaction to be valid, Sellnow-Richmond et al. (2020) stated that learners needed to know their peers and more guidance from their teachers. In Dunford and Miller's (2018) study, learners also experienced lower quality interactions with less exposure to effective teaching practices. In addition, learners who took online courses previously were more likely to engage in quantitative reasoning but were less likely to engage in collaboration and student teacher interactions.

There are also obstacles to online learning that can impair communication and interaction and result in poor motivation hence decreased participation. For instance, Allo (2020) used semi-structured interviews to understand the perceptions of learners in online courses, and found problems such as Internet access, guidance and communication. Even with problems, the learners still liked online learning and preferred individual assignments. Dost, Hossain, Shehab, Abdelwahed, Al-Nusair (2020) performed a large scale survey including 40 schools and 2170 learners and found out that distraction of learners and poor Internet connection were the disadvantages but the flexibility of online learner remained an advantage. The researchers suggested using team-based and problem-based learning with discussions. In Gonçalves, Sousa, and Pereira's (2020) study, the learners were satisfied with online learning and evaluation but there were obstacles to learning such as excess activities as well as time and concentration problems.

Studies that emphasized Covid-19 in terms of online learning focused on advantages and disadvantages and provided suggestions to overcome barriers to learning. For example, Muthuprasad, Aiswarya, Aditya and Jha (2021) used an online survey to understand learners' preferences and perceptions of online learning. The majority of learners stated that they favored online classes during the pandemic. Learners reported that they preferred recorded classes with quizzes. In addition, they reported Internet connection issues as a disadvantage and convenience and flexibility of online learning as advantages. Similarly, Internet connection was found to be a major limitation in Xhelili, Ibrahimi, Rruci, and Sheme (2021). The authors found that high performance learners and learners in technology-based programs had better learning experiences whereas learners, in general, preferred to take classroom lectures instead of online learners' perceptions of an online conference tool for distance education learners. The results showed that the learners, in general, had negative opinions about the tool, but they found the flexibility of the tool as an advantage. Flexibility of online learning was also reported as an advantage by Laili and Nashir (2021) who also found the cost of Internet and low motivation among students to be major obstacles in their intensive English classes.

Another study by Bączek, Zagańczyk-Bączek, Szpringer, Jaroszyński, and Wożakowska-Kapłon (2021) that analyzed the perceptions of 814 medical students found learning at one's own pace and convenience as advantages of online learning during Covid-19 and disadvantages as technical problems and lack of interaction. They also stated that online learning was not as effective as face-to-face learning in terms of skills and social competencies. Examining the determinants of learners' perceived learning in his study, Baber (2020) concluded that interaction, motivation, and course structure are positive influencers on learner satisfaction. A study by Shawaqfeh et al. (2020) found that the majority of the learners were prepared to take online courses, had positive attitudes towards online learning but one-third of the learners experienced barriers to learning. Moreover, while all learners were ready for online education in Mohalik and Sahoo's (2020) study, they did not agree that online education was a good alternative to face-to-face learning. The majority of the learners felt stressed and isolated with poor confidence in online platform.

A comparison of online education before and during the Covid-19 pandemic shows that interaction, connection and communication problems are major obstacles to learning. Digital skills of learners appear less of a problem with learners who are in technical departments while learners in other departments

learners also feel ready for online education, but they need more guidance to reach that level of digital competence and gain social competencies.

2.1. Studies in Turkey

Research in Turkey includes both large and small samples as case studies targeting both platforms, lesson as a whole and strategies used in emergent distance education. These studies show disadvatages, advantages about distance education and learner perceptions and their improvement of skills. In a study carried out by Aydın (2020) about the evaluation of Turkish lessons through EBATV platform, where mixed research method was used, quantitative results showed that the students generally enjoyed Turkish lessons and were able to follow lessons. However, as they stated in their interviews that the duration allocated for the lessons was insufficient and there weren't enough sample problems solved in lessons. They also stated that they couldn't ask the teacher any questions, the lessons were fast-paced and they couldn't adapt easily to having different teachers.

In their study, Tümkaya, Kayiran, Tanhan, and Arslan (2021) used Online Interpretive Phenmenological Analysis and Online PhotoVoice to collect and analyze data to investigate higher education learners' problems and support resources of online education. They also used an online questionnaire for descriptive purposes. Most of the learners preferred face-to-face education to online education and they were not satisfied with online education experience during Covid-19. They used smart phone more than personal computer for online lessons. Also, most learners selected low motivation, too much homework and technological insufficiency as barriers to learning.

Karadağ and Yücel (2020) found that most of the learners used their computers or tablets rather than their smart phones to follow online education while some learners could not attend online education. The study was performed with questionnaires sent online to about 18000 participants which is a good representation of population size of universities in Turkey. They also found that learners were not satisfied with the digital content used in online lessons and faculty/university management and their perceptions were neutral about satisfaction with synchronous lessons and technical framework.

Another study by Arık (2021) that used Distance Education Learning Environments Scale with a sample of over 3000 learners from 66 universities discovered that learners preferred online education to face-to-face education. Students who received offline distance education were neutral whereas online distance education learners could adapt to distance education and they were significantly more positive in terms of student interaction and collaboration and instructor support. Also, students who attended the lessons with computers rather than mobile phones had more positive opinions regarding distance education.

Investigating the impact of emergency distance education, the study by Karakaş and Tuncer (2020) focused on advantages and disadvantages for sustainment of language skills and most affected skills. In their thematic analysis, the researchers identified themes from data gathered via open-ended items with a sample of 118 pre-service teachers. The results showed that while half of the themes offered no advantages, the sustainment of skills was related to content and implementation of online courses, free time at home and comfortable medium for learning. The students stated that having exams as assignments caused more legible materials and improvement of writing and speaking skills and having a comfortable learning medium ensured learning at one's own pace and away from stress and noise. In addition to these, having free time gave learners good opportunities to search and read as well as summarize content and practice pronunciation at their own time. The disadvantages were found to be the lack of peer interaction, too much homework and technical issues.

3. Methodology

In this section, the method, data collection tools and process of data analysis will be explained.

3.1. Research Model/Design

The present study, which is based on an explanatory sequential mixed-method approach incorporated both quantitative and qualitative data. This method is used to support and further explain quantitative results in more detail with qualitative data (Wisdom & Creswell, 2013). The quantitative data were in the form of questionnaires and the qualitative data were in the form of semi-structured interviews, which were analyzed according to the thematic analysis approach.

The quantitative data were collected via two questionnaires adapted from Bączek et al. (2020). The questionnaires were translated into Turkish. The translated questionnaires were consolidated by a translator in terms of meaning, idiomatic expressions, cultural context, and concepts. In the first questionnaire, which included 10 statements, the students were asked to state their gender, age, year of study, ability to use the Internet and certain Microsoft Office programs such as PowerPoint, Word, Excel as well as applications on tablet, computer or phone. Additionally, the students were asked to respond to whether or not they had any previous experience with online or distant education. They also stated the devices they used for the online courses. In the second questionnaire, the students responded to a total of 8 items. The first two items were about the advantages and disadvantages of online education. The students were allowed to choose more than one option out of 6 options. The rest of the items were about the effects of both online and face-to-face education on the increase of knowledge, educational skills, and social competencies. The responses were graded from 1 'not effective at all' to 5 'extremely effective'. The questionnaires were administered online using googleforms during class hours.

The qualitative data, which were collected to contribute to the findings of quantitative data, involved semistructured interviews conducted with 6 students (three males and three females) selected from different years of study within the same sample. The interviews, which were in Turkish, were conducted online on Microsoft Teams platform. The students were asked to state the advantages and disadvantages of online education during the pandemic and how online education can be improved. Additionally, they stated their preferences regarding online and face-to-face education. Each student interview conducted on Microsoft Teams lasted for about 25 minutes. The students provided their opinions about the following four openended interview questions.

- 1. What are the advantages that online education offered during the Covid-19 pandemic?
- 2. What are the disadvantages that online education offered during the Covid-19 pandemic?
- 3. What can be done to solve the problems that arise during online education?
- 4. Do you prefer face-to-face or online education in terms of increase of knowledge and development of social and academic skills?

In order to increase the accuracy and validity of the qualitative study, the researchers used *respondent validation*, which is referred to as technique that allows researchers to increase the credibility, accuracy, and validity of a study (Yanow & Schwartz-Shea, 2006). The interviews were conducted by a trained graduate student who was enrolled in the English Language Teaching program. During the interviews, the graduate student listened to the participants first, and then summarized their responses to check for accuracy. At times, she asked participants some questions for clarification purposes.

3.2. Sampling or Study Group

The present study was conducted on 85 undergraduate students, including 34 first-year, 38 second-year, and 13 third-year students, enrolled in the English language teaching department of a government university in the western part of Turkey. Out of the 85 students, 47 were female and 38 were male. The students were homogeneous in terms of their age and socio-economic status. They were all Turkish speakers. Regarding the age distribution in the sample, the majority of the students were in the 18-21 age range. 4 students were 24 years old; 3 were 22; 1 was 23; 1 was 26 and 1 was 28. There were only 7 students between the ages of 31 and 47. The following table shows the age distribution.

Table 1.

Learner age distribution.

Age Group	18-21	22-28	31-47
Learners	58	10	7

3.3. Data Analysis

During the quantitative analyses, descriptive statistics were used to calculate the rates of the items in the questionnaire. As for the qualitative analyses, the thematic analysis approach was used. Thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2019), is a method for analyzing qualitative data that include searching across a data set to identify, analyze, and report repeated patterns. After the interviews were transcribed, the following procedure was implemented to analyze the data: first the codes were assigned to the topics in the interview questions; the most frequently used codes were determined; the codes were classified into themes and sub-themes; the most relevant themes and sub-themes were determined; the themes were named and reported.

3.4. Findings and Discussions

This section presents the findings with respect to the quantitative and qualitative analyses and provides a discussion of the results. We first turn to the quantitative findings.

3.4.1 Quantitative Analyses

The following tables present findings related to the learners' computer skills, their access to the Internet, previous online experiences, devices used to enter classes, and frequency of attendance in the online courses.

Table 2.

Learner skills in using the Internet, office programs and other applications.

Skills	Beginner	Intermediate	Advanced
MS Office	14 %	59 %	27 %
Internet	5 %	45 %	50 %
Other applications	4 %	57 %	39 %

As seen in Table 2, most of the learners think of themselves as skilled to the degree of advanced or intermediate in using the Internet, MS Office and other applications. As for the ability to use the Internet, 50 % of the students considered themselves as advanced, while 45 % of the students considered themselves to be at an intermediate level. The remaining 5 % considered themselves to be beginners. Additionally, the majority of the students reported that they were at an intermediate level in using different applications on their computer, tablet or phone. As for using the Microsoft Office programs such as Word, PowerPoint, and Excel, the majority of the students were at an intermediate level while 27 % were advanced.

Table 3.

Learner access to Internet and previous online experiences.

	Yes	No
Access to Internet	93 %	7 %
Previous Online Experience	14 %	86 %

Table 3 shows that most of the learners had Internet access. Their previous online experiences were as low as 14%.

Table 4.

Devices used to enter classes.

Devices	Usage rate
Computer	87 %
Phone	72 %
Tablet	4 %

Table 4 shows the usage rate of the devices that learners used to enter online classes. While computer was the most frequently used device, tablet was the least used.

Table 5.

Course attendance.

Attendance	Rate
Always	38 %
Often	40 %
Usually	17 %
Rarely	5 %

According to Table 5, only 38 % of the learners attended the online course regularly. Here it is prudent to explain that some of the universities in Turkey took online attendance and used it to decide whether the learner passed or failed. Here however, the question regarding the attendance was asked to add to the validity of learner perceptions. We now turn to the findings related to the advantages and disadvantages of online education. Table 6 presents the perceptions of learners about the advantages of online learning.

Table 6.

Advantages of online learning.

Advantage	Rate	
Access to classes offline	94 %	
Attending classes from home	62 %	
Access to online materials and resources	57 %	
Access to classes from anywhere	55 %	
Attending classes in a comfortable setting	54 %	
Learning at one's own pace	31 %	

As the table shows, the most common advantage was accessing the classes offline, followed by attending classes from home, access to online materials and resources, access to classes from anywhere, attending classes in a comfortable setting, and learning at one's own pace. Table 7 shows the disadvantages of online learning according to the learners.

Table 7.

Disadvantages of online learning.

Advantage	Percentage	
Looking at a screen for a long time	84 %	
Technical problems	80 %	
Little interaction with the course instructor	66 %	
Little interaction with classmates	64 %	
Inability to participate and provide self-learning discipline	52 %	
Social isolation	49 %	
Poor learning environment at home	46 %	

According to the participants, the biggest disadvantage was looking at a screen for a long time. This was followed by technical problems, insufficient interaction with the course instructor, insufficient interaction with classmates, inability of the student to participate in the lessons and provide self-learning discipline. Let us now consider the participants' opinions regarding the effects of online and face-to-face learning on their knowledge, skills and social competencies.

Table 8.

Effects of online and face-to-face learning on knowledge, skills and social competencies.

Knowledge, skills and social	Extremely	Very	Moderately	Somewhat	Not effective
competencies	effective(%)	effective(%)	effective(%)	effective(%)	at all(%)
The effect of online					
learning on the increase of					
knowledge	7	14	42	29	8
The effect of face-to-face					
learning on the increase of					
knowledge	18	47	30	4	1
The effect of online					
learning on the increase of					
skills	5	9	39	34	13
The effect of face-to-face					
learning on the increase of					
skills	28	46	22	4	0
The effect of online					
learning on the increase of					
social competencies	1	0	14	18	67
The effect of face-to-face					
learning on the increase of					
social competencies	55	24	15	4	2

As seen in Table 8, face-to-face learning was more effective than online learning in terms of increase of knowledge, skills, and social competencies.

3.4.2 Qualitative Analyses

As this is an explanatory study, the analysis was done in a deductive manner and aimed to support the quantitative results. Four themes were identified based on the analyses of the interviews with the students. These were accessibility of online classes, Internet connection problems, duration of the lessons and exams, and socialization and interaction in face-to-face education.

Accessibility of online classes

Regarding the first interview question, the most frequently emphazised theme was the accessibility of online classes. According to all the students, being able to access the recorded course material was the biggest advantage of online education. As one of the students stated:

"One of the most important advantages of online education is that our classes were recorded, so even if we could not enter the classes on time, we still had a chance to listen to the lectures later. In my case, my father who had a barber shop had to close his business due to the pandemic. I had to work to support my family and therefore, most of the time, I could not enter the classes on time, but I was able to listen to them when I had time later" (Male, third-year student).

Internet connection problems

One of the most commonly mentioned disadvantages of online education was the Internet connection problems.

"One disadvantage of online education is the Internet connection. Due to the insufficient infrastructure in Turkey, I had serious connection problems. One time I had to complete an exam earlier than I was supposed to because I was afraid that my Internet would disconnect again. In addition to the insufficient infrastructure, my financial situation was another reason for the Internet disconnection. Sometimes, my family could not afford to pay the monthly fee for the Internet" (Male, second-year student).

Duration of the lessons and exams

As for the third interview question, almost all the students were of the opinion that duration of the lessons should be shorter because their attention spans tend to be shorter during online education.

"The lessons last for at least two hours. Sometimes, instructors do not even take breaks. I cannot focus on the lessons for more than an hour. Lessons should be shorter." (Female, first-year student).

The students also suggested that the duration of the exams should be longer. This was due to the fact that the students had Internet connection problems.

"Exams need to be at least two hours, which is enough time to finish an exam just in case we have Internet connection problems. For example, I have two brothers who are younger than me. Since their lessons are not recorded, they have to attend every lesson synchronically. We have only two computers at home and they had to use both computers to enter their lessons. If the duration of the exams is longer, I would still have time to finish the exams even if my brothers use the computers. They would give one of the computers back to me after their lessons were over" (Male, third-year student).

Socialization and interaction in face-to-face education

With respect to the fourth question, all the students preferred face-to-face education. They not only emphazised the importance of socialization with other students but they also mentioned that lack of interaction with the instructor in online lessons prevented them from learning the subject-matter. One of the students stated that:

"I prefer face-to-face education. I am looking for a social environment. I cannot socialize during online education. Additionally, I do not have enough interaction with the instructors. Sometimes, I do not get a chance to ask questions to them. In classrooms, instructors are more accessible, of course" (Female, first-year student).

3.4.2 Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Results

Within the lines of explanatory mixed methods, the interpretation is based on how qualitative results were used to give more depth and provide insight to quantitative results (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Qualitative results enabled us to further our inquiries about the quantitative results and revealed several background issues. Access to online materials and recorded lessons even they couldn't attend the lesson was a big

convenience in the pandemic situation for learners because some learners had to make efforts to support their family. While quantitative data shows that most of the learners have internet connection, the quality of internet connection matters in keeping learners motivated and learning without interruption. This same situation applied to having low internet connection as it was not affordable due to insufficient funds for better internet connection. Also, we learn that in some parts of the country and cities, the infrastructure is not strong enough to support a sustained internet connection for online lessons. This also affected the time needed for online exams and affected assessment as some learners had to carry on exams at a faster pace being afraid of losing internet connection. Qualitative results also supported that long lessons without a break made it difficult for learners to focus on content. In fact, this was the biggest disadvantage revealed by quantitative analysis such that looking at the screen for a long time, the learners lost motivation and when combined with technical problems, this disadvantage gave learners hard times. In crowded houses with learners of different ages, the participants had problems in sharing their computers as the the hours of online lessons coincided with their relatives. We can understand that the problems explained with the results of the quantitative analysis are related to each other from the results of the qualitative results. In this respect, the qualitative analysis made it possible to connect the questionnaire items to other items and actually found the cause of the problem of a few quantitative results. Due to low interaction with classmates and teacher during the lesson, the learners could not find the social environment to become motivated and this prevented them from asking questions to understand concepts better.

In the following, we discuss the findings related to both the quantitative and qualitative analyses. The quantitative and qualitative analyses unearthed several important factors related to the benefits and drawbacks of online and face-to-face learning as well as their effects on the students' knowledge, skills, and social competencies. The first research question focused on the advantages and disadvantages of online learning. Both the quantitative and qualitative analyses revealed that the most important advantage of online learning was the opportunity to access the classes offline. The participants reported other advantages of online learning such as attending classes from home, access to online materials and resources, access to classes from anywhere, attending classes in a comfortable setting, and learning at one's own pace. Being able to access online courses that were recorded and accessible for a period of time was especially important for those who had to work during class hours to support their families and could not access the courses at their regular scheduled time due to poor internet connection. These findings are supported in Muthuprasad et al., (2021) and Baczek et al., (2021) where the flexibility of learning online in terms of time and place was listed as an advantage. Truly, the availability of recorded lessons and means of evaluation is successful in carrying education to learners when they are most available and ready for learning. These results are also supported by the work of Serhan (2020), Dost et al. (2021), Laili and Nashir (2021), and Sujarwo et al. (2020) in which learners had positive perceptions of online learning due to its flexibility and ubiquitous access during the Covid-19 pandemic. According to Serhan (2020), this flexibility comes from written communication which makes it possible to ask questions without publicly speaking and asking real-time questions without going to instructors' offices during online office hours. Access to online materials and learning at one's own pace were also highly rated by learners in Baczek et al. (2021). However, it is also important to note that factors such as lack of learner confidence in using technology and usability of online platforms may cause frustration in learners, which may prevent online learning from being an alternative for face-to-face learning, as reported in Mohalik and Sahoo's (2020).

When the disadvantages were considered, looking at a screen for a long time, technical problems such as internet connection, insufficient interaction with the course instructor and classmates, inability to participate in the lesson and lack of self-learning discipline, social isolation, and poor learning environment at home were the most commonly reported disadvantages. The quantitative results showed that the most important disadvantage was looking at a screen for a long time. This finding was also emphasized in previous studies. For instance, Laili and Nashir (2021) reported that looking at screen for a long time and thus insufficient use of skills lowered learners' enthusiasm. According to the authors, certain skills such as conversational,

psychomotor and practical need better environments than online meetings can provide. Similarly, Yigitalieyna (2021) found focusing too much on a screen to be a disadvantage of online learning.

Another important disadvantage reported by the participants in the present study was technical problems such as Internet connection, which caused serious learning problems for the students. This was a finding that both the qualitative and quantitative results revealed. This result was also reported in previous studies by Dost et al. (2020), Laksana (2021), and Mohalik and Sahoo (2020) where only 25 % of learners had good Internet access. According to the participants in the present study, the technical problems occurred due to the insufficient infrastructure in Turkey and lack of affordable access to the Internet, which prevented the students from accessing the courses for extensive periods. The other disadvantages were insufficient interaction with the course instructor and classmates. The participants stated that not being able to ask the instructor questions in person made it difficult for the students to understand the lessons. Additionally, lack of interaction with classmates prevented socialization. Similar results were obtained in Dunford and Miller (2018), Sellnow-Richmond et al. (2021) and Blaine (2019) who reported a relationship between high interaction, which gives them the opportunity to interact with their peers as well as instructors.

Lack of interaction with both peers and instructors is a major problem as reported by researchers in previous studies (Blaine, 2009; Dunford & Miller, 2018; Laksana, 2021; Sellnow-Richmond et al., 2020; Serhan, 2020). Since the Covid-19 pandemic, learners in their daily lives have been interacting with others much less than before so it seems quite normal that interaction and poor learning environment at home as well as social isolation are all related to one other and affect learners' perceptions of online learning. Interaction in online courses is found to be a major influencer on success and motivation. It may also be the origin of many problems when it is not supported through proper interfaces and support mechanisms. Blaine (2019) showed that teachers and learners had opposite perceptions of interaction. Sellnow-Richmond et al. (2020) tied low interaction to decreased class time and time in completing assignments. While learners need all types of interaction with any programs they use and with their teachers and peers, the design of the lesson, the activities, the method of presentation, the degree of difficulty and learning styles of learners affect interaction in terms of asking questions and carrying on an activity. According to Serhan (2020), interaction is one the main differences between online and face-to-face lessons, where in online learning, learners are mostly not in synch with one other whereas in face-to-face learning it is easier to understand if a learner is having difficulty. Here, the instructor's responsibility is to draw the learners' attention and overcome the distractors and barriers to online learning, however, as mentioned before, if the learning platform is userfriendly, this eliminates some of the problems. Nevertheless, the instructor still has to develop special interaction modes such as discussions and examples about the learning material that relates to the realworld. This was also mentioned in Dunford and Miller (2018) who attributed lack of interaction to less effective teaching practices. Furthermore, Sellnow-Richmond et al. (2020) added that interaction may increase if learners know one other more via collaborative activities or other means and if they receive more guidance from their teacher.

Contrary to these results, Laili and Nashir's (2021) research revealed that online learning made interaction simpler and easier using Whatsapp and other social media for discussion. In the study, most of the learners felt more courageous to discuss their arguments and opinions than in face-to-face learning. However, they suggested that a good online teaching strategy was needed to avoid communication problems. Moreover, learners stated that direct explanation as in class, could make it easier to understand course materials and instructions. Adding to this research, the learners in Laksana's (2021) study rated the quality of academic interactions as high as 70%.

When we apply the Integrated Model of Distance Education, as mentioned in section 1.1, to our research, we can speculate that the usage of a blog, peer review and discussion board could further increase social presence and interaction between learners but for this to happen, also the content should be motivating with

the use of media and feedback. In Ellis and Bliuc's (2019) research, student perceptions were found to be strongly related to student achievement. While our research did not look at learner achievement, social isolation and low interaction show problems of integration of online learning with context, thus falling behind traditional education. This can also explain why learners perceived that they gained less knowledge, skills and social competencies as opposed to face-to-face learning. However, this requires more research to understand whether they were overwhelmed by workload or they perceived task completion negatively or tasks were not compatible with online learning environment in the way they should be. The inefficiency of teaching practices in emergent online education from the results obviously shows the absence of a pedagogical model lacking the necessary interaction between peers and a common learning culture. Everyone learned and practiced without the advantage of collective learning, learning from others and reflecting on their own practices. Therefore, learners could not set and see good examples of each other or share a vision beyond the limits of their online course. To support these kinds of activites, in an e-learning framework, the teacher always must be ready to offer more and challenging content to learners when needed.

The second research question explored the effects of both learning types on the students' educational knowledge, skills, and social competencies. The results showed that face-to-face learning was more effective than online learning in terms of increase of knowledge, skills, and social competencies. Since learners had problems with interaction with both their peers and instructors, it is understandable that social competencies did not increase with online education. Low interaction resulted in a decrease in communication levels and increase in social isolation. This finding is supported by Alawamleh et. al (2020) who found that online learning had a negative impact on communication. Likewise, Muilenburg and Berge (2005) found social interaction to be the strongest influencer on learning enjoyment. They also stated that learners' decision to take more online courses and the number of online courses taken were related to social interaction in online courses. Zhang et. al. (2020) emphasized lack of discipline as a barrier to increase in knowledge and competencies due to the fact that materials were not prepared systematically but suddenly in line with emergent transformation in learning.

The third question was related to the possible solutions to the problems that arise during online education. This question was explored in the qualitative part of the study. According to the participants, duration of the exams and lessons needed improvement. This result is in line with previous studies that found time to be a major barrier to learning in online education (Richmond et al., 2021; Richter & Schuessler, 2019). The students were of the opinion that the duration of the exams should be longer due to the Internet connection problems and the lessons should be shorter because of the students' short attention span.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

The purpose of the present study was to examine college students' opinions regarding the advantages and disadvantages of online learning, the effects of online and face-to-face education on the students' educational knowledge, skills, and social competencies and determine solutions for the problems that arise in online education. Regarding the first research question which explored the advantages and disadvantages of online learning, both the quantitative and qualitative analyses showed that the most important advantage of online learning was the accessibility of the online lessons after their regular scheduled time. Looking at a screen for a long time, technical problems such as Internet connection, insufficient interaction with the course instructor and classmates were reported as the major disadvantages by the learners. As for the second research question, which was about the influence of both learning types on the students' educational knowledge, skills, and social competencies, the learners reported that face-to-face learning increased their knowledge, skills, and social competencies more than online learning. Finally, the third research question was related to the solutions to the problems that occurred in online education. To solve the problems, the

learners especially emphasized the importance of prolonging the duration of the exams but shortening the duration of the lessons due to Internet connection problems.

In light of the lessons learned from emergent online education, the researchers suggest the following for what could have worked in this phase:

- If the delivery method is synchronous, we can not expect to deliver as much content as we deliver in-class so content should be less in online lessons. Most of the online content should be delivered asynchronously as long lessons prevents learning.
- To create social learning medium, instructors should use more discussion, collaborative work and possible means of peer assessment.
- Some online lessons should be dedicated to consolidation to understand the progress of learners and listen to their problems.
- Learners should receive feedback from their peers and teacher on a regular basis about their projects and works.
- The instructor should make use of media and certain useful social learning platforms in lessons for group and individual work.
- There should be detailed instructions and assessment scales throughout the course.
- Leaners should have more control over what they learn so the use of self-regulated learning and metacognitive strategies should be implemented by the instructor.

The study is not without limitations. Students were selected from one area of study only. Further studies can also include students majoring in other areas such as engineering or medicine. Future studies can also include different age groups such as secondary and high school students. Finally, the students in the present study came from a relatively low socioeconomic background. A further study can explore the perceptions of students from higher socioeconomic status and compare the two groups of students in terms of e.g. access to the Internet.

References

- Alawamleh, M., Al-Twait, L. M., & Al-Saht, G. R. (2020). The effect of online learning on communication between instructors and students during Covid-19 pandemic. Asian Education and Development Studies.
- Allo, M. D. G. (2020). Is the online learning good in the midst of Covid-19 Pandemic? The case of EFL learners. *Jurnal Sinestesia*, 10(1), 1-10.
- Aparicio, M., Bacao, F., & Oliveira, T. (2016). An e-learning theoretical framework. Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 19(1), 292-307.
- Arık, S. (2021). Distance education learning environments during COVID-19 pandemic from student perspectives: A study in Turkish higher education. Journal of Pedagogical Research, 5(2), 103-118.
- Aydın, E. (2020). Covid-19 döneminde eba tv üzerinden yapılan Türkçe derslerinin değerlendirilmesi. *Milli Eğitim Dergisi, 49*(1), 877-894.
- Baber, Hasnan, Determinants of Students' Perceived Learning Outcome and Satisfaction in Online Learning during the Pandemic of COVID-19 (August 23, 2020). *Journal of Education and e-Learning Research*, 7(3), 285-292, 2020, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3679489
- Bączek, M., Zagańczyk-Bączek, M., Szpringer, M., Jaroszyński, A., & Wożakowska-Kapłon, B. (2021). Students' perception of online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: A survey study of Polish medical students. *Medicine*, 100(7).
- Blaine, A. M. (2019). Interaction and presence in the virtual classroom: An analysis of the perceptions of students and teachers in online and blended Advanced Placement courses. *Computers & Education*, 132, 31-43.

- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*. 11(4), 589–597. doi:10.1080/2159676x.2019.1628806.
- Chin, S. T. S., & Williams, J. B. (2006). A theoretical framework for effective online course design. MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching, 2(1), 12-21.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Sage publications.
- Dabbagh, N. (2005). Pedagogical models for e-learning: A theory-based design framework. International *Journal of Technology in Teaching and Learning, 1*(1), 25–44.
- Dost, S., Hossain, A., Shehab, M., Abdelwahed, A., & Al-Nusair, L. (2020). Perceptions of medical students towards online teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national cross-sectional survey of 2721 UK medical students. *BMJ open*, *10*(11), e042378.
- Dumford, A. D., & Miller, A. L. (2018). Online learning in higher education: exploring advantages and disadvantages for engagement. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 30(3), 452-465.
- Ellis, R. A., & Bliuc, A. M. (2019). Exploring new elements of the student approaches to learning framework: The role of online learning technologies in student learning. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 20(1), 11-24.
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2000). Critical inquiry in a text-based environment: Computer conferencing in higher education model. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 2(2-3), 87-105
- Gonçalves, S. P., Sousa, M. J., & Pereira, F. S. (2020). Distance learning perceptions from higher education students—the case of Portugal. *Education Sciences*, *10*(12), 374.
- Händel, M., Stephan, M., Gläser-Zikuda, M., Kopp, B., Bedenlier, S., & Ziegler, A. (2020). Digital readiness and its effects on higher education students' socio-emotional perceptions in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 1-13.
- Karadağ, E. & Yücel, C. (2020). Yeni tip Koronavirüs pandemisi döneminde üniversitelerde uzaktan eğitim: Lisans öğrencileri kapsamında bir değerlendirme çalışması. Yükseköğretim Dergisi, 10(2), 181-192.
- Laili, R. N., & Nashir, M. (2021). Higher Education Students' Perception on Online Learning during Covid-19 Pandemic. *Edukatif: Jurnal Ilmu Pendidikan, 3*(3), 689-697.
- Laksana, D. N. L. (2021). Implementation of online learning in the pandemic covid-19: Student perception in areas with minimum internet access. *Journal of Education Technology*, 4(4), 502-509.
- Mackey, A. & Gass, S. M. (2012). *Research methods in second language acquisition: A practical guide*. Oxford: BlackWell.
- Mohalik, R., Sahoo, S. (2020). E-readiness and perception of student teachers' towards online learning in the midst of COVID-19 pandemic. *Social Science Research Network*. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3666914
- Muilenburg, L. Y., & Berge, Z. L. (2005). Student barriers to online learning: A factor analytic study. *Distance education*, 26(1), 29-48.
- Muthuprasad, T., Aiswarya, S., Aditya, K. S., & Jha, G. K. (2021). Students' perception and preference for online education in India during COVID-19 pandemic. *Social Sciences & Humanities Open*, *3*(1), 100101.
- NCES. (2020). National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:20) U.S. Department of Education.Available at https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2021/2021456.pdf
- Ni, A. Y., Van Wart, M., Medina, P., Collins, K., Silvers, E., & Pei, H. (2021). A profile of MPA students' perceptions of online learning: What MPA students value in online education and what they think would improve online learning experiences. *Journal of Public Affairs Education*, 27(1), 50-71.
- Online Learning Consortium (2015). Online Report Card Tracking Online Education in the United States. Available at https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/read/online-report-card-tracking-online-education-united-states-2015/

- Picciano, A. G. (2017). Theories and frameworks for online education: Seeking an integrated model. *Online Learning*, 21(3), 166-190. doi: 10.24059/olj.v21i3.1225
- Richter, S. L., & Schuessler, J. B. (2019). Nursing faculty experiences and perceptions of online teaching: A descriptive summary. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *14*(1), 26-29.
- Sellnow-Richmond, D., Strawser, M. G., & Sellnow, D. D. (2020). Student perceptions of teaching effectiveness and learning achievement: A comparative examination of online and hybrid course delivery format. *Communication Teacher*, 34(3), 248-263.
- Serhan, D. (2020). Transitioning from face-to-face to remote learning: Students' attitudes and perceptions of using Zoom during COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Technology* in Education and Science (IJTES), 4(4), 335-342.
- Shawaqfeh, M. S., Al Bekairy, A. M., Al-Azayzih, A., Alkatheri, A. A., Qandil, A. M., Obaidat, A. A., & Muflih, S. M. (2020). Pharmacy students perceptions of their distance online learning experience during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional survey study. *Journal of Medical Education and Curricular Development*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2382120520963039.
- Sujarwo, S., Sukmawati, S., Akhiruddin, A., Ridwan, R., & Siradjuddin, S. S. S. (2020). An analysis of university students' perspective on online learning in the midst of covid-19 pandemic. *Jurnal Pendidikan Dan Pengajaran*, 53(2), 125-137.
- Tümkaya, S., Kayiran, B. K., Tanhan, A., & Arslan, Ü. (2021). Using Online Photovoice (OPV) to understand youths' perceptions of distance education during COVID-19. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 9(4), 45-60.
- Wang, C., Horby, P. W., Hayden, F. G., & Gao, G. F. (2020). A novel coronavirus outbreak of global health concern. *The Lancet*, 395(10223), 470-473.
- WHO. (2020). Coronavius Dieases (COVID-19) Pandemic.Available at https://www.who.int/emergencies/ bdiseases/novel-coronavirus-2019.
- Wisdom, J. & Creswell, JW. (2013). Mixed methods: integrating quantitative and qualitative data collection and analysis while studying patient-centered medical home models. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. AHRQ Publication No. 13-0028-EF.
- Xhelili, P., Ibrahimi, E., Rruci, E., & Sheme, K. (2021). Adaptation and perception of online learning during COVID-19 pandemic by Albanian university students. *International Journal on Studies in Education*, 3(2), 103-111.
- Yanow, D. & Schwartz-Shea, P. (2006). *Interpretation and method: Empirical Research Methods and the Interpretive Turn*. Armonk, NY: M.E. Sharpe.
- Zhang, W., Wang, Y., Yang, L., & Wang, C. (2020). Suspending classes without stopping learning: China's education emergency management policy in the covd-19 outbreak. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 13(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm13030055.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Examination of a computer-delivered English proficiency test for flight attendants: Test-takers' experiences

Sezen Arslan ^a * 问

^a Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Arslan, S. (2021). Examination of a computer-delivered English proficiency test for flight attendants: Test-takers' experiences. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 673-687.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords:	International Civil Aviation Organization recognizes English proficiency tests for the aviation personnel. Despite this, no universal test has yet to be developed for this
Language testing	purpose. There are only local tests available on the market. Among them is a computer-
Civil aviation	delivered English proficiency test which is administered for a globally recognized flight
Computer-delivered tests	company in Turkey. This test is implemented for flight attendants and has important consequences such as suspending flights until the required level of English is achieved in the test. Thus, test takers' percentions of the test are significant as they experience
	these impacts first-hand. This study, therefore, explored flight attendants' test-taking experiences. 26 flight attendants participated in this study. Semi-structured interviews and two focus group sessions were held to collect data and evidence. The findings
	showed that the respondents had concerns for test administration including the issues such as physical conditions of the setting, timing of the test, and test format. Although they acread that the test had a correspondential acrementation acrementation of the language they thought it
Research Article	they agreed that the test had a representative sampling of the ranguage, they thought it lacked relevant components in accordance with their needs and level. They also reported the test content did not reflect work-related context. The study, therefore, provided implications and suggestions to improve the test considering the aviation context.

1. Introduction

As highlighted in International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO, 2009), English proficiency, especially the interaction skills of the aviation personnel are of great significance. This emphasis is understood from ICAO's regulations of English proficiency tests. Accordingly, speaking and listening skills should be involved in the tests rather than measuring grammar or vocabulary knowledge (ICAO, 2009). Thus, improvement of these skills is important for aviation personnel, particularly for flight attendants, since they are the first encounters for the passengers in the cabin. They are required to enable safety and security and communicate well with the passengers by listening to them actively, speaking clearly, and suggesting solutions to in-flight problems. Given that the passengers are often international, they should do these responsibilities while interacting in English. This highlights the need for them to have improved listening and speaking skills.

To explore whether/to what extent the flight attendants have this language performance required for the aviation settings, language testing is paramount. Thus, ICAO (2009) states that it recognizes English proficiency tests for the evaluation of language skills. It also maintains that these tests have high stakes as

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1003051

Received 30 Sep 2021; Revised 25 Dec 2021; Accepted 27 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author: Department of English Language Teaching, Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Turkey e-mail address: <u>sezenarslan@gmail.com</u>

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

they have important consequences in terms of the safety and future of the industry. For this reason, the tests should adhere to the highest testing standards (Alderson, 2010). However, as emphasized by ICAO (2009), no standard universal test has yet to be developed; instead, regional or local testing procedures have been implemented for measuring English proficiency. As a result, it is of utmost importance to examine the quality of the language tests that are administered currently (Farris, 2016). Among them is a computer-delivered English proficiency test for flight attendants, which is implemented by a Turkish flight company with a globally eminent status. However, no studies have investigated this test in Turkey. This study fills this research gap by exploring the flight attendants' self-reported test-taking experiences concerning the test. In so doing, implications are provided throughout the study focusing on the validity, reliability, and authenticity of the test.

2. Literature

2.1. General Issues for Language Testing

Certain aspects are related to the quality of language tests. Among them are validity, reliability, and authenticity (Bachman & Palmer, 1996). According to Hughes (2003), a test is valid if it reflects a good sampling of the language skills, forms, or other aspects that it means to measure. Otherwise, the decisions based on the test results will not be accurate (Green, 2014). The other important aspect that highly impacts the quality of language tests is reliability. Bachman and Palmer (1996) explain reliability as the consistency of test results and maintain that potential factors that cause inconsistency should be minimized. Among those factors are physical conditions of the testing place, time of the testing, test-takers' background knowledge of the test content (Bachman & Palmer, 1996), test-takers' feeling fatigued, and poorly written test items (Neukrug & Fawcett, 2015). These factors may cause differences in the test performance across test-takers, thereby generating test bias (Bachman, 1990).

Another concern for language testing is the authenticity that is related to the "relationship between test task characteristics, and the characteristics of tasks in the real world" (Fulcher & Davidson, 2007, p.15). These tasks are specifically developed to mirror authentic activities that the test-takers might be required to come across in real life (Shohamy, Or, & May, 2017). For example, filling a form, writing a report, and simulations are deemed authentic test tasks. Bachman and Palmer (1996) relate this concept to the Target Language Use (TLU), thereby incorporating test-tasks that address a particular purpose and specific language use domain. For example, within the context of this study, several TLU tasks can be identified for flight attendants such as making announcements, writing briefings, telling emergency procedures, and offering meals. These tasks have a language-specific domain and work-related characteristics.

2.2 Issues for Language Testing in Aviation Context

Thanks to globalization, English has become the lingua franca of the world. Thus, it has become the intermediary language that enables communication among individuals from diverse language backgrounds. This eminent status of English coupled with the growth in the aviation industry and competition in the market to ensure safety and provide better service has made communication in English significant for aircraft personnel (Aiguo, 2007). Especially the flight attendants are required to use the language efficiently because they have various responsibilities in the aircraft: Taking care of handicapped and/or sick passengers, dealing with unexpected problems because of delays, in-flight meals, and other passenger complaints (Cornwall & Srilapung, 2013). In so doing, they are expected to communicate in English while providing service of high-quality for international passengers. This is of great concern for flight companies to have a leading role in the airline industry in such a competitive context.

Flight attendants should have a 'sufficient' English language proficiency to maintain a good interaction in the aircraft to offer the best service to the passengers. Therefore, there is a need for a language test to provide proof of their English proficiency. In response to this issue, ICAO introduces international language proficiency requirements and accordingly requires test-takers to demonstrate language skills in speaking and listening (ICAO, 2009). Although it is deemed a valuable endeavour for aviation language testing, there are some issues to be considered such as the quality of the tests (Farris, 2016) because there is no universal system of language testing in the aviation industry but there are many local language testing certification programs. Therefore, a question mark hovers over the validity and reliability of these tests implemented in different places in the world. For this reason, in this study, particular emphasis is given on providing implications for test developers to improve the validity, reliability, and authenticity of the English proficiency tests implemented for flight attendants.

3. Context of the Study: A Computer-Delivered English Proficiency Test for Flight Attendants in Turkey

ICAO only recognizes proficiency tests for measuring English language skills of the personnel in the aviation community and these tests aim to assess the test-takers' performance on listening and speaking abilities (ICAO, 2009). In response to this issue, one of the eminent Turkish flight companies developed an English proficiency test for flight attendants.

Flight attendants are classified into their ranks and responsibilities: The chief flight attendants (CFAs) are in the leader position in the cabin and are responsible for managing the cabin crew to enable safety and delivery of good service to the passengers (Dibakanaka & Hiranburana, 2012). Similarly, cabin attendants (CAs) are required to perform safety and security procedures and assist passengers. CFAs and CAs in a Turkish flight company are required to take a computer-delivered English proficiency text periodically to offer evidence of their English proficiency. The venue for this test is the test centre affiliated with the Turkish flight company in Istanbul, Turkey. A group of CFAs and CAs are accepted in this test centre and they are placed in test sessions where they take the test using a computer. Items in the test are randomized so that each test-taker is given a different set of test items. The perfect score for the test is 100 points. If the test-takers get 50 points and below, the company implements several sanctions such as suspending one's flights. When the test-takers get scores between 90-100 points, they are required to take the test after three years; however, for the points between 70-89, the test-takers are asked to sit for the exam after two years (Çelebi, n.d).

This test consists of a total of 11 questions in four sections and takes 25 minutes. The test-taker is allowed 15 seconds for thinking time and 75 seconds for giving a response to each question. The test mainly measures listening and speaking and it includes the following sections (Birebirİngilizce, 2018; Çelebi, 2018):

(1) General section: There are five questions in this section. For each question, the test-takers are given 75 seconds to respond to the computer prompts. The questions are open-ended and they focus on general issues from real-life (e.g., *Which one is important for you- professional career or family life?*, *What are the advantages and disadvantages of studying abroad?*). The intended aim is to evaluate whether/to what extent the test-takers understand the prompts and respond to them orally by paying attention to pronunciation and appropriate vocabulary.

(2) Picture description: Two pictures are shown to the test-takers on the computer screen and they are asked to describe each picture in 75 seconds. Test-takers are asked to provide as many details as possible about the pictures. The pictures can be related to any context such as animals, people, and holidays. For instance, test-takers can be shown a picture where the people are celebrating an event and they are asked to list some details such as telling what they are doing, how they are feeling, and what kind of clothes they are wearing. In so doing, the intended aim is to evaluate the test-takers' speaking skills through considering pronunciation, fluency, grammar and task completion.

(3) Scenarios: The test-takers are provided with two scenarios where they are asked what they would do in the described situations. The test-takers are required to respond to each computer prompt in 75 seconds. Such a sample scenario can be given: "You ordered food through a digital platform and when it was delivered, you realized that it went bad. What would you do?" The intended aim of such items is to evaluate whether/to what extend the test-takers understand the prompts and respond to them. In so doing, the test-takers should provide a reasonable oral answer by paying attention to pronunciation and correct forms.

(4) Re-telling: Two reading passages are reflected on the computer screen. These passages have 90-120 words and they are about news or current affairs. The test-takers are asked to read the passages and re-tell them with their own words in 75 seconds.

Overall, the intended aim of the test is to evaluate whether/to what extent the test-takers recognize and understand the prompts by reading and listening and respond to them through demonstrating the speaking skills. Accordingly, the test-takers are evaluated on pronunciation, vocabulary, comprehension, fluency, structure, and interaction (Çelebi, 2018).

Considering that this test has serious professional consequences for flight attendants, this present study aims to investigate their test-taking experiences as they experience these impacts first-hand. In doing this, general principles for language testing (validity, reliability, and authenticity) are focused. This study is therefore deemed significant in that it also explores how this test can be improved in terms of these principles.

4. Methodology

4.1. Participants

A total of 26 (8 males, 18 females; age range: 23-45) flight attendants who work at a Turkish flight company were recruited for the study. Convenience and snowball sampling techniques were used respectively in the selection of the participants. First, the researcher found some members of the population from her network based on their availability; then, the snowball sampling technique was adopted by reaching out to further participants. Snowball sampling was assumed to be appropriate to this study as it facilitated obtaining rich information from different participants (Patton, 2014); thereby, overcoming problems concerning data collection from hard-to-reach populations (Etikan, Alkassim, & Abubakar, 2016; Sadler, Lee, Lim, & Fullerton, 2010).

The participants included CFAs (n=9) and CAs (n=17). They have a graduate degree in a wide range of fields including Civil Aviation, English Language Teaching, American Language and Culture, Chemistry, Accounting, Business, and Administration. Written consent was received from all participants for participating in this study.

4.2. Data Collection Tools

4.2.1. Semi-structured interviews

Semi-structured interviews were held with the participants to develop a deeper insight into the respondents' test-taking experiences (McGrath, Palmgren, & Liljedahl, 2019). The piloting of the interviews (n=10) resulted in minor changes in wording (See Appendix A). Interviews were conducted in the participants' native language (Turkish) for promoting a comfortable expression of their perceptions.

4.2.2 Focus groups

Apart from semi-structured interviews, two focus group interviews were also conducted. The main purpose in using focus group sessions was that they encouraged group interaction and provided opportunities of exploring why and how the respondents thought (Kitzinger, 1995). Focus group sessions were held in two groups: The first group interviews were conducted with CFAs (n=5) while the second group interviews were conducted with CAs (n=12). Administering focus group interviews with two separate groups was because both groups were different in terms of years of experience and number of sitting for the language tests in the company; as a result, they might have different perspectives, thereby enabling discussion of various aspects of the test. Focus group interview sessions were held in Turkish after semi-structured interview analyses were done. They were moderated, recorded, and transcribed by two researchers (including the author).

4.3. Data Analysis

Thematic analysis was employed for investigating the qualitative data in this study. All interviews were transcribed verbatim and translated. The translated data were then checked by an independent researcher who is bilingual in Turkish and English to ensure a correct translation. The data analysis was made in two rounds. In the first round, semi-structured interviews were analyzed. Two researchers including the author worked on the analysis. In the first cycle, each researcher made an initial analysis of the data to generate data segments. Then, these segments were read and each researcher wrote analytic memos when they coded the data (Saldana, 2013). In the second cycle, these codes and memos were grouped and classified into certain themes. The researchers gathered to check the agreement/disagreement with this categorization of the codes into themes. In case of any disagreement on a code/theme, this disagreement was discussed till a final code/theme was produced. As a result, Cohen's kappa showed a substantial rate of agreement between coders (k= .802) (Landis & Koch, 1977). The final themes were used to investigate the data from the focus group sessions. Table 1 illustrates themes and subthemes with examples from flight attendants' words.

Table 1.

Themes, Subthemes with Illustrative Examples

Theme	Subtheme	Examples
Administration of the test	Testing conditions	Not enough silence; broken equipment
	Testing format	Human interviewer needed instead of computer prompts
	Timing of the test	Too early or late
Test content	Authenticity	The real use of English needed
	Range of structures and vocabulary	Wide range of structures and vocabulary covered
	The difficulty of test tasks	More visuals; questions with related background

5. Results

This section points out the key findings derived from the qualitative data in interviews and focus group sessions. Illustrative quotations from the flight attendants are also presented.

5.1. Administration of the Test

The qualitative data obtained from the interviews and focus group sessions were investigated to find out how the flight attendants felt about the administration of the computer-delivered English proficiency test. Accordingly, subthemes based on the data were: *a) Testing conditions*, *b) Testing format*, and *c) Timing of the test.* Results on each subtheme are presented below and pseudonyms are used throughout this study for confidentiality.

5.1.1. Testing conditions

All respondents (n=26) in this study reported that they had some issues related to the test administration. Among them, testing conditions were the most referenced aspect. The participants mentioned that there was not enough silence in the testing setting as each test-taker was required to answer the questions that were directed by the computer within the given time. They often indicated that there was a lot of noise when everyone spoke at the same time and that this was aggravated due to the headphones that were not noise-cancelling enough. They maintained that their performance was sometimes affected negatively as they were distracted by this noise and had difficulties in concentrating on the test tasks, as illustrated in the following excerpt:

"We are required to respond to computer prompts in a very short time. So, I try my best to collect my thoughts and pick the right words to utter. When I hear the test-taker speaking next to me, I really cannot focus on the questions and get anxious. Then, when the test ends, I realize that I could speak more about the tasks and feel sad for not showing my true performance." (Melis, CA)

For this reason, they noted that the headphones should have more effective noise cancellation, thus, the test-taker would not be disturbed by another test-taker sitting next to him/her while s/he was responding to the computer prompts. Additionally, they commented that as the test measured speaking skills and each test-taker was required to speak, external noise in the setting was understandable but it should be avoidable as much as possible. Therefore, they suggested that a small number of test-takers could be allowed to sit for the test in the same room and that they can be seated far apart from each other.

Apart from noise problems in the test setting, two participants also indicated in the focus group sessions that there could sometimes be broken equipment, which sometimes caused failure in the test. For example, one of the CFAs talked about her experience with broken equipment during the test. She said:

"At the beginning of the test, the computer system asks for testing the microphone whether it works properly or not. Although I tested the microphone and it worked properly, it was suddenly broken down towards the end of the test. Thus, I could not answer the questions and I failed the test." (Zeynep)

Along similar lines, another CFA also commented:

"Because of the sudden failure of the microphone, while I was once in the test, I could not show my true oral performance and got a lower score." (Ali)

As a result, testing conditions were reported to have a significant impact on the respondents' test performance. Among them, external noise and broken equipment were the most referenced factors.

5.1.2. Testing format

Many flight attendants (n=21) reported that they would prefer a human interviewer rather than a computer in the English proficiency test. In the focus group sessions, some respondents mentioned their reasons for disapproval of undertaking computer-delivered testing, as illustrated in the following excerpts:

"Responding to computer prompts is something very mechanic and dull. You just sit before a computer; it reads the questions for you and you are required to answer the question. Although the test measures speaking, it is not interactive in itself. Therefore, a human interviewer would enable more interactive assessment." (Kemal, CFA)

"I would prefer a face-to-face assessment because if I didn't provide enough answers to the questions, the human interviewer would change the topic or ask further questions. This would be a more realistic speaking assessment." (Orhan, CA)

"This computer test stresses me a lot. I always feel worried if things suddenly get out of control such as being disconnected from the system, equipment breakdown, etc. So, I think my speaking skills can be assessed by a human rater." (Dilara, CFA) "The computer reads the question before I am expected to answer them. Then, a timer appears on the screen and the count-down starts. It is too mechanical and pressurizing. When I respond to the prompts, I always look at the timer. I get anxious. For this reason, a human interviewer would be more suitable as *s/he* won't be that pressurizing." (Deniz, CA)

"I become worried about any technical faults that can happen during the test. This fear distracts me a lot when I answer the questions in the test. If the test was administered by a human, I would be more relieved." (Nida, CA)

While a majority of the flight attendants (n=21) thought that they felt uncomfortable due to the computerdelivered tests, only a few respondents (n=5) indicated that they enjoyed responding to computer prompts during the test. They said they would not prefer human interviewers as they believed they would be pressurized. For instance, Gizem (CA) said:

"I would not like to be interviewed by a human. Speaking English gets more difficult when someone is looking at me, waiting for me to answer. This stresses me out. As a result, I cannot speak comfortably, which may have a negative impact on my oral skills. Now, I just take this test and it is more practical."

Echoing Gizem, Dogan (CFA) also says: "I prefer computer-delivered tests as they are more practical and time-saving. It is also more convenient to read the questions on the computer screen and respond accordingly".

The findings with illustrative prompts above mainly showed that most of the respondents preferred a human-to-human interaction during the test. They believed that a human interviewer would be more motivating in responding to the questions and make the testing procedures more authentic and interactive. Also, they noted that they feared potential technical problems that can happen during the test. Only some respondents indicated that they preferred computer-delivered tests as they believed these tests are more convenient and practical.

5.1.3. Timing of the test

Ten flight attendants in the interviews noted that the tests were sometimes administered at the very early or late time of the day. They thought that the timing of the test had a negative influence on their performance. For example, Can (CA) says:

"We have a busy flying schedule, so we often need rest to refresh our minds and body. However, this test is sometimes administered at very early or late times of the day. This causes fatigue for me and leads my scores to decrease because I cannot concentrate easily."

Similar to what Can expressed, Sibel (CA) also said:

"After long hours of flight, if the test is run very early next day, this stresses me more. I am afraid that I won't be able to get enough rest and answer the questions at those times. When I am extremely fatigued, I can't give my full attention to the test."

Interestingly, when this issue was brought into the agenda in focus-group interviews, most of the respondents (n=13) agreed that the time of the test was not an issue that directly impacted their test performance. For instance, Dilek (CA) expressed her opinion:

"I think the timing of the test is not a problem for me because the test duration is short. Therefore, I can take such a short test regardless of its timing."

In addition, Cemal (CFA) indicated a different viewpoint where he said: "We are flight attendants. We are used to waking up early at night and late at noon as a requirement of our profession. Thus, it is not a big deal for me to take this test in the early or late time of the day."

To conclude, among the flight attendants, there were two opposite viewpoints towards the timing of the test. Some of them reported that the early and late sitting of the tests had an impact on their test performance as they had already busy flight schedules and became increasingly fatigued. Therefore, they believed that preparing a test plan considering the flight schedules should be made to minimize fatigue. With a similar view, one of the CAs, introduced a solution concerning this issue during focus groups: "*If it is possible, we can take a day off before the testing day so that we can have rest.*" (Mustafa). On the other hand, several respondents considered test timing suitable. As such, they reported that they were already used to a hectic life as a part of the profession and that the test did not take too much time to complete. Thus, they thought that they could sit for the test at any time.

5.3. Test Content

Concerning the test content, the flight attendants indicated some issues that can be grouped under the following subthemes: 1) authenticity, 2) range of structures and vocabulary, and 3) difficulty of test tasks.

5.3.1. Authenticity

The majority (n=22) reported that the test content did not reflect the real language use they mostly needed or experienced during the flight. During the focus-group sessions, some respondents commented that authenticity must be prioritized in the test, as illustrated in the following excerpts:

"Sometimes, English in the test does not reflect the real situations that we met during flight. For example, in the test, we can be asked whether/when someone tells lies as a general question, but this is not something directly related to our sector. Instead of it, there can be questions that are closely linked to the aircraft such as problems faced with the passengers." (Dilek, CA)

"As we are an international company, we carry many international passengers from every part of the world such as India, France, Germany, Africa...They all speak English with different accents. I sometimes find it difficult to understand their English. Therefore, some questions can include different accents, so we can develop a familiarity with them and we prepare for the test accordingly." (Ayhan, CFA)

"We often experience issues with passengers such as delayed flights and meal service. Therefore, the test questions could include more of these cases. This will help us be prepared for these cases and when they occur, we can pick the most appropriate English words and expressions. In case of such cases during flights, we should address the problem as quickly as possible. So, there should not be any language problem." (Ezgi, CA)

On the other hand, a couple of respondents (n=4) thought that the test content reflected an authentic use of language. One of them said:

"There are several items concerning the language use that we may face during the flight. Some items in the Scenario part of the test ask the test-taker what to do in a problematic situation in the cabin. These items are directly related to our profession." (Nilüfer, CA)

As a result, the majority of the respondents thought that the test tasks should reflect more potential problems they may face in the aircraft. They believed that these tasks could help them develop a familiarity with the appropriate words, structures, and expressions that can be used during those problems.

5.3.2. Range of structures/vocabulary

Range of structures and vocabulary was another most referenced subtheme that was reported as contributing to test validity. Accordingly, all of the respondents agreed that the range of English including grammar and vocabulary is quite comprehensive. One of the cabin supervisors during focus group sessions indicated that although he had taken this test several times, he felt he must study very hard before each test. He said:

"In different parts of the test, there are questions with many structures and many groups of vocabulary like nouns, adjectives, adverbs. If you want to achieve in this test, you should master them. It measures speaking skills by including a wide range of language components (Sadi, CFA).

Similarly, Beril (CA) echoed:

"Even though this test measures oral skills, it touches on different parts of the English language as well. For example, there is a variety of grammatical structures from simple present to if-clauses. This is the same for vocabulary. You can find words regarding many topics. Therefore, you should know a good range of vocabulary to respond to the prompts in the test."

Overall, the respondents felt that the test covered a large number of vocabulary and grammar items of English. Therefore, they believed that this was a positive side of the test as they reported that they needed to demonstrate a speaking performance by talking about a variety of topics with the passengers during the flight.

5.3.3. The difficulty of test tasks

The difficulty of the test tasks is another most cited subtheme in this present study. Responses are characterized by different aspects concerning the test task difficulty. Among them is the use of advanced vocabulary in the test (n=10). One of the respondents explained:

"Especially the paragraphs can sometimes be difficult to understand because of advanced vocabulary. I don't think that preparing for high-level vocabulary contributes to my language level as I will not likely use them in my professional life." (Selma, CFA).

Echoing this comment, another respondent mentioned: "*The vocabulary in the test items should be functional. If it is advanced and higher than my proficiency level, the test becomes intricate for me. Thus, it gets difficult for me to understand the items and provide a response.*" (Sertap, CA)

In addition, several other respondents (n=11) agreed that some pictures in the picture-description section were not open for interpretation, which they thought might hinder talking further about the pictures. These thoughts were also captured in the focus group sessions, as illustrated in the following excerpts:

"For example, think that there is a picture in the test. In the picture, there is a teacher with students in a room. You should look at the picture and talk about it, but I think there are not many details to talk about it except saying 'I can see a teacher and students. They are in a room'. But I am expected to talk much longer than this in the test. This makes me nervous." (Ahu, CA)

"The pictures should have been more open to interpretations. Some art pictures can be used to promote imagination, for example. There is always much to talk about them." (Ada, CA)

Another aspect is linked to the use of field-specific words in the test content. Some respondents (n=6) explained that there were rarely technical words concerning other fields of study. For example, Cansu (CA) commented:

"In the test where I was once attended, there was a paragraph about diseases. I found it too difficult to comprehend the passage because I am not familiar with the medicine and field-specific words."

Overall, although the respondents indicated that the inclusion of a wide variety of vocabulary and structures in the test was beneficial for their oral skills because they had to study for a comprehensive list of them, they thought that the words used in the test should not be too advanced. In this aspect, the respondents considered the difficulty of test tasks in terms of the frequency and usefulness of the language based on their professional needs. They also suggested that more incentive pictures should be used to encourage them to speak further in English. This study investigated flight attendants' experiences of the computer-delivered English proficiency tests that they had to take periodically to provide evidence for their language proficiency. In doing this, the qualitative data obtained from interviews and focus group sessions were used. Accordingly, the main themes that emerged are 1) *Test administration (testing conditions, test format, and timing of the test)*, and 2) *Test content (authenticity, range of structures/vocabulary, and difficulty of test tasks)*.

6.1. Administration of the Test

The findings in the present study showed that all respondents had some concerns about the administration of the test. Firstly, they noted that the testing setting had inappropriate conditions such as noise problems and broken testing equipment. They described instances where there was so much external noise that they hardly concentrated on the computer prompts and there were inconclusive tests due to the sudden breakdown of the microphone or headphones. As a result, they reported that these conditions had a negative impact on their test performance. This finding resonates with some studies that show noise is an influential distractor for test-takers (Kim, Baydar, & Greek, 2003; Mullis, Bohrnstedt, Preuschoff, Reyes, Stancavage, & Martin, 2012; Shu'Aibu, 2021). Therefore, it is suggested that distracting sounds should be removed from the testing environment to ensure more reliable testing and assessment (Hughes, 2003). Equipment breakdown during the test is also a problem that impacts the test-takers' performance. According to Green (2014), it is one of the widespread problems occurring in testing practices. He considers this situation 'very paradoxical' because the test itself is not examined carefully while it aims to examine the test-takers' performance. Therefore, the testing equipment must be checked before the test is administered and necessary precautions must be taken. In case of any technical problem during the test, the invigilators must address the problem appropriately. Therefore, invigilators should also receive training for test administration and related problems.

Concerning test format, the majority of the flight attendants indicated their preference for human-to-human interaction instead of a computer-assisted language test. They believed that a human interviewer would make the test more interactive. This finding could be explained by the impact of personality traits on humancomputer interaction (Pocius, 1991). Accordingly, introverted people can perform better in computerrelated settings than extroverts as they do not need real people to interact with. Other respondents also mentioned that they feared technical faults that can happen during the test and they were distracted by this thought. This finding is in line with Schult and McIntosh's (2004) study which pointed out that the testtakers who were used to taking tests in traditional settings reported more anxiety about the thought of taking computer-assisted tests. Similarly, Taylor, Jamieson, Eignor, and Kirsch (1998) compared two groups of test-takers' English scores in a computer-assisted language test. The results showed that the group with more familiarity with computers had high test scores than the group with less familiarity. These similar findings could be explained by unfamiliarity with online testing or extra responsibilities undertaken during the test such as connecting to the system, running it properly, and taking the test online (Stowell & Bennett, 2010). Such findings highlight a need to develop the digital competence of the test-takers. Therefore, technological courses can be developed and provided for flight attendants for their in-service training. Also, they can be provided opportunities where they can periodically attend computer-delivered tests during their in-service training programs to develop a familiarity with this format.

Another remarkable finding concerning the test administration is the timing of the test. Whereas some respondents indicated that the timing of the test was not a big deal for them as they were already used to irregular work schedules as part of their profession, some of them mentioned that very early and late sitting of the tests was not appropriate for them as they felt they did not rest enough after long hours of flight

Arslan, S.

To sum up, testing conditions including external noise, broken equipment, and timing of the test can impact the test reliability. As these conditions change from settings to settings, -that is not identical for every test-taker, there could be inconsistency in the test results. For example, in case of equipment breakdown, the test-taker's score is likely to be negatively impacted. Therefore, uniform conditions should be enabled by minimizing the differences between the sets of test administration (Hughes, 2003).

6.2. Test Content

Another main theme derived from the focus group sessions and interviews based on the flight attendants' experiences concerning the test was test content. It mainly includes aspects related to the authenticity of the test, the range of structures/vocabulary covered in the test, and the difficulty of test tasks. The findings revealed that most of the respondents thought the test tasks should reflect English that they can encounter in their professional contexts. This shows the significance of authentic tasks in testing languages (Hughes, 2003; Wigglesworth & Frost, 2017). Accordingly, the test tasks should represent authentic use of language that the test-takers may face in the professional life beyond the test. This finding points toward a need for TLU tasks (Bachman & Palmer, 1996) and the tasks that promote 'genuine interaction' (Lewkowicz, 2000). ICAO (2009) names these tasks as 'work-related' tasks and accordingly problem-solving activities, simulations, and briefings can be generated as tasks to test English proficiency for flight attendants.

English has become the intermediary language for people regardless of their language background (Erarslan, 2021). This points out the need to promote English as a lingua franca thanks to rapid globalization (Galloway & Numajiri, 2020). One of the respondents in this study highlighted this need as she agreed that it would be better to reflect other accents of English in the test as it can promote their awareness towards different accents. Given that the passengers have various accents of English, it is of crucial importance to consider English used in the aviation context as a lingua franca and to include the communication strategies for effective interaction with speakers from different language backgrounds (Kim & Elder, 2009). Therefore, an important implication for the test developers is that rather than focusing only on measuring English proficiency, communication strategy tasks should be integrated to evaluate whether/to what extent the test-taker deals with the problems in a work-related context. This could help prepare flight attendants for using English effectively in work-related problems.

Findings in this study also show that all of the respondents agreed that the test covers a wide variety of vocabulary and structures. The significance of wide sampling of English in terms of test validity is discussed (Green, 2014; Hughes, 2003). Accordingly, the test should represent the language as much as possible. Therefore, the test on which this study reports can be said to have content validation as it includes a proper sampling of the language. In so doing, the findings showed that it includes various functions of the language. If certain structures/words are only allowed in a test, the test may not be valid enough, thereby requiring very little test-taker preparation. This will end up with a negative backwash effect, which refers to the negative outcome of the test on how test-takers learn (Shohamy, Donitsa-Schmidt, & Ferman, 1996). For example, if the test recognizes a limited sampling of language components, the test-takers are likely to ignore the language components that are not covered in the test. Thus, it may have a negative impact on language learning.

Another remarkable finding of this study is that the majority of the respondents said some test tasks, especially, retelling tasks, were difficult for them. They thought that some passages were incomprehensible because of advanced words. This finding is not surprising as the respondents reported that there was a wide variety of vocabulary/structures in the test. Therefore, it is understandable that the level of vocabulary or structures might sometimes be more advanced than some test-takers' actual English proficiency. Therefore, this finding may imply the importance of the usefulness of test content according to test-takers' needs and experiences (Cobb & Laufer, 2021). According to Hughes (2003), a representative sampling of the language

is significant but the test should include the relevant components in accordance with the testing purposes. Therefore, he maintains that it cannot be expected for a test to include the same sampling for intermediate and advanced English learners. In this case, the test in the present study may include a proper sampling by recognizing the test-takers' language proficiency.

Concerning test difficulty, some other participants also indicated they sometimes had no/little prior knowledge about the passages; thus, they had difficulty in understanding and retelling the text. The positive contribution of prior knowledge to reading comprehension has been highlighted by several studies (e.g., Schuler, 2018; Yakut & Aydın, 2017). It is widely agreed that the prior knowledge of the topic helps the test-takers derive meaning easily and ease the comprehension. As highlighted by ICAO (2009), the language tests in the aviation industry should be designed to assess speaking and listening; it can thus be concluded that this test on which this study reports is not developed to assess reading. Therefore, reading passages can be added pictures to enhance comprehension (Canning-Wilson, 2001) or more comprehensible texts can be used for the flight-attendants so that they can be motivated to speak about them as the main aim of the test is to measure speaking skills. This can make the test more reliable as it minimizes advantaging certain groups of test-takers having prior knowledge of the text. Additionally, the test will become more valid as it focuses on encouraging test-takers to speak rather than relying on reading texts. Thus, it can measure what is intended.

Furthermore, for picture-descriptions tasks, a group of test-takers explained that some pictures used in the test were not open to interpretation; thus, they did not have too much to talk about them during the given time. This finding, therefore, sheds light on the design of the pictures in speaking skill tests for the aviation industry. Although pictures are non-verbal sources and are often used in the test to encourage the test-takers to speak, they should be designed carefully. In so doing, the pictures should be designed in a way to act as stimuli to elicit interpretative responses and infer and predict information (Canning-Wilson, 2001). It can also be suggested that the number of picture-description tasks can be increased to provide more chances of speaking for the test-takers, thereby improving the reliability of the test. As the number of observations increases in the test, a more precise understanding of the test-takers' performance can be obtained (Green, 2014).

7. Conclusion and Suggestions

Language testing in the aviation context has high stakes and is within an 'unregulated industry'; therefore, its adherence to good practices of testing by considering validity and reliability is of high importance (ICAO, 2009). For this reason, this study has contributed to the limited literature on language testing in this industry as it is the first study that examines flight attendants' first-hand experiences in Turkey. Drawing on the empirical research, the findings of the study have contributed to the expansion of the understanding of test takers' experiences considering reliability, validity, and authenticity in language testing. In so doing, the study shed light on the test design and administration. Thus, the present findings may be helpful for test developers for designing more authentic and field-specific English test tasks and mitigating the problems reported by the test-takers to improve testing conditions.

Although this study develops insights into the flight attendants' test-taking experiences, its limitations must be acknowledged. First, this study is a small-scale study conducted with a certain group of respondents; therefore, there can be a potential limitation with the transferability of the results. Future studies thus should focus on larger groups of respondents. Second, the study relied on the test-takers' perceptions, future studies thus should include the perceptions of test administrators and developers about the test design, implementation, and scoring. Third, this study employed convenience and snowball sampling techniques based on non-probability sampling. Although both techniques are useful in generating a sample and practical in collecting data, the sample may not be sufficiently representative of the target population thereby resulting in biased interpretation. Therefore, future studies with a similar focus are recommended to use purposive sampling.
References

- Aiguo, W. (2007). Teaching aviation English in the Chinese context: Developing ESP theory in a non-English speaking country. *English for Specific Purposes*, 26, 121-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esp.2005.09.003
- Alderson, J. C. (2010). A survey of aviation English tests. *Language Testing*, 27(1), 51-72. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265532209347196
- Bachman, L. F. (1990). Fundamental considerations in language testing. Oxford University Press.
- Bachman, L. F., & Palmer, A. S. (1996). Language testing in practice: Designing and developing useful language tests. Oxford University Press.
- Birebirİngilizce (2018). DLA-Kabin ekibi dil sınavı [DLA-language test for flight attendants]. https://www.birebiringilizce.com.tr/dla-kabin-ekibi-dil-sinavi.html
- Canning-Wilson, C. (2001). Choosing EFL/ESL visual assessments: Image and picture selection on foreign and second language exams. *National Center for Research on Teacher Learning* (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED452707).
- Cobb, T., & Laufer, B. (2021). The nuclear word family list: A list of the most frequent family members, including base and affixed words. *Language Learning*, 71(3), 834-871. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/lang.12452</u>
- Cornwall, T. B., & Srilapung, V. (2013). Senior flight attendants' English communication needs: A case study of Thai Airways International. US-China Foreign Language, 11(4), 286-291.
- Çelebi, D. (2018). DLA teknikleri ve İngilizce bilgisi [DLA strategies and English]. Miran Yayıncılık.
- Çelebi, D. (n.d). DLA nedir? [What is DLA]. https://thyingilizce.com/
- Dibakanaka, A., & Hiranburana, K. (2012). Developing an e-learning competency-based English course module for chief flight attendants. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, 2(8), 313-326.
- Erarslan, A. (2021). English language teaching and learning during Covid-19: A global perspective on the first year. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(2), 349-367. http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.907757
- Etikan I., Alkassim R., & Abubakar S. (2016). Comparison of snowball sampling and sequential sampling technique. *Biometrics & Biostatistics International Journal, 3(1),* 6-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.15406/bbij.2016.03.00055</u>
- Farris, C. (2016). Aviation language testing. In D. Estival, C. Farris, & B. Molesworth (Eds.), Aviation English: A lingua franca for pilots and air traffic controllers (pp.75-91). Routledge.
- Fulcher, G., & Davidson, F. (2007). Language testing and assessment: An advanced resource book. Routledge.
- Galloway, N., & Numajiri, T. (2020). Global Englishes language teaching: Bottom-up curriculum implementation. *TESOL Quarterly*, 54(1), 118-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.547</u>
- Green, A. (2014). Exploring language assessment and testing: Language in action. Routledge.
- Hughes, A. (2003). Testing for language teachers. Cambridge University Press.
- International Civil Aviation Community (ICAO). (2009). Language testing criteria for global harmonization. <u>https://www.ealts.com/documents/ICAO%20Cir%20318-</u> AN180%20Global%20Harmonisation%20Testing%20Criteria%202008%20.pdf

- Karimi, M., & Biria, R. (2017). Impact of risk taking strategies on male and female EFL learners' test performance: The case of multiple choice questions. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 7(10), 892-899. http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0710.10
- Kim, H., Baydar, N., & Greek, A. (2003). Testing conditions influence the race gap in cognition and achievement estimated by household survey data. *Applied Developmental Psychology*, 23, 567-582. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-3973(02)00142-9
- Kim, H., & Elder, C. (2009). Understanding aviation English as a lingua franca perceptions of Korean aviation personnel. *ARAL*, 32(3), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/0.2104/aral0923</u>
- Kitzinger, J. (1995). Qualitative research: Introducing focus groups. *BMJ*, *311*(7000), 299–302. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.311.7000.299
- Landis, J. R., & Koch, G. G. (1977). The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*, 33(1), 159-174. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2529310</u>
- Lewkowicz, J. A. (2000). Authenticity in language testing: Some outstanding questions. *Language Testing*, *17*(1), 43-64.
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002-1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149</u>
- Mullis, I. V. S., Bohrnstedt, G. W., Preuschoff, A. C., Reyes, I.D.L., Stancavage, F., & Martin, M. O. (2012). Examining NAEP achievement in relation to school testing conditions in the 2010 assessments. National Center for Education Statistics. <u>https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/2021-06/NVS_Testing_Conditions_Paper_Final_0.pdf</u>
- Patton, Q. M. (2014). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice*. Sage Publications.
- Pocius, K. E. (1991). Personality factors in human-computer interaction: A review of the literature. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 7, 103-135.
- Sadler, G. R., Lee, H.C., Lim, R.S.H., Fullerton, J. (2010). Recruitment of hard-to-reach population subgroups via adaptations of the snowball sampling strategy. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *12*, 369-374.
- Saldana, J. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE Publications.
- Schult, C. A., & McInthosh, J. L. (2004). Employing computer-administered exams in general psychology: Student anxiety and expectations. *Teaching of Psychology*, *31*(3), 209-211. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328023top3103_7
- Schuler, J. (2018). Looking at and beyond the lexical surface in L2 reading comprehension: Insights from a video-based study. *Language Awareness*, 27(1-2), 113-135. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658416.2018.1435672
- Shohamy, E., Or, L. G., & May, S. (2017). Language testing and assessment. Springer.
- Shohamy, E., Donitsa-Schmidt, S., & Ferman, I. (1996). Test impact revisited: Washback effect over time. *Language Testing*, 13(3), 298-317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/026553229601300305</u>
- Shu' Aibu, M. G. (2021). The effect of testing conditions on the students' performance of distance learning system (DLS) in Jigawa State. *International Journal of Contemporary Education Research*, 20(8), 71-80.
- Stowell, J. R., & Bennett, D. (2010). Effects of online testing on student exam performance and test anxiety. *Educational Computing Research*, 42(2), 161-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/EC.42.2.b</u>

- Taylor, C., Jamieson, J., Eignor, D., & Kirsch, I. (1998). *The relationship between computer familiarity* and performance on computer-based TOEFL test tasks. Educational Testing Service.
- Wigglesworth, G., & Frost, K. (2017). Task and performance-based assessment. In E. Shohamy, L. G. Or, & S. May (Eds.), *Language testing and assessment* (pp.121-133). Springer.
- Yakut, A. D., & Aydın, S. (2017). An experimental study on the effects of the use of blogs on EFL reading comprehension. *Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching*, 1(11), <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17501229.2015.1006634</u>

Appendix A: Semi-structured interview protocol

1. Could you please provide information about your age, rank (cabin attendant or chief flight attendant), years of professional experience and department of graduation from the university?

- 2. What do you think about the design of the test?
- 2a. What do you think of the difficulty of the test?
- 2b. Which part of the test is most difficult for you? Why?
- 3. What do you think about the administration of the test?
- 3a. How do you feel taking this computer-delivered English proficiency test?
- 4. What do you think are the factors that have an impact on your test performance?
- 5. Do you have any further comments and/or suggestions?

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



A study on the applicability of in-service hybrid education in food and beverage businesses (The example of culinary trends)

Mehmet SARIOĞLAN ^a * ^(D), Bilal DEVECİ ^b ^(D), Cevdet AVCIKURT ^a ^(D)

^a Balikesir University, Tourism Faculty, TURKEY;

^b Kırklareli University, Tourism Faculty, TURKEY;

Suggested citation: Sarioğlan, M., Deveci, B. & Avcıkurt, C. (2021). A study on the applicability of in-service hybrid education in food and beverage businesses (The example of culinary trends). *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 688-701.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Gastronomy Gastronomy education Hybrid education	Gastronomy shows a continuous development as a branch of science that aims to meet the socialization needs of individuals as well as their physical needs. Considerable importance is attached to the level of technological integration as the most fundamental variable that can accelerate this development. However, scientific findings on the technological transformation experienced today and the effects of this transformation on sectoral development have not been encountered, especially in the field of in-service gastronomy education. The main purpose of this study is to determine the feasibility of in-service training as a dimension of non-formal education in the field of gastronomy education as hybrid. In this context, hybrid training on gastronomic tendencies was given to chefs working as section chefs in cold, hot and ala carte departments in the kitchen units of food and beverage businesses. In the training plan, the study group was divided into two and a pre-test and post-test study was conducted to measure their knowledge of gastronomic tendencies. Teaching about new gastronomic trends was given to one group through mutual training, and to the other group 50% of the trainings were given face-to- face and 50% via internet-based distance education. In this context, the comparative advantages and weaknesses of hybrid education and face-to-face education were
Research Article	compared in terms of gastronomy education.

1. Introduction

The word gastronomy, which has been translated into our language from French, is defined by the Turkish Language Association (Turkish Language Society, 2020) as "the curiosity of eating well" and "healthful, well-arranged, pleasant and delicious cuisine, food order and system". When the etymological origin of the word is examined, it is stated that it is derived from the Greek words gastros (stomach) and nomas (related to knowledge or law). For this reason, it is stated that gastronomy refers to rules and/or norms about eating and drinking. In addition, gastronomy, which focuses on art and science, is defined as art and the science of good-delicious eating in many dictionaries (Santich, 2004: 16; Zahari, Jalis, Zulfifly, Radzi, & Othman, 2009: 66; Sezen, 2020: 3).

Santich (2004: 15), who described the concept of gastronomy as a difficult process to explain and define, defined gastronomy as a field related to advice and guidance on what to eat and drink with whom, when, how, in what situations and combinations. There are other explanations and definitions made by many

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1015981

Received 28 Oct 2021; Revised 19 Dec 2021; Accepted 27 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author. Department of Gastronomy and Culinary Arts, Balikesir University, Turkey. e-mail addresses: <u>mehmets@balikesir.edu.tr</u>

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

experts for this term. Considering the connection of this field, which has a long history, with different disciplines, it is stated that the existence of different definition trials about it is not surprising (Saruşık and Özbay, 2015: 264).

While the first definitions of this concept were generally about the preparation of food and beverages, other aspects of gastronomy were also mentioned in the later definitions (Özbay, 2017: 2). Gastronomy is a field that deals with the production, preparation, presentation and consumption of all food and beverages (N. Onur and F. Onur, 2016: 472) and covers the entire process from the production to consumption of all these products (Sever, Özkan Buzlu and Yıldız, 2016: 117). Gökdeniz, Erdem, Dinç and Çelik Uğuz (2015: 16), on the other hand, defined gastronomy as bringing out the pleasure of nutrition by combining food science, culinary art and flavor creativity.

Although there are different definitions about gastronomy, the common point of all of them is that it is related to the taste and experience of food and beverage, which is the reflection of certain cultures (Özbay, 2017: 4; Serçeoğlu, Boztoprak, & Tırak, 2016: 96). Food is considered as a universal activity that includes production knowledge, cooking, serving and eating concepts and practices in order to design, process and make food suitable for human consumption (Hegarty, 2005: 10). While it is thought that eating and drinking is at the core of gastronomy, the contemporary understanding of gastronomy expands the scope of the study to food and beverage production and preparation, how, where, when and why it is consumed (Santich, 2004: 16).

Methods and tools applied in different disciplines are used in order to create knowledge and make important developments in the field of gastronomy. It is also stated that gastronomy is an interdisciplinary branch of science. It interacts with science and social sciences such as chemistry, physics, biology, anthropology, sociology, marketing, management and business (Saruşık and Özbay, 2015: 266). However, since gastronomy is a multidisciplinary science, it has had difficulty in being an academic discipline (Scarpato, 2002: 55).

2. Literature

2.1. The Case of Gastronomy Education

Gastronomy education is defined as training personnel for the sector and also investing in people, culture and the future. The food and beverage industry, like all other industries, needs specialized personnel. Universities providing gastronomy and culinary arts education aim to respond to this need and provide qualified graduates (Sarioğlan, 2014a: 261; Bostan Sarioğlan and Deveci, 2021). Since gastronomy is an interdisciplinary field that requires practice, gastronomy education is expressed as a difficult and important science for both institutions and educators.

It is known that gastronomy education, which was first seen with the development of restaurants, occured with the master-apprentice relationship, as in many professions. Many cooks have learned the profession through apprenticeship. Chefs who learn the job practically from their experienced masters are often deprived of the theoretical knowledge behind the cooking of meal (Glass, 2005: 3; VanLandingham, 1995). It is stated that these apprentices in Europe usually start working with a chef at the age of 12-14 for low wages. Apprentices are at the bottom of the hierarchy and generally learn from their masters in exchange for food and accommodation (Brown, 2005: 49). It is stated that at the beginning of the culinary education in Turkey, as in the rest of the world, it is given with the master-apprentice relationship, that is, with the ahi-order (K1lnc, 2012: 70).

The 19th century is described as an important turning point for gastronomy education. Educational institutions opened in Europe and America during this period became leading schools for professional gastronomy education and contributed to the development of gastronomy education (Görkem and Sevim,

or

2016: 979). It is known that formal gastronomy education started and developed in Turkey as of the 20th century.

Today, it is seen that the number of institutions providing gastronomy education is increasing (Sarioğlan, 2018: 272). There are several reasons for this interest. In this sense, the aims of the institutions that provide gastronomy education should be well understood. It is said that one of the main purposes of gastronomy education is to train qualified workforce for the food and beverage industry. Employees with the skills needed in this sector can only be trained by providing a quality education and training. It is stated that with gastronomy education, quality can be increased in businesses and profitability can be increased by reducing costs (Arıkan, Altınöz Sürücü and Arman, 2018: 593; Denk and Koşan, 2017: 55-56). In addition, considering today's economic conditions, it is stated that businesses do not have the opportunity to spend money or time to train their newly hired personnel (VanLandingham, 1995: 7).

When gastronomy education is considered as vocational education, it is possible to say that it has all these features. VanLandingham (1995: 9) states that with the spread of gastronomy education in the USA, new employees who start working in the sector are better educated and will be even better. In order to meet the needs of the industry, today's chefs should have knowledge about food science, food technology, food consumption and applications (Zahari et al., 2009: 67). In this sense, it can be stated that the most important purpose of gastronomy education is to contribute to the food and beverage industry by raising qualified individuals.

2.1.1. Cuisine Trends

Today, the diversification of food and beverage production and the rapid increase in their quantities have made gastronomy gain commercial value. For this reason, the fact that gastronomy has become an important sector and the diversification of products has led to the emergence of new trends.

Key Concepts (Cuisine Trends)	Descriptive Explanation
Fusion Cuisine	It is considered as a trend that is described as the union of the east and west, north and south of the world in the same cuisine (Newman, 2014: 8; Sarıoğlan & Sezen, 2017).
Molecular Cuisine	It is the use of scientific methods to better understand the molecular, physicochemical and structural changes that occur in the preparation and consumption of food and beverages (Vega and Ubbink, 2008: 372).
Avant-Garde Cuisine	It is the use of many methods, ingredients and recipes from different cuisines in the same kitchens as a result of the acceleration of cultural interactions (Scarpato, 2003: 303-306).
Note by Note Cuisine	Although the first purpose of the use of pure compounds was to improve the food, it was aimed to make the meals completely from the compounds (This, 2013: 3).
Slow Food	Although it is defined as a food cooked over low heat, it refers to the communication between the producer and the consumers, the food itself, the consumer and the individuals at the table (Tencati and Zsolnai 2012:348).
Vegetarian Cuisine	Vegetarianism, which is generally defined as not consuming meat or animal foods, is a dietary habit that has been maintained for many years in Asia and the USA, especially by communities who believe in Hindu, Buddhist and Jain religions (Melina and Davis, 2010: 2).

Table 1.

Descriptive Explanation of Cuisine Trends

Vegan Cuisine	Vegetarianism is a type of diet in which no animal meat (red meat, chicken, fish and other sea animals) is included, and in some cases, products derived from animals (eggs, milk and dairy products) are consumed in limited or optionally (Kansanan, 2010), ± 4)
Digital Cuisine	Digital gastronomy, which is based on digital online information, is the trend that allows us to change the materials and methods to be used according to our personal and social preferences as well as the nutritional contents (Zoran and Coelho, 2011: 428)
Green Cuisine	While the experienced climate changes trigger environmental issues, local development and the continuity of societies also form the basis of the understanding of sustainability (Yusof and Jamaludin 2014: 502)
Nouvelle Cuisine	With Nouvelle Cuisine, that is, with the new culinary trend, the freshest and best quality of foodstuffs, which emphasizes the concept of serving healthy meals has begun to be used (Civitello, 2019: 225)
Living Cuisine	The living cuisine phenomenon is expressed as combining the cuisine with recreational activities and offering a different and new service to its guests. It is aimed to provide a different eating and drinking experience in the restaurants where guests go, which is considered as a part of the kitchen in living kitchens (Erdem and Alwirgk 2017).
Street Cuisine	Street food usually includes the consumption of local cultural foods. Street food, which is generally consumed in standing places, increases interpersonal communication and socialization compared to places that are consumed by sitting at the table and indoors (Solunoğlu and Nazik, 2018: 41).
Haute Cuisine	It can be expressed as a trend where heavy sauces are replaced by sauces that are balanced in taste and appearance; meat, fish and vegetables started to be consumed fresh as transportation opportunities increased; and the use of herbs such as chervil, bay leaf, sage, tarragon and thyme has increased instead of exotic and strong spices (Rebora, 2013; 5; Beaugé, 2012).
Gourmet Cuisine	It is a movement aimed at individuals who have a sensitive palate, have a high cultural background in food and beverage, are keen on food, understand the kitchen, have knowledge about the exoticism and harmony of the ingredients in a meal or beverage, cooking methods and subtleties (Ozdogan, 2016; 1).
Robotic Cuisine	With the acceleration of the digitalization phenomenon, it can be expressed as a trend developed to target standardization with the use of robots in the production process in kitchens.
Glocal Cuisine	Glocalization (global-localization) refers to the adaptation of products and services that appeal to the whole world, formed by combining the words globalization and localization, to local markets and different cultures (Hwang et al. 2018; 3670).
Regional Cuisine	It is possible to define local dishes as foods that contain cultural elements of societies, shaped by religious or national influences, obtained from products belonging to the region, produced by using local tools and cooking styles, and also revealing the diet of the local people (Şengül and Türkay, 2017: 228).
Dark Cuisine	When dark foods are basically considered under two groups, the first is natural black foods, which are stated to be healthier than other colored vegetables and fruits, and the second is foods that are prepared and presented in completely black color with the use of products such as activated charcoal, bamboo charcoal and cuttlefish. Bozok and Yalın, 2018: 254).

2.1.2. The Concept of In-Service Training and Hybrid Training

In-service training is planned training activities that increase the level of knowledge, skills, behavior and productivity for the employee throughout her working life, in addition to the basic vocational and skills training given to the workforce, on the purpose of increasing efficiency, productivity and quality in production and service, reducing the errors and accidents that may occur in the production and consumption process of the product, reducing the costs, ensuring qualitative and quantitative improvement in sales and service delivery, increasing profits, tax revenues and savings. In other words, in-service training is the process of educating or training himself for his profession from the first day he started the profession to the day he left the profession. In the most common and comprehensive expression, in-service training is the training given to individuals who are employed or working in workplaces belonging to private and legal persons for a certain salary or wage, in order to gain the necessary knowledge, skills and attitudes related to their duties (Öztürk and Sancak, 2007).

Hybrid education is generally teaching 50% of a course face-to-face in real classrooms and 50% using distance education techniques (Lago, 2000: 5-7, Gilroy, 2001: 43). Blended learning, also known as hybrid learning, and mixed learning, in its simplest definition, is defined as the enrichment of traditional education method with online education materials, that is, blending. In addition to the technologies used, the use of different educational philosophies in the traditional learning environment is defined as blended learning (Alnajdi, 2014).

3. Methodology

The method used as a research model is an experimental method with a widely accepted pre-test post-test control group, in which the number of groups participating in the study, control measures, and the time and number of observations on the independent variable are taken into account (Campbell & Stanley, 1966). In the study, pre-test and post-test were carried out in five-star hotel businesses operating in Istanbul with 42 hot, cold and ala carte section chefs who had previously received gastronomy training at various levels and are still operating in the food and beverage industry. In this context, two main groups were formed, each of which consisted of twenty-one people. While the first group was given face-to-face training on culinary trends, the other group was given distance online training. An unstructured interview form was used as a data collection tool. In the data collection form, culinary trends used in international gastronomy terminology were asked as a key concept. All employees were pre-tested through the data collection form. After the pre-test, 42 section chefs were divided into different groups of 21 people and a training on culinary trends was applied for each group. After the trainings were applied, the form applied in the pre-test was applied to the study group as a post-test.

The data obtained after the application of face-to-face and online trainings on culinary trends to two different study groups were divided into four basic categories: Sentences containing scientific information, sentences containing non-scientific or superficial information, sentences containing misconceptions and no answers. By calculating the frequencies of the sentence numbers in these categories, it is aimed to determine the general tendencies of the section chefs regarding the culinary trends and to determine which training method is effective in which culinary trend. *Data Collecting Tools*

Data collecting tools should be explained. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit. Fusce ac fringilla nisi. Vivamus nibh mi, pretium sed est sit amet, lacinia ultrices nunc. Aliquam laoreet ut massa vitae consequat. Nunc luctus nisi quam, vitae placerat justo vulputate ac. Donec iaculis eu nibh nec venenatis. Maecenas lobortis bibendum sem et interdum. Phasellus et egestas felis. Donec id sodales dui.

3.1. Research Findings and Comments

In this part of the study, the demographic profiles of the section chiefs in the study group and the sentences they formed about the words related to key concepts were examined. These sentences were examined by the researchers in terms of the information and meanings they contain, coded and classified in four basic ways: sentences containing scientific information, sentences containing non-scientific or superficial information, sentences containing misconceptions and no answers. While performing the classification, it was tried to determine whether the sentences formed by the section chiefs in grouping the sentences containing scientific information were both related to the key concept and whether they were scientifically correct. If the sentences created by the section chiefs are associated in the sentence with the same meaning as the words they associate with the key concept, and if this sentence is scientifically correct with all its other elements, it is included in this category. If, contrary to the answer words that the participants associated with the key concept, non-scientific sentences were formed in the sentence, which were used in daily life and were meaningful with their past experiences and traditions, the sentences were included in the grouping of non-scientific and superficial sentences. In the grouping of sentences containing misconceptions, employees tried to attribute scientific meanings to key concepts in sentences, but they were classified as those who confused these concepts with concepts and expressions with different and wrong meanings (Ercan, Taşdere & Ercan, 2010).

This research consists of two parts in order to determine the demographic characteristics of the study group and to determine the level of knowledge about culinary trends in terms of education methods. In the first part, when the demographic characteristics of the study group were examined; 42.8% of the participants were between the ages of 36-50 and 28.5% were between the ages of 26-35, 73.8% were men and 26.2% were women. It was revealed that 30.9% of the study group had 11-15 years of professional experience and 28.5% had 16-20 years of professional experience. It was determined that 45.2% of the participants had an income of 4001-6000TL and 40.4% had an income of 6001-8000TL. When the education levels of the study group were evaluated, it was determined that 38.1% of them were at the undergraduate level and 26.1% at the associate degree level. However, it was concluded that 52.4% of the participants in the study received their gastronomy training from private education institutions. Demographic characteristics of kitchen workers are presented in Table 2 below.

Table 2.

Demographic Characteristics of Kitchen Workers Participating in the Research

Variables	Frequency	Percentile
	(n)	(%)
Age Ranges of the Study Group		
Under 18		
Ages 19-25	7	16,66
Ages 26-35	12	28,56
Ages 36-50	18	42,88
Ages 51-65	5	11,90
Over 66		
Total	42	100,0
Genders of the Study Group		
Female	11	26,18
Male	31	73,82
Total	42	100
Professional Experience Periods of the Study Group		
Less than 1 year	-	
2-5 years	4	9,52
6-10 years	9	21,42

11-15 years	13	30,98	
16-20 years	12	28,56	
21 years and above	4	9,52	
Total	42	100	
Average Revenues of the Study Group			
0-2825 TL			
2825-4000 TL			
4001-6000 TL	17	40,46	
6001-8000 TL	19	45,26	
8001-10000 TL	3	7,14	
Over 10001 TL	3	7,14	
Total	42	100	
Education Levels of the Study Group			
Primary School			
Secondary School	4	9,52	
High School	9	21,42	
Associate Degree	11	26,18	
Undergraduate Degree	16	38,12	
Master's degree	2	4,76	
Doctorate Degree			
Total	42	100	
Type of Gastronomy Education of the Study Group			
Formal Gastronomy Education	7	16,66	
Public Education Center	4	9,52	
Apprenticeship Training	3	7,14	
Private Courses	22	52,40	
Others	6	14,28	
Total	42	100	

In the second part, the working group divided into two parts; the first part was given face-to-face education about culinary trends, and the second part was given distance education about culinary trends. As a result of face-to-face and distance training, the knowledge of kitchen workers about culinary trends was measured. Before the training, the pre-test and post-test were made after the training, and the sentences containing the scientific information they produced about the culinary trends were classified and their numbers were determined. The analysis results of both groups under the theme title created for comparison are given in Table 3. When evaluated in terms of the number of sentences containing scientific information; It has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the knowledge level of fusion cuisine, living cuisine, street cuisine, molecular cuisine, note by note cuisine and vegan cuisine, and that face-to-face education is effective in the culinary trends listed above.

When evaluated in terms of the number of sentences containing scientific information; It has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the knowledge level of vegetarian cuisine, regional cuisine, living cuisine, slow food and note by note cuisine, and distance education is effective in the culinary trends listed above. In addition, it can be said that the study group, which is given distance education in other culinary trends, is quite successful in producing sentences containing scientific knowledge.

Table 3.

Number of Sentences Containing Scientific Information Frequency Table

	Number of Sentences Containing Scientific Information			
Key Concepts	Face to face Education		Distance (Online Education)	
(Culinary Trends)	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Pre-Test	Post-Test
Fusion Cuisine	22	28	28	48
Molecular Cuisine	17	19	19	40
Avant-Garde Cuisine	3	4	4	20

Note by Note Cuisine	2	5	5	31	
Slow Food	18	19	19	44	
Vegetarian Cuisine	27	22	22	56	
Vegan Cuisine	19	22	22	43	
Digital Cuisine	6	7	7	27	
Green Cuisine	11	10	10	31	
Nouvelle Cuisine	5	7	7	22	
Living Cuisine	13	18	18	49	
Street Cuisine	2	6	6	17	
Haute Cuisine	3	4	4	26	
Gourmet Cuisine	11	12	12	20	
Robotic Cuisine	8	7	7	19	
Glocal Cuisine	2	8	8	17	
Regional Cuisine	11	8	8	41	
Dark Cuisine	1	2	2	9	

When the findings presented in Table 4 are evaluated in terms of the number of sentences containing nonscientific or superficial information; it has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the level of knowledge of regional cuisine, vegetarian cuisine, vegan cuisine, digital cuisine and street cuisine, and that face-to-face education is quite effective in the culinary trends listed above. It has been determined that faceto-face training on only note by note cuisine and slow food is not effective.

When evaluated in terms of the number of sentences containing non-scientific or superficial information; It has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the knowledge level of regional cuisine, vegetarian cuisine, digital cuisine, street cuisine, living cuisine, note by note cuisine, vegan cuisine and robotic cuisine, and distance education is effective in the culinary trends listed above. It has been determined that there is a difference between the pre-test and post-test in sentences containing non-scientific or superficial information in terms of distance education in all culinary trends.

Table 4.

	Number of Sentences Containing Non-Scientific or Superficial Information			
Key Concepts	Face to face Ed	lucation	Distance (O	nline Education)
(Culinary Trends)	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Pre-Test	Post-Test
Fusion Cuisine	11	5	14	9
Molecular Cuisine	12	3	13	6
Avant-Garde Cuisine	14	3	11	4
Note by Note Cuisine	4	5	17	3
Slow Food	11	19	18	8
Vegetarian Cuisine	19	4	20	3
Vegan Cuisine	21	3	19	8
Digital Cuisine	23	4	18	1
Green Cuisine	7	4	8	5
Nouvelle Cuisine	11	2	9	7
Living Cuisine	15	6	17	3
Street Cuisine	24	3	22	7
Haute Cuisine	13	4	11	2
Gourmet Cuisine	13	8	10	9
Robotic Cuisine	11	2	13	4
Glocal Cuisine	8	1	9	5
Regional Cuisine	29	5	30	4
Dark Cuisine	11	3	15	6

Number of Sentences Containing Non-Scientific or Superficial Information

When the findings classified in Table 5 are evaluated in terms of the number of sentences containing misconceptions; It has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the knowledge level of fusion cuisine, avant-garde cuisine and vegetarian cuisine and face-to-face education is effective in the culinary trends listed above. It was determined that the misconceptions were quite high before the face-to-face training, but the misconceptions were considerably reduced after the face-to-face training.

When evaluated in terms of the number of sentences containing misconceptions; It has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the level of knowledge of fusion cuisine, vegetarian cuisine, gourmet cuisine, glocal cuisine, regional cuisine and living cuisine, and distance education is effective in the culinary trends listed above. It has been determined that there is no difference between the pre-test and post-test in the level of knowledge of street cuisine in distance education.

Table 5.

Number of Sentences Containing Misconceptions				
Key Concepts	Face to face E	Face to face Education		nline Education)
(Culinary Trends)	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Pre-Test	Post-Test
Fusion Cuisine	16	1	13	6
Molecular Cuisine	7	1	9	5
Avant-Garde Cuisine	11	4	10	7
Note by Note Cuisine	6	1	11	3
Slow Food	4	1	7	1
Vegetarian Cuisine	13	2	19	4
Vegan Cuisine	7	1	10	6
Digital Cuisine	4		6	3
Green Cuisine	9	2	11	7
Nouvelle Cuisine	8	2	6	4
Living Cuisine	5	1	8	1
Street Cuisine	3	1	2	2
Haute Cuisine	6	3	8	2
Gourmet Cuisine	7	2	15	1
Robotic Cuisine	9	3	12	7
Glocal Cuisine	5	1	11	4
Regional Cuisine	6	2	8	1
Dark Cuisine	4	1	9	4

Number of Sentences Containing Misconceptions

When the findings given in Table 6 are evaluated in terms of the number of tests left blank; It has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the level of knowledge of regional cuisine, glocal cuisine, dark cuisine, vegan cuisine and haute cuisine, and face-to-face education is effective in the culinary trends listed above. It was determined that the knowledge level of the participants about the culinary trends was low before the face-to-face training, and their level of knowledge increased after the face-to-face training.

When evaluated in terms of the number of tests left blank; It has been concluded that there is a positive difference in the knowledge level of haute cuisine, gourmet cuisine, regional cuisine, note by note cuisine, nouvelle cuisine, green cuisine and living cuisine, and distance education is effective in the culinary trends listed above. Within the scope of the number of tests left blank, it was determined that the knowledge level of the participants about culinary trends improved after face-to-face or distance education in both groups.

Sarıoğlan, M., Deveci, B. & Avcıkurt, C.

Table 6.

Number of Tests Left Blank

Number of Tests Left Blank				
Key Concepts	Face to face F	Education	Distance (O	nline Education)
(Culinary Trends)	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Pre-Test	Post-Test
Fusion Cuisine	11	1	16	7
Molecular Cuisine	13	4	17	8
Avant-Garde Cuisine	26	10	21	2
Note by Note Cuisine	34	15	36	7
Slow Food	14	6	21	4
Vegetarian Cuisine	2		2	1
Vegan Cuisine	31	5	30	9
Digital Cuisine	16		25	8
Green Cuisine	26	9	31	16
Nouvelle Cuisine	7	4	30	7
Living Cuisine	24	7	28	3
Street Cuisine	22	9	21	11
Haute Cuisine	33	6	36	4
Gourmet Cuisine	27	11	37	9
Robotic Cuisine	22	10	27	18
Glocal Cuisine	29	4	33	17
Regional Cuisine	34	5	35	4
Dark Cuisine	23	2	31	12

4. Conclusion, Recomendations and Discussion

As a result of the study, it was concluded that the misconceptions of the section chefs who received formal and common gastronomy education at different levels cannot be ignored. This result strengthens the assumption that kitchen workers who work in the food and beverage industry but do not have training may have much higher levels of misconceptions. With the study, it has been determined that the misconceptions about the teaching of culinary trends can be eliminated with which education methods more effectively. It has been concluded that face-to-face education is more effective in teaching fusion cuisine, molecular cuisine, avant-garde cuisine, vegan cuisine, green cuisine, nouvelle cuisine, street cuisine teaching, there was no big difference in the effectiveness of both face-to-face and distance education. It has been concluded that the study group is effective in teaching note by note cuisine, slow food, vegetarian cuisine, living cuisine, haute cuisine and regional cuisine. In line with the results, the following applicable suggestions have been developed;

• As a result of working in the teaching of culinary trends in educational institutions that provide formal and non-formal gastronomy education, it should be ensured that the misconceptions that may arise by applying teaching methods suitable for the education method are eliminated,

• It should be ensured that the misconceptions about cooking techniques of kitchen workers who are still operating in the food and beverage industry can be eliminated by training for appropriate service.

• A systematized special teaching method can be developed for culinary trends.

After the study, it can be suggested to the researchers to carry out studies to determine the applicability of the section chefs with the hybrid method to determine the effectiveness of teaching in concepts such as

chopping techniques, cooking techniques, hygiene, and sanitation. In addition, studies on hybrid cuisine education can be carried out in schools that provide formal and non-formal education at different levels.

References

- Akoğlu, A., Cansızoğlu, S., Orhan, N., & Özdemir, Z. (2017). Attitudes of gastronomy and culinary arts students towards working in the sector. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, 5(2), 146-159.
- Alnajdi, S.M. (2014). Hybrid learning in higher education. Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference.
- Arıkan, E., Altunöz Sürücü, Ö., & Arman, A. (2018). Problems and solution proposals in training kitchens of higher education institutions. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, 6(2), 592-601.
- Arslan, V. (2019). Web based distance education experience and efficiency analysis: the case of istanbul university [Unpublished Master Thesis]. Istanbul University.
- Beaugé, B. (2012). On the idea of novelty in cuisine: a brief historical insight. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 1(1), 5-14.
- Bostan Sarioğlan, A., & Can, Y. (2021). Effest of open inquiry based learning approach on the conceptual understanding of secondary school students. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 13 (2), 432-446.
- Altaş, R & Şen, R. (2020). investigation of teachers' views about experimenting in science course during distance education. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 49(4) 371–394.
- Bostan Sarıoğlan, A. & Deveci, B. (2021). Öğretmen adaylarının beslenme ile ilgili bilişsel yapılarının kelime ilişkilendirme testi ile belirlenmesi. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, 9(4), 3003-3017
- Bozkurt, D. A. (2017). Past, present and future of distance education in Turkey. 40.
- Bozok, D., & Yalın, G. (2018). New trend in gastronomy: black foods. Journal of Current Tourism Research, 2(Ek-1), 251-261.
- Brown, J. N., Mao, Z. "Eddie", & Chesser, J. W. (2013). A comparison of learning outcomes in culinary education: recorded video vs. live demonstration. Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Education, 25(3), 103-109. https://doi.org/10.1080/10963758.2013.826940
- Brown, J.N. (2005). A brief history of culinary arts education in America. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Education*, 17(4), 47-54.
- Campbell, D.T., & Stanley, J. C. (1966). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research, Houghton Mifflin Company, U.S.A.
- Can, E. (2020). Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic and its pedagogical reflections: Open and distance education practices in Turkey. *Journal of Open Education Applications and Research*, 6(2), 11-53.
- Civitello, L. (2019). Cuisine and culture nutritional history of man. Ankara. Bilim ve Sanat Publishing.
- Christensen, L.B., Johnson, R.B. & Turner, L.A. (2015). Research methods, (Çev. Ed. A. Aypay). Ankara: Ant Publishing.
- Denk, E., & Koşan, A. (2017). The measurements of vocational educational level and career targets of hotel culinary employees; An analysis of winter corridor. *Yorum-Yönetim-Yöntem Uluslararası Yönetim-Ekonomi ve Felsefe Dergisi*, 5(1), 55-83.

- Durak, G., Çankaya, S., & İzmirli, S. (2020). Examining the turkish universities' distance education systems during the covid-19 pandemic. Necatibey Faculty of Education Electronic Journal of Science and Mathematics Education, 14(1), 787-809. https://doi.org/10.17522/balikesirnef.743080
- Duran, N., Önal, A., & Kurtulu, C. (2006). New approach in e-learning and corporate education learning management systems. http:// ab.org.tr/ab06/bildiri/165.pdf.
- Ercan, F. Taşdere, A., & Ercan, N. (2010). observation of cognitive change in cognitive structure through word association test. *Turkish Science Education*, 7(2), 136-154.
- Erdem, B., & Akyürek, S. (2017). A new cuisine trend: Living cuisines. Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies, 5(2), 103-126.
- Erturgut, R. (2010). Organizational, social, pedagogic components of the internet basic distance education. *Bilişim Teknolojileri Dergisi*, 1(2), 79-85.
- Gilroy, K., (2001). Collaborative E-learning: The Right Approach. (13.04.2004).
- Glass, S. (2005). Integrating educational technologies into the culinary classroom and instructional kitchen. online submission. Retrieved from <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?q=integrating+educational+technologies++into+the+culinary+classroom+and</u> <u>+instructional+kitchen+&id=ed495295</u>.
- Gökdeniz, A., Erdem, B., Dinç, Y., & Çelik Uğuz, S. (2015). gastronomy tourism (a research on demand dimension in Ayvalık). Ankara: Detay Publishing.
- Görkem, O., & Sevim, B. (2016). Do we fall behind or hustle in gastronomy education?. *Elektronik Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 15, 977-988.
- Hegarty, J.A. (2005). Developing "subject fields" in culinary arts, science, and gastronomy. *Journal of Culinary Science & Technology*, 4(1), 5-13.
- Horn, D. (1994). Distance education: Is interactivity compromised?. Performance + Instruction, 33(9), 12-15. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.4160330905.
- Hwang, J., Kim, S. S., Choe, J. Y. J., & Chung, C. H. (2018). Exploration of the successful glocalization of ethnic food: A case of Korean food. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30(12), 3656-3676.
- UNESCO. (2020, Mart 4). Education: From disruption to recovery. UNESCO. https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse
- İçten, T. (2006). Development of online exam system application for distance education studenta (Unpublished Master Thesis), Gazi University Institute of Science and Technology, Ankara.
- İslamoğlu, A.H. (2009). research methods in social sciences. İstanbul: Beta Publishing.
- Kansanen, I. (2010). Vegan travel-the ways how vegan diet influences travel experience [*Bachelor's Thesis*]. Haaga-Helia University of Applied Sciences, Finland, pp. 13.
- Karasar, N. (2012). Scientific Research Methods (24th Ed.). Nobel Publishing.
- Kılınç, M. (2012). Historical development of ahilik, gedik, lonca and enderun school that shaped vocational and technical education training institutions in Turkey. *E-Journal of New World Sciences Academy*, 7(4), 63-73.
- Kozak, M. (2014). Scientific research: design, writing and publication techniques. (1st Ed.). Ankara: Detay Publishing.
- Lago M.E. (2000), The hybrid experience: how sweet it is!. Converge Magazine, 3(9), 5-7 (12 Mart 2002).

- Melina, V., & Davis, B. (2008). Becoming vegetarian: The complete guide to adopting a healthy vegetarian diet. John Wiley & Sons.
- Newman, J.M. (2014). Fusion food in the vegan kitchen, Fair Winds Press, USA.
- Onur, N., & Onur, F. (2016). Potential of gastronomy tourism within culture touirism and developing. In C. Avcıkurt, M. S. Dinu, N. Hacıoğlu, R. Efe, A. Soykan, & N. Tetik (Eds.), Global Issues and Trends in Tourism (470-479). Sofia: St. Kliment Ohridski University Press.
- Özbay, G. (2017). Gastronomy from yesterday to today. M. Sarıışık (Editor). All aspects of gastronomy. Ankara. Detay Publishing, 1-40.
- Özdoğan, O.N. (2016). Who is gourmet? how to be? O.N. Özdoğan, (Ed.), Trends in the Food and Beverage Industry Concepts Approaches Success Stories (1-11) Ankara Detay Publishing.
- Özmen, H. (2015). Experimental research methods. M. Metin (Ed.), Scientific Research Methods in Education from Theory to Practice (2nd Ed.). Pegem Akademi.
- Öztürk, M. & Sancak, S. (2007). Effects of in-service training practices on working Life. *Journal of Yasar University*, 2(7), 761-794.
- Rebora, G. (2013). Culture of the fork: a brief history of everyday food and haute cuisine in Europe, New York, Columbia University Press.
- Santich, B. (2004). The study of gastronomy and its relevance to hospitality education and training. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 23, 15-24.
- Sarıışık, M., & Özbay, G. (2015). A literature review on gastronomic tourism. Anatolia Turizm Araştırmaları Dergisi, 26(2), 264-278.
- Sarioğlan, M. (2014a). A theoretical research on the constraints of development of gastronomy education in Turkey. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 116, 260-264.
- Sarioğlan, M. (2014b). Expectations of employee in food & beverage firm and gastronomy education (Case of Turkey). *European Journal of Research on Education*, 5(6), 198-202.
- Sarioğlan, M. (2018). A study related to evaluate the interaction between supply and demand within informal gastronomy education. *Trakya Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 20, 267-283.
- Sarioğlan, M. & Sezen, T.S. (2017). Project based learning approach in fusion cuisine education: A modal proposal. *New Trends and Issues Proceedings on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 4(1), 574-57
- Scarpato, R., & Daniele, R. (2003). New global cuisine: Tourism, authenticity and sense of place in postmodern gastronomy. İçinde: C. M. Hall, L. Sharples, R.
- Mitchell, N. Macionis & Cambourne, B. (Ed.) Food tourism around the world: development, management and markets, Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann, 296-313.
- Scarpato, R. (2002). Gastronomy as a tourist product: the perspective of gastronomy studies. In A.-M. Hjalager & G. Richards (Eds.), Tourism and Gastronomy (51-70). London: Routledge.
- Serçeoğlu, N., Boztoprak, F., & Tırak, L. (2016). The relationship between gastronomic tourism and city branding: A research on Atatürk University students. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, 4(2), 94-114.
- Sever, G. N., Özkan Buzlu, M., & Yıldız, G. (2016). The perspective of macro environmental elements on gastronomy tourism based on written plans and policy statements. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, 4(Special 1), 116-138. https://doi.org/10.21325/jotags.2016.26

- Sevim, B., & Görkem, O. (2015). Evaluation of food safety hardware infrastructure in gastronomy and culinary programs. *Uluslararası Alanya İşletme Fakültesi Dergisi*, 7(1), 59-67.
- Sezen, T.S. (2020). Gastronomi nedir?, *Gastronomide geçmiş, bugün ve gelecek* (Edt. Z.D. Shipman), Detay Yayıncılık, 2-15.
- Solunoğlu, A., & Nazik, M. H. (2018). Consumer preferences related to street tastes: case of Gaziantep. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, 6(3), 40-59.
- Şengül, S., & Türkay, O. (2017). Local cuisine of Turkey. Detay Publishing Ankara.
- TurkishLanguageSociety(2020).BüyükTürkçeSözlük.http://www.tdk.gov.tr/index.php?option=com_bts&arama=kelime&guid=TDK.GTS.5b6e9e473f2d37.39451456
- Tencati, A.& L. Zsolnai. (2012). Collaborative enterprise and sustainability: The case of slow food. *Journal* of Business Ethics, 110, 345–354.
- This H. (2014). Note-by-Note Cooking: The future of food. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Turgut, M. F. Baykul, Y. (2015). Measurement and evaluation in education (7th Ed.). Pegem A publishing, Ankara
- VanLandingham, P.G. (1995). The effects of change in vocational, technical, and occupational education on the teaching of culinary arts in America. 1-11. https://doi.org/ED419696.4
- Vega, C., Ubbink, J. (2008). Molecular gastronomy: A food fad or science supporting innovative cuisine? *Trends In Food Science And Technology*, 19, 372–382.
- Yusof, Z. B., & Jamaludin, M. (2014). Barriers of Malaysian green hotels and resorts. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 501-509.
- Zahari, M.S.M., Jalis, M.H., Zulfifly, M.I., Radzi, S.M., & Othman, Z. (2009). Gastronomy: anopportunity for Malaysian culinary educators. *International Education Studies*, 2, 66-71.
- Zoran, A., & Coelho, M. (2011). Cornucopia: the concept of digital gastronomy, *Leonardo*, 44(5), 425-431.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Determination of science teaching students learning of several concepts of radyoactivity subject taught with emergency remote education and students' opinions on emergency remote education

Gamze Dolu ^a * 问

^a Balikesir University, Necatibey Faculty of Education, Science Education Department, Balıkesir, Turkey

Suggested citation: Dolu, G. (2021). Determination of science teaching students learning of several concepts of radyoactivity subject taught with emergency remote education and students' opinions on emergency remote education. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 702-725.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords:	With the negative impact of COVID-19 on educational activities, face-to-face education was suspended at universities and distance education was replaced with it.
Distance education	The aim of this study is to determine whether the students learned some concepts
Radioactivity	related to the subject of "radioactivity" taught by emergency remote education (ERE)
Science teaching	and to reveal the students' opinions on both ERE and teaching of this subject by ERE.
Emergency remote education	To this end, a qualitative study was conducted by asking five open-ended questions (29) to the students studying in the 1st year of Science Teaching Department in a public university in the spring semester of the 2020-2021 academic years. The data were collected through an online questionnaire and were analysed by content analysis. According to the results; it was determined that the students mostly learned the concepts taught by ERE and although they mostly had positive-negative views about ERE (52%), they reported more positive opinions (79%) about the subject "radioactivity" taught by ERE. The results obtained from this study is considered to
Research Article	contribute to the literature in terms of revealing both the learning of some concepts related to the subject and students' feedbacks from a broad perspective.

1. Introduction

Developments in the fields of science and technology require the change of our education system, taking into account the needs of the society. In our developing education system, besides the 2023 Education Vision, the teaching undergraduate programs applied in education faculties must also be qualified (Dağtekin & Zorluoğlu, 2018). For this reason, the council of higher education (YÖK) updated undergraduate teaching programs in our country in 2018. The reasons for updating the program involve structural changes in Turkish education system, societal needs and demands, and re-updating teacher training undergraduate programs by way of restructuring the departments of education faculties. In this context, with the General Assembly, resolution of the council of higher education (YÖK) dated 28.02.2017; the necessary transformations were made within the relevant faculties and institutes of our universities (YÖK, 2018). In addition, technology-based and applied courses were added to the curriculum in accordance with the Bologna process in higher education, course-teacher-technology association is being attempted to be created (Usta, 2018).

Received 18 Oct 2021; Revised 22 Dec 2021; Accepted 27 Dec 2021 ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author: Necatibey Faculty of Education, Science Education Department, Balikesir University, Balıkesir, Turkey. e-mail address: agamze@balikesir.edu.tr

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

Radyoactivity concept is included to the education program in consequence of re-updating teacher training undergradute programs. The subject of radioactivity was previously taught in the 3rd semester of the program in the General Physics III course in the universities, not in the chemistry courses of the 2007 science-teaching curriculum (YÖK, 2007). In the 2018 curriculum, this subject was removed from the General Physics III course and added to the Chemistry 2 course (YÖK, 2018). Therefore, the content of the Chemistry 2 course taught in the second semester of the 2018 Science Teaching Curriculum was rearranged, and the subject of "nuclear chemistry" was included in the content as nuclear chemistry (radioactivity, nuclear energy). In the secondary school textbooks of 2019, this subject was covered in the second semester under the title of "Introduction to atomic physics and radioactivity", which is the fourth unit of the 12th grade physics course (MEB, 2019). That is, the students participating in this study learn this subject within the scope of the physics course, not within the scope of the chemistry course, while in high school. Therefore, this subject can be considered as a common subject of both physics and chemistry. Within the framework of the explanations above, the subject of "radioactivity" was chosen as the subject of this study. From now on, the term "radioactivity" will be preferred in the use of the subject.

Developments in science and technology require the use of new technologies in the field of education. Undoubtedly, computers are at the forefront of these technologies. Studies demonstrate that computers are effective in increasing students' success and attitudes, facilitating their learning, teaching concepts and eliminating misconceptions (Akçay et al., 2007; Feyzioğlu, 2002; Morgil at al., 2003; Morgil et al., 2005; Yiğit & Akdeniz, 2003; Yumuşak, 2013). Uşun (2004) states that computer-assisted education can be carried out by applying four methods, one of which is the distance education method via the internet. In the literature, distance education is defined as a form of education process which maintains teachinglearning activities in a planned, systematic manner, independent of place and time by giving students flexibility, responsibility and selections (Bozkurt & Sharma, 2020; Greenberg, 1998; Moore & Kearsley, 2011). Bozkurt et al., (2020) describes distance education as "any educational process in which all or most of the teaching is conducted by someone removed in space and/or time from the learner, with the effect that all or most of the communication between teachers and learners is through an artificial medium, either electronic or print" (as cited in UNESCO, 2002, p. 22). In distance education, materials such as texts, videos, exercises are utilized more than personal interactions such as discussions, presentations and it is based on theoretical and practical knowledge related to the subject (Bozkurt et al., 2020; Rapanta, Botturi, Goodyear, Guàrdia, & Koole, 2020). On the other hand, emergency remote education (ERE) is encountered as a branch of distance education. Emergency remote education is also called as online learning, e-learning, m-learning or learning at home (Bozkurt et al., 2020). Emergency remote education is defined as a temporary solution by using all the sources online and/or offline during a crisis (Bozkurt et al., 2020; Bozkurt & Sharma, 2020a; 2020b; Hodges, Moore, Lockee, Trust, & Bond, 2020). The aim of distance education is to provide education to large masses, to reduce the cost of education, to bring long distances closer and to increase the permanence of information by providing as many repetitions as desired (Bayram et al., 2019; Karagöz, 2012). Distance education can be done asynchronously, synchronously or hybrid. Asynchronous distance education can be defined as the communication of participants without the need for simultaneous information sharing (Barker, 1999; Hellman, 2003; Wang, 2008). Information exchange in asynchronous distance education system; it takes place via e-mail or post and the educator delivers educational materials he /she produces to students via radio, television, mail, computer and/or internet (Hellman, 2003; İşman, 2005). Synchronous distance education is defined as simultaneous and interactive communication between participants (Barker, 1999; Hellman, 2003). In the synchronous distance education system, information exchange is provided by computer and internet, and is carried out via web conferencing over the internet (Karagöz, 2012). In web conferencing, both educators and students can see and hear each other at the same time, even if they are at different places. At the specified times, the educator starts a web conference/lesson from their computer via the internet and the students can attend this conference/lesson from their computers at the same time.

While listening to the conference/lecture, students can contact the educator and ask questions; Moreover, if they have webcams, speakers and microphones, they can also use them (Karagöz, 2012).

Especially in the current period that we are under the influence of COVID-19, a rapid transition has been made to computer-assisted emergency remote education, both synchronously, asynchronously and hybridly. As is known, in the spring semester of the 2019-2020 academic year, when COVID-19 first started, educational institutions were closed and quarantine practices were introduced gradually almost all over the world (Bozkurt & Sharma, 2020a; Bozkurt et al., 2020). For this reason, the process was launched so that students did not fall behind in their education and it turned out that the world would no longer be the same as before (Durak & Çankaya, 2020a; Durak, Çankaya & İzmirli, 2020). It is known that distance education can be performed as learner-centered, carried out anytime, anywhere, at any age, at any speed, and in any environment, has access to course materials and provides lifelong learning (Adıyaman, 2002; Durak & Ataizi, 2016; Kışla, 2016; Şenyuva, 2007; Usta, 2015; Usta, Uysal & Kur, 2016).

As in every technological development, distance education also has some advantages and limitations. Şenyuva (2007) lists the benefits of web-based distance education as follows: it allows students to come together in the web environment to communicate effectively, to review the topics, to reach the instructors in real time and the audience working in a job and studying at the same time, to receive instant feedback from the students and to create a rich educational environment with its access to audio-visual tools and other resources. In the same study, the author lists the limitations of web-based distance education as follows: creating some psychological and sociological elements in students, inability to perform skills and attitude-oriented behaviours adequately, failure to prevent incorrect learning in a timely manner, giving courses that are not suitable for distance education, such as laboratories and workshops, through distance education, inadequate computer network infrastructure, inadequate planning of the teaching-learning process and greater effort by students and educators. In the study of Oliveira, Penedo ve Pereira (2018), it is stated that the advantages of distant education are flexibility, content availability, low cost, studying at home at any time you want: while the disavantages are difficulty of asking questions and difficulty of disciplining

2. Literature

Studies on distance education/emergency remote education

Karatepe, Küçükgençay and Peker (2020) conducted a study with primary school mathematics, science and classroom teacher candidates receiving synchronous education and tried to determine the perceptions of pre-service teachers regarding synchronous education. At the end of the study, they determined that candidates have a negative attitude towards synchronous courses, are unwilling to use distance education method and do not to see themselves adequately and do not consider online courses as the future of education. In addition, they determined that the most useful method of synchronous courses is oral presentations. Türküresin, (2020) examined the opinions of teacher candidates related to distance education carried out during COVID-19 Pandemic Period by qualitative and quantitative data collection methods. According to the quantitative results of the study; considering the opinions of teacher candidates towards distance education, they were partially satisfied with it; on the other hand, significant differences were determined according to the variables of gender, accessing the Internet and the status of following the course and internet access quota. In qualitative results, the opinions of the teacher candidates were primarily divided into two themes as "the advantages of distance education" and "disadvantages of distance education". Afterwards, its advantages are divided into three categories as "being economic", "repetition" and "time and space flexibility". Its disadvantages are divided into six categories as "the Impermanence of learning", "measurement and evaluation issues", "disciplinary problems", "internet shortages", "system problems" and "lack of interaction". It was determined that its advantages are in the

In another study, the researchers examined the opinions of 32 students from four different universities on emergency distance education during the Covid-19 pandemic period by applying an online questionnaire consisting of open-ended questions. As a result, it was determined that two of the four universities used Microsoft Teams software as a distance education system, while the other two used Moodle and ALMS software, and students who used Microsoft Teams, where synchronous lessons were held, were more satisfied with this process. In addition, students' opinions on some issues such as the positive and negative aspects of the distance education system, the communication of students with the instructor, getting feedback, socialization, motivation, academic performance, comparison with traditional teaching were also determined. While almost all of the students were anxious before distance education, it was concluded that their anxiety completely disappeared after receiving synchronous education (Durak & Çankaya, 2020b). Microsoft Teams software was also used in this study.

According to the results obtained by Bostan Sarioğlan, Altaş and Şen (2020), in which they investigated the opinions of 34 science teachers about experimentation in the science course, during the distance education period, teachers determined that they had difficulties in experimenting due to material and technical deficiencies, students' motivation was low and active participation was insufficient. However, they stated that visuality attracted students' attention and that it was safer to conduct some experiments.

In another study, by the opinion survey the researchers prepared, they determined the opinions of 22 people consisting of science teacher candidates, graduate and doctorate students about distance education in the spring term of 2019-2020. In the study, they determined that participants found distance education advantageous in terms of time and opportunity, but disadvantageous in terms of laboratory applications and they asked distance education to continue for theoretical lessons (Benzer & Akkaya, 2021). Zorlu (2020) examined the opinions and suggestions of eight science teacher candidates by applying the cooperative learning model to distance education. Zorlu determined that most of the teacher candidates thought that it would be beneficial to apply this model in distance education environments and benefits group work, time management and socialization.

Different tools and materials are used in distance education. Durak et al. (2020) in their study asked those who were in charge of the emergency distance education period from 208 universities they determined as participants what tools and materials they could utilize in the system used at universities. They determined these as lecture videos, presentation files (power point, etc.), lecture notes (pdf, word, etc.), use of questionnaire, submission of assignment, exam, discussion/sharing forum and chat. These tools and materials were also used in this study. In some studies examining the benefits of distance education, it was stated that it provides students with the opportunity to participate in educational activities wherever and whenever teachers are located, allows them to re-watch the videos, reduces the cost of education and saves time (Benzer & Akkaya, 2021; Demiray, 1999; Fidan, 2016; Moore & Kearsley, 2011). In some studies examining the problems of distance education, they state that due to the lack of active interaction in distance education, it restricts the socialization of the individual students who do not know technology have difficulties in learning. Moreover, there are problems in teaching some practical courses through distance education, students are overburdened with responsibility and inequalities in access to education are revealed (Altiparmak et al., 2011; Altuntaş Yılmaz, 2020; Anderson, 2020; Bayram et al., 2019; Bostan Sarıoğlan et al., 2020; Can, 2020; Horzum, 2003; Usta et al., 2016).

Rapanta et al., (2020) states that it is necessary to make the courses simpler and to reduce the expectations from the students in order to decrease their anxiety level while heading emergency remote education during COVID-19 Pandemics. Because students have to deal with serious emotional stress and quarantine conditions brought by the pandemics, it will be more difficult to adapt to mew learning and teaching styles. Hence, it is highlighted to eliminate the unnecessary parts of the curriculum to decrease the

studying load of the students. Also, how students explain those process should be more important than how the educational content is presented successfully (Bozkurt, & Sharma, 2020a; Holme, 2020). In a study in which the subject of Chemistry of Food and Cooking was explained as non-STEM to undergraduate students during the transition period to emergency distance education, the researchers applied a questionnaire measuring students' motivation and expectations for taking the chemistry course and their scientific literacy before and after the instruction. According to the results of their studies, it is determined that the teaching met the expectations of the students in teaching the chemical concepts of Chemistry of Food and Cooking, the students had difficulty in sticking to the course in emergency distance education, some students were affected much more by the interruption of education, the participation of the students in asynchronous courses increased compared to the synchronous courses and it was effective in improving scientific literacy (Perets et al. al., 2020). Sunasee (2020) in his study comparing synchronous classroom participation with face-to-face classroom participation, it has been determined that problem solving exercises in synchronous and asynchronous teaching are effective on student learning and increasing student participation, on the other hand, approximately 64% of students prefer face-to-face teaching instead of online teaching in learning Organic Chemistry. In addition, the researchers found that students experience emotional difficulties during emergency distance education, they face obstacles such as the lack of starting university life, students with no/restricted internet access cannot attend synchronous courses to a large extent and this creates an inequality of opportunity, and it is also obtained that students missed in-person laboratory courses that help to learn chemistry (Giri & Dutta, 2020; Jeffery & Bauer, 2020; Sandi-Urena, 2020; Van Heuvelen, Daub & Ryswyk, 2020).

Studies on radioactivity

When looking at the literature, many studies on this subject have been found at the high school level (Henriksen & Jorde, 2001; Nakiboğlu & Bülbül Tekin, 2006; Yalçın, 2003). There are many studies conducted especially in the 2002-2003 academic year (Akçay et al., 2007) In the 2002-2003 academic year, by teaching the subject of radioactivity to the 2nd grade of high school using computer aided and traditional methods, they examined students' success in chemistry course and their attitudes towards chemistry course. As a result of the study, they determined that computerized education had a positive effect on students' attitudes and increased students 'success more. Morgil, Yılmaz and Uludağ (2004) examined the content, teaching and learning activities on the subject of "Radioactivity". In the 2002-2003 academic year, a 20-question Radioactivity Knowledge Test was applied to 184 students studying at second-year at high school to evaluate their knowledge on radioactivity. They determined that the students gave 90.8%-31%-correct answers to the questions in this test, that their knowledge of radioactivity was limited to the topics in the textbooks, and that they had no knowledge of health, environment and radiation technology.

In another study, researchers identified second-year high school students' misconceptions about radioactivity in the 2002-2003 school year by conducting a radioactivity concept test and interviewing specific students. They investigated the effectiveness of textbooks in the formation and reinforcement of these misconceptions. At the end of the study, it was determined that some of the misconceptions identified in the students were also in the textbooks and that some expressions, pictures and figures in the books were arranged in a way that would lead the students to misconceptions (Yalçın & Kılıç, 2005). Tezcan, Yılmaz and Babaoğlu (2005), in the 2002-2003 academic year, compared the effects of the traditional method and the collaborative method on success on 79 second year high school students regarding the subject Radioactivity. For this purpose, they applied the 15-question radioactivity concept test to the students before and after the instruction and concluded that the collaborative method was more successful than the traditional method.

In the 2008/2009 academic year, the subject of radioactivity was taught through the problem-based learning (PBL) approach to the students who took the Nuclear Physics I course. The effect of this approach on student achievement, radioactivity achievement test and the use of radioactivity in age

determination were measured with two open-ended questions. As a result, it was determined that this approach did not increase students' success in radioactivity adequately (Taşoğlu & Bakaç, 2011). In another study, researchers studied on 16 teacher candidates who took Nuclear Physics I and Nuclear Physics Laboratory I courses in the fall semester of 2015-2016 and researched the modelling with the traditional method in eliminating misconceptions about radioactivity and the effect of attitudes towards nuclear incidents and gender on misconceptions on this subject. As a result of the study, they determined that there was no significant difference between the methods and that attitude and gender had no effect on misconceptions (Bakaç & Taşoğlu, 2016). In another study, in the 2000-2001 academic year, researchers studied on 180 students studying in the second year of high school and taught the subject of "radioactivity" through the traditional method in the control group and through the constructivist method in the experimental group. In addition, they applied a 20-question concept test they prepared as a pre-test and post-test before and after instruction. According to the results; by selecting 13 students from both groups through interview, they determined the reason for the misconceptions that could not be eliminated from the exam results and that the experimental group was more successful (Tezcan & Erçoklu, 2010). Yumuşak (2013) used conceptual change texts in order to eliminate the existing misconceptions about radioactivity in science teacher candidates, examined the effects of computer-assisted and traditional teaching and concluded that computer assisted instruction was more effective.

The aim of this research is to determine whether the concepts about the subject of radioactivity are learnt as a result of the conduction of emergency remote education by science teaching students. Also, it is intended to specify the opinions of the students on emergency remote education in a general manner. For this reason, emergency remote education, the subject of "radioactivity" was taught synchronously by using the existing learning management system of the university and the live course software Microsoft Teams. The course was given for two weeks, 90 minutes twice a week, for a total of 720 minutes. During the lecture, lecture videos, power point presentations, lecture notes were used and discussions with students were made to ensure understanding of the subject.

2.1. Research questions

Within the scope of this research, answers were sought to the following questions:

- 1. Although the beta particle (β) is not in the nucleus of the atom, how do radioactive atoms eject this particle?
- 2. Although gamma (y) rays do not change an atom's atomic number and mass number, why do radioactive atoms emit gamma radiation?
- 3. On what does it depend whether a radioactive atom is stable or not?
- 4. What do you think about emergency remote education?
- 5. What do you think about learning the subject of "radioactivity" through emergency remote education?

3. Methodology

If necessary, subheadings should be used. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit. Fusce ac fringilla nisi. Vivamus nibh mi, pretium sed est sit amet, lacinia ultrices nunc. Aliquam laoreet ut massa vitae consequat. Nunc luctus nisi quam, vitae placerat justo vulputate ac. Donec iaculis eu nibh nec venenatis. Maecenas lobortis bibendum sem et interdum. Phasellus et egestas felis. Donec id sodales dui.

3.1. Research Model/Design

The research was conducted in the form of one group pretest-post-test design which is one of quasiexperimental designs (Cohen, Manion & Morrison, 2007, p.272). In this design, it is determined whether there is a significant difference in the behaviours of the participants depending on time (Bakaç & Taşoğlu, 2016). In this design, experimental application is made in a single group and dependent variables determined before and after the application are measured and interpreted to see the effect of the application (Cohen, Manion & Morrison, 2007, s.282; Fraenkel, Wallen & Hyun, 2012).

The one group pretest-post-test design can be represented as: (Cohen, Manion & Morrison, 2007, s.282)

Euronim ontol	Pre-test	Treatment	Post-test
Experimental	Q 1	Х	Q2

Q1: Pre-test

X: Computer-assisted teaching of the subject of "radioactivity"

Q₂: Post-test

3.2. Data Collecting Tools

An online questionnaire consisting of open-ended questions was used in the research. The research consists of two stages. In the first stage, three open-ended questions were prepared by the researcher in order to determine whether some concepts were learned or not as a result of computer-assisted teaching of the subject of "radioactivity" through distance education. These questions were applied to the students as a pre-test before the research and as a post-test afterwards. In the second stage, two open-ended questions were prepared in order to determine the opinions of the students about distance education. These questions were applied to the students after the research. Thus, a questionnaire form consisting of five open-ended questions was created for the students. The purpose of the study was explained to the students with an instruction given at the beginning of the test. The data of the study were collected on the internet and the students were given 45 minutes to answer the test. In addition, after the pre-test was applied to the students of the students, their opinions about what they learned about radioactivity while in high school were recorded by conducting a collective interview for 25 minutes.

3.2. Sample

The sample of this research consists of 29 students, 24 girls and 5 boys, who are studying in the first year of the science-teaching program at the faculty of education of a state university in the Marmara region. The sample of the research was determined by the easily accessible sampling method, which is one of the non-random sampling methods, which is one of the purposive sampling methods (Yıldırım, & Şimşek, 2008, s.107). This sampling method allows researchers to reach the sample in a short time and to make an easy application (Baltacı, 2018; Büyüköztürk, Kılıç Çakmak, Akgün, Karadeniz & Demirel, 2018, p.91; Yağar & Dökme, 2018). In addition, the researcher sample in convenient sampling determines by selecting a sufficient number of items from the already existing items (Singleton, B. Straits & M. Staraits, 2005).

3.2. Data Analysis

The data obtained from the test were analysed by content analysis. In content analysis, first, concepts and themes that can explain the collected data are created. Afterwards, these concepts and themes are organized and interpreted in a way that the reader can understand (Selçuk, Palancı, Kandemir & Dündar, 2014; Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2008, p.227). In this context, for the analysis of the data, the researcher carefully read the answers given by the students to each question of the test one by one. Afterwards, each student's paper was coded with a letter and a number. For example, student number 13 was coded as "S13". Then, common categories were created for the answers to each question of the test.

In this study, a week later, the researcher examined the answer categories determined for each question in order to ensure reliability in terms of time. In addition, the finalized categories were rearranged with feedback from three researchers who were experts in their fields. Each expert independently read the

answers of seven randomly selected students (~20% of the sample) and evaluated them according to the created categories. When the evaluation results were compared, Inter-coder reliability was achieved by determining the percentage of agreement to be 85% (Miles & Huberman, 1994). The fact that the percentage of agreement is more than 70% indicates that the analysis is reliable (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2008, p.259). In addition, the findings obtained from the analysis of the data are presented in tables by specifying frequency and percentage frequency values. If the student's answer includes more than one category, this answer is also included in the other categories. Therefore, the total frequency and percentage value of the relevant category in the tables may be higher than the number of participants. In addition, by giving example sentences from the answers of the participants, the categories were attempted to be made more understandable.

The categories determined for the analysis of the first, second and third questions of the research and which types of answers are included in these categories are explained below (Dolu & Ürek, 2015):

Correct: The answers in this category include all explanations accepted as scientifically correct.

Partially misconception: The answers in this category include answers that do not fully explain the required explanation for the question, but provide incomplete explanations.

Misconception: The answers in this category are those that do not match scientific facts and contain misconceptions.

Irrelevant: The answers in this category contain illogical explanations Irrelevant to the answer to the question and have no scientific value.

No response: In this category, the questions were either left blank or answered; as I do not remember/I do not, know.

The fourth and fifth questions of the study were only asked in the post-test as they were related to teaching. The analysis of these two questions was carried out in two parts. For the first part, three categories were determined as positive, negative and positive-negative answers. In the second part, separate sub-categories were created for these two questions and analysed.

3.3. Findings and Discussions

In this part of the research, the frequency values of the answers given by the students to the research questions after the teaching were determined and visualized in tables. In addition, Sample student statements for each category were given in order for the defined categories to be more understandable.

3.3.1. Findings Related to the First Question of the Study

The findings obtained from the students' answers to the question "Although the beta particle (β) is not in the nucleus of the atom, how do radioactive atoms eject this particle?" evaluated in five categories. Analysis results are presented in Table 1 as frequency (f) and percentage frequency (f %).

Table 1.

	Pr	Pre-test		Post-test	
Categories	f	% f	f	% f	
correct	1	4	19	65	
partially misconception	0	0	6	21	
misconception	6	20	0	0	
irrelevant	2	7	2	7	
no response	20	69	2	7	
total	29	100	29	100	

Findings related to the first question of the study

When Table 1. is examined, it is seen that the highest frequency in the pre-test answers of the students is in the "no response" category (69%) and this is followed by the categories of "misconception" (20%), "correct" (4%) and "irrelevant" (7%). In addition, it was determined that there was no response in the "partially misconception" category. On the other hand, in the post-test answers, it is seen that the percentage frequency value is in the highest "correct" category (65%). This is followed by the "partially misconception" category with a frequency of 21%. Student answers concentrate a pleasing result on these two categories. In addition to these results, it was determined that the post-test answers of the students were equal to each other (7%), in the "Irrelevant " and "no response" categories. It is also pleasing that there were no students who had misconceptions. Below is an example of student answers for each category:

Correct: "Nuclear with neutron/proton > 1 emit beta radiation. The neutron particles in the nucleus are broken down into electrons and protons. Since electrons cannot be found in the nucleus, these electrons are ejected" (S14).

Partially misconception: "Nuclear with neutron/proton >1 emit beta radiation and become stable" (S22).

Misconception: "Beta particles are around the nucleus. If the atom is energized, these particles will fly out" (S21).

Irrelevant: "The location of the neutron in the nucleus is not the nucleusa and it removes it from the atom by radiation" (S28).

3.3.2. Findings Related to the Second Question of the Research

The findings obtained from the student answers related to the research question, "Although gamma (γ) rays do not change an atom's atomic number and mass number, why do radioactive atoms emit gamma radiation?" were evaluated in five categories. The results are shown in Table 2.

Table 2.

	Pre-test		Post-test	
Categories	f	% f	f	% f
correct	7	24	29	100
partially misconception	3	10	0	0
misconception	7	24	0	0
irrelevant	1	4	0	0
no response	11	38	0	0
total	29	100	29	100

Findings related to the Second question of the Research

According to Table 2, when looking at the pre-test, it is seen that the highest value is in the "no response" category (38%). This is followed by the "correct" and "misconception" categories with equal value (24%). When the post-test answers are examined, it is seen that all the answers are only in the "correct" category. It is a pleasing result that there are no student answers in other categories. Below is a student answer belonging to the "correct" category:

Correct: "Because being stable doesn't just mean n/p=1, it also has to have a minimum of energy. *Therefore, the atom emits gamma radiation to minimize the energy*" (S12).

Partially misconception: "This may be to control the intense energy contained in the Core" (S13).

Misconception: "gamma radiation is made to go from the excited state to the ground state (S28).

Irrelevant: "Every atom emits alpha, beta, gamma radiation" (S4).

3.3. Findings Related to the Third Question of the Research

The findings obtained from the student answers related to the research question, "On what does it depend whether a radioactive atom is stable or not?" were evaluated in five categories. The results are shown in Table 3.

Table 3.

Findings related to the Third Question of the Research

	Pre-test		Post-test	
Categories	f	% f	f	% f
correct	0	0	21	70
partially misconception	13	45	8	30
misconception	4	14	0	0
irrelevant	3	10	0	0
no response	9	31	0	0
total	29	100	29	100

When Table 3.is examined; the highest value of the answers given by the students in the pre-test is in the category of "partly correct" (45%). It is followed by the categories "no response" (31%), "misconception" (14%) and "Irrelevant" (10%). On the other hand, when the post-test answers of the students are examined, it is noteworthy that the answers of the students are gathered in two categories as "correct" (70%) and "partly correct" (30%), and there are no response belonging to the other categories. Below is a student answer belonging to these two categories:

Correct: "Stable atoms do not radiate. The neutron/proton ratio should be one. Its energy must be minimal" (S20).

Partially misconception: "it depends on the neutron/proton ratio being one" (S29).

Misconception: "It depends on its resemblance to noble gas. This is its attempt to make its last layer look like a noble gas" (S15).

Irrelevant: *"it depends on the electrical repulsion force between the protons in the nucleus, and the weak nuclear force" (S17).*

3.3.4. Findings Related to the Fourth Question of the Research

The findings obtained from the student answers related to the research question "What do you think about emergency remote education?" were evaluated in two parts. In the first part, student answers were evaluated in general terms and presented in three categories (Table 4a). In the second part, in order to exemplify positive and negative student ideas; due to the wide variety of expressions used by students in their explanations, instead of giving sample student answers one by one, the opinions were tabulated in sub-categories. Expressions given to positive answers were divided into eight sub-categories and expressions given to negative answers were divided into eleven sub-categories, in total, were shown in nineteen subcategories (Table 4b). In addition, since a student's response includes more than one subcategory, the total frequency values differ.

Table 4a.

Findings of the first part of the fourth question of the research

Categories	f	% f
positive answers	3	10
negative answers	11	38
positive-negative answers	15	52
total	29	100

When Table 4a is examined; while half of the students (52%) express their thoughts about emergency remote education, it is seen that they make both positive and negative sentences in their answers. In addition, while the percentage frequency value of students who made only negative statements about emergency remote education was 38%, the percentage frequency value of students who made only positive statements was determined as 10%. Student answers for each category are given below:

Positive answer: "I think it contributed. Although not face-to-face, it feels like we are at the university. We continue our lessons with the same stability. Even if we cannot attend the classes for some reason, we have the opportunity to listen later. With facilities such as videos, blackboards, and exchange of questions, the focus on the lessons increases. We can learn the subjects in detail and in a fun way" (S7).

Negative answer: "I think that distance education made us very tired both psychologically and physically. Being at the computer all the time, not leaving the house, not seeing our friends and our university, quashed the desire to study in us. In addition, although I studied some courses, not receiving the compensation for my studies also affected me negatively. Therefore, I do not find distance education beneficial at all" (P27).

Positive-negative answer: "I think it is easy in terms of accessibility, as we have the opportunity to watch the course recording again in distance education but not everyone has the same conditions. I think there are students who do not have a computer and have internet problems. Also, we listen to the lecture when we are in the classroom but while at the computer or because the environment is not available, sometimes we cannot focus" (P26).

Table 4b.

Categories	Sub-categorys	f	%f
positive answers	being able to watch the course recording again	10	50
	comfort	2	10
	being with a family	2	10
	productivity	2	10
	saving time	1	5
	more possibilities	1	5
	practicality	1	5
	creating a classroom environment	1	5
	total	20	100
	difficulty of focusing/understanding	15	36
	connection/internet problems	7	17
negative answers	less catchy	5	12
	communication difficulties	4	9
	boring	4	9
	not being able to feel like a university student	2	5
	studying harder	2	5
	short exam time	2	5
	fatigue	1	2
	total	42	100

Findings of the second part of the fourth question of the research

When Table 4b is examined, it is seen that the expressions given to negative answers (eleven subcategories) are much more diverse than the expressions given to positive answers (eight sub-categories). Half of the positive answers (50%) are in the sub-category of "being able to watch the course recording again" (S1, S7, S13, S14, S20, S21, S23, S25, S26, S29). It was determined that the closest and equal frequencies (10%) were in the sub-categories of "comfort" (S5, S18), "being with a family" (S11, S21) and "productivity" (S6, S9). In addition, it is seen that the subcategories of "saving time" (S14), "more possibilities" (S7), "practicality" (S5) and "creating a classroom environment" (S28) have a frequency value of 5%.

It is seen that negative answers are mostly collected in the "difficulty of focusing/understanding" subcategory (36%) (S1, S2, S3, S5, S7, S9, S10, S12, S15, S16, S19, S23, S24, S25, S26). It was determined that this is followed by "connection/internet problems" (17%) (S11, S14, S16, S19, S21, S23, S26) and "less catchy" (12%) sub-categories (S2, S3, S19, S21, S27). In addition, the percentage frequency of the "communication difficulties" (S1, S8, S18, S25) and "boring" (S17, S20, S23, S27) subcategories is the same and is 9%. Again, with the same percentage frequency (5%), there are student answers in the subcategories of "not being able to feel like a university student" (S7, S24), "studying harder" (S4, S22) and "short exam time" (S13, S24). In addition, there is only one student (S27) answer in the "fatigue" subcategory.

3.3.5. Findings Related to the Fifth Question of the Research

The findings obtained from the student answers related to the research question; "What do you think about learning the subject of "radioactivity" through emergency remote education? "are shown in Table 5a in three categories as "positive", "negative" and "positive-negative". In addition, sub-categories were created to exemplify positive and negative student opinions. Expressions given to both positive and negative answers consist of three sub-categories. In addition, since a student's response includes more than one sub-category, the total frequency values differ.

Table 5a.

Findings of the first part of the fifth question of the research

Categories	f	% f
positive answers	23	79
negative answers	2	7
positive-negative answers	4	14
total	29	100

When Table 5a is examined; while the students express their opinions about learning the subject of radioactivity through emergency remote education, they make positive statements largely (79%). In addition, it was determined that the percentage frequency value of the students who made both positive and negative statements was 14% (S9, S18, S24, S27) and the percentage frequency value of the students who made only negative statements was 7% (S15, S22). Student answers for each category are given below:

Positive answer: "I did not experience any difficulties. Distance education did not have a negative effect" (S6).

Negative answer: "It was a little late and difficult for me to learn this subject through distance education. I think that this subject can be understood more easily in face-to-face education" (S22).

Positive-negative answer: "It was a well-understood subject. The subject of radioactivity was slower but quite persistent. I would prefer it to be face to face" (S9).

Table 5b.

Findings of the second part of the fifth question of the research

Categories	Sub-categorys	f	% f
	I learned in detail and clearly	21	68
positive answers	I did not have any difficulties	6	19
-	course content and materials were sufficient	4	13
	total	31	100
	I would prefer to be face to face	5	46
negative answers	I understood it a little harder	3	27
-	more questions need to be solved	3	27
	total	11	100

According to Table 5b, students gathered in the sub-category of "I learned in detail and clearly" (68%), mostly a positive opinion about learning the subject of "radioactivity" through emergency remote education. As an example of the answers given by the students about this sub-category as follows; "we grasped the reason and logic of the things we learned" (S8), "when they taught me the basics, I understood all of them easily, I understood that I did not need to memorize and I learned easily" (S12), "we learned without memorizing" (S21, S23), "because it was detailed and well taught, I understood it very clearly" (S24). This is followed by the sub-categories "I did not have any difficulties" (19%) (S1, S6, S10, S19, S23, S25) and "course content and materials were sufficient" (13%) (S5, S9, S12, S14). Another sub-category is "I had no difficulties" (19%).The following can be given as examples of the answers of the students in this category; "I did not have much difficulty in distance education because it is a verbal subject" (S1), "I thought I would have difficulties at first, but the question and answer teaching method was used in the lessons and we felt like we were in a classroom environment. I realized that it is a very understandable and learnable subject, thanks to the fact that everything related to the subject is explained from the very beginning" (S23).

It was determined that the answers that had negative opinions about learning "radioactivity" through emergency remote education were mostly in the "I would prefer to be face to face" (46%) (S9, S15, S18, S22, S27) sub-category. This is followed by the sub-categories of "I understood it a little harder" (S15, S20, S22) %) and "more questions need to be solved" (S4, S24, S27) with an equal percentage frequency (27).

After the pre-test applied at the beginning of this study, the students were asked for their opinions on what they learned about radioactivity while in high school. As an example of these opinions of all students: "We were going to cover these subjects in the 2nd semester in high school but quarantine started in March and the Minister of Education made a statement. He said that only the first level subjects were included in the exam. Therefore, the question on this subject did not appear in the university exam. Therefore, the teachers did not cover this subject. They told the teachers to focus on other subjects since they would not be asked, and they did not teach it. Therefore, only graduates know about this subject" (S4), "We saw bits and pieces in physics, but we didn't remember anything" (S21). "We saw it, but we memorized it, so I don't remember at all" (S28), "We didn't cover the rest of the topics after the restriction. We went back and restudied the topics that would be asked in the exam." This result of the research is also similar to the results of the studies in the literature.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

The subject of radioactivity includes many abstract concepts. It is extremely important to concretize the concepts in order to be understood well. For this purpose, the use of computer aided materials can embody many processes that cannot be shown and present them to the student. In this way, both students' misconceptions can be eliminated and possible misconceptions can be prevented (Yumuşak 2013). In addition, computer-assisted instruction increases students' interest in the lesson. Learning shortens the

teacher's time and makes students more active (Kıyıcı & Yumuşak, 2005). Yalçın and Kılıç (2005) determined that at university exams, no conceptual questions were asked about radioactivity and because teachers and students did not give importance to this issue and did not allocate much time in high schools and it was the last subject of the basic chemistry courses in the first year of universities, this subject could not be taught. Similar answers were received when the students were asked about what they learned about radioactivity in high school after the pretest applied at the beginning of this study.

In the first question of the research (Table 1), while the students did not answer this question with the highest frequency (69%) in the pre-test, the frequency of this category (7%) decreased significantly in the post-test. In addition, while 20% of the students had a misconception in the pre-test, there was no response in this category in the post-test. In addition to these, and most importantly, the students could hardly give a correct answer to this question in the pre-test (4%), but gave the correct answer at the rate of 65% in the post-test. In addition, while the answers in the "partially misconception" category were absent in the pre-test, they were found at the rate of 21% in the post-test. Although the answers in this category do not include the correct answer to the question, considering that some of them are accepted as correct, it can be concluded that the students learned the answer to this question correctly largely. In addition, the absence of students with misconceptions supports this result. In this question, students mostly confuse the β^{-} particle with the electrons orbiting the nucleus. Because the β^{-} particle is also a high speed electron and is also denoted as $_{-1}^{0} \rho^{-}$. The β -particle is formed in atoms with n/p > 1 (unstable nucleus) by the disintegration of neutrons into electrons and protons, whereas it is not associated with delocalized electrons circulating around the nucleus (Çelik, 2018; Dolu & Ürek, 2017; Dönmez Usta, 2011; Molu, et al. 2016; Yumuşak, Maraş & Şahin, 2016).

Considering the pre-test of the second question of the research (Table 2), it was determined that there were frequency values for each category. In the pre-test, it was seen that the highest frequency was in the category of "no response" (38%). For this situation, it can be said that students do not have much knowledge about the answer to this question. As stated above, the statements made by the students in the oral interviews with the students after the pre-test support this situation. In addition, in Table 2, it is seen that there were "correct" and "misconception" categories with equal frequency (24%) in the pre-test. This is followed by the "partially misconception (10%) and "irrelevant" categories. It is noteworthy that in the post-test, all of the answers were only in the "correct" category. The fact that all students who participated in the research answered the question about "radioactivity" taught through computer-assisted distance education were correct can be explained by the fact that all students learned this concept correctly. Yumuşak (2013) also determined in his study that computer-assisted instruction was effective in eliminating students' misconceptions about radioactivity. In addition, the reason why most students have misconceptions about this question is that they think of the atom as excited because gamma rays are very energetic. (Colclough, Lock & Soare, 2011; Çelik, 2018; Dönmez Usta, 2011; Tezcan & Erçoklu, 2010). In the literature, there are several studies which indicate misconceptions of the students about radioactivity (Cardoso, Nunes, Silva, Braghittoni & Trindade, 2020; Hull & Hopf, 2020; Ioannis, & Konstantinos, 2021; Siersma, Pol, van Joolingen & Visscher, 2021)

Although there was no response in the "correct" answer category in the pre-test to the third question of the research, it is a pleasing result that this category had the highest frequency value (70%) in the post-test. It can be said that none of the students answered this question correctly in the pre-test, and they were not sure about the answer to this question before, but they had partial knowledge. In addition, while the highest value of the answers given by the students in the pre-test was in the category of "partly correct" (45%), the decrease in this value to 30% in the post-test can be explained by the fact that the answers turned into correct. In addition, while the highest frequency was in the "no response " category (31%) in the pre-test, this category was not found in the post-test. While there were answers to the categories "misconception" (14%) and "Irrelevant" (10%) in the pre-test, the absence of these categories in the post-test supports this result. It can be said that the computer-assisted distance education made here is effective

and similar misconceptions are eliminated. In addition, students often confuse the stability of nuclear reactions with the stability of chemical reactions in this question. In nuclear reactions, stability is n/p=1 and energy is minimum (Dolu & Ürek, 2017). Stability in chemical reactions, on the other hand, is the completion of the valence electrons in the last layer of atoms to the octet (Mortimer, 2004, p.89). Morales López and Tuzón Marco, (2021) point out that students have confusion about chemical reactions and radioactivity, adding that the students think radioactivity of the substances is due to the nuclei, electron number, atomic structure, chemical composition and stability of the electrons. There are studies in the literature that examine similar misconceptions. (Erçoklu, 2001; Kılıç & Yalçın, 2004; Nakiboğlu & Bülbül Tekin, 2006; Prather & Harrington, 2001; Tezcan & Erçoklu, 2010; Yalçın, 2003).

According to the results of the first part obtained from the fourth question of the research (Table 4a); it was determined that a very large percentage of students (52%) had both positive and negative opinions about emergency remote education. This situation can be explained by the answers of the students talking about both the advantages and disadvantages of distance education. In addition, this result shows that students look at distance education from a broad perspective. This result of the study is also similar to the results of the studies in the literature (Bayram et al., 2019; Bostan Sarioğlan, Şen & Altaş, 2021; Gürleyik & Akdemir, 2018; Keskin & Özer, 2020; Orhan, 2016; Şimşek, T. İskenderoğlu, M. İskenderoğlu, 2010; Türküresin, 2020). Besides, it is also seen that there are students who think only negatively about distance education (38%) and students who think only positively (10%). Akyol (2020) determined that although students receiving tourism education at the associate degree level generally had positive opinions about distance education applications during the Covid-19 pandemic period, the fact that the exams applied with the classical method forced the students. This result is similar to the result of the research conducted.

According to the results of the second part obtained from the fourth question of the research (Table 4b); it is noteworthy that students have more negative thoughts (f=42) about emergency remote education compared to positive opinions (f=20). Similar results to this result are also found in the literature (Benzer & Akkaya, 2021; Karatepe et al., 2002; Türküresin, 2020). In addition, the number of subcategories of the negative category is eleven, which is more than the number of positive subcategories (eight). This shows that the expressions given to the negative answers are more diverse. In the explanations of the students who think positively, the sub-category of "watching the course recording again" constitutes 50% of the answers. In this subcategory, students state that as they can have an access to their course records whenever they want if they cannot attend the lesson, they can repeat the lesson as much as they want. This contributes greatly to the better learning of the lesson. Moreover, in Table 4b; it is seen that the subcategories of "comfort", "being with a family" and "productivity" have the same frequency (10%).In addition, it is seen that there are student answers in the sub-categories of "saving time", "more opportunities", "practicality" and "creating a classroom environment" at the same frequency (5%). Akyol (2020) also determined a similar result in his study and associate degree tourism students stated that their expenses decreased because they were with their families during the distance education process. As a result of their study, Ojo and Olakulehin (2013) remark that students carry positive opinions about distance education since they have flexibility during learning and learning becomes easier with the use of a wide range of course materials. In addition, similar results were obtained in the literature (Aksoy, Bozkurt, & Kurşun, 2021; Bozkurt ve Sharma 2020b; Türküresin, 2020; Fidan, 2016; Moore & Kearsley, 2011)

Students negatively state that they mostly experienced "focus / understanding problems" (36%) and that they encountered "internet problems" (17%). In addition, when looking at the answers in the "reducing memorability" (12%) sub-category, the students stated that fewer examples were solved and less number of applications and experiments were performed. Besides, at the same frequency (9%), they state that they had "communication difficulties" with their friends and teachers, and that it was "boring" to listen to lectures because they were at home and in front of the screen. In a similar way, at equal frequency (5%), they state that they "could not feel like a university student", "had to work harder", "exam times were

short" and they were "tired" (2%) psychologically and physically (S27). Benzer and Akkaya (2021) in their studies with science teaching candidates graduate and doctorate students determined that the participants mostly expressed the negative aspects of distance education as systemic problems such as internet connection problems and audio-video disorders. Moreover, conducted research demonstrates that the participants' negative perceptions stem from the absence of face to face interactions between students and teachers and the quality of education is reduced by the incorrect applications during examinations (Ojo & Olakulehin, 2013; Ukwueze, 2016). Besides, in their study, Bozkurt and Sharma (2020b) the use of digital tools during online education influence both students and teachers negatively and causes fatigue. Those negative influences are listed as staring at the screen constantly, difficulties in focusing, problems in adapting to online timing, inconsistencies between real and virtual world, disconnections between body and mind which bring burnout. This result is similar to the result of the study. In addition, similar results were obtained in the literature (Aksoy, Bozkurt, & Kurşun, 2021; Altuntaş Yılmaz, 2020; Bostan Sarıoğlan, et al., 2020; Jeffery & Bauer, 2020; Kaumba, Mphahlele, Muleya & Simui, 2021; Önal & Özdemir, 2021; Petillion & McNeil, 2020; Sandi-Urena, 2020; Şenyuva, 2007; Van Heuvelen, Daub & Ryswyk, 2020).

According to the results obtained from the fifth question of the research (Table 5): it was determined that students' opinions about learning "radioactivity" through emergency remote education were mostly positive (79%). On the other hand, it is a satisfactory result that the number of negative opinions that students had while teaching this subject is low (7%). It is seen that the explanations of the students who think positively are mostly gathered in the sub-category of "I learned in detail and clearly" (68%). This is followed by the "course content and materials were sufficient" (13%) sub-category. The simplification of the course content and utilization of materials during the instruction process also support this result. Similar results were obtained in the literature. (Akçay et al., 2007; Bayram et al., 2019; Gares, Kariuki & Rempel, 2020; Rapanta et al., 2020; Tigaa & Sonawane, 2020; Uşun, 2004).

While the students mostly answered negatively (38%) to the fourth question of the research, it is pleasing that they gave a negative answer at a very low rate (7%) when they learned the subject of "radioactivity" through emergency remote education. In addition, while the percentage frequency value of positive answers to the fourth question of the research is 10%, the value in this category increases to 79% in the fifth question. For this situation, it can be said that students learned the subject of "radioactivity" largely through distance education. In addition, it was determined that the negative answers were mostly in the sub-category "I would prefer the lessons to be face-to-face" (46%). This is followed by the sub-categories of "I understood a little harder" and "more questions need to be solved" with an equal percentage frequency (27%). Similar results are also found in the literature (Aksoy et al., 2021; Türküresin, 2020; Şenyuva, 2007)

5. Suggestions

In the light of these results obtained from the study, the following recommendations were made:

- The research is about the subject of "radioactivity" and only three questions were asked about this subject. For this reason, both the subject and the research questions can be diversified.
- Bilateral meetings can be held with the students in order to enrich the studies.
- Alternative measurement techniques can be applied to students.
- The research was carried out only in a university located in the west of the Marmara region. However, it can also be performed on different university students.

6. Limitations of the Study

This study is limited to the students studying at the department of science teaching at university in the Marmara region, and access was granted to these students. However, within the scope of this study, it was

not possible to reach a sample that could represent the whole of Turkey. Since this subject was taught to the students through emergency remote education, the data were collected on the internet and the data collection questionnaire was sent online to the participants. The students completed this questionnaire online. The research is limited to the subject of "radioactivity". However, the categories determined not only show whether the students learned some concepts related to radioactivity through emergency remote education but also reflect their opinions on emergency remote education.

References

- Adıyaman, Z. (2002). Uzaktan eğitim yoluyla yabanci dil öğretimi [Foreign language teaching through distance education]. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 1(1), 92-97.
- Akçay, H., Tüysüz, C., Feyzioğlu, B., & Uçar, V. (2007). Bilgisayar Destekli Kimya Öğretiminin Öğrenci Başarısı Ve Tutumuna Etkisine Bir Örnek:" Radyoaktivite" [Effect of computer based chemistry teachingon students'succes and attitude: Radyoactivity]. Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi Buca Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, (22).
- Aksoy, D. A., Bozkurt, A., & Kurşun, E. (2021). Higher Education Students' Perceptions of Distance Education during the Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic. Anadolu University Journal of Education Faculty, 5(3), 285-308.
- Akyol, C. (2020). Turizm ön lisans öğrencilerinin Covid-19 pandemisi sürecinde gerçekleştirilen uzaktan eğitim uygulamalarına yönelik görüşleri [The opinions of students who received tourism education at the associate degree during the Covid-19 outbreak about distance education applications]. *Studies in Educational Research and Development*, 4(2), 65-82.
- Altıparmak, M., Kurt, İ. D. ve Kapıdere, M. (2011). E-öğrenme ve uzaktan eğitimde açık kaynak kodlu öğrenme yönetim sistemleri [E-learning and open source code management systems in education]. XI. Akademik Bilişim Kongresi. İnönü Üniversitesi, Malatya.
- Altuntaş Yılmaz, N. (2020). Yükseköğretim kurumlarında COVID-19 pandemisi sürecinde uygulanan uzaktan eğitim durumu hakkında öğrencilerin tutumlarının araştırılması: Fizyoterapi ve rehabilitasyon bölümü örneği [Investigation of students' attitudes towards applied distance education in the covid-19 pandemic process in higher education institutions: example of physiotherapy and rehabilitation department]. *Necmettin Erbakan Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi 3*(1), 15-20.
- Anderson, J. (2020). Brave New World The coronavirus pandemic is reshaping education. <u>https://qz.com/1826369/how-coronavirus-is-changing-education/</u>, web adresinden 20 Eylül 2021'de edinilmiştir.
- Bakaç, M., & Taşoğlu, K. A. (2016). Fizik öğretmen adaylarının radyoaktivite konusundaki kavram yanılgılarının giderilmesinde modellemenin etkisi [The effect of modeling in removing the misconceptions on radioactivity of prospective physics teachers]. *Gazi Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi*, 2(3), 181-192.
- Baltacı, A. (2018). Nitel araştırmalarda örnekleme yöntemleri ve örnek hacmi sorunsalı üzerine kavramsal bir inceleme [A conceptual review of sampling methods and sample size problems in qualitative research]. *Bitlis Eren Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 7(1), 231-274.

Dolu, G.

- Barker, K. (1999). Quality guidelines for technology-assisted distance education. Washington, DC: US Department of Education Office of Learning Technologies.
- Bayram, M., Peker, A. T., Aka, S. T., & Vural, M. (2019). Üniversite öğrencilerinin uzaktan eğitim dersine karşı tutumlarının incelenmesi [Examination of attitudes of university students to wards distance learning]. *Gaziantep Üniversitesi Spor Bilimleri Dergisi*, 4(3), 330-345.
- Benzer, S. & Akkaya, M. M. (2021). Pandemi Sürecinde Fen Bilimleri Alanında Uzaktan eğitim [Distance education in the field of science in the pandemia process]. *SBedergi*, 5(8), 19-46.
- Bostan Sarioğlan, A., Şen, R. & Altaş, R. (2021). What do secondary school students think about experimental practices in science lessons taught in distance education?. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 4(2), 193-214.
- Bostan Sarıoğlan, A., Altaş, R., & Şen, R. (2020). Uzaktan eğitim sürecinde fen bilimleri dersinde deney yapmaya ilişkin öğretmen görüşlerinin araştırılması [Investigation of teachers' views about experimenting in science course during distance education]. *Millî Eğitim Dergisi 49* (1), 371-394.
- Bozkurt, A., & Sharma, R. C. (2020a). Emergency remote teaching in a time of global crisis due to CoronaVirus pandemic. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1), i-vi.
- Bozkurt, A., & Sharma, R. C. (2020b). Education in normal, new normal, and next normal: Observations from the past, insights from the present and projections for the future. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, 15(2), i-x.
- Bozkurt, A., Jung, I., Xiao, J., Vladimirschi, V., Schuwer, R., Egorov, G., Lambert, S. R., Al-Freih, M., Pete, J., Olcott, Jr., D. Rodes, V., Aranciaga, I., Bali, M., Alvarez, Jr., A. V., Roberts, J., Pazurek, A., Raffaghelli, J. E., Panagiotou, N., de Coëtlogon, P., Shahadu, S., Brown, M., Asino, T. I. Tumwesige, J., Ramírez Reyes, T., Barrios Ipenza, E., Ossiannilsson, E., Bond, M., Belhamel, K., Irvine, V., Sharma, R. C., Adam, T., Janssen, B., Sklyarova, T., Olcott, N. Ambrosino, A., Lazou, C., Mocquet, B., Mano, M., & Paskevicius, M. (2020). A global outlook to the interruption of education due to COVID-19 pandemic: Navigating in a time of uncertainty and crisis. Asian Journal of Distance Education, 15(1), 1-126.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş., Kılıç Çakmak, E., Akgün, Ö. E., Karadeniz, Ş. & Demirel, F. (2018). *Eğitimde Bilimsel Araştırma Yöntemleri [Scientific Research Methods]*, 25 th ed. Pegem Akademi Yayınları, Ankara.
- Can, E. (2020). Coronavirüs (Covid-19) pandemisi ve pedagojik yansımaları: Türkiye'de açık ve uzaktan eğitim uygulamaları [Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic and pedagogical reflections: The applied on open and distance education applications in Turkey]. *Açıköğretim Uygulamaları ve Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 6(2), 11-53.
- Cardoso, PSS, Nunes, MCS, Silva, GPS, Braghittoni, LS ve Trindade, NM (2020). Conceptions of high school students on atomic models, radiation and radioactivity. *Physics Education*, 55(3), 035030, 1-8.
- Cohen, L., Manion L. and Morrison, K. (2007). *Research methods in education*. 6 th ed. British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data, ISBN 0-203-02905-4 Master e-book ISBN
- Colclough, N. D., Lock, R. & Soares A. (2011) Pre-Service Teachers' Subject Knowledge of and Attitudes About Radioactivity and Ionising Radiation, *International Journal of Science Education*, 33(3), 423-446.

- Çelik, Y. A., (2018). Radyoaktivite (Radyoactivity). In G. Dolu (Ed.), *Kimyada kavram yanılgıları* [Misconceptions in chemistry]. (pp. 207-234). Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Dağtekin, A. & Zorluoğlu, S. L. (2019). The opinions of academicians on the updated science education undergraduate program. *SDU International Journal of Educational Studies*, 6(1), 36-53.
- Demiray, U. (1999). Bir çağdaş eğitim modeli olarak uzaktan eğitim uygulaması [Distance education application as a contemporary education model]. *Jandarma Dergisi*, 85, 46-52.
- Dolu, G., & Ürek, H. (2015). Identification and elimination of several misconceptions of university level students regarding the misconceptions in science course. *Croatian Journal of Education*, 17(2), 353-382.
- Dolu, G. Ürek, H. (2017). Nükleer kimya [Nucleer chemistry]. In H. Bağ & G. Dolu (Eds.), *Kimya I* [*Chemistry I*] (pp.179-200), Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Dönmez Usta, N. (2011). Yapılandırmacı öğrenme kuramı çerçevesinde bilgisayar destekli öğretim materyali geliştirmesi, uygulanması ve etkililiğinin değerlendirilmesi: Çekirdek kimyası (radyoaktivite) örneği [Developing, implementing and evaluating CAI materials related to "radioactivity" topic based on constructivist learning theory]. Yayınlanmamış Doktora Tezi, Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi, Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Trabzon.
- Durak, G., & Ataizi, M. (2016). Learner views about a distance education course. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 7(1), 85-105.
- Durak, G., & Çankaya, S. (2020a). Is there a change? Distance education studies in COVID-19 pandemic. *Asian Journal of Education and e-Learning (ISSN: 2321–2454)*, 8(3).
- Durak, G., & Çankaya, S. (2020b). Undergraduate students' views about emergency distance education during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Online Submission*, 5(1), 122-147.
- Durak, G., Çankaya, S., & İzmirli, S. (2020). COVID-19 pandemi döneminde Türkiye'deki üniversitelerin uzaktan eğitim sistemlerinin incelenmesi [Examining the turkish universities' distance education systems during the COVID-19 pandemic]. *Necatibey Eğitim Fakültesi Elektronik Fen ve Matematik Eğitimi Dergisi*, 14(1), 787-809.
- Erçoklu, H.F (2001). Lise 2. sınıf öğrencilerinde çekirdek tepkimeleri ve radyoaktiflik konusunda yanlış kavramaların tespiti ve giderilmesi [The Determination and elimination of misconceptions related with reactions of the nucleus and radioactivity in high schools students]. Yayımlanmamış yüksek lisans tezi. Ankara: Gazi Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü.
- Feyzioğlu, B. (2002). Kimya dersi çözeltiler konusu için web sayfası oluşturulması ve bilgisayar öğretimi etkililiği [A web of desing on the solutions'chemistry and study of the effectiveness of computer learning]. Yayımlanmamış yüksek lisans tezi. Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi, Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İzmir.
- Fidan, M. (2016). Uzaktan eğitim öğrencilerinin uzaktan eğitime yönelik tutumları ve epistemolojik inançları [Distance education students' attitudes towards distance education and their epistemological beliefs]. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi 31*(3), 536-550.
- Fraenkel, J.R., Wallen, N.E. & Hyun, H.H. (2012). *How to design and evaluate research in education* (*Eighth Edition*). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Gares, S. L., Kariuki, J. K., & Rempel, B. P. (2020). CommUnity matters: Student-instructor relationships foster student motivation and engagement in an emergency remote teaching environment. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 3332-3335.
- Giri, S., & Dutta, P. (2020). Identifying Challenges and Opportunities in Teaching Chemistry Online in India amid COVID-19. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 98(2), 694-699.
- Greenberg, G. (1998). Distance education technologies: Best practices for K-12 settings. *IEEE Technology and Society Magazine*, 17(4).
- Gürleyik, S. & Akdemir, E. (2018). Guiding curriculum development: Student perceptions for the second language learning in technology-enhanced learning environments. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 6(4), 131-138.
- Hellman, J. (2003). *The Riddle of Distance Education Promise, Problems and Applications for Development*. Technology, Business and Society Programme Paper. United Nations Research Institute for Social Development.
- Henriksen, K. E. & Jorde D. (2001). High school students' understanding of radiation and the environment: can museums play a role? *Science Education*, 85(2), 189-206.
- Hodges, C. B., Moore, S., Lockee, B. B., Trust, T., & Bond, M. A. (2020). The difference between emergency remote teaching and online learning.
- Holme, T. A. (2020). Introduction to the Journal of Chemical Education Special Issue on Insights Gained While Teaching Chemistry in the Time of COVID-19.
- Horzum, B. (2003). Öğretim Elemanlarının İnternet Destekli Eğitime Yönelik Düşünceleri (Sakarya Üniversitesi Örneği) [Ideas of lectures about internet based education (Sakarya University Examples)]. Basılmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Sakarya Üniversitesi, Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Sakarya.
- Hull, M. M., & Hopf, M. (2020). Student understanding of emergent aspects of radioactivity. *International Journal of Physics & Chemistry Education*, 12(2), 19-33.
- Ioannis, M., & Konstantinos, K. T. (2021). Literacy of students of the Department of Primary Education regarding radioactivity. *International Journal of Educational Innovation 3*, 136-145
- İşman, A. (2005). Uzaktan Eğitim [Distance Education]. Ankara: Pegem A Yayıncılık.
- Jeffery, K. A., & Bauer, C. F. (2020). Students' responses to emergency remote online teaching reveal critical factors for all teaching. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 2472-2485.
- Karagöz, E., (2012). Uzaktan eğitim sistemi ve bir uygulama [Distance education system and an implementation]. Basılmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi, Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, İzmir.
- Karatepe, F., Küçükgençay, N., & Peker, B. (2020). Öğretmen adayları senkron uzaktan eğitime nasıl bakıyor? Bir anket çalışması [What are the perspectives of teacher candidates on synchronous distance education? A survey study]. *Journal of social and humanities sciences research*, 7(53), 1262-1274.
- Kaumba, M., Mphahlele, R. S., Muleya, G., & Simui, F. (2021). Disablers and enablers in the uptake of information communication technologies in rural primary schools of Mwinilunga District, Zambia. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 4(1), 1-10.
- Keskin, M. & Özer, K. D. (2020). COVID-19 sürecinde öğrencilerin web tabanlı uzaktan eğitime yönelik geri bildirimlerinin değerlendirilmesi [Evaluation of students' feedbacks on web-based distance education in the COVID-19 process]. İzmir Katip Çelebi Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi, 5(2), 59-67.

- Kılıç, Z. & Yalçın, A. (2004) Lise 2.sınıf öğrencilerinin radyoaktivite konusundaki yanlış kavramaları [Misconceptions of 2nd year high school students about radioactivity]. XII. Eğitim Bilimleri Kongresi, 15-18 Ekim, Ankara.
- Kışla, T. (2016). Uzaktan Eğitime Yönelik Tutum Ölçeği Geliştirme Çalışması [Development of a attitude scale towards disance learning]. *Ege Eğitim Dergisi 17*(1), 258-271.
- Kıyıcı, G. & Yumuşak, A. (2005). Fen bilgisi laboratuvarı dersinde bilgisayar destekli etkinliklerin öğrenci kazanımları üzerine etkisi; asit-baz kavramları ve titrasyon konusu örneği [The affects of computer assisted activity at science laboratory lesson on student's acquiry; example of acid base concept's and titration topic]. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, *4*(4), 130-134.
- MEB (2019). 2019-2020 yılı 12. Sınıf fizik ders kitabı [12th grade physics textbook for 2019-2020]. <u>https://www.mebders.com/dosya/6991-2019-2020-yili-12sinif-fizik-ders-kitabi-meb-pdf-indir</u> Erişim tarihi: 16.09.2021.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis an expanded sourcebook* (2nd Ed.). California: Sage Publications.
- Molu, Z., Kahyaoğlu, H., & Köksal, E. A. (2016). Fen bilgisi öğretmen adaylarının radyoaktiflikle ilgili bilgi düzeyleri [Knowledge levels of pre-service science teachers on radioactivity]. *Türkiye Kimya Derneği Dergisi*, Kısım C: Kimya Eğitimi, 1(1), 165-190.
- Moore, M. G. & Kearsley, G. (2011). Distance education: A systems view of online learning (3.baskı). Belmont.
- Morales López, A. I., & Tuzón Marco, P. (2021). Misconceptions, Knowledge, and Attitudes Towards the Phenomenon of Radioactivity. *Science & Education*, 1-22.
- Morgil, I., Özyalçin Oskay, Ö., Yavuz, S., & Arda, S. (2003). The factors that affect computer assisted education implementations in the chemistry education and comparison of traditional and computer assisted education methods in REDOX subject. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET*, 2(4), 35-43.
- Morgil, F. İ., Yılmaz, A., & Uludağ, N. (2004). Lise kimya 2 ders kitabında yer alan radyoaktivite konusunun incelenmesi, öğrencilerin bu konudaki bilgilerinin araştırılması ve öneriler [Studying the topic "radioactivity" mentioned in the 2nd class chemistry book of high schools, investigation of knowledge of the students there upon and suggestions]. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 27, 206-215.
- Morgil, I., Yavuz, S., Oskay, Ö. Ö., & Arda, S. (2005). Traditional and computer-assisted learning in teaching acids and bases. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, 6(1), 52-63.
- Mortimer, C. E. (2004). *Modern üniversite kimyası [Modern university chemistry]*. (T. Altınata et al., Trans.). 5 th ed. ISBN 975-436-045-6. İstanbul: Çağlayan Basımevi.
- Nakiboğlu, C. & Bülbül Tekin B., (2006). Identifying students' misconceptions about nuclear chemistry. A study of Turkish high school students. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 83(11), 1712-1718.
- Ojo, O. D. & Olakulehin, F. K. (2006). Attitudes and perceptions of students in open and distance learning in Nigeria. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 7(1), 1-10.
- Oliveira, M. M. S., Penedo, A. S. T., & Pereira, V. S. (2018). Distance education: advantages and disadvantages of the point of view of education and society. *Dialogia*, (29), 139-152.

- Orhan, A. (2016). Uzaktan eğitimle yürütülen yabancı dil dersi öğretim programının bağlam, girdi, süreç ve ürün (CIPP) modeli ile değerlendirilmesi Evaluation of foreign language distance education curriculum via context, input, process and product (CIPP) model]. Basılmamış yüksek Lisans Tezi. Dicle Üniversitesi, Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Diyarbakır.
- Önal, A., & Özdemir, A. (2021). An investigation into pre-service teachers' online learning climate perceptions. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 4(2), 310-333.
- Prather, E. E. & Harrington, R. R. (2001). Students understanding of ionising radiation and radioactivity. *Journal of College Science Teaching*, 31(2), S.89-93
- Perets, E. A., Chabeda, D., Gong, A. Z., Huang, X., Fung, T. S., Ng, K. Y., ... & Yan, E. C. (2020). Impact of the emergency transition to remote teaching on student engagement in a non-STEM undergraduate chemistry course in the time of COVID-19. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 2439-2447.
- Petillion, R. J., & McNeil, W. S. (2020). Student experiences of emergency remote teaching: Impacts of instructor practice on student learning, engagement, and well-being. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 2486-2493.
- Rapanta, C., Botturi, L., Goodyear, P., Guàrdia, L., & Koole, M. (2020). Online university teaching during and after the Covid-19 crisis: Refocusing teacher presence and learning activity. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 2(3), 923-945.
- Sandi-Urena, S. (2020). Experimentation skills away from the chemistry laboratory: Emergency remote teaching of multimodal laboratories. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 3011-3017.
- Selçuk, Z., Palancı, M., Kandemir, M. & Dündar, H. (2014). Tendencies of the researches published in education and science journal: content analysis. *Eğitim ve Bilim, 39*(173), 430-453.
- Siersma, P. T., Pol, H. J., van Joolingen, W. R., & Visscher, A. J. (2021). Pre-university students' conceptions regarding radiation and radioactivity in a medical context. *International Journal of Science Education*, 43(2), 179-196.
- Singleton, R. A., Straits, B. C., & Straits, M. (2005). Chapter 9: Survey Instrumentation. *Approaches to Social Research*, *4*.
- Sunasee, R. (2020). Challenges of teaching organic chemistry during COVID-19 pandemic at a primarily undergraduate institution. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 3176-3181.
- Şenyuva, E. (2007). Hemşirelik eğitiminde web tabanlı uzaktan eğitim uygulaması: "Hasta Eğitimi Dersi Örneği" [Implementation of web-based distance education in nursing education: a sample lesson in patient education]. Yayımlanmamış doktora tezi. İstanbul Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İstanbul.
- Şimşek, A., İskenderoğlu, T. & İskenderoğlu, M. (2010). Investigating preservice computer teachers' attitudes towards distance education. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 9, 324-328.
- Taşoğlu, A. K., & Bakaç, M. (2011). Probleme dayalı öğrenme: Radyoaktivite örneği [Problem based learning: Radioactivity]. *Education Sciences*, 6(1), 1233-1241.
- Tezcan, H., Yılmaz, Ü., & Babaoğlu, M. (2005). Radyoaktivite öğretiminde işbirlikçi öğrenme yöntemi ile geleneksel öğretim yöntemin başarıya etkileri [This study is related to the comparison the effect of "traditional teaching system" largely used in chemistry with cooperative learning method, upon the success of the learning radyoactivity]. *Pamukkale Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi (17)*, 55-68.

- Tezcan, H., & Erçoklu, H. F. (2010). Geleneksel anlatım ve yapılandırıcı yaklaşımın radyoaktivite öğretiminde başarıya etkilerinin karşılaştırılması ve ilgili yanlış kavramaların giderilmesindeki etkileri [Comparison of the effects of traditional expression and constructive approach on success in radioactivity teaching and the impact of related misconceptions]. *Türk Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi*, 8(1), 201-225.
- Tigaa, R. A., & Sonawane, S. L. (2020). An international perspective: teaching chemistry and engaging students during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 3318-3321.
- Türküresin, H. E (2020). Covid-19 pandemi döneminde yürütülen uzaktan eğitim uygulamalarının öğretmen adaylarının görüşleri bağlamında incelenmesi [Examination of distance education practices conducted during the covid-19 pandemic regarding the views of preservice teachers]. *Millî Eğitim Dergisi 49*(1), (597-618).
- Ukwueze, A. C. (2016). Public perceptions of distance education in Nigeria: Need for Counselling Interventions. *The Communications*, 24(1), 1.
- UNESCO. (2002). Open and Distance Learning: trends, policy and strategy consideration. UNESCO.
- Usta, İ. (2015). Açıköğretim fakültesi sosyal bilimler önlisans programının değerlendirilmesi ve geliştirilmesine yönelik öneriler [Suggestions aimed at evalution and development of open education two year degree social sciences programme]. Yayımlanmamış Doktora Tezi. Anadolu Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Eskişehir.
- Usta, İ., Uysal, Ö., Kur, M. R. (2016). Çevrimiçi öğrenme tutum ölçeği: geliştirilmesi, geçerliği ve güvenirliği [Online learning attitude scale: development, validity and reliability]. *Uluslararası Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi 9*(43), 2215-2222.
- Usta, İ. (2018). Öğretmen yetiştirme lisans programlarındaki değişim ve açık ve uzaktan öğrenme dersine yönelik öneriler [Changes in teacher training undergraduate programs and suggestions for open and distance learning courses]. *Açıköğretim Uygulamaları ve Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 4(4), 58-68.
- Uşun, S. (2004). Bilgisayar Destekli Öğretimin Temelleri [Fundamentals of Computer Assisted Instruction]. Ankara: Nobel
- Van Heuvelen, K. M., Daub, G. W., & Ryswyk, H. V. (2020). Emergency remote instruction during the COVID-19 pandemic reshapes collaborative learning in general chemistry. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 2884-2888.
- Wang, S. K. (2008). The effects of a synchronous communication tool (yahoo messenger) on online learners' sense of community and their multimedia authoring skills. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 7(1), 59-74.
- Yağar, F., & Dökme, S. (2018). Niteliksel araştırmaların planlanması: araştırma soruları, örneklem seçimi, geçerlik ve güvenirlik [Planning of qualitative researches: research questions, samples, validity and reliability]. *Gazi Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi*, *3*(3), 1-9.
- Yalçın, A. (2003). Lise 2. sınıf öğrencilerinin radyoaktivite ve çekirdek tepkimeleri konusundaki başarılarına ve kavramsal algılamalarına yapılandırmacı yaklaşımın etkisi ve öğrencilerin bu konu hakkındaki yanlış kavramalarının tespiti [Effect of constructivist approach to achievement and conceptual perception of lycee 2 students about radioactivity and nuclear reactions and determination of misconceptions of students about this subject]. Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi. Gazi Üniversitesi, Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Ankara.
- Yalçın, A., & Kılıç, Z. (2005). Öğrencilerin yanlış kavramaları ve ders kitaplarının yanlış kavramalara etkisi örnek konu radyoaktivite [Misconceptions of students and the effects of the course boks on

such misunderstandings sample topic: radioactivity]. Gazi Üniversitesi Gazi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 25(3), 125-141.

- Yıldırım, A., & Şimşek, H. (2008). Sosyal Bilimlerde Nitel Araştırma Yöntemleri [Qualitative Research Methods in Social Studies]. (6. Baskı), Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık.
- Yiğit, N., & Akdeniz, A. R. (2003). Fizik öğretiminde bilgisayar destekli etkinliklerin öğrenci kazanımları üzerine etkisi elektrik devreleri örneği [The effect of computer-assisted activities on student achievement in physics course: electric circuits sample]. Gazi Üniversitesi Gazi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 23(3).
- Yumuşak, A. (2013). Fen bilgisi öğretmen adaylarının radyoaktivite konusundaki kavram yanılgılarının giderilmesinde bilgisayar destekli öğretimin ve kavramsal değişim metinlerinin etkisi [The effects of the use of computer-assisted instruction (CAI) and conceptual change texts (CCT) in removing the misconceptions of science teacher candidates on the issue of radioactivity.]. Yayımlanmamış Doktora Tezi, Celal Bayar Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Manisa.
- Yumuşak, A., Maraş, İ., & Şahin, M. (2016). Radyoaktivite konusunda kavram yanılgılarını belirlemeye yönelik iki aşamalı bir teşhis testinin geliştirilmesi. [Developing two-tier diagnostic instrument to determine misconceptions on radioactivity]. Mersin Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 12(3), 810-828.
- Yüksek Öğretim Kurumu (2007). Eğitim fakültesi öğretmen yetiştirme lisans programları. (Fen Bilgisi Öğretmenliği Lisans Programı) [Education faculty teacher training licance programs. (Science education licance program)]. YÖK: Ankara.
- Yüksek Öğretim Kurumu (2018). Eğitim fakültesi öğretmen yetiştirme lisans programları. (Fen Bilgisi Öğretmenliği Lisans Programı) [Education faculty teacher training licance programs. (Science education licance program)].. YÖK: Ankara.
- Zorlu, F. (2020). İşbirlikli öğrenme modelinin uzaktan eğitim ortamlarında uygulanmasına yönelik fen bilgisi öğretmen adaylarının görüş ve önerilerinin incelenmesi [Investigation of the preservice science teachers' views and suggestions on the application of the cooperative learning model in distance education environments]. *Uluslararası Sosyal ve Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi 7*(14), 219-232.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Distance education in the Covid-19 pandemic period: opinions of primary preservice teachers about teaching practice course

Ümit IZGI ONBAŞILI a* 🔟, Burcu SEZGİNSOY ŞEKER b 🔟

^a Mersin University, Turkey

^b Balıkesir University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Izgi Onbaşılı, Ü. & Sezginsoy Şeker, B. (2021). Distance education in the Covid-19 pandemic period: opinions of primary pre-service teachers about teaching practice course. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 726-744.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Covid-19 Primary Pre-service teacher Distance education	The Covid-19 pandemic, which has come to the fore all over the world, has had serious effects in the education process as in every field. Countries have urgently tried to make the necessary arrangements regarding their education systems. Similarly, in Turkey, the Ministry of National Education tried to transfer the courses in formal education to the distance education system in all schools and Higher Education Institutions. However, until this time, only theoretical courses and courses regarding the technology-based practices were included in distance education. In this sense, serious difficulties have experienced especially in practical courses such as laboratories and internships. One of the biggest debates in education faculties, which had to take a break from face-to-face education as of March 2020, has been about how to conduct internship courses such as teaching practice in the distance education process. For this reason, this study aimed to examine the opinions of primary school pre-service teachers about the teaching practice course, experienced the distance education process for the first time. It is very important to investigate the positive and negative experiences of the primary school pre-service teachers who will start to work as the teachers of the future and to take the necessary precautions. In this context, this study, which was carried out as a a phenomological study, was conducted with 8 pre-service teachers who were enrolled in a teaching practice course at a state university in the fall semester of 2020-2021. While the data were obtained from open-ended questions, the reports and lesson plans kept during the semester were examined by the researchers. The data were analyzed by qualitative
Research Article	analysis methods.

1. Introduction

The Covid-19 virus, which emerged in China in December 2019, started to pervade Turkey as of March 11, 2020 (Ministry of Health, 2020.) The Covid-19 pandemic in Turkey has affected education, as it has in all areas of daily life. In the face of the coronavirus epidemic, which caused at least 91% of students around the world to take a break from education, emergency distance education has been put into effect by many countries as a solution tool. To prevent the spread of the epidemic, all education levels from primary schools to universities had to take a break from face-to-face education. This situation prompted countries to take

^{*} Corresponding author: Primary Education Department, Mersin University, Turkey. e-mail address: umitizgi@mersin.edu.tr

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1016098

Received 28 Oct 2021; Revised 7 Dec 2021; Accepted 26 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

urgent decisions on education, causing the emergency distance education process to start in schools. Educational institutions in Turkey were temporarily closed as of March 25, 2020 (CHE, 2020). After this process, education in schools affiliated to the Ministry of National Education (MoNE) began with the EBA platform and universities began to conduct all courses with distance education. Universities have started to work quickly to continue both theoretical and applied courses and have made the transition to urgent distance education. Since this transition was carried out quite quickly, an evaluation could not be made about the adaptation of students to the requirements of distance education (Iyer, Aziz, & Ojcius, 2020). For this reason, pre-service teachers attending the last year of education faculties of universities did both the theoretical part of the "Teaching Practice I-II" internship course and the 6-hour weekly practical part online. During the internship, they followed the MoNE EBA channel and completed their internship for 6 hours per week on different online platforms such as Zoom. They were able to meet with the primary school students they observed and lectured through the cameras. To investigate the reflections of this situation from different perspectives, perhaps for the first time in world history, in-depth research was conducted with 8 pre-service teachers attending the "Teaching Practice I" course in the fall term of 2020-2021.

2. Literature

As of April 2020, more than 1.5 billion students in 194 countries, representing 91.3% of total enrolled students, have been affected by the Covid-19 pandemic (UNESCO, 2020). This pandemic has had important pedagogical impacts. In this period, there was a significant increase in demand for distance education and the importance of distance education services in society began to be understood. Distance education, with the support of developing web-based platforms and technologies, offers individuals educational environments independent of time and space (Bilgiç & Tüzün, 2015). Distance education, in which learning, all kinds of interaction between the learner and the instructor takes place, and brings the learner and the instructor together, differs from formal education in terms of teaching process (Kahraman, 2020). However, it is necessary to clearly understand the key concepts that are important in this rapid transformation due to the pandemic. It is vital to understand the important distinctions between the concepts of emergency distance education and distance education. According to Bozkurt & Sharma (2020), the differences between these two concepts are explained as follows; emergency distance education is a necessity, distance education is an option; while emergency distance education produces instant solutions, distance education tries to produce more permanent solutions; in crisis situations, emergency distance education continues with the available resources, while more planned and organized activities are carried out in distance education. In times of crisis such as the pandemic, universities had to quickly switch to emergency distance education practices. Although there are distance education centers in many universities in Turkey, this process has been painful. There are also people who do not have previous teaching experience in distance education, especially among the academicians who conduct undergraduate courses in universities. Lots of research projects has been done and continues to be done around the world in 2020-2021 on emergency distance education caused by the pandemic. In these studies, negative situations and limitations can be detected as well as positive reflections. Russell (1999) in his research; states that distance education will not be any different from face-to-face education if it is planned correctly. Allen, Bourhis, Burrell, and Mabry (2002) state in their research that there is no difference between distance education and traditional education in higher education. In this sense, how the distance education process is structured is also very important.

These rapid developments due to the pandemic have revealed that the distance education system in Turkey should be strengthened in terms of infrastructure, content and pedagogy and that the quality should be increased (Can, 2020). The Covid-19 pandemic has also changed the design and structure of traditional education programs. Teacher educators have begun to need a design that will guide their transition to online teaching and help pre-service teachers gain competencies in the use of learning technologies in their future classrooms (Baran & AlZoubi, 2020, p. 365). To support pre-service teachers in the teaching practice course, which usually takes place in the senior year of faculty of education, cooperation is arranged with

internship schools (Nel & Marais, 2020). However, the programs of education faculties were not really ready for distance education until the Covid 19 pandemic emerged (Hojeij & Baroudi, 2021).

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic in Turkey, universities that normally provide formal education have made rapid adjustments and switched to emergency distance education. The lectures were synchronous (simultaneous), asynchronous (asynchronous), or hybrid (synchronous-asynchronous) (Durak, Çankaya & İzmirli, 2020). Since face-to-face education could not be provided due to the pandemic, teacher educators quickly started the distance education process by taking advantage of the available technological opportunities to ensure the continuity of learning and that pre-service teachers could adopt online distance learning. The important point here is that; pre-service teachers had to both attend all courses in their undergraduate programs and meet their primary school students on online platforms. They had to be successful in distance education in many important points such as lecture, classroom management, effective use of time, and motivating the students. Although the teacher of the class in primary schools had the chance to have face-to-face training with their students before, the pre-service teachers did not have such a chance. They were expected to observe the students they saw for the first time in their lives and explain their lesson plans.

This rapid introduction to distance education provided a clearer understanding of many pedagogical and practical problems. The main purpose of teaching practice courses is to contribute to the development of teacher candidates (Mohammad Nasri and et al., 2020). Even though the Covid-19 pandemic has caused serious challenges for many fields, it has also provided opportunities for teacher candidates, such as greater involvement in teaching and learning online (Valdez, Ugalingan & Edjan, 2021).

When the literature is examined, it is seen that researches were conducted with different study groups regarding distance education and teaching practice during the pandemic period. The difference of this article from other studies is that it is handled within the sample group of primary school teacher candidates. The sample group of our research gains more importance, especially since primary school first grade students will be the direct addressees of the problems they experience in the literacy process. In addition, the primary school teacher candidates in the sample group we discussed could not perform the school experience lesson face-to-face, and they were among the first groups to do an online internship.

The reflections of the suspension of face-to-face education at all levels of education will be understood more clearly in the following years. In the distance education process, the "Teaching Practice" course was held online under the guidance of the practice teacher. In this study, the views of pre-service teachers about their distance education experiences are included within the scope of the teaching practice course. It is very important to determine the opinions of pre-service teachers who will work in an practice-oriented field such as the teaching profession. For this reason, this study aimed to investigate the distance education experiences of the primary school pre-service teachers within the "Teaching Practice I" course. For this purpose, answers to the following problems and sub-problems are sought.

What are the opinions of the primary school pre-service teachers about the "Teaching Practice I" course conducted in distance education during the pandemic process?

- 1. What are the opinions of pre-service teachers towards *practice mentors* in the distance education process?
- 2. What are the views of pre-service teachers towards *students* in the distance education process?
- 3. What are the *advantages and limitations of internship practices for pre-service teachers* in the distance education process?
- 4. What are the views of pre-service teachers on *remote teaching of practice courses?*
- 5. What are the *solution suggestions* of the pre-service teachers for the problems occured in their distance education experiences?

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Model/Design

In this study, which examines the views of pre-service teachers on internship practices in the distance education process, a phenomenological study pattern, which is one of the qualitative research traditions, was used. Phenomenological studies are studies that enable us to focus on phenomena that we are aware of in daily life but do not have an in-depth and detailed understanding (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2014). Individual experiences form the basis of phenomenological research. In this approach, the experiences and perceptions of the participants are important and it is based on examining the meanings they attribute to the events.

3.2. Data Collecting Tools

Semi-Structured Interview Form: In the research, a semi-structured interview form developed by the researchers was used as a qualitative data collection tool. Preservice teachers were asked to fill in the interview form online. According to Merriam (2018), semi-structured interview forms allow participants to express the world they perceive with their own thoughts. In this study, it was deemed appropriate to use the semi-structured interview form as a data collection tool, since how the study group perceived their experiences was analyzed based on their statements. Interview questions were created after examining similar studies (Türküresin, 2020; Yıldırım, Yıldırım, Çelik &Karaman, 2014) on distance education in the literature. Two field experts were consulted for the content validity of the form. In the interview form, it was requested that the questions be clearly stated. In general, the interview form was found suitable and the interview questions were finalized. In addition, the weekly lesson plans prepared by the pre-service teachers during the internship, the final file of the teaching practice, the observation reports about the courses they attended online contributed to the research. This contribution was made during the researchers' preparation of the research questions. In the observation reports of the pre-service teachers, the sentences about the problems they encountered with the distance education process and the solution suggestions they put forward contributed to the formation of the research questions. Some of the questions asked within the scope of the research are: "What are your views on the practice guidance teachers in your internship course during your distance education process?; What are your views on the students in your internship course during your distance education process?; What are the advantages and limitations of internship applications in the distance education process?; What are your views on remote teaching of practical courses such as Teaching Practice?; What are your suggestions for solutions to the problems experienced in internship practices during the distance education process?"

3.3 Sampling or Study Group

While determining the study group of the research, criterion sampling strategy was used (Patton, 2002). Basically, the following criteria were taken into account in the study; the voluntary participation of preservice teachers, they have successfully completed the "School Experience" course and regularly attend the courses with distance education. Participants are students who have successfully completed the "School Experience" course, which is an observational internship course in the 2019-2020 spring term. However, due to the outbreak of the pandemic in March 2019, they had to complete their internships online as of that date. Within the scope of the school experience course, they had the chance to observe the schools only during the weeks they could go face-to-face (up to 4 weeks). For this reason, it is a group that cannot have a real internship experience until the "Teaching Practice I" course in the fall 2021 semester. They are teacher candidates who regularly participate in their online internships during all weeks from the beginning to the end of their internships in this application and do not have absenteeism. The study group of this research consists of senior pre-service teachers of the 2020-2021 academic year in the faculty of education and Department of Primary School Teaching of a state university. The research data were collected by the researchers during the 14-week period of the "Teaching Practice I" course in the fall semester. Eight (7 Female, 1 Male) pre-service teachers who took teaching practice course remotely during the pandemic period were included in the research.

3.4 Data Analysis

Content analysis method was used in the analysis of the data, and direct quotations were made from the statements given by the participants from time to time (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2014). Before the analysis, the interview forms were named (P1, P2, P3...) and the answers were gathered under the question headings. According to the research questions. Afterwards, the answers given by the participants were grouped according to their similarities and differences, and the positive and negative answers were separated from each other. The analysis was completed by creating codes from the answers given by the participants.

3.5 Validity and Reliability

To increase the validity and reliability of the research, data diversity was made, long-term interaction was ensured, and the data were confirmed. Yıldırım and Şimşek (2014) emphasize the importance of the concept of confirmability in qualitative research and discuss the confirming the results obtained from qualitative research and presenting a logical explanation to the reader. In this study, the codes were read by two researchers separately at different times and created in line with the students' answers given to the questions. The reliability among researchers was calculated according to Miles and Huberman's (1994) formula and was determined as 88%. In terms of a holistic approach in qualitative research, the results are interpreted by considering the natural environment in which the process occurs. In qualitative research, the researcher is involved in the process due to the method of the research. In this research, the researcher participated in Zoom sessions as a participant-observer during the distance education process. Patton (2002) states that validity in qualitative research depends on the researcher's qualifications of being sensitive, talented, skillful, attentive, and analyzing the data. Within the scope of this research, the process was completed in regard of these criteria.

3.6 Research Procedures

In Table 1, what was done during the 14 weeks within the scope of the research is explained in detail.

Week	What's been done
1.	An online meeting was held with all pre-service teachers. Detailed information was given about the
	internship process.
2.	In the rapid transformation experienced due to the pandemic, the opinions of the pre-service teachers
	about the effects of the distance education process on primary school students were received in writing.
	It was discussed at a meeting held online.
3.	MEB internship schools have been announced. An online meeting was held with pre-service teachers and practice mentors.
4.	During the distance education process, they observed the practice mentors according to the observation report given by the researchers and shared them with the researcher at the weekly online meeting.
5.	During the distance education process, they observed the students according to the observation report given by the researchers and shared them with the researcher at the weekly online meeting.
6.	They observed the distance education process with its benefits and limitations and all its components
	and shared it with the researcher at the weekly online meeting.
7.	They prepared and implemented a lesson plan supported by Web 2.0 tools that they could use in the
	distance education system. The resources that they can use during the period related to Web 2.0 tools
	were shared in detail. Each prepared activity and lesson plan was applied to the students on the distance
	education platform after the control of both the practice mentor and the researcher.
8.	They prepared and implemented a lesson plan supported by Web 2.0 tools that they could use in the
	distance education system. In Figure 1, the sample lesson plan prepared by K1 is given.

 Table 1: Information about the research process

9.



Figure 1. Sample lesson plan prepared by K1 and examples of Web 2.0 supported activities They prepared and implemented a lesson plan supported by Web 2.0 tools that they could use in the

distance education system. An example of an activity prepared by K4 is given in Figure 2.

BÖLÜM1: Web 2.0 Aracı Destekli Etkinlik Kâğıdı

Smif Düzeyi: 3

Ders Adı: Fen Bilimleri

Ünite Adı: Beş Duyumuz

Öğrenme Alanı: Canlılar ve Yaşam

Kazanım: F.3.2.1.2. Duyu organlarının temel görevlerini açıklar.

Dersin Hangi Aşamasında Kullanacaksınız? Dersin son aşamasında değerlendirme amaçlı kullanacağım.

Hangi Programı Kullandınız? (Web sitesi olarak adresini de paylaşınız). cram.com

https://www.cram.com/flashcards/games/jewel/fen-bilimleri-11817728

Açıklama:

Hazırlamış olduğum etkinlik oyun tarzındadır. Dersin sonunda öğrenilenlerin pekiştirilmesi için bir tür eşleştirme oyunudur. Verilen sorular ve cevaplar üzerine tıklanarak eşleştirilir. Yanlış yapıldığında anında beliritip döğru cevabı bulmak için şansın oluyor. Görseller de kullanabileceği için öğrencilerin dikkatini çekecektir. Bu etkinliği seçme nedenim o yaştaki öğrenciler için direkt değerlendirme kâğıdı değil de bu tarzda oyun şeklinde olması hem öğrencilerin dikkatini çekecek hem de öğrenciler hevesil olacaktır.

Görseller:



Figure 2. An example of an activity supported by the Web 2.0 tool prepared by K4

10.	They prepared and implemented a lesson plan supported by Web 2.0 tools that they could use in the
	distance education system.
11.	They prepared and implemented a lesson plan supported by Web 2.0 tools that they could use in the
	distance education system.
12.	They prepared and implemented a lesson plan supported by Web 2.0 tools that they could use in the
	distance education system.
13.	They prepared and implemented a lesson plan supported by Web 2.0 tools that they could use in the
	distance education system.
14.	They submitted the end-of-term evaluation files.

3.7 Findings and Discussions

In this section, the opinions of pre-service teachers about the *practice mentors* and **students** in the distance education process were taken. In addition, during the pandemic process, the views of pre-service primary

school teachers on their distance education experiences within the scope of the teaching practice course were examined in terms of "*advantages*", "*limitations*", "*positive and negative opinions about teaching the lesson remotely*" and "solution suggestions". The codes and themes related to the results obtained are presented in Figure 3.

1. Opinions of pre-service teachers towards practice mentors in the distance education process

The opinions of the pre-service teachers towards the practice mentors during the internship process carried out with distance education are presented in the "Figure 3" below.



Figure 3. Opinions of pre-service teachers towards practice mentors in the distance education process

When Figure 3, which presents the opinions of pre-service teachers about *the mentors*, are examined, it is clear that within the scope of positive opinions, *the teachers give timely and appropriate feedbacks to the students during the distance education process, they can evaluate the success of the students, they give the students the appropriate time while answering the questions, and they inform the students about the learning outcomes* before the lesson starts. It was determined that pre-service teachers handled the most opinions in the category of "timely feedback". Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers suitable for these themes are as follows.

K3. When the student makes a mistake, <u>he/she immediately corrects and gives feedback timely</u>, when he/she asks a question, he/she patiently waits for the students to think and reach the right answer. When they can't give the correct answer, he/she gives clues and helps students reach the correct answer.

K6. Our internship teacher <u>evaluates the performance</u> of the students by having the students solve the questions and exercises related to the subject and by having them read each lesson.

K4. She *informed the students in the pre-lesson class about the outcome* and explained how it would benefit them when they learned this lesson.

K1. During the activities, <u>he/she gave enough time</u> to the students and let them think about their answers.

In addition to the above-mentioned positive opinions about the practice mentors, the pre-service teachers also mentioned *the aspects that need to be improved* in teachers. In this context, the pre-service teachers who expressed their opinions stated that the teacher they observed *did not include technological-based practices, taught lessons using the direct instruction method, and did not prepare a lesson plan or activity plan.* It was determined that pre-service teachers handled the most opinions in the category of "Not including the lesson/activity plan". Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers regarding these themes are given below.

K1. To sum up the teacher's observation in the general sense of the lessons we attended, <u>our teacher did</u> <u>not go through any lesson or activity plan</u>. But he/she used clear, understandable language.

K2. Most of the teachers taught their lessons by using direct instruction and question and answer methods. *Different teaching methods and techniques were not included*.

K4. I don't know how our Internship Teacher followed in face-to-face training, which is done only once a week, but he/she had a poor expression in the online course. He/she generally preferred <u>direct insruction</u> <u>method</u>. Despite this, the students did not have difficulty in understanding the subjects.

K5. The only criticism I can make for our Internship Teacher is this; he/she can use technology more <u>actively in the lessons</u>. Apart from that, I think our teacher will be instructive for us.

In addition to the positive characteristics of the pre-service teachers towards the practice mentors, they also stated the features that need to be improved in teachers. In this context, they stated that they're not including technology-based practices, teaching lessons using the direct instruction method, and not preparing a lesson plan or activity plan as limitations. Mentors have an important role in gaining the teaching skills of pre-service teachers in practice courses such as teaching practice. The fact that the practice mentors are good role models and reflect their knowledge and professional competencies allows pre-service teachers to get more efficiency from this process. Informing the pre-service teachers about the teaching methods and techniques, providing them with the opportunity to explain the lesson with observation, and evaluating their performance in the classroom are among the duties and responsibilities of the mentor. During the teaching practice course, the pre-service teacher needs to experience the process of preparing, explaining, and evaluating an effective lesson plan, to get to know the students closely, and to establish healthy communication with them (Cetintaş & Genç, 2005). At this point, the professional competencies of the practice mentor are also quite important. Similarly, Kiraz (2001) states in his research that the cognitive and affective competence of the mentor while teaching the practice course is an important factor in the success of pre-service teachers. Senemoğlu (1991) states that the subject areas in the primary education curriculum are also learned during the teaching practice most effectively. In this sense, since it is the familiarity of the teachers who guide the pre-service teachers with the distance education process is new, it is vital to provide the necessary support to the teachers. This will have a significant impact on both their professional development and the improvement of the pre-service teachers they guide.

2. Opinions of pre-service teachers towards students in the distance education process

The opinions of the prospective teachers towards students during the internship process carried out with distance education are presented in the "Figure 4" below.



Figure 4. Opinions of pre-service teachers towards students in the distance education process

When Figure 4, which presents the opinions of the pre-service teachers *towards the students* were examined, it was stated that *they participated in the lesson willingly* within the scope of positive opinions, *they comply with the classroom rules regarding distance teaching, they were active in terms of asking questions and questioning, they completed the assigned homework and activities on time, and they were suitable for teaching with distance education in terms of class levels. It was determined that pre-service*

teachers handled the most opinions in the category of "willing participation in the lesson". Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers suitable for these themes are as follows.

K1. In other words, I observed a class in which students were generally enthusiastic, participating, and ready to listen. To mention at this point, it is possible to say that the students of the class we have observed are also <u>willing participating</u> in the classroom environment because they also perform the actions I have listed.

K8. Although there is distance education to <u>answer the questions asked</u>, students who raise their hands' answer when they have the right to speak and listen to all their classmates and do not neglect to raise their hands when asked again. Students who do not disturb the lesson in the classroom listen to their teachers carefully and do not cause any problems in distance education. When students do an activity, they pay attention to textbooks, paint, notebooks, all the tools are ready. <u>They comply with all class rules, even online.</u>

K7. The students we observed are responsible, do their homework on time, are <u>willing to participate</u> in the lesson, <u>follow the rules</u>, and have the ability to <u>ask question and questioning them</u>.

K4. I truly liked the student profile. This may be due to the fact that they are in the 3^{rd} grade. Because let's assume that they are 1^{st} grade, I think they could not understand every subject directly. Therefore, it is very important what the <u>class levels are in distance education</u>. This is more difficult for 1^{st} and 2^{nd} grade students who do not even know how to read and write, and who do not fully understand what they read.

K3. In my opinion, <u>the class level of the students</u> in this process is extremely important. Being a 3^{rd} garde student is an advantage. Compared to the younger ones, they have experienced more face-to-face education and have come to a level where they can adapt more quickly to distance education during the pandemic period.

When the views of the pre-service teachers *towards the students* were examined, it was stated that *the students experienced distraction, some students remained passive in the lesson and there were communication problems between the student-teacher and student-student* within the scope of negative opinions. It was determined that pre-service teachers handled the most opinions in the category of "communication problems". Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers suitable for these themes are as follows.

K2. The attention level of the students is very low. There are unexpected situations such as a student talking during the lesson or knocking on the door in their home. As a result, the attention of the students is easily distracted. As such, it becomes difficult for students to focus on the lesson again.

K4. While some students want to be very active, others prefer to remain silent. This prevents every student from getting the same output from the course. Introverted students, who normally remain silent, are more likely to get <u>distracted</u>. Other active students get ahead of these students. Although it is a situation that we do not want at any time, it becomes difficult for every student to achieve success, realize the outputs, and form meaningful and permanent learning.

K5. Students want to show their teacher everything they do as in school, but it causes complexity as they try to do this in a digital environment. When the teacher asks a student a question, the other students answer without waiting for the question to be answered, sometimes interrupting their friends. <u>Communication accidents are inevitable.</u>

When the views of the pre-service teachers were examined, it was determined that they had problems especially concerning communication. When the studies in the literature are examined, Çakın and Akyavuz (2020) similarly argue that teachers have problems with communication in their research. Bakioğlu & Çevik (2020) in their study with science teachers have observed that they encounter problems such as communicating with students and the low rate of participation in classes. In the research conducted by

Karadüz, Eser, Şahin, and İlbay (2014) before the pandemic, it was determined that pre-service teachers had problems in terms of communication and classroom management in teaching practice. In this sense, it has been understood that the communication problem, which has a very important position in practice courses such as teaching practice, can arise both in face-to-face and distance education processes.

Pre-service teachers stated that some students were more passive in the lesson and observed problems in their interest. In this sense, Dede et al. (2021, p.131), as a result of their study on the participation of secondary school students in the course of the Covid-19 pandemic process, show that the control is largely up to the student, especially in participating in distance education and ensuring continuity in classes, and that self-regulation skills are more important in providing this control. We can include Web 2.0 tools in the education process by making the right planning to attract the attention of the students, increase their active participation in the lesson and provide more permanent learning. For example, Başaran and Kılınçaraslan (2021) examined the effect of the games designed following the lesson acquisition with Web 2.0 tools in the first-class level of primary school in the distance education process on the primary reading and writing skills of the students. They found that the students who learned the letters by Web 2.0 tools were more successful in recognizing the letter, spelling, and reading the texts in which the related letter was used intensively than the students who learned the letters conventionally. In their research, they suggest that teachers can design fun and attention-grabbing games in order to facilitate reaching affective goals so that all students in the classroom can participate more willingly in the distance education process.

3. Opinions on the advantages and limitations of the distance education process and internship practices for pre-service teachers

The opinions of the pre-service teachers about advantages and limitations of internship practices carried out with distance education are presented in the "Figure 5" below.





When Figure 5, which presents the the opinions of the pre-service teachers about advantages and limitations of internship practices carried out with distance education, they stated that there should be a face-to-face internship practice instead of the internship practices they performed during the distance education process and they turned this situation into an advantage in two aspects. The first of these is the development the usage of technology skills in this process, and the second is that they started to use applications such as Web 2.0 tools more in their lessons. Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers in line with these themes are as follows:

K6. As an advantage, I have tested how I can use technology more beneficially and effectively in education. I have gained the knowledge and skills of many <u>Web 2.0 tools</u> that I can use throughout my teaching life.

K5. My interest in <u>technology</u> increased, I learned how to use the computer instead of just turning it on and off. I realized what I could do with computers and technology for students.

K2. I learned many <u>Web 2.0 tools</u> in this process.

The pre-service teachers expressed *the limitations* of the distance education process and internship practices as *not being able to feel like a teacher, not being able to control the classroom, not being able to keep up with the time, not being able to interact with the student, and feeling inadequate.* Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers suitable for these themes are as follows.

K2. <u>I couldn't feel like a teacher</u> exactly because there was no school environment. I would like to **interact** more with the students. This year, I had many different things to do with my dream students, but I could not fully realize my plans in the distance education system.

K6. As a disadvantage, the energy and communication in the classroom environment that <u>we caught at</u> <u>school was not caught in distance education</u> due to not being able to interact with the students, not being able to be face to face, and some technological and technical difficulties.

K5. I had the most difficulty in classroom management. Students are not like in school in the distance education system, it becomes <u>difficult to provide classroom management</u>. They all want to speak, to say something, which causes confusion.

K3. While it is a technical difficulty and problem <u>to control the students and observe the participation and</u> <u>attention status of the students at the same time</u> while making a presentation from the computer, it becomes difficult to produce a solution for this.

K4. I had the most difficulty in catching up with the limited time and teaching how to use practices such as virtual classroom applications (Eba, Edmodo).

When the views of the pre-service teachers are examined, the finding that *they feel professionally inadequate*, such as *not being able to feel like a teacher* due to the limitations of the distance education process and internship practices, is similar to the research conducted by Güven & Uçar (2021). Güven and Uçar (2021) stated that teacher candidates do not find distance education sufficient due to internet problems and that especially teaching practice course with distance education will create problems for them to gain experience. Similarly, Aydın (2021) examined the views of pre-service science teachers within the scope of the teaching practice course during the pandemic period. As a result of the research, it has been found that pre-service teachers may have professional problems, especially in subjects such as classroom management and poor communication.

Within the scope of the Teaching Practice course, it has been observed that the internship teachers conduct their courses through Zoom and EBA platforms. At this point, pre-service teachers who could use Web 2.0 tools comfortably during the Teaching Practice course stated that they had some difficulty in using platforms such as Zoom and EBA. Şimşek et al. (2021) determined that university students studying online have a moderate level of satisfaction with online education, and Zoom and Canvas were the most preferred in this process.

4. Opinions of pre-service teachers regarding remote teaching of practice courses

The opinions of the pre-service teachers regarding the distance education of the practical courses are presented in "Figure 6" below.



Figure 6. Opinions of pre-service teachers regarding remote teaching of practice courses

As seen in Figures 6 pre-service teachers expressed opinions in two categories (positive and negative) regarding the remote teaching of practice courses. In particular, all pre-service teachers mentioned the importance of effective technology integration. In this context, they stated that as a result of the effective integration of technology into the lessons, students will be able to *learn permanently, drawing their attention will be more possible, motivation will be provided, digital material diversity will increase and students can develop high-level thinking skills.* The other category they expressed for remote teaching of practice courses was determined by the theme of the flexibility of time and space. Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers suitable for these themes are as follows.

K2. The course process with distance education is a platform where learning will be very permanent if *technology is used effectively*.

K3. Permanent learning is provided by *integrating technology* into the lesson. <u>High-level thinking skills</u> contribute to the development of <u>attention</u>. The teacher's use of Web 2.0 tools in distance education brings vitality to the lesson, the student behind the computer will be more active instead of bored. Addressing more senses will also increase the permanence of learning.

K4. When technology is transferred into the lesson, the student will be more active and participation in the lesson will be much higher. Not only by reading, hearing, or seeing the information that students need to learn but also by providing studies on that subject will make a great contribution to the student. Otherwise, if the subject is explained only verbally, the **permanence of the learning** will be very low.

K7. Distance education is an ideal place to reach many students. If the subject is many people, lectures here are easy to <u>save time</u>.

K8. Both students and teachers were taking actions such as coming to school in order to unite in the classroom environment, but it is not possible to talk about such a situation in distance education, so we can say that <u>time is saved.</u>

K6. There is an advantage in distance education such as the use of <u>different techniques</u>, there is <u>flexible</u> <u>time</u>, people can follow their lessons in a suitable learning environment.

The themes that pre-service teachers expressed negative opinions about remote teaching of practice courses are; *difficulty in accessing technology, difficulty in evaluating student behavior, inability to do group work, inability to teach some courses per their purpose due to the content, intangibility of materials, failure to provide student-parent-teacher cooperation, failure to provide classroom order.* Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers suitable for these themes are as follows.

K1. We can say that it <u>reaches fewer students</u> if we consider that not all children have facilities such as computers or the internet, and it can be said that these opportunities will prevent these children from learning.

K8. It can be said that distance education does not provide equality of opportunity, as there are situations such as students' lack of technology or <u>access to the course is a problem</u>.

K4. I think the point where distance education affects students the most is as follows; <u>their inability to</u> <u>observe their behavior</u>. The teacher will not be able to see how the students behave with their friends during the lesson, after the lesson, or in the garden. They will not be able to gain the habits and skills that the teacher should give them.

K2. Physical education, music, and visual arts lessons, which contribute to the mental and physical development of students, are limited to the teacher's playing music on YouTube or make them paint. In particular, the physical education lesson cannot be carried out under its purpose. While this course enables students to socialize together, this is not possible to do this in distance education. Since the students are at home, they are much more comfortable than they are in the school environment, there is no certain order and discipline. Group work among students is not possible. Courses based on experiments and observation, such as science, are taught by direct instruction method.

K5. Since visual arts, physical education, and game and music lessons cover artistic works in the category of *practice lessons*, teaching them in distance education affects the students in a way that they will have lack skills or that they will have some deficiencies.

K3. I think that there are difficulties in providing <u>student-parent-teacher cooperation</u>. Calling the families of students who could not be reached via the internet and trying to include them in the program created an advantage for students not to fall behind in the classes and school program.

K6. It is not a system that allows the use of materials and physical interaction (eye contact, hand, arm contact) with our teacher in the distance education process as much as formal education. It is not a system that appeals to visual memory since students cannot see the *materials* concretely.

The theme of the flexibility of time and space, especially for the remote teaching of practice courses such as teaching practice, which emerged during the interviews with the pre-service teachers, is similar to the research results of Çilek, Uçan, and Ermiş (2021). As a result of the research conducted by Çilek, Uçan, and Ermiş (2021) with primary school teachers, it was determined that the most frequently expressed positive opinions by teachers were that distance education provides flexibility and comfort and provides students with plenty of resources, quick access to resources and more repetition.

In this study, themes emerged regarding both positive and negative views of pre-service teachers towards teaching the lesson remotely. Şeren, Tut & Kesten (2020) also examined the views of basic education instructors on distance education during the coronavirus pandemic period. In the study, the views of the instructors in terms of the teaching-learning process, communication-interaction, and assessment-evaluation in distance education were discussed in terms of both disadvantages and advantages. It was suggested that *their views on disadvantages* were more than their views on advantages. At this point, they used various methods to solve problems and *make constructive suggestions for making the process more efficient*.

Among the negative opinions of pre-service teachers are the themes of "difficulty in accessing technology" and "reaching fewer students". Similarly, Kavuk and Demirtaş (2021), in their research, found that students could not reach enough technological tools and the internet, they had some problems with EBA, and because of these, the rate of participation in the course decreased. Liyanagunawardena & Williams (2021), in their study investigating the reflections of emergency distance education and home education during the Covid-19 pandemic in Sri Lanka, argued that both students and parents were more satisfied with the emergency distance education process, especially in states with good computer equipment. Similarly, in the research conducted by Karakuş, Ucuzsatar, Karacaoğlu, Esendemir and Bayraktar (2020), teacher candidates stated that they could not get efficiency due to technical problems and lack of communication during the pandemic process.

4. Suggestions for solutions to the problems experienced in the distance education experiences of pre-service teachers

The suggestions for solutions to the problems experienced in the distance education experiences of preservice teachers are presented in the "Figure 7" below.



Figure 7. Suggestions for solutions to the problems experienced in the distance education experiences of pre-service teachers

As seen in Figure 7, pre-service teachers stated their solution suggestions for the problems they encountered in their distance education experiences under 5 themes. These themes are; *the technology competence of teachers should be increased, activities related to assessment should be carried out in the classroom, students should be separated according to their level groups, a system should be created where teachers can receive online support for technical problems or online platforms, and distance education courses should be carried out by using different teaching methods.* Some of the opinions of pre-service teachers suitable for these themes are as follows.

K2. Teachers need to be *more involved in technology* and should make their preparations in advance.

K3. The only suggestion I will make, based on my own internship experience during the distance education process, is for our teachers to teach the questions in the lectures by <u>turning them into play on digital</u> <u>platforms</u>. In this way, I think that students learn more willingly and faster. Thanks to these games, students can both play and learn individually after the lesson is over. But for this, it is necessary to improve the technology competencies of teachers.

K5. Making more technology-based practices, presenting more examples, microteaching practices, seperation of groups according to levels, less number of students, <u>creation of a system where online</u> <u>support</u> can be obtained, applying a new program for advanced practices (laboratory, painting, music,

physical education classes, etc.), sending reminder messages and doing activities related to the <u>evaluation</u> are among my suggestions.

K7. I think that direct instruction should be avoided and emphasis should be placed on *various teaching methods and techniques.*

When the studies on distance education in the literature are examined, it is noteworthy that the problems identified and the suggestions for the solution of the problems are similar. For example, Sharma et al. (2021), as a result of their research they conducted with nursing faculty students in Nepal on emergency distance education applications during the pandemic period; it has been determined that almost all of the participants preferred live lessons to recorded lessons, and the majority of students and faculty members are not interested in online lessons. In the research; although communication and cooperation have increased, it has been determined that the overall effectiveness of distance education is low and therefore it is stated that the right strategies are needed to increase effectiveness. Agnoletto and Queiroz (2020) emphasize that digitalization is not as easy as it seems and that it is necessary to cope with the feelings of anxiety arising from social isolation, especially due to the pandemic. They state that all educational difficulties (material diversity, motivating activities, planning steps, etc.) that already exist in classrooms should be handled more carefully in the distance education process, due to the inherent uncertainties of the process. In the research of Çilek, Uçan & Ermiş (2021), it was stated that there are problems in the distance education process such as internet and computer inadequacy, loss of motivation, technical problems, the inadequacy of technology usage, parent interventions, and lack of socialization, and there have been suggestions such as providing equal opportunities for teachers, technological training for parents, the EBA platform to be designed with contents based on primary schools and strengthening the internet infrastructure of schools. Hebebci, Bertiz, and Alan (2020) investigated the opinions of teachers and students on distance education practices in the COVID-19 pandemic. In the interviews, they determined that there are problems such as lack of infrastructure and equipment and stated that improvement activities can be planned, especially with in-service trainings, in order to solve these problems.

4 Conclusion and Suggestions

The Covid-19 pandemic has suddenly become a part of our lives and has caused serious changes and transformations in almost all sectors in the world. In particular, the reflections of the suspension of face-toface education and the transition to emergency distance education will be more clearly understood in the following years. In the distance education process, within the scope of the "Teaching Practice" course, 2 hours a week theoretically with the instructor and the remaining 6 hours were carried out online under the guidance of the practice teacher in schools affiliated with the MoNE. The course is practiced within the time allotted for the course under the provisions of the curriculum and legislation applied at the field and education level of which the pre-service teacher will teach. It consists of arranging lesson plans, preparing for the lessons, and creating instructional activities according to the level of the class in which the lesson is followed. However, due to the pandemic, it has become necessary to conduct the theoretical and practical part in the form of distance education. In this context, within the scope of the teaching practice course, the views of pre-service teachers about their distance education experiences are included in the study. When the results of the study are examined, when the opinions of the primary school pre-service teachers especially towards the practice mentors are examined, it is seen that the teachers give timely and appropriate feedback to the students during the distance education process, they can evaluate the success of the students, they give the students the appropriate time while answering the questions, and they inform the students about the outputs before the lesson starts. It has been determined that they do not include technology-based practices (Web 2.0 practices), they teach by using the direct instruction method, and they do not prepare a lesson plan or activity plan. Pre-service teachers also stated that teachers use platforms such as EBA and Edmodo more effectively, but they never add Web 2.0 practices to the lesson. In this context, they have revealed that while they feel more competent in Web 2.0 practices, they cannot participate actively in platforms such as EBA and Edmodo and that teachers use these platforms more competently. When the opinions of the pre-service teachers towards the students are examined, it is stated that they attend the lesson willingly within the scope of positive opinions, they comply with the classroom rules regarding distance teaching, they are active in terms of asking questions and questioning, they complete the given assignments and activities on time, and they are suitable for teaching with distance education in terms of class levels; within the scope of negative opinions, it was stated that students experienced distraction, some students remained passive in the lesson, and communication problems were experienced between student-teacher and student-student. Pre-service teachers stated that their technology usage skills have improved thanks to the internship practices they have carried out during the distance education process, and they have started to use applications such as Web 2.0 tools more in their lessons. In this context, their effective use of Web 2.0 tools can be attributed to the technology integration-based education process that the practice instructor gave throughout the teaching practice course. The pre-service teachers stated the limitations of the distance education process and internship practices as not being able to feel like a teacher, not being able to manage the classroom, not being able to keep up with the limited time, not being able to interact with the students, and feeling inadequate. Pre-service teachers stated that remote teaching of practical courses can only be achieved by providing effective technology integration. In this context, they expressed the opinion that primary school students will provide permanent learning, they can achieve more attention, motivation will be provided, digital material diversity will increase and students can develop high-level thinking skills. Preservice teachers reported more negative opinions about remote teaching of practice courses. These themes are; difficulty in accessing technology, difficulty in evaluating student behavior, inability to do group work, inability to teach some courses per their purpose due to the content, intangibility of materials, failure to provide student-parent-teacher cooperation, failure to provide classroom order.

In this study, it is known that the effects of completing the "Teaching Practice" course in distance education will be understood in the following years, especially for the prospective teachers who will be the primary school teachers of the future. When the results of this study are taken into consideration, it may cause a lack of experience, especially if courses such as teaching practice, which are practice-based, are carried out in distance education. It is very important to compensate for this forced situation. Especially during the pandemic period, remedial training can be given to teachers who graduated and appointed; and different activities, in-service training, and courses can be organized to adapt to the school and students. In cases where it is necessary to conduct practical courses such as teaching practice in distance education, it should be shared with all participants at the beginning of the term, especially where the attendance requirement is important. It is also important for prospective teachers to be active in weekly theoretical lecture meetings to ensure their motivation. The problems they have experienced during the internship should be shared with the lecturer and solutions should be discussed. They should have regular meetings with the class teacher and obtain information about the primary school students that they observe and need to teach. Primary school teachers are required to follow the weekly lessons regularly and arrange the lesson plan they will teach with methods-techniques suitable for distance education.

They can benefit from different Web 2.0 technologies to ensure the participation of students in the courses which will be taught in distance education. Instead of using only PowerPoint presentations in lessons, they can be guided to design activities with different concepts such as attracting attention, playing games, and evaluating. In this sense, it is very important that the academicians responsible for the course in the university and the primary school teacher in the MoNE school working in coordination.

Another important point is that; some pre-service teachers may have problems with internet access at the time they will teach during the internship. For this reason, it is necessary to talk to the teachers in charge of the course in advance about finding a solution and how they can benefit from the opportunities. Especially in the 2020-2021 academic year, the libraries of universities affiliated to CHE have been back in service for students who have internet problems in their villages, districts, and provinces, for the problem of accessing the internet in the courses of their undergraduate program. Students who have internet problems

at home can continue to benefit from the internet of the universities in their province. In addition, all students can be facilitated if authorities try to eliminate the necessary infrastructure deficiencies in internet connection as soon as possible.

References

- Agnoletto, R., & Queiroz, V. (2020). COVID-19 and the challenges in Education. *The Centro de Estudos Sociedade e Tecnologia (CEST)*, 5(2).
- Allen, M., Bourhis, J., Burrell, N., & Mabry, E. (2002). Comparing student satisfaction with distance education to traditional classrooms in higher education: A meta-analysis. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 16(2), 83-97.
- Aydın, S. (2021). Covid-19 Pandemisi sürecinde fen bilimleri öğretmen adaylarının öğretmenlik uygulaması dersi ile ilgili görüşleri, *International Journal of Eurasia Social Sciences (IJOESS)*, 12(45), 677-693.
- Bakioğlu, B., Çevik, M. (2020). COVID-19 pandemisi sürecinde fen bilimleri öğretmenlerinin uzaktan eğitime ilişkin görüşleri. *Turkish Studies*, 15(4), 109-129.
- Baran, E. & AlZoubi, D. (2020). Human-Centered Design as a Frame for Transition to Remote Teaching during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 365-372. Waynesville, NC USA: Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education. Retrieved August 30, 2021 from https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/216077/.
- Başaran, M., & Kılınçarslan, R. (2021). The efficiency of games designed with web 2.0 tools in primary reading and writing teaching with distance education. *Turkish Journal of Education*, 6 (1), 186-199.
- Bilgiç, H. G., & Tüzün, H. (2015). The problems experienced web-based distance education programs in higher education institutes. *Journal of Open Education Applications and Research*, 1(3), 26-50.
- Bozkurt, A., & Sharma, R. C. (2020). Emergency remote teaching in a time of global crisis due to CoronaVirus pandemic. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1), i-vi.
- Can, E. (2020). Coronavirüs (Covid-19) pandemisi ve pedagojik yansımaları: Türkiye'de uzaktan eğitim uygulamaları. *Açıköğretim Uygulamaları ve Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 6(2), 11-53.
- Council of Higher Education (CHE) (2020). Press release, Retrieved from https://www.yok.gov.tr/Sayfalar/Haberler/2020/
- Çakın, M., & Külekçi Akyavuz, E. (2020). Covid-19 süreci ve eğitime yansıması: Öğretmen görüşlerinin incelenmesi. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Education Research*, 6(2), 165-186.
- Çetintaş, B., & Ayten, G. E. N. Ç. (2005). Almanca öğretmen adaylarının öğretmenlik uygulaması derslerine ilişkin görüş ve deneyimleri. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 29(29), 75-84.
- Çilek, A., Uçan, A., & Ermiş, M. (2021). Pandemi sürecinde sınıf öğretmenlerinin uzaktan eğitime ilişkin görüşleri. *Turan Stratejik Araştırmalar Merkezi*, 13(49), 308-323.
- Durak, G., Çankaya, S., & İzmirli, S. (2020). Examining the Turkish universities' distance education systems during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Necatibey Faculty of Education Electronic Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 14(1), 787-809.
- Güven, S., & Uçar, M. (2021). Öğretmen adaylarının uzaktan eğitim ve öğretmenlik uygulaması dersine ilişkin görüşleri. *Journal of Awareness*, 6(3), 165-183.

- Hebebci, M. T., Bertiz, Y., & Alan, S. (2020). Investigation of views of students and teachers on distance education practices during the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic. *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science* (IJTES), 4(4), 267-282.
- Hojeij, Z., & Baroudi, S. (2021). Engaging pre-service teachers in virtual field experience during covid-19: designing a framework to inform the practice. *International Journal of Distance Education Technologies (IJDET)*, 19(3), 14-32.
- Iyer, P., Aziz, K., & Ojcius, D. M. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on dental education in the United States. *Journal of Dental Education*, 84(6), 718-722.
- Kahraman, M. E. (2020). COVID-19 salgınının uygulamalı derslere etkisi ve bu derslerin uzaktan eğitimle yürütülmesi: temel tasarım dersi örneği. *Medeniyet Sanat Dergisi*, 6 (1), 44-56. DOI: 10.46641/medeniyetsanat.741737
- Karadüz, A., Eser, Y., Şahin, C. & İlbay, A. (2014). The effectiveness of teaching practice module in opinions of final-year student teachers. *Mustafa Kemal Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 6 (11), 440-453. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/mkusbed/issue/19558/208501.
- Karakuş, N., Ucuzsatar, N., Karacaoğlu, M. Ö., Esendemir, N. & Bayraktar, D. (2020). Türkçe öğretmeni adaylarının uzaktan eğitime yönelik görüşleri. *RumeliDE Dil ve Edebiyat Araştırmaları Dergisi*, (19), 220-241.
- Kavuk, E.& Demirtaş, H. (2021). COVID-19 pandemisi sürecinde öğretmenlerin uzaktan eğitimde yaşadığı zorluklar. *E-International Journal of Pedandragogy*, 1(1), 55-73.
- Kiraz, E. (2001). Aday öğretmen-rehber öğretmen etkileşimi: Mesleki gelişimde diğer boyut. Eğitim araştırmaları, 5, 85-92.
- Liyanagunawardena, T., & Williams, S. A. (2021). Emergency remote education: experience from Sri Lanka during covid-19. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, 16(1), 207-229. Retrieved from http://www.asianjde.com/ojs/index.php/AsianJDE/article/view/554.
- Merriam, S. B. (2018). Nitel araştırma: Desen ve uygulama için bir rehber. S. Turan (Çev. Edt.). Nobel Yayınevi.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman A. M. (1994). An expanded sourcebook qualitative data analysis. California: Sage Publications.
- Ministry of Health (2020). Covid-19 (Sars-CoV-2 Infection) Guide. Erişim: https://covid19bilgi.saglik.gov.tr/depo/rehberler/COVID-19_Rehberi.pdf (Erişim Tarihi: 16.07.2020)
- Mohammad Nasri, N., Husnin, H., Mahmud, S. N. D., & Halim, L. (2020). Mitigating the COVID-19 pandemic: A snapshot from Malaysia into the coping strategies for pre-service teachers' education. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, *46*(4), 546-553.
- Nel, C., & Marais, E. (2020). Preservice teachers use of Whatsapp to explain subject content to school children during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal of Work-Integrated Learning*, 21(5), 629-641.
- Patton, M.Q. (2002). Qualitative research & evaluation methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Russel, T. L. (1999). The No significant difference phenomenon as reported in 355 research reports, summaries and papers. USA: North Carolina State University.

- Senemoğlu, N. (1991). A study on initial primary teacher training in England with implications for the system in Turkey. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 9(9), 367-376.
- Sharma, M., Onta, M., Shrestha, S., Sharma, M. R., & Bhattarai, T. (2021). The pedagogical shift during Covid-19 pandemic: emergency remote learning practices in nursing and its effectiveness. Asian Journal of Distance Education, 16(1), 98-110. Retrieved from http://www.asianjde.com/ojs/index.php/AsianJDE/article/view/537.
- Şimşek, I., Küçük, S., Köse Biber, S., & Can, T. (2021). Online learning satisfaction in higher education amidst the Covid-19 pandemic. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, 16(1), 247-261. Retrieved from http://www.asianjde.com/ojs/index.php/AsianJDE/article/view/561.
- Şeren, N., Tut, E., & Kesten, A. (2020). Korona virüs sürecinde uzaktan eğitim: Temel eğitim bölümü öğretim elemanlarının görüşleri. *Turkish Studies*, 15(6), 4507-4524.
- Türküresin, H. E. (2020). Examining the distance education applications carried out during the Covid-19 pandemic period in the context of the views of teacher candidates. *Milli Eğitim Dergisi*, 49(1), 597-618.
- UNESCO (2020). COVID-19 education response. Retrieved from https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse/globalcoalition.
- Valdez, P. N., Ugalingan, G., & Edjan, D. (2021). Exploring conditions of possibility for the teaching internship in the Philippines during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Public Health*, fdab225, Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdab225.
- Yıldırım, A. & Şimşek, H. (2014). Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma yöntemleri. Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık
- Yıldırım, S., Yıldırım, G., Çelik, E., & Karaman, S. (2014). Distance education students' views on distance education: a scale development study. *Eğitim ve Öğretim Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 3(3), 365-370.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021

http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Investigating learner motivation in online education in terms of self-efficacy and self-regulation

Emin ÖZEN ^a * ^(D), Nilgün KARACA ^b ^(D)

^a Anadolu University, Turkey ^b M.E.B, Turkey

Suggested citation: Özen, E. & Karaca N. (2021). Investigating learner motivation in online education in terms of self-efficacy and self-regulation. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 745-758.

Article Info	Abstract
Article Info Keywords: Online Education Motivation Self-efficacy Self-regulation	As in many countries of the world, online education has been implemented in Turkey in recent years and related applications are becoming more widespread day by day. The fact that it can take place anytime and anywhere, eliminate the limitations of time and space, and provide lifelong learning can be described as the most basic factors in the spread of online education. In addition, the rapid increase in the number of students who have to take online education due to the Covid-19 global pandemic, which has affected the whole world recently, might be thought to have made the issue of learner motivation in relevant environments gain importance. This study is a narrative review study based on the literature review conducted to examine learner motivation in online education in terms of self-efficacy and self-regulation structures. As a result of the study, it was revealed that learners in online education should determine their own goals and motivate themselves in line with their own studying principles in this process. In addition, it is concluded that learner should take their own learning responsibilities in online environments in line with their own interests and abilities. It is also concluded that educators, educational institutions and instructional designers should obtain more information about learner perceptions, motivations and learning strategies, and they should use the information they have obtained in online education environments is affected by self-efficacy and self-regulation. Furthermore, it is thought that the research will guide researchers working in the field of motivation in online learning in
Review Article	terms of improving and developing the motivation of learners in online education.

1. Introduction

Rapidly developing technologies create differences in people's lifestyles, and even these differentiations affect education life. Considering the reflections of developing new technologies on education, unlike traditional learning environments, learners are getting acquainted with learning environments supported by new technologies. Online learning environments, which are seen as an alternative to traditional learning environments, can be considered as one of the reflections of new technologies in education. Due to the fact that it can be said that academic motivation is important in increasing student success in online learning environments as well as in traditional learning environments, academic success, cognitive load and

* Corresponding author. Anadolu University, Turkey e-mail address: <u>eminozen@anadolu.edu.tr</u>

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1016530

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 16 Dec 2021; Accepted 26 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

motivation problems experienced in traditional learning environments should also be reviewed for online environments (Hoskins & Hooff, 2005). In addition, the Covid-19 pandemic, which has recently become a global crisis, has significantly affected many sectors including education. With this unpredictable global pandemic, face-to-face education in educational institutions had to be suspended. This situation has made online learning compulsory, which makes students who are passive recipients in the traditional learning method change into the learners who control their own learning process (Ünal, Şanlıer, & Şengil, 2021).

In this century, raising individuals who construct knowledge, take an active role in the learning process and who are aware of their learning ability has become one of the basic needs (Dede, Keskin, Öztürk, & Keskin, 2021). Students who are successful in organizing their own learning processes are also more successful in academic terms (Sakal, 2017). For this reason, self-regulated learning has come to the fore in recent years (Aydın & Atalay, 2015). Self-regulation, which is thought to be one of the most important factors of academic success, has been modeled and defined in many perspectives (Ciltaş, 2011). Self-regulation, first mentioned by Albert Bandura, the founder of social cognitive theory, emphasizes the importance of being aware of one's own abilities and capacities regarding the behaviors that will be exhibited. Self-regulation is a constructive and active process in which learners set their own learning goals and try to regulate their behavior and motivation (Pintrich, 2000). Students with self-regulation skills can plan the stages of their learning processes, organize their own learning processes, and create the most appropriate environment that will motivate them (Özmentes, 2008). In the light of these definitions, self-regulated learning can be defined as all kinds of tactics, techniques and strategies used by the student for self-learning (Çiltaş, 2011). Selfregulated learning means that the student controls this process by playing an active role on the learning process without being dependent on others (Dede et al., 2021). Students with self-regulation skills can compare and evaluate their own learning with learning criteria (Senemoğlu, 2010). In summary, selfregulation is the student's being active and responsible in the learning process. Students who are aware of this responsibility are also aware of their learning deficiencies and how to overcome these deficiencies (Yüksel, 2003). Considering these features of self-regulation, student-related problems such as loss of motivation, leaving the course unfinished, and absenteeism in online education, where the responsibility of learning lies with the student, have an important place in the self-regulation of students (Dede et al., 2021).

There is a relationship between self-regulated learning and self-efficacy (Karademir, Deveci, & Çaylı, 2018). Self-regulation is a necessary element for self-efficacy (Karademir et al., 2018). Self-efficacy is closely related to the student's confidence in his ability to self-regulate about a subject (Israel, 2007). In studies that determined the relationship between academic achievement and self-efficacy of secondary school students, it was observed that students with high self-efficacy and self-regulation had also higher motivation and success (Arslan, 2017). The successes achieved by the students increase the desire to learn, and the failures they experience during learning decrease the desire to learn (Ergül, 2006). It is seen that these experiences of the students also give information about the academic success at school.

Motivation is thought to be one of the concepts as important as self-regulation and self-efficacy in education. Motivation can be defined as the beliefs, desires, needs and fears that drive the individual. Yıldırım (2007), on the other hand, defines motivation as an individual's acting with his own desires and wishes to achieve a certain goal. Motivation, which positively affects success, is an important factor that facilitates learning, and it is thought that all these features clearly reveal the importance of the motivation process for learners.

It has been seen that motivation is given a lot of attention in the field of education, and many definitions of motivation have been put forward in the theoretical approaches related to educational motivation. Motivation is the impulses and intentions that cause the individual to do something he/she wants (Orhan, 2006). In the educational environment, motivation is the impulses and desires to learn knowledge (Üredi & Üredi, 2005). Motivation is also an important part of the distance and online learning process (Khan, 2009). Since students must be in an individual learning process in online education, motivation is essential for effective learning to take place (Sakal, 2017).

When the studies in the literature on self-regulation and self-efficacy are examined, it has been observed that there are studies examining the relationship with many variables such as the relationship between self-regulation and class participation (Dede et al., 2021), examination of secondary school students' self-regulation and academic self-efficacy (Karademir et al., 2018), motivational structures that affect academic success (Ergül, 2006). However, there is a lack of studies in the literature examining learner motivation in online education in terms of self-efficacy and self-regulation structures. It is thought that this research will fill this gap in the literature and at the same time lead the studies on learner motivation in the online learning process, which has become a universal issue. It is thought that considering learner motivation in online education from a different perspective during the pandemic period may also guide future studies.

2. Theoretical Framework

2.1. Online Education

With the integration of information technology and recent developments in digital technologies, online education has deeply influenced traditional education delivery models. As institutions around the world adapt to these developments, online education has created a very dynamic educational environment, which has aroused great interest among researchers, educators, administrators, policy makers, publishers, and businesses (Dziuban & Picciano, 2015).

Online education has become a global phenomenon due to the emergence of new technologies, the widespread adoption of the Internet, and the demand for a skilled workforce for a digital economy. For this reason, many institutions are experimenting with the innovative online education method. For example, since the 1990s, organizations such as the World Bank, the United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), the European Commission have advocated the use of online education to expand educational opportunities for the disadvantaged population (Kumar, Palvia, & Verma, 2017).

With the development of online education over time, its definition has also evolved, and different definitions have been made. Moore and Kearsley (2011, p. 2) define online education as "planned learning where teaching takes place in a different place than usual, requiring special institutional organization as well as communication with technologies". Online education is distance education in which the internet is used to create a learning environment in which a student interacts with content, teachers, and other students to gain knowledge and competence throughout the learning process (Moore and Kearsley, 2011). Online education is a flexible teaching delivery system that covers all kinds of learning and is carried out on the internet. Online education gives educators and students access to content that cannot be found in a traditional classroom setting, and students can learn on their own schedule and at their own pace (Jones, 2020).

Online education refers to a form of learning in which learning-teaching activities and services are offered to learners with the support of computer networks. Online education allows learners to take courses at various levels when they have a computer and internet connection (Çalışkan, 2002). Anadolu University defines online learning as a learning environment where the individual learns by himself using information technologies, there is no time and place limit in accessing information, synchronous or asynchronous communication or interaction is realized with other learners and teachers thanks to visual and auditory opportunities provided by computer technology, interaction removes socio-economic status barriers, and provides individuals with the opportunity to benefit from the superiority of lifelong education (Anadolu University Internet Supported Education System, 2006).

2.2. Learner Motivation

Motivation is defined as the process of engaging in behaviors that will provide satisfaction or lead to a goal for individuals to meet their various needs (Vatansever Bayraktar, 2015). In this process, an individual's

needs may change and there may be behavioral differences. Therefore, it is seen that motivation has a dynamic structure. In addition, motivation is the first condition of undertaking the learning task and the engine that powers the process (Meşe & Sevilen, 2021).

Brophy (2010, p. 3) defines motivation as "a theoretical construct to explain the initiation, direction, intensity, persistence, and quality of behaviour, especially goal-directed behaviour". Motivation involves goals that provide the impetus for purposeful action with an intended direction. Whether physical or mental, activity is an essential part of motivation. Inherent in this definition is the notion that motivation is a process rather than an end result. This has implications in terms of measurement of motivation. That is, because it cannot be observed directly it must be inferred from actions such as choice of tasks, persistence, effort and achievement, or from what individuals say about themselves (Schunk, et al., 2014). Contemporary views link motivation to individuals' cognitive and affective processes such as thoughts, beliefs, goals and emotions and emphasise the situated, interactive relationship between the learner and the learning environment that is facilitated or constrained by various social and contextual factors (Schunk, et al., 2014)

Kullmann & Seidel (2000) state that motivation initially provides the power and energy required for the learner and that no learning process without motivation can reach the expected goal (cited in İşigüzel, 2013). There is a cyclical relationship between motivation and learning performance. Schumann (2004, p. 264) explains the cycle between a strong motivation and the learning process as follows: "Positive emotions (motivation) affect the cognitive process positively; cognitive process leads to new knowledge; learned new knowledge also strengthens positive emotions (motivation)".

In this context, learner motivation has an important quality that affects all online learning activities. The reason for this is that motivation is important both in the acquisition of new achievements and in the fact that previously learned gains can be effective in the performance of the learner. Learning and performance are interrelated with motivation. When one of them is acquired, it affects the next (Pintrich, 1996; cited in Ceylan, 2003). The increase in learner motivation reduces the problems related to learning and participation in online environments. In addition, it allows teachers and learners to enjoy their learning environments more. In addition, comprehensive reviews of the motivation literature have resulted in the development of several motivation design models. These include Keller's (2010) ARCS model and Ginsberg and Wlodkowski's (2000) motivational framework for culturally responsive teaching. Keller's model, in particular, has been frequently used as a conceptual framework for the development of online learning environments that enhance learner motivation.

2.3. Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is the learner's confidence in his abilities in any subject area (Karademir et al., 2018). It is seen that learners with self-efficacy can determine how much effort they will spend and their own solutions for the difficulties they encounter.

Self-efficacy is an extremely important concept in education for both the learner and the teacher. Because a learner who does not see himself as sufficient will not be able to learn, and a teacher who does not feel competent will not be able to teach effectively (Karakuyu & Karakuyu, 2016). Having high self-efficacy skills is important for regulating learning, motivation, decision making and good interaction (Gürlen, 2011). Bandura (1995)'s self-efficacy theory points out that learners' self-efficacy skills are closely related to their motivation. It is stated that learners with low self-efficacy avoid doing difficult tasks and tend to give up immediately.

Self-efficacy is the learner's capacity to successfully perform the activities determined to achieve the goals (Yıldız & Kardaş, 2021). This belief has an important place in the learner's motivation process. The learner with high efficacy belief makes more effort to cope with the difficulties and shows longer endurance against the problems (Bandura, 1995). In this respect, self-efficacy belief enables learners to regulate them

emotionally in a positive way by reducing worry and negative thinking about the obstacles and difficulties they experience (Carr, 2013).

Self-efficacy skill is also related to cognitive processes. Self-efficacy plays a key role in the self-regulation role of motivation (Gömleksiz & Serhatlıoğlu, 2013). Thus, it enables learners to set goals for themselves. It also determines how much they will struggle in the face of difficulties, how much effort they will put in, and their resilience in the face of failure (Bandura, 1995).

According to Bandura (1997), the expectation of self-efficacy in the learner consists of four sources: (1) the learner's achievements including previous success or failure experiences; (2) conclusions drawn from the experiences of other learners; (3) the learner is convinced of the activities s/he can do; (4) states of emotional arousal such as stress, anxiety, and fatigue. When these sources of self-efficacy expectation are examined, it is seen that the learner's success and self-efficacy depend on his own experiences. Other learners' experiences are thought to be beneficial for self-efficacy, although not as much as their own learning experiences. In addition, when self-efficacy is defended convincingly, self-efficacy expectation can also increase (Ergül, 2006). Finally, the learner's emotional reactions and results can also give clues about self-efficacy.

Learners with high self-efficacy skills approach learning environments willingly, strive for learning opportunities, and show high performance on the subjects they will learn by making long-term efforts in the difficulties they encounter (Eggen & Kauchak, 1999). Accordingly, it can be said that self-efficacy expectation is an important determinant of the learner's success level and plays a key role in learner behavior. High self-efficacy of learners also affects their success and motivation (Bandura, 1997). It can be said that it is very easy for learners who are aware of their own learning process to motivate themselves.

2.4. Self-Regulation

The concept of self-regulation, which has been defined and modeled from many theoretical perspectives, emerged in the mid-1980s in the light of the question of how learners can manage their own learning processes (Zimmerman 2013). Starting from this point, self-regulation; It is based on Bandura's social cognitive theory, which includes the assumptions that an individual sets learning goals, monitors and controls the learning process, and changes or regulates it when appropriate. In social cognitive theory, it is stated that the learner observes his environment and manages his cognitive processes as a result of his observations.(Eker, 2014). Similar to this situation, in self-regulation, it is seen that the focus is on the individual's regulating his behavior according to the learning environment and choosing and using appropriate strategies.

Self-regulation is the learners' arranging their feelings, thoughts and actions in a way that will reach their goals and making an effort (Ergül, 2006). It is seen that learners with self-regulation skills determine their learning goals and choose appropriate strategies for this purpose. When the studies in this field are examined, it is seen that there is a positive relationship between the academic achievement and motivation of learners with self-regulation skills.

Self-regulated learning is the process in which learners actively regulate their motivation and learning after going through various processes (Çiltaş, 2011). The learners who organize this process are expected to organize their own learning processes and provide their own motivation. When we look at the definitions of self-regulation, it can be said that it is all kinds of tactics that the learners use to learn by themselves.

Every learner has a self-regulation skill that s/he uses to reach his/her goal (Karademir et al., 2018). For this reason, it would be wrong to say that there is or is not self-regulation skill. It can be said that it is a more appropriate expression to say that the use of self-regulation skills in the learner is active or inactive. Self-regulation is the learners' full command of their own learning styles and being able to manage them (Zimmerman, 1996). In this respect, it can be concluded that self-regulation causes the learner to develop a sense of responsibility.

Online education is a model in which the responsibility of learning is largely given to the learner (Dede et al., 2021). In the education system of this age, it is the most basic need to raise learners who are aware of their own abilities, can structure knowledge, and evaluate their own learning feedback. It is seen that learners with these qualities are successful in these learning processes. For this reason, the importance of self-regulated learning comes to the fore in online education.

Self-regulation skill, which emerges as a state of being able to control the behaviors to achieve the desired results and to be motivated in this direction, is defined as the student's taking responsibility for the execution of the curriculum and directing his own learning in distance education. In online distance education environments where the learning responsibility is mostly on the learner, it is expected that the individual has a locus of control and can use his/her self-regulation skills more in order to reach the goal. In this context, it can be said that the motivation and self-efficacy levels of the perceptive learners with locus of control are related to self-regulation skills in online distance education environments. It is also assumed that self-efficacy leads to self-regulation that affects academic outcome. The self-efficacy mechanism is a mediator that affects self-regulation and leads to academic outcomes (Ros, 2014).



Fig. 1. Mediational model of primary self-efficacy, self-regulation and academic outcome (adapted from Ros, 2014)

3. Literature

The common point emphasized in the definitions of self-efficacy and self-regulation is that learners take a cognitive and motivational role in learning processes (Çiltaş, 2011). The effect of self-efficacy and self-regulation on learner motivation is seen in the online environment as well as in the classroom environment. Studies show that learner motivation in the online environment is positively related to self-efficacy and self-regulation (Kuloğlu, 2020). There is a relationship between self-regulated learning and self-efficacy in academic subjects (Pintrich, 2000). Self-regulation also includes self-efficacy (OECD, 2013). Self-regulated learning is necessary for self-efficacy. Similarly, self-efficacy belief (Los, 2010). According to Bandura's "Social Learning Theory", self-efficacy, which is one of the basic key concepts, is the individual's self-judgment about his capacity to organize the activities necessary for a certain performance and to do it successfully (Bandura, 1997). Self-efficacy is related to an individual's confidence in his own abilities in a particular subject area (Israel, 2007). We can think that self-efficacy has a strong positive effect on self-regulation. This is important in the formation and realization of academic goals (Zimmerman & Bandura, 1994). Self-efficacy is an important construct for success (Klassen & Usher, 2010). In this context, it can be said that there is a relationship between self-efficacy, academic achievement and self-regulation.

In his research titled motivational structures affecting academic success in online education Ergül (2006) concluded that self-efficacy and self-regulation skills are necessary to be successful in online education as well as in face-to-face education. It has been revealed that the self-regulation and self-efficacy skills of a learner participating in online courses also positively affect their situations such as good use of time and decision-making. This research shows how effective the learner's motivation is in achieving success.

Aldan Karademir, Deveci, and Çaylı (2018) examined the relationship between secondary school students' self-regulation and academic self-efficacy. As a result of the application of the "Perceived Self-Regulation Scale" and the "Academic Self-Efficacy Scale" to 797 secondary school students, it has been shown that the self-efficacy skills of the learners who have self-regulation skills are also high. In addition, in terms of some variables, self-efficacy and self-regulation skills were examined in the study. As a result of the gender variable, it was seen that female students had higher academic self-efficacy and self-regulation skills than male students. According to the findings obtained in line with the parent attitude variable, it was seen that both academic self-efficacy and self-regulation skills of students whose parents were democratic were high. It is thought that these findings will guide the trainings that support parental attitudes.

Tekin (2020), in his study titled The Effect of COVID-19 Anxiety on Motivation: A Study on Generation Z, found that the motivation of the Z generation decreased due to their limitations in this process. In the study, it was stated that intrinsic motivation was lower than extrinsic motivation. It has been mentioned that this is an extremely normal result. It has been mentioned that although the Z generation uses technology very well, it is difficult to find elements such as belonging, love and respect in the technology environment. As a result of the study, it was stated that the social environment should be taken into consideration as much as the technological environment in the studies to be carried out in order to understand and motivate the youth of the Z generation.

Saltürk and Güngör (2020), in their study of the experience of transition to distance education during the COVID-19 pandemic period, from the eyes of university students, aimed to evaluate the motivation that occurs during the transition to distance education, which is an urgent solution during the pandemic period. For this purpose, a questionnaire about the factors affecting academic motivation was applied to 325 students. According to the data, it has been shown that 48.6% of the students participating in the research follow other content voluntarily other than the courses provided by the university. In addition, they stated that online education also gave them the opportunity to manage their own learning processes. It has been concluded that the inability to meet the socialization needs of the students also has an effect on academic motivation. It has been suggested that conducting studies in which the autonomy provided to the learner in online education is related to academic motivation, self-regulation and self-efficacy can contribute to the literatüre.

In Kuloğlu's (2020) study of the relationship between academic achievement, success motivation and boredom of distance education students, it was concluded that there is a positive and significant relationship between the academic success of distance education students and their motivation for success. According to this study, it is seen that learner motivation in distance education is a significant predictor of academic success. In this study, it was also stated that there may be a connection in terms of motivation in cases such as not attending the lesson, leaving the lesson early.

Dede et al. (2021) examined whether there is a relationship between self-regulation and class participation among secondary school students in distance education that started with the Covid-19 process. For this purpose, the perceived self-regulation scale was applied to a total of 1104 students, 584 girls and 520 boys, studying at secondary schools in Trabzon in the 2020-2021 academic year. It has been concluded that the self-regulation skills of the students who regularly attend the courses during the distance education period are higher. The findings showed that there is a positive relationship between students' participation in the course and their self-regulation skills in the distance education process.

In the study of evaluating university students' readiness for online learning and their experiences with distance education during the pandemic period Ünal et al. (2021) conducted an online questionnaire and an Online Learning Readiness Scale to 435 students. The collected data revealed that there is a positive relationship between students' self-regulation skills and motivation. In the study, it was determined that the readiness of the students who have a problem-free internet infrastructure and who regularly attend online classes is high. In order for online training to be successful, it has been suggested that trainings should be planned considering the motivation and readiness of the students.

Alanoğlu and Atalan (2021), in their study, examined students' independent research and self-regulation skills during the Covid-19 process from the perspective of teachers. As a result of the research, it was stated that trying to solve the technical problems experienced by the students during the distance education process on their own contributed to their self-regulation skills. It has been stated that the skills of questioning, researching and accessing information will contribute to self-regulation skills while the student is trying to solve the problem. However, it has been stated that since the teacher cannot control the information obtained by the students in the distance education process, information pollution can also be caused. In the same study, it was stated that factors such as technological impossibility, low motivation, and lack of a role model would negatively affect self-regulation skills.

Ak et al. (2021) in their study titled "Education of educators in distance education: Its effect on the perception of self-efficacy and benefit towards distance education", used 'self-efficacy perception towards distance education' and 'perception of benefit towards distance education' scales for 139 instructors. As a result of the research, a significant relationship was found on the self-efficacy and benefit perceptions of the instructors in distance education. In addition, this study dealt with the self-efficacy perceptions of the instructors under the sub-title of technology, learning methods and virtual classroom creation methods. It was emphasized that in terms of the effectiveness of distance education, training should be given for these sub-titles. It has been stated that it is of great importance for the future of distance education to learn from the shortcomings of distance education, which started unprepared during the pandemic period, and to develop distance education strategies related to the lessons.

Hasgören (2021), in his study titled Experiences of university students in terms of self-directed learning skills during the pandemic period, stated that students with low self-regulation skills have difficulties in online learning. It has been concluded that having skills such as time management, goal setting, and choosing the appropriate strategy for self-regulation will greatly contribute to online learning. It has been concluded that high self-management in online education depends on internal resources, not external resources. Findings show that emotion management is effective in learner motivation and self-regulation in the online education process. Based on this finding, it was suggested that psychological counselors could conduct studies on learners' emotion management.

In their study titled "Examination of Virtual Learning on the Learning Outcomes of Urban and Rural Students" Hariyati et al. (2021) investigated the comparison of online learning on the motivations of students living in urban and rural areas. A questionnaire was applied to 362 students, and the data were collected under 3 headings: online learning activity, learning products and motivation. The result of the research showed that motivation has a positive effect on students living in urban and rural areas in online learning. In addition, it was determined in the study that students living in urban areas were more motivated than students living in rural areas. This study stated that the areas where the students live affect their motivation and it has been concluded that this situation affects online learning.

4. Methodology

This study is narrative review of selected articles on motivation, self-efficacy and self-regulation in online educational context. Narrative literature review articles are publications that describe and discuss the state of the science of a specific topic or theme from a theoretical and contextual point of view. These types of

review articles do not list the types of databases and methodological approaches used to conduct the review nor the evaluation criteria for inclusion of retrieved articles during databases search (Bernardo et al. 2007). Narrative review consists of critical analysis of the literature published in books and electronic or paperbased journal articles. Narrative literature review articles have an important role in continuing education because they provide readers with up-to-date knowledge about a specific topic or theme. However, this type of review does not describe the methodological approach that would permit reproduction of data nor answer to specific quantitative research questions. These review articles normally use a qualitative approach using the following headings: Introduction, Development (using necessary sub-headings to divide and discuss appropriately the topic), Discussion, and References (Ferrari, 2015). In this context, studies related to the key concepts of self-regulation and self-efficacy, which affect learner motivation, are examined in the study, and the relationships of learner motivation in online education in the context of self-efficacy and self-regulation are evaluated. In this context, the review of the publications examined within the scope of the study is presented in Table 1.

Table 1.

Literature	Field of study	(n)
	Motivation	6
in English	Self- Efficacy	5
	Self- Regulation	4
	Total	15
	Motivation	5
·	Self-Efficacy	6
in Turkish	Self-Regulation	6
	Total	17
TOTAL		32

The number and distribution of the articles examined within the scope of the study

5. Conclusion, Discussion and Suggestions

According to the studies, self-efficacy and self-regulation are important concepts that have been put forward to examine the motivation process in education (Çiltaş, 2011). Studies show that learners manage their own learning process, organize their learning plans, keep their motivation high in the learning processes in which they give their feedback to themselves, and they are academically successful. It is also very important for learners to be aware of their own potentials and to be able to regulate these potentials in terms of providing their own motivation. When the concept of motivation is examined in terms of the learner, it can be said that self-regulation and self-efficacy skills are the two basic steps that are effective in the academic success of the learner.

There are many variables that will affect the success of learners in online education (Kuloğlu, 2020). One of them is learner motivation. It has been stated in the studies that the motivation elements have changed with the differentiation of online education environments from the traditional classroom environment. Finding a significant relationship between the academic achievement and motivation of the learners based on the literature review confirms this result. In online education, since the learners leave without completing the course on time and encounter technical problems, it will be possible to compare the motivation of the classroom environment in the context of self-efficacy and self-regulation.

The high self-beliefs of the learners and the motivation they have depending on these beliefs are not enough to be successful alone (Viau, 2015). It is an important component of motivation for learners to be aware of their own learning potential, that is, to have self-efficacy and to organize their own learning processes. It is often not possible to achieve success only by being motivated. However, it is seen that activating the learner's motivation in this process by providing self-efficacy and self-regulation has an important place in academic success. In addition to being talented and motivated about a subject, it has been stated in the studies that the learner should have self-regulation and self-efficacy skills because if the learner is aware of his own potential and has the ability to regulate this potential, it is easier to be motivated.

The literature review shows that learners set a goal for their own learning processes and organize their learning processes to achieve these goals (Dede et al., 2021). They do not see problems arising from the environment and teachers, working environment and lack of technical support as obstacles for them (Sarı & Akınoğlu, 2009). Learners know that they are responsible for their own learning processes. In online education, the control is largely in the learner's participation and attendance. This requires the learner to have self-regulation skills. Learners with self-regulation skills use motivational strategies to continue their learning when faced with barriers to participating in an online course. Therefore, a good motivational belief and self-regulation skill in the learner brings academic success. In online courses. In this context, it can be reached that it is necessary for learners to regulate themselves, that is, to self-regulate, both academically and socially because self-regulation skill is thought to be effective in the students' development of strategies, making plans to be successful, establishing a competence link between the effort and success and giving feedback to themselves. Self-regulation can help learners think and evaluate their own competencies and potentials.

Awareness-raising programs can be developed for trainers on what strategies and approaches may be needed in order to support learner motivation, self-regulation and self-efficacy learning skills in online education. A training program that aims to increase self-regulated learning skills and motivation for a certain period of time can be applied to a study group consisting of learners with low self-regulation and self-efficacy learning skills, and the effectiveness of this program on the learner can be examined. When the studies were examined, it was seen that the learners felt alone and unable to connect, regardless of their self-efficacy level. Based on these results, researchers can study how to improve the sense of community in the online learning process.

When the studies carried out in the year the pandemic emerged, it was seen that the motivation of the learners was low. After the effects of the pandemic wear off, they can re-examine whether their online education experiences differ. They can organize various psychoeducations for learners in order to raise awareness about emotional states such as pessimism and future anxiety caused by the pandemic.

The effect of self-regulation and self-efficacy skills on learner motivation in the online education process is supported by studies in the literature. For this reason, they can organize informative studies/seminars for learners through psychological counselors and guidance teachers. They can help learners understand which aspects of self-regulation and self-efficacy skills need improvement.

Educators can structure training plans to improve learners' self-regulation and self-efficacy skills. E.g; Instead of the classical test exam, various project assignments can be defined in which learners play an active role in the learning process and learn by themselves.

In addition, experimental research designed by considering many variables that affect the academic success of learners in online education can contribute to the literature and researchers who are interested in this field. Since the design and implementation of educational applications that provide learner motivation in online education environments contribute to the development of self-regulation and self-efficacy skills and learner motivation, it can be recommended that educators give due importance to this issue. **Note:** This article is derived from an oral paper presented at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technologies and Online Learning (ICETOL)

References

- Ak, Ş., Gökdaş, İ., Öksüz, C. & Torun, F. (2021). Uzaktan eğitimde eğiticilerin eğitimi: Uzaktan eğitime yönelik öz yeterlik ve yarar algısına etkisi . Açıköğretim Uygulamaları ve Araştırmaları Dergisi, 7 (1), 24-44.
- Aldan Karademir, Ç., Deveci, Ö., & Çaylı, B. (2018). Ortaokul Öğrencilerinin Öz-Düzenlemeleri ve Akademik Öz-Yeterliklerinin İncelenmesi. *E-Kafkas Eğitim Araştırmaları Dergisi, 5*(3), 14-29.
- Alanoğlu, M. & Doğan, B. (2021). Öğretmen Gözünden Covid-19 Süreci: Öğrencilerin Bağımsız Araştırma ve Öz-Düzenleme Becerilerine İlişkin Bir Durum Çalışması . *Dicle Üniversitesi Ziya Gökalp Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, (39), 1-13.
- Arslan, A. (2018). Ortaokul Öğrencilerinin Yazma Kaygilari ve Akademik Öz-Yeterlik İnançlarinin Çeşitli Değişkenler Açısından İncelenmesi. *Abant İzzet Baysal Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi* Dergisi, 18(3), 1286-1312.
- Aydın, S., & Atalay, T. D. (2015). Öz-Düzenlemeli Öğrenme (2. Baskı). Ankara: Pegem Akademi Yayınları.

Bandura A. (1995). Self-efficacy in changing societies. New York: Cambridge University Press.

- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: Freeman.
- Bernardo WM, Nobre MRC, Jatene FB. A prática clinica baseada em evidências. Parte II: buscando as evidências em fontes de informação. Rev Assoc Med Bras. 2004; 50(1):1-9.
- Brophy, J. (2010) Motivating Students to Learn. 3rd Edition, Routledge, Abingdon-on-Thames.
- Çalışkan, H. (2002). *Çevrimiçi (Online) eğitimde öğrenci etkileşimi*. Uluslararası Katılımlı Açık ve Uzaktan Eğitim sempozyumunda sunulan sözlü bildiri. 10 Nisan 2020 tarihinde http://aof20.anadolu.edu.tr/bildiriler/Hasan Caliskan.doc adresinden edinilmiştir.
- Carr, A. (2013). Positive psychology: The science of happiness and human strengths. London: Routledge
- Ceylan, M. (2003). İki Öğretmenin Sınıf İçinde Motivasyon Değişkenlerini Dikkate Alma Davranışlarının Betimlenmesi, Anadolu Üniversitesi, Yüksek Lisans Tezi.
- Çiltaş, A. (2011). Eğitimde Öz-Düzenleme Öğretiminin Önemi Üzerine Bir Çalışma. Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 3(5), 1-11.
- Dede, N., Keskin, A., Öztürk, E., & Keskin, M. (2021). Covid-19 Süreci ile Başlayan Uzaktan Eğitimde Ortaokul Öğrencilerinin Öz Düzenleme ve Derse Katılım İlişkisinin İncelenmesi. *Dicle University Journal of Ziya Gokalp Education Faculty*, (39).
- Dziuban, C., Picciano, A. G., Graham, C. R., & Moskal, P. D. (2016). Conducting research in online and blended learning environments: New pedagogical frontiers. New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.

Eggen, P. Ve Kauchak, D. (1999). Educational Psychology, Fourth Ed. New Jersey: Printice-Hall, Inc.

- Eker, C. (2014). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz-Yeterlilik İnanç Düzeyleri Üzerine Bir Araştırma . Uşak Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 7 (1)
- Eren, A. ve Duman, G. (2016). Güdüsel Tasarım Modeli: Öğrenme-Öğretmen Süreçlerine İlişkin Yansımaları ve Diğer Yaklaşımlarla Olan İlişkileri. G.Ekici (Ed.), Öğrenme-Öğretme Kuramları ve Uygulamadaki Yansımaları. Ankara : Pegem Akademi, 773-824.
- Ergül, H. (2006). Çevrimiçi Eğitimde Akademik Başarıyı Etkileyen Güdülenme Yapıları. TOJET: *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 5(1).
- Ferrari, M. (2015). Writing narrative style literature reviews. *Medical Writ.24*,230–235.
- Gürlen, E (2011), Probleme Dayalı Öğrenmenin Öğrenme Ürünlerine, Problem Çözme Becerisine, Özyeterlik Algı Düzeyine Etkisi, *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi (H. U. Journal of Education)* C.40 ss. 221-232.
- Gömleksiz, M. N., & Serhatlıoğlu, B. (2013). Okul Öncesi Öğretmenlerinin Öz-yeterlik İnançlarına İlişkin Görüşleri. *Electronic Turkish Studies*, 8(7).
- Hasgören, S. (2021). Pandemi döneminde üniversite öğrencilerinin öz-yönetimli öğrenme becerileri açısından deneyimleri / Experiences of university students in terms of self-directed learning skills in the pandemic period (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi). Maltepe Üniversitesi, Lisansüstü Eğitim Enstitüsü, İstanbul.
- Hariyati, N., Wagino, W. ve Mudjito, M. (2021). Kentsel ve Kırsal Alanlarda Öğrencilerin Öğrenme Çıktıları Üzerinde Sanal Öğrenmenin İncelenmesi. *Dinamika Pendidikan*, 16 (1), 54-63.
- İsrael, E. (2007). *Öz-düzenleme Eğitimi, Fen Başarısı ve Özyeterlilik*. Yayınlanmamış Doktora Tezi, DEÜ Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü: İzmir.
- Jones, C. (2020). Online Education. https://www.encyclopedia.com/finance/financeand-accountingmagazines/online-education adresinden erişilmiştir.
- Karademir, Ç. A., Deveci, Ö., & Çaylı, B. (2018). Ortaokul Öğrencilerinin Öz-Düzenlemeleri ve Akademik Öz-Yeterliklerinin İncelenmesi. *e-Kafkas Journal of Educational Research*, 5(3), 14-29.
- Karakuyu, Y., & Karakuyu, A. (2016). Motivasyon ve öz-yeterliğin sınıf öğretmeni adaylarının teknolojik pedagojik alan bilgilerine (TPAB) katkısı. *Uşak Üniversitesi Eğitim Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 2(1), 89-100.
- Khan, I. M. (2009). *An Analysis Of The Motivational Factors In Online Learning*, Yayımlanmamış Doktora Tezi, University of Phoenix.
- Klassen, R. M. & Usher, E. L. (2010). Self-efficacy in educational settings: recent research and emerging directions. in the decade ahead: theoretical perspectives on motivation and achievement. Emerald Group Publishing Limited (pp. 1-33).
- Keller, J. M. (2010). *Motivational Design for Learning and Performance: The ARCS Model Approach*. New York: Springer.
- Kuloğlu, M. E. (2020). Uzaktan eğitim öğrencilerinin akademik başarıları, başarı motivasyonları ve can sıkıntıları arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi. *Akademik Platform Eğitim ve Değişim Dergisi*, 3(1), 48-60.
- Kumar, A., Kumar, P., Palvia, S. C. J., & Verma, S. (2017). Online education worldwide: Current status and emerging trends. Journal of Information Technology Case and Application Research, 19(1), 3-9.
- Los, R. E. (2014). The effects of self-regulation and self-efficacy on academic outcome. Unpublished master's thesis, University of South Dakota Division of Counseling and Psychology in Education: ABD.
- Meşe, E. & Sevilen, Ç. (2021). Factors influencing EFL students' motivation in online learning: A qualitative case study. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(1), 11-22.
- Ünal, N., Şanlıer, N., Şengil, A. Z. (2021). Pandemi Döneminde Üniversite Öğrencilerinin Çevrimiçi Öğrenmeye Hazırbulunuşluklarının ve Uzaktan Eğitime İlişkin Deneyimlerinin Değerlendirilmesi. İnönü Üniversitesi Sağlık Hizmetleri Meslek Yüksekokulu Dergisi, 9(1), 89-104. doi: 10.33715/inonusaglik.812109
- Üredi, İ., & Üredi, L. (2005). İlköğretim 8. sınıf öğrencilerinin öz-düzenleme stratejileri ve motivasyonel inançlarının matematik başarısını yordama gücü. *Mersin Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 1(2).
- Orhan, Ş. (2006). Anadolu Güzel Sanatlar Liseleri Çalgı Eğitiminde Motivasyon. *Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi* Buca Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, (20).
- Organisation for economic co-operation and development. (2013). OECD skills outlook 2013: First results from the survey of adult skills. *OECD Publishing*.
- Özmentes, S. (2008). Çalgı Eğitiminde Öz düzenlemeli Öğrenme Stratejileri. İnönü Üniversitesi Eğitim Dergisi. 9 (16), 157-175
- Pintrich, PR (2000). Öz-düzenlemeli Öğrenmede Hedef Yöneliminin Rolü. *İn Handbook öz düzenleme* (s. 451-502). Akademik Basın.
- Sakal, M. (2017). Çevrimiçi Öğrenmede Öğrencilerin Hazirbulunuşluk Düzeylerinin Demografik Özelliklerine Göre Incelenmesi. *Sosyal ve Beşeri Bilimler Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 18(39), 81-102.

- Saltürk, A. & Güngör, C. (2020). Üniversite Öğrencilerinin Gözünden COVID-19 Pandemisinde Uzaktan
 Eğitime Geçiş Deneyimi . *Adıyaman Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, (36), 137-174
 . DOI: 10.14520/adyusbd.788716
- Sarı, A., & Akınoğlu, O. (2009). Öz-düzenlemeli öğrenme: Modeller ve uygulamalar. *M.Ü. Atatürk Eğitim Fakültesi Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi* 29, 139-154
- Senemoğlu, N. (2010). Gelişim Öğrenme ve Öğretim Kuramdan Uygulamaya Ankara: Pegem Akademi Yay. Eğt. Dan. Hiz. Tic. Ltd. Şti. Fakültesi Dergisi ,9 (16), 157-175.
- Tekin, E. (2020). COVID-19 kaygısının motivasyon üzerindeki etkisi: Z Kuşağı üzerine bir araştırma. *Turkish Studies*, 15(4), 1129-1145.
- Vatensever Bayraktar, H., (2015). Sınıf Yönetiminde Öğrenci Motivasyonu ve Motivasyonu Etkileyen Etmenler, Turkish Studies - International Periodical for the Languages, Literature and History of Turkish or Turkic Volume 10/3 Winter, p. 1069-1090, ISSN: 1308-2140, www.turkishstudies.net, DOI Number: http://dx.doi.org/10.7827/TurkishStudies.7788, ANKARA-TURKEY
- Viau, R. (2015). Okulda motivasyon okulda güdülenme ve güdülenmeyi öğrenme (1.Baskı) Çeviren Yusuf Budak. Ankara: Anı yayıncılık.
- Yıldız, F. N. Y., & Kardaş, F. (2021). Ergenlerde Akademik Öz-Yeterlik, İçsel Motivasyon, Azim ve Psikolojik Dayanıklılığın İyi Oluş ile İlişkisinin İncelenmesi. Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 18(1), 1073-1099.
- Yüksel, G. (2003). İlköğretim Öğrencilerinin Gelişim Alanları, Gelişim Alanlarının İşaretçisi Olan İhtiyaçlar ve Geliştirilmesi Gereken Beceriler; Bu Süreçte Rehber Öğretmenin İşlevleri: Kurumsal Bir İnceleme. *Milli Eğitim Dergisi*, 159 (3).
- Zimmerman, B. J. & Bandura, A. (1994). Impact of self-regulatory influences on writing course attainment. *American Educational Research Journal*, 31(4), 845-862.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



DDD-E model: Teaching four arithmetic operations in decimal expressions using the problem-based learning approach

Şeyma ATAHAN ^a * ^(D), Sevinç MERT UYANGÖR ^a ^(D)

^a Balikesir University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Atahan, Ş. & Mert Uyangör, S. (2021) DDD-E Model: DDD-E model: Teaching four arithmetic operations in decimal expressions using the problem-based learning approach. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 759-773.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: DDD-E model Problem-Based Learning Instructional Design	In this study, it is aimed to reveal students' attitudes and views on a micro-lesson design application in accordance with the DDD-E model in which the Problem Based Learning (PBL) approach is integrated. In the study, a micro-level instructional design that addressed the outcomes of the subject "Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals" contained within the scope of a 6th grade math curriculum was planned. A blended pattern approach was employed in the study which aimed to integrate the PBL stages with the steps of the DDD-E model. Quantitative data was collected by use of an "achievement test" and a "Technological Attitude Scale for Students" prepared by an instructor. Qualitative data was obtained through open-ended questions involved in a feedback form on the use of technology in learning. Analyses were conducted by two mathematics education expert. In the quantitative data analysis, the level of coherence between encoders was 83%. Ultimately, affirmative changes were observed in the opinions of the students on the use of technology in learning with the help of the micro-level instructional design in question. Furthermore, an increase was detected in the grade average of the scale. The process of making their own decisions for the students in the DDD-E design model contributed to the creativity of the students and enabled them to learn about a plurality of multimedia tools. Additionally, with the help of the PBL approach, the students were able to produce creative and unique solutions for the problem cases they encountered and were able to average on possible cases they might face.
Research Article	mathematically in real life.

1. Introduction

Today, the last point that countries have reached in terms of technology is now at an irreversible stage (Daghan, Kalaycı & Seferoglu, 2011). Especially after 1980, rapid developments in information technologies (IT) have significantly affected all systems of today's societies. One of the systems affected by these developments is undoubtedly the education system (Goktas, Yıldırım & Yıldırım, 2008). In the twenty-first century, learning has focused on the processes in which students apply the materials they learn, use meaningful technology, and collaborate effectively (Nugraha, 2017). With the advent of technology,

* Corresponding author: Balıkesir University,Institute of Science, Balıkesir,Turkey. e-mail address: <u>seymaatahan@gmail.com</u>

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1019499

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 13 Dec 2021; Accepted 14 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

all of the events occurring across the world can be learned by many people in a short time by means of television and internet. Technological development not only enables face-to-face communication but also virtual and distance communication. Thus, learning can now take place not only by means of direct (face-to-face) communication but also via multimedia (indirect) communication. Multimedia is a combination of texts, arts, sounds, animations and videos through computers or electronical and digital equipment (Kaya, 2002).

Use of multimedia tools such as pictures and animations provided with sounds, videos, and information in text form can enable individuals in need to gain an accurate meaning of the information being presented. Trends in instructional research have shown that problem-based approaches help students acquire more long-lasting learning (Anazifa & Djukri, 2017). However, the use of problem cases in learning is not widespread due to insufficient insight for the use of problem cases in several types of contexts, and doubts on integrating problem-based studies into learning programs and their use in different learning contexts (Delisle, 1997). Mathematics is a subject that requires the application of construction-based learning as students not only read and understand concepts but also directly partake in the process of understanding their meanings. Therefore, innovation is required in this context. Problem-based applications are a preferable alternative for creating an interactive and entertaining learning process (Kılıç and Moralar, 2015). As such, technological development can be used as an instrument to support learning activities. Through the use of problem-based learning, students can become more motivated and be encouraged to discover mathematic concepts in a clear and concise manner (Uygun & Işık Tertemiz, 2014; Kılıç & Moralar, 2015; Anazifa & Djukri, 2017; Divarcı & Saltan, 2017; Alıcı, 2018; Tutak, 2021). In this sense, when the contents of EIN (educational informatics networks) were examined, it was seen that video-based lessons, multiple-choice tests, and occur.

1.1. What is Problem-Based Learning?

Problem-Based Learning (PBL) is a learning method that prioritizes students, is based on active learning, contributes to the ability of students to solve problems as well as their academic development, and is aimed at understanding and creating solutions to problem cases related to cases understood (Bağcı, 2003). The foundation of PBL is comprised of "scenarios" called "fictionalized cases" in which problem cases related to real life are presented. Such scenarios aim to guide and direct in line with predetermined targets throughout the learning process. With the provided scenarios, students encounter a variety of problems and produce a variety of creative solutions to solve these problems. In addition, they take an active role in this process with high internal motivation. Within the scope of PBL, students use previous experiences and previously learned information to create possible answers for solving the problems presented in each scenario in light of newly attained information (Ersoy and Başer, 2011).

PBL is a process in which studies following a learning cycle model for understanding or resolving a problem are carried out. PBL is well suited for technology intagrated instructional design such as DDD-E model. With this model it helps students develop skills and confidence to solve real-life problems with some technological material, media, web 2.0 tools etc. during the education term (Bransford, Vye & Bateman, 2002).

It is not possible to talk about a series of fixed and definite steps in the PBL application process. Therefore, researchers have proposed different steps to reflect the characteristic structure of the PBL process (Stepien, Gallagher & Workman, 1993; Hmelo-Silver, 2004; Hung, 2009). In the study, by drawing on the existing literature, a PBL process integrated with DDD-E Model was operated by following the five stages explained below (Alıcı, 2018):

1) **Definition of the Problem:** A real life problem or a direct engineering problem is presented. What is known about the problem and what is required is listed through brainstorming in line with the mutual exchange of ideas and interaction among students.

At this stage, students correlate their previous information or experiences with the subject.

- 2) Gathering Necessary Information: This stage includes researching what is required to learn to solve the problem and gathering information sources.
- 3) **Research Stage:** In this stage, students take responsibility of their own learning processes and initiate creation of offer solutions to the problem. This stage includes the active processes of creating a hypothesis to solve the problem, building an experimental plan to evaluate the hypothesis, and applying this plan.
- 4) **Transferring and Designing:** In this stage, in line with the data obtained in the previous stage, ideas are suggested for solving the problem by means of brainstorming, a design is created, and this created design is assessed.
- 5) Communication: This stage includes creating new ideas to enhance the design and improving the design in line with these ideas, and also re-testing practices.

When the literature related to PBL is examined, the work of Cantürk-Günhan and Başer (2009 demonstrated that the PBL method has more favorable effects on student critical thinking skills within the scope of mathematics compared to conventional instructional methods. Uygun and Tertemiz (2014) determined that a positive improvement was seen in the academic success and the level of permanence thereof in primary school students who used PBL. Divarci and Saltan (2017) established that PBL was more efficient in improving academic success compared to the current approach employed in the learning program. Eroğlu, Aydoğdu and Tutak (2020) showed that students who used PBL were more successful in mathematics, and also had a more positive attitude to the course. Anazifa and Djukri (2017) pointed out that problem-based learning had a positive effect on the creativity and critical thinking skills of students. Finally, Nurtanto, Fawaid and Sofyan (2019) suggested that more PBL-based activities were necessary in PBL classes in order to enhance students' mathematical literacy and creative thinking skills for mathematical problems.

After considering these studies, the present study aimed to create a micro-level instructional design in which the Problem-Based Learning approach was utilized. Such instructional design is related to the use, arrangement and, if necessary, rearrangement of instructional components and mental activities to provide the maximum efficiency in all kinds of instructional activities in terms of both materials, students, teachers, and also society with the aim of enhancing outcomes (İpek & Sözcü & Rushan, 2013). In light of present technological developments, it is seen that innovation in the instructional systems used in education and the use of various instructional approaches and models (web-based learning, online learning, e-learning, etc.) have become more preferable due to concepts such as the universalization of information, learning independent of material facts, (classroom environment, face-to-face communication, etc.), cost, and the need for life-long learning (Usluel and Mazman, 2009).

When the stages of PBL were considered in line with the present technological development, the necessities of the time, and the need for innovation, it was seen that the integration of the stages of the DDD-E model, which is an e-learning design, with the aforementioned stages was appropriate and, in this sense, the DDD-E model was addressed in the study.

1.2. The DDD-E Learning Model

Thanks to the considerable advances of technology since the 21st century, novel instructional design models have emerged with the development of multiple learning (multimedia learning) and online learning systems for e-learning. One of these is the DDD-E model, which is a design model for e-learning projects within the e-learning process. The DDD-E model, pictured in Figure 1, consists of 4 stages which are Decide, Design, Develop, and Evaluate (Ivers and Barron, 2010).



Fig. 1. DDD-E Model (Ivers & Barron, 2010)

Within this model, the activities for project planning that are used in an instructional design for students, and the extent of teacher participation in this process are as follows:

- **D-decide:** This stage covers instructional targets, instructional standards, brainstorming activities, and the formation of collaborative learning groups. Instructors are more active during the educational process (Ivers & Barron, 2010). In this stage, researchers analyze and determine a number of criteria including the types of software and hardware to be used for suitably functionalizing the learning environment as well as activities and students' ability to use the hardware in order to develop game-based multimedia (Wahidah et all, 2020).
- **D-design:** In this stage, the process is evaluated in an attempt to determine the design plan and shortcomings of a project in planning and implementing the project to be created. Students determine the content they wish to use and create flow charts, arrangements thereof, and Story Boards for software (Ivers & Barron, 2010). At this stage, researchers conduct a material analysis to determine the depth and extent of the material. After the process of material analysis is completed, a flow chart and storyboard are created (Ellis-Barrett, 2007). Flow charts are created to provide an overall view for the flow or course of an interactive learning environment from one scene to another. A storyboard or visual instruction file is created to define every scene including visual appearance, sound, time, and other related information (Wahidah et all, 2020).
- **D-develop:** In this stage, media materials are created and gathered to make the process of learning more effective and simpler. Instructors assume the role of guide rather than teacher, manage media production and multiple learning activities, and address any shortcomings they notice. Students develop materials such as graphics, animations, auditory and visual videos through the use of the multimedia tools provided by their instructors (Ivers & Barron, 2010). At this stage, researchers develop interactive elements of the learning environment in which materials such as written texts, illustrations, animations, and sounds are required. Then, researchers create interactive learning mediums by using the software determined in the Decide stage (Wahidah et all, 2020).

• **E-evaluate:** Evaluation is applicable to each of the previously mentioned stages. In this stage, instructors are responsible to evaluate their students and revising their activities to improve them for prospective applications. Students correct shortcomings and mistakes related to the project outcomes created in multiple mediums, evaluate their intra-group work, and conduct self-evaluations. Evaluation is not only one stage of the DDD-E model but also a process that is actively performed at every stage in the model (Ivers & Barron, 2010). In this stage, the researcher evaluates interactive learning media outcomes. In this study, the process of evaluation includes formative evaluation by using materials, media, language, and student skills (Ellis-Barrett, 2007). This stage is completed with a one-to-one evaluation by a specialist and an evaluation of the students, which is followed by a small group evaluation and then a test evaluation. In this context, the conceptual process of the DDD-E Model is given in Figure 2 (Wahidah et all, 2020).



Fig. 2. Conceptual process of the DDD-E Model

Multimedia is the combination of text, art, sounds, animations, and videos that are transferred by means of computers or electronic and digital equipment. A literature review related to the DDD-E e-learning design showed only a limited number of studies (Ivers & Barron, 2002; Ellis-Barrett, 2007; Ivers & Barron, 2010; Wahidah et all, 2020). The use of the DDD-E model in this study aims to contribute to this deficiency in the literature.

1.3. Research Problem

In line with the aim of the research, the question "What are the opinions and attitudes of 6th grade students regarding the subject 'Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals' taught with the Problem-Based Learning Approach adapted to the DDD-E Model?" was asked and the sub-problems are given below:

Sub-problem 1: "What are the opinions of the students regarding the subject 'Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals' taught with the Problem-Based Learning Approach adapted to the DDD-E Model?"

Sub-problem 2: "What is the attitude level of the students regarding the subject 'Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals' taught with the Problem-Based Learning Approach adapted to the DDD-E Model?"

2. Methodology

2.1. Research Model/Design

In the study, a micro-level instructional design that addresses the outcomes of the subject "Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals" contained within the scope of a 6th grade math curriculum was planned. The study aimed to integrate the stages of PBL with the steps of the DDD-E model and was conducted using a case study, which is one of the qualitative research methodology patterns. According to Stake (2005), case studies are divided in 3 groups: real, instrumental, and collective case studies. In the present research, a real case study was preferred and was thus conducted in order to better understand the current state. Twenty 6th grade students at a private school in the city of Balıkesir were selected for the research by means of a simple available case sample, and they formed the study group of the research.

2.2. Data Collecting Tools

Quantitative data of the study were gathered with an "Achievement Test for Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals" (Appendix-1) prepared by the instructor and an "Attitude Scale for Students to Technology" prepared by Yurdugül and Aşkar (2008). This scale employs 24 items in total: 15 positive and 9 negative items. Qualitative data were gathered by means of a semi-structured feedback form that was prepared by the researchers.

2.3. Sampling or Study Group

The study group consisted of 20 6th grade students studying in a private school in Balıkesir, by using purposive sampling method. The reason for this is that due to the pandemic conditions at the time of the research, the research could only be conducted with students who had remote access, technological facilities and online communication.

2.4. Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using the SPSS 22.0 package program. In the research, descriptive data statistics were employed in the analysis of the data pertaining to the participants. For Achievement Test for Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals, a draft of 30 questions in total, which was prepared during the development of the achievement test, was prepared and sent to the experts. Afterwards, an achievement test with a total of 12 questions was created in line with the expert opinion. The questions in each part are openended and selected to measure four operations skills in decimal numbers. The achievement test was composed of 12 questions, each of which corresponds to 5 points, and was assessed out of 60 points in total. In the findings obtained from the Attitude Scale for Students to Technology, negative items were inversely encoded and analyzed depending on an average point. To determine an accurate decision on the opinions of the participants regarding the subject, their arithmetic mean points were calculated. Regarding this, a graduation scale for arithmetic mean points is as the following (Cerit, 2008):

- 1.00 1.80 Strongly Disagree
- 1.81 2.60 Disagree
- 2.61 3.40 Neutral
- 3.41 4.20 Agree
- 4.21 5.00 Strongly Agree

The findings obtained from the "Feedback Form for the Use of Technology in Education" were analyzed using content analysis. The interview form was validated by utilizing expert opinion. The interview form

was administered to each student in the study group and was comprised of two questions: "What are your opinions on activities in which technology and mathematics are involved together?" and "What do you think about solving daily life problems encountered in mathematics by using technology? Please explain in detail." Within the framework of these questions, twenty interview forms were assessed. A process of encoding was performed depending on the results pertaining to the explanations and expressions of the students on the blending of problem-based learning with technology in line with the DDD-E model. Afterwards, a process of thematization was conducted in line with the encoding performed, and then the frequency values of the themes were calculated, listed in a table, and interpreted. The process that was performed within the scope of the content analysis was based on gathering analogous data under certain themes by means of encoding and on arranging and interpreting them in such a manner that readers are able to understand (Karataş, 2017).

2.5. Validity and Reliability of the study

Yin (1984)'s recommendations were used for the validity and reliability of this study. In order to increase the construct validity of the study, more than one data collection tool was used in the data collection process and each step of the study was well defined. For reliability, the researchers developed the study step by step within a certain system and each step was explained in detail and supported with documents.

Triangulation is the comparison of the results of two or more data collection methods (for example, interviews and observations) or two or more data sources (for example, individual interviews with different group members). In this way, the weaknesses of one method can be compensated by the strengths of the other method (Mays & Pope, 2000; Streubert & Carpenter, 2011). At least three sources of information should be used to support each major outcome in triangulation.

2.6. Research Procedures

An instructional plan of the instructional design prepared for the subject "Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals" is given below.

2.6.1 The Instructional Plan for the Teaching of the Subject "Four Arithmetic Operations in Decimals" Using the Problem-Based Learning Approach in Line With the DDD-E Model

The detailed version of the instructional design of the micro-level plan is given below. What needs to be done and what has been done at each stage are detailed in this table. In the given plan, the achievements, the teaching approach and the teaching design used are given. Then, the first three steps of the problem-based teaching approach, Definition of the Problem, Gathering the Necessary Information and Research Stage, which are discussed in the Decision-making step, which is the first of the sub-steps of the DDD-E model, are mentioned. In the Design and Develop stages, the Transferring and Designing stage of the problem-based learning approach has been adapted, and at this stage, brainstorming and problem solving, testing and evaluation of the produced products are included. The evaluation process, which is the last step but made at all levels, is handled in the Communication step of the problem-based approach. In this stage students discuss what else can be done for improving the design.

Name of Lesson	Mathematics
Level of Class	6 th Grade
The Related	• M.6.1.6.3. They can round the numbers expressed in decimal base up until a
Outcomes	given place.
	• M.6.1.6.4. They can perform multiplication using the decimal numbers.
	• M.6.1.6.5. They can perform division using the decimal numbers.
	• M.6.1.6.6. They can perform multiplications and divisions using the decimal
	numbers; 10, 100, and 1000 in a shortcut method.

	• M.6.1.6.7. They can estimate the results of arithmetic operations performed using the decimal numbers.
	• M.6.1.6.8. They can solve problems that require four arithmetic operations using decimals.
Instructional	Drohlam Dagad Laarning
Instructional	Problem-Based Learning
Approach	
Instructional	DDD-E Model
Design	
The Steps of the D	DD-E Model
Decide	The Stages of the PBL
	Stage 1: Definition of the Problem: A real life problem or a direct engineering
	problem is presented
	Stage 2: Cathering the Necessary Information: research what is required to learn
	reaching the solution of the problem, what is required for the solution, and gother
	regarding the solution of the problem, what is required for the solution, and gather
	information sources.
	Stage 3: Research Stage: Students take responsibility of their own learning process
	to create or offer proposed solutions for the problem and initiate this process. This
	stage includes active processes of creating a hypothesis, an experimental plan for
	the hypothesis test, and performing such plan.
	The Aim of Learning: The students were asked questions corresponding to the
	problem case and were given the opportunity to have an opinion on the problem
	"I am planning to open my own coffee har. My dream is to have a coffee har that
	has an ave establing levent. I know that I must calculate all possible expanditures
	has an eye-catching rayout. I know that I must calculate an possible experior uses
	property without taking any risk, but I am not skilled in calculation. In other words,
	I need an accounting specialist. Additionally, I need to execute a marketing process
	by shooting a promotional video. I need some help in this sense. Could you please
	make me an offer regarding all these processes?"
	Research: Students are given a certain amount of time to decide what types of
	materials they plan to use in the coffee bar, and to research in detail rental fees,
	material prices, etc.
	Brainstorming: Students write in a list detailing what is known and required
	regarding the proposed problem by means of brainstorming. At the same time, they
	regarding the proposed problem by means of branistorning. At the same time, they
	correlate the subject with their previous information.
	They brainsform for the concept to be determined and address the decision process
	in detail.
Design	Stage 4: Transferring and Designing: In line with the outcomes of the previous
	stage, ideas are offered for the solution of the problem through brainstorming, a
	design is created, and then tested at this stage.
	• Brainstarmina
	• Branistorning
	• Creating ideas
	Deciding on the most favorable idea
	• Schematizing
	• Listing the necessary materials
	Creating a design
	Implementation and Evaluation
	Processes included:
	Creating A Storyboard:

A	A road map was draw	n by means of a	a storyboard o	created	in line with the o	decisions
n	nade at the Decision	stage, and the ne	ext stage was	proceed	ded to.	
N	//ÜZİK CAFE		C	Ūrūn	Fiyat	
			Kahve Üreticisi	Kahve	Aylık 1300 TL	
			Rize Çay Üreticisi	Çay	Aylık 1000 TL	
			Toptanci	Bardak	Aylık 450 TL	
		- 20				
			Kafemdeki Kahve Se	ervisi		
			Kafemde oldukça sağlık	dı ve doğal ürünler kullar Ru seherle halki fiyatla	nmaktayım. Tabi ki bu durumda içecek a biran daha utikasik olabilir. Ama ilk	
	and - well		başta müşteri toplamak için çok	t yüksek bir fiyatlandırmı	a yapmayacağım. Sonrasında ise canlı r için hiçar fiyatları arttırahilirim	
			mozik ve ovgat oron manyeene		iyan on az iiyanan artin bonninin.	
K	Kafemin Hikayesi					
	NOTALISTIC / NOTABOTI / CONSTRUCT					
	 Kafemi müziğe ve yemek yapmaya olan ilgimden dolayı aç birleştirin muhtesem bir kafe actım. Kafemde ber akşam ke 	maya karar verdim ve ikisini ndim canls mitzik				
	performansı sergileyip müşterilerimi eğlendiriyorum.					
к	Kafemdeki Masraflar					
K	ahvelerim katkısız ve doğaldır. Şekerli kahveyi sevenler için esmi ir kohveçiden şatın alıyonun. Çayımı isə Karadəniz in Rizə ilinin i	er şeker kullanıyorum. İyi en iyi çay itraticilərindən				
53 53	atın almaktayım. Bardaklarımı ise geri dönüştürülebilir plastik ve i Im ceneve de katkı sağlıyorum	karton bardaklardan satın				
	ni verteje oc nami sagnjerom.					
	Writing Storyboard	Student				
	Title	Name	Date		_	
		Class				
	Shot 1: Music	Shot 2: Drama Element:	Shot 3:			
	induct.		music.			
	Shot 4: Dance Element:	Shot 5: Drama Element:	Shot 6: Music:			
				•		
Develop N	Aedia Creating: Stu	dents create a n	nedia produc	tion. Th	e scenario desig	ned with
tł	he Storyboard is trans	sformed using or	ne of a variety	y of vide	tools and a con	nmercial
fi	ilm with video and	music is create	d. (Camtasi	a Studio	o iMovie. Prez	i Adobe
ת	Promioro Elomonto ot		. Cumusi	a stuar	, 11,10,10, 110 <i>L</i>	., 110000
P	Tennere Elements, et	L.)				

	Image and S	ound Organizer		
	Frame of storyboar	d:		
	Image or Sound ne (Circle one)	eded:		-
	Fill in the information frame. Circle the one(below for any images or sou s) you choose to use.	nds you found that might work for this	3
	Description	Location	Copyright Status	\neg
				_
Evaluation	Stage 5: Communication: After creating ideas to improve their designs, improving their designs in line with these ideas, and then re-testing their designs, students present and discuss their designs in an instructional environment. They also discuss what else can be done for improving the design.Continuous Assessment: At every stage of the evaluation process in the			
	instructional desig	n; instructor and intr	a-group peer evaluations an	re performed.

3. Findings and Discussions

The findings obtained from the data analysis are presented below.

3.1. Findings Related to Sub-Problem 1

The attitudes of the students who participated in the research related to activities in which technology and mathematics were integrated together are given in Table 1.

Table 1

Student Attitudes towards Activities Integrating Technology and Mathematics

Opinions	f	
Entertaining	15	
Unnecessary	3	
Boring	3	

It can be seen from the table, 15 of the students said entertaining about the use of technology in the activities, 3 of them said unnecessary and 3 of them said boring. Student attitudes related to solving real life problems using technology are presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Student Attitudes towards Solving Real Life Problems Using Technology

Opinions	f
Easy to learn	15
Entertaining	9
Hard	1
Boring	1

According to their responses in the interview questions, students believed that instructional technologies are advantageous in many senses. It can be seen from the table, 15 of the students said easy to learn about

the solving real life problems by using technology in the activities, 9 of them said entertaining, 1 of them said hard and 1 of them said boring.

For example, (S1) said, "Mathematics is more entertaining when such activities are done. I can better understand the lesson by using technology in the class." This student demonstrated a positive attitude regarding the use of technology in learning.

(S2) said, "It was actually centralized with a system we're not used to, but it was really entertaining." As can be understood from this student's view, it is seen that students learn mathematics by having fun with a new system.

(S5) said, "I actually get bored of writing continuously. I can better learn the subject with such problems. Also, it is more entertaining when we handle real life examples." This student demonstrated a positive attitude regarding the promotive effects of the use of technology in learning.

(S15) said; "I wish we always used technology in all lessons by solving such real-life problems. I can better understand the subject in this way." It can be said that the student with this view has a positive attitude towards mathematics with the use of technology.

(S6) said "The commercial film we prepared at the end of this course was really good. My favorite part of the class was people watching this movie. Because I was proud of it." This student, on the other hand, talked about the pleasure he took in the presentation section at the end of the applied instructional design. This shows that when you give students the opportunity to produce and present the product they produce, positive changes in attitudes can occur.

Finally, (S7) stated that: "We always learned mathematics by writing. This is more favorable and entertaining." This answer showed that the student has a positive attitude for the use of technology, and a higher motivation thanks to such kinds of problem-based activities, and also favorable opinions on the DDD-E model that enables the problem-based learning process to be offered along with technology.

As a result, in the light of the qualitative findings obtained from the opinion forms, it can be said that the students enjoy and have fun while learning mathematics with the designed DDD-E model instructional design. In addition, students who designed something new in the process were supported to develop a positive attitude towards mathematics by being intertwined with technology.

3.2. Findings Related to Sub-Problem 2

The scale employed in the study was performed as both a pre-test and post-test to the PBL model application. The data obtained from the pre-test and post-test are given in Table 3.

Table 3

Arithmetic Mean Points of Students on the Attitude Scale for Technology

	Ν	Х	SS	р	
Pre-test	20	3.89	0.43	.012	
Post-test	20	4.67	0.46		

When the mean values of the pre-test and the post-test are examined, the mean values were higher following the application. Moreover, there was a significant difference between the points of the pre-test and the post-test. In light of this data, it can be deduced that the problem-based learning method enhanced positive attitudes on the use of technology in mathematics lesson within the scope of the DDD-E model.

Furthermore, the results of the achievement tests completed by students at the end of the application were examined by specialists. According to the results of these tests, the mean scores of the students were found to be 42 out of 60 points in total. It was seen that 8 questions in average were answered correctly in the achievement test comprised of 12 questions in total.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

When all of the student opinions are considered, it can be seen that the problem-based learning and DDD-E e-learning models within the process of this type of learning contributes to the development of both academic and affective skills of the students, has a positive effect on their attitudes towards mathematics lessons, and enables them to have more improved academic achievements. As Hassan, Habiba, Majeed and Shoaib (2020) suggested in their study, the use of e-learning models contributes to the motivation of students. In this sense, a higher motivation will lead to favorable outcomes regarding academic achievement for mathematic topics which may be difficult to understand.

The literature indicates that as long as it is employed in a proper, well-planned, and programmed manner, the use of technology in mathematics enriches the learning environment, enhances the student motivations, and also contributes to 21st century skills such as problem solving and critical thinking (Yıldırım, 2000). In this context, when the instructional necessities of this era are taken into consideration, the use of the DDD-E learning model, which is based on technology, in mathematic learning will improve affective attitudes towards the lesson and academic achievements. Furthermore, the use of problem-based learning will enhance student critical and creative thinking abilities when facing problems that are encountered in daily life and, at the same time, support the development of 21st century skills.

Today, with the rapid development of technology, novel implementations aimed at distance learning and even the tendency towards technology-based instructional designs such as DDD-E learning are supported (Wahidah et all, 2020). Çetin & Mirasyedioğulları(2008) suggested in their studay, one of the reasons why technology-assisted problem solving approach is effective in increasing mathematics achievement may be the use of technology in mathematics teaching. Because the visuality offered by technology motivates students, attracts their attention and helps to understand the logic of mathematical concepts. In addition, technology prevents wasting time with transactions and allows students to develop their high-level thinking skills, enabling them to learn better. As a matter of fact, Sheehan and Nillas (2010) determined that technology facilitates students' understanding by visualizing concepts and helps them to establish relationships between different mathematical representations. In addition, many academic studies have confirmed that technology is effective in increasing mathematics achievement. For example, Hannafin (2001) and Ellingon (2003) determined as a result of their research that the use of technology increases students' success in mathematics lessons, their participation in the lesson, their understanding by internalizing the subject and helps them see the relationship of mathematics with the real world. In addition. Furthermore, in the DDD-E model, which requires a student-based approach, students are provided with more practical knowledge about the present technology by using it to help solve real life problems given in the model.

In such times, when the acquisition and processing of knowledge means more, a variety of tools that aid students to access, use, and disseminate knowledge are vital. Revising and updating instructional designs, methods, and programs that are employed within the distance learning process has become vital for improving the skills of the students. Arsovic and Stefanovic (2020) determined that students being educated with the help of e-learning models demonstrated better performance in many senses, had enhanced learning performance, and were provided with a customized method of teaching/learning, and with improved learning processes regarding the cycle of continuous improvement. In this regard, the DDD-E model, which is one of the e-learning models, seems to be a suitable model to use in mathematic learning as well as being an appropriate method to use in the DDD-E model within the scope of problem-based learning.

References

Alici, M. (2018). The Effect of STEM Instruction on Attitude, Career Perception and Career Interest in a Problem-based Learning Environment and Student Opinions (Unpublished master's thesis). Institute of Science Kirikkale University, Kırıkkale.

- Anazifa, R., Djukri, D. (2017). Project- based learning and problem-based learning: are they effective to improve student's thinking skills?. Jurnal Pendidikan IPA Indonesia, 6(2), 346-355. 10.15294/jpii.v6i2.11100
- Arsovic, B., Stefanovic, N. (2020). E-learning based on the adaptive learning model: case study in Serbia. *Sādhanā*, 45, 266. <u>10.1007/s12046-020-01499-8</u>
- Bağcı, N. (2003). New approaches towards students and learning objectives in the learning process. Journal of National Education, 159, 142-148.
- Cantürk Günhan, B., Başer, N. (2009). Students', Teachers' and Faculty Members' OpinionsAbout Problem Based Learning, *Necatibey Education Faculty Electronic Journal of Science and Mathematics* <u>https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/balikesirnef/issue/3368/46498</u>
- Cerit, Y. (2008). Students, Teachers and Administrators' Views on Metaphors with Respect to the Concept of Principal. *Education and Science*, *33*(127), 693-712.
- Çetin, Y. & Mirasyedioğlu, Ş. (2019). The effects of the technology supported problem-based learning activities on students' achievement in mathematics. *Journal of Computer and Education Research*, 7(13), 13-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.18009/jcer.494907</u>
- Dağhan G., Kalaycı E., Seferoğlu S. S. (2011). The examination of technology policies in national education councils. *Academic Informatics*, 2(4), Inonu University, Malatya.
- Delisle, R. (1997). *How to use problem-based learning in the classroom*. <u>https://www.ascd.org/books/how-to-use-problem-based-learning-in-the-classroom</u>.
- Divarcı, Ö, Saltan, F. (2017). The Effects of the Multimedia Supported Problem Based Learning on Academic Success and Attitude in Science Education. *Journal of Ahi Evran University Kirsehir Education Faculty*, *18*(3), 1-23. <u>https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/kefad/issue/59420/853347</u>
- Ellington, A. J. (2003). A meta-analysis of the effects of calculators on students' achievement and attitude levels in precollege mathematics classes. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, *34*(5), 433-463.
- Ersoy, E, Başer, N. (2011). The Effect on Retention of Applied Scenarios in the Problem-Based Learning Method. *Journal of Uludag University Faculty of Education*, 24(2), 355-366. <u>https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/uefad/issue/16694/173522</u>
- Göktaş Y., Yıldırım Z., Yıldırım S. (2008), Status of ICT in schools of teacher education: deans' views, Education and Science, *33*(149), 30-50.
- Hannafin, R. D., Burruss, J. D. ve Little, C. (2001). Learning with dynamic geometry programs: Perspectives of teachers and learners. *Journal of Educational Research*, 94(3), 132-44.
- Hassan, M., Habiba, U., Majeed, F., Shoaib, M. (2019). Adaptive gamification in e-learning based on students' learning styles. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 29(4), 545-565. <u>10.1080/10494820.2019.1588745</u>.
- Hmelo-Silver, C. E. (2004), Problem-based learning: what and how do students learn?. Educational Psychology Review, 16, 235–266. <u>10.1023/B:EDPR.0000034022.16470.f3</u>.
- İpek, İ., Sözcü, Ö. & Ziatdinov, R. (2013, Ocak). Integrated E-Learning Design Model and Rapid Instructional Design Strategies. XV. Academic Informatics Conference, Antalya.
- Ivers, K. S., Ann E. B. (2002). Multimedia projects in education designing, producing, and assessing. Retrieved from

https://www.academia.edu/download/35952048/ Karen S. Ivers Ann E. Barron Multimedi ProjectBookFi.org.pdf

- Ellis-Barrett, L. (2007), Multimedia projects in education: designing, producing and assessing third edition, *Library Review*, 56(3), 264-265. 10.1108/00242530710736145.
- Karataş, Z. (2017). Paradigm transformation in social sciences research: rise of qualitative approach. *Turkish Journal of Social Work Research 1*(1).
- Kaya, Z. (2002). *Distance Education*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jret.org/FileUpload/ds217232/File/uzaktanegitim.pdf</u>
- Kılıç, İ., Moralar, A. (2015). The effect of problem-based learning approach on academic success and motivation in science education. *Pegem Journal of Education and Training*, 5(5). 10.14527/pegegog.2015.034
- Mays, N., & Pope, C. (2000). Qualitative research in health care, assessing quality in qualitative research. *BMJ*, 320, 50-52
- Mazman, S. G., Usluel, Y. K. (2011). Ict integration into learning-teachingprocess: models and indicators. *Educational Technology Theory and Practice*, 1(1), 62-79. <u>https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/etku/issue/6274/84241</u>
- Muhammad N., Herminarto S., Moh F., Rabiman R. (2019). Problem-based learning (pbl) in industry 4.0: improving learning quality through character-based literacy learning and life career skill (ll-lcs). *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 7(11), 2487-2494. 10.13189/ujer.2019.071128.
- Nugraha, F.F. (2017). Interactive multimedia use of games model on ips school study list. *Education Program of Elementary School of Universitas Kuningan Journal of Elemantary Education*, 1(1), 17. <u>10.22460/pej.v1i1.421</u>.
- Sheehan, M. & Nillas, A.L. (2010). Technology integration in secondary mathematics classrooms: Effect on students' understanding. *Journal of Technology Integration in the Classroom*, 2(3), 67-83.
- Stake, R. R. (2005). Case studies. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research (Third edition)*. London: Sage.
- Streubert, H. J., & Carpenter, D. R. (2011). Qualitative research in nursing. (5th ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams ve Wilkins.
- Tutak, T. (2020). The effect of problem-based learning approach on student achievement and attitude in teaching linear equations and inequalities. *Electronic Journal of Education Sciences*, 9(18), 97-108.
- Wahidah N. I., Ibrahim N, Muslim S. (2019). E-module : Design a learning material with rowntree and hannafin model for higher education. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research*, 8(12), 3373-3376.
- Uygun, N., Işık Tertemiz, N. (2014). Effects of problem-based learning on student attitudes, achievement and retention of learning in math course. *Education and Science*, *39*(174). <u>10.15390/EB.2014.1975</u>
- Yin, R. (1984). Case study research: design and methods (3rd edition). California: Sage.
- Yıldırım, S. (2000). An indispensable educational tool. Information Week Türkiye, 111, 45-46.
- Yurdugül, H., Aşkar, P. (2008). An investigation of the factorial structures of pupils' attitude towards technology (patt): A Turkish sample. Elementary *Education Online*, 7(2), 288-309.

Appendix

Appendix-1	
Aşağıdaki toplama ve çıkarma işlemlerini yapınız.	Aşağıdaki bölme işlemlerini yapınız.
a) 0,4 + 0,123 =	a) 0,4 : 0,1 =
b) 1,2 + 13 + 0,004 =	b) 1,2 : 0,06 =
c) 23,12 + 1,238 - 0,32 =	c) 1,23 : 12,3 =
d) 111,13 + 0,2 + 13 =	d) 0,2 : 1,03 =
Aşağıdaki çarpma işlemlerini yapınız.	
a) 0,4 x 0,123 =	
b) 1,2 x 13 =	
c) 1,23 x 0,32 =	
d) 0,2 + 1,03 =	

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Examination of classroom teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge and teacher self-efficacy beliefs

Tuğçe KAŞCI ^{a *} 跑, Gülenaz SELÇUK ^b 📵

^a M.E.B., Turkey

^b Manisa Celal Bayar University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Kaşçı, T. & Selçuk, G. (2021). Examination of classroom teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge and teacher self-efficacy beliefs. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 774-792.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Technological pedagogical content knowledge TPACK Self-efficacy beliefs Teachers	This study aims to examine classroom teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge and classroom teachers' self-efficacy beliefs. The research was conducted in the correlational research model, one of the general survey models. The sample of the research consisted of 1127 classroom teachers working in 150 primary schools affiliated with the Manisa Provincial Directorate of National Education in the 2020-2021 academic year. The research data were collected using online data collection tools consisting of three parts. "Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Scale for Classroom Teachers" and "Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale" were used as data collection tools. Descriptive statistics, ANOVA, Kruskal Wallis H Test and Pearson Correlation analyses were used in the analysis of the data. The results of the research showed that classroom teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge and self-efficacy beliefs were at a high level. It was determined that the technological pedagogical content knowledge of classroom teachers showed statistically significant differences according to the variables of the duration of computer technology usage and the duration of mobile technology usage, and it was determined that there was no statistically significant difference in terms of gender and professional seniority variables. Teacher self-efficacy levels of classroom teachers showed a statistically significant difference in terms of professional seniority, duration of use of computer technologies and duration of mobile technologies, but there was no significant difference in terms of gender. Finally, with Pearson Correlation Analysis, it was concluded that there was a high level of a positive and significant relationship between classroom teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge
Research Aller	מום המכוורו זכוו-כוווכמכץ טכווכוז.

1. Introduction

The development process in the 21st century has affected societies in many areas, and humanity has entered a rapid change process depending on these developments. These developments in technology have affected society in every field as well as in the field of education. Education has lost its classical teachings in today's world and has changed. In the 21st century, education has become a process that aims to know, produce, increase knowledge, and learn continuously (Çelebi, 2016). Being able to raise entrepreneurial individuals who know and research the ways of accessing information through education, can use technology

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 17 Dec 2021; Accepted 18 Dec 2021



^c Corresponding author: M.E.B., Turkey.

e-mail address: tugcekasci@outlook.com

This study was produced from Tuğçe Kaşcı's MA thesis entitled "Examination of Classroom Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge and Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs" conducted under the consultancy of Asst. Prof. Dr. Gülenaz Selçuk.

This study was also partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1018879

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.

effectively and efficiently, question and think critically, are open to development and change, can follow innovations and apply them in their lives, keep up with the rapid changes in the information society and turn these changes into opportunities comes to the fore (Değirmenci, 2014). The way to train individuals with the equipment required by the age is to use technology effectively in education by following the innovations and developments in information and communication technologies in the journey of learning and teaching.

Investments specific to the use of technology in education are increasing day by day in Turkey. The FATIH Project, the EBA platform, studies carried out in line with the 2023 education vision, equipping classrooms with technological tools and equipment, improving, and updating the technological infrastructure, establishment of various online learning platforms are developments that lead to widespread and effective use of technology in education. However, investing solely in technology is not an adequate solution to train well-equipped individuals required by the age is not an adequate solution to train valid chipped individuals required by the age. When the technological and physical infrastructure are not combined with the power of the teacher, they are not made use of to their fullest potential (MEB, 2018). The way to integrate technology into education and teaching is through teachers' having the required knowledge, skills, and qualifications (Akkoç & İmre, 2015). It is thought that for technology integration, teachers should be trained to use technology effectively in learning and teaching processes in the light of the innovations brought by the digital age (Önal, 2019). This situation imposes new responsibilities and competencies on teachers in the professional sense. When the General Competencies Document for the Teaching Profession (2017) was examined, it was seen that pedagogical content knowledge was emphasised within the scope of professional knowledge and professional skill competence. Today, having pedagogy and field knowledge is not an indicator of being an adequate teacher (Bilici & Yadigaroğlu, 2018). While teachers are required to have pedagogical and content knowledge, they are also expected to have technological knowledge today (Akgün & Karadeniz, 2013).

Teachers need to believe in their own competencies and self-confidence so that they can demonstrate the performance expected of them, be motivated, and make the necessary self-regulations. At this point, the role of teacher self-efficacy beliefs comes into play. From this point of view, it is thought that considering and discussing self-efficacy belief and Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) together will contribute significantly to the field.

2. Literature

2.1. TPACK

Mishra and Koehler (2006) defined the TPACK model as three intersecting circles that show the interrelationships between the components of Technological Knowledge (TK), Pedagogical Knowledge (PK), and Content Knowledge (CK). TPACK, located at the intersection of three knowledge and in a dynamic and functional interaction with all three components (Figure 1), is a unique type of knowledge.



Figure 1. The Components of TPACK (Mishra & Koehler, 2009)

TK: It is the knowledge of standard technologies. It is the ability to learn, adapt to new technologies and use materials ranging from old technologies such as books, overhead projectors to more advanced technologies such as interactive books, smart boards, internet, virtual learning environments (Mishra & Koehler, 2006; Mishra & Koehler, 2009; Koehler et al., 2013).

CK: It was defined by Shulman (1987) as knowledge about standard concepts and facts of a subject. In other words, content knowledge is the main information and basic concepts related to the subject to be taught or learned.

PK: It is the activity of motivating students, making sense and scaffolding between students and controlling understanding (Angeli & Valanides, 2005). In general, PK includes instructional practices, knowledge of learning processes and strategies, classroom management skills, and a teacher's knowledge of their students.

PCK: It is the knowledge of using the most appropriate teaching methods, examples, explanations and analogies (Shulman, 1986).

TPK: Koehler and Mishra (2008) defined TPK as the knowledge of understanding how the use of educational technologies in education transforms teaching-learning environments and how technology can support certain pedagogical goals and learning goals.

TCK: It is the type of knowledge that arises from the combination of TK and CK. Teachers should have a good command of the content knowledge and should be able to determine and choose which educational technology will be appropriate while transferring the content knowledge to the students, as well as be able to use the technology with which they can carry out teaching activities efficiently (Koehler et al., 2013).

TPACK: It is a type of information that arises from the combination of PK and CK. Mishra and Koehler (2008) defined TPACK as the knowledge of how technology can be used to better understand the content represented by the concepts and to teach CK in a constructivist pattern using other methods, to understand students' conceptual confusion using technology, to develop new knowledge theories of students or to strengthen their knowledge theories. TPACK is a type of knowledge that an individual has or lacks, and basically, as a competency formed by teacher actions in a teaching situation (Willermark, 2018)

2.2. Self-Efficacy Beliefs

According to Bandura (1977), self-efficacy belief is the belief that an individual has in their ability to organise and successfully perform the activities they need to realize performance. Self-efficacy beliefs not only constitute a significant part of individuals' motivation and behaviors, but they can also change behaviours that can point someone's life in a direction (Koç & Bursal, 2016). An individual's perception as to what they can achieve determines their behaviour. Beliefs about self-efficacy affect how an individual thinks, how an individual feels, and how an individual behaves (Zimmerman, 2000). While an individual's perception of their capacity as lower than it is may prevent them from using their ability in the best way, an individual's perception of their capacity as greater than it is may contribute positively to the individual's performance (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998).

2.3. Teachers' Self-Efficacy Beliefs

Teacher self-efficacy belief is one of the factors affecting teachers' professional success. The professional achievements of teachers depend on their belief that they have professional competencies, that they can use these competencies effectively and that they can fulfill their duties (Yılmaz et al., 2004). Teacher self-efficacy belief plays a decisive role in seeing the professional determination of teachers and determining the results they can get from them (Aslan & Kalkan, 2018).

Teachers' self-efficacy belief is a driving force that affects professional determination, teachers' in-class behaviors and perseverance and patience in the educational process. Teacher self-efficacy belief, which is a supporting power, is important for the effectiveness of education and training activities (Klassen et al., 2009; Klassen Tze, 2014).

While teachers with high self-efficacy beliefs can provide self-sufficient motivation in the teaching process and transfer this to their students, teachers with low self-efficacy beliefs may experience decreases in their abilities that will directly affect their teaching behaviors (Kandemir, 2015). It can be deduced that teachers with low self-efficacy beliefs may not be able to use their knowledge and skills effectively in the education process, and teachers with high self-efficacy beliefs but lacking in knowledge and skills can manage the education and training process well. A teacher's ability to manage the educational process well is one of the indicators of their success. The success or failure of the teacher in the education process is directly related to the teacher's self-efficacy belief (Kaçar & Beycioğlu, 2017).

2.4. The Relationship between TPACK and Teachers' Self-Efficacy Belief

It is apparent that the use of technology in the education process is more efficient and beneficial for students and teachers, and the use of technology is now a necessity for a successful educational process. However, the use of technology in education does not always mean the education is successful. Because there are many different obstacles in the realization of technology integration in education. The obstacles in the technology integration are listed as: "(1) state of hardware and network infrastructure, (2) support, (3) education level of the teacher, (4) perceptions and attitudes," and "(5) time and heavy teaching load (Arslan & Şendurur, 2017). Ertmer (2005) states that in technology integration, external factors such as hardware and software can easily be controlled, but internal factors directly related to the teacher are important obstacles that cannot be changed easily. At this point, it can be said that the education level, perceptions, and attitudes of the teacher are important factors in technology integration. Teachers' TPACKs are one of the internal factors that play a key role in technology integration (Y1lmaz, 2015). Another internal factor affecting the teacher's in-class behavior and motivation is the teacher's self-efficacy belief. These two internal factors directly affect the teacher in technology integration.

Increasing only the TPACK of teachers in technology integration in education is not an indication that education will be carried out at the desired level. Because the professional success of the teacher cannot be considered independently of the teacher's self-efficacy belief. Teachers with low self-efficacy may not be able to use these skills effectively, even if they have a high TPACK. Therefore, it would be beneficial for a successful teacher to have both these skills at a high level in the technology integration process.

2.5. Aim of the Study

This research aims to examine the technological pedagogical content knowledge of classroom teachers and their self-efficacy beliefs. Answers to the following questions were sought.

- 1. What is the level of TPACK of classroom teachers?
- 2. What is the level of teacher self-efficacy beliefs of the classroom teachers?

3. Do the TPACK of classroom teachers show statistically significant differences according to gender, professional seniority, duration of use of computer technologies, duration of use of mobile technologies variables?

4. Do the self-efficacy beliefs of classroom teachers show a statistically significant difference according to the professional seniority, duration of use of computer technologies, and duration of use of mobile technology variables?

5. Is there a significant relationship between classroom teachers' TPACK and teacher self-efficacy beliefs?

3.1. Research Design

The research was carried out using the correlational research model, one of the general survey models. The correlational research model that is aims to determine whether there is a change between two or more variables and if there is a change, to what extent the change is (Karasar, 2008).

3.2. Data Collecting Tools

The research data was collected online using a data collection tool consisting of three parts via Google form. The first section includes the demographic variables, the second section includes the "TPACK Scale for Classroom Teachers" and the third section includes the "Teacher Self-Efficacy Belief Scale".

3.2.1. TPACK Scale for Classroom Teachers

The "TPACK Scale for Classroom Teachers", which consists of 46 items developed by Kaya and Dağ (2013), was used to determine the TPACK of classroom teachers. The scale items in the five-point Likert form are scored as "I strongly disagree (1)", "I disagree (2)", "Undecided (3)", "I agree (4)" and "I strongly agree (5)". In this study, the Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient for the entire scale was found as 0.97.

3.2.2. Teacher Self-Efficacy Belief Scale

To determine teachers' self-efficacy belief levels, "the Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale" consisting of 27 items developed by Çolak et al. (2017) was used. The scale items in the five-point Likert form are scored as "I strongly disagree (1)", "I disagree (2)", "Undecided (3)", "I agree (4)" and "I strongly agree (5)". In this study, the Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient for the entire scale was found as 0.96.

3.3. Sampling or Study Group

The sample of the research consisted of 1127 classroom teachers working in 150 primary schools affiliated with the Manisa Provincial Directorate of National Education in the 2020-2021 academic year. The stratified sampling method was used while determining the sample of the study. It is a type of sampling that aims to represent the subgroups of the population in the sample by determining their proportions in the size of the population (Büyüköztürk et al., 2020).

Since it was not possible to reach all the teachers in the research population, it was decided that 1127 people were sufficient to sample with at a 98% confidence level and a 3% margin of error, using the known sample formula. The research represents 33% of the population.

3.4. Data Analysis

In the study, the data obtained from 1127 classroom teachers were analysed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 26.0 program. The frequency and percentage distribution of the demographic characteristics of the participants participating in the research were calculated. In the first and second sub-problems of the research, the descriptive statistics method was used, and the findings were presented in a table. Levene's homogeneity test was applied to determine which parametric/nonparametric test would be used in the third and fourth sub-problems of the research. T-Test and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) were used for normally distributed data, and Kruskal Wallis H Test and Post Hoc (LSD) tests were used for data that did not show normal distribution. Pearson Correlation Analysis was conducted to find an answer to the fifth sub-problem of the research.

Demographic Characteristics	Variables	F	%
Gender	Female	685	60.8
	Male	442	39.2
Professional Seniority	1-5 years	59	5.2
	5-10 years	119	10.6
	10-15 years	218	19.3
	15-20 years	190	16.9
	20 years or more	541	48.0
	1-5 years	16	1.4
Duration of Use of Computer Technologies	5-10 years	123	10.9
	10-15 years	363	32.2
	15-20 years	404	35.8
	20 years or more	221	19.6
Duration of Use of Mobile Technologies	1-5 years	79	7.0
	5-10 years	297	26.4
	10-15 years	351	31.1
	15-20 years	276	24.5
	20 years or more	124	11.0

Table 1. The Frequency Analysis of the Demographic Characteristics of Classroom Teachers Participating in the Research

3.5. Findings

3.5.1. What is the level of TPACK of classroom teachers?

The results of the analysis regarding the TPACK levels of classroom teachers are given in Table 2. Table 2. TPACK Levels of Classroom Teachers

ТРАСК	X	SS
ТК	3.85	.94
СК	4.23	.77
РК	4.60	.54
РСК	4.52	.60
TCK	4.42	.67
ТРК	4.31	.72
TPACK	4.32	.73
General	4.32	

Look at the findings in Table 2, it can be concluded that the level of TPACK of classroom teachers was high (\bar{X} =4.32).

3.5.2. What is the level of teacher self-efficacy beliefs of the classroom teachers?

The results of the analysis regarding the teacher self-efficacy beliefs levels of classroom teachers are given in Table 3.

ТРАСК	X	SS	
Academic Self-Efficacy	4.45	.60	
Professional Self-Efficacy	4.66	.55	
Social Self-Efficacy	4.50	.59	
Intellectual Self-Efficacy	4.21	.81	
General	4.46		

Table 3. Teacher Self-Efficacy Belief Levels of Classroom Teachers

Looking at the findings in Table 3, it can be concluded that the teacher self-efficacy belief levels of the classroom teachers are high (\bar{X} =4.46).

3.5.3. Do the TPACK of classroom teachers show statistically significant differences according to gender, professional seniority, duration of use of computer technologies, duration of use of mobile technologies variables?

Table 4. T-Test Results of Classroom Teachers' TPACK Regarding Gender Variable

Dimension	Category	Ν	X	sd	sd	t	р
TPACK	Female	685	4.29	.50	1125	-2.40	.181
	Male	442	4.36	.46			

Within the scope of the independent sample t-test results in Table 4, there is no statistically significant difference in terms of the gender variable of classroom teachers' TPACK (t=-2.40, p>0.05).

Table 5. ANOVA Test Results of Classroom Teachers'	TPACK According to Professional	Seniority Variable
--	---------------------------------	--------------------

Dimension	Category	Ν	Ā	sd	F	р	Difference (LSD)
ТРАСК	1-5 years	59	4.45	.44	1.76	.133	-
	5-10 years	119	4.28	.52			
	10-15 years	218	4.28	.49			
	15-20 years	190	4.33	.51			
	20 years or more	541	4.32	.47			

According to the ANOVA results in Table 5, there is no statistically significant difference between classroom teachers' TPACK (F=1.76) and professional seniority variable (p>0.05).

Dimension	Category	Ν	SO	sd	X ²	р	Difference (LSD)
ТРАСК	1-5 years	16	596.63	4	103.8	.000	
	5-10 years	123	397.11				5-10 Years<10-15 Years 5-10 Years<15-20 Years 5-10 Years <20 Years or more
	10-15 years	363	498				10-15 Years<15-20 Years 10-15 Years<20 Years or more
	15-20 years	404	584.17				15-20 Years<20 Years or more
	20 years or more	221	726.06				

Table 6. Kruskal Wallis – H Test Results According to the Variable of TPACK of Classroom Teachers and the Duration of Use of Computer Technologies

According to the results of Kruskal Wallis – H Test shown in Table 6, there is a statistically significant difference between classroom teachers' TPACK and the variable of using computer technologies (X^2 =103.8, p<0.05). It was found out that classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 5-10 years had lower TPACK compared to classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 10-15 years, 15-20 years and 20 years or more, the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 10-15 years had lower TPACK compared to classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 10-15 years and 20 years or more, the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 15-20 years and 20 years or more, the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 15-20 years and 20 years or more, the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 15-20 years and 20 years or more, the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 15-20 years and 20 years or more, the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more and the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 15-20 years or more and the classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more.

Table 7. ANOVA Test Results of TPACK of Classroom	Teachers According to	Variable of Duration	of Use of Mobile
Technologies			

Dimension	Category	Ν	Ā	SS	F	р	Difference (LSD)
ТРАСК	1-5 years	79	4.04	.49	17.14	.000	1-5 Years<5-10 Years 1-5 Years <10-15 Years 1-5 Years<15-20 Years 1-5 Years<20 Years or more
	5-10 years	297	4.23	.47			5-10 Years<10-15 Years 5-10 Years<15-20 Years 5-10 Years<20 Years or more
	10-15 years	351	4.32	.48			10-15 Years<20 Years or more
	15-20 years	276	4.39	.46			15-20 Years<20 Years or more
	20 years or more	124	4.53	.45			

According to the ANOVA results in Table 7, there is a statistically significant difference between classroom teachers' TPACK (F=17.14) and the variable of the duration of use of mobile technologies (p<0.05). It was found that this difference was against teachers who had been using mobile technologies between 1-5 years versus teachers who had been using mobile technologies between 5-10 years, 10-15 years, 15-20 years and 20 or more years; against teachers who had been using mobile technologies between 5-10 years versus

teachers who had been using mobile technologies between 10-15,15-20 years and 20 years or more years, and in favour of the teachers who had been using mobile technologies for 20 or more years versus teachers who had been using mobile technologies for 10-15 years and 15-20 years.

3.5.4. Do the self-efficacy beliefs of classroom teachers show a statistically significant difference according to the professional seniority, duration of use of computer technologies, and duration of use of mobile technology variables?

Table 8. T-Test Results of Classroom Teachers' Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs Regarding the Gender

Dimension	Category	Ν	Ā	sd	sd	t	р
Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs	Female	685	4.45	.49	1125	.101	.919
	Male	442	4.45	.49			

In Table 8, within the scope of t-test results, there is no statistically significant difference in terms of gender variable of classroom school teachers' teacher self-efficacy beliefs (t=.101 p>0.05).

Table 9. The Kruskal Wallis -	H Test Results According	to the Variable of	f Teacher Self-Efficacy	Beliefs of C	lassroom
Teachers and the Professional	Seniority				

Dimension	Category	Ν	SO	sd	X ²	р	Difference (LSD)
Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs	1-5 years	59	4.53	.41	3.16	.013	1-5 Years>5-10 Years
	5-10 years	119	4.36	.53			5-10 Years<15-20 Years 5-10 Years<20 Years or more
	10-15 years	218	4.38	.52			10-15 Years<15-20 Years 10-15 Years<20 Years or more
	15-20 years	190	4.51	.46			
	20 years or more	541	4.47	.48			

According to the ANOVA test results in Table 9, there is a statistically significant difference between classroom teachers' self-efficacy beliefs (F=3.16) and professional seniority variable ($X^2 = 3.16$, p<0.05). It was found that this significance was in favor of teachers with 1-5 years of professional seniority versus teachers with 5-10 years of professional seniority, in favor of 15-20 years of professional seniority versus teachers with 5-10 years and 10-15 years of professional seniority, and in favor of teachers with 20 or more years versus 5-10 and 10-15 years of professional seniority.

Dimension	Category	Ν	SO	sd	X ²	р	Difference (LSD)
Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs	1-5 years	16	608.47	4	41.59	.000	
	5-10 years	123	459.39				5-10 Years<15-20 Years 5-10 Years<20 Years or more
	10-15 years	363	533.40				10-15 Years<20 Years or more
	15-20 years	404	561.42				15-20 Years<20 Years or more
	20 years or more	221	673.98				

Table 10. The Kruskal Wallis – H Test Results According to the Variable of Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Classroom Teachers and the Duration of Use of Computer Technologies

According to the test results seen in Table 10, there is a statistically significant difference between the teacher self-efficacy beliefs of classroom teachers and the variable of the duration of the use of computer technologies (X^2 =41.59, p<0.05). According to the analysis, classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 5-10 years had lower self-efficacy beliefs than classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 15-20 years and 20 years or more.; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years or more; classroom teachers who had been using computer technologies for 20 years.

Dimension	Category	N	SO	sd	X ²	р	Difference (LSD)
Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs	1-5 years	79	397.48	4	40.24	.000	1-5 Years<5-10 Years 1-5 Years <10-15 Years 1-5 Years<15-20 Years 1-5 Years<20 Years or more
	5-10 years	297	528.82				5-10 Years<20 Years or more
	10-15 years	351	578.58				10-15 Years<20 Years or more
	15-20 years	276	580.94				15-20 Years<20 Years or more
	20 years or more	124	675.37				

Table 11. The Kruskal Wallis- H Test Results According to the Variable of Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Classroom Teachers and the Duration of Use of Mobile Technologies

According to the results of the Kruskal Wallis – H Test, shown in Table 11, there is a statistically significant difference between classroom teachers' teacher self-efficacy beliefs and the variable of the duration of use of mobile technologies (X^2 =40.24, p<0.05). It was concluded with the analysis that teachers who had been using mobile technologies for 1-5 years had lower self-efficacy beliefs than the other groups. In addition, teacher self-efficacy belief is in favour of classroom teachers who had been using mobile technologies for

20 or more years compared to the teachers who had been using mobile technologies for teachers with 5-10 years, 10-15 years, 15-20 years of professional seniority.

3.5.5. Is there a significant relationship between classroom teachers' TPACK and teacher self-efficacy beliefs?

Table 12. Pearson Correlation Analysis Between Classroom Teachers' TPACK and Teachers' Self Efficacy Beliefs

		Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs	_
ТРАСК	r p	.76 .000	_

The Pearson Correlation Analysis results in Table 11 show that there was a high level of a positive and significant relationship between classroom teaches' TPACK and teacher self-efficacy beliefs (r=.76, p<0.01). Accordingly, it can be said that as classroom teachers' TPACK increases, teacher self-efficacy beliefs also increase.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

In this study, classroom teachers' TPACK and teacher self-efficacy beliefs were examined according to various variables. 1127 classroom teachers working in public institutions affiliated with Manisa Provincial Directorate of National Education in the 2020-2021 academic year participated in the research.

In the study, it was determined that classroom teachers had a high level of TPACK. It can be concluded that classroom teachers are well-informed as to the use of technology to help students to better comprehend a subject and transfer the content to students in different constructivist ways, and they also have knowledge of how to use technology to teach the conceptual complexities with technology and students to develop new knowledge theories or strengthen the existing ones. The research was conducted during the pandemic and distance education process. It was conducted in a period when teachers taught using technology and technology was constantly used in educational environments. This may have affected the high level of TPACKs of classroom teachers. The literature on the subject supported the results of the research. In his study, Çoklar (2014) determined that teacher candidates had advanced TPACK competencies. Another study that determined teachers' TPACK at an advanced level was conducted by Karalar and Altan (2016). The research result was supported by different studies (Kabakçı Yurdakul, 2011; Çuhadar, Bülbül, & Ilgaz, 2013; Sezer, 2015; Kula, 2015). However, contrary to these results, Liu, Zhang and Wang (2015) determined that teachers' TPACK was low as a result of their research.

According to the results of the research, classroom teachers' self-efficacy beliefs were at a high level. Accordingly, it can be concluded that classroom teachers believed in their capacity to successfully perform the expected performance at a high level. The literature on the subject was examined and it was observed that the results of the research are supported by similar studies. Coşkun (2019) found that secondary school teachers had a high level of self-efficacy perception. Eker (2014) stated that the self-efficacy belief averages of classroom teachers were at a sufficient level. Duman (2020) examined classroom teachers' self-efficacy perceptions in terms of sub-dimensions and found that classroom teachers' self-efficacy perceptions were at a high level. This result of the research is also supported by other studies (Pendergast & Garvis, 2011; Sökmen, 2018; Baloğlu, 2020; Shoulders & Krei, 2015). Contrary to these results, Taşkın and Hacıömeroğlu (2010) found in their study that self-efficacy beliefs of prospective classroom teachers were below the average.

According to the data obtained as a result of the research, the TPACK of the classroom teachers does not show a statistically significant difference according to the gender variable. This result indicates that a teacher being a male or a female is not a determining factor in their TPACK. This result of the research is in parallel to the results of the studies conducted by Akgün and Karadeniz (2013), Gündoğmuş (2013), Hamilton (2013), Çoklar (2014), Kula (2015), Teo and Milutinovic (2015), Karalar and Altan (2016), Kıylık (2016), Akyıldız and Altun (2018), Yüngül (2018) and Çiğilli (2020). Contrary to this result, studies in the literature in which there were significant relationships between the gender variable and TPACK have also been found (Karadeniz & Vatanartıran, 2015; Lee & Tsai, 2010; Azgın & Şenler, 2018).

It was found as a result of the research that the TPACK of the classroom teachers did not show a statistically significant difference according to the professional seniority variable. Professional seniority had not been a factor that will make a difference in teachers' TPACK. This result of the research was also supported by other studies (Burmabıyık, 2014; Azgın & Şenler, 2018; Yılmaz, 2020). However, contrary to this result Bal ve Karademir (2013) found in their study that teachers with less professional seniority had higher TPACK levels.

In the study, it was determined that the TPACK of the classroom teachers showed a statistically significant change in terms of the variable of the duration of the use of computer technologies. It can be concluded from the findings that as the duration of the computer to use increases, the TPACK can also increase. This situation was supported by the finding of Kabakçı and Yurdakul (2011) that "an increase in the level of use of information and communication technologies also increases the competencies of TPACK". In addition, this result is compatible with Becker's (2000) inference that "in order for teachers to apply technology to any new teaching strategy, they need to acquire new knowledge about technology and then match it with the demands of the curriculum, classroom". There are other studies in the literature that are compatible with the results of the research. As a result of this study, Kıylık (2016) found significant differences between computer usage experience and TPACK, which are consistent with the results of the research. Karalar and Altan (2016) state that the status of owning a computer is a vital parameter in terms of TPACK.

It was determined in the study that the TPACK of classroom teachers differed statistically significantly in terms of the duration of use of mobile technologies. The high level of TPACK of the teachers who had been using mobile technologies for 20 years or more can be explained by the positive effects of their existing technological knowledge on their TPACK skills. Akyıldız and Altun (2018) found that classroom teacher candidates who have Internet access thanks to mobile technologies have higher TPACK levels. Contrary to the aforementioned finding, Kıylık (2016) found in his study that mobile technologies do not affect teachers' TPACK.

According to the data obtained as a result of this research, the teacher self-efficacy beliefs of classroom teachers do not show statistically significant differences in terms of the gender variable. Thus, a teacher being a male or a female does not affect teacher self-efficacy beliefs. This situation can be associated with the decrease in the inequalities between men and women day by day. There are studies in the literature that conclude that self-efficacy beliefs do not differ according to gender and that there is no statistically significant relationship between gender and teacher self-efficacy beliefs in accordance with the research results (Savran-Gencer & Cakiroglu, 2007; Taşkın & Hacıömeroğlu, 2010; Guo, Justice, Sawyer, & Tompkins, 2011; Ayra & Kösterelioğlu, 2016; Güneş, 2016; Özkurt, 2017; Erkoç, 2017; Coşkun, 2019; Şahin, 2019; Elgit, 2020; Yılmaz, 2020; Duman, 2020). There are also studies supporting the opposite of this finding (Tschannen-Moran & College, 2011; Yeşilyurt, 2013; Korkut & Babaoğlan, 2012; Fackler & Malmberg, 2016; Selçuk, 2016; Baloğlu, 2020).

Another result of this study showed that teachers' self-efficacy beliefs differed significantly according to the variable of professional seniority. In their study, Cheung (2008), Kasap (2012), Altunbaş (2011), Tschannen-Moran and Johnson (2011), Wang, Hall and Rahimi (2015), Güneş (2016), Ayra and

Kösterelioğlu (2016), Fackler and Malmberg (2016), Kilday, Lenser and Miller (2016), Erkoç (2017), Elgit (2020) and Duman (2020) found results in parallel with the research results.

It was determined that the teacher self-efficacy beliefs of the classroom teachers differed significantly in terms of the variable of the duration of use of the computer technologies. We can deduce that as the duration of teachers' use of computer technology increases, their beliefs about what they can do professionally increase and this affects their self-efficacy. There are limited studies in the literature that examine teacher self-efficacy beliefs according to the duration of use of computer technologies. In their study, Aşkar and Umay (2001) found that there is a positive relationship between the duration of computer use and teachers' self-efficacy beliefs. Kahraman, Yılmaz, Erkol and Yalçın (2013) found in their study that the duration of the use of computer technologies affected teachers' self-efficacy beliefs. The results of the aforementioned studies coincide with the results of the research. It was found in the research that classroom teachers' self-efficacy beliefs differed significantly according to the duration of the use of mobile technologies.

Due to its features such as changing, constantly updating and becoming more functional, mobile technologies may be perceived as complex to some people. The high level of teacher self-efficacy beliefs of classroom teachers who had been using mobile technologies for 20 years or more may be due to their experience since they had been using mobile technologies which had been perceived as complex for a long time. In the literature, no studies in which teachers' self-efficacy beliefs were examined according to the duration of the use of mobile technologies were found. However, in their study, Kwon et al. (2019) stated that teacher self-efficacy for mobile technology predicts technology integration. According to the data obtained as a result of the research, there is a high level of a positive relationship between classroom teachers' self-efficacy beliefs and TPACK. Based on this finding, we can deduce that "there is a relationship between classroom teachers' TPACK and their beliefs in self-efficacy. Studies suggest that self-efficacy beliefs affect the likelihood of a teacher using technology in the classroom (Albion, 1999; Bull, 2009; Abbitt, 2011; Chai, Koh, & Tsai, 2013). There are other studies in the literature supporting this result of the research in terms of determining the existence of a significant relationship between TPACK and teachers' self-efficacy belief (Gürbüz, 2012; Akgün & Karadeniz, 2013; Tunçer, 2014; Karakuyu, 2015; Ünal, 2015; Karalar & Altan, 2016; Çam, 2017; Wright & Akgündüz, 2018; Martin, 2018; Coşkun, 2019). Contrary to these studies, Karakuyu and Karakuyu (2016) concluded in their study that there is no statistically significant relationship between teachers' self-efficacy beliefs and TPACK. The aforementioned research results support the research in the opposite direction.

In summary, the findings of the study describe classroom teachers' TPACKs and teacher self-efficacy beliefs. Some suggestions that may shed light on future studies on the subject are presented below:

•The quantitative method was used in the research. Different results can be obtained in future studies by using the qualitative method or the mixed method.

•Expanding the demographic variables in the research and revealing the existence of different factors affecting TPACK and teacher self–efficacy beliefs can contribute to the literature.

•Research can be done with academicians working in the faculties of education. The level of TPACKs and self-efficacy beliefs of teacher-trainer academicians can be revealed.

•A more comprehensive study involving teachers from different provinces or countries can be conducted to verify the results of the research.

Acknowledge

This study was approved by Manisa Celal Bayar University Social and Human Sciences Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Committee with the permission of 2020.

References

- Abbitt, J. (2011). An Investigation of the Relationship between Self- Efficacy Beliefs about Technology Integration and Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) among Preservice Teachers. *Journal of Digital Learning in Teacher Education*, 27(4), 134-143.
- Akgün, Ö. E., & Karadeniz, M. (2013). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgilerinin İncelenmesi. *IV. Ulusal Lisansüstü Eğitim Sempozyumu* (s. 192-199). Sakarya: Sakarya Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü Yayınları.
- Akgün, Ö. E., & Karadeniz, M. (2013). Sınıf öğretmenlerinin teknolojik pedagojik alan bilgilerinin incelenmesi. Ö. E. İsmail Güleç içinde, VI. Ulusal Lisansüstü Eğitim Sempozyumu Bildiriler Kitabı II (s. 192-199). Sakarya: Sakarya Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü Yayınları.
- Akgündüz, D. (2019). Araştıran Okulda Teknoloji entegrasyonu. M. Yavuz içinde, *Araştıran Okul* (s. 109-111). Konya: Eğitim Yayınevi.
- Akkoç, H., & İmre, S. Y. (2015). Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi. H. Akkoç, & S. Y. İmre içinde, *Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Olasılık ve İstatistik Öğretimi*. Ankara: PEGEM.
- Akyıldız, S., & Altun, T. (2018). Examining Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK) Levels of Primary Pre-Service Teachers Based on Some Variables. *Trakya Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 8(2), 318-333.
- Albion, P. (1999). Self-efficacy beliefs as an indicator of teachers' preparedness for teaching with technology. J. Price, J. Willis, D. A. Willis, M. Jost, & S. B.-M. (Eds.) içinde, *Proceedings of the Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference 1999* (s. 1602-1608). Waynesville, NC, USA: AACE.
- Angeli, C., & Valanides, N. (2005). Preservice elementary teachers as information and communication technology designers: An instructional systems design model based on an expanded view of pedagogical content knowledge. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 21(4), 292-302.
- Arslan, S., & Şendurur, P. (2017). Eğitimde Teknoloji Entegrasyonunu Etkileyen Faktörlerdeki Değişim. *Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*(43), 25-50.
- Aslan, M., & Kalkan, H. (2018). Öğretmen Öz Yeterlik Algılarının Analizi. Bingöl Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 8(16), 477-493.
- Aşkar, P., & Umay, A. (2001). İlköğretim Matematik Öğretmenliği Öğrencilerinin Bilgisayarla İlgili Öz Yeterlik Algısı. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 21*, 1-8.
- Ayra, M., & Kösterelioğlu, İ. (2016). Öğretmenlerin Mesleki Öz-Yeterlik İnançlarının Çeşitli Değişkenler Açısından İncelenmesi. Gumushane Universitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Elektronik Dergisi, 7(17), 81-101.
- Azgın, A. O., & Şenler, B. (2018). Investigating the Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge of Primary Teachers. *Journal of Computer and Education Research*, *6*(11), 47-66.
- Bal, M. S., & Karademir, N. (2013). Sosyal Bilgiler Öğretmenlerinin Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi (TPAB) Konusunda Öz-Değerlendirme Seviyelerinin Belirlenmesi. *Pamukkale Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*(34), 15-32.
- Baloğlu, C. (2020). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlilik İnançları ile Örgütsel Yaratıcılık Düzeyleri Arasındaki İlişki (Kütahya Merkez İlçesi Örneği). (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Adanan Menderes Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Aydın.

- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-Efficacy: Toward a Unifying Theory of Behavioural Change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191-215.
- Becker, H. (2000). Findings from the Teaching, Learning, and Computing Survey: Is Larry Cuban Right? *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 8(51).
- Bilici, S. C., & Yadigaroğlu, M. (2018). Kuram ve Uygulamada Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi. Ş. U. Sağır içinde, *Teoriden Uygulamaya Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi* (s. 124-153). Ankara: Pegem.
- Bull, P. (2009). Self-Efficacy and Technology Integration: Perceptions of First Year Teaching Fellows to Technology Integration in Education. I. Gibson, R. Weber, K. McFerrin, R. Carlsen, & D. Willis içinde, Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference 2009 (s. 1768-1776). Charleston, SC, USA: AACE.
- Burmabıyık, Ö. (2014). Öğretmenlerin Teknolojik Pedagojik İçerik Bilgilerine Yönelik Öz-Yeterlilik Algılarının Çeşitli Değişkenler Açısından İncelenmesi (Yalova İli Örneği). (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Sakarya Üniversitesi, Sakarya.
- Büyüköztürk, Y., Çakmak, E., Akgün, Ö. E., Karadeniz, Ş., & Demirel, F. (2020). *Bilimsel Araştırmanın Temelleri*. Ankara: Pegem.
- Chai, C. S., Koh, J. H., & Tsai, C. C. (2013). A Review of Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge. *Educational Technology & Society*, 16(2), 31-51.
- Cheung, H. Y. (2008). Teacher efficacy: a comparative study of Hong Kong and Shanghai primary inservice teachers. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 35, 103-123.
- Coşkun, N. (2019). Ortaöğretim Öğretmenlerinin Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Düzeyleri ile Öğretmen Öz Yeterlik Algıları Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Karaman.
- Çam, E. (2017). İlköğretim Öğretmenlerinin Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi (TPAB) Düzeylerinin Yaşam Boyu Öğrenme, Özyeterlik Düzeyleri ve Hizmet İçi Eğitim Gereksinimleri Açısından İncelenmesi: Muş/Bulanık Örneği. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Amasya Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Amasya.
- Çelebi, N. (2016). Küreselleşmeye Genel Bir Bakış. N. Çelebi içinde, Küreselleşme ve Eğitime Yansımaları. Ankara: Nobel.
- Çiğilli, E. (2020). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi ile 21. Yüzyıl Öğreten Becerileri Algı Düzeyleri Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Çanakkale.
- Çoklar, A. N. (2014). Sınıf Öğretmenliği Öğretmen Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik İçerik Bilgisi Yeterliklerinin Cinsiyet ve BİT Kullanım Aşamaları Bağlamında İncelenmesi. *Eğitim ve Bilim*, 39(175), 319-330.
- Çolak, İ. Yorulmaz, Y. İ., & Altınkurt, Y. (2017, Haziran). Öğretmen Özyeterlik İnancı Ölçeği Geçerlik ve Güvenirlik Çalışması. MSKU Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 4(1).
- Çuhadar, C., Bülbül, T., & Ilgaz, G. (2013). Öğretmen adaylarının bireysel yenilikçilik özellikleri ile TPAB yeterlikleri arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi. *İlköğretim Online, 12*(3), 797-807.
- Değirmenci, H. (2014). İlk Okuma Öğretimi ve Teknoloji. İ. S. Erdem içinde, *Okuma Yazma Eğitimi ve Teknoloji* (Cilt 1, s. 29-48). Ankara: NOBEL Yayıncılık.
- Duman, Ü. (2020). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlik Algıları ile Sınıf İçi Ders İşleme Sürecindeki Soru Sorma Teknikleri Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), İstanbul: Marmara Üniversitesi Temel Eğitim Anabilim Dalı, İstanbul.

- Eker, C. (2014). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz-Yeterlik İnanç Düzeyleri Üzerine Bir Araştırma. Uşak Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 7(1), 162-178.
- Elgit, B. (2020). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlik İnançları ile Sınıf İçi Davranışlarının İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Adana.
- Ertmer, P. (2005). Teacher pedagogical beliefs: The final frontier in our quest for technology integration. *Educational Technology Research and Development, 53*, 25-39.
- Erkoç, K. (2017). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlik Algıları ile Problem Çözme Becerileri Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Atatürk Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Erzurum.
- Fackler, S., & Malmberg, L. E. (2016). Teachers' self-efficacy in 14 OECD countries: Teacher, student group, school and leadership effects. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 56, 185-195.
- Guo, Y., Justice, L. M., Sawyer, B., & Tompkins, V. (2011). Exploring factors related to preschool teachers' self-efficacy. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(5), 961-968.
- Gündoğmuş, N. (2013). Öğretmen Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgileri ile Öğrenme Stratejileri Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Necmettin Erbakan Üniversitesi, Konya.
- Güneş, A. M. (2016). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Sınıf Yönetim Becerileri, Teknoloji Kullanımları ve Öz Yeterlik İnançları Arasındaki İlişki. (Yayımlanmamış Doktora Tezi), Gazi Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Ankara.
- Gürbüz, E. (2012). Fen Bilimleri Öğretmen Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgilerindeki ve Öğretmen Öz Yeterlik İnançlarındaki Değişimlerin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), İstanbul Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İstanbul.
- Hamilton, C. (2013). An Investigation into the Relationships Between the Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge of University Teacher Education Faculty and Their Age, Rank, and Gender. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation), University of North Texas, Texas.
- Kaçar, T., & Beycioğlu, K. (2017). İlköğretim Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlik İnançlarının Çeşitli Değişkenler Açısından İncelenmesi. *Elementary Education Online*, *16*(4), 1753-1767.
- Kabakçı Yurdakul, I. (2011). Öğretmen adaylarının TPAB yeterliklerinin bilgi ve iletişim teknolojilerini kullanımları açısından incelenmesi. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Journal of Education, 40*, 397-408.
- Kahraman, S., Yılmaz, Z. A., Erkol, M., & Yalçın, S. A. (2013). Investigation of Pre-service Teachers' Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Educational Internet Use. *Elementary Education Online*, *12*(4), 1000-1015.
- Kandemir, M. (2015). Öz Yeterlik. B. E. Tekin, & Ş. I. Terzi içinde, *Eğitimde Pozitif Psikoloji Uygulamaları* (s. 39-74). Ankara: PEGEM.
- Karadeniz, Ş., & Vatanartıran, S. (2015). Primary School Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge. *Elementary Education Online*, 14(3), 1071-1028.
- Karakuyu, A. (2015). Bazı Değişkenlerin İlköğretim Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgilerine Katkılarının İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Mustafa Kemal Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Anabilim Dalı, Hatay.
- Karakuyu, Y., & Karakuyu, A. (2016). Motivasyon ve Öz Yeterliğin Sınıf Öğretmeni Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgilerine Katkısı. *Uşak Üniversitesi Eğitim Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 2(1), 89-100.

- Karalar, H., & Altan, B. A. (2016). Sınıf Öğretmeni Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Yeterliklerin ve Öğretmen Özyeterliklerinin İncelenmesi. *Cumhuriyet International Journal of Education*, 5(USOS Özel Sayı), 15-30.
- Karasar, N. (2008). Bilimsel Araştırma Yöntemleri. Ankara: Nobel Yayın Dağıtım.
- Kaya, S., & Dağ, F. (2013). Sınıf Öğretmenlerine Yönelik Teknolojik Pedagojik İçerik Bilgisi Ölçeği'nin Türkçeye Uyarlanması. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri*, 13(1), 291-306.
- Kilday, J. E., Lenser, M. L., & Miller, A. D. (2016). Considering students in teachers' self-efficacy: Examination of a scale for student-oriented teaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 56, 61-71.
- Klassen, R. M. (2009). Exploring the Validity of a Teachers' Self-Efficacy Scale in Five Countries. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 34(1), 67-76.
- Klassen, R. M., & Tze, V. M. (2014). Teachers' Self-Efficacy, Personality and Teaching Effectiveness: A Meta-Analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *12*, 59-76.
- Kıylık, D. (2016). Sınıf Öğretmeni Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Düzeylerinin Çeşitli Değişkenler Açısından İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi, Van.
- Koç, H., & Bursal, M. (2016). Öz Yeterlik: Bir Kavram Analizi. International Periodical for the Languages, Literature and History of Turkish or Turkic, 19(11), 63-80.
- Koehler, M. J., & Mishra, P. (2008). Introducing TPCK. A. C. (Ed.) içinde, *The handbook of technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPCK) for educators* (s. 3-29). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Koehler, M. J., Mishra, P., Akçaoğlu, M., & Rosenberg, J. M. (2013). The Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Framework for Teachers and Teachers Educators. *ICT Integrated Teacher Education: A Resource Book*, 1-8.
- Korkut, K., & Babaoğlan, E. (2012). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlik İnançları. Uluslararası Yönetim İktisat ve İşletme Dergisi, 8(16), 270-282.
- Kula, A. (2015). Öğretmen adaylarının teknolojik pedagojik alan bilgisi (TPAB) yeterliliklerinin incelenmesi: Bartın üniversitesi örneği. *Akademik Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi, 3*(2), 395-412.
- Kwon, K., Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. T., Sari, A. R., Khlaif, Z., Zhu, M., Nadir, H., & Gök, F. (2019). Teachers' Self-efficacy Matters: Exploring the Integration of Mobile Computing Device in Middle Schools. *TechTrends*, 63, 682-692.
- Lee, M. H., & Tsai, C. C. (2010). Exploring teachers' perceived self-efficacy and technological pedagogical content knowledge with respect to educational use of the World Wide Web. *Instr Sci*, 38, 1-21.
- Liu, Q., Zhang, S., & Wang, Q. (2015). Surveying Chinese In-Service K12 Teachers' Technology, Pedagogy, and Content Knowledge. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 55(1), 55-74.
- Martin, C. L. (2018). Correlational Analysis of Self-efficacy and Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge of Board-Certified Teachers. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation), Grand Canyon University, Arizona.
- MEB. (2018). 2023 Eğitim Vizyonu. 09.02.2021 tarihinde 2023 Eğitim Vizyonu: http://2023vizyonu.meb.gov.tr/doc/2023_EGITIM_VIZYONU.pdf adresinden alındı
- Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. (2009). What is technological pedagogical content knowledge? *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 9(1), 60-70.

- Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. J. (2006). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge: A Framework for Teacher Knowledge. *Teachers College Record*, 108(6), 1017-1054.
- Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. J. (2006, June). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge: A Framework for Teacher Knowledge. *Teachers College Record*, 108(6), 1017-1054.
- Önal, N. (2019). Öğretimde Kullanılabilecek Teknoloji Destekli Uygulamalar: Kelime Bulutu Oluşturma Araçları. N. Önal içinde, *Eğitimde Teknoloji Uygulamaları* (s. 2-14). Ankara: PEGEM.
- ÖYGM. (2017). *Öğretmenlik Mesleği Genel Yeterlikleri*. 30.03.2021 tarihinde Öğretmen Yetiştirme ve Geliştime Genel Müdürlüğü: http://oygm.meb.gov.tr/meb_iys_dosyalar/2017_12/11115355_YYRETMENLYK_MESLEYY_G ENEL_YETERLYKLERY.pdf adresinden alındı
- Pendergast, D., & Garvis, S. K. (2011). Pre-Service Student Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs: An Insight in to the Making of Teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *36*(12), 46-58.
- Savran-Gencer, A., & Cakiroglu, J. (2007). Turkish reservice science teachers' efficacy beliefs regarding science teaching and their beliefs about classroom management. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(5), 664-675.
- Selçuk, G. (2016). Öğretmen Adaylarının Yaşam Boyu Öğrenme Yeterlik Algıları ve Öz-Yeterlik İnançlarının Öğretmen Yetiştirme Programı Kapsamında İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Doktora Tezi), Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Lefkoşa.
- Sezer, B. (2015). Examining techno pedagogical knowledge competencies of teachers in terms of some variables. *Procedia Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 174, 208-215.
- Shoulders, T. L., & Krei, M. S. (2015). Rural High School Teachers' Self-Efficacy In Student Engagement, Instructional Strategies and Classroom Management. *American Secondary Education*, 44(1), 50-61.
- Shulman, L. (1986, February). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 15(2), 4-14.
- Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and Teaching: Foundations of the New Reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, 57(1), 1-22.
- Sökmen, Y. (2018). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz-yeterlik, Özerklik, İş Memnuniyeti, Öğretmen Katılımı ve Tükenmişliği Arasındaki İlişki: Bir Model Geliştirme Çalışması. (Yayımlanmamış Doktora Tezi), Atatürk Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Erzurum.
- Şahin, B. (2019). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlik İnançları, Mesleğe Yönelik Tutumları ve Yaşam Doyumlarının İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Burdur.
- Taşkın, Ç. Ş., & Hacıömeroğlu, G. (2010). Sınıf Öğretmeni Adaylarının Öz Yeterlik İnançları: Nicel ve Nitel Verilere Dayalı Bir İnceleme. *İnönü Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 11*(1), 21-40.
- Teo, T., & Milutinovic, V. (2015). Modelling the intention to use technology for teaching mathematics among pre-service teachers in Serbia. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, *31*(4), 363-380.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Johnson, D. (2011). Exploring literacy teachers' self-efficacy beliefs: Potential sources at play. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(4), 751-761.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Hoy, A. W., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Teacher Efficacy: Its Meaning and Measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68(2), 202-248.

- Tunçer, M. (2014). Türk İngilizce Öğretmen Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgileri ile Öğretmenlik Öz yeterlikleri Arasındaki İlişki. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), İstanbul Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İstanbul.
- Ünal, M. (2015). Öğretmen Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgilerinin ve Öğretmen Öz Yeterlik Algılarının İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Gazi Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Ankara.
- Wang, H., Hall, N. C., & Rahimi, S. (2015). Self-efficacy and causal attributions in teachers: Effects on burnout, job satisfaction, illness, and quitting intentions. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 47, 120-130.
- Willermark, S. (2018). Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge: A Review of Empirical Studies Published From 2011 to 2016. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *56*(3), 315-343.
- Wright, B., & Akgündüz, D. (2018). The relationship between technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) self-efficacy belief levels and the usage of Web 2.0 applications of pre-service science teachers. *World Journal on Educational Technology: Current Issues, 10*(1), 52-69.
- Yeşilyurt, E. (2013). Öğretmen Adaylarının Öğretmen Öz Yeterlik Algıları. *Elektronik Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 12(45), 88104.
- Yılmaz, M. U. (2020). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi ile Mesleki Profesyonelliği Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Çukurova Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Adana.
- Yılmaz, G. K. (2015). Türkiye'deki Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Çalışmalarının Analizi: Bir Meta-Sentez Çalışması. *Eğitim ve Bilim, 40*(178), 103-122.
- Yılmaz, M., Köseoğlu, P., Gerçek, C., & Soran, H. (2004). Öğretmen Öz Yeterlik İnancı. Bilim ve Aklın Aydınlığında Eğitim Dergisi, 5(58), 50-54.
- Yüngül, Y. (2018). Sınıf Öğretmeni Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Yeterlilikleri ile Teknoloji Kullanım Niyetleri Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Marmara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İstanbul.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). Self-Efficacy: An Essential Motive to Learn. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25, 82-91.
Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



The effect of the training program of digital game design and escape rooms on science and art center teachers' technology acceptance, digital game development self-efficacy and use of digital games*

Sibel YOLERİ ^{a*} ^(b), Gizem UYUMAZ ^b ^(b)

^a İzmir Democracy University, Turkey

^b Giresun University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Yoleri, S., & Uyumaz, G. (2021). The effect of the training program of digital game design and escape rooms on science and art center teachers' technology acceptance, digital game development self-efficacy and use of digital games. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 793-804.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords:	In this research, it is aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of digital game design and escape room training given to teachers working with gifted students in Science and Art Centers
Gifted students	within the scope of 4005 Science and Society Innovative Education Practices Program
Teachers	supported by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK)
Digital game	on their technology acceptance, use of digital games, and digital game development self-
Game design	efficacy. In this context, a single group pre-test post-test model was used in the study
Escape room	carried out with the experimental design. The sample group was determined according
	to criterion sampling, one of the purposeful sampling techniques. 30 teachers working in
	different disciplines in six Science and Art Centers in İzmir were included in the study.
	Within the scope of the research, six-day trainings were given to the teachers by eight
	field experts. As data collection tools, "knowledge and awareness test on the use of
	technology in education and digital games", "technology acceptance scale for teachers",
	"digital educational game development self-efficacy scale" and "the scale of benefiting
	from digital games in education" were used. Whether there is a significant difference
	between the mean scores was tested with the dependent samples t test when the normality
	assumption was met, and with the Wilcoxon signed ranks test when it was not. As a
	result of the analysis, it was determined that there was a significant difference between
	the use of digital games, technology acceptance, digital game development self-efficacy
	and achievement test scores, and these differences were in favor of the post-tests. In
Pasagrah Articla	addition, according to the scores obtained from the scales, it was determined that there
Research Alucie	was no significant difference in terms of the gender of the teachers and the education was
	effective for both genders.

1. Introduction

The acceleration of globalization and the advancements of information and communication technologies have increased the importance of information, access to information, production based on information and using information in business processes (Erten, 2019). The number of institutions doing business based on information and the number of employees with 21st century skills who do business based on information have increased significantly in recent years. According to the World Economic Forum's Future of Jobs Report, fifty percent of all workers will need to acquire new skills by 2025. Among these skills creativity

e-mail address: sibel.yoleri@idu.edu.tr

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1021845

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 18 Dec 2021; Accepted 22 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author. İzmir Democracy University, Turkey.

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

and innovation, critical thinking and problem solving, communication, collaboration, information management, effective use of technology, career and life skills, and cultural awareness stand out in most of the studies (Beers, 2006).

There are studies showing that educational digital games can be used effectively in the development of 21st century skills. Digital games offer the opportunity to learn by doing, by appealing to more than one sense (Dönmez Usta & Turan Güntepe, 2019). In this way, digital games may contain features that support 21st century skills such as complex problem solving, critical thinking, analytical thinking, etc. (Bayirtepe & Tüzün, 2007). Some of the reasons for using digital games in the classroom can be counted as attracting attention, maintaining motivation and interest, having rich visual content, shortening learning time, and supporting meaningful learning (Çakir, 2013; Doğusoy & İnal, 2006). Digital game-based learning can benefit educators thanks to its features such as the longer attention span of learners in these environments, the fact that these environments support lifelong learning, and the opportunity to easily teach any subject to individuals of all ages. (Prensky, 2001a, 2001b). In this regard, both educational institutions and teachers should equip and develop themselves to better meet the needs of the new generation (Çankaya & Karamete, 2008). Figure 2 shows the number of articles about digital game-based learning in web of science database by year.



Figure 1. Number of articles about digital game-based learning in web of science database by year (Search Date: October 1, 2021)

As can be seen in Figure 1, digital game-based learning is an issue that attracts the attention of researchers in the literature, and it can be said that the number of studies on this subject has increased even more after 2015. It can be predicted that the interest in this field will increase gradually, as game technology develops and game development becomes easier than in the past.

In recent years, escape rooms have emerged and started to be used for educational purposes. Escape rooms are team-based action games with tasks similar to those in digital games but played in real environments. Players need to figure out how to accomplish a task to gain something, usually escape a room in a limited amount of time. In order to do this, players have to discover clues, solve puzzles. Gamemaster is the director of the game, who designs the environment by arranging things, putting clues in hidden places, giving puzzles, etc., defines the rules of the game and briefs players about the game and tasks to be accomplished. Gamemaster can ask players to watch a video or read a story about the game. Game starts and players work together as teams by looking everywhere to find clues aggressively to be able to escape the room first. The

task can be quite complex that requires solving several clues, and puzzles which solving one clue or puzzle may lead to discover another clues and puzzles to be solved. Escape rooms require collaboration, problem solving, critical thinking, creative thinking, attention to details just like digital games (Jambhekar et al., 2020; Nicholson, 2015). Mayer and Toates (2016) stated that escape rooms take on the challenge and social participation of video games and expand this experience to make the real world part of the game. So, it can be said that escape rooms and digital games are similar in a way. On the other hand, applications of escape rooms in education are increasing, but many are not rigorously documented (Moura & Santos, 2019). Figure 2 shows the number of articles about escape rooms in web of science database by year.



Figure 2. Number of articles about escape rooms in web of science database by year (Search Date: October 1, 2021)

As can be seen in Figure 2, the topic of the escape rooms has attracted the attention of researchers especially in recent years (Borrego et al., 2017; Fuentes-Cabrera et al., 2020; Nicholson, 2015; Miller, 2015). In this context, the subject needs to be researched with different dimensions and new studies should be carried out. Moreover, it can be said that it will be beneficial for teachers to be trained in the development of digital games and Escape Rooms to design and develop useful digital content and activities for students. In this study, a training program was planned and implemented to improve teachers' awareness and skills on this subject. In this research, it is aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of digital game design and escape room training given to teachers working with gifted students in Science and Art Centers within the scope of 4005 Science and Society Innovative Education Practices Program supported by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK) on their technology acceptance, use of digital games, and digital game development self-efficacy.

2. Methodology

2.1. Research Model/Design

The quantitative research method was employed in the study. A single group pre-test and post-test quasiexperimental design that the researcher collects data before and after the experimental intervention (Fraenkel, Wallen, & Hyun, 2012) was used. This model helps to assess the significance of the difference between the pre-test and the post-test (Cresswell, 2016).

2.2. Data Collecting Tools

In this study, the Use of Technology and Digital Games in Education Achievement Test, which was developed by the researchers and used for assessing questions containing the theoretical topics covered were prepared. A total of 20 multiple-choice questions consisted of the item pool of the study. The questions in the pool and the table of specifications were examined regarding content validity from the perspectives of assessment and evaluation and field education by 3 experts per field. The questions were revised according to the feedback given by the experts.

Digital Educational Game Development Self-Efficacy Scale: The scale was developed by Kelleci and Kulaksız (2020). Consisting of 21 items, the scale has a two-factor structure defined as "Education" and "Game Development". The Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient of all items was found to be 0.972, while this value was calculated as 0.836 for the first sub-dimension and 0.973 for the second sub-dimension.

Technology Acceptance Scale for Teachers: This is a measurement tool adapted to determine teachers' approaches to gamification and developed to better understand teachers' use and acceptance of technology. The scale was adapted to Turkish culture by Ursavaş, Şahin and Mcilroy (2014). Validity and reliability analyze were carried out within the scope of the adaptation of the scale to Turkish culture, and a total of 37 items were gathered under 11 factors (perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude towards use, subjective norm, self-efficacy, facilitating situations, technological complexity, anxiety, perceived fun, relevance, and behavioral intention). In the analyzes conducted for the adaptation of the scale, it was stated that the lowest value of the Cronbach Alpha coefficient was 0.798 for the self-efficacy factor and the highest one was 0.909 for the perceived fun factor.

Utilizing Digital Games Attitude Scale: This scale was developed by Gormez (2020) in order to determine teachers' attitudes towards using digital games. Consisting of 17 items, the scale has a 4-factor structure. These factors are attitudes about using digital games in the lesson, attitudes towards the negative aspects of digital games, attitudes towards the positive aspects of digital games and the effects of digital games on learning in the classroom and students. In the analyzes performed to develop the scale, the Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient was calculated as 0.916 for all items, 0.903 for the first sub-dimension, 0.855 for the second sub-dimension, 0.755 for the third sub-dimension, and 0.838 for the fourth sub-dimension.

2.3. Study Group

Having been conducted in order to improve the knowledge and skills of Science and Art Center teachers with innovative educational practices for gifted individuals, this study has determined 30 teachers working in science and art high schools located in Izmir province as the target audience. With the criterion sampling, which is one of the purposeful sampling methods, the participants were determined from among the teachers working in the science and art centers in İzmir (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2011). An online form has been sent to Science and Art Centers for the identification of participants. The selection of the participants was made based on the information that the participants filled out in the forms. Utmost attention was paid to the fact that teachers from each science and art center took part in the study, and participants were accepted from six science and art centers located in Izmir province. Although 30 teachers participated in the project, they were not included in the study due to the problems experienced with the forms of a teacher and the evaluation was conducted with 29 teachers. The study group of the research consists of 29 Science and Arts Centers teachers, 18 (62.1%) of whom were female and the remaining 11 (37.9%) were male.

2.4. Data Analysis

Within the scope of the study, firstly missing values and outliers were examined. The outliers were analyzed by converting item scores on the scale to standard z scores (Tabachnick & Fidel, 2001). There are no individuals whose standard scores were outside the ± 4 z range (Mertler & Vannata, 2005) and no missing values in the data set. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05. SPSS (version 26.0) and TAP: Test Analysis Program (version 19.1.4) package programs were used in the analysis.

The normality of the test score distributions of both pre and post tests were investigated. Corresponding results are represented in Table 1.

Table 1.

Tests of Normality

	Shapi	iro-Will	2		
Score	Statistic	df	Sig.	Skewness	Kurtosis
Utilising Pre-test	,980	29	,837	-0,115	-0,647
Utilising Post-test	,982	29	,890	-0,261	-0,003
Self-efficacy Pre-test	,936	29	,080	0,957	1,464
Self-efficacy Post-test	,947	29	,151	-0,109	-0,827
Acceptance Pre-test	,966	29	,465	0,037	-0,734
Acceptance Post-test	,965	29	,425	0,039	-0,714
Achievement Pre-test	,903	29	,011	-0,548	-0,343
Achievement Post-test	,921	29	,033	-0,361	0,200

When Table 1 is examined, it can be observed that Utilising pre-test and post-test grades and Acceptance pre-test grades were normally distributed. Therefore, parametric techniques (paired samples t test) were employed when these results were being analyzed. For other grades that are present in the Table 1, non-parametric techniques (the Wilcoxon signed-ranks test) were used.

The normality of the test score distributions in female and male groups of both pre and post tests were investigated. Corresponding results are represented in Table 2.

Table 2.

Tests of Normality

	Shapiro-Wilk					
	Gender	Statistic	df	Sig.	Skewness	Kurtosis
Utilising Pre-test	Female	,957	18	,545	-0,602	-0,217
	Male	,934	11	,454	0,623	-0,347
Utilising Post-test	Female	,930	18	,191	-0,667	0,382
-	Male	,939	11	,504	0,734	0,059
Self-efficacy Pre-test	Female	,904	18	,069	0,990	0,482
	Male	,944	11	,568	0,147	-1,325
Self-efficacy Post-test	Female	,955	18	,502	0,057	-0,953
	Male	,937	11	,488	-0,410	0,107
Acceptance Pre-test	Female	,960	18	,608	0,135	-0,782
	Male	,984	11	,983	-0,009	-0,299
Acceptance Post-test	Female	,954	18	,494	0,273	-0,669
	Male	,919	11	,307	0,129	-1,609
Achievement Pre-test	Female	,942	18	,319	-0,300	-0,270
	Male	,813	11	,014	-0,969	-0,065
Achievement Post-test	Female	,941	18	,299	-0,322	-0,013
	Male	,864	11	,066	0,457	-1,466

When Table 2 is examined, it can be observed that Self-efficacy pre-test, Acceptance post-test and Achievement pre-test and post-test male grades were not normally distributed. For these grades, non-parametric techniques (Mann Whitney U test) were used. For other grades that are present in the Table 2, parametric techniques (the independent samples t-test) were used.

2.5. Validity and Reliability

The reliability proofs were obtained with Cronbach's alpha for scales and KR-20 (Kuder-Richardson Formula 20, which is a special case of coefficient alpha) coefficient for achievement test.

Cronbach's alpha internal consistency coefficients calculated to determine the reliability of data collected are presented in Table 3.

Table 3.

Reliability Coefficients

	Acceptance Pre-test	Acceptance Post-test	Utilising Pre-test	Utilising Post-test	Self-efficacy Pre-test	Self-efficacy Post-test
Cronbach's alpha	0,911	0,889	0,896	0,869	0,972	0,975
Number of Item	38	38	17	17	21	21

When Table 3 is analyzed, it is concluded that the Cronbach's alpha internal consistency coefficients for all scores have high reliability levels (Özdamar, 2004).

Item difficulty index (between zero and one) and item discrimination index (vary from -1.00 to 1.00) are calculated in item analyses of a test. After analyzing the gathered data, the final questionnaire included 11 questions that have the best distinctiveness and have mid-level difficulty while considering the distribution of the questions with respect to the gains. Items whose difficulty levels were lower than 0.30 or higher than 0.70 were removed because they were too difficult or too easy items. Items whose discrimination levels were lower than 0.30 were removed because they were not distinctive.

The final item and test analysis results are presented in Table 3.

Table 4.

Item	Item Diff.	Item Disc.	Point Biserial	
1	0,50	0,69	0,59	
2	0,76	0,46	0,49	
3	0,60	0,73	0,66	
4	0,53	0,42	0,44	Mean Item Difficulty=0,531
5	0,31	0,37	0,49	Mean Discrimination Index=0,526
6	0,31	0,51	0,53	Mean Point Biserial=0,510
7	0,53	0,76	0,58	
8	0,66	0,35	0,37	KR-20=0,717
9	0,60	0,44	0,46	Split-Half Reliability (with Spearman-Brown)=0,757
10	0,47	0,53	0,54	
11	0.57	0.54	0.45	

Item and Test Analysis

When Table 4 is examined, it can be observed that the minimum item difficulty is 0,310, maximum item difficulty is 0,759. Item difficulty < 0.30 = difficult; 0.30-0.70 = moderate; > 0.70 = easy (Reynolds, Livingstone & Willson, 2009). The minimum discrimination index is 0,350, maximum discrimination index is 0,758. Item discrimination <0.20 should be discarded, 0.20-0.29 should be fixed and improved, 0.30-0.39 pretty good, 0.40 and above very good (Atılgan, Kan ve Aydın, 2017). The minimum point biserial is 0,374, maximum point biserial is 0,656. The KR-20 reliability coefficient was found to be 0.717. The test is considered reliable if it has the reliability index of at least 0.70 (Schober, Boer & Schwarte, 2018).

Wilcoxon Signed Ranks results are presented in Table 5.

Table 5.

Difference between pre-test scores and post-test scores of the participants-1

		Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	Z	Sig.
Self-efficacy Post-test - Self-	Negative Ranks	2 ^a	1,50	3,00	-4,556 ^b	,000
efficacyPre-test	Positive Ranks	26 ^b	15,50	403,00		
-	Ties	1 ^c				
	Total	29				
Achievement Post-test -	Negative Ranks	1 ^d	15,50	15,50	-4,379 ^b	,000,
AchievementPre-test	Positive Ranks	28 ^e	14,98	419,50		
	Ties	0^{f}				
	Total	29				
a & d \cdot nost < nre b & e \cdot nost > nre c	& f : nost - nre					

& d. : post < pre, b. & e. : post > pre, c. & f. : post = pre

When Table 5 was examined, it was observed that the difference between pre-test and post-test for both Self-efficacy (Z=4,556, p=0,000) and Achievement (Z=4,379, p=0,000) was indeed statistically significant. This difference is in favour of positive ranks, which means on both scores, teachers' post-test scores were higher than their pre-test scores. Given "Digital Game Design and Escape Rooms Training Program" increased the relevant scores of the participants.

The paired samples t test results are presented in Table 6.

Table 6.

Difference between pre-test scores and post-test scores of the participants-2

	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)
Utilising Pre-test	64,6207	29	8,39393	-4,158	28	,000
Utilising Post-test	69,5517	29	7,65127			
Acceptance Pre-test	138,2414	29	16,86004	-2,196	28	,037
Acceptance Post-test	143,5172	29	14,66195			

When Table 6 was examined, it was observed that the difference between pre-test and post-test for both Utilising ($t_{(28)}=4,158$, p=0,000) and Acceptance ($t_{(28)}=2,196$, p=0,037) was indeed statistically significant. On both scores, teachers' post-test scores were higher than their pre-test scores. Given "Digital Game Design and Escape Rooms Training Program" increased the relevant scores of the participants.

The results of the independent samples t-test is presented in Table 7 and the results of Mann Whitney U test were presented in Table 8.

	Gender	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)
Utilising Pre-test	Female	18	65,1667	8,27647	,433	20,044	,669
	Male	11	63,7273	8,91169			
Utilising Post-test	Female	18	69,8889	8,16657	,299	27	,768
	Male	11	69,0000	7,07107			
Self-efficacy Post-test	Female	18	82,8889	13,19933	-,595	27	,557
	Male	11	85,8182	12,25413			
Acceptance Pre-test	Female	18	136,7222	17,90434	-,614	27	,545

Table 7. The significance of the difference between gender-1

Ν	Male 11	140,7273	15,49252

	Gender	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	Sig. (2-tailed)
Self-efficacy Pre-test	Female	18	13,75	247,50	76,500	,311
	Male	11	17,05	187,50		
Acceptance Post-test	Female	18	13,53	243,50	72,500	,233
	Male	11	17,41	191,50		
Achievement Pre-test	Female	18	13,00	234,00	63,000	,096
	Male	11	18,27	201,00		
Achievement Post-	Female	18	13,89	250,00	79,000	,358
test	Male	11	16,82	185,00		

Table 8.	
The significance of the difference betw	een gender-2

When Table 7 and Table 8 were examined, it can be seen that the difference between gender was not statistically significant (p>0.05) for all scale scores. This result indicates that the score levels in both groups were similar.

3. Findings and Discussions

This study aims to evaluate the effectiveness of digital game design and escape rooms training provided by a TUBITAK project supported by 4005 Science and Society Innovative Educational Applications to teachers working with special talented students in Science and Art Centers on their technology acceptance, use of digital games, and digital game development. The primary aims of the project were to inform Science and Art Center teachers about new approaches and to increase the variety of teaching approaches and methods they will use in their lessons. Education is an important factor in the development of societies. Educated individuals, who are the most valuable resources of their societies, need to have certain qualifications in order to realize this harmony (AACU, 2007; National Association of Colleges and Employers, 2019). According to the report "The Future of Professions" of the World Economic Forum, fifty percent of all employees will need to acquire new skills by 2025 as technological adaptations increase. Among these skills, "Analytical thinking and innovation", "active learning and learning strategies", "complex problem solving", "critical thinking and analysis", "creativity, originality and initiative", "technology use", "technological design and programming" come to the fore. Teachers are the people who will set an example for the student in every sense and will provide them with the education according to the norms of 21st century. For this reason, the development of teachers' skills is a situation that should be given great importance. In a study conducted with pre-service teachers, these teachers mentioned that among the things to be done to acquire 21st century skills, they need studies mostly under "information, media and technology skills" and then "21st century support systems", "life and career skills", "learning and renewal skills" and "basic topics and themes" respectively (Erten, 2019; Ndibalema, 2020).

According to the results obtained from the research, it is seen that the digital game development selfefficacy and success of science and art center teachers increased after digital game design and escape rooms training. In their study, Martins and Oliveira (2018) revealed that teachers' digital educational game development competencies were low. In the same study, it was emphasized that teachers with high digital game development skills also increase the motivation and learning levels of their students. In the studies, it has been determined that teachers faced various problems in accepting technology and integrating it into their lessons, and they needed support, and if they receive training, they could develop positive perceptions in this regard (Robin, 2008).

Another result of the study is that after digital game design and escape rooms training, science and art center teachers' levels of using digital games and accepting technology have increased. Many teachers consider digital games only as motivational tools and cannot adequately use their educational benefits (Gaudelli, & Taylor, 2011; Schrader, Zheng, & Young, 2006). Whereas digital games allow students to learn by doing and help them develop transferable knowledge and skills by allowing them to apply newly learned skills in various situations (An & Bonk, 2009; Shaffer, Squire, Halverson, & Gee, 2005; Kaldırım, & Tavşanlı, 2021). According to several research results, the integration and use of digital educational games in the school environment could effectively contribute to the reformation of the educational system (Deng et al., 2020; Hawlitschek, & Joeckel, 2017). In their study, Takeuchi and Vaala (2014) reported that more than half of the teachers use digital games to motivate and reward students. The results of the studies conducted by Sardone and Devlin-Scherer (2010) and Kennedy-Clark, Galstaun and Anderson (2011) showed that the education given to pre-service teachers about digital games contributed to their developing positive attitudes about using them.

The pre-test and post-test scores of the training given within the scope of the study were not differentiated according to gender. In other words, the training provided did not make a difference in terms of gender. This result shows that there are no examples or applications specific to only one group in the trainings conducted and that they are suitable for teachers of both genders. In their study, Kozikoglu and Altunova (2018) found that the pre-service teachers' perceptions of 21st century skills such as information and media technology or learning and innovation were at a high level and there was no significant difference according to gender. Ayra and Köserlioğlu (2016) did not find a significant difference in the teaching self-efficacy beliefs between male and female teachers.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

As a result of the study, it has been revealed that ensuring the sustainability of learning is only possible through the possession of various technological skills, and it is necessary to develop these knowledge and skills on a constant basis. In order to develop the skills that individuals should have and need, training and education programs should be supported and strengthened in this direction. Then, it should be ensured that the awareness of teachers and teacher candidates who will take part in this education and training should be increased and raised, and that they should be equipped and become competent with these skills first. With the dissemination and diversification of the trainings provided within the scope of the study, it will be possible for teachers to reach innovative methods and techniques in order to gain these skills. The teacher is an important factor in the learning and development of gifted students, and the increase of teachers' professional development will eventually increase student motivation and success. The project is primarily aimed at creating an impact on teachers, and this created effect shall have an impact on the success and motivation of students with special abilities.

Although the training provided within the scope of the study are effective, there are some limitations. Teachers working in Science and Art Centers throughout Turkey could not be included in the study due to the pandemic. In later project calls, this scope can be expanded and a new application can be made. The

project topic and trainings have been planned by reviewing the current developments and needs, but in future studies, topics can be determined by analyzing the needs before planning the training.

Acknowledgements: The project team gratefully acknowledges the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) for supporting the project (Project Number: 121B271).

References

- An, Y., & Bonk, C. J. (2009). Designing digital game-based learning environments. *TechTrends*, 53(3), 43-48.
- Association of American Colleges and Universities (2007). College learning for the new global century: A report from the national leadership council for liberal education & America's promise. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED495004
- Atılgan, H., Kan, A., & Aydın, B. (2017). *Measurement and evaluation in education* (10th Edition). Anı publishing.
- Ayra, M., & Kösterelioğlu, İ. (2016). Öğretmenlerin mesleki öz-yeterlik inançlarının çeşitli değişkenler açısından incelenmesi. *Gümüşhane Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Elektronik Dergisi*, 7(17), 81-101.
- Bayirtepe, E., & Tüzün, H. (2007). Oyun-tabanlı öğrenme ortamlarının öğrencilerin bilgisayar dersindeki başarıları ve öz-yeterlik algıları üzerine etkileri. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 33, 41–54.
- Beers, S. Z. (2006). 21st century skills: Preparing students for their future. https://cosee.umaine.edu/files/coseeos/21st_century_skills.pdf
- Borrego, C., Fernández, C., Blanes, I., & Robles, S. (2017). Room escape at class: Escape games activities to facilitate the motivation and learning in computer science. *JOTSE*, *7*, 162–171.
- Cresswell, J.W. (2016). Araştırma deseni nitel, nicel ve karma yöntem yaklaşımları. (S. B. Demir, Trans.) Eğiten Kitap.
- Çakir, H. (2013). Bilgisayar oyunlarına ilişkin ailelerin yaklaşımı ve öğrenci üzerindeki etkilerin belirlenmesi. *Mersin Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 9(2), 138–150. https://doi.org/10.17860/efd.89744
- Çankaya, S., & Karamete, A. (2008). Eğitsel bilgisayar oyunlarının öğrencilerin matematik dersine ve eğitsel bilgisayar oyunlarına yönelik tutumlarına etkisi. *Mersin Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 4(2), 115–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.17860/efd.31845</u>
- Deng, L., Wu, S., Chen, Y., & Peng, Z. (2020). Digital game-based learning in a Shanghai primary-school mathematics class: A case study. J. Comput. Assist. Learn, 36, 709–717.
- Doğusoy, B., & İnal, Y. (2006). Çok kullanıcılı bilgisayar oyunları ile öğrenme. VII. Ulusal Fen Bilimleri ve Matematik Eğitimi Kongresi.
- Dönmez Usta, N., & Turan Güntepe, E. (2019). Dijital oyun tasarlamanın öğrenmeye Etkisi. *Bingöl Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 9(18), 1215–1234. https://doi.org/10.29029/busbed.562553
- Erten, P. (2019). Preservice teachers' perceptions of 21st century skills competence and their views on gaining these skills. *Milli Eğitim, 49*(227), 33–64.

- Fraenkel, J.R., Wallen, N.E., & Hyun, H.H. (2012). How to design and evaluate research in education. McGraw-Hill.
- Fuentes-Cabrera, A., Parra-González, M.E., López-Belmonte, J., & Segura-Robles, A. (2020). Learning Mathematics with Emerging Methodologies—The Escape Room as a Case Study. *Mathematics*, 8, 1586.
- Gaudelli, W., & Taylor, A. (2011). Modding the global classroom? Serious video games and teacher reflection. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 11(1), 70-91.
- Hawlitschek, A., & Joeckel, S. (2017). Increasing the effectiveness of digital educational games: the effects of a learning instruction on students' learning, motivation and cognitive load. *Comput. Educ.* 72, 79–86.
- Jambhekar, K., Pahls, R. P., & Deloney, L. A. (2020). Benefits of an escape room as a novel educational activity for radiology residents. *Academic Radiology*, 27(2), 276–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2019.04.021
- Kaldırım, A. & Tavşanlı, Ö. F. (2021). A thematic review of using digital teaching technologies in Turkish language teaching. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(2), 70-95.
- Kennedy-Clark, S., Galstaun, V., & Anderson, K. (2011). Using game based inquiry learning to meet the changing directions of science education. In Proceedings of ASCILITE - Australian Society for Computers in Learning in Tertiary Education Annual Conference 2011 (pp. 702–714). Australasian Society for Computers in Learning in Tertiary Education.
- Kozikoğlu, İ, & Altunova, N. (2018). Öğretmen adaylarının 21. yüzyıl becerilerine ilişkin öz-yeterlik algılarının yaşam boyu öğrenme eğilimlerini yordama gücü [The Predictive Power of Prospective Teachers' Self-efficacy Perceptions of 21st Century Skills for Their Lifelong Learning Tendencies]. Yükseköğretim ve Bilim Dergisi, 8(3), 522-531. Doi: 10.5961/jhes.2018.293.
- Martins, A.R., & Oliveira, L.R. (2018, June). Students as Creators of Educational Games-Learning to Use Simple Frameworks and Tools to Empower Students as Educational Game Designers. In *EdMedia*+ *Innovate Learning* (pp. 1210-1215). Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).
- Mayer, B., & Toates, L. (2016). All about escape rooms. *School Library Journal*. https://www.slj.com/?detailStory=all-about-escape-rooms
- Mertler, C.A., & Vannatta, R.A. (2005). Multiple regression. Advanced and multivariate statistical *methods*, 3rd Edition, Pyrczak, Los Angeles.165-198.
- Miller, S. (2015). The art of the escape room. Retrieved from <u>https://www.newsweek.com/2015/05/01/art-escape-room-323150.html</u>
- Moura, A., & Santos, I. L. (2019). Escape room in education: Gamify learning to engage students and learn Maths and Languages. In B. D. Silva, J. A. Lencastre, M. Bento, & A. J. Osório (Eds.), Experiences and Perceptions of Pedagogical Practices with Game-Based Learning & Gamification (pp. 179– 194). Research Centre on Education (CIEd) Institute of Education, University of Minho.
- Ndibalema, P. (2020). Unlocking the potential of ICT for Transformative Learning among youth: A path to 21st century competencies. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, *3*(3), 245-271.
- National Association of Colleges and Employers. (2019). Job outlook 2019. https://www.odu.edu/content/dam/odu/offices/cmc/docs/nace/2019-nace-job-outlook-survey.pdf
- Nicholson, S. (2015). Peeking behind the locked door: A survey of escape room facilities. In White Paper (pp. 1–35). http://scottnicholson.com/pubs/erfacwhite.pdf

Prensky, M. (2001a). Digital game-based learning. McGraw-Hill.

- Prensky, M. (2001b). Digital natives, digital immigrants part 1. On the Horizon, 9(5), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1108/10748120110424816
- Reynolds, C.R., Livingstone, R.B., & V. Willson, V. (2009). *Measurement and assessment in education* (2nd edition), Pearson Education.
- Robin, B.R. (2008). Digital storytelling: a powerful technology tool for the 21st century classroom. *Theory into Practice*, 47, 220-228.
- Sardone, N., & Devlin-Scherer, R. (2010). Teacher candidate responses to digital games: 21st century skills development. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42(4), 409–425.
- Schober, P., Boer, C., & L. Schwarte, L. (2018). Correlation coefficients: Appropriate use and interpretation, Anesth Analg., 126(5), 1763-1768.
- Schrader, P. G., Zheng, D., & Young, M. (2006). Teachers' perceptions of video games: MMOGs and the future of preservice teacher education. *Innovate*, 2(3), 1-7.
- Shaffer, D.W., Squire, K.R., Halverson, R., & Gee, J.P. (2005). Video games and the future of learning. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87(2), 104-111.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidel, L.S. (2001). Using multivarite statistics. Allyn and Bacon.
- Takeuchi, L M., & Vaala, S. (2014). Level up learning: A national survey on teaching with digital games. <u>http://www.joanganzcooneycenter.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2014/10/jgcc_leveluplearning_final.pdf</u>

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Examination of technology acceptance and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers who are involved in distance education practices during the pandemic process

Ozan Deniz KIYICI ^a* ^(b), Filiz Tuba DİKKARTIN ÖVEZ ^b

^a Ministry of National Education, Turkey ^b Balikesir University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Kıyıcı, O. D. & Dikkartın Övez, F. T. (2021). Examination of technology acceptance and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers who are involved in distance education practices during the pandemic process. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 805-821.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Technology acceptance Technological pedagogical content knowledge Distance education	Distance education has become an important opportunity for teachers who do not use technology or use it little in learning environments to use ICT tools such as graphic tablets, interactive content and dynamic geometry software by requiring them to perform their courses with technological tools. In this regard, the present study aims to examine the technology acceptance and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers in the distance education process that has been put into practice due to the impact of the pandemic on a global scale. In the study, exploratory correlational and causal-comparative research models were used. The sample of the study consists of 223 teachers selected from the mathematics teachers who perform mathematics education practices through distance education with criterion sampling, one of the purposive sampling methods. The personal information form, Technology Acceptance Scale for Teachers and TPACK Scale were used as data collection tools. In order to examine whether the technology acceptance scores and TPACK levels differed according to various variables,
Research/Review Article	the independent t-test and the analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) were applied.

1. Introduction

Along with the pandemic called Covid-19, the education and instruction system has been affected, as have many sectors around the world. As a result of the search for measures to minimize the negative effects of the pandemic, emergency distance education has been put into practice in many countries and education activities have been continued. Distance education, which also existed before, has become an essential part of education at all levels after the pandemic. Thus, students and teachers who have not had any distance education experience before have found themselves as parts of distance education. Although some universities in Turkey have experience in distance education, distance education has been used for the first time in schools under the Ministry of National Education (MNE).

Distance learning is defined as the development of a student's knowledge or behavior during times when a student and a teacher cannot share the same environment due to situations limited by time or distance (King, Young, Driver-Richmond and Schrader, 2001). In other words, distance education is a system in which

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1012204

Received 19 Oct 2021; Revised 23 Dec 2021; Accepted 23 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



^{*} Corresponding author. Ministry of National Education, Turkey. e-mail address: <u>ozankiyici@gmail.com</u>

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

education is maintained with the help of technology without the need for students and teachers to be together in the same environment (İşman, 2011). The historical development of distance education, which exists in the literature but is becoming even more significant today, began with printed materials based on correspondence, the so-called first-generation correspondence model. It can be listed as follows; the second-generation multimedia model, with the addition of technologies such as audio and video to printed materials, the third-generation telelearning model with the addition of telecommunications technologies to enable simultaneous training opportunities, the fourth-generation-flexible learning model that emerged with the development of internet-based access technologies and the fifth-generation intelligent flexible learning model including campus learning systems based on increased use of the internet (Taylor, 2001). It has become a necessity of our era to take advantage of the opportunities provided by technology in distance education, of which philosophy of emergence is the freedom of time and space to students and teachers (Bağrıaçık Yılmaz and Karataş, 2020).

Distance education can be performed in two different ways, synchronous and asynchronous. Synchronous distance education is defined as a type of distance education that can be performed in the form of teleconference or online chat, where there are simultaneous interactions between the student and the teacher, whereas asynchronous distance education is defined as a type of distance education in which there is no simultaneous interaction between the student and the teacher, the video of the course content is watched by the student, and web or server-based education is provided (King et al., 2001; Yorganci, 2014). In the era that we are going through, the students are directed to the content on the Educational Informatics Network (EBA), the new content of the courses is provided to the students asynchronously via television channels prepared for distance learning. Currently, courses are performed synchronously via some web conferencing tools.

King et al. (2001) states that traditional face-to-face education and distance education have different opportunities, and in some cases there are times when distance education may be even superior. By combining distance education and technology, it is possible to create environments where student-teacher interaction is maintained as in face-to-face training, educational content is visually enriched and interactive tools in which the student can participate effectively in the process are used (Akyürek, 2020; Odabaş, 2003).

The complete digitization of the educational process makes the digital literacy levels of today's students and teachers living in the information era an essential tool. Although the students who are familiar with technology and actively use technology, identified as digital natives, master the use of technology, teacher guidance is required on the effective use of information and communication technologies (Karabulut, 2015; MNE, 2020). In this case, it becomes significant for teachers to master the ICT tools they use in the distance learning process, to correctly determine which ICT tool to use in which conditions, to ensure that students interact by providing a variety of ICT tools, and to have competence, perception, and attitudes towards the ICT tools used (Ursavaş, Şahin, and McIlroy, 2014).

Mathematics is regarded as a discipline that has little effect when using plain language by its nature and for which the success of students increases in learning environments where different teaching methods and ICT tools are used (Aydos, 2015; Baz, 2016; Öz, 2015; Zaranis, 2016). Bringing ICT tools to the classrooms by teachers may be limited to the use of smart boards or computers only due to situations such as the lack of sufficient infrastructure, classes without internet access, and the fact that not every student has a tablet or computer that they can use during the lesson. This may lead to the fact that not every student can be effectively involved in the process. In addition, it is known that some teachers do not deviate from traditional methods and that they carry out classroom activities based solely on the exam system. With the transition of the education process to distance education, although it is due to a sudden obligation, students need a phone, tablet, or computer in order to attend the lesson. That each student participating in the course will have a technological device, provides a great opportunity to integrate ICT tools into mathematics courses during the distance learning process. With the effective design of the learning environment, all students participating in the course can be effectively involved in ICT integrated courses. While integrating

ICT into the learning-teaching process, various models have been developed in which the stages of the integration process are determined, the integration process or the elements of integration are explained (Mazman and Usluel, 2011).

In the literature, we can see studies that compare distance education environments (Herand and Hatipoğlu, 2014; İzmirli and Akyüz, 2017), examine distance education from the perspective of academicians (Durak and Çankaya, 2020), examine the views of teacher candidates from different branches on distance education (Karakuş, Ucuzsatar, Karacaoğlu, Esendemir, and Bayraktar, 2020; Karatepe, Küçükgençay and Peker, 2020), and examine the opinions of teachers on distance education practices during the Covid-19 pandemic period (Bakioğlu and Çevik, 2020; Başaran, Doğan, Karaoğlu, and Şahin, 2020; Bayburtlu, 2020; Demir and Özdaş, 2020; Hebebci, Bertiz, and Alan, 2020; Kocayiğit and Uşun, 2020; Kurnaz, Kaynar, Barışık and Doğrukök, 2020). Similarly, in the research carried on the attitudes of teachers towards the use of technology while teaching mathematics during the covid-19 pandemic period, it has been determined that teachers have a positive attitude towards technology in terms of behavioral commitment and trust, and a highly positive attitude in terms of affective participation (Marpa, 2020). In the study carried out on the awareness of teachers of the Covid-19 pandemic and their experiences with the distance education process that emerged in this process, institutional readiness and perceptions of difficulties, it was found that the awareness of teachers of the pandemic was high, and that there was a strong relationship between readiness for distance education and the duration of teaching experience and specialization in distance education (Alea, Fabrea, Roldan and Farooqi, 2020). Also, another study concluded that mathematics teachers use technology regularly and participate in online activities to improve themselves (Perienen, 2020).

With the development of ICT tools, interest in the use of technology in educational environment has increased. It is noted that the motivation, knowledge and skills of teachers about information technologies have a great impact on the integration of ICT tools in learning environments, and it is necessary to better understand the use and acceptance of technology by teachers (Ursavaş et al., 2014). Many researchers have studied on revealing how people would react to the changes they experienced and their resistance to using new technologies with the Technology Acceptance Model (Davis, 1989). Similarly, Rogers' (1995) Theory, Diffusion of Innovations, offered a five-step model for the adoption and acceptance of new technologies. Individuals who know innovation evaluates the characteristics related to innovation with variables such as their own characteristics, socio-economic differences. As a result of the evaluation, the individuals begin to use innovation, reassess, and explain their own decision on the acceptance of innovation. Thus, steps to provide explanations have been taken for the adoption or rejection of individuals by adapting to the constantly evolving technology (Niess, Ronau, Shafer, Driskell, Harper, Johnston, Browning, Özgün-Koca, Kersaint, 2009).

In addition, it is seen significant that mathematics teachers have the necessary knowledge to integrate teaching and technology in the process of distance mathematics education (Dikkartın Övez and Akyüz, 2013). With the global pandemic, the transition to distance education in the education system has made it mandatory for teachers who do not use technology or use it little in learning environments to conduct their courses with technological tools. Due to the nature of the mathematics course, the use of graphic tablets to perform actions such as writing and drawing, interactive videos, interactive content developed with web 2.0 tools, and ICT tools such as dynamic geometry software have created an important opportunity to ensure active participation of students in the course and to enrich the learning environment. In this regard, the objective of the study has been set as to examine the technology acceptance and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers in the distance education process that has been put into practice due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on a global scale. The problem situations for this objective are listed as follows:

• At what levels are the technology acceptance and TPACK competency of mathematics teachers?

- Is there a significant difference between the technology acceptance and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers according to various variables (gender, age, professional seniority, department graduated from, in-service training status, graphic tablet usage, technology usage level)?
- Is there a significant relationship between the technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers?

2. Methodology

2.1. Research Model/Design

In this research, the survey model was adopted among the quantitative research methods. In addition, the causal-comparison approach was also used among the relational screening models as the research aims to evaluate the technology acceptances and TPACK proficiency of mathematics teachers in terms of gender, age, year of study, graduated department, in-service retrieval status, graphic tablet use, technology usage level. The correlational approach was adopted among the relational screening models to examine the relationship between technology acceptance of mathematics teachers and the TPACK proficiency levels. In addition, the relational models are used in examining whether there is any relationship between two or more variables and the degree of that relationship; And in obtaining clues about cause and effect, and for better understanding of the facts examined (Büyüköztürk, Akgün, Demirel, Karadeniz & Çakmak, 2016; Karasar, 2015).

2.2. Data Collecting Tools.

A three-part questionnaire was used to collect the data of the study. The first part contains a personal information form created by the researchers to determine the demographic status (gender, age, professional seniority, type of school, department graduated from, type of graduation, etc.) of the mathematics teachers participating in the study. In the second part, the Technology Acceptance Scale for Teachers: T-TAS developed by Ursavaş et al. (2014) was used to determine the technology acceptance levels of mathematics teachers. In the third part, the Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Scale, which was adapted into Turkish by Dikkartın Övez and Akyüz (2013), and which measures TPACK levels only for the mathematics course, of which reliability and validity were tested, was used to determine the TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers.

T-TAS is a five-point likert type scale consisting of a total of 37 items developed by Ursavaş et al. (2014). The scale contains five options in the form of strongly disagree (1), disagree (2), uncertain (3), agree (4), strongly agree (5). While evaluating the T-TAS scores, which are found by dividing the sum of the answers given by the participants to the scale questions by the number of questions in the questionnaire, the scale 1.00-1.80: strongly disagree, 1.81-2.60 disagree, 2.61-3.40 uncertain, 3.41-4.20 agree, 4.21-5.00 strongly agree will be used. In addition, when the level of technology use is considered with the scale, mathematics teachers are asked what level they see themselves more. These levels are listed as follows (Ursavaş, 2014): *Introduction*: Inexperienced but willing in technology use. At this stage, an educator either uses the technology very little or does not use it at all.

Adoption: Using technology to support traditional education. At this stage, the technology use of an educator usually takes place as an activity isolated from the learning-teaching process.

Adapting: Integrating technology into learning activities. At this stage, educators began to realise the potential of technology in improving their own and their students' productivity.

Exploring: Developing new teaching approaches and strategies that consider the advantages of technology. At this stage, an educator feels very comfortable with the technology use and fully integrated the technology into the school's curriculum.

Advancing: Advancing of technology tools. At this stage, educators begin to think about how to handle the routine activities they were doing differently and explore new ways with the technology.

As the scale scores are between 1.00 and 5.00, it was accepted that the participation levels of the students in the scale items are higher as the scores approach 5.00 and lower as they approach 1.00. The reliability coefficients of the scale were examined separately according to the factors included in the scale and the highest is calculated as .909, and the lowest is calculated as .798. The validity of the scale was maintained through the stages of convergent and discriminant validity.

The TPACK scale, which is used to determine the TPACK levels of mathematics teachers, is a five-point likert type scale consisting of 27 items. The scale contains five options in the form of strongly disagree (1), disagree (2), uncertain (3), agree (4) and strongly agree (5). While evaluating the TPACK scores, which are found by dividing the sum of the answers given by the participants to the scale questions by the number of questions in the questionnaire, the scale 1.00-1.80: strongly disagree, 1.81-2.60 disagree, 2.61-3.40 uncertain, 3.41-4.20 agree, 4.21-5.00 strongly agree was used. As the scale scores are between 1.00 and 5.00, it will be accepted that the participation levels of the students in the scale items are higher as the scores approach 5.00 and lower as they approach 1.00. The TPACK scale consists of four factors: Knowledge of Technology (KT), Knowledge of Mathematics (KM), Knowledge of Mathematics Teaching (KMT) and Knowledge of Technology in Mathematics Teaching (KTMT). The reliability coefficients of the scale were examined separately according to the factors included in the scale; the highest is calculated as .82.

2.3. Sampling or Study Group

Due to the pandemic, hybrid education and distance education have been used by the Ministry of National Education in addition to face-to-face education. In accordance with the objective of the study, it is necessary to carry out the research with teachers who perform mathematics education through distance education. It is a well-known fact that in mathematics courses abstract concepts are especially intense and that different representations such as graphics, context, pattern table equations should be used rather than verbal expressions. In this process, distance education and mathematics teaching are important to ensure greater student participation in transactional applications compared to other disciplines, to use technological tools effectively and to integrate technology into mathematics courses. As a result, revealing the TPACK characteristics and perspectives of mathematics teachers on technology is necessary. Therefore, the study was carried out with mathematics teachers.

In order to determine the mathematics teachers who will participate in the study in this regard, criterion sampling was used among the purposeful sampling methods. The reason for using criterion sampling is that we study the situations that meet the predetermined criterion. The criterion here may be a criterion used by the researcher or a pre-prepared list of criteria (Büyüköztürk et al., 2016; Yıldırım and Şimşek, 2003). Thus, 223 mathematics teachers who were selected considering the participation in distance education applications with the criterion sampling method constitute the study group. Descriptive statistics related to the demographic information of the teachers participating in the study are presented in Table 1.

Table 1.

	Gender		Type of School Worked in		Departmen	Department Graduated from			Type of Graduation		
Teacher Qualities	Female	Male	Secondary school	High school	Elementary school mathematics teaching	Mathematics Teaching	Department of Mathematics	Undergraduate	Graduate	PhD	
Frequency	136	87	141	82	122	38	63	170	50	3	

Demographic Information of the Teachers Participating in the Study

JETOL 2021, Volume 4x, Issue 4, 805-821							Кіуісі, (D. D. & Dikkar	tın Övez, F. 1	•	
Percentage	61	39	63.2	36.8	54.7	17	28.3	76.2	22.4	1.4	

According to Table 1, it can be seen that 136 (61%) of the mathematics teachers participating in the study were female, 87 (39%) were male; 141 (63.2%) of them worked in secondary school and 82 (36.8%) worked in high school; 122 of them (54.7%) graduated from elementary school mathematics teaching, 38 (17%) from mathematics teaching, 63 (28.3%) from mathematics department; 170 (76.2%) of them completed an undergraduate degree, 50 (22.4%) of them completed a graduate degree and 3 (1.4%) of them completed PhD degree.

Table 2 shows the age and professional seniority of the teachers participating in the study.

Table 2.

Distribution of the mathematics teachers' age and professional seniority of employment

		Gen	der	Та	tol
		Female	Male	10	nai
		f	f	f	%
	Age 27 and younger	17	1	18	8.1
	Between ages 28-35	71	41	112	50.2
Age	Between ages 36-43	27	25	52	23.3
	Between ages 44-51	19	9	28	12.6
	Age 52 and older	2	11	13	5.8
	1-5 years	25	4	29	13.0
	6-10 years	59	31	90	40.4
Professional Seniority	11-15 years	14	14	28	12.6
	16-20 years	16	12	28	12.6
	20 years and more	22	26	48	21.5

According to Table 2, 18 (8.1%) of the mathematics teachers participating in the research were 27 years old and younger, 112 (50.2%) of them were between 28 and 35 years old, 52 (23.3%) of them were between 36 and 43 years old, 28 (12.6%) of them were between 44 and 51 years old, 13 (5.8%) were 52 years old and older; 29 (13.0%) of them had between 1 and 5 years 90 (40.4%) of them had between 6 and 10 professional seniority, 28 (12.6%) of them had 11 and 15 years, 28 (12.6%) of them had16 and 20 years, 48 (21.5%) of them had 20 or more years.

Table 3 shows the demographic information of the mathematics teachers participating in the study about the use of technology.

Table 3.

Demographic Information of the Teachers Participating in the Study about the Use of Technology

Teacher Qualities	Option	Frequency	Percentage
	Beginner	13	5.8
	Acceptance	31	13.9
Technology Use Level	Adaptation	61	27.4
	Exploring	72	32.3
	Advancing	46	20.6
ICT In Somios Training Status	Yes	120	53.8
ICT In-Service Training Status	No	103	46.2
Use of Graphic Tablets in the Process of	I do	123	55.2
Distance Learning	I do not	100	44.8

According to Table 3, 120(53,8%) of the teachers stated that they received in-service training on ICT tools, 103(46,2%) stated that they did not; 123(55,2%) of them stated they used a graphic tablet in distance education, 100(44,8%) stated they did not; and 13(5,8%) of them considered themselves in the elementary level, 61(27,4%) of them as accepting, 72(32,3%) of them as exploring and 46(20,6%) of them as advancing of areas levels in terms of their levels of use of technology.

2.4. Data Analysis

While determining whether the data are suitable for normal distribution in order to determine the appropriate statistical techniques for the analysis of the data obtained from the scales used in the research. the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied (Büyüköztürk, 2015). As a result of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, it was determined that the p value of the Technology Acceptance Scale for Teachers and the Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Scale was less than .05 (K-ST-TAS: 0.060, K-STPACK: 0.102 However, since the skewness and kurtosis coefficients of the scales are between +1 and -1, it is accepted that the data obtained show a normal distribution (Büyüköztürk, 2015). In addition, it is noted that the data with skewness and kurtosis values between -1.5 and +1.5 show normal distribution (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2013). In the analysis, the skewness value of T-TAS is -0.224 and the kurtosis value is -0.147; It was observed that the skewness value of the TPACK scale was -0.277 and the kurtosis value was -0.741.

According to this result, it was determined that the data obtained from the scales did not deviate much from the normal distribution. Based on the conclusion that the data showed a normal distribution, independent samples t-test was conducted to examine whether mathematics teachers' technology acceptance scores and technological pedagogical content knowledge levels differ according to the variables of gender, graphic tablet use and in-service training on ICT, while analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) was conducted to determine whether it differs according to age, professional seniority, department graduated and level of technology use. Tukey HSD is used in case of equality of variances during ANOVA test. The correlation coefficient was calculated to determine whether there is a significant relationship between the technology acceptance levels of mathematics teachers and their TPACK competencies (Büyüköztürk, 2015).

3. Findings

Descriptive statistics of the technology acceptance and technological pedagogical content knowledge levels of the mathematics teachers participating in the study are shown in Table 4.

Table 4.

Descriptive statistics of the scores of the T-TAS and TPACK scales

Scales	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	\overline{X}	SD
T-TAS	223	2.54	5.00	3.90	.4796
TPACK	223	2.78	5.00	4.20	.5299

According to Table 4, mean of the technology acceptance scores of mathematics teachers is \overline{X} =3.90, and the technological pedagogical content knowledge scores is \overline{X} =4.20. The obtained mean scores correspond to the "agree" option in the scaling. In this case, it can be said that mathematics teachers have high levels of technology acceptance and technological pedagogical content knowledge.

In order to compare the technology acceptance levels and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers according to their gender, the independent sample t-test was analyzed. The results obtained from the analysis are shown in Table 5.

Table 5.

Technology acceptance and TPACK levels of teachers by gender

Scales	Gender	Ν	\overline{X}	SD	df	t	p*
T-TAS	Female	136	3.84	0.4723	221	2 220	.021*
	Male	87	4.00	0.4790	221	-2.329	
TDACK	Female	136	4.07	0.5110	221	1 606	000*
	Male	87	4.40	0.5014	221	-4.000	.000*

(*p<.05)

According to Table 5, the mean total T-TAS score of male teachers is higher than the mean T-TAS score of female teachers. When the data obtained from the t-test results conducted to determine the significance of this difference are examined, it is seen that there is a significant difference in the technology acceptance levels of mathematics teachers in terms of gender ($t_{[221]} = -2.329$, p < .05). When looking at the average scores of the TPACK scale, it is seen that the mean scores of male teachers are higher than that of female teachers. When the data obtained from the t-test results conducted to determine the significance of this difference are examined, it is seen that there is a significant difference in the TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers in terms of gender ($t_{[221]} = -4.606$, p < .05). According to these results, it can be said that the acceptance levels and technological pedagogical content knowledge competencies of male teachers' classroom technologies are higher than that of female teachers.

In order to compare the technology acceptance levels and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers according to use of graphic tables in the distance education, the independent samples t-test was conducted. The results obtained from the analysis are shown in Table 6.

Table 6.

Technology acceptance and TPACK levels of teachers according to the use of graphic tablets in the distance learning process

Scales	Graphic Tablet Use	Ν	\overline{X}	SD	df	t	p *	
T-TAS	Yes	123	3.95	0.4591	221	1 513	132	
1 1/16	No	100	3.85	0.5008	221	1.515	.152	
	Yes	123	4.25	0.5289	221	1 714	088	
IFACK	No	100	4.13	0.5260	221	1./14	.088	

(*p<.05)

According to Table 6, the total T-TAS mean score of the mathematics teachers who use graphic tablets in the distance learning process is seen higher ($\overline{X} = 3.95$), compared to those who do not use graphic tablets in the process of distance learning ($\overline{X} = 3.85$). When the data obtained from the independent samples t-test results carried out to determine the significance of this difference are examined, it is seen that there is no significant difference in the technology acceptance levels of mathematics teachers who use graphic tablets in the distance education process compared to those who do not ($t_{[221]} = 1.513$, p > .05). When the mean scores of the TPACK scale are examined, it is seen that there is no significant difference between the use of graphic tablets by mathematics teachers in the distance education process and their technological pedagogical content knowledge competencies ($t_{[221]} = 1.714$, p > .05). According to these results, it can be said that the use of graphic tablets in the distance learning process does not have a relationship with the technology acceptance is of mathematics teachers.

In order to compare the status of teachers receiving in-service instruction on the use of ICT with their technology acceptance levels and TPACK competencies, the independent sample t-test was conducted. The results obtained from the analysis are shown in Table 7. **Table 7.**

Technology acceptance and TPACK levels of teachers according to their status of receiving in-service instruction on the use of ICT

Scales	Status of receiving in-service instruction on the use of ICT	Ν	\overline{X}	SD	df	t	p*
T-TAS	Yes	120	3.95	0.4555	221	1 /03	137
	No	103	3.85	0.5035	221	1.495	.137
ТРАСК	Yes	120	4.19	0.5268	221	0.206	927
	No	103	4.21	0.5359	221	-0.200	.037

(*p<.05)

According to Table 7, the mean of the scores obtained from the T-TAS and TPACK scales of mathematics teachers who have received in-service instruction on the use of ICT and who have not are very close to each other. According to the results of the independent samples t-test conducted to examine the significance of the difference, it is seen that there is no significant difference between the mathematics teachers' status of receiving in-service instruction on ICT, their technology acceptance level and their technological pedagogical content knowledge levels. According to these results, it can be said that receiving in-service instruction on the use of ICT does not affect the technology acceptance and TPACK competencies.

ANOVA test was performed to determine whether the scores obtained by mathematics teachers from the T-TAS and TPACK scales were significantly different according to the age of mathematics teachers. Descriptive statistics related to the ages of the teachers are shown in Table 8, and the results obtained with the ANOVA test are shown in Table 9.

Table 8.

The distribution of the mean scores obtained from the T-TAS and TPACK scales according to age

	Age	Ν	\overline{X}	SD
	Age 27 and younger	18	4.10	.4965
	Between ages 28-35	112	3.91	.4980
T-TAS	Between ages 36-43	52	3.86	.4139
	Between ages 44-51	28	3.79	.4472
	Age 52 and older	13	4.01	.5692
	Age 27 and younger	18	4.21	.6087
	Between ages 28-35	112	4.26	.5422
TPACK	Between ages 36-43	52	4.11	.5221
	Between ages 44-51	28	4.16	.4654
	Age 52 and older	13	4.10	.4729

Table 9.

ANOVA results of T-TAS and TPACK scores according to age

Scales		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	p *
	Between Groups	1.323	4	0.331		
T-TAS	Within Groups	49.752	218	0.228	1.449	.219
_	Total	51.074	222			
	Between Groups	0.964	4	0.241		
TPACK	Within Groups	61.378	218	0.282	0.856	.491
_	Total	62.342	222			

(*p<.05)

According to Table 8, the scores obtained by the teachers from T-TAS and TPACK scales according to their age ranges are close to each other. According to Table 9, the acceptance of technology of mathematics teachers is not statistically significant according to age $[F_{(4,218)} = 1.449, p > .05]$. It was determined that there was no statistically significant difference in the technological pedagogical content knowledge competencies of mathematics teachers according to age $[F_{(4,218)} = 0.856, p > .05]$. According to these results, it can be said that there is no statistically significant between the levels of technology acceptance and technological pedagogical content knowledge levels of mathematics teachers.

ANOVA test was performed to determine whether the scores obtained by mathematics teachers from the T-TAS and TPACK scales were significantly different according to the professional seniority. Descriptive statistics for the professional seniority of teachers are shown in Table 10, and the results obtained with the ANOVA test are shown in Table 11.

Table 10.

The distribution of the mean scores obtained from the T-TAS and TPACK scales according to professional seniority

Scale	Professional Seniority	Ν	\overline{X}	SD
	1-5 years	29	4.00	.4745
	6-10 years	90	3.88	.4813
T-TAS	11-15 years	28	4.01	.5342
	16-20 years	28	3.81	.3804
	20 years and more	48	3.88	.4967
	1-5 years	29	4.26	.5798
	6-10 years	90	4.22	.5341
TPACK	11-15 years	28	4.24	.5813
	16-20 years	28	4.05	.4568
	20 years and more	48	4.18	.5029

Table 11.

ANOVA results of T-TAS and TPACK scores according to professional seniority

Scales		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	p*
	Between Groups	0.942	4	0.236		
T-TAS	Within Groups	50.132	218	0.230	1.025	.395
	Total	51.074	222			
	Between Groups	0.882	4	0.220		
TPACK	Within Groups	61.640	218	0.282	0.782	.538
	Total	62.342	222			

(*p<.05)

According to Table 10, the scores obtained by the teachers from T-TAS and TPACK scales according to their professional seniority are close to each other. According to Table 11, it was concluded that there was no statistically significant difference between the mathematics teachers' technology acceptance level $[F_{(4,218)} = 1.025, p > .05)$ and their TPACK level according to their professional seniority $[F_{(4,218)} = 0.782, p > .05)$.

ANOVA test was performed to determine whether the scores obtained by mathematics teachers from the T-TAS and TPACK scales were significantly different according to the department graduated. Descriptive statistics of the departments that the teachers graduated from are shown in Table 12, and the results obtained with the ANOVA test are shown in Table 13.

Table 12.

Scale	Departments	Ν	\overline{X}	SD
	Elementary school mathematics teaching	122	3.92	.4892
T-TAS	Mathematics teaching	38	3.80	.4528
	Department of mathematics	63	3.93	.4755
	Elementary school mathematics teaching	122	4.18	.5192
TPACK	Mathematics teaching	38	4.05	.5423
	Department of mathematics	63	4.32	.5240

Distribution of T-TAS and TPACK scores according to the department that the teachers graduated from

Table 13.

ANOVA results of T-TAS and TPACK scores according to the department that the teachers graduated from

Scales		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	p*	Significant Difference
	Between Groups	0.502	2	0.251			
T-TAS	Within Groups	50.572	220	0.230	1.092	.337	
	Total	51.074	222				
	Between Groups	1.738	2	0.869			Department of
	Within Groups	60.604	220	0.275	_		Mathematics –
TPACK	Total	62.342	222		3.155	.045	Department of mathematics teaching

(*p<.05)

According to Table 12, the scores obtained by the teachers from the T-TAS scale are close to each other according to the departments they graduated from; in the TPACK scale, however, it is seen that the scores obtained by the teachers who graduated from the mathematics department ($\overline{X} = 4.32$) are higher than the mean scores ($\overline{X} = 4.05$) obtained by the teachers who graduated from the mathematics department mathematics teaching department.

According to Table 13, the technology acceptance level of mathematics teachers $[F_{(2,220)} = 1.092, p > .05]$ does not show a significant difference according to the department they graduated from. However, it was found that the TPACK levels show a significant difference compared to the department graduated $[F_{(2,220)} = 3.328, p < .05]$. Tukey HSD test, among the post hoc tests, was used to determine which groups this difference between TPACK levels was between. According to the results of this test, it was determined that the levels of technological pedagogical content knowledge were more positive for teachers who graduated from the mathematics department than for teachers who graduated from mathematics teaching (p < .05).

ANOVA test was performed to determine whether the scores obtained by mathematics teachers from the T-TAS and TPACK scales were significantly different according to the use of technology levels of mathematics teachers. Descriptive statistics of teachers' use of technology levels are shown in Table 14, and the results obtained with the ANOVA test are shown in Table 15.

Table 14.

Descriptive statistics of teachers' use of technology levels according to the T-TAS and TPACK scores
--

Scale	Age	Ν	X	SD
	Beginner	13	3.79	.6213
	Acceptance	31	3.78	.5507
T-TAS	Adaptation	61	3.85	.5217
	Exploring	72	4.02	.4057
	Advancing	46	3.90	.4091
	Beginner	13	3.84	.6659
	Acceptance	31	4.07	.4901
TPACK	Adaptation	61	4.16	.5237
	Exploring	72	4.31	.5086
	Advancing	46	4.27	.5090

Table 15.

ANOVA results of teachers' use of technology levels according to the T-TAS and TPACK scores

Scales		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	p*
	Between Groups	0.524	1	0.524		
T-TAS	Within Groups	50.550	221	0.229	2.290	.132
	Total	51.074	222			
	Between Groups	0.818	1	0.818		
TPACK	Within Groups	61.524	221	0.278	2.938	.088
	Total	62.342	222			

(*p<.05)

According to Table 14, the technology acceptance score means of the teachers who are at the levels of Exploring (\bar{X} = 4.02) and advancing of use (\bar{X} = 3.90)) are higher compared to the other levels. Similarly, it is seen that the technological pedagogical content knowledge levels of the teachers who are at the levels of Exploring (\bar{X} = 4.31) and advancing of use (\bar{X} = 4.27) are higher compared to the other levels. According to Table 15, the technology acceptance and technological pedagogical content knowledge levels of mathematics teachers do not show a significant difference compared to the use of technology levels [F_(1,221) = 2.938, p > .05].

In order to determine the relationship between the technology acceptance levels of mathematics teachers and the TPACK competency levels, the Pearson's correlation coefficient between the T-TAS and TPACK scales was considered. The results obtained by correlation analysis are shown in Table 16.

Table 16.

The relationship between the technology acceptance levels and TPACK competencies of teachers

Scales	1	2
1. T-TAS	-	.538*
2. TPACK	.538*	-

*: Correlation significant at the level of .01 (two-way)

According to Table 16, there is a moderate positive and significant relationship between the technology acceptance levels and the technological pedagogical content knowledge competencies of mathematics teachers. Looking at the determination coefficient (square of the correlation coefficient) ($r^2 = .289$), it is clear that 29% of the total variance in TPACK qualifications is due to the technology acceptance level. It is possible to interpret it oppositely (Büyüköztürk, 2015).

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

In this study, the technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers in the distance education process that has been part of our lives with the pandemic were determined and compared according to different variables, and the relationship between them was examined.

According to the results obtained from the study, when the T-TAS scores of mathematics teachers were examined, it was determined that the technology acceptance levels were high, and when the TPACK competency scores were examined, the TPACK competency levels were determined to be high. This finding is similar to the studies conducted by Aktürk and Delen (2020) and Mutluoğlu and Erdoğan (2016). In the study conducted by Aktürk and Delen (2020), it was concluded that teachers' technology acceptance levels were high, and in the study conducted by Mutluoğlu and Erdoğan (2016), it was concluded that primary mathematics teachers' TPACK competency levels were high. According to this result, it can be said that mathematics teachers consider themselves sufficient in terms of technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels.

According to the findings obtained, it was concluded that the gender factor was effective in the technology acceptance and TPACK competencies of mathematics teachers, and that the technology acceptance and TPACK competency of male teachers was higher than that of female teachers. This result is similar to the study conducted by Baran and Ata (2013), Sarıkaya (2019), Bilici and Guner (2016). In their study, Baran and Ata (2013) examined university students' use of web 2.0 technologies and concluded that male students' status of use of technology was significantly higher than female students.

In the study, it was concluded that having received in-service education on ICT did not affect the technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers. A similar result was obtained in a study conducted by Karaoğlan Yılmaz and Binay Eyuboğlu (2018). According to this result, it can be said that since our age and the distance education process we are in, requires mathematics teachers to follow the developments in how they can use technology in their fields, it can be said that taking in-service training will not cause a difference that will affect the technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels.

From the results obtained from the examination of the technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers according to the use of graphic tablets, it was found that technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels did not make a significant difference with the use of graphic tablets. In the study conducted by Aktürk and Delen (2020), contrary to this result, it was found that the technology acceptance of teachers who use smart boards differ significantly compared to those who do not use them. According to this result, it can be noted that mathematics teachers' adoption of technology and the high benefit they see in the use of in-class applications by combining technology knowledge with field knowledge indicates the teacher's intention to use technological tools in their classes.

From the results obtained from the examination of the technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers according to age and professional seniority, it was determined that the technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers did not differ significantly according to age. In this case, it can be interpreted that individuals cannot stay away from technology with the involvement of technology into every aspect of our lives, investments made in schools and equipping classrooms with technological tools and internet infrastructure, age and professional seniority factor do not cause a significant difference between teachers' technology acceptance and TPACK levels. It shows similarity with the results obtained in the studies carried out by Sarıkaya (2019), Burmabiıyık (2014) and Sabo and Archambault (2012) that the technology acceptance levels of teachers and teacher candidates do not differ significantly according to age. However, there are also studies in the literature in which the age and professional seniority factors differ according to the teacher's professional experience (Bal and Karademir, 2013; Karakaya, 2013; Bilici and Güler, 2016; Mutluoglu and Erdoğan, 2016).

It was determined that the technology acceptance levels of mathematics teachers did not differ significantly according to the department graduated. However, it was also determined that the TPACK competencies of teachers who graduated from the mathematics department were higher than those who graduated from the mathematics teaching department. It can be interpreted that the fact that technology has become an essential part of the education process today and the content knowledge of mathematics teachers who graduated from the mathematics department may be different from those who graduated from the mathematics teaching department may be different from those who graduated from the mathematics teaching department may be the cause of this result. This result contradicts the studies carried out by Bilici and Güler (2016), Karataş (2014) and Burmabiyık (2014). According to the opinions of the teachers obtained in the study of Bilici and Güler (2016), it was suggested that the TPACK competencies of the teachers who graduated from the mathematics department, and those who went through similar processes by receiving pedagogical formation and in-service training, may be similar.

In the study, it was determined from the data obtained by examining the relationship between technology acceptance and TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers, that there was a positive, moderate and significant relationship between technology acceptance and TPACK competencies, and that 29% of TPACK competencies resulted from technology acceptance. According to this result, it can be noted that the TPACK competency levels of mathematics teachers with high technology acceptance levels are also high. In the study conducted by Joo, Park and Lim (2018), however, it was determined that TPACK competencies do not directly affect their intention to use the technology.

In this study, the TPACK scale was used to determine the technology acceptance levels of mathematics teachers in the distance education process, and the level of technological pedagogical content knowledge to determine the TPACK scale was used. In future studies, apart from these measurement tools used, the study can be diversified using different measurement tools. Also, by using qualitative methods, the study can be enriched and teachers' technology acceptance and TPACK levels can be understood in detail. It is possible to perform the research with teachers who continue distance education in different branches.

All teachers and students are trying to get used to a new system in distance education, which has been put into use with the spread of the Covid-19 pandemic. Keeping teachers' motivation levels at high levels during this adaptation process is considered important for the efficiency of the educational process. In addition, the content that teachers will use in their courses should also be suitable for distance learning applications. Therefore, additional studies can be carried out examining the course planning process and motivation levels of teachers in distance education.

References

- Açıkgül, K. and Aslaner, R. (2015). Investigation of TPACK Confidence Perception of Prospective Elementary Mathematics Teachers. *Erzincan University Journal of Education Faculty (EUJEF)*, 17(1). doi:10.17556/jef.04990
- Aktürk, A. O. and Delen, A. (2020). The Relationship Between Teachers' Technology Acceptance Levels and Self-Efficacy Beliefs. *The Science, Education, Art and Technology Journal (SEAT Journal),* 4(2), 67-80.
- Akyürek, M. İ. (2020). Distance Education: A Literature Review. *Medeniyet Educational Research Journal*, 4(1), 1-9.
- Alea, L. A., Fabrea, M. F., Roldan, R. D. A. and Farooqi, A. Z. (2020). Teachers' Covid-19 Awareness, Distance Learning Education Experiences and Perceptions Towards Institutional Readiness and Challenges. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research*, 19(6), 127-144.
- Aydos, M. (2015). The Impact of Teaching Mathematics With Geogebra on The Conceptual Understanding of Limits and Continuity: The Case of Turkish Gifted and Talented Students. Unpublished Master Thesis, Bilkent University, Ankara.

- Bağrıaçık Yılmaz, A. and Karataş, S. (2020). Açık ve Uzaktan Öğrenmenin Temel Kavramları, Kuramları ve Felsefesi. In S. Karataş and E. Kılıç Çakmak (Eds.), *Açık ve Uzaktan Öğrenme* (pp. 2-29). Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Bakioğlu, B. and Çevik, M. (2020). COVID-19 Science Teachers' Views on Distance Education in the COVID-19 Pandemic Process. *Electronic Turkish Studies*, 15(4).
- Bal, M. S. and Karademir, N. (2013). Determining Social Science Teachers' Self-Assessment Levels With Regard to Their Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPCK). *Pamukkale University Journal of Education*, 34(2), 15-32, 15-32. doi:10.9779/puje468
- Baran, B. and Ata, F. (2013). University Students' Web 2.0 Technologies Usage, Skill Levels and Educational Usage. *Education and Science*, 38(169).
- Başaran, M., Doğan, E., Karaoğlu, E. and Şahin, E. (2020). A Study on Effectiveness of Distance Education, as a Return of Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic Process. Academia Journal of Educational Research, 5(2), 179-209.
- Bayburtlu, Y. S. (2020). Turkish Education During Covid-19 Pandemic Distance Education Process, *Electronic Turkish Studies*, 15(4).
- Baz, F. Ç. (2016). Designing of Adaptable Web Based Online Learning Context in Confirmity with the Collated Teaching Model and Its Effect on Student's Success. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Mustafa Kemal University, Hatay.
- Bilici, S. and Güler, Ç. (2016). Investigation of Teachers' TPACK Levels with Respect to Use of Instructional Technologies. *Elementary Education Online*, 15(3). doi:10.17051/io.2016.05210
- Burmabıyık, Ö. (2014). Investigation of Perceptions of Self-Sufficiency Towards Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge in Terms of Different Variables (Case of Yalova). Unpublished Master Thesis, Sakarya University, Sakarya.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş. (2015). Sosyal Bilimler İçin Veri Analizi El Kitabı. Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş., Akgün, Ö. E., Demirel, F., Karadeniz, Ş., and Çakmak, E. K. (2016). *Bilimsel araştırma yöntemleri*. Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Davis, F. D. (1986). A Technology Acceptance Model for Empirically Testing New End-User Information Systems: Theory and Result, (Doctoral dissertation). Sloan School of Management: Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Demir, F. and Özdaş, F. (2020). Examining Teachers' Opinions Related to Distance Education in The Covid-19 Process. *Milli Eğitim Dergisi*, 49(1), 273-292. doi:10.37669/milliegitim.775620
- Dikkartın Övez, F. T. and Akyüz, G. (2013). Modelling Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Constructs of Preservice Elementary Mathematics Teachers. *Education and Science*, *38*(170).
- Durak, G. and Çankaya, S. (2020). Distance Mathematics Education Through the Eyes of Academics. In H. Gür (Ed.), *Matematik ve Fen Bilimleri Eğitiminde Akademik Çalımalar* (pp. 437-463). Lyon: Livre de Lyon.
- Hebebci, M. T., Bertiz, Y. and Alan, S. (2020). Investigation of Views of Students and Teachers on Distance Education Practices During the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic. *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science (IJTES)*, 4(4), 267-282.
- Herand, D. and Hatipoğlu, Z. A. (2014). E-learning and Comparison of Commonly Used E-learning Platforms. *Çukurova University Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences, 18*(1).
- İşman, A. (2011). *Uzaktan eğitim*. Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- İzmirli, S. and Akyüz, H. İ. (2017). Examining Synchronous Virtual Classroom Software. *Journal of Theory and Practice in Education*, 13(4), 788-810.
- Karabulut, B. (2015). In The Era of Information Society Digital Natives, Immigrants and Hybrids. *Pamukkale University Journal of Social Sciences Institute*, 21, 11-23.
- Karakuş, N., Ucuzsatar, N., Karacaoğlu, M. Ö., Esendemir, N. and Bayraktar, D. (2020). Turkish Teacher Candidates' Views on Distance Education. *RumeliDE Journal of Language and Literature Studies*, (19), 220-241. DOI: 10.29000/rumelide.752297.

- Karaoğlan Yılmaz, F. G. and Binay Eyüboğlu, F. A. (2018). Investigation of the Relationships Between Lifelong Learning Attitudes, Digital Native Status and Technology Acceptance of Teachers in Terms of Each Other and Various Variables. *International Journal of Education Science and Technology*, 4(1), 1-17.
- Karasar, N. (2015). Bilimsel Araştırma Yöntemleri. Ankara: Nobel Akademi.
- Karatepe, F., Küçükgençay, N. and Peker, B. (2020). What are the Perspectives of Teacher Candidates on Synchronous Distance Education? A Survey Study. *Journal Of Social And Humanities Sciences Research*, 7(53), 1262-1274.
- King, F. B., Young, M. F., Drivere-Richmond, K. and Schrader, P. G. (2001). Defining Distance Learning and Distance Education. *AACE Journal*, *9*(1), 1-14.
- Kocayiğit, A. and Uşun, S. (2020). Attitudes of Teachers Working in Schools Affiliated to Ministry of National Education Towards Distance Education (Example of Burdur Province). *International Journal of Euroasian Research*, 8(23), 285-299. doi:10.33692/avrasyad.662503
- Kurnaz, A., Kaynar, H., Barışık, C. Ş. and Doğrukök, B. (2020). Teachers' Views On Distance Learning. *Milli Eğitim Dergisi*, 49(1), 293-322.
- Marpa, E. P. (2020). Technology in the teaching of mathematics: An Analysis of Teachers' Attitudes During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal on Studies in Education*, *3*(2), 92-102.
- Mazman, S. G. and Usluel, Y. K. (2011). ICT Integration Into Learning-Teaching Process: Models and Indicators. *Educational Technology Theory And Practice*, 1(1), 62-79.
- Ministry of Naational Education (MNE). (2020). *Digital Literacy Teacher's Guide*. Retrieved from http://covid19.meb.gov.tr/covid19.html?cat=uzaktan-egitim
- Mutluoğlu, A. and Erdoğan, A. (2016). Examining Primary Mathematics Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) Levels According to Their Preferred Teaching Styles. *OPUS International Journal of Society Researches*, 6(10).
- Niess ML, Ronau RN, Shafer KG, Driskell SO, Harper SR, Johnston C, Browning C, Özgün-Koca SA, Kersaint G (2009) Mathematics teacher TPACK standards and development model. Contemp Issues Technol Teacher Educ 9(1):4–24
- Odabaş, H. (2003). Internet Based Distance Education and Departments of Information and Records Management. *Turkish Librarianship*, 17(1), 22-36.
- Öz, M. (2015). The Effects of Using a Dynamic Mathematics Software Geogebra 5.0 in Teaching the Subject of "Geometrical Object" in Seventh Grade Math Class in A Primary School on Students' Achievement. Unpublished Master Thesis, Gazi University, Ankara.
- Perienen, A. (2020). Frameworks for ICT Integration in Mathematics Education-A Teacher's Perspective. EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 16(6).
- Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of Innovations (4th ed.). Free Press, New York
- Sabo, K. and Archambault, L. (2012). *Tessellations in TPACK: Comparing Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Levels Among K-12 Online and Traditional Teachers.* Paper presented at the Society for Information Technology and Teacher Education International Conference.
- Sırakaya, M. (2019). Technology Acceptance of Primary and Secondary School Teachers. *Inonu University Journal of the Faculty of Education*, 578-590. doi:10.17679/inuefd.495886
- Joo, Y. J., Park, S. and Lim, E. (2018). Factors Influencing Preservice Teachers' Intention to Use Technology: TPACK, Teacher Self-efficacy, and Technology Acceptance Model. Educational Technology and Society, 21(3), 48–59.
- Tabachnick, B. G. and Fidell, L. S. (2013). Using Multivariate Statistics Boston: Pearson.
- Taylor, J. C. (2001). Fifth Generation Distance Education. *Instructional Science and Technology*, 4(1), 1-14.
- Ursavaş, Ö. F. (2014). *Modeling and Examinig Teachers' ICT Acceptance*. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Gazi University, Ankara.

- Ursavaş, Ö. F., Şahin, S. and McIlroy, D. (2014). Technology Acceptance Measure for Teachers: T-TAM. Journal of Theory and Practice in Education, 10(4), 885-917.
- Yıldırım, A. and Şimşek, H. (2008). Sosyal Bilimlerde Nitel Araştırma Yöntemleri, 7. baskı., Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık.
- Yorgancı, S. (2014). The Effects Of Web Based Distance Education Method on Students' Mathematics Achievements. *Kastamonu Education Journal*, 23(3), 1401-1420.
- Zaranis, N. (2016). The use of ICT in Kindergarten for Teaching Addition Based on Realistic Mathematics Education. *Education and Information Technologies*, 21(3), 589-606.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Teaching writing skills in EFL classes with blending learning

Murat ATAİZİ^{a*}^(D), İstek AKSAK KÖMÜR^b^(D)

^a Anadolu University, Turkey ^b MEB, Turkey

Suggested citation: Ataizi, M. & Aksak Komür, İ. (2021). Teaching writing skills in EFL classes with blending learning. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 822-834.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Blended learning Writing skills K-12 COVID-19	Blended learning has become an emerging trend in the field of education and has caught the attention and interest of many researchers as a new approach to encourage students in their learning process, especially during COVID-19 disruption. Blended learning is also known as 'hybrid learning', 'mixed-learning or 'flipped learning' in the literature. The purpose of this study was to investigate the effect of blended learning for improving EFL students', from the eleventh grade, English writing skills and the student's perception of the blended learning environment at a high school. In this study, a mixed-research method was used. The quantitative data was collected through an online questionnaire, pre-test, and post-test writing scores written by 92 participants, and the qualitative data was gathered through semi-structured interviews with 8 volunteer participants. Data were analyzed with SPSS t-tests and content analyses. The research findings showed that blended learning had a significant effect in improving participants' writing skills. Participants significantly outperformed in writing exams. The participants had a positive attitude and perspective towards using blended learning in EFL classes. The limitations of blended learning highlighted by the minority of the participants were the burden of the online activities and lack of internet or mobile device accessibility. Further research on
Research Andre	orenaeu rearning mouers in EFL classes in ule K-12 context is nightly recommended.

1. Introduction

Skills in language teaching settings are divided into four areas, those are writing, speaking, reading, and listening. Among them reading and listening are called receptive skills; writing and speaking are called productive skills. Writing is one of the slowest improved productive skills among these skills in the K12 context. "Writing is considered as the most difficult skill for learners"(Thi & Anh, 2019, p. 75). It needs special attention(Olshtain, 2001).

In English foreign language (EFL) classes, two approaches: product-oriented and process-oriented approaches are implemented into practice. The first one focuses on quantity rather than quality(Nunan, 1991). The second one focuses on quality but both teachers and learners need time to follow the process-oriented writing approach which requires a few stages like brainstorming, planning, writing drafts, revising, etc. In EFL classes in Turkey at high school levels, English hours for writing activities do not accommodate

Received 4 May 2021; Revised 13 Dec 2021; Accepted 25 Dec 2021



^{*} Corresponding author. Anadolu University, Turkey. e-mail addres: <u>jakomur@anadolu.edu.tr</u>

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.

the whole steps of the process-oriented writing approach. In this context, blended learning practices meet the needs of teachers and learners. It offers teachers much more flexibility than face-to-face classes since barriers to attendance arising from time or location constraints either are removed or reduced(Brysch, 2020).

What blended learning means keeps its ambiguity, but it is possible to define briefly "the combination of face-to-face instruction with online learning" (Alexander et al., 2019; C. G. Graham & Allen, 2011). Blended and hybrid course models will change the future of postsecondary teaching and learning settings (EDUCAUSE, 2021). Increasingly, more high school teachers are providing instruction using blended learning. This provides benefits to students such as having more time flexibility in their learning as well as the ability to work through assignments at their own pace (Oliver & Kellogg, 2015).

2. Literature

"The use of the term blended learning has become a buzzword among educators and trainers in the last several years. By nature, both the terms hybrid and blended imply a mixing or combining of *something*. It is that *something* that people do not always agree upon" (Lamb, 2001, p.173). However, there is a definition that has been popularized "students with some control over time, place, path, and/or pace" (Horn & Staker, 2015, p. 35). "Agreement seems widespread that BL integrates face-to-face and online learning" (C. R. Graham, 2019). Some studies underline special terms 'personalized learning', 'best features of classroom interaction' differentiated instruction' and 'student-centered instruction(Boelens et al., 2018; INACOL, 2011).

Flexibility, "access, and improved pedagogy" could be considered regarding in counting the advantages of blended learning(Graham & Robison, 2007). Blended learning focuses on optimizing achievement of learning objectives by applying the "right" learning technologies to match the "right" personal learning style to transfer the "right" to the "right" person at the "right" time(Singh & Reed, 2001, p. 2). Learners have different needs especially in EFL classes, in blended learning models, teachers have time to work with small groups "while other students work at their own pace, utilizing tools that fit their learning style" (Alijani et al., 2014, p. 126). Table 1 presents blended learning organizational levels. It is divided into four levels: Activity level blend, course level blend, program level blend, and institutional level blend (Bonk and Graham, 2006).

Table 1

	3		
Activity Level Blend	Course Level Blend	Program Level Blend	Institutional Level Blend
An instructional activity has an online and face-to-face component.	A course that involves students in both online and face-to-face activities.	A program that allows or requires a mix of both on-campus and online course for program completion.	Institutional blending requirements or support for blended learning options.

Blended Learning Organizational Levels

Note. Adapted from the study by Bonk and Graham, 2006.

There are four core recognized models of blended learning according to the Clayton Christensen Institute although there are many more blended learning models: These are Rotation, Flex, Enriched Virtual, and A

La Carte. The Rotation model includes four sub-models: Station Rotation, Lab Rotation, Flipped Classroom, and Individual Rotation as depicted in Table 2.

Table 2

Blended Learning Models

BRICK-AND-MORTAR		ONLINE LEARNING	
	BLENDED LEARNING		
1.Rotation Model	2.Flex Model	3.A La Carte Model	4.Enriched Virtual Model
Station			
Rotation			
Lab Rotation			
 Flipped 			
Classrom			
Individual			
Rotation			
Note Adopted from the stud	try by Home and Station (2014)	

Note. Adapted from the study by Horn and Staker (2014).

"More research is needed to identify quantity and quality factors of blended designs that impact achievement and success rates (Graham, 2019, p. 15). The purpose of this study is to investigate the effect of blended learning for improving EFL learners' English writing skills and the students' perception towards blended learning environment at a high school. This study aims to answer the research questions below:

1) Does blended learning affect participants' writing skills success?

2) What are the perceptions of participants towards blended learning environment?

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Model/Design

The present study was conducted with a mixed research method. Mixed methods research deliberately includes both quantitative and qualitative research methods into one study (Creswell & Clark, 2011). "In a convergent parallel design entails that the researcher concurrently conducts the quantitative and qualitative elements in the same phase of the research process, weighs the methods equally, analyses the two components independently, and interprets the results together" (Creswell & Clark, 2011, p. 80).

3.2. Data Collecting Tools

The research data were collected with a pre-post writing exam score, an online questionnaire, and face- to -face interviews. An online questionnaire including five closed-ended questions was used to get information about the participants. The online questionnaire and interview questions were developed by the researchers and approved by an expert in the field. Pre/post writing exams were scored and reviewed by two experienced English teachers using a writing assessment scale and subscales.

3.3. Sampling or Study Group

The participants of this study were classes of the 11th grade of a state high school during the 2019-2020 academic year fall semester in Turkey. The study group of pre-post writing exams included 92 participants. The online questionnaire sent to the participants to get demographic information and blended learning. The results are given below. During the semi-structured face-to-face interviews, only eight volunteering participants were involved due to ethical concerns. Their age ranged from 16-19. The participants had English lessons as a mandatory course in the school. The participants had weekly four English lesson hours.

The purpose of the online questionnaire including five closed questions is to get information about the participants. The results of the study are presented in descriptive statistics. Participants were asked in question one "Have you ever experienced online learning?" In this study, 92% participants responded that that they did not have any experiences about online learning shown in Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Online Learning Experiences

As seen in Figure 2 participants were asked in the question two "What is your computer literacy level?" According to the responses from 92 participants, 48, 9 % of them were good, 20, 7% were very good, 19, 6% were weak and 10, 9% were excellent in computer literacy.



Fig. 2. Computer Literacy Rate

Participants are asked in the question three focuses on belongings: Which technology or mobile technologies do you have? The result shows that 76, 1 of the participants have smartphones. Some participants have got more than one of the technologies. 54,3% of participants had desktop, 38% had mobile phones and 30,4% had iPad/ tablet. The result displays that some participants have more than one technology equipment (See Figure 3). Results indicate that participants would not have any mobile devices if they were asked to follow blended learning environment and smartphones would be used popularly in the study.



Fig. 3. Participants' Technology and Mobile Technologies Rate

The question four focuses if the participants had access to the internet. Responses from the participants are showing that 97, 8% had access to the internet (See Figure 4).



Fig. 4. Internet Access Rate

The participants were asked in question five, "Where do you access to the internet for e-learning?" According to the responses from 91 participants 75, 8% prefer to use at home, 17,6% of them prefer to use at school, 2% at canteen/ cafe and 4,4% of participants responded others (See Figure 5).



Fig. 5. Internet Using Place

3.1. Data Analysis

Participants pre and post writing exams were scored by two scorers and scores were analyzed with SPSS paired samples t-test. All inferences were set at an alpha of ≤ 0.05 using SPSS. From among the 92 participants, who had filled out the questionnaire and participated in pre-and-post writing tests, eight took part in the follow-up semi-structured interview based on their own willingness. Each face-to-face interview session, lasting for 10-20 minutes was recorded for later content and thematic analyses. Different coding numbers were given to the participants and approved by an expert in the field.

3.2. Validity and Reliability

The anonymity of the questionnaire survey was guaranteed to acquire more reliable survey results. Direct participant quotes from face-to-face interviews are presented to improve the study's reliability. Pre/post writing exam papers were scored and reviewed by two scorers using a writing assessment scale.

3.3. Research Procedures

The current study was conducted with the 11th grade students were in a state school in Istanbul in the fall semester of 2019-2020. Participants were given a pre-writing exam and asked to write an essay about 'their future jobs including an introduction paragraph, body paragraphs and a concluding paragraph. Their writing exams were scored according to the writing assessment scale. The score results were used as a need analysis for what students in need in writing courses. Pre-writing exam scores data was recorded for each student. The blended learning environment based on the rotation model was designed and implemented for eight

weeks and a module was designed for off-class writing activities entitled writing an essay in English including six lessons and were open till the post-test writing were completed. These were:

- 1. How to write a sentence in English
- 2. How to write a well-organized paragraph
- 3. How to write an essay in English
- 4. Essay types in English
- 5. Essay outlines in English
- 6. Use of mechanics such as capitalization, punctuation, and spelling.

The participants were informed how to use the online platforms and what they would do in traditional faceto-face classes. For the current study, these platforms; ed.ted.com, google docs, google drive, padlet, eba, and WhatsApp were used. In traditional face-to-face classes, only one-lesson-hour was separated for writing activities per a week. At the end of the eighth week participants were asked to write an essay about their 'the future jobs' again as a post-writing exam. Each paper was scored according to the writing assessment scale and subscales. The rotation model of blended learning at the activity level was implemented in current study.

4. Findings and Discussions

The findings of the study were analyzed based on research questions and are given below. The current study before and after the blended writing class, a writing practice exam was applied to the participants. Participants' pre-writing exam scores and post-writing exam scores were tested and compared (See results of tests given in Table 3).

Table 3

Ū.	Ū.				
		М	SD	N	SEM
Pair	Pre	39,3478	21,21602	92	2,21192
	Post	90,1087	8,22013	92	,85701

Results of Pre and Post Writing Exams

A sample of 92 participants' data was analyzed. Both pre and post writing exam scores were analyzed by paired- samples t-test in SPSS. The output produced by SPSS is shown Table 4 and 5. The result from the analysis indicated that p- value less than .005 is printed as .000, therefore it is concluded that the difference was statistically significant.

Table 4

The Correlations of Pre and Post Writing Exams

	Ν	Correlation	Sig.	
Pair 1 pre&post	92	,073	,490	
Table 5

Paired Samples Test Results

		Paired Differe	ences						
				Std Error	95% Confidence Interval of the difference				
		М	SD	Mean	Lower	Upper	t	df	Sig.(2-tailed)
Pair 1	Pre-post	-50,76087	22,1870	2,31318	-55,35571	-46,16603	-21,944	91	,000,

The current study also investigated that the participants' perception towards blended learning environment at a high school. Semi-structured interviews were done, 8 participants were involved since they were volunteers. The responses coded and categorized into three themes.

Three main codes emerged as presented in Table 6. These are advantages (56,76 %), limitations (27%), and suggestions (16,2%) in terms of the blended learning environment. The findings of this study showed that the participants perception of the blended learning environment was highly positive.

Table 6

The Rate of Main Codes

	Frequency	Percentage	Valid Percentage
Suggestions	6	16,22	16,22
Limitations	10	27,03	27,03
Advantages	21	56,76	56,76
Total (valid)	37	100,00	100,00
Missing	0	0,00	-
Total (valid)	37	100,00	-



Other English skills can be taught in this way

Fig. 6. Codes Obtained from The Views of The Participants

As presented in Figure 6, thirty-seven subcodes emerged when the participants reported their perception of the blended learning environment. The view of the respondents stated that the blended learning environment enables them to control their own time and place of study and improve their digital literacy, listening, reading, grammar and vocabulary positively as they use google docs, online forums, online enjoyable writing activities, and online peer-to-peer assessment. Another theme that emerged from the interview data is that blended learning environment offers learners flexibility. Flexibility offers students alternatives to decide how, where and when they learn. Below are a few of the quotes from the participants.

"... writing papers using online platforms and see other papers and going on rewriting again and again whenever and wherever I want really helped me to improve my writing." (P1)

"I think writing lessons are now enjoyable and interactive." (P3)

"It is very good because I can decide where to study." (P2)

"I was really bad at writing in English. But now I think it is fun to write." (P8)

"I started to participate in writing activities. I really hated writing. To be honest, I always get help from my mother while doing my homework." (P4)

"You can learn and have chance to watch again and again at home if you do not understand the subject" (P7)

"Blended learning improved my language skills, not only writing skills". (P6)

Some participants were stated the blended learnings' limitations, especially burden of the online activities and access to technology. Below are a few of the quotes from the participants.

"Doing online activities are more difficult for me than writing on my notebook." (P7)

"You need internet and mobile devices. If you do not have them, it won't work." (P2)

"Connection problems and delay and slowness make me crazy". (P5)

"Homework, tasks, assignments are too heavy for me, and teacher can easily understand who has not done them" (P4)

Participants agreed that blended learning can be implemented in learning environments not only in EFL classes but also in other courses. The participants of this study had affirmative opinions about their experience and suggestions based on their own experiences. Below are a few of the quotes from the participants.

"All lessons at school can be taught with the same method." (P8)

"Maybe this method can help me to prepare international English language exams." (P6)

"We can learn listening, reading online. I cannot hear well in the class because of large classes." (P7)

"All teachers can give online homework. It is easy to get quick feedback." (P1)

"Other skills in English can be learned like this from anytime from anywhere..." (P2)

The findings of the study revealed that blended learning had a significant effect in improving students' writing skills. Participants significantly outperformed in writing exams. The findings of the current study resonate with previous studies that implementing a blended learning model in writing classes improves students' academic success (Adas & Bakir, 2013). For blended learning environment learning management systems or social networking platforms have been generally used such as Edmodo(Barrot, 2021; Charoenwet et al., 2016; Purnawarman et al., 2016), Moodle(Adas & Bakir, 2013; Lien, 2015). However, in this study <u>ed.ted.</u>com, google docs, padlet, eba, and WhatsApp were used. For these platforms,

participants mostly used their smartphones, therefore, it is crucial to think about which online platforms could be accessed easily with smartphones.

Another important finding from the study is the perceptions of participants towards the blended learning environment. In this study, participants have a positive attitude and perspective towards using blended learning in EFL classes at a high school, therefore, more students benefit from blended courses. It provides flexible access at anytime, anywhere, and enhances the learning environment beyond the traditional classroom and increased students' motivation and satisfaction in learning activities. This result is consistent with a similar study done by (Puspita et al., 2019).

In addition to these findings that face-to-face and online activities reinforce each other in blended learning. Students have time to spend on course material. Face-to-face time at school can be used more effectively. In the current study participants followed online activities whenever and wherever they wanted to learn. They used blended learning more efficiently also. As researchers(Alkhaleel, 2019; Anthony et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2021) explored the perception of the efficient atmosphere of blended learning for learners.

It has many advantages to implement blended learning into teaching writing classes to enrich the learning process. However, participants also stated some valuable suggestions. These focused primarily on the technical problems such as internet connection problems and finding online activities as a big burden to overcome. The findings show that blended learning is suitable for teaching English writing skills in EFL classes at high schools. When implementing a blended learning environment for students at high schools, it may be significant not to overload them with many tasks, assignments, or activities but guide students who need help and give feedback to students while learning online.

5. Conclusion and Suggestions

This study investigated the effect of blended learning for improving EFL learners' English writing skills and the students' perception towards blended learning environment particularly at a high school with the eleventh grades. In this study, the research findings showed that blended learning had a significant effect on improving participants' writing skills. Participants significantly outperformed in writing exams. The participants had a positive attitude and perspective towards using blended learning in EFL classes. The limitations of blended learning highlighted by the minority of the participants were burden of the online activities and lack of internet or mobile device accessibility. The study also provides significant information for instructors and practitioners in designing English curriculums.

The study has some limitations also. The research was carried out in Turkey for five weeks, with a total of 92 participants who took pre-post writing exams. The qualitative study is limited to a limited sample of eight EFL students. In the light of the study findings, the following suggestions were forwarded:

Similar studies in EFL classes in the education of K-12 provide many advantages for future research. More research would be useful to examine the effects of blended learning and different blended learning models practices. When implementing blended learning for students at high schools, it may be significant not to overload them with many tasks, assignments, or activities but guide students who need help.

References

- Adas, D., & Bakir, A. (2013). Writing difficulties and new solutions: Blended learning as an approach to improve writing abilities. International Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 3(9), 254– 266. www.ijhssnet.com
- Alexander, Bryan., Ashford-Rowe, Kevin., Barajas-Murphy, Noreen., Dobbin, Gregory., Knott, Jessica., McCormack, Mark., Pomerantz, Jeffrey., Seilhamer, Ryan., & Weber, Nicole. (2019). Educause horizon report: 2019 higher education edition.

- Alijani, G., Kwun, O., & Yu, Y. (2014). Effectiveness of blended learning in KIPP New Orleans' schools. Academy of Educational Leadership Journal, 18(2).
- Alkhaleel, A. (2019). The Advantages of using blended learning in studying English as a foreign language at the university of Tabuk. Modern Journal of Language Methods, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.26655/mjltm.2019.2.5
- Anthony, B., Kamaludin, A., Romli, A., Raffei, A. F. M., Nincarean A/L Eh Phon, D., Abdullah, A., Ming, G. L., Shukor, N. A., Nordin, M. S., & Baba, S. (2019). Exploring the role of blended learning for teaching and learning effectiveness in institutions of higher learning: An empirical investigation. Education and Information Technologies, 24(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-019-09941-z
- Barrot, J. S. (2021). Effects of Facebook-based e-portfolio on ESL learners' writing performance. Language, Culture and Curriculum, 34(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/07908318.2020.1745822
- Boelens, R., Voet, M., & de Wever, B. (2018). The design of blended learning in response to student diversity in higher education: Instructors' views and use of differentiated instruction in blended learning. Computers and Education, 120, 197–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.02.009
- Brysch, C. P. (2020). Teacher Attitudes toward Alternative Professional Development in Geography. Journal of Geography, 119(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/00221341.2019.1706621
- Charoenwet, S., Suratthani, S. S., & Christensen, A. (2016). The effect of Edmodo learning network on students' perception, self-regulated learning behaviors and learning performance. The 10th International Multi-Conference on Society, Cybernetics and Informatics , 297–300. http://www.edmodo.com
- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. L. P. (2011). Designing and conducting mixed methods research. Sage.
- EDUCAUSE. (2021). 2021 EDUCAUSE horizon report. Teaching and learning edition.
- Graham, C. G., & Allen, S. (2011). Designing Blended Learning Environments. In Encyclopedia of Distance Learning, Second Edition. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-198-8.ch082
- Graham, C. R. (2019). Current research in blended learning. In M. G. Moore & W. C. Diehl (Eds.), The handbook of distance education (4th ed., pp. 173–188). Routledge.
- Graham, C. R., & Robison, R. (2007). Realizing the transformational potential of blended Learning: Comparing cases of transforming blends and enhancing blends in higher education. In A. G. Picciano & C. D. Dziuban (Eds.), Blended learning research perspectives (pp. 83–110). Sloan-C.
- Horn, M. B., & Staker, H. (2015). Blended using disruptive innovation to improve schools. JOSSEY-BASS.
- INACOL International Association for K-12 Online Learning. (2011). The online learning definitions project.
- Lien, C. T. X. (2015). Enhancing writing skills for second-year english majors through a Moodlebased blended writing course. 6th International TESOL Conference.
- Nunan, D. (1991). Language teaching methodology a textbook for teachers. Prentice Hall.
- Oliver, K., & Kellogg, S. (2015). Credit recovery in a virtual school: Affordances of online learning for the at-risk student. Journal of Online Learning Research, 1(2), 191–218.

- Olshtain, E. (2001). The functional task for mastering the mechanics of writing and going just beyond. In M. Celce Murcia (Ed.), Teaching English as a second or foreign language (Issue 1, pp. 207–217).
- Purnawarman, P., Susilawati, & Sundayana, W. (2016). The use of edmodo in teaching writing in a blended learning setting. Indonesian Journal of Appled Linguistics, 5(2), 242–252.
- Puspita, N., Alfaruq, U., & Hasyim, A. (2019). Implementing blended learning to promote sustainable teaching and learning process in writing class. Jurnal Tadris Bahasa Inggris, 12(1), 120–128. https://ejournal.radenintan.ac.id/index.php/ENGEDU
- Singh, H., & Reed, C. (2001). A white paper: Achieving success with blended learning.
- Thi, D., & Anh, N. (2019). EFL student's writing skills: Challenges and remedies. Journal of Research & Method in Education, 9(6).
- Wang, N., Chen, J., Tai, M., & Zhang, J. (2021). Blended learning for Chinese university EFL learners: learning environment and learner perceptions. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 34(3), 297–323. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2019.1607881

Journal of Educational Technology

& Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Online peer assessment in teacher education

Fatma Betül KURNAZ ^a * 🕩

^a Karabuk University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Kurnaz, F. B. (2021). Online peer assessment in teacher education. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 835-853.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Online peer assessment Higher education Teacher education Online learning	It has become necessary to monitor the change in learners' skills during the education carried out in electronic environments. In this study, pre-service teachers made a presentation in their teaching practice, and a formative assessment was given to ensure active participation of the observer pre-service teachers in the online peer assessment process. The observer pre-service teachers were asked to evaluate their peers' performances using a rubric. Based on the quantitative data collected and analyzed, questions about the experiences of the participants were created, and the opinions of the participants were obtained through e-mail. The research findings were obtained through the sequential explanatory mixed method. The study revealed that the observer preservice teachers consistently. The research also showed that the validity of the assessments was significantly low especially in the evaluation of low and medium level performances. The qualitative findings confirmed the quantitative findings.

1. Introduction

Teaching is a profession equipping students with certain knowledge and skills using various methods and techniques. Thus, pre-service teachers need assistance in planning of teaching, classroom management, evaluation of teaching, and choosing the appropriate teaching methods (Lemlech, 1995). They should also be supported in terms of communication skills, classroom discourse, and professional motivation (Tomlinson, 1998). Pre-service teachers' active involvement in the assessment processes may help them acquire professional and social skills (Carr, 2020; Taskiran, 2021; Zeng, 2020).

Since December 2019, when the Covid-19 pandemic broke out, daily life has undergone an inevitable change, and education has been carried out online in most countries to ensure social distancing. As a result, the structure of education and training processes have remarkably changed, which has necessitated the monitoring of the change in learners' skills using different methods. In particular, it intends to reveal the effectiveness of pre-service teachers' peer assessment of presentation performances in an online course.

1.1. Participatory Assessment Processes in Teacher Education

Most teachers perceive assessment merely as grading. However, assessment involves much more than this (Lu & Law, 2012). Learners' assessment of their own or peers' work, use of a rubric for this purpose, and their active participation in the assessment processes make assessment a part of the learning process. If preservice teachers acquire this culture of assessment during their pedagogical education, they may employ

* Corresponding author: Karabuk University, Turkey.

e-mail address: betulkurnaz@karabuk.edu.tr

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.987902

Received 27 Aug 2021; Revised 11 Dec 2021; Accepted 12 Dec 2021

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.



This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

diverse teaching practices in the future. Self-assessment and peer assessment during pedagogical training may help teacher trainees understand the purpose and function of these assessments. Seeing the results of these assessments during their own learning may allow them a deeper insight into their teaching practice (Li et al., 2020; Reinholz, 2016; Zeng, 2020). Their perspectives on assessment can also be enriched through such experiences. Computer-mediated peer assessments are less discouraging for students because negative interactions are more limited in this mode, so they are more beneficial than peer assessments carried out in the classroom (Li et al., 2020).

1.2. Peer Assessment

Peer assessment is the evaluation of the performance or a product of a student by other students of the same status using predetermined criteria. Since peer assessment involves the evaluation of a certain performance, it enables the assessor to reflect on the skills required by performance (Roscoe & Chi, 2007), reinforces students' knowledge on the subject (Black et al., 2003), improves autonomy, and provides guidance for students to realize their own mistakes (Topping, 2009). Peer assessment also provides cognitive (Nelson & Schunn, 2009) and pedagogical (Strijbos et al., 2010) benefits to the learner. Indeed, many studies in the literature investigated the reliability and validity of peer assessments (Cho et al., 2006; Chang et al., 2011; Jones & Alcock, 2014), the relationship between peer assessment and self-assessment (Reinholz, 2016), and the effect of emotional or cognitive assessments in peer assessment (Zhou et al., 2020).

If well-managed, peer assessment processes enable the assessors to identify what to assess and establish the respect framework during the assessment (Zhou et al., 2020). It is also stated in the literature that, when peer and self-assessment are used together, learning experience is enhanced (Nicol & MacFarlane-Dick, 2006) and peer assessment is perceived as encouraging by learners (Ohaja et al., 2013).

1.3. Objectives of the research

Substantial evidence in the literature shows that assessment is an important part of the teaching profession and that pre-service teachers' participation in the assessment process during their pedagogical training increases their competence. As maintained earlier, peers who make the assessment evaluate performance critically. These assessments are expected to give more reliable and valid results in time. Therefore, research on how peer assessment changes in time can shed light onto peer assessment in general. In addition, because there is limited research on online peer assessments (Cheng et al., 2015; Iglesias Pérez et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020), it is hoped that this study is significant as it investigates both online peer assessment and the changes that takes place in assessment. Assessment needs to be carefully addressed since assessment quality is increasingly seen as a major element of education quality.

In this study, pre-service teachers were asked to make a presentation in their teaching practice, and the observer pre-service teachers to make online peer assessment. Their active participation was ensured by means of formative assessment approach. That is, the observer pre-service teachers were asked to evaluate their peers' performances using a rubric. In this study, based on the analysis of quantitative data, questions about the experiences of the participants were formed. The research findings were obtained using the sequential explanatory mixed method. The following questions were addressed in the study:

1. How reliable are the online peer assessments of the observer pre-service teachers?

2. To what extent do the online formative peer assessment of the observer pre-service teachers and that of the instructor differ?

3. How do the assessment of the observer pre-service teachers and that of the instructor differ according to different levels?

4. How do the observer pre-service teachers perceive the online peer assessment process?

The study used the sequential explanatory mixed method, which is a type of mixed method. It started with the quantitative stage, and in the qualitative stage, data were collected and analyzed based on the findings obtained from the quantitative stage. In the first phase, the problem situation was defined, and the research questions were formulated. Data collection tools were prepared, and preliminary analyses on their reliability and validity were conducted (Creswell, 2014; Creswell & Clark, 2017).

While analyzing the quantitative data, salient results were determined, and significant and non-significant results were examined. The qualitative phase was designed based on these findings. First, the qualitative research questions were determined, and then, a sample was selected by purposeful sampling strategy. The extent to which qualitative results helped to explain quantitative data was also discussed.

2.1. Participants

The research was conducted with a total of 56 participants studying teacher education at a state university in Turkey. Of them, 12 are male, while 44 are female. At the time the study, the participants had completed or were enrolled in undergraduate education in the child development program, which admitted senior students or graduates. In the fall semester, they completed the following must courses: Instructional Principles and Methods, Measurement and Evaluation in Education, Educational Psychology, and Introduction to Educational Science. Then, in the spring semester, the students took the applied courses, including Teaching Methods, Instructional Technologies, and Material Development. Upon completion of these, students were expected to do practice teaching, which requires preparation of a lesson on a specific subject in applied courses and demonstration of their teaching skills. This research was carried out during these applied courses.

2.2. Instrument

An instrument was developed to evaluate the presentation skills of pre-service teachers in practice lessons. Online peer assessment was done using an analytical rubric. The steps followed in the creation of the rubric are summarized below.

In the development of the rubric, first, the performance reflecting the task was defined clearly. This preceded the rubric development. Behaviors to be displayed in the performance were listed. The best performance criteria that correspond to these behaviors were described, followed by the weakest performance criteria. Other criteria were determined after determining the best and the poorest performances.

Following the definition of the performance, the criteria were examined, and the related ones were combined. Then, the components of the task (using effective and appropriate body language, using the voice appropriately, etc.) were determined. It was done so in advance to increase the validity of the assessments and to make sure the students and teachers understand the same thing from the assessment criteria (Topping et al., 2000). After the performance criteria were re-organized and grouped in bands, each band was labelled (*content, compliance with spelling rules*, etc.). Then, the number and name of ratings were determined. Generally, three or five ratings are recommended depending on the student level and content (Popham, 1997). Since the task planned to be assessed in this study is not too complicated to define, a three-point assessment in one dimension and a four-point assessment in the other dimension was decided on. The necessity of using positive expressions that aim to improve the action was considered while determining the names of the bands in the rating scale (Stevens & Levi, 2013). The four-point scale included the adjectives *competent, good, almost good,* and *needs to be improved*.

The rubric was evaluated by three experts from the field of educational science for clarity, understandability, and validity, and it was revised accordingly. The validity of the rubric was achieved

through content validity analysis, which focuses on the relationship between the criteria and the task and the extent to which they reflect the expected behavior. Expert opinion, literature review, and the compatibility of the criteria with the task and with each other provided evidence to content validity.

The reliability of the rubric was tested in a pilot-study, which did not involve the actual participants. This group consisted of pre-service teachers who completed their degree in geography and who received the same pedagogical training as the study group. In this group, the students were asked to make a ten-minute presentation on a topic of their choice in their field. Two experts in educational sciences, who were given training on the content of the task, the rubric, and its use, independently evaluated the performance of four pre-service teachers using the rubric. There was a 90% agreement between raters, which suggests that the inter-rater reliability was high.

2.3. Procedure

The pre-service teachers had received or were receiving undergraduate education in the child development program. For this reason, all the pre-service teachers had taken many courses on developmental psychology during their undergraduate education. It was decided that the content of the presentations should be related to developmental psychology, a subject all the pre-service teachers presumably knew well. Choosing different concepts related to developmental psychology (sensory development, identity development, psycho-sexual development periods, etc.), the pre-service teachers were to prepare a presentation to be delivered online. They were informed that they would use technologies such as video, PowerPoint, and jpeg during their presentation and that they were expected to make their presentations without reading from their notes, paying attention to aspects such as tone of voice.

The procedure lasted for ten weeks. During the first two weeks, training was given on the principles of effective presentations with reference to specific examples. Seven pre-service teachers made their presentations in the third week. The instructor gave reflective feedback on the performances by explaining the relationship between the criteria in the rubric and the performance. While giving feedback, the instructor shared the screen with the pre-service teachers so that they could understand how the assessment was done. The reflective feedback, or the instructor's explanations about the relationship between the criteria in the rubric and performance, constituted one stage of the training. For this reason, there was no peer evaluation of the presentations made in the third week.

The other pre-service teachers made their presentations for seven weeks, and the other pre-service teachers evaluated these performances. The instructor did not interfere with these assessments and did not provide any reflective feedback not to influence the pre-service teachers' assessments. The total number of presentations evaluated in seven weeks was 49.

The classes were held online on Microsoft Teams. The pre-service teachers uploaded their presentations to a class opened on the Google Classroom application. During the online class hour, the video recorded performances of the pre-service teachers who were assigned to that week were watched all together. All the pre-service teachers sent their assessments at the same time, right after watching the videos. That is, the participants assumed the role of both the assessor and the assessed.

Qualitative data were obtained through emails from the group, in which quantitative data were collected. Collecting qualitative data by e-mail is seen as a preferable method when all participants have access to e-mail and use it in their professional lives (James & Busher, 2006). In addition, the use of e-mail in obtaining qualitative data allows participants to explore and reconsider their insights into their evolving professional identities to move back and forth in their narratives, and reflect on and redesign their responses (Mann & Stewart, 2000). This medium was also preferred in the present study as all the participants of this study regularly use their university e-mail addresses in different activities during the classes. Four open-ended questions prepared in line with the quantitative data were sent to the participants by e-mail. The questions asked the pre-service teachers to reflect on their experiences and opinions about the online peer assessment

process, the effectiveness of the procedure, and their involvement as decision-makers. Eleven participants responded to the questionnaire and shared their responses with the researchers. The qualitative data includes the responses of these 11 participants.

2.4. Data analyses

Although the pre-service teachers were required to attend all the assessment sessions, they had to be excused for one or two weeks if they had a valid excuse such as illness. In addition, since the lessons were conducted online, the pre-service teachers could not assess a few presentations due to technical problems such as unstable internet connection. For this reason, the data obtained from the pre-service teachers who could make all the assessments was analyzed. The number of pre-service teachers who showed full participation in the assessments varied across weeks. To minimize data loss, the data collected from the participants whose assessments were complete in a certain week were included in the analysis.

In data analysis, the reliability of the results was calculated by using the *G* and Φ coefficients, and the validity was tested using Spearman correlation and Wilcoxon *t*-Test, with the instructor's assessments being a criterion.

In generalizability (*G*) theory, unlike in the classical test theory, a single reliability value can be reached by considering more than one error source at the same time. In this study, *G* and Φ coefficients were used to analyze the data. Since all error sources are evaluated together and simultaneously in *G* theory, it gives a comprehensive reliability coefficient. Also, it is believed that the traditional difference between reliability and validity in classical test theory can be eliminated by making reliable observations (Brennan, 2001; Shavelson & Webb, 1991). For this reason, the *G* theory was used. Since the number of performances evaluated is more than one, the *G* coefficient and Φ coefficient were calculated for the two-facet design (*s x i x r*), where the source of variability is items and raters. *G* and Φ coefficients close to 1 means that the assessments are consistent.

The correlations between the assessment scores of the pre-service teachers and those of the instructor were examined using the Spearman correlation coefficient. The Wilcoxon *t*-Test was used to examine whether the two were significantly different. In this study, the Wilcoxon *t*-Test, which is a non-parametric test, was used as the number of presentations evaluated in a week was low and the parametric tests may be affected by the number of observations, which may in turn affect the generalizability of the results. These analyses provided evidence to the validity of online peer assessments.

After quantitative data analysis, qualitative data analysis was performed. Qualitative data were analyzed through thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Here, pre-service teachers' responses to the questions were examined in terms of which themes were associated with which situation and concepts. Thus, general themes and sub-themes were identified. A theoretical analysis approach was adopted in the qualitative data analysis. For this reason, frequency was not considered in the display of themes and sub-themes, and it was assumed that all the elements that the pre-service teachers associated with the online peer assessment process were of the same importance. The themes were intended to reflect all the data, and the responses were reviewed three times to reach reliable and valid results. Then, the themes and sub-themes were given names, and the relationship matrix was given.

2.5. Findings

The findings revealed by the analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data are presented below under separate headings.

2. 5. 1. Findings of quantitative data analysis

When scores are more consistent across different raters and situations, the assessment is regarded to be more reliable (Moskal & Leydens, 2000). To investigate the reliability of online peer assessments in the study, the consistency between the scores given by the pre-service teachers was monitored in different

weeks, and G and Φ coefficients were calculated separately for each week. The findings obtained are presented in Table 1.

Table 1.

G and Φ coefficients for inter-rater reliability

	Component	df	Mean	Variance	Variance %	G	${\it \Phi}$
	Datar	40	12 59994	616 85200			
	Katel	49	12.30004	6 005 45			
_	Itelli	10	0.09033	1.06905	0.0		
K		0	0.17801	1.00805	0.0	0.02	0.02
Vec	Rater X Itelli Doton y Individual	490	2.21044	1080.0333	/8./	0,82	0,82
	Kater x Individual	294	0.39038	110.39429	0.0		
	Doton y Itom y Individual	2040	0.46913	29.34909	0.0		
	Rater X Item X Individual	2940	15 12614	575 17240	21.5		
	Katel	50 10	13.13014	0 61220			
2	Itelli	10	0.90124	9.01259	0.0		
ek (Individual Dotor y Itom	280	0.43179	2.39074	0.2	0.80	0.80
Vec	Rater X Item	200	1.08284	039.47832	80.8	0,89	0,89
-	Kater x Individual	228	0.32277	/3.39108	0.9		
	Deterry Items y Individual	00	0.28820	17.29204	0.0		
	Rater X Item X Individual	2280	0.30725	/00.52014	18.1		
	Kater	43	10.12/15	095.40724			
	Item Individual	10	0.80133	8.01334	0.0		
3		0	0.20101	1.30900	0.0		
eek	Rater X Item	430	1.90555	819.38000	//.5	0,88	0,88
M	Kater x Individual	258	0.43300	111.72904	0.2	,	,
	Deterry Items y Individual	60	0.37449	22.40930	0.0		
	Kater x hem x murviduar	2580	0.42977	1108.8034	22.5		
	Rater	54	7.62215	411.59622			
	Item	10	0.70144	7.01440	0.0		
4	Individual	6	0.54703	3.28217	0.2		
eek	Rater x Item	540	1.05262	568.41417	51.3	0,86	0,85
M	Rater x Individual	324	0.53589	173.62692	4.6		
	Item x Individual	60	0.35257	21.15419	0.0		
	Rater x Item x Individual	3240	0.48534	1572.5081	43.9		
	Rater	49	14.35303	703.29870			
	Item	10	1.21018	12.10182	0.0		
S.	Individual	6	0.19688	1.18130	0.0		
eek	Rater x Item	490	1.58643	777.35273	74.5	0,89	0,89
M	Rater x Individual	294	0.39902	117.31221	0.0		
	Item x Individual	60	0.56812	34.08727	0.2		
	Rater x Item x Individual	2940	0.40145	1180.2763	25.3		
	Rater	45	23.25077	1046.2845			
	Item	10	0.73591	7.35912	0.0		
6	Individual	6	0.10399	0.62394	0.0		
eek	Rater x Item	450	1.51063	679.78374	76.1	0,93	0,93
Ň	Rater x Individual	270	0.36517	98.59684	1.7		
	Item x Individual	60	0.42656	25.59345	0.1		
	Rater x Item x Individual	2700	0.33885	914.90006	22.0		
	Rater	45	7.42602	334.17081			
~	Item	10	0.45246	4.52456	0.0		
sk.	Individual	6	0.09750	0.58498	0.0	0.01	0.01
Već	Rater x Item	450	1.45136	653.11180	83.0	0,81	0,81
	Rater x Individual	270	0.21169	57.15528	0.0		
	Item x Individual	60	0.23777	14.26595	0.0		

The consistency between the assessments of the pre-service teachers varied between 0.81 and 0.93 in different weeks (Table 1). According to the theory of generalizability, reliability and generalizability coefficients exceeding .80 are generally considered to be acceptable (Brown et al., 2004). It can be interpreted that the values obtained in this study are reliable.

Examination of the sources of variability manifested that the rater-item interaction is greater than other sources of variance in all weeks. As can be seen in Table 1, in four weeks (Weeks 2, 3, 4, and 6), the rater-individual interaction is also a source of variance; however, its weight is lower than the rater-item interaction. This indicates that inter-rater consistency is high; however, it still shows that rater-item interaction is an important source of variance in assessment. Consistency in the assessments of the preservice teachers is a measure of reliability as it shows the relationships within. Since these analyses do not include the assessments of the instructor, the coefficients obtained show the consistency among the assessments of the pre-service teachers.

The correlations between the pre-service teachers' assessment scores and the instructor's showed significant relationships at the level of .01. The Spearman rank differences correlation coefficients (r) ranged from 0.411 to 0.778. While Spearman's correlation coefficient demonstrates the consistency in the decisions of the pre-service teachers, it cannot show the rate of consistency (Sencan, 2005). Since averages are not used in the calculation of this coefficient, information about the similarity or difference between the two data groups cannot be obtained. It can only provide information about data interchange. The correlation coefficient indicates how the assessment scores of the pre-service teachers and those of the instructor changed together. Indeed, the positive correlation shows that, as the score assigned by the instructor increases, the score assigned by the pre-service teachers increases, and as the score assigned by the instructor decreases, so do the scores assigned by the trainee teachers. The positive and significant correlation value suggests that the assessments change in the same direction. However, it cannot provide information on whether the scores are similar or not. Similarly, the performances rated highly by the instructor received high scores from the pre-service teachers. Whether the scores were similar or not was examined using the Wilcoxon *t*-Test.

Examining the difference between the decisions of the pre-service teachers and the decisions of the instructor with the Wilcoxon *t*-Test can provide important information about the accuracy of the decisions. In the study, the Wilcoxon *t*-Test was used to examine whether there were significant differences between the two. The p values for the results obtained are presented in Table 2.

Table 2.

				WEEK			
Assessor	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	.091	.343	.046	.075	.017	.026	.058
2	.203	.246	.027	.063	.018	.041	.115
3	.462	.104	.028	.027	.027	.041	.276
4	.027	.223	.018	.028	.018	.040	.046
5	.833	.916	.034	.028	.172	.088	.089
6	.398	.667	.018	.063	.528	.395	.075
7	.865	.854	.046	.396	.546	.201	.207
8	.054	.345	.018	.034	.071	.018	.066
9	.141	.596	.046	.028	.141	.027	.080
10	.865	.916	.034	.043	.072	.016	.307
11	.463	.246	.034	.916	.279	.861	.340
12	.042	.345	.018	.027	.018	.026	.078

The p values obtained from the Wilcoxon t-Test regarding the difference between the assessment scores of the pre-service teachers and those of the instructor

13	.091	.461	.018	.027	.027	.089	.174
14	.446	.933	.018	.028	.026	.039	.113
15	.062	.078	.018	.028	.027	.062	.062
16	.058	.068	.017	.034	.028	.024	.140
17	.225	.104	.027	.108	.027	.066	.588
18	.144	.461	.042	.028	.018	.026	.223
19	.102	.715	.108	.027	.027	.058	.140
20	.202	.673	.018	.028	.027	.389	.234
21	.141	.892	.017	.028	.028	.290	.115
22	.072	.496	.063	.028	.167	.027	.066
23	.463	.273	.051	.127	.498	.089	.236
24	.307	.285	.042	.046	.042	.673	.798
25	.933	.141	.149	.042	.112	.063	.068
26	.046	.273	.018	.043	.028	.230	.063
27	.017	.225	.018	.042	.042	.058	.078
28	.173	.599	.027	.028	.072	.752	.108
29	.345	.605	.201	.063	.018	.027	.086
30	.496	.276	.351	.046	.172	.112	.041
31	.735	.916	.034	.046	.042	.595	.107
32	.105	.136	.028	.125	.027	.027	.088
33	.018	.786	.018	.026	.461	.680	.138
34	.128	.713	.017	.091	.027	.174	.340
35	.092	.596	.028	.033	.027	.068	.202
36	.237	.276	.028	.041	.225	.357	.042
37	.075	.144	.018	.028	.027	.041	.114
38	.201	.786	.018	.028	.026	.172	.128
39	.028	.340	.115	.028	.028	.414	.043
40	.028	.715	.018	.027	.051	.599	.089
41	.115	.599	.018	.034	.063	.042	.080
42	.107	.080	.018	.027	.340	.017	.063
43	.088	.225	.028	.028	.042	.114	.068
44	.674	.345	.027	.028	.115	.105	.089
The number of consistent							
assessments	37	43	7	9	18	27	40

The p values given in Table 2 provide information on the significance of the difference between the assessments of the instructor and those of the pre-service teachers. In this study, p values are expected to be higher than .05. A p value greater than .05 indicates that the instructor's and the pre-service teachers' assessments do not differ significantly.

An analysis of the number of assessments consistent with the decisions taken by the instructor in different weeks shows that the pre-service teachers made effective assessments in the 1st, 2nd, and 7th weeks, while they made ineffective assessments in the 3rd and 4th weeks. In the 5th week, almost half of the evaluations were correct, and in the 6th week, more than half of the evaluations were correct. In fact, the accuracy of the pre-service teachers' assessments was expected to increase throughout the process. However, this did not occur in this study. In other words, the pre-service teachers could not make decisions with increasing accuracy in the seven-week period.

The pre-service teachers were observed to have difficulties in making the right decision in the 3rd and 4th weeks. This may be attributed to the fact that there were more students with different performance levels in these weeks than in other weeks and the presentation performances were examined according to the instructor's assessments. Firstly, the average and standard deviation values of the scores obtained from the instructor's assessments in different weeks were examined. The findings are given in Table 3.

Table 3.

Mean and standard deviation values for the instructor's assessments

	Week1	Week2	Week3	Week4	Week5	Week6	Week7
Mean	29,14	31,57	24,57	25,0	27,9	29,7	31,7
Standard deviation	6,0	7,1	6,2	6,6	4,3	5,3	4,5

As can be seen in Table 3, the mean scores of instructor assessments in the 3rd and 4th weeks are lower than the other weeks. The mean score has decreased in the fifth week, and the standard deviation has narrowed. Thus, it can be concluded that, as the quality of the performance decreased, the pre-service teachers had difficulty making the right decisions in their assessment. To examine this, performances are divided into different levels, taking into consideration the minimum and maximum values that can be obtained from the rubric. While determining the assessment criteria, narrow score ranges were preferred as this could reveal the performance differences better. The performance bands were defined according to the instructor's assessments. The pre-service teachers evaluated with the scores of 11-15 (performance level 1), 16-20 (performance level 2), 21-25 (performance level 3), 26-30 (performance level 4), and 30 or higher (performance level 5) were grouped, and the Wilcoxon *t*-Test was repeated for each group. Since there were no pre-service teachers who received scores in the range of 11-15, the performance analysis was conducted based on four levels. The *p* values obtained are presented in Table 4.

Table 4.

p values obtained from Wilcoxon *t*-Test regarding the difference between the pre-service teachers' assessment scores and the instructor's assessment scores according to the level of performance

	Performance level				
Assessor	2	3	4	5	
1	.018	.007	.003	.251	
2	.018	.007	.004	.775	
3	.018	.005	.007	.684	
4	.018	.005	.003	.008	
5	.018	.028	.007	.628	
6	.018	.012	.050	.096	
7	.046	.113	.283	.521	
8	.018	.005	.006	.058	
9	.028	.008	.004	.862	
10	.018	.016	.010	.450	
11	.107	.017	.065	.020	
12	.018	.005	.003	.021	
13	.034	.008	.003	.160	
14	.018	.005	.005	.826	
15	.018	.005	.004	.006	
16	.018	.005	.003	.097	
17	.043	.011	.008	.392	
18	.027	.007	.007	.087	
19	.018	.018	.003	.439	
20	.018	.005	.003	.301	
21	.034	.007	.003	.139	
22	.034	.005	.010	.260	
23	.150	.012	.016	.736	
24	.028	.008	.005	.185	
25	.063	.058	.009	.191	
26	.041	.005	.005	.087	
27	.028	.005	.005	.034	
28	.018	.004	.026	.757	
29	.051	.007	.004	.792	
30	.121	.066	.014	.391	

31	.018	.007	.016	.155
32	.017	.005	.025	.249
33	.026	.019	.059	.315
34	.046	.005	.036	.841
35	.026	.005	.003	.794
36	.093	.014	.007	.256
37	.018	.005	.004	.061
38	.018	.005	.006	.629
39	.018	.005	.005	.359
40	.028	.005	.012	.504
41	.027	.005	.009	.215
42	.018	.011	.008	.026
43	.046	.008	.007	.091
44	.028	.021	.004	.984
The number of consistent assessments	6	3	4	38

As can be seen in Table 4, the majority of the pre-service teachers could not make effective decisions in evaluating low and medium level performances; however, as the performance level increased, they could make more effective decisions in their assessments. For this reason, it may be concluded that it is the level of the assessed performance, rather than the number of assessments and the assessment process, that affects the accuracy of the pre-service teachers' assessments in different weeks.

2. 5. 2. Results of qualitative data analysis

Although performance assessments are carried out using rubrics, they are not free of the judgments of the evaluator. The major source of information about these judgments is the evaluators themselves. Evaluators' perceptions in online peer assessment can significantly influence the research results. Therefore, four questions were sent to the participants through e-mail ten days after the assessment period was completed. This section presents the findings regarding the experiences and perceptions of the participants about the assessment procedure followed in the study.

The results of the qualitative data analysis conducted through thematic analysis are summarized in Figure 1. As can be seen here, the views of the pre-service teachers on online peer assessment are categorized under five themes: (i) contribution, (ii) accuracy of the assessment, (iii) difficulties in the process, (iv) concerns, and (vi) the effects of the process on performance.

As regards the contribution of online peer assessment, the participants emphasized its effects on their learning. They reported that they associated the learning content and learning skills with unbiased evaluation, using the criteria improving presentation skills and enhancing practical training. They also stated that online peer assessment increased their attention in the lesson. As a matter of fact, they started to detect performance-related mistakes more easily, evaluated their own performance more effectively, understood the expected performance better, and participated in the lesson more. Below are some of the opinions of the participants on this issue.

"I learned to evaluate both my peers and myself using correct criteria and methods."

"We had to listen and understand carefully since we would evaluate and grade after the presentation."

"I transferred what I learned in this lesson to the teaching practice lesson, and I realized how much I learned, especially about preparing a presentation."



Fig. 1. Findings of the qualitative analysis of participants' views and experiences about the online peer assessment practice

The themes that emerged from the participant responses regarding the factors increasing the accuracy of the assessments are as follows: (i) reflection on performance by the help of criteria, (ii) wide coverage of the criteria, (iii) notes taken during the performance, (iv) effort for objectivity, (v) attendance to synchronous classes, and (vi) advantage of familiarity to topics. They stated that their psychological state during the assessments, uncertainty in their initial assessments, and unfamiliarity to the subject reduced the accuracy of the assessments. Below is the opinion of one participant on the issue:

"Initially I was very anxious while assessing the performance of my peers. I was asking myself if I could make the right assessment or not. However, I think that I made the right assessments because I had the opportunity to practice a lot before the actual assessment process."

The themes pertaining to the difficulties the participants experienced in their online peer assessment practices are as follows: (i) occasional inability to relate the criteria to the performance, (ii) difficulty to assess low and medium level performances, (iii) tendency to give high scores, (iv) internet connection problems, (v) lack of familiarity to the subject, and (vi) difficulty to remain subjective when evaluating friends. Participants stated that the clarity of the criteria, increasing experience with peer assessment, and the assessment of high-level performances reduced the difficulties they experienced in online peer assessment. Below are some of the opinions of the participants on this issue:

"Sometimes the internet problems I experienced at home negatively affected my assessment."

"It was easy to evaluate the friends who prepared for their presentations well and showed successful performances. However, I realized that I had difficulty in evaluating poor performances."

"I understood the presentation more clearly if I was familiar with the subject, but I had difficulties in evaluating some aspects of the presentations on subjects I did not know very well. For example, are the examples suitable for the subject? Were the selected examples correct? Does it fit the theoretical content? Evaluating these aspects were difficult in some subjects."

The participants stated that they were more anxious during the first assessments due to fear of making wrong assessments. They also stated that online peer assessments helped them make better preparations, increased their performance, allowed them to evaluate their own performance more realistically, and clarified what is expected of them in the presentation. Below are some of the opinions of the participants on this aspect:

"Being evaluated by my friends and knowing that this community of friends consists of my colleagues has made me study and research more for an almost perfect presentation."

"Thanks to the peer assessment procedure, I noticed the mistakes in my friends' presentations and performances. Thus, I had the opportunity to correct my mistakes and did my best to perform with as few mistakes as possible. As we evaluated each performance after watching them, I believe that we continuously reinforced what we learned and our learning became permanent."

2.6. Discussions

This study investigated the effects of and participants' perception into an online classroom practice which involved peer assessment of oral presentations. The practice was conducted with pre-service teachers who were undergoing their practice teaching training.

As regards the reliability of multiple assessments, the quantitative data analysis revealed that the pre-service teachers could evaluate different performances consistently. This result is in concordance with the findings of the research by Iglesias Pérez et al. (2020) pointing to the high reliability of peer assessments. The use of rubric in assessments increases inter-rater reliability (Jonsson & Svingby, 2007), which is confirmed by the findings obtained from the qualitative data analysis. According to the participants, the use of set criteria in the assessments, the clarity of the criteria, and the conformity between the criteria and the expected

performance increased consistency of their assessments. The participants attributed the accuracy of the assessments to taking notes during the evaluation of the performance, their efforts to make an objective and reliable evaluation, and their synchronous participation in classes.

Reliability is not the only critical concept in evaluating performance. Validity should also be established in authentic forms of assessment (Jonsson & Svingby, 2007). However, this may be difficult as far as performance assessments are concerned. In this study, the validity of the assessments was measured based on the relationship between teacher assessments and peer assessments. The analysis of the quantitative data revealed that online peer assessments may sometimes fail to produce valid results when the instructor's assessments are used as the criteria. In fact, the validity of the assessments proved significantly low in the evaluation of low and medium level performances. The qualitative findings revealed that the participants had difficulty especially in the initial assessments. They stated that sometimes they knew little about the subject, which affected the accuracy of their assessments. Qualitative findings were parallel to the quantitative findings.

The predetermined, clear, and precise criteria provide the evaluators with deep insights into peer assessments (Iglesias Pérez et al., 2020; Reuse-Durham, 2005); during these assessments, the criteria users learn about their own work (Lu & Law, 2012), and the effect size increases significantly when the evaluators are trained and the evaluation is done online (Li et al., 2020). In this study, consistent results were obtained in the assessments probably because the pre-service teachers were clearly informed about how to use the rubric and what to expect of the performance. This suggests that, in peer assessments, consistency increases when the purpose and function of peer assessment and the content of the task are well-explained. However, the consistency of the results does not guarantee their validity (Crocker & Algina, 1986). For this reason, in peer assessments, the accuracy of the assessments, as well as the consistency of the results, should be carefully examined.

The purpose of assessment is important in interpreting reliability and validity coefficients (Jonsson & Svingby, 2007). For example, while reliability and validity are more important in high-stake assessments, the contribution of assessment to teaching is more important in classroom assessments. While reliability is regarded as a prerequisite to validity in large-scale assessments, this does not necessarily apply to classroom assessments. Class decisions based on an assessment can easily be changed if they seem to be wrong (Black, 1998). Hence, lower levels of reliability are acceptable, at least with relatively low-risk assessments. In brief, validity tends to be more important in authentic classroom assessments. When an assessment that produces highly reliability results is ineffective in distinguishing between different performance levels, it is likely to be useful in classroom assessments (Gearhart et al.,1995).

Based on this argument in the literature, it can be concluded that, the ability of the pre-service teachers to make assessments by distinguishing between low and intermediate level students is a marked indicator of the validity of the peer assessments. That is, the aim of the peer assessment is to make more accurate decisions and to better evaluate their own performance based on these decisions, rather than produce reliable results. The results of this study show that what makes the assessors make the right decisions is not about the process alone or the procedure of multiple assessments, which is confirmed by participant responses. The participants stated that the following factors create difficulties in the online peer assessment process: (i) difficulty in establishing a relationship between performance and the criteria, (ii) challenge of evaluating medium and low-level performances, (iii) tendency to give high scores, (iv) unstable internet connection (v) unfamiliarity to the subject, and (vi) difficulty to remain objective when assessing friends.

The quantitative and qualitative findings show that making multiple assessments or hoping that these assessments will be valid over time may jeopardize the potential benefit from peer assessments. In this study, the instructor provided a theoretical training on performance content only in the first two weeks and a practical training on performance assessments in the third week. This initial training was not sufficient for peer assessments to produce valid results. In future studies on online peer assessment, the validity of

the assessments can be investigated considering this situation; it is advised that feedback sessions and training practices be spread over time, rather than conducted in a specific period. It is also recommended that assessors be exposed to some content to gain experience. The instructor's giving descriptive and reflective feedback after each peer assessment can enhance the assessment assessors' experience.

Some findings suggest that, in peer assessment, grading alone does not provide a significant gain for students, while descriptive or reflective feedback does (Li et al., 2020). Zeng (2020) stated that reflective feedback should include topics beyond teaching and presentation and that the reflection process should be structured to contribute to learning. Training is effective in increasing the consistency between the judgments of the assessors; however, it should be noted that it will not completely eliminate differences in decisions (Stuhlmann et al., 1999; Weigle, 1999).

In their study conducted with university students, Jones and Alcock (2014) stated that peer assessments give reliable and valid results. They further maintained that in peer assessments, inter-rater reliability is generally lower than it is between experts because students have less experience than experts and less subject matter knowledge. In the study, it was stated that the correlation between peer assessments was lower than the correlation between experts' assessments. This finding is consistent with the findings of the present study.

Validity is about the correct use of assessment tools as far as performance assessment is concerned. This shows that assessors are an important factor affecting the validity of the results (Baartman et al., 2007). In performance evaluation, the main reason why reliability is associated with inter-rater reliability is closely linked with the evaluator's subjective judgments. However, it is not sufficient to examine the consistency between raters alone. At the same time, consistency must be maintained between varying tasks (Dunbar et al., 1991).

Although making more assessments might be thought to enable pre-service teachers to grasp the assessment process and relate the performance to criteria more effectively, in reality, the accuracy of the assessments was influenced by the quality of the performance evaluated more than the process. The related literature expresses that higher education students can make more accurate assessments in peer assessment than K12 students because of their stronger reflection skills (Falchikov & Boud, 1989). Thus, it was concluded that the assessors in the present study should have received more reflective feedback in evaluating the level of performance even if they studied in higher education or graduated from an undergraduate program. Presumably, feedback on the accuracy of their own assessments will enable the pre-service teachers to evaluate different performances more accurately.

One reason for the low validity of online peer assessments may be that the assessors are not knowledgeable and experienced in the subject they are assessing (Van den Berg et al.,2006). This is also supported by the qualitative findings obtained in this study. The participants stated that they had greater difficulty in making an assessment when they did not know the subject very well.

It is further stated in the literature that the effectiveness of students in peer assessment varies (Falchikov & Goldfinch, 2000). Orsmond et al. (1996) argue that since students have an immature understanding of how to interpret the given criteria, they may not find what they look for although they know what to look for. The differences between the judgments of the instructor and the pre-service teachers can, therefore, be attributed not only to performance, but to the students' insufficient understanding of the criteria used. Thus, associating the reflective feedback to be given after peer assessments with both performance and criteria may help eliminate these two obstacles. In this study, the participants stated that they sometimes had difficulty in establishing a connection between the performance and the criteria. This finding coincides with the related literature (Orsmond et al., 1996).

3. Conclusion and Suggestions

Assessors being unfamiliar to the subject they are assessing and inexperienced in peer assessment might account for the low validity of online peer assessments (Van den Berg et al., 2006), an assumption also supported by the qualitative findings of the study. The participants pointed to the greater difficulty they had in making assessments when their knowledge on the subject was limited.

In this study, it was observed that the pre-service teachers could evaluate varying performances consistently. However, the validity of the assessments proved significantly low in the evaluation of low and medium level performances. It may be because instructor's assessments were used as the criteria, which may not produce valid results in online peer assessments all the time. The initial three weeks of theoretical training and reflective feedback were obviously insufficient to produce valid online peer assessments.

In the qualitative part of the study, the pre-service teachers brought up the contribution of online peer assessment to their development, the accuracy of the assessments, the difficulties experienced in the process, the effect of this experience on their own performance, and the concerns they had about the procedure. The findings regarding the contributions of online peer assessment can be summarized as follows. The participants reported that online peer assessment:

- facilitates learning how to use the criteria and making assessments objectively,
- contributes to their own learning,
- improves their attendance to the lesson, helping them understand performance-related mistakes and learn how to evaluate their own performance,
- clarifies expectations from the task, and
- increases their participation in classes.

The findings regarding the accuracy of online peer assessment are grouped below. The participants believed that:

- using clear and comprehensive criteria increases their involvement in the performance, increasing accuracy of assessments,
- taking notes on the performance to be objective while making assessments led to accurate assessments,
- being familiar to the subject helped them make better decisions, also contributing to their development in the process, and
- viewing better performances added to accuracy.

As far as the negative aspects regarding the accuracy of online peer assessment are concerned, the preservice teachers stated that

- their psychological mood during the assessment affected the accuracy of the assessments, and
- their inexperience and difficulty in making the right decisions on unfamiliar subjects decreased the accuracy of the assessments in the initial assessments.

As regards the difficulties experienced in the process, the participants stated the sources and solutions to difficulties:

• They had difficulties in relating the criteria to the performance, evaluating low and medium level performances, and assessing presentations on less-known subjects. Tendency to give high scores, internet connection problems, and difficulty to evaluate friends objectively were other problems that, they believed, negatively affected the assessment process.

• They stated that the clarity of the criteria, the increasing experience in making assessments, and the evaluation of high-level performances reduce these difficulties.

The pre-service teachers stated that online peer assessment caused some anxiety. The anxiety level was higher in the first runs, and they were afraid to make incorrect assessments. As far as the impact of online peer assessment on their own performance is concerned, the pre-service teachers stated that

- their motivation and attention increased, and
- their understanding of the performance descriptors improved,
- which, in turn, escalated their overall performance.

The results obtained in this study regarding the low validity of online peer assessments do not necessarily mean that peer assessments should be avoided in classroom practices. The related literature has substantial evidence to the advantages of it. The use of peer assessments in classroom practices has a positive effect on students' learning (McConlogue, 2015). Learners making peer assessments believe in the benefits of it as they can reflect on their own performance and improve it (Wanner & Palmer, 2018). Learners reflect on performance during peer assessment and learn to make constructive criticism (Wang et al., 2012).

Research on peer assessment processes reveal different results for different parties: those who assess and those who are assessed (Lu & Law, 2012). Assessment processes enable assessors to improve their skills in the task of assessing. The effect of peer assessments on the assessors' own performance was out of the scope of this study since there was not enough time for a preservice teacher to make more than one presentation. It is suggested that future studies investigate this aspect of peer assessment.

References

- Baartman, L. K., Bastiaens, T. J., Kirschner, P. A., & Van der Vleuten, C. P. (2007). Teachers' opinions on quality criteria for Competency Assessment Programs. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(6), 857-867. doi: 10.1016/j.tate.2006.04.043.
- Black, P. (1998). *Testing: friend or foe? Theory and Practice of Assessment and Testing*. Maidenhead, London: Falmer Press.
- Black, P., Harrison, C., & Lee, C. (2003). Assessment for Learning: Putting It Into Practice. UK: Open University Press.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp0630a.
- Brennan, R. L. (2001). Generalizability Theory. New York: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-3456-0.
- Brown, G., Glasswell, K., & Harland, D. (2004). Accuracy in scoring of writing: Studies of reliability and validity using a New Zealand writing assessment system. *Assessing Writing*, *9*, 105–121. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2004.07.001.
- Carr, J. (2020). Teacher Candidate Perceptions on Alternative Asynchronous Online Discussion Boards. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 3(3), 288-310. doi: 10.31681/jetol.752283.
- Chang, C. C., Tseng, K. H., Chou, P. N. & Chen, Y. H. (2011). Reliability and validity of web-based portfolio peer assessment: A case study for a senior high school's students taking computer course. *Computers and Education*, *57*, 1306–16. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2011.01.014.
- Cheng, K. H., Liang, J. C., & Tsai, C. C. (2015). Examining the role of feedback messages in undergraduate students' writing performance during an online peer assessment activity. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 25, 78–84. doi: 10.1016/j.iheduc.2015.02.001.

- Cho, K., Schunn, C. D., & Wilson, R. W. (2006). Validity and reliability of scaffolded peer assessment of writing from instructor and student perspectives. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(4), 891. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.98.4.891.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). A Concise Introduction to Mixed Methods Research. USA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. L. P. (2017). *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research*. USA: Sage publications Inc.
- Crocker, L., & Algina, J. (1986). Introduction to Classical and Modern Test Theory. USA: Thomson Learning.
- Dunbar, S. B., Koretz, D. M., & Hoover, H. D. (1991). Quality control in the development and use of performance assessment. *Applied Measurement in Education*, 4, 289-303. doi: 10.1207/s15324818ame0404_3.
- Falchikov, N., & Boud, D. (1989). Student self-assessment in higher education: A meta-analysis. *Review* of Educational Research, 59(4), 395–430. doi: 10.3102/00346543059004395.
- Falchikov, N., & Goldfinch, J. (2000). Student peer assessment in higher education: A meta-analysis comparing peer and teacher marks. *Review of Educational Research*, 70, 287–322. doi: 10.3102/00346543070003287.
- Gearhart, M., Herman, J. L., Novak, J. R., & Wolf, S. A. (1995). Toward the instructional utility of largescale writing assessment: Validation of a new narrative rubric. *Assessing Writing*, *2*, 207-242. doi: 10.1016/1075-2935(95)90013-6.
- Iglesias Pérez, M. C., Vidal-Puga, J., & Pino Juste, M. R. (2020). The role of self and peer assessment in higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, 1-10. doi: 10.1080/03075079.2020.1783526.
- James, N., & Busher, H. (2006). Credibility, authenticity and voice: Dilemmas in online interviewing. *Qualitative Research*, 6(3), 403-420. doi: 10.1177/1468794106065010.
- Jones, I., & Alcock, L. (2014). Peer assessment without assessment criteria. *Studies in Higher Education*, *39*(10), 1774-1787. doi: 10.1080/03075079.2013.821974.
- Jonsson, A., & Svingby, G. (2007). The use of scoring rubrics: Reliability, validity and educational consequences. *Educational Research Review*, 2(2), 130-144. doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2007.05.002.
- Lemlech, J. K. (1995). Becoming a Professional Leader. New York: Scholastic Inc.
- Li, H., Xiong, Y., Hunter, C. V., Guo, X., & Tywoniw, R. (2020). Does peer assessment promote student learning? A meta-analysis. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 45(2), 193-211. doi: 10.1080/02602938.2019.1620679.
- Lu, J., & Law, N. (2012). Online peer assessment: Effects of cognitive and affective feedback. *Instructional Science*, 40(2), 257-275. doi: 10.1007/s11251-011-9177-2.
- Mann, C. & Stewart, F. (2000) Internet Communication and Qualitative Research. A Handbook for Research Online. London: Sage.
- McConlogue, T. (2015). Making Judgements: Investigating the process of composing and receiving peer feedback. *Studies in Higher Education, 40*(9), 1495–1506. doi: 10.1080/03075079.2013.868878.
- Moskal, B. M., & Leydens, J. A. (2000). Scoring rubric development: Validity and reliability. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 7,* 71-81. doi: 10.7275/q7rm-gg74.

- Nelson, M. M., & Schunn, C. D. (2009). The nature of feedback: How different types of peer feedback affect writing performance. *Instructional Science*, *37*(4), 375–401. doi: 10.1007/s11251-008-9053-x.
- Nicol, D. J., & MacFarlane-Dick, D. (2006). Formative and self-regulated: A model and seven principles of good feedback practice. *Studies in Higher Education*, *31*(20), 199-218. doi: 10.1080/03075070600572090.
- Ohaja, M., Dunlea, M., & Muldoon, K. (2013). Group marking and peer assessment during a group poster presentation: The experiences and views of midwifery students. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 13(5), 466-470. doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2012.11.005.
- Orsmond, P., Merry, S., & Reiling, K. (1996). The importance of marking criteria in the use of peer assessment. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 21(3), 239–250. doi: 10.1080/0260293960210304.
- Popham, W. J. (1997). What's wrong-and what's right- with rubrics. *Educational Leadership*, 55(2), 72-75. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educationalleadership/oct97/vol55/num02/What's-Wrong%E2%80%94and-What's-Right%E2%80%94with-Rubrics.aspx.
- Reinholz, D. (2016). The assessment cycle: A model for learning through peer assessment. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 41(2), 301-315. doi: 10.1080/02602938.2015.1008982.
- Reuse-Durham, N. (2005). Peer evaluation as an active learning technique. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 32(4), 328–345. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.522.838&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- Roscoe, R. D., & Chi, M. T. (2007). Understanding tutor learning: Knowledge-building and knowledgetelling in peer tutors' explanations and questions. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(4), 534-574. doi: 10.3102/0034654307309920.
- Shavelson, R. J., & Webb, N. M. (1991). Generalizability Theory: A primer. London: Sage Inc.
- Stevens, D. D., & Levi, A. J. (2013). Introduction to Rubrics: An assessment Tool to Save Grading Time, Convey Effective Feedback, and Promote Student Learning. Virginia: Stylus Publishing, LLC.
- Strijbos, J.-W., Narciss, S., & Dünnebier, K. (2010). Peer feedback content and sender's competence level in academic writing revision tasks: Are they critical for feedback perceptions and efficiency? *Learning and Instruction*, 20(4), 291–303. doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2009.08.008.
- Stuhlmann, J., Daniel, C., Dellinger, A., Denny, R.K., & Powers, T. (1999). A generalizability study of the effects of training on teachers' abilities to rate children's writing using a rubric. *Journal of Reading Psychology*, 20, 107-127. doi: 10.1080/027027199278439.
- Şencan, H. (2005). Sosyal ve Davranışsal Ölçmelerde Güvenirlik ve Geçerlik. Ankara: Sözkesen Matbaacılık.
- Taskiran, A. (2021). Project-based online learning experiences of pre-service teachers. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 4(3), 391-405. doi: 10.31681/jetol.977159.
- Tomlinson, P. (1998). Understanding Mentoring. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Topping, K. J. (2009). Peer assessment. *Theory into Practice*, 48(1), 20-27. doi: 10.1080/00405840802577569.

- Topping, K. J., Smith, E. F., Swanson, I. & Elliot, A. (2000). Formative peer assessment of academic writing between postgraduate students. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 25, 149– 169. doi: 10.1080/713611428.
- Van den Berg, I., Admiraal, W. & Pilot, A. (2006). Design principles and outcomes of peer assessment in higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, *31*, 341–356. doi: 10.1080/03075070600680836.
- Wang, Y., Li, H., Feng, Y., Jiang, Y. & Liu, Y. (2012). Assessment of programming language learning Based on Peer Code Review Model: Implementation and experience report. *Computers & Education*, 59(2), 412–422. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2012.01.007.
- Wanner, T., & Palmer, E. (2018). Formative self-and peer assessment for improved student learning: the crucial factors of design, teacher participation and feedback. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 43(7), 1032–1047. doi: 10.1080/02602938.2018.1427698.
- Zeng, L. M. (2020). Peer review of teaching in higher education: A systematic review of its impact on the professional development of university teachers from the teaching expertise perspective. *Educational Research Review*, *31* (100333), 1-16. doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2020.100333.
- Zhou, J., Zheng, Y., & Tai, J. H. M. (2020). Grudges and gratitude: The social-affective impacts of peer assessment. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 45(3), 345-358. doi: 10.1080/02602938.2019.1643449.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



The relationship between teacher candidates' fear of missing out levels and behavior on social media

Can MIHCI^a*⁽¹⁾, Deniz Mertkan GEZGIN^a⁽¹⁾

^a Trakya University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Mihci, C. & Gezgin, D. M. (2021). The relationship between teacher candidates' fear of missing out levels and behavior on social media. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 854-863.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Fear of missing out Social media Mobile technology Teacher candidates	The aim of the study is to examine the relationship between teacher candidates' fear of missing out and their behavior on social networking sites. The study was designed with general and relational screening method, one of the quantitative research methods. The study group consists of 218 teacher candidates studying at the School of Education in Trakya University during the spring term of 2020-2021. Mann-Whitney U and Spearman Rank-Order correlational tests were used in the analysis of the data, alongside descriptive statistics. Findings indicate that the overall FoMO levels of the teacher candidates were below average. No difference was found in terms of FoMO according to gender. Finally, a low-level positive and significant relationship was found between the variable of FoMO and monthly frequency of user actions such as photo sharing and story posting. However, no significant relationship was found between FoMO levels and frequency of live broadcasts or status updates. In the light of the findings, it can be said at least in the specific context of teacher candidates that FoMO is related to particular types of behavior
Research Article	on social networking sites.

1. Introduction

The 21st century has been a stage for marvelous advancements in human civilization and the dominant global economic system of capitalism has proven itself more of less successful, creating abundance of commodities and services. And yet, in addition to bringing about problems in the economic domain, such as income inequality (Brada & Bah, 2014); capitalism has also resulted in additional problems in the cultural domain such as an unsustainable notion of consumerism (Baudrillard, 1998; Stucke & Ezrachi, 2020). The competitive global markets and the drive for profit has fueled in human beings, among other things, what may be defined as a fear of missing out or a fear of *falling behind in terms of consumption* (Stengel, 2013). In this type of society where a Baudrillardian, anxiety-driven experience economy is dominant and consumption is perceived as a duty by citizens; a fear of missing out on consumption has been argued to be the key motivator in all aspects of daily life (Linden & Linden, 2017). Online marketers, who have already paved the way to *surveillance capitalism* and begun finding creative ways of exploiting emotional vulnerabilities (Stjernfelt & Lauritzen, 2020), have also come up with product or service designs the consumption of which rely upon the "fear of boredom and the fear of missing out on something" (Kurtgözü, 2003). And it is indeed no coincidence that today; consumers of digital goods and services, such

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1016364

Received 29 Oct 2021; Revised 23 Nov 2021; Accepted 24 Nov 2021



⁶ Corresponding author. Department of Computer Engineering, Trakya University, Engineering Faculty, Turkey. e-mail address: <u>mertkan@trakya.edu.tr</u>

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.

as social networks, are manipulated by such designs (Alutaybi et al., 2018; Alutaybi et al. 2019; Carabantes, 2021) that eventually lead to problematic habits in users.

As far as online social networks are concerned; Przybylski et al. (2013) have published their findings on the phenomenon of Fear of Missing Out (FoMO), which they describe as a feeling of "pervasive apprehension that others might be having rewarding experiences from which one is absent". This specific type of anxiety-related psychopathology, which is expected by some to be defined in the next chapter of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Sugarman, 2019), manifests due to unmet social needs, lower life satisfaction, poor mood (Przybylski et al., 2013) and drives people towards excessive and even problematic levels of internet and smartphone use (Elhai, Gallinari, Rozgonjuk & Yang, 2020). This, in turn, leads to various other hazards such as student cyberloafing during lessons, reckless driving, careless pedestrian behavior (Appel, Krisch, Stein & Weber, 2019) or compulsive online shopping (Abdul Aziz, Hasnuden & Adnan, 2021). Franchina and colleagues (2018) have shown that in Flemish adolescents with a higher fear of missing out, social media and smartphone overuse -which leads to consequences such as phubbing- is more prevalent. Fabris, Marengo, Longobardi & Settanni (2020) have also reported in a study with Italian adolescents that FoMO predicts emotional symptoms (Goodman, 1997) and is associated with social media addiction, as well as increased sensitivity towards neglect or negative reactions by online peers. It is known that in adolescents; heavy social media use has been linked with increased stress levels, anxiety, depression, lower levels of self-esteem, reduced relationship quality, and lower sleep quality, as well as increased suicidal ideation and suicide events (Roberts & David, 2020). Yet, it is not only adolescents that are threatened by FoMO. In Alt's (2018) study with Israeli college students, FoMO has been the primary factor that mediates the relationship between problematic social media use and maladjustment to school life.

Indeed, Przybylski's research has caused a landslide of research endeavors for investigating the multiple aspects of Fear of Missing Out (within the social media context) and its effects on human lives and there exist a large number of studies that also associate FoMO with problematic smartphone and internet use (Elhai, Yang, & Montag, 2020). However, it has also been demonstrated by Elhai, Gallinari, Rozgonjuk and Yang (2020) that a Fear of Missing Out in the problematic smartphone use context, may not always be due to the desire to solely access social media and stay socially relevant. In their study, FoMO has mediated the relationship between depression severity and what these researchers have referred to as "process" smartphone use (passive use that is caused by a need to relax or be entertained), as opposed to "social" smartphone use (active use caused by a need to stay in touch with others). In the same study; authors highlight the importance of choosing correct measurement strategies and approaching the matter of FoMO more subtly and with greater attention to detail, as evidenced by their process/social smartphone use differentiation attempt. Another example of investigations on FoMO carried out with meticulous attention to detail has revealed that it is not a singular construct and instead can be broken down into five categories based on reasons for its manifestation: Alutaybi and colleagues (2019) summarize the categories of FoMO as a) FoMO When Others Do Not Interact as Expected, b) FoMO When Unable to Interact or Connect as Wished, c) FoMO When Unwilling to Engage in Social Interaction, d) FoMO When Having to or Feeling a Need to Engage in Continuous Untimed Interactions and e) FoMO When an Online Social Gathering is Expected. In another study, Alutaybi and colleagues (2020) also exemplify conditions under which each category of FoMO may manifest while also associating these examples with technical design considerations that may alleviate them. As previously mentioned, it has been suggested that the current design of social media websites contributes to the manifestation of FoMO (Alutaybi, Al-Thani, McAlaney & Ali, 2020) and it should be understood that the cure for FoMO may only come in the way of better interaction design, which falls under the expertise of the human-computer interaction domain. And in order to come up with better designs, interactions of social media users should be scrutinized and usage patterns of those with higher incidence of FoMO should be precisely understood.

1.1. Aim and Significance of the Study

In order to combat the prevalence of FoMO, which may be considered a public health crisis that risks especially young population in the nations of the world, school teachers may play a highly important role, since they are in a unique position to promote throughout compulsory education the health and well-being of children and young people, by facilitating personal, social, health and economic education (Byrne et al., 2015; Dewhirst et al., 2014). And yet, it remains a question as to whether teachers and teacher candidates themselves can stay strong against FoMO or if they are equipped with coping mechanisms. The few studies investigating this matter have shown for a Turkish population that both pre-service (Gezgin, Hamutoglu, Gemikonakli, & Raman, 2017; Tozkoparan & Kuzu, 2019) and in-service (Gullu & Serin, 2020) teachers suffer from a moderate level of FoMO on average. However, these studies are not comparative in nature and need to be replicated in order to establish a certain conclusion. Furthermore, studies investigating FoMO in teacher candidates or other user groups of social media in a Turkish population seem to have overlooked the specific actions and behavior of users during interaction with social media. There exists a need for studies that thoroughly investigate user actions and associate which features of social media design especially fuels FoMO. This here study may be considered significant in that it intends to seek answers to the question as to how Fear of Missing Out in the social media context might be associated with gender or behavior (manifesting in the form of certain user actions) displayed by pre-service teachers (teacher candidates) using social networking applications. In so doing, it aims to extend the body of literature that investigates FoMO within the specific scope of teacher candidates and also come up with recommendations for future studied focusing on better social media design that may help reduce FoMO in users.

1.2. Research Questions

In this context, the following research questions have been formulated:

- 1. What is the overall level of FoMO in teacher candidates?
- 2. Is there a difference between FoMO levels of teacher candidates based on gender?
- 3. As far as teacher candidates are concerned, is there a relationship between FoMO levels and social media interaction frequency measured on a monthly basis in terms of
 - a. average number of photographs shared,
 - b. average number of stories posted,
 - c. average number of live broadcasts, and;
 - d. average number of status updates?

2. Methodology

2.1. Research Model/Design

The study employs general and relational screening models, which are commonly encountered within qualitative research methods. Whereas general screening model may be defined to include efforts that seek to illustrate a case or a phenomenon the way it exists and within its own boundaries only (Karasar, 2002); relational screening model includes efforts that seek to "determine the existence and/or level of change between two or more variables" (Karasar, 2006).

2.2. Data Collecting Tools

The data collection tools used in this study have been: a) a personal information form employed for the collection of demographic data; b) a social networking site actions survey employed for the purpose of determining monthly frequency of photo-sharing, live broadcasts, stories and status updates; and c) the Fear

of Missing Out Scale (FoMOS) developed by Przybylski et al. (2013) and adapted to Turkish language by Gökler et al. (2016). The FoMOS consists of 10 5-point Likert type items and a single dimension, reflecting a Cronbach's Alpha internal consistency coefficient of .84. The personal information form required participants to share information on their gender, age, study department and class level.

2.3. Sampling or Study Group

The study group for the research consists of 222 pre-service teachers, who were undergraduate students in various departments of the Trakya University School of Education during the 2020-2021 spring semester. 176 participants (79.28%) identified as female and 46 (20.72%) identified as male and the average age of the study group was found to be M=20,6. Table 1 showcases further information on participant demographics.

Table 1.

Gender	Frequency	Percentage
Female	172	78.9%
Male	46	21.1%
Grade	Frequency	Percentage
1 st Year	-	-
2 nd Year	175	80.2%
3 rd Year	21	9.6%
4 th Year	22	10.1%
Total	218	100%

Participants' frequency-percentage values regarding gender and grade.

2.4. Data Analysis

Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistical tests have been carried out for the purpose of testing normal distribution of data, where necessary. It was understood at certain points that the assumption of normal distribution of data has been violated (p<.05) and non-parametric statistical tests, namely Mann-Whitey U and Spearman Rank-Order correlation tests were employed in data analysis. Presence of outliers in datasets have been analyzed and although outliers were found to exist; after examination these non-extreme values were considered a natural part of the population, hence their cases were kept within the study group. Results have been shared alongside descriptive statistics for answering each research question. Data have been collected from participants online via Google Forms, in a period of 2 months during April-May 2021. Data have been collected on a voluntary basis and necessary permits have been granted by the university ethical board.

2.5. Findings and Discussions

RQ1: Overall Level of FoMO in Teacher Candidates

In order to determine the overall FoMO level of teacher candidates in the study group, descriptive statistics have been referred to. Findings indicate that the overall FoMO level was below the average attainable score in the scale (M=2,05). Table 2 shows descriptive statistics obtained using the FoMOS.

Table 2.

Descriptive Statistics on Overall FoMO Levels of Participating Teacher Candidates

Group	Ν	Min.	Max.	\overline{x}	SD
Female	172	1.00	4.10	1.95	.790
Male	46	1.00	3.70	2.19	.854
Total	218	1.00	4.10	2.01	.808

RQ2: Difference Between FoMO Levels of Teacher Candidates Based on Gender

Due to the fact that the assumption for normal distribution of data has been violated, Mann Whitney U test has been carried out in order to understand whether gender was associated with FoMO level in teacher candidates. Test results indicated that there was no statistically significant difference between FoMO levels of female teacher candidates (Mdn = 1.70) and male teacher candidates (Mdn = 2.20), U=3354.500, p>.05. Table 3 shows details of the findings.

Table 3.

Differences in FoMO Based on Gender - Mann Whitney U Test Results.

	Male		Female		I.		n
	Mean Rank	п	Mean Rank	п	_ U	۷.	P
FoMO	122.58	46	106.00	172	3354.500	-1.585	.11

RQ3: FoMO and Social Media Interaction Frequency

Research question 3 sought to determine whether there was a relationship between FoMO levels of teacher candidates and the frequency of certain user actions they took on social networking applications. Normal distribution of data was not observed in at least one of the variables and it was decided to employ the non-parametric statistical method of Spearman's Rank-Order correlation test for the purpose of answering the research question. As a result of the test, it was discovered that there were statistically significant positive yet weak relationships between FoMO between and photo sharing frequency ($r_s = .186$, p < .01) and FoMO and story posting frequency ($r_s = .163$, p < .05). On the other hand, FoMO has not been statistically significantly related to frequency of live broadcasts or status updates (p>.05). Detailed results have been shared in Table 4.

Table 4.

Relationship Between FoMO and Monthly Frequencies of Certain User Actions on Social Networking Sites – Spearman's Rank-Order Test Results

	FoMO	Photo Sharing	Story Posts	Live Broadcasts	Status Updates
FoMO	1	.186**	.163*	.067	.057
Photo Sharing		1	.462**	.208**	.128
Story Posts			1	.156*	.073
Live Broadcasts				1	.189**
Status Updates					1

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

3. Conclusion and Suggestions

This study investigated the Fear of Missing Out phenomenon within the context of teacher candidates. Overall FoMO levels, as well as relationship between FoMO and certain variables such as gender or behavior displayed on social networking applications in the form of frequency in displaying certain user actions, have been considered. The first finding has shown that overall FoMO level of teacher candidates in the study group was slightly *below average* attainable score in the FoMOS and this can be interpreted as teacher candidates having relatively lower average FoMO. This finding somewhat contradicts with previous research conducted on the matter have shown *moderate* level of FoMO in preservice teachers studying in a university (Gezgin, Hamutoglu, Gemikonakli & Raman, 2017; Tozkoparan & Kuzu, 2019). Additionally, in other studies investigating overall FoMO levels in university students (who were not explicitly reported to be teacher candidates) moderate levels of overall FoMO have also been reported (Hoşgör et al., 2017; Uyar, Birvural & Karakuyu, 2018). In the formulation of this first research question about overall FoMO levels, this study has followed the tradition of previous studies that it now seems to somehow contradict with. However, it should be understood that all claims regarding overall FoMO levels based on total scores

of participants in FoMO studies (Gezgin et al., 2017; Hoşgör et al., 2017; Tozkoparan & Kuzu, 2019; Uyar, Birvural & Karakuyu, 2018) are rather arbitrary interpretations in nature. Statistical techniques are usually not resorted to in such analyses and nowhere in the original work by Przybylski et al. (2013) is there an advised range with which to interpret the meaning of total scores in using the FoMOS, except for a range of mean item rankings, which the overall FoMO average scores of all aforementioned studies seems to fall within. It is important to be able to reach a concluding remark as to whether teacher candidates, who are important in promoting countermeasures against public health hazards such as FoMO through education, are safe from FoMO or not. But this study, as well as in studies that preceded it, fails to reach such conclusions due to unfit methods for answering such research questions. It is therefore recommended to either omit such questions in future study efforts, or come up with methods that are more comparative in nature and therefore more likely to employ statistical testing rather than arbitrary interpretation. Only then could it be possible to establish whether teacher candidates, adolescents, college students or millennials are really more susceptible to FoMO than the rest of the society. For instance, a study that approaches the phenomenon from this perspective has been conducted by Barry and Wong (2020) and has shown that there was no statistical difference between different age cohorts ranging from adolescents to 45-year olds in terms of overall FoMO.

That said, the fact still stands that the average total FoMO scores of participants in this study is lower than those encountered in the studies mentioned above. Future research on FoMO of teacher candidates and/or university students should take note of this fact and try to establish whether results of this study comprise simply an isolated case or a step in a chronological descent in overall FoMO scores achieved in such studies. It is, after all, entirely possible that the Fear of Missing Out in humans may be growing weaker in time as they adapt to social media design elements that trigger it in the first place.

There was no difference in FoMO levels of study participants based on their gender. Other studies conducted on college students have also reported similar findings (Hoşgör et al., 2017; Uyar, Birvural & Karakuyu, 2018). Whereas a more extensive study that sought to adapt a FoMO scale to Turkish language also reported for a Turkish audience that FoMO levels were not different across genders (Gökler, Aydın, Ünal & Metintaş, 2016) another recent study conducted with a rather large sample has also shown a similar result for a German population (Rozgonjuk, Sindermann, Elhai & Montag, 2021). Although such is the case; a literature review also reveals studies where overall FoMO levels were shown to be greater either in male participants (Arslan, Tozkoparan & Kurt, 2019; Gezgin, Hamutoglu, Gemikonakli & Raman, 2017; Gullu & Serin, 2020; Przybylski et al., 2013;) or female participants (Balta, Emirtekin, Kircaburun & Griffiths, 2019; Beyens, Frison & Eggermont, 2016; Elhai et al., 2018; Stead & Bibby, 2017). Although it has been claimed that men and women have different expectations from social networking and they also use them differently (Belhadjali, Abbasi & Whaley, 2016), it can be said that the relationship between FoMO and gender alone is still rather uncertain and factors such as different cultural backgrounds or participant identities may be influencing it. And yet, Palaz (2018) explains that in a rapidly globalizing world, the effects of the postmodern culture upon younger generations - namely, Generation Z - leads to a standardization of the individual and blurring in the distinction between gender identities. This trend may be used to explain the non-difference between genders in terms of FoMO. It should be remembered that FoMO is a concept related to consumer culture and it has been shown that the consumer choices of Generation Z members are increasingly influenced by "gender-neutral" marketing, which they seem to prefer (Nykänen, 2019). It should therefore not be surprising if a trend in future research, where no difference in FoMO across genders is observed, emerges.

A glance at the literature shows that; individuals with high FoMO are preoccupied with desire to follow what other people are up to in their lives (Gürdin, 2019). That said, it has been shown that, at least for the specific case of Instagram social networking application, not only users that have befriended a greater number of users, but also the users have been found to post more frequently have been found to have greater FoMO (Moore ve Craciun, 2021). In this here study, similar results have been achieved with teacher

candidates; whose frequency of sharing photographs or posting stories have been correlated with FoMO albeit at a weak level. In their study where they have tried to develop a method for reducing FoMO, Alutaybi, Al-Thani, McAlaney, and Ali (2020) report that Fear of Missing Out is not just related to missing out an opportunity to passively consume content but that there also exists a kind of FoMO that is explained as the "Fear of missing the ability to be popular", which explains the findings in this here study. The research of Alutaybi and colleagues (2020) also recommend certain technical and socio-technical countermeasures for combating this kind of FoMO and preoccupations that are manifested by it. It is also noteworthy that previous work by Alutaybi et al. (2018) has tried to come up with social network application design considerations (such as; filters, priority lists, event recording, status and time setting, alternative notifications) but none of the recommended techniques seem to address FoMO behavior that is related to that could potentially alleviate FoMO, but none of these seem to specifically target behavior caused by a desire for self-promotion (due to fear of missing the ability to be popular).

Individuals' Fear of Missing Out is fueled not only by a desire to stay up-to-date but also a desire to stay relevant; and teacher candidates seem to be no exception. For the sake of leaving an impression on others, this particular group of people are also prone to heavily use social media; which in turn may lead to cases of problematic use and even addiction (Kuss & Griffiths, 2011). FoMO is associated with hedonistic consumption (Gürdin, 2019) and thus can be said to fuel egoism to a certain extent. This situation is more threatening in the context of teacher candidates, since a depart from collectivism especially in these individuals may alter the fabric of society much deeper than any other group could. Future research could focus on developing, implementing and evaluating FoMO rehabilitation projects that can be included in teacher training programs and report results.

3.1. Limitations

The primary limitation of the study has been the difficulty in collection of data during the COVID-19 pandemic period, resulting in a relatively small sample size. Also, convenience sampling has led to genders and grave levels not being homogenously represented in the sample.

References

- Abdul Aziz, A., Hasnuden, N., & Adnan, W. H. (2021). "Fomsumerism" and beauty consumerism among social media users in Malaysia. In *Forum Komunikasi (FK)* (Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 64-91). Universiti Teknologi MARA.
- Alt, D. (2017). Students' social media engagement and fear of missing out (FoMO) in a diverse classroom. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 29(2), 388-410.
- Alutaybi, A., Al-Thani, D., McAlaney, J., & Ali, R. (2020). Combating Fear of Missing Out (FoMO) on social media: the FoMO-R method. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(17), 6128.
- Alutaybi, A., Arden-Close, E., McAlaney, J., Stefanidis, A., Phalp, K., & Ali, R. (2019). How can social networks design trigger fear of missing out?. In 2019 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics (SMC) (pp. 3758-3765). IEEE.
- Alutaybi, A., McAlaney, J., Arden-Close, E., Stefanidis, A., Phalp, K., & Ali, R. (2019). Fear of Missing Out (FoMO) as really lived: Five classifications and one ecology. In 2019 6th International Conference on Behavioral, Economic and Socio-Cultural Computing (BESC) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- Alutaybi, A., McAlaney, J., Stefanidis, A., Phalp, K., & Ali, R. (2018). Designing Social Networks to Combat Fear of Missing Out. In Proceedings of the 32nd International BCS Human Computer Interaction Conference 32 (pp. 1-5).

- Appel, M., Krisch, N., Stein, J. P., & Weber, S. (2019). Smartphone zombies! Pedestrians' distracted walking as a function of their fear of missing out. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 63, 130-133.
- Arslan, H., Tozkoparan, S. B., & Kurt, A. A. (2019). Examination of Nomophobia and Fear of Missing Out Among Teachers. *Erzincan University Journal of the Faculty of Education*, 21(3), 237-256.
- Baker, Z., Krieger, H., & LeRoy, A. (2016). Fear of missing out: Relationships with depression, mindfulness, and physical symptoms. Translational Issues in Psychological Science, 2(3), 275.
- Balta, S., Emirtekin, E., Kircaburun, K., & Griffiths, M. D. (2020). Neuroticism, trait fear of missing out, and phubbing: The mediating role of state fear of missing out and problematic Instagram use. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *18*(3), 628-639.
- Barry, C. T., & Wong, M. Y. (2020). Fear of missing out (FoMO): A generational phenomenon or an individual difference?. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *37*(12), 2952-2966.
- Baudrillard, J. (1998). Towards a theory of consumption. In *The consumer society* (pp. 87-103). SAGE Publications Ltd, <u>https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781526401502.n7</u>
- Belhadjali, M., Abbasi, S. M., & Whaley, G. L. (2016). Social media applications preference by generation and gender: an exploratory study. In *Competition Forum* (Vol. 14, No. 1, p. 103). American Society for Competitiveness.
- Beyens, I., Frison, E., & Eggermont, S. (2016). "I don't want to miss a thing": Adolescents' fear of missing out and its relationship to adolescents' social needs, Facebook use, and Facebook related stress. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 64, 1-8.
- Brada, J. C., & Bah, E. M. (2014). Growing income inequality as a challenge to 21st century capitalism. *Italian Association for the Study of Economic Asymmetries, Working Paper*, (1402).
- Byrne, J., Shepherd, J., Dewhirst, S., Pickett, K., Speller, V., Roderick, P., ... & Almond, P. (2015). Preservice teacher training in health and well-being in England: The state of the nation. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(2), 217-233.
- Carabantes, M. (2021). Smart Socio-Technical Environments: a Paternalistic and Humanistic Management Proposal. *Philosophy & Technology*, 1-14.
- Dewhirst, S., Pickett, K., Speller, V., Shepherd, J., Byrne, J., Almond, P., ... & Roderick, P. (2014). Are trainee teachers being adequately prepared to promote the health and well-being of school children? A survey of current practice. *Journal of Public Health*, *36*(3), 467-475.
- Elhai, J. D., Gallinari, E. F., Rozgonjuk, D., & Yang, H. (2020). Depression, anxiety and fear of missing out as correlates of social, non-social and problematic smartphone use. *Addictive behaviors*, 105, 106335.
- Elhai, J. D., Levine, J. C., Alghraibeh, A. M., Alafnan, A. A., Aldraiweesh, A. A., & Hall, B. J. (2018). Fear of missing out: Testing relationships with negative affectivity, online social engagement, and problematic smartphone use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 89, 289-298.
- Elhai, J. D., Yang, H., & Montag, C. (2020). Fear of missing out (FOMO): overview, theoretical underpinnings, and literature review on relations with severity of negative affectivity and problematic technology use. *Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*, 43, 203-209.
- Fabris, M. A., Marengo, D., Longobardi, C., & Settanni, M. (2020). Investigating the links between fear of missing out, social media addiction, and emotional symptoms in adolescence: The role of stress associated with neglect and negative reactions on social media. *Addictive Behaviors*, 106, 106364.

- Franchina, V., Vanden Abeele, M., Van Rooij, A. J., Lo Coco, G., & De Marez, L. (2018). Fear of missing out as a predictor of problematic social media use and phubbing behavior among Flemish adolescents. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(10), 2319.
- Gezgin, D.M., Hamutoglu, N.B., Gemikonakli, O., & Raman, I. (2017). "Social Networks Users: Fear of Missing Out in Preservice Teachers", *Journal of Education and Practice*, 8(17): 156-168.
- Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, *38*(5), 581-586.
- Gökler, M. E., Aydın, R., Ünal, E., & Metintaş, S. (2016). Determining validity and reliability of Turkish version of Fear of Missing out Scale. *Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry*, *17*, 53-59.
- Gullu, B. F., & Serin, H. (2020). The Relationship between Fear of Missing Out (FoMO) Levels and Cyberloafing Behaviour of Teachers. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 9(5), 205-214.
- Gürdin, B. (2019). Hedonic Consumption of Social Media and FoMO's Power. *Third Sector Social Economic Review*, 54(3), 1259-1278.
- Hamutoglu, N. B., Topal, M., & Gezgin, D. M. (2020). Investigating Direct and Indirect Effects of Social Media Addiction, Social Media Usage and Personality Traits on FOMO. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 16(2), 248-261.
- Hoşgör, H., Koç Tütüncü, S., Gündüz Hoşgör, D., & Tandoğan, Ö. (2017). Examination In Terms of Different Variables of Prevalence of Fear of Missing Out Among College Students. *International Journal of Academic Value Studies* 17(3), 213-223
- Karasar, N. (2002). Scientific Research Methods. Ankara: Nobel Publishing.
- Karasar, N. (2006). Scientific Research Methods. Ankara: Nobel Publications and Distribution.
- Kırcaburun, K., & Griffiths, M. D. (2019). Problematic Instagram use: The role of perceived feeling of presence and escapism. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *17*(4), 909-921.
- Kurtgözü, A. (2003). From function to emotion: a critical essay on the history of design arguments. *The design journal*, *6*(2), 49-59.
- Kuss, D. J. & Griffiths, M. D. (2011). Online Social Networking and Addiction—A Review of the Psychological Literature. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* (8), 3528-3552.
- Linden, H., & Linden, S. (2017). Fans and (Post) Subcultural Consumerism. In *Fans and Fan Cultures* (pp. 37-59). Palgrave Macmillan, London.
- Moore, K., & Craciun, G. (2021). Fear of missing out and personality as predictors of social networking sites usage: The Instagram case. *Psychological reports*, *124*(4), 1761-1787.
- Palaz, B. (2018). Current Dimension of Communication in The Postmodern Period: Social Media [Paper Presentation]. International Symposium on Communication in the Digital Age 2018, Mersin, Turkey.
- Przybylski, A. K., Murayama, K., DeHaan, C. R., & Gladwell, V. (2013). Motivational, emotional, and behavioral correlates of fear of missing out. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(4), 1841-1848.
- Roberts, J. A., & David, M. E. (2020). The Social media party: fear of missing out (FoMO), social media intensity, connection, and well-being. *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction*, 36(4), 386-392.

- Rozgonjuk, D., Sindermann, C., Elhai, J. D., & Montag, C. (2021). Individual differences in Fear of Missing Out (FoMO): Age, gender, and the Big Five personality trait domains, facets, and items. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 171, 110546.
- Stead, H., & Bibby, P. A. (2017). Personality, fear of missing out and problematic internet use and their relationship to subjective well-being. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *76*, 534-540.
- Stengel, B. (2013). So open it hurts': Enabling 'therefore, we can...'in the dangerous secure world of education. *Philosophy of Education*, 1-15.
- Stjernfelt, F., & Lauritzen, A. M. (2020). Tech Giants as Ad Brokers. In *Your Post has been Removed* (pp. 59-65). Springer, Cham.
- Stucke, M., & Ezrachi, A. (2020). Competition Overdose: How Free Market Mythology Transformed Us from Citizen Kings to Market Servants (1st ed.). Harper Collins Publishers.
- Sugarman, J. (2019). Neoliberalism and the Ethics of Psychology 1 2: Jeff Sugarman. In *Race, Rage, and Resistance* (pp. 73-89). Routledge.
- Tozkoparan, S. B., & Kuzu, A. (2019). The relationship between fear of missing out (FoMO) levels and cyberloafing behaviors of teacher candidates. *Anadolu Journal of Educational Sciences International*, 9(1), 87-110.
- Uyar, Ö. G. A., Birvural, Ö. G. A., & Karakuyu, Ö. G. A. (2018). Determination of FoMO Levels of Associate Degree Students and Analysis in Terms of Some Variables. *Journal of Social and Humanities Sciences Research (JSHSR)*, 5(28), 3276-3281.

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021

http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Covid-19 effects on distance education in higher education: A comparison with bibliometric analysis before Covid-19 pandemic and the Covid-19 pandemic periods

Murat TOPAL ^a * ^(D), Aslıhan İSTANBULLU ^b ^(D), Şirin KÜÇÜK-AVCI ^c ^(D)

^a Sakarya University, Turkey

^b Amasya University, Turkey

^c Akdeniz University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Topal, M., İstanbullu, A. & Küçük Avcı, Ş. (2021). Covid-19 effects on distance education in higher education: A comparison with bibliometric analysis before Covid-19 pandemic and the Covid-19 pandemic periods. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 864-879.

Article Info	Abstract			
<i>Keywords:</i> Higher education Distance education COVID-19 Pandemic	The Covid-19 pandemic, which emerged in the last months of 2019, spread rapidly and has affected the whole world. The pandemic also affected higher education significantly, and face-to-face education in higher education institutions were suspended. Most universities have changed the teaching method from traditional to online education. Thus, more and more researchers focused on COVID-19 and distance education in higher education. The aim of the research was to examine the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on higher education studies in the field of distance education. For this reason, the changes in distance education research in the pre-pandemic and the pandemic period were analyzed in terms of some performance variables. Two different meta-data sets, consisting of 1322 articles for the pre-COVID-19 period and 2103 for the COVID-19 period, obtained by querying the Web of Science database, were used for analysis. Vosviewer software were used for bibliometric analysis, while Harzing's Publish or Perish software was used for h-index calculation. Publications from the two different periods were compared according to researcher(s), publication, journal, institution, and country criteria using citation analysis. The citation analysis showed that the most cited researchers of the pre-pandemic period were C. Herodotou, J. C. Bonk and M.Y. Doo. Computer & Education ranked among the most-cited journal was Education and Information Technologies The most cited studies in the pre-pandemic period were conducted by researchers working at King Saud University and the University of South Africa, while in the post-pandemic period University for Malaysia and Indiana University were in the leading position. The results clearly show			
Research Article	that Covid-19 has given a new direction to distance education.			

1. Introduction

One of the key challenges in education is maintaining its sustainability, especially during severe crises such as global pandemics (eg SARS, Ebola and COVID-19) or natural disasters (eg Tsunami and Haiti earthquake). A crisis can seriously affect human life and disrupt many daily activities. As a matter of fact,

Doi: http://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.1016705

Received 30 Oct 2021; Revised 19 Dec 2021; Accepted 19 Dec 2021



^{*} Corresponding author: Computer Education and Instructional Technology, Sakarya University, Turkey.

e-mail addresses: mtopal@sakarya.edu.tr, aslihan.babur@amasya.edu.tr, sirinavci@akdeniz.edu.tr

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

ISSN: 2618-6586 . This is an open Access article under the CC BY license.
the epidemic negatively affected the international economy, trade, health, education and many sectors. It has also harmed the psychological and emotional health of millions of people, regardless of age, gender, race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status (Laato et al., 2020). Significant changes have been made in all areas of society to control the spread of the virus (Demirbilek et al., 2020). One of the measures taken to reduce the spread of the pandemic has been the transition to emergency (or remote) distance education by closing schools (Talwar et al., 2021; Demirbilek et al., 2020; Hodges et al., 2020).

Distance education is a longstanding concept in higher education. The extant literature identifies "distance learning" as the learning facilitated using digital tools, contents, and ICTs, which provides a wide spectrum implementation of online interaction and collaboration between the learners and their instructors or peers outside a traditional classroom (Sangrà et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2008). By another definition, distance education is any formal, informal, and non-formal learning activity that are facilitated by information and communication technologies to decrease distance between learners and educators both physically and psychologically to increase interactivity among learners, learning sources and facilitators (Bozkurt, 2019). In fact, it refers to learning through technological devices when there is a physical distance between the learner and the educator. It emerged with a letter to provide education to students who are willing to learn and do not have the opportunity to go to school, and it has maintained its continuity by becoming widespread with the development of technology (Keegan, 1980). In this respect, it is not a new phenomenon. Although distance education activities continued during the epidemic process are perceived as similar to traditional distance education activities, there are great differences between the two processes (Bozkurt, 2020). Considering that the pandemic negatively affects higher education (UNESCO, 2020), the change in the profile of COVID-19's distance education research in higher education before and after the epidemic has been a matter of interest. According to Yavuz et al. (2021), in his study, aimed to reveal the profile of the studies on distance education activities during the Covid-19 period. For this purpose, analyzed 220 articles in Web of Science were examined, using bibliometric analysis. As a result of the analysis, the most used keywords, the most cited journals, the most publishing journals, the most publishing countries, and the most cited authors were evaluated. The study was conducted with a year limitation (March 2020 -February 2021) and a limited number of (220) articles. Karaköse and Demirkol (2021) examined the relationship between the COVID-19 pandemic and education using bibliometric analysis. The article was evaluated in terms of journal, country and institution, subject, method, study group and data collection tools. Yavuz et al. (2021) revealed the profile of studies on distance education activities during the Covid-19 period. In data analysis, bibliometric analysis and content analysis were used. Within the scope of bibliometric analysis, the most used keywords, the most cited journals, the most publishing journals, the most publishing countries, and the most cited authors were examined. In content analysis, methodological trends (method, sample size, data collection tool, data analysis type) used in the studies were examined. Within the scope of the study, 220 studies were examined from the Web of Science database. Elçiçek (2021) used content analysis and categorical analysis in his study in which he examined the trends in scientific articles originating from Turkey regarding distance education during the Covid-19 pandemic period. 125 scientific research articles published in the Google Scholar database until April 2021 were examined in terms of trends, article information, research methods, sample, data collection tools, data analysis methods, and subject. In the study, the year range was limited as (1 January 2020-31 December 2020), and the data set consists of 100 articles. In the studies, the trend of distance education research conducted only during the pandemic period was examined using bibliometric analysis in terms of different variables. In this study, the citation and publication related metrics of researches on distance education in higher education was evaluated before pandemic and the pandemic periods.

The epidemic has led to the increase and diversification of research and applications in the field of pandemic education. Researchers who do research on any subject have difficulty in reaching all the studies on that subject or spend a lot of time to reach them (Goktas et al., 2012). At this point, content and meta-analysis results provide significant convenience to researchers (Selçuk et al., 2014). The bibliometric studies to be

carried out for distance education activities during the Covid period are considered important in terms of determining the trends and tendencies in this field. Considering that the distance education literature has a multidisciplinary content (Gurcan & Cagiltay, 2020), it is of great importance to perceive how such a change affects distance education research. It is believed that the data obtained from these studies will make important contributions in guiding further research and guiding researchers in the field.

This study aims to examine citation and publication related metrics of researches on distance education in higher education in both before the COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and the pandemic (1 December 2019-14 September 2021) periods according to some performance variables. Given the framework of this extraordinary situation, this study aimed to determine the citation and publication related metrics of researches on distance education in higher education within a two-year period. In this context, the following research questions framed our study (questions address both the pre-pandemic period of January 2018 and November 2019 and the pandemic period of December 2019 and September 2021):

1. Who are the most cited researchers in publications on distance education in higher education?

- 2. Which are the most cited publications on distance education in higher education?
- 3. Which are the most cited journals on distance education in higher education?

4. Which are the most cited countries and universities of researchers in the publications on distance education in higher education?

2. Methodology

2.1. Research Design

The aim of this study is to examine COVID-19 effect on distance education in higher education in the pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and the COVID-19 pandemic periods (1 December 2019-14 September 2021) by using a bibliometric analysis method. There are many techniques of bibliometric analysis, and in this study, citation and publication-based performance measurement techniques were preferred to answer the research questions (Donthu, 2021). The bibliometric analysis allows researchers to follow up the studies, institutions and scientific flow related to the determined scientific subject (Martí-Parreño et al., 2016). The research was conducted into two stages: 1) obtaining the data sets, 2) analyzing the data sets using VOSviewer.

2.2. *Obtaining Datasets*

Two separate searches were made to generate the data set. The reason for this was that data for pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and the-COVID-19 pandemic periods (1 December 2019-14 September 2021) were desired to be obtained separately. Thus, it was possible to compare the data. First of all, Web of Science (WoS) database was searched using the following query for both periods: the pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and post-COVID-19 pandemic periods (1 December 2019-14 September 2021);

[("higher education" OR "universit*" OR "college" OR "undergrad*" OR "graduate" OR "postgrad*" OR "corporate training" OR "professional training" OR "adult education" OR "vocational education" OR "medical school*" OR "medical student*" OR "dental education")] AND [("online learning" OR "online teaching" OR "online education" OR "online course*" OR "open learning" OR "open and distance learning" OR "distance learning" OR "distance education" OR "elearning" OR "elearning" OR "internet based learning" OR "internet based instruction" OR "internet based education" OR "virtual learning" OR "web based learning" OR "internet based course*" OR "web based education" OR "distance course*" OR "methased education" OR "virtual learning" OR "internet based course*" OR "web based course*" OR "web based education" OR "distance course*" OR "methased course*" OR "web based course*" OR "web based class*" OR "internet based class*" OR "internet based class*" OR "online class*" OR "virtual class*" OR "online community" OR "Digital education" OR "Digital course*" OR "Virtual learning"

OR "Virtual education" OR "Virtual instruction" OR "Digital class*" OR "learning management system" OR "LMS" OR "MOOC*" OR "Massive Open Online Course*")] NOT [("K-12" OR "kindergarden" OR "primary school" OR "middle school" OR "secondary school" OR "school" OR "high school" OR "reception" "R-12" "junior primary" OR "elementary school" OR "middle primary" OR "upper primary" OR "senior school")]

To avoid results that were not related to the purpose of the study, both searches were refined using limitations regarding the date range, publication type, language, index, and categories in the WoS database. Searches were conducted during the second week of September 2021 and only English articles were selected. From the first search it was obtained that total of 2567 articles for pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 4566 articles for the-COVID-19 pandemic period (1 December 2019-14 September 2021). As second criteria, document type was filtered by "journal articles" and indexes limited with "SSCI, SCI-EXPANDED, A&HCI, and ESCI" for both periods. From the second search, it was obtained that total of 1572 articles for pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of search results were limited to "Education Educational Research" and "Education Scientific Disciplines" and filtered by "journal articles". From the last search it was obtained that total of 1322 articles for pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2019-14 September 2021). Finally, both search results were limited to "Education Educational Research" and "Education Scientific Disciplines" and filtered by "journal articles". From the last search it was obtained that total of 1322 articles for pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 2103 articles for the-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 1322 articles for pre-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 2103 articles for the-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 2103 articles for the-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 2103 articles for the-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 2103 articles for the-COVID-19 pandemic (16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019) and a total of 2103 articles for the-COVID-19 pandemic period (1 December 2019-14 September 2021). Consequ

2.3. The VOSviewer

Citation and publication-based analysis was performed with VOSviewer to reveal the most cited researchers, publications, journals and universities between 2018–2021. Citation and publication-based analysis provides important data for identifying interdisciplinary similarities and differences between these variables (Biehl et al., 2006; Judge et al., 2007).

2.4. Harzing's Publish or Perish

Publish or Perish is a program that enables researchers to analyze academic citations from a variety of data sources, such as the Web of Science, Scopus, and Google Scholar. Publish or Perish can analyze different metrics, including the h-index, from raw citations (Harzing, 2016). In this study Publish or Perish was preferred to analyze the h-index for the performance analysis (Donthu, 2021).

3. Findings

3.1. Most Cited Researchers in Publications on Distance Education in Higher Education

The citation analysis identified the most cited researchers in the articles about distance education in higher education. In 16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019 (the pre-pandemic period), 13 researchers published at least four articles on distance education in higher education. To identify the most prolific researchers, the number of citations, number of publications, TLS value (calculated in VOSviewer), and h-index (calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software) were used. The citation analysis, which included all researchers with at least four publications, identified the top ten authors, who are ranked in Table 1 by number of citations. Accordingly, A. Bozkurt was clearly the most cited researcher during this period. The remaining researchers in the top ten of the pre-pandemic period, presented based on ranking criteria, included B.Rienties D. U. Bolliger, C. J. Ortagus, C. Stone, K. S. Jan, C. Lange, T. Sato, J. Costley, and E. Vazquez-Cano. Nearly all of these top ten researchers worked in different universities.

Table 1.

Most cited researchers on distance education in higher education in January 2018 and November 2019 (during the prepandemic period)

Rank	Author	Country	University	Publications	Citations	h-index*	TLS
1	A. Bozkurt	Turkey	Anadolu University	5	72	4	0
2	B. Rienties	England	Open University	5	69	5	0
3	D. U. Bolliger	America	Walden University	4	58	3	0
4	J. C. Ortagus	America	University of Florida	4	48	2	0
5	C. Stone	England	University of Newcastle	4	46	3	0
6	K. S. Jan	Australia	Macquarie University	4	27	3	0
7	C. Lange	Germany	Research Center Borstel	5	22	3	1
8	T. Sato	Japan	University of Tsukuba	4	21	3	0
9	J. Costley	Russia	National Research University	5	18	3	1
10	E. Vazquez-Cano	Spain	Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia (UNED)	4	10	3	1

* Calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software.

Between 1 December 2019-14 September 2021 (the pandemic period), 17 researchers published at least four articles on distance education in higher education. To identify the most prolific researchers, the number of citations, number of publications, TLS value (calculated in VOSviewer), and h-index (calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software) were used. The citation analysis, which included all researchers with at least four publications, identified the top ten authors, who are ranked in Table 2 by number of citations. Accordingly, C. Herodotou was clearly the most cited researcher during this period. The remaining researchers in the top ten of the pandemic period, presented based on ranking criteria, included J. C. Bonk, Y. M. Doo, F. Martin, F. Han, D. Xu, A. S. Al-Adwan, J. Costley, M. Fanguy, and S. Lakhal. Nearly all of these top ten researchers worked in different universities.

Table 2.

Most cited researchers on distance education in higher education in December 2019 and September 2021 (during the pandemic period)

Rank	Author	Country	University	Publications	Citations	h-index*	TLS
1	C. Herodotou	Open University	England	4	35	3	0
2	J. C. Bonk	Indiana University	America	5	26	3	3
3	M. Y. Doo	Kangwon National University	Korea	5	26	3	3
4	F. Martin	University of North Carolina Charlotte	America	6	25	2	0
5	F. Han	Griffith University	America	5	15	2	0

6	D. Xu	University of California Irvine	America	5	15	2	0
7	A. S. Al-Adwan	Amman University	Jordan	4	14	2	2
8	J. Costley	National Research University	Russia	8	12	3	3
9	M. Fanguy	Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology	Korea	4	10	3	3
10	S. Lakhal	Université de Sherbrooke	Kanada	4	10	2	0

* Calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software.

3.2. Most Cited Publications on Distance Education in Higher Education

The complete data set of studies published in the field of distance education in higher education during the pre-pandemic period (January 2018 – November 2019) included 1322 publications. Only 224 of these publications were cited ten times or more, as of the date of data collection for this study. To identify the most frequently cited publications, the number of citations were calculated using VOSviewer and researched using Google Scholar. The ten publications with the highest number of citations, as analyzed by VOSviewer, are listed in Table 3.

Table 3.

Most cited publications in January 2018 - November 2019 (during the pre-pandemic period) ranked by number of citations

Rank	First Author	Journal	Title	WoS Citations	Google Scholar Citations
1	G. Makransky	L&I	Adding immersive virtual reality to a science lab simulation causes more presence but less learning.	155	396
2	W. A. Cidral	C&E	E-learning success determinants: Brazilian empirical study.	117	293
3	C. Dziuban	IJETHE	Blended learning: the new normal and emerging technologies	105	495
4	Y. J. Joo	C&E	Examination of relationships among students' self- determination, technology acceptance, satisfaction, and continuance intention to use K-MOOCs.	90	156
5	G. Makransky	ETRD	A structural equation modeling investigation of the emotional value of immersive virtual reality in education	85	161
6	Al-Samarraie	SHE	E-learning continuance satisfaction in higher education: a unified perspective from instructors and students.	66	173
7	F. Martin	IHE	Student perception of helpfulness of facilitation strategies that enhance instructor presence, connectedness, engagement and learning in online courses.	58	188
8	M. Bond	IJETHE	Digital transformation in German higher education: student and teacher perceptions and usage of digital media	55	180

9	C. H. H. Tsay	C&E	Enhancing student learning experience with technology- mediated gamification: An empirical study.	54	146
10	A. Watted	IHE	Motivating factors of MOOC completers: Comparing between university-affiliated students and general participants	52	112

* L&I=Learning & Instruction, C&E=Computers & Education, IJETHE= International journal of educational technology in Higher education, ETRD= Educational Technology Research and Development, SHE=Studies in Higher Education, IHE= Internet and Higher Education.

When Table 3 is examined which includes the most cited studies, it is seen that researchers conduct studies on different fields of distance education in higher education. In Table 3, the article titled "Adding immersive virtual reality to a science lab simulation causes more presence but less learning," published in Learning and Instruction in April 2019 with first author G. Makransky, appears to be the most cited during the pre-pandemic period. G. Maransky's second publication on the subject of immersive virtual reality is also ranked 5th in the table. It is determined that the research conducted by W. A. Cidral and Al-Samarraie on e-learning ranked second and sixth in the table, respectively.

The complete data set of studies published in the field of distance education in higher education during the pandemic period (1 December 2019-14 September 2021) included 2103 publications. Only 78 of these publications were cited ten times or more, as of the date of data collection for this study. To identify the most frequently cited publications, the number of citations were calculated using VOSviewer and researched using Google Scholar. The ten publications with the highest number of citations, as analyzed by VOSviewer, are listed in Table 4.

Table 4.

Rank	First Author	Journal	Title	WoS Citations	Google Scholar Citations
1	M. A. Almaiah	EAIT	Exploring the critical challenges and factors influencing the E-learning system usage during COVID-19 pandemic	75	242
2	G. J. Longhurst	ASE	Strength, weakness, opportunity, threat (SWOT) analysis of the adaptations to anatomical education in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland in response to the Covid- 19 pandemic.	65	142
3	N. Johnson	ON	US Faculty and Administrators' Experiences and Approaches in the Early Weeks of the COVID-19 Pandemic	56	206
4	R. Khalil	BMCME	The sudden transition to synchronized online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia: a qualitative study exploring medical students' perspectives.	42	135
5	F. J. García- Peñalvo	EKS	Online assessment in higher education in the time of COVID-19.	40	99
6	M. Al-Balas	BMCME	Distance learning in clinical medical education amid COVID-19 pandemic in Jordan: current situation, challenges, and perspectives	35	111

Most cited publications ranked by number of citations in December 2019 and September 2021 (during the pandemic period)

7	H. M. Dai	C&E	Explaining Chinese university students' continuance learning intention in the MOOC setting: A modified expectation confirmation model perspective.	32	46
8	Alqahtani	ES	E-learning critical success factors during the covid-19 pandemic: A comprehensive analysis of e-learning managerial perspectives.	32	113
9	A.Y. Quezada	JET	From bricks and mortar to remote teaching: A teacher education program's response to COVID-19	25	86
10	F. J. García- Peñalvo	CV	The COVID-19: The enzyme of the digital transformation of teaching or the reflection of a methodological and competence crisis in higher education?	25	145

* EAIT=Education and Information Technologies, ASE=Anatomical Sciences Education, ON=Online Learning, BMCME= BMC Medical Education, EKS= Education in the Knowledge Society, C&E= Computers & Education, ES= Education Sciences, JET= Journal of Education for Teaching, CV= Campus Virtuales, EKS= Education in the Knowledhe Society

Table 4 illustrates that distance education in higher education studies focused on Covid 19 pandemic were cited most frequently. The article titled "Exploring the critical challenges and factors influencing the E-learning system usage during COVID-19 pandemic," published in Education and Information Technologies in May 2020 with first author M. A. Almaiah, appears to be the most cited during the post-pandemic period. It is seen that the two studies, which are in the 4th and 6th place, are also included in the BMC Medical Education journal.

3.3. Most Cited Journals on Distance Learning in Higher Education

Citation analysis also identified the journals publishing the most research on distance education in higher education in 16 January 2018 – 30 November 2019 (during the pre-pandemic period). The analysis found that 32 out of 318 journals had at least ten citations in the research on distance education in higher education. To identify the most cited journals, the number of citations, number of publications, TLS value (calculated using VOSviewer), and h-index (calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software) were used. The ten journals with the highest number of citations are listed in Table 5.

Table 5.

Most Cited Journals in January 2018 - November 2019 (during the pre-pandemic period)

Rank	Journal	Articles	Citations	h-index*	TLS
1	Computers & Education	26	687	15	11
2	International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education	22	389	10	9
3	British Journal of Educational Technology	28	380	13	7
4	International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning	46	300	9	4
5	Education and Information Technologies	29	291	10	9
6	Online Learning	36	277	9	12

7	Internet and Higher Education	13	276	9	7
8	International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning	49	257	7	13
9	BMC Medical Education	23	188	9	0
10	Australasian Journal of Educational Technology	16	180	8	1

Table 5 indicates that the journal with the highest number of citations and h-index during the pre-pandemic period was the *Computers & Education*. Other leading journals included, in order, the *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education and British Journal of Educational Technology*. Although *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning* has more publications about distance education in higher education than *Computer & Education, Computer & Education* has a much higher citation count. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology* is in last place in the table, with sixteen publications and 180 citations.

Citation analysis also identified the journals publishing the most research on distance education in higher education in 1 December 2019-14 September 2021 (the pandemic period). The analysis found that 52 out of 379 journals had at least ten citations in the research on distance education in higher education. To identify the most cited journals, the number of citations, number of publications, TLS value (calculated using VOSviewer), and h-index (calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software) were used. The ten journals with the highest number of citations are listed in Table 6.

Table 6.

Rank	Journal	Articles	Citations	h-index*	TLS
1	Education and Information Technologies	109	272	7	44
2	Online Learning	67	188	6	19
3	Journal of Chemical Education	59	187	6	10
4	Education Sciences	54	174	7	12
5	International Journal of Emerging Technologies In Learning	99	157	6	14
6	BMC Medical Education	45	154	6	0
7	Computers & Education	25	128	7	4
8	Interactive Learning Environments	41	116	7	5
9	International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education	21	69	5	7
10	Revista Romaneasca Pentru Educatie Multidimensionala	25	63	5	9

Most cited journals in December 2019-September 2021 (during the pandemic period)

Table 6 indicates that the journal with the highest number of citations and TLS value during the postpandemic period was *Education and Information Technologies*. Other leading journals included, in order, the *Online Learning, Journal of Chemical Education and Education Sciences*. Although the *International Journal of Emerging Technologies In Learning* had the greatest number of publications about distance education in higher education, it is ranked in 5th place in the table based on its citation count. The *Revista Romaneasca Pentru Educatie Multidimensionala* is in last place in the table, with twenty-five publications and 63 citations. It was determined that the h-index values of the journals were quite close to each other.

3.4. Most Cited Countries and Universities on Distance Education in Higher Education

The citation analysis also determined the home countries and universities of the most cited researchers in the field of distance education in higher education in 16 January 2018 - 30 November 2019 (during the prepandemic period). The studies published during this period came from 104 different countries and 1401 universities. To identify the most cited universities and countries, the number of citations, number of publications, TLS value (calculated using VOSviewer), and h-index (calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish) were used. The top ten most cited countries and universities in the field of distance education in higher education are presented in Table 7.

Table 7.

Top ten universities and countries on distance learning in in January 2018 – November 2019 (during the pre-pandemic period)

Rank	University	Country	Documents	Citations	<i>h</i> -index*	TLS
1	King Saud University	Saudi Arabia	7	177	7	0
2	University of South Africa	South Africa	32	173	6	1
3	Anadolu University	Turkey	13	141	6	1
4	Open University	England	24	138	6	3
5	University of Central Florida	America	7	134	4	1
6	University of Florida	America	7	85	5	1
7	Indiana University	America	7	80	5	0
8	University of Hong Kong	China	10	79	7	0
9	Griffith University	Australia	9	72	6	3
10	UNED - Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia	Spain	13	70	8	0

* Calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software.

Table 7 displays ten universities from eight different countries based on the number of citations. King Saud University in Saudi Arabia had the highest number of citations during the pre-pandemic period. In second place was the University of South Africa, while the USA's University of Central Florida, University of Florida and Indiana University took 5th, 6th and 7th places, respectively. Anadolu University in Turkey ranked in 3rd place and Open University in England ranked in 4th place. Universities with the least number of documents in the table with 7 documents were King Saud University, University of Centrel Florida, University of Florida, and Indiana University. Moreover, the university with the most documents with 24 documents was seen as Open University. Although the h-index values of the universities are very close to

each other, it is seen that the highest h-index value belongs to UNED - Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia, which is in the 10th rank.

The citation analysis also determined the home countries and universities of the most cited researchers in the field of distance education in higher education 1 December 2019-14 September 2021 (during the pandemic period). The studies published during this period came from 122 different countries and 2282 universities. To identify the most cited universities and countries, the number of citations, number of publications, TLS value (calculated using VOSviewer), and *h*-index (calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish) were used. The top ten most cited countries and universities in the field of distance education in higher education are presented in Table 8.

Table 8.

Top ten universities and countries on distance education in higher education in December 2019-September 2021 (during the pandemic period)

Rank	University	Country	Documents	Citations	h-index*	TLS
1	Universiti Teknologi Malaysia	Malaysia	13	66	5	0
2	Indiana University	America	12	56	4	0
3	Open University	England	18	43	5	0
4	Kazan Federal University	Russia	11	36	3	2
5	University of California Irvine	America	10	24	3	0
6	Hacettepe University	Turkey	11	23	2	0
7	University of South Africa	South Africa	24	23	3	0
8	Deakin University	Australia	10	20	3	1
9	University of Illinois	America	14	18	3	1
10	Pennsylvania State University	America	15	15	2	0

* Calculated using Harzing's Publish or Perish software.

Table 12 displays ten universities from seven different countries based on the number of citations. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia in the Malaysia had the highest number of citations during the pandemic period. In second place was the America's Indiana University. Four universities from the USA ranked in the top ten: University of California Irvine in 5th place, University of Illinois in 9th place, Pennsylvania State University in 10th place. Hacettepe University in Turkey was ranked 6th. University of South Africa in South Africa ranked in 7th place, while Deakin University in Australia ranked in 8th place. Although the University of South Africa had the most publications during this period, it ranked in seventh place with 23 citations. It was determined that the h-index values of the journals were quite close to each other.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

The present research sought to examine the studies on distance education at the higher education level both pre-pandemic and the COVID-19 pandemic. The study also aimed to identify the citation and publication

related metrics on distance education in higher education both before and within two year after such an extraordinary situation. Based on these goals, the studies published pre-pandemic and the-pandemic were compared and interpreted through bibliometric analysis. This study first sought an answer to the research question of what were the most cited researchers in publications on distance education in higher education between January 2018 – November 2019 (during the pre-pandemic period) and December 2019-September 2021 (during the pandemic period). The analysis determined that A. Bozkurt, B. Rienties and D. U. Bolliger were, respectively, the most cited researchers in the pre-pandemic period. However, although A. Bozkurt (the author has 4 articles that received at least 4 citations during this period) is the most cited author, B.Rienties (h-index=5) is the author with the highest h-index value. However, it is seen that there is no common point between the authors in terms of country and institution. In the pandemic data set, C. Herodotou ranked first place. J. C. Bonk ranked second place, while M. Y. Doo ranked third place. Moreover, all these three authors have the same h-index value (3) that means C. Herodotou, J. C. Bonk and M. Y. Doo have 3 articles that received at least 3 citations during this period. By the results of another study by Yavuz et al. (2021), in which the topic research and distance education studies in the WoS database were examined between 2020-2021, most cited authors were found Chen, Cong, Peng, Yang respectively. The difference may be due to the fact that this study mostly covers distance education studies in higher education and examines studies related to education in general. Similarly, at pre pandemic period results, it is also seen that there is no common point between the authors in terms of country and institution. However, it is noteworthy that Open University academicians were among the top three authors in both terms (Open University, 2021). Considering that Open University is an institution that only provides distance education, this is an expected result.

Second, this study sought to answer the question of which were the most cited publications on distance education in higher education between January 2018 and November 2019 (during the pre-pandemic period) and December 2019 and September 2021 (during the pandemic period). According to the analysis results, G. Makransky's "Adding immersive virtual reality to a science lab simulation causes more presence but less learning," published in Learning and Instruction in pre-pandemic period, was the most influential article in the field of distance education in higher education. G. Makransky's has another article that ranked fifth in the pre-pandemic period. It is seen that this author has done a study on "immersive virtual reality in education" in both studies. Zawacki-Richter et al. (2009) offers a Classification of Research Areas in distance education which was included covers a total of 15 research areas at upper (macro), middle (meso) and lower (micro) levels. It can be said that both studies of G. Makransky are suitable for the Educational technology research area, which is located in the meso level. As for the pandemic period, M. A. Almaiah's "Exploring the critical challenges and factors influencing the E-learning system usage during COVID-19 pandemic," published in Education and Information Technologies, was identified as the most influential article. It can be said that M. A. Almaiah's article is suitable for the "Instructional design; practices in education" research area in the micro level. It is seen that Covid-19 is effective in most of the articles published in the post-pandemic period. In the parallel of this finding, Yavuz et al (2021) revealed that covid-19, online education, distance education, online learning, distance learning, pandemic, medical education keywords were most used in the articles. In the post-pandemic period, it can be stated that the studies were created mostly around a limited area and were aimed at case study. For this reason, the micro level of the classifications put forward by Zawacki-Richter et al. (2009) can be added as a research area in this extraordinary situation that the whole world has experienced.

Third, an answer was sought to the question of which were the most cited journals on distance education in higher education between January 2018 and November 2019 (during the pre-pandemic period) and December 2019 and September 2021 (during the pandemic period). The analysis shows that the most influential journal in 2018-2019, according to the number of citations, was the Computers & Education (C&E). C&E received 687 citations from 26 publications about distance education in higher education in 2019 (Table 5). In 2019-2021, however, this journal dropped to 7th place in the rankings of the ten most-

cited journals, receiving 128 citations from its twenty-five publications about distance education in higher education (Table 6). Moreover, of the top ten most influential publications in this area published in 2018-2019, the second (W. A. Cidral), fourth (Y.J.Joo), and nineth (C. H. H. Tsay) ranked studies were published in C&E (Table 3). However, only one study, which ranked 7th in the list of most cited publications in 2020-2021, was published in C&E (Table 4). The Computer & Education's impact factor was 2.951 (Clarivate Analytics, 2020) while Google Scholar Metric lists its h-index as 109 and ranked it in first place among 20 journals in educational technology subcategories (Google Scholar, 2021). The most cited papers between 1989 to 2019 in the field of e-learning adoption theory, which were published in Computers & Education, Computers in Human Behaviour, Online Information Review, and Educational Technology and Society (Mashroofa et al., 2019). In 2008 and 2017, co-citation analysis with studies in the field of online learning, blended learning, and distance education revealed that the top journals were Computers & Education, The Internet and Higher Education, Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, Review of Educational Research, British Journal of Educational Technology, and Computers in Human Behavior (Park and Shea, 2020).

The analysis shows that the most influential journal in 2019-2021, according to the number of citations, was the Education and Information Technologies (EAIT). EAIT received 272 citations from 109 publications about distance education in higher education in 2020-2021 (Table 6). While the journal was ranked 5th in the pre-pandemic period in terms of citations, it rose to the 1st place in the pandemic period. Moreover, of the top ten most influential publications in this area published in 2019-2021, the first (M. A. Almaiah) ranked study with 75 citations were published in EAIT (Table 4). The Education and Information Technologies impact factor is 2.917 (Clarivate Analytics, 2020) while Google Scholar Metric lists its hindex as 52 and ranks it in fifth place among 20 journals in social sciences (Google Scholar, 2021). Another important finding was that the Journal of Chemical Education, which was not in the top ten most cited journals in 2018-2019, ranked 3rd in the 2020-2021 list with 59 publications and 187 citations. The Journal of Chemical Education was the most published journal in the top ten rankings, because the publication prepared a special issue for the COVID-19 pandemic in September 2020. Yavuz et al. (2021) aimed to reveal the profile of the studies conducted for distance education activities which found that the co-citation numbers of journals are listed as Computers & Education, International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, Lancet, Journal of Chemical Education, Sustainability and The Internet and Higher Education. Karaköse and Demirkol (2021) listed the first 6 journals in which the 100 most cited articles were published in the pandemic period (1 January-31 December 2020), respectively, Medical Education, Anatomical Sciences Education, Journal of Education for Teaching, Medical Teacher, European Journal of Teacher Education, Journal of Chemical Education. As a result of this research analysis and studies in the literature, it was seen that distance education studies in higher education were generally published in journals in the field of educational technology in the pre-pandemic period. In the pandemic period, these studies were also published in interdisciplinary journals.

Lastly, an answer was sought to the question of which countries and institutions were the most cited in the publications on distance education in higher education during January 2018 and November 2019 (the prepandemic period) and December 2019 and January–December 2021 (the pandemic period). The analysis identified that the most cited articles related to distance education in higher education in the pre-pandemic period were published by researchers working at Open University in England. The most cited country was the USA, followed by the UK, Malaysia, China, South Africa, Iran, and Turkey, respectively. The findings of the pandemic period are slightly different. The results of the analysis show that the most cited article on distance education in higher education was published by researchers at Indiana University in the USA. The USA was also the country with the most citations and the most publications during this period. Following the USA, the most cited countries were the UK, Turkey, Spain, and South Africa. The University of South Africa published the most articles in this area during the pandemic period, followed by Indiana University in the USA, the countries with the highest number of publications were South Africa, England, Turkey, and Spain, respectively. Similar studies in the literature show that Open University in England came to the forefront with its publications during the pre-pandemic and the pandemic periods (Amoozegar et al., 2018). The analysis of research institutions and countries enables scholars to find critical institutions in each field in order to seek possible cooperation and collaborations (Mohadab et al., 2020).

The study's contribution to the field is investigating how the Covid-19 pandemic affects publications in the field of distance education, examining the intellectual interactions and structural connections between research components by comparing citation and performance metrics. This study is limited to distance education in higher education studies published in WoS at 2018-2021. Therefore, expanding this work by using alternative databases (e.g., Scopus, ERIC, PsyInfo, PubMed) and including additional publication types (e.g., book chapters, conference papers) should also be considered. In addition, given that the pandemic affects all educational institutions, research trends can be revealed at different education levels (e.g., K-12, preschool, lifelong learning).

References

- Amoozegar, A., Khodabandelou, R., & Ebrahim, N. A. (2018). Major Trends in Distance Education Research: A Combination of Bibliometric and Thematic Analyze. *International Journal of Information Research and Review*, 5(2), 5352-5359. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3173980</u>.
- Biehl, M., Kim, H., & Wade, M. (2006). Relationships among the academic business disciplines: a multimethod citation analysis. *Omega*, 34(4), 359-371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2004.12.002</u>.
- Bozkurt, A. (2019). From distance education to open and distance learning: A holistic evaluation of history, definitions, and theories. In *Handbook of Research on Learning in the Age of Transhumanism* (pp. 252-273). IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-8431-5.ch016</u>
- Bozkurt, A. (2020). Koronavirüs (Covid-19) pandemi süreci ve pandemi sonrası dünyada eğitime yönelik değerlendirmeler: Yeni normal ve yeni eğitim paradigması [The coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic process and evaluations on education in the post-pandemic world: New normal and new education paradigm]. *Açıköğretim Uygulamaları ve Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 6(3), 112-142. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/article-file/1215818
- Clarivate Analytics. (2020). Journal Citation Reports. https://jcr.clarivate.com/
- Demirbilek, Y., Pehlivantürk, G., Özgüler, Z. Ö., & Alp Meşe, E. (2020). COVID-19 outbreak control, example of ministry of health of Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 50(SI-1), 489-494. https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-2004-187.
- Donthu, N., Kumar, S., Mukherjee, D., Pandey, N., & Lim, W. M. (2021). How to conduct a bibliometric analysis: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*, 133, 285-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.04.070
- El Mohadab, M., Bouikhalene, B., & Safi, S. (2020). Bibliometric method for mapping the state of the art of scientific production in Covid-19. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals, 139*, 110052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2020.110052.
- Elçiçek, M. (2021). Tendencies in Turkey-Based Academic Studies on Distance Education during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 4(3), 406-417. https://doi.org/10.31681/jeto1.916038
- Goktas, Y., Arpacik, O., Kucuk, S., Yildirim, G., Aydemir, M., Reisoğlu, İ., & Telli, E. (2012). Educational Technology Research Trends in Turkey: A Content Analysis of the 2000-2009 Decade. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, *12*(1), 191-196. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ978439.pdf</u>.

- Google Scholar (2021). Google Scholar Metrics. https://scholar.google.com/citations?view_op=top_venues&hl=tr&vq=eng_educationaltechnology
- Gurcan, F., Ozyurt, O., & Cagitay, N. E. (2021). Investigation of Emerging Trends in the E-Learning Field Using Latent Dirichlet Allocation. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 22(2), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v22i2.5358.
- Harzing, A. W. (2016). Publish or Perish. Harzing.com Research in International Management. Retrieved from https://harzing.com/resources/publish-or-perish .
- Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B. Trust, T.& Bond, A. (2021) The Difference Between Emergency Remote Teaching and Online Learning. <u>https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/the-difference-between-</u> emergency-remote-teaching-and-online-learning
- Judge, T. A., Cable, D. M., Colbert, A. E., & Rynes, S. L. (2007). What causes a management article to be cited—article, author, or journal?. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(3), 491-506. https://doi.org/10.2307/20159868.
- Judge, T. A., Cable, D. M., Colbert, A. E., & Rynes, S. L. (2007). What causes a management article to be cited—article, author, or journal?. *Academy of management journal*, *50*(3), 491-506. https://doi.org/10.2307/20159868.
- Karaköse, T., & Demirkol, M. (2021). Exploring the emerging COVID-19 research trends and current status in the field of education: a bibliometric analysis and knowledge mapping. *Educational Process: International Journal, 10*(2), 7-21. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.22521/edupij.2021.102.1</u>.
- Keegan, D. J. (1980). On defining distance education. *Distance education*, 1(1), 13-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0158791800010102</u>
- Laato, S., Islam, A. N., Farooq, A., & Dhir, A. (2020). Unusual purchasing behavior during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic: The stimulus-organism-response approach. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 57, 102224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2020.102224</u>.
- Martí-Parreño, J., Méndez-Ibáñez, E., & Alonso-Arroyo, A. (2016). The use of gamification in education: a bibliometric and text mining analysis. *Journal of computer assisted learning*, 32(6), 663-676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12161</u>.
- Mashroofa, M. M., Jusoh, M., & Chinna, K. (2019). Research trend on the application of "E-Learning Adoption Theory": A scientometric study during 2000-2019, based on Web of Science and SCOPUS. COLLNET Journal of Scientometrics and Information Management, 13(2), 387–408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09737766.2020.1729072</u>.
- Open University. (2021). https://www.open.ac.uk/
- Park, H., & Shea, P. (2020). A review of ten-year research through co-citation analysis: Online learning, distance learning, and blended learning. *Online Learning*, 24(2), 225–244. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v24i2.2001</u>.
- Sangrà, A., Vlachopoulos, D., & Cabrera, N. (2012). Building an inclusive definition of e-learning: An approach to the conceptual framework. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *13*(2), 145-159. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v13i2.1161</u>.
- Selçuk, Z., Palancı, M., Kandemir, M., & Dündar, H. (2014). Tendencies of the Researches Published in Education and Science Journal: Content Analysis. *Egitim ve Bilim*, 39, 428-449. <u>http://egitimvebilim.ted.org.tr/index.php/EB/article/view/3278</u>.

- Sun, P.-C., Tsai, R. J., Finger, G., Chen, Y.-Y., & Yeh, D. (2008). What drives a successful e-Learning? An empirical investigation of the critical factors influencing learner satisfaction. *Computers & Education*, 50(4), 1183-1202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2006.11.007</u>
- Talwar, M., Talwar, S., Kaur, P., Tripathy, N., & Dhir, A. (2021). Has financial attitude impacted the trading activity of retail investors during the COVID-19 pandemic? *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 58, 102341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2020.102341
- UNESCO (2020). Guidance on Open Educational Practices during School Closures: Utilizing OER under COVID-19 Pandemic in line with UNESCO OER Recommendation. https://educacion.udd.cl/aprendizaje180/files/2020/12/UNESCO-IITE-Guidance-on-Open-Educational-Practices-during-School-Closures-2020.pdf .
- Yavuz, M., Kayalı, B., & Tutal, Ö. (2021). Trend of distance education research in the covid-19 period: A bibliometric and content analysis. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 4(2), 256-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.31681/jeto1.922682</u>.
- Zawacki-Richter, O., Backer, E. M. ve Vogt, S. (2009). Review of distance education research (2000 to 2008): Analysis of research areas, methods, and authorship patterns. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 10*(6), 21-50. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v10i6.741.

Journal of Educational Technology&Online Learning

Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021 http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



Opinions and suggestions of classroom teachers in online mathematics education during the Covid-19 pandemic

Veli TOPTAŞ a 🕑, Büşra USLUOĞLU a 🕩, Gökhan ŞENGÜN a * 🕩

^a Kırıkkale University, Turkey

Suggested citation: Topbaş, V., Usluoğlu, B. & Şengün, G. (2021). Opinions and suggestions of classroom teachers in online mathematics education during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 880-895.

Article Info	Abstract
<i>Keywords:</i> Mathematics teaching Classroom teachers COVID-19 pandemic Online education Phenomenology	This research was conducted to determine classroom teachers' positive and negative experiences, opinions, and suggestions regarding online education and mathematics teaching during COVID-19. A phenomenographic research method was used in the study to achieve this aim. The sample group of the study consisted of 14 classroom teachers. This research was conducted online using the semi-constructivist interview technique. In this study, the answers to "How to teach mathematics with online education?", "What are the positive and negative effects of online education on mathematics teaching?" and "What can teachers, students, and parents do with mathematics education in this process?" were sought. It was observed that during the COVID-19 pandemic, classroom teachers entered a new process in online education and mathematics teaching. As a result of the study, it was determined that students had difficulties while studying mathematics.
Research Article	In addition, it was observed that classroom teachers make more effort to teach mathematics in online education than in face-to-face teaching. Classroom teachers also made various suggestions about successful mathematics education with online education to students and parents.

1. Introduction

The coronavirus first appeared on December 31, 2019, in Wuhan, China, and in Turkey on March 11, 2020 (Ministry of Health 2020: 12-13). The virus, which is currently still spreading rapidly worldwide, has been defined by the World Health Organization as one that can cause respiratory tract infection and that can be transmitted through droplets (World Health Organization (WHO, 2020). COVID-19 is a highly contagious disease (Remuzzi & Remuzzi, 2020). Due to its spread, necessary precautions have been taken, and vaccination studies continue. The WHO (2019) states that mask, distance, and hygiene measures should be followed. Due to the pandemic, necessary precautions have been taken in Turkey, as in every country. Countries have been affected by COVID-19 in terms of economics and education. It has also negatively affected nations in terms of health and social aspects. At the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD, (2020), it was concluded that developing countries are the ones most economically affected by COVID 19. During the quarantine period, India's entire education system, from primary to higher education, collapsed (Mishra, Gupta & Shre, 2020). The spread of the virus has led to the indefinite closure of schools and increased demand for distance education (Martinez, 2020). The pandemic



^{*} Corresponding author: Kırıkkale University, Turkey

e-mail addresses: vtoptas@gmail.com, busrausluoglu38@hotmail.com, gkhansengun@gmail.com

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

has been recognized as a significant challenge for education systems. Tam and Al-Azar (2020) argued that there should be flexibility in education systems for the problems experienced in education due to the pandemic.

The pandemic has caused educational institutions to suddenly and in an unprepared way face and initiates online teaching. This situation has negatively affected students and teachers (Marinoni et al., 2020). Giannini and Lewis (2020) also stated that the inequality of opportunity, which creates gaps in education, will impact students negatively. Due to the disease and various restrictions, teachers, school administrators, and authorities have had to cope with the ongoing crisis. For example, the kinds of preparations institutions should make for COVID-19 and how they should determine the needs of students according to their level and field of study are crucial issues at present (Daniel, 2020).

2. Literature

During the first stages of the pandemic, Turkey focused on quickly closing health and education gaps, and necessary studies were carried out. As schools were on holiday, the education process was interrupted. However, the situation was handled in a short period of time. After studies were carried out by the Ministry of National Education, educational support started to be given over the internet and television (MEB, 2020). In addition, the production of masks, disinfectants, mask production machines, and respirators began with efforts to increase the production capacity in vocational high schools affiliated with the Ministry of National Education (MEB, 2020). In such an unexpected situation, quick and important decisions taken by Turkey and its Ministry of National Education have been crucial. Technology-based learning environments have brought different course designs and needs from traditional teaching (Ates & Altun, 2008). In previous years, teachers benefited from various presentation techniques for internet-based practical lessons: the materials used were of high quality, the font size and color arrangements were well adjusted, and this motivated students during lessons, providing them with continuous feedback and enabling the use of catchy summarization methods such as graphics and figures at the end of the lesson. In addition, suggestions were made such as keeping teacher-student interaction very high (Cosgrove, 2002; Elliot, 1995; Rutherford and Grana, 1994; Turnali, 2012). Some studies have stated that the issues to be considered while determining the content in internet-based online education programs should start from what is generally known. The scope and content of the information should be suitable to match the characteristics of the students (age, level of knowledge, etc.) (Sahan, 2005; Turnalı, 2012). In addition, distance education is a form of education that requires information and communication technologies at the highest level. The rapid development of digital information processing and communication creates many teaching and learning opportunities (Öztürk et al., 2018). Therefore, during this pandemic process, it has become necessary to make arrangements for distance education, which has become a necessity rather than a choice for education practitioners.

Homeschooling occurs through television and the internet, often straining and exhausting students and teachers. Self-sacrificing teachers, who put all their strength and skills into school education, try to do their best for their students in a home-based education environment. At the beginning of the pandemic in Turkey, students had to focus on education through television. Later, students communicated with their teachers online through the education network (EBA-Education Information Network) established by the Ministry of National Education. Later, they continued their education in this way. However, this situation began to cause problems for most students as many could not reach communication tools such as the internet and television. The content needing to be used in web-based online education, the planning and organizing of content development processes, planning and designing activities, e-library services to be provided to students, and planning and designing simultaneous live lessons are primary issues (Bilgiç Doğan, 2014). Researchers (Doğan and Koçak, 2020; Türker and Dündar, 2020) analyzed the technical and practical problems related to the EBA system. As a result, tablets and internet connections were provided to many

students with the help of the Turkish government. In this way, the number of disadvantaged students has been reduced.

Like with all instruction, teaching mathematics requires a lot of preparation and seeks to find a unique place in the minds of students. Myers and Cannon (2018) suggested that you must first know, feel, and experience mathematics to learn the subject. Therefore, the student needs to make a special place for mathematics in his or her mind, internalize what he or she has learned, and reflect on it in real life. The teacher is one of the most important guides for students in their quest to feel and experience mathematics. Of course, schools are where this teaching takes place. The Ministry of National Education (MEB, 2018) aims to develop students' mathematical literacy skills and have learners use them effectively, understand mathematical concepts and use them in daily life, realize problem-solving processes, and make sense of the relationship between people and objects using mathematics. Positive attitudes towards mathematics are targeted and defined. However, the COVID-19 pandemic has also rendered mathematics teaching to online education. Kontrová (2015) emphasized that all possible educational options should be looked at in online mathematics teaching, and existing content, scope, and teaching methods should be transformed at all academic levels. This study aims to show how classroom teachers perform mathematics education through online education. In addition, it attempts to look at and analyze the suggestions of classroom teachers regarding the teaching of mathematics during the COVID-19 pandemic.

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Model/Design

Qualitative data collection techniques were used in this study. The qualitative research method phenomenography, which reveals people's experiences and focuses on sharing the meanings attributed to the phenomena by the individuals in the group, was used to analyze the research data. Phenomenographic research is concerned with how people perceive, understand, and experience the phenomena they encounter in the universe they live in. In phenomenographic studies, the explanations of individuals about a phenomenon are not evaluated as right or wrong. Individuals' definitions of the observed phenomenon (learning and teaching) are categorized, and these definitions clarify what individuals think (Koballa, Graber, Coleman, & Kemp, 2000). Within the scope of this study, a phenomenological design was used to examine how classroom teachers, who directly experienced the pandemic's changes to education, effectuated their mathematics education. The research is limited to 14 classroom teachers interviewed in central Kayseri during the 2020-2021 academic year. In addition, it was assumed that the researchers sincerely asked the questions posed to the classroom teachers during the research process.

3.2. Data Collecting Tools

The questions prepared for the semi-structured interview to realize the aim of the study were evaluated by three academicians who are experts in the field of primary school mathematics education. The following questions were developed at the end in light of the positive and negative feedback from the experts:

1. How do you teach the mathematics lesson in the online education process? Can you evaluate the process with its positive and negative aspects?

2. What kind of studies or preparations do you do for teaching mathematics in the online education process?

3. In the online education process, what kind of positive or negative change do you observe in your students while teaching mathematics?

4. In your opinion, what kind of responsibilities do classroom teachers have to students and parents for the successful realization of mathematics teaching in the online education process? What would you recommend?

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the data were collected through online interviews (Zoom meetings) made by the researchers in line with social distance measures. Interviews with each teacher lasted approximately 40 minutes. The interviews were recorded, and then the data were written down; feedback was received from the participants when deemed necessary.

3.3. Study Group

The working group of the research consists of teachers working in primary schools. The researchers used the easily accessible sampling method, one of the purposeful sampling types, in the selection of samples to ensure promptness and convenience due to the interruption of face-to-face education during the pandemic. The personal information of each classroom teacher participating in the study is shown in Table 1.

Code Name	Gender	Professional	Education Level	Teaching Grade
		Semority		Level
T1*	Μ	22	F**	3
T2	М	21	C***	3
Т3	М	15	F	3
T4	F	11	F	3
T5	М	12	F	4
T6	F	12	F	4
Τ7	F	19	С	4
Т8	F	19	F	1
Т9	М	15	F	4
T10	F	12	F	2
T11	F	14	F	3
Ö12	Е	19	F	3
Ö13	Е	12	F	3
Ö14	Е	15	F	4

Table 1. Demographic information of participants.

* T: Teacher Code Name / ** F: Faculty Graduate / *** C: High School Graduate

As seen in Table 1, 6 of the teachers are female and 8 are male. Years of professional experience range from 11-22 years. Twelve of the participating teachers are university graduates and 2 are high school graduates. In the study, The aim was to also include teachers who teach classes at each primary school level. Of these, a maximum of 7 people are teaching 3rd grade and at least one person is an instructor in 1st grade.

3.4. Data Analysis

The data were analyzed by descriptive analysis. The data collected in the descriptive analysis determine what was said or what kinds of results were presented in connection with the study's research problem. In this type of analysis, the researcher can often include direct quotations to reflect the views of the individuals they have met or observed. The primary purpose of this type of analysis is to present the obtained findings to the reader in a summarized and interpreted form (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2018). The categories and codes were determined by considering the questions in the interview form. After the groupings, comparisons were made between categories. The categories created by experts and researchers have thus taken their final form. The 14 teachers who participated in the study were numbered from T1 to T14, regardless of their name or institution.

3.5. Validity and Reliability

In the research, the role of researchers is clearly articulated. The researchers reviewed the notes in the interviews with the participants, and direct quotations were made from the data sources. The data are described in a detailed, transparent, fair, and systematic way. In the research, the observations were presented impartially and transparently. In addition, to confirm what the researchers understood in terms of validity, interview transcripts were shown to the participants, and they were allowed to verify their input (Yıldırım and Şimşek, 2016; Brantlinger, Jimenez, Klingner, Pugachand Richardson, 2005; Creswell, 2020).

Before analyzing the research data, the prejudices and beliefs of the researchers related to the research topic were defined, and the researchers were provided with a statement of subjectivity (Baker, Wuestand Stern 1992; Yükseland Yıldırım, 2015). As for research ethics, the researchers paid attention to the confidentiality of the participants and did not share their experiences with the participants during the interviews. The researchers gave the participants pseudonyms to ensure their privacy. The participants were informed about the confidentiality of the research and filled in the informed consent forms, in which they declared that they were voluntarily participating in the study. The role of researchers is essential in terms of being the person who establishes a one-to-one relationship with the participants and who encodes and categorizes the data (Creswell, 2020).

In addition, the researchers used techniques for monitoring, documenting, and evaluating the analytical process, which is vital for the reliability of the research. The participant role of the researchers in the study is clearly stated. Researchers created an internal audit tool and took notes, which enabled them to distance themselves from prejudices as much as possible and which increased the reliability and validity of the research. At the same time, the thoughts and reactions of the researchers were restricted (Kleiman, 2004; Kocabiyik, 2016; Kuzu, 2013; Uzuner, 1999; Yıldırım and Şimşek 2016; Starks and Trinidad, 2007). The researchers took the experts' opinions about education and measurement areas to ensure validity and reliability. The experts' opinions provided a more in-depth analysis of the data. In this way, the meaning of the data and the relationships between them were determined (Starks and Trinidad, 2007).

3.6. Research Procedures

In the study, which is a type of phenomenological research, the researchers wanted to have face-to-face interviews with the sample group members. However, due to pandemic restrictions, the researchers conducted online Zoom meetings with respondents. In line with the research, various questions were asked to the teachers by the researchers. The researchers recorded their conversations with the teachers during the Zoom meetings. During the research process, necessary precautions were taken by the researchers to attain the correct information. The research process and data are explained clearly and in detail. Categories and codes were created to analyze the research data.

3.7. Findings and Discussions

The questions in line with the research were: "How do you teach mathematics in the online education process? and "Can you evaluate the process with its positive and negative aspects?" According to the answers given by the teachers, the positive and negative aspects of the process were determined. The data obtained from the teachers are shown in Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Teachers' positive and negative opinions about the process.

Figure 1 shows teachers' positive and negative mathematics classroom evaluations in terms of online education. When they evaluated it positively, 6 of the teachers stated that they could maintain some of the classroom rules in online education because they knew their students. Three teachers said they benefit from online teaching and are able to show their students more material design, lectures, games, and songs than traditional education. In addition, 8 of the teachers said that they had a straightforward and positive process because of their students' interest in technology. The answers given by a few of the teachers on this subject are as follows:

T2: Yes, online education progresses very differently from face-to-face education. However, my students and I know each other. For example, it was impossible to talk and interrupt each other in our class without permission. We are trying to continue this rule in online education, as well.

T7: Since we started online education, I have offered more videos, songs, and game content over the internet in classes. Children say that they love education with songs and games in this way. I started to improve myself in the use of technology. I try to keep them focused and motivated as much as possible.

T1: Perhaps my most significant change in this process is that I work in a city center, and I have students with internet connections. In addition, my students' interest in technology and internet use also ensures that the lessons are fluent. Sometimes my students come to my aid and direct me when I have problems with the internet connections.

The answers given by the researchers to the question of "What kind of studies or preparations do you do in mathematics teaching in the online education process?" are shown in Figure 2 and categorized.



Fig. 2. Teachers' preparations.

As seen in Figure 2, 6 of the classroom teachers stated that they gave homework on the subjects they taught. Nine of the teachers indicated that they found a video or song suitable for the content of the special lesson for students on the internet before the mathematics lessons and that they did research before the lesson. Three teachers stated that they designed materials before the lesson or designed materials with their students to synchronize their students' minds to the teaching to be effectuated in the classroom. In addition, 4 of the teachers stated that they produced lesson content at home for teaching mathematics to their students, and they made an effort to ensure that the lessons were not only covered by the lectures. The answers given by a few of the teachers on this subject are as follows:

T11: I usually assign homework for students to practice on the subject I teach. At the end of the lessons, we give and check the answers to the assignments together.

T5: When we were in the classroom, we always sang songs and played games in a mathematics lesson. I research math-related games and songs before class in online education to motivate my students in the mathematics lessons.

T10: I generally like to go to my lessons by preparing materials for teaching mathematics in the classroom or we design and make materials with my children in the classroom. I did not want to lose this passion because we switched to online education with my children. Therefore, before the lessons, I design materials again or with them in the class such as colored papers, toys, etc. We use it as a material. We count them, we collect them, and we divide them.

T8: Since my students are only in their first year, I try to make the mathematics lesson tangible. I want children to learn by feeling, as I did in the classroom in the past. Therefore, I try to write a drama with them in online education, just like activities such as writing by feeling the numbers and games.

Next, the question "What kind of a positive or negative change do you observe in your students in teaching mathematics in the online education process?" was asked, and the answers were categorized and evaluated. Teachers' responses are shown in Figure 3.



Fig. 3. The changes teachers observe in their students.

Figure 3 shows that classroom teachers generally observe and express negative changes in their students in the online education process during mathematics teaching. Seven of the teachers mentioned the decline in the overall teaching of the lesson, 5 of them mentioned a decrease in their students' interest in the lessons, 2 of them especially stated that their students did not attend the mathematics lesson, and 5 of them observed that the feedback during the lesson was considerably reduced. The answers given by a few of the teachers on this subject can be found below:

T12: I had negative observations in general. My students are experiencing a lot of regressions in math class. Most of them come to my class while at home with prejudice against mathematics. Last year, I was delighted that their interest in mathematics increased. However, during the pandemic process, I realized that most of my students closed their doors to mathematics. Some are very afraid that I will ask questions during the class.

T6: One of the saddest things I observed in this process is that most of my students do not attend the class. I especially have students who do not attend math classes and develop anxiety and fear towards math at home. I attach more importance to the 4th grade at the primary school level, but frankly, I am worried that I could not train my students as I wanted during the COVID-19 process.

T3: I observe that my students are less interested in mathematics and Turkish lessons in general.

T13: With the pandemic process, our communication with my students was generally affected. We seem to be losing our connection because we cannot make eye contact with the children. When I was in the classroom, we knew what each other wanted with my kids. Now, I don't get enough feedback, especially in math class. However, if we were in the classroom, that lesson would be very different. Honestly, when the math lesson is over, I do not know at what level which student learned.

An answer was sought for the questions, "What kind of responsibilities do classroom teachers, students, and parents have for successful mathematics teaching in the online education process? and "What do you recommend?" The answers are divided into titles and evaluated. Teachers' responses are shown in the following figures.



Fig. 4. Primary school teachers' suggestions to teachers in the online education process.

In Figure 4, according to the teachers participating in the study who were asked to make recommendations to other teachers in light of online education, 14 of them stated that teachers should come prepared for the lesson, 6 of them said that teachers need to educate themselves on technology and time planning to spend the online education process more efficiently, 5 of them mentioned that teachers should keep in touch with students' parents and follow up with students more frequently, and 9 of them expressed their views on how one should be informed about how to evaluate this online education process. Some of the answers given by the classroom teachers are as follows:

T14: Online education is not a technology field we have never known. In addition, it is one of the teacher's primary duties to prepare before the lesson. However, this extraordinary situation has brought about a new dimension to online education. Therefore, we should bring a new dimension to pre-lesson preparation for our teachers. For example, when it comes to teaching mathematics, the first thing that came to my mind was to blend mathematics with concrete examples at home.

T4: We brought technology and education together during this period. Teachers and students spend their time learning something new every day. Of course, teachers should be one step ahead of students in order to spend their lesson time more efficiently. I also follow my students' mathematics teaching by contacting parents. Sometimes, I advise my parents on this issue. I think that especially 1st grade students and their parents need us very much in this regard.

T11: Most of my students go through an inefficient process in online education. In the time remaining at the end of a lesson, I can recommend that teachers inform students about issues, listen to their problems, and solve them together.



Fig. 5. Suggestions of classroom teachers to students in the online education process.

Figure 5 shows the advice given by classroom teachers to students to have an efficient mathematics education in the online education process. Six of the teachers mentioned that students should read books to understand what they have read. To improve development, 12 of the respondent teachers stated that students should prepare before the lessons, 7 of them observed that learners should repeat topics covered that day after the lessons, and 9 of them said that students should do a lot of math exercises after or before class. Eight of the teachers suggested that students who spent this process at home should improve themselves by planning to use their time correctly and efficiently. Some of the teachers' views are as follows:

T9: I am a teacher who believes in the relationship between success in mathematics and reading books. I can usually see students only on the screens in the online education process. I encourage my students to read books in class and follow them, but we are no longer in the classroom. That is why I recommend my students and all students to read books during this process.

T3: I think that students should be aware of the course and make preparations in the online education process, just as they prepare for the lessons in the classroom.

T5: Since we are in the 4th grade this year, I make my students practice mathematics lessons. I try to provide them with opportunities to practice and practice after the classes.

T10: It is a very different process for students. We, as teachers, need to make plans to use time efficiently, and students should also make plans about sleep regulation and study schedules.



Fig. 6. Suggestions of classroom teachers to parents in the online education process.

Figure 6 shows the recommendations made by classroom teachers to parents for the efficiency of mathematics teaching in the online education process. Eleven of the teachers stated that parents should contact teachers in order to learn how to spend this process efficiently with their children at home. All parents should observe the students before, during, and after the math lesson. In other words, the parents should follow the whole process. Five of the teachers stated that parents should plan time for their students, and 7 of them said that parents should encourage their children to strive for mathematical achievements. Some of the teachers' views can be seen below:

T12: Of course, teachers and parents should communicate during this process. Thus, they can follow the students' progress together and give feedback to each other.

T13: In this process, the follow-up of the lessons should not only be left to the students, but the parents should take the responsibility that falls on them. Parents should be aware of lesson processes and homework and continue to follow up.

T4: The concept of 'time' always occurs in the education and training process. Therefore, teachers, students, and parents need to plan their time to manage this process, whether in school or during home education.

T2: In my opinion, students should have mathematics lessons in online education and face-to-face. Students should be encouraged by both their parents and teachers in this process to succeed in mathematics.

4. Conclusion and Suggestions

The COVID-19 pandemic has forced the world to shift from face-to-face to online education. Today, educators recognize the importance of online education in dealing with education and training challenges during the pandemic. In this study, teachers' positive and negative evaluations in teaching mathematics in the online education process were specified. Similarly, in Attardand Holmes' (2020) study, participants expressed positive and negative opinions about online education. In many studies, was determined that distance education does not give the desired results. For example, in Bayburtlu's (2020) study, teachers

stated that some students could not attend live classes because they had no computer, tablet, or laptop. In addition, teachers noted that the level of attendance is not at the desired level, there are connection problems in distance education, and there are time restrictions. In addition, it was determined in the study that some parents were not interested in the process, did not monitor the students during distance education and, especially when both parents were working, their children were not controlled during the process. Teachers stated that the distance education process caused screen addiction in some students and that parents should be educated on this issue. It was also mentioned that it would be beneficial for teachers to receive training on digital content development. In Adnan and Anwar's study (2020), it was determined that most students could not access the internet due to technical and financial problems and that online learning did not give the desired results.

Lack of face-to-face interaction with the teacher, problems with response time, and lack of socialization in the classroom are disadvantages of distance education. Brooks, Webster, Smith, Woodland, Wessely, Greenberg, and Rubin (2020), Leung and Lamand Cheng (2020), and Karip (2020) also focused on the disadvantages of distance education. In this context, Çelikdemir (2020) emphasized that psychosocial support should be given to students during the pandemic process.

In addition, in a study conducted by Muthuprasad, Aiswarya, Aditya, and Jha (2021), classroom teachers stated that mathematics education entered a new distance education process during the COVID-19 pandemic and that students had difficulties in concretizing some mathematics concepts. Also, classroom teachers indicated that they spent more effort during online mathematics education to achieve educational gains than in face-to-face education. Although it has been determined in many studies that distance education does not give the desired results, its positive aspects have been determined in many studies. For example, Muthuprasad, Aiswarya, Aditya, and Jha (2021) highlights that some teachers use the internet much more in distance education. Teachers showed their students more material design, lessons, games, and songs in distance education than in regular education. In addition, some teachers stated that they could positively apply classroom rules in distance education.

Eight teachers stated that their students had an easy and positive experience due to their interest in technology. Studies (Mirzakhani, Ashrafzadehand Ashrafzadeh, 2010; Begimbetova, 2015; Attard and Holmes, 2020) show that online education expands education and provides equal education opportunities. Online education also saves time and money in the long term by providing flexible access to education in in terms of time and place (Rosenberg, 2001). Basilaia and Kvavadze (2020) also emphasized that students can be flexible about the online courses they take. The pandemic has also accelerated individuals' adaptation to the online education process (Yamamoto and Altun, 2020; Mulengaand Marbán, 2020; Cheng, 2020). This situation is consistent with the research findings. Online education has positive aspects regarding learners' time for self-study and adaptation to technology.

In this study, 6 of the classroom teachers stated that they gave homework on the subjects they taught. Nine of the teachers stated that they did research before the mathematics lesson and found videos or songs suitable for the lesson's content for children on the internet. Similarly, Basilaia and Kvavadze's (2020) research showed that assignments, projects, written assignments, and oral interviews could be preferred as an alternative to exams for assessment and evaluation. Three of the teachers said that they designed materials before or during the lesson with their students so that they would be similar to face-to-face teaching in the classroom; this also served to solidify the lesson in their students' minds. In addition, 4 of the teachers stated that they produced lesson content at home to teach mathematics to their students; these instructors made an effort to relate the content to daily life—not just to the topic's lesson.

Other findings of the study are the observations of classroom teachers about the negative changes in students in online mathematics and the teaching process in general. Seven of the teachers emphasized the decrease in the lesson's teaching, 5 mentioned the decline in their student's interest in the class, two complained about students who did not attend the mathematics lesson, and 5 of the teachers stated that

feedback during the lesson significantly decreased. Cheng (2020) also noted the lack of course content and implementation, communication, interaction, and active participation in distance education as negative aspects of online teaching. Educational programs should be student-centered, students should actively participate, and interaction should be emphasized. It is thought that this situation cannot be achieved sufficiently through distance education. It has been stated that the inadequacy of students' participation in the courses online does not help teachers attain the desired efficiency. In addition, Karip (2020) and Çelikdemir (2020) emphasized that during the COVID-19 outbreak, internet infrastructure, lack of content, and not being able to access communication technologies were serious disadvantages for students. Muthuprasad, Aiswarya, Aditya, and Jha's study (2021) also showed that internet infrastructure and hardware problems in rural areas poses a problem for students and can limit the benefits of online education; for some, it is not possible to switch to a fully online model, and the authors stated that a hybrid model was needed.

Another finding of the study is that 14 of the teachers stated that they should come prepared for the lesson, and 6 of the teachers stated that they should receive training on technology and adequate time planning to provide online education. Five of the teachers said that it is necessary to communicate more frequently with the students' parents and follow the students more closely to make the educational process more efficient. In Attardand Holmes's study (2020), it was found that visualizing mathematical concepts in online mathematics education, teacher-student feedback, and communication will contribute to students' learning. In this study, 9 teachers stated their views on evaluating the online education process. Tezer and Cumhur's observations (2020) also show that during the COVID-19 outbreak, most students spent time and effort understanding mathematics in online lessons. In addition, it was observed that the number of those who were worried about not attending the online math class and those who did not participate were similar to each other.

Another finding of this study is that classroom teachers advise students on how to get an effective mathematics education in the online education process. Six of the teachers stated that students should read books to understand what they read, 12 of the teachers stated that students should prepare before the lesson, 7 of the teachers stated that the students should do a lot of mathematical exercises. Eight of the teachers noted that the students should do a lot of mathematical exercises. Eight of the teachers noted that the students who spend this process at home should improve themselves by using their time correctly and efficiently. This research shows that classroom teachers are entering a new process in education with online math teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic. Classroom teachers also stated that students had difficulty concretizing mathematics in some situations. Concrete materials should be used as much as possible in teaching new concepts related to mathematics and in evaluations to be made (MoNE, 2018). Çelikdemir (2020) also emphasized that students should be supported academically. In this context, it is vital to find the necessary materials in specific learning environments and use them effectively (Halat, 2007; Keleş, 2009; Korkmaz, 2006; Köse, 2011; Ocak and Tepe, 2019; Orbeyi, 2007; Temli Durmuş, 2016; Fuentes and Ma, 2018).

Teachers' experiences are significant in online math education. When the study's findings are examined, it is worth noting that some participants have positive opinions about online mathematics education and some participants have negative views. We also find that teachers have observed negative changes in students, progress. In addition, internet infrastructure problems and the lack of equipment cause inequality of opportunity among students throughout the process. There are difficulties in concretizing the activities in online mathematics education. It is recommended that instructors use concrete materials as much as possible so that online mathematics education can be applied more effectively. The current study conducted on online math education during the COVID-19 pandemic can also be carried out in different research areas. During the COVID-19 pandemic, different studies can be conducted to address the opinions of other branch teachers who teach online.

References

- Adnan, M., & Anwar, K. (2020). Online Learning amid the COVID-19 Pandemic: Students' Perspectives. Online Submission, 2(1), 45-51.
- Ates, A. & Altun, E. (2008). Investigating preservice computer teachers' attitudes towards distance learning regarding various variables. GU, Gazi Egitim Fakultesi Dergisi, 28(3), 125-145.
- Attard, C. Holmes, K. (2020). An exploration of teacher and student perceptions of blended learning in four secondary mathematics classrooms. Math Ed Res J https://doi.org/10.1007/s13394-020-00359-2.
- Baker, C., Wuest, J. & Stern, P.N. (1992). Method Slurring: The Grounded Theory/ Phenomenology Example. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 17(11), 1355-1360. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.1992.tb01859.x
- Basilaia, G., & Kvavadze, D. (2020). Transitioning to online education in schools during a SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic in Georgia. Pedagogical Research, 5 (4).
- Bayburtlu, Y. S. (2020). Covid-19 pandemi dönemi uzaktan eğitim sürecinde öğretmen görüşlerine göre Türkçe eğitimi. Electronic Turkish Studies, 15(4).
- Brantlinger, E., Jimenez, R., Klingner, J., Marleen, P. & Virginia, R. (2005). Qualitative Studies in Special Education. Exceptional Children, 71(2), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290507100205
- Begimbetova, K, (2015). Satisfactory level of teachers and students in distance learning. Master Thesis, University of Gazi.
- Bilgiç Doğan, H. G. (2014). Yükseköğretim Kurumlarında Web Tabanlı Uzaktan Eğitim Programları Bileşenleri: Uygulamalar ve Sorun Alanları (DoktoraTezi). Hacettepe Üniversitesi, Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Bilgisayar ve Öğretim Teknolojileri Eğitimi Anabilim Dalı, Yayınlanmamış Doktora Tezi Ankara.
- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., & Rubin, G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. The lancet, 395 (10227), 912-920.
- Cheng, X. (2020). Challenges of' school's out, but class's on to school education: a practical exploration of Chinese schools during the COVID-19 pandemic. SCI Insight Edu Front, 5 (2), 501-516.
- Creswell, J. W. (2020). Nitel Araştırma Yöntemleri: Beş Yaklaşıma Göre Nitel Araştırma ve Araştırma Deseni, (Çev. Ed: Bütün, M. & Demir, S.B.). 5. Baskı, Ankara: Siyasal Kitabevi.
- Çelikdemir, K. (2020). Continuing learning in the COVID-19 outbreak, Ankara, Türk Eğitim Derneği Yayınları.
- Doğan, S., & Koçak, E. (2020). EBA sistemi bağlamında uzaktan eğitim faaliyetleri üzerine birinceleme. Ekonomi ve Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi, 7(14), 111-124.
- Fuentes, S. Q., & Ma, J. (2018). Promoting teacher learning: A framework for evaluating the educative features of mathematics curriculum materials. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 21 (4), 351-385.
- Giannini, S., & Lewis, S. G. (2020). Three ways to plan for equity during the coronavirus school closures. Retrieved from World Education Blog: https://gemreportunesco. WordPress. COM/2020/03/25/three-ways-to-plan-for-equity-during-the-coronavirus-school-closures.

- Holt, E. (2007). Yeni ilköğretim matematik programı (1-5) ile ilgili sınıf öğretmenlerinin görüşleri. Afyon Kocatepe Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 9 (1), 63-88.
- Karip E. (2020). COVID-19 schools closed and after, Ankara, TürkEğitimDerneğiYayınları.
- Keleş, Ö. (2009). An investigation of elementary and mathematics teachers' views about the new elementary school mathematics curriculum. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Orta Doğu Teknik Üniversitesi, Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Ankara.
- Kleiman, S. (2004). Phenomenology: To Wonder and Search for Meanings. Nurse Researcher, 11(4), 7-19. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2004.07.11.4.7.c6211.
- Koballa Jr, T., Graber, W., Coleman, D. C., & Kemp, A. C. (2000). Prospective gymnasium teachers' conceptions of chemistry learning and teaching. International Journal of Science Education, 22 (2), 209-224.
- Kocabıyık, O. (2016). Olgubilim ve Gömülü Kuram: Bazı Özellikler Açısından Karşılaştırma, Trakya Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 6(1), 55-66. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/articlefile/200424
- Kontrová, L. (2015). Mathematical Learning In Online Education Space. University of Zilina (Slovakia).
- Korkmaz, İ. (2006). Yeni İlköğretim Birinci Sınıf Programının Öğretmenler Tarafından Değerlendirilmesi. Selçuk Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, (16), 419-431.
- Köse, E. (2011). İlköğretim Matematik Programının Eğitsel Eleştiri Modeline Göre Değerlendirilmesi. Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi, 2(2), 1-11.
- Kuzu, A. (2013). Araştırmaların Planlanması. A. A. Kurt (Ed.), Bilimsel Araştırma Yöntemleri İçinde (ss. 19-45). Eskişehir: Anadolu Üniversitesi Yayınları.
- Marinoni, G., Van't Land, H., & Jensen, T. (2020). The impact of Covid-19 on higher education around the world. *IAU Global Survey Report*.
- Martinez, J. (2020). Take this pandemic moment to improve education. EduSource. Retrieved from https://edsource.org/2020/take-this-pandemic-moment-to-improveeducation/633500.
- Millî Eğitim Bakanlığı. (2018). Matematik Dersi Öğretim Programı (1,2,3,4,5,6,7ve 8. Sınıflar). Ankara: Yazar.
- Millî Eğitim Bakanlığı. (2020b). EBA TV ders yayını, it was obtained from https://www.eba.gov.tr/web on April 02, 2020.
- Mirzakhani, M., Ashrafzadeh, H., & Ashrafzadeh, A. (2010). The virtual university: Advantages and disadvantages. In 2010 4th International Conference on Distance Learning and Education (pp. 32-36). IEEE.
- Mishra, L., Gupta, T., & Shree, A. (2020). Online teaching-learning in higher education during lockdown period of COVID-19 pandemic. International Journal of Educational Research Open, 1, 100012.
- Mulenga, E. M., & Marbán, J. M. (2020). Is COVID-19 the gateway for digital learning in mathematics education?. Contemporary Educational Technology, 12 (2), ep269.
- Muthuprasad, T., Aiswarya, S., Aditya, K. S., & Jha, G. K. (2021). Students' perception and preference for online education in India during COVID-19 Pandemic. Social Sciences & Humanities Open, 3 (1), 100101.
- Myers, K., & Cannon, S. O. (2018). Looking inward: (Re) negotiating and (re) navigating mathematics teacher beliefs as teacher educators, students and scholars.

- Ocak, G., & Tepe, M. E. (2019). Evaluation of 5th Grade Turkish, Mathematics Curriculum According to Students' and Teachers' Views. Malaysian Online Journal of Educational Sciences, 7 (1), 23-34.
- Orbeyi, S. (2007). İlköğretim matematik dersi öğretim programının öğretmen görüşlerine dayalı olarak değerlendirilmesi. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart Üniversitesi, Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Çanakkale.
- Ozturk, D. S., Ozturk, F., & Rasit, O. Z. E. N. (2018). The relationship between prospective teachers' readiness and satisfactions about internet-based distance education. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 19(1), 147-162.
- Remuzzi, A., & Remuzzi, G. (2020). COVID-19 and Italy: What next? Lancet, 395, 1225–1228. 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30627-9.
- Sağlık Bakanlığı (2020). Turkey daily coronavirus table. It was obtained from https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/web on February 14, 2021.
- Starks, H., & Trinidad, S. B. (2007). Choose Your Method: A Comparison of Phenomenology, Discourse Analysis, and Grounded Theory. Qualitative Health Research, 17(10), 1372-1380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307307031
- Tam, G., & El-Azar, D. (3). Ways the coronavirus pandemic could reshape education. In World Economic Forum.
- Temple Durmus, Y. (2016). Effective Learning Environment Characteristics as a Requirement of Constructivist Curricula: Teachers' Needs and School Principals' Views. International Journal of Instruction, 9 (2), 183-198.
- Tezer, M., & Cumhur, M. G. (2020). Salgın Hastalık Sürecinde Çevrimiçi Matematik Dersine Yönelik Öğrenci Görüşleri. In Conference Proceeding Book (p. 88). Near East University.
- Turnalı, A. (2012). Uzaktaneğitimde internet tabanlı eğitim programlarının temel boyutlarına yönelik öğrenci ve öğretim elemanlarının görüşleri ve öneriler (Yayımlanmamış doktora tezi). Mersin Üniversitesi.
- Türker, A., & Dündar, E. (2020). COVID-19 Pandemi Sürecinde Eğitim Bilişim Ağı (EBA) Üzerinden Yürütülen Uzaktan Eğitimlerle İlgili Lise Öğretmenlerinin Görüşleri. Milli Eğitim Dergisi, 49 (1), 323-342.
- Uzuner, Y. (1999). Niteliksel Araştırma Yaklaşımı. A. A. Bir (Ed.), Sosyal Bilimlerde Araştırma Yöntemleri İçinde (ss.175-190). Eskişehir: Anadolu ÜniversitesiYayınları.
- World Health Organization. (2020). Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak, March 18 2020 (No. WHO/2019-nCoV/MentalHealth/2020.1). World Health Organization.
- Yamamoto, T. G., &Altun, D. (2020). The Coronavirus and the Rising of Online Education. Üniversite Araştırmaları Dergisi, 3(1): 25-34.
- Yıldırım, A. &Şimşek, H. (2016). Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma yöntemleri. Ankara: SeçkinYayıncılık.
- Yıldırım, A., & Şimsek, H. (2018). SosyalBilimlerdeNitelAraştırmaYöntemleri. (11. Baskı). Ankara: Seçkin.
- Yüksel, P. & Yıldırım, S. (2015). Theoretical Frameworks, Methods, and Procedures for Conducting Phenomenological Studies in Educational Settings. Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry, 6(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.17569/tojqi.59813

Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning Volume 4 | Issue 4 | 2021

http://dergipark.org.tr/jetol



A systematic review of educational suggestions on generation Z in the context of distance education

Hülya DÜZENLİ ^a * 🕩

^a Anadolu University, TURKEY

Suggested citation: Düzenli, H. (2021 A systematic review of educational suggestions on generation Z in the context of distance education. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 4(4), 896-912.

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Gen Z Distance education Open and distance learning Educational suggestions Systematic review	Gen Z stands out as a new age learner group in the context of open and distance learning. Research shows that Gen Z has different needs and expectations form their predecessors; therefore, new educational interventions are required. The purpose of this study is to examine the suggestions of the scientific articles on Gen Z to draw educational conclusions. This systematic review includes educational suggestions (n = 77) of 59 articles selected from search results on Scopus, Google Scholar and ULAKBİM. The suggestions were coded and themed. Then, percentage and frequency analyses were made with the codes obtained. The main categories that emerged were speed, motivation, content, learning environment and active learning. Highlights of these suggestion categories are: rapid delivery of student feedback under the speed category, job-oriented education under the motivation category, use of student-produced content under the content category, paying attention to updating and following the digital contents under the learning environment category, learning autonomy acquisition practices under the active learning category. These educational suggestions are thought to help researchers and educational specialists who try to understand the generational differences and especially the features of Gen Z
	espectation and reactions of Cont 2.

1. Introduction

"To understand a generation is to understand an era. When you understand an era, you get rid of being stuck in the grip of the paradigm. And you will be able to see those who are not like you, not within your own judgments, but with their own truths." (Kuran, 2019)

The concept of "generation" is used to analyze the transformations of individuals and societies and covers periods of 15-20 years. It can be defined as a group of people who were born in more or less similar years, have the conditions of the same age, thus experience similar troubles and destinies, and are responsible for similar duties. The generational phenomenon (Plitcher, 1994), first discussed in Karl Mannheim's article "The Problem of Generations" in 1923, later became popular as a theory by the work of William Strauss and Neil Howe in the early 1990s (Howe & Staruss, 1992). The theory suggests that each of the generations named as Traditionalists, Baby boomers, X, Y and lastly Generation Z (Gen Z), which is the subject of this study, is based on various technological, economic and social changes and is claimed to have different interests, needs and reactions (Turner, 2015). The generation concept has gained attention in higher



^c Corresponding author. School of Foreign Languages, Anadolu University, Turkey. e-mail address: hulyaarslan@anadolu.edu.tr

This study was partly presented as a proceeding at the 1st International Conference on Educational Technology and Online Learning Conference held between 22-24 September 2021.

education as the new age learners started to confuse the faculty by their new and unusual stands, needs and preferences. In the context of open and distance learning, the concept of generation can be used as an analysis tool to better understand the characteristics of the target audience and therefore to create engaging and meaningful learning environments which will stimulate learners to greater efforts.

Considering that Gen Z, who started higher education in the late 2010s and was born in a period from the mid-1990s to the second half of the 2000s (Dimock, 2019; Turner, 2015), has grown up in a digital world surrounded by an unprecedented speed of technology integration and information-communication network, it can be said that they are a different group of learners from the previous generations in terms of their career expectations and higher education needs (Özsari and Saykili, 2020; Somyürek, 2014). In order to bridge the possible expectation differences between the experienced academic staff and younger generations, it is necessary to know the general characteristics of current students and what they need as learners. Besides, the relevant literature is missing a comprehensive yet simple categorization of repeated educational suggestions for Gen Z learners. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to examine the suggestions of articles on Gen Z to draw educational conclusions for better learning environments which could cater for the needs of new age learners.

2. Literature

The Post-Millennial Generation, also known as Gen Z, iGen or Zoomers, refers to those who were born between mid-to-late 1990s and the early 2010s (Schroth, 2019). They are the first demographic cohort who has grown up with access to the internet and mobile digital technology and therefore called "digital natives" (Prensky, 2010) who are considerably different from their predecessors.

It is known that Gen Z learners are more equipped with technology then their instructors (Saxena and Mishra, 2021). A number of researchers have shown that the Gen Z perceives smartphone technology and social media as a natural element (Zhitomirsky-Geffet & Blau, 2017). Their habitual use of WhatsApp and social media points to the potential effectiveness of using these platforms for mobile learning. It is also implied in many studies that Gen Z expects a learning environment that is similar to their virtual world (Cilliers, 2017). They expect quick results, answers, and rewards (Cilliers, 2017; Opriş, and Cenuşă, 2017; Vikhrova, 2017) and have low attention span (Opriş, and Cenuşă, 2017). It has also been shown that they prefer visual learning (Cilliers, 2017), use of technology for interactions (Kushnir et al., 2013), obtaining information quickly and entertainment (Vikhrova, 2017). Gen Z students also prefer collaborative learning

Düzenli, H.



Fig. 1. Gen Z learner characteristics and preferences (adapted from Wahab et. al., 2018).

As shown in the figure, a learning environment which appeals to Gen Z learners should consider elements such as technology, social media, visual forms, speed and also entertainment.

There are not many systematic reviews on Gen Z learners. In Loring and Wang's (2021) systematic study on Gen Z in the context of human resource development, they examined a total of 21 articles related to employee engagement, professional selling and Gen Z and found that Gen Z's organizational need for mentoring and their characteristic of wanting job control and ownership are crucial for employee engagement (Loring and Wang, 2021). In another systematic review study, Saxena and Mishra (2021) analyzed the use of gamification as a tool for motivation and engagement for Gen Z in higher education. Examining 29 articles, they concluded that "games may probably aid motivation and engagement of learners enhancing their intellectual activities by enriching their learning journey in a classroom" (Saxena and Mishra, 2021).

There is a growing interest and a number of studies regarding Gen Z in the field of education. Revealing the general direction of the findings and most repeated suggestions of these studies could be beneficial for open and distance education institutions to adapt themselves for this new target group and to increase the quality and attractiveness of the service they provide for their students. However, there is little systematic knowledge available regarding Gen Z learners. In the light of this identified gap in the academic insight, the purpose of this study is to systematically examine the suggestions sections of the scientific articles on Gen Z in Turkish and international databases. For this purpose, answers to the following questions were quested:

- 1. What are the educational suggestions of the articles regarding Gen Z in the field of educational sciences?
- 2. What are the educational suggestions of the articles regarding Gen Z in other social sciences?
- 3. What are the most repeated educational suggestions?
- 4. What are the themes of the educational suggestions?

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Design

This study is a systematic review of selected articles on Gen Z in educational context. Systematic reviews are viewed as a group of research approaches that are a form of secondary level analysis (secondary research) that gathers the findings of primary research to answer a research question. Systematic reviews can therefore be referred as "a review of existing research using explicit, accountable research methods" (Gough et al. 2017, p. 4).

3.2. Data Collection

Scopus and Google Scholar were used complimentarily to reach the studies in the literature and ULAKBİM database was used to reach the studies on Gen Z in Turkish. Since the qualities such as research methods, data collection tools, data analysis methods of the articles were not meaningful in the scope research questions, a publication classification form was not adopted by the author. Rather, among all the articles published between 2016 (since the studies on Gen Z began to be conducted) and 2020 in the relevant literatures (English and Turkish) the ones which include educational suggestion/s regarding Gen Z were selected in the first phase of data collection process.

To reach the scientific articles in the literature, the key words of "Generation Z" and "Gen Z" were searched on Scopus database and a total of 431 articles were found. Next, the search was limited to only the study subjects of "social sciences", "computer sciences", "arts and humanities", "psychology" on the subject area section since these subject areas were agreed to be useful in the context of distance education of Gen Z students. In addition, the document type was set to be "articles" only and 163 articles published between 2016 and 2020 were reached. The full texts of these articles were tried to be reached on Scopus database from the latest to the older ones and recorded in a folder by the author. The articles which could not be reached on Scopus were also searched on Google Scholar and the reached ones were also included in the study.

In the second phase of data screening process, the abstract sections of the recorded articles were reviewed and irrelevant articles focusing on religious literacy, fashion design, adherence to religious beliefs, dietary habits, organic products, work ethics, politics, election surveys, Gen Z journalists, applied sports science, hotel preferences, consumer preferences, luxury, bank card use, gastronomy, shopping intentions, customer relationship management, online recruitment, individual finance literacy management, sustainable food consumption, retail, hotel thefts, workplace selection, digital technology use in payments, sharing economy, attitudes towards aging, recreational activity preferences, commercial communication, smoking habit, addictive behavior of Gen Z were excluded from the study. Besides, the articles that could not be reached in full text and were written in Russian had to be removed from the list. At the end of this process, 77 articles were obtained and recorded for the review. During the content analysis process, the articles that were deemed not suitable for the purposes of this study in terms of findings, conclusions and suggestions were also eliminated from the study. Finally, 54 studies were selected for the descriptive analysis of the data.

In order to reach the studies in Turkish, only research and review articles were searched between 2016-2020 by typing "Z kuşağı" The Turkish words for Gen Z) into the search bar on DergiPark journal management system. Eight articles were found in the category of social sciences and interdisciplinary, but these articles were identified to be unrelated to the research topic. In the category of education and educational research, seven articles were detected. However, these studies were not included in the study since one of them was already reached on Scopus database before and the others were either too local or out of the scope of this study due to their focus (career stress, risk perception, career barriers, etc.) No

articles on the subject of the study were found during searches in the subject areas of psychology and computer sciences and information systems. In the research conducted in the subject category of education, scientific disciplines, 21 articles were detected. After eliminating the ones which are unrelated to this study due to their focus points (Y generation, the effect of distance education on success, the effect of social network sharing on reading, scale development, accounting education, adaptation of the study skills inventory to Turkish, instructional design studies), seven studies were obtained and recorded. Finally, during the content analysis process, two articles were decided not to serve the purposes of this study and were excluded from the analysis. Only five articles were included in the descriptive analysis as a result of this elimination process. The number and distribution of the articles included in the data analysis are given in Table 1 below.

Table 1.

The number and the distribution of the articles				
Literature	Field of study (n)			
	Education	40		
in English	Other Social Sciences	14		
	Total	54		
in Truchich	Education	5		
in Turkisn	Total	5		
TOTAL		59		

. Tł

3.3. Data Analysis

Content analysis method was used in the analysis of collected data. Suggestion sections of the articles, or in case there were no suggestions sections, discussion and conclusion sections or comments included in any part of the results of the article were examined, the educational suggestions found as a result of these examinations were coded. Since the codes will be in the form of suggestions, they are expressed in sentences, not in phrases. Then, descriptive analysis, which included percentage and frequency analysis of the suggestion codes, was carried out on the quantitative data of these codes. Finally, the codes were categorized into themes and presented in a table with the shortened suggestions.

In order to ensure the validity and reliability of the study, the coding scheme was reviewed by a second independent coder and two separate meetings were held to confirm that the codes represent the entire raw data and to eliminate disagreements between the coders.

3.4. Findings and Discussions

There were two groups of codes consisted of educational suggestions and findings in the field of educational sciences and other social sciences. During the descriptive analysis of the data, firstly these two groups of codes were subjected to frequency analysis separately. Since more than one suggestion can be found in a study, the total number of suggestions in frequency analysis is higher than the number of articles included in the study. Therefore, in the analysis, (n) shows the total number of suggestions in the relevant field. Table 2 shows the coding scheme and the sample data for the codes.
Table 2.

Coding Scheme

Codes	Labels	Sample Data
The Field of Education (For) Gen Z		
finds online environments that support inclusive education and multicultural education practices more beneficial.	E1	"As teachers and staff share in the development of students, they may join in the transformative learning process vis-à-vis context, experience, reflection, action, and evaluation—each component, building upon the other"
needs more frequent and faster feedback and guidance than other generations.	E2	"Generally, these students sought attention, feedback, and guidance from online chairs"
uses the internet mostly to reach information and search for news.	E3	"The main type of teenage activity on the Internet is searching for information for educational purposes and searching for the news"
technology-rich practices such as the flipped classroom and blended learning environments are positive in terms of knowledge and skills building and engagement.	E4	"This study also confirms that the flipped classroom has positive effects on students' knowledge, skills, and engagement"
educational applications such as online games and competitions have shown a positive effect in terms of success and satisfaction.	E5	"The results of this study reveal that the use of the Kahoot application has a positive impact on students' achievement results"
usually prefers visual materials in their education processes.	E6	"They prefer visual learning"
prefers instructional designs that are short and effective, as they have short attention spans and are accustomed to acquiring information quickly.	E7	"and they exhibit lower attention time"
Higher order thinking skills (planning, monitoring and evaluating their own learning) bring success in online environments.	E8	"both generations indicated that metacognitive and thinking skills were a key to success in a fully online course"
There should be reflective thinking activities.	E9	"The students were transformed through the experience of reflecting as they told stories of practice"
there should be formal educational practices for their digital competencies.	E10	"acquisition of digital competences is not inherent to use, but require specific instruction"
Nomophobia (fear of lack of mobile technology) is high, so there should be necessary educational applications for this.	E11	"We frame nomophobia in sleep disturbances which makes Gen Z adolescents vulnerable to temptation"
is interested in student-produced content and learning practices based on these contents.	E12	"The result showed that Generation Z has a positive intention to use LGC"
is more distant to group work practices.	E13	"appeared to be more anxious than the earlier cohort "because (they) fear that group members will not produce up to expectations,"

active rearing places should be emphasized. E14 big rentropy and active and active rearing principles will help reach Generation 2" mobile technologies and applications affect the learning process, positively. The challenge is not to post the content the first importent be arraining process, as well as to increase pupils activity at school" Digital content for educational purposes should be updated and monitored frequently. F16 technology-assisted traditional classrooms are more effective than flipped classrooms. F17 is more willing to share knowledge. F18 prefers process evaluation F18 prefers process evaluation F19 requires critical thinking skills training. F19 etamores have a higher level of digital knowledge F11 rotTAL C11 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen 7 "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" rotTAL C21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen 7 "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" state stocher frequence S1 state stocher 7 "Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and plobalized" ibo-oriented training opportunities	active learning practices should be		"using technology and adult and active learning
mobile technologies and applications affect the learning process positively. "mobile technologies will help to optimize and to improve the learning process, as well as to increase pupil's activity at school" Digital content for educational purposes should be updated and monitored frequently. E16 The challenge is not to post the content the first time, but having the resources and capital to keep the content updated and relevant" technology-assisted traditional classrooms are more effective than flipped classrooms. E17 is more willing to share knowledge. E18 prefers process evaluation E19 prefers process evaluation E19 requires critical thinking skills training. "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" requires critical thinking skills training. "1 identifies that teachers in higher ducation should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" trideating bocial media platforms and finds it more motivating. "Snapehat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. "Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and popular" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. "Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they	emphasized.	E14	principles will help reach Generation Z"
mobile technologies and applications affect the learning process positively. E15 "mobile technologies will help to optimize and to improve the learning process, as well as to increase pupils' activity at school". Digital content for educational purposes should be updated and monitored frequently. E16 "The challenge is not to post the content the first time, but having the resources and capital to keep the content updated and relevant" technology-assisted traditional classrooms are more effective than flipped classrooms. E17 "Students over- all preferred a traditional classroom model instead of a flipped classroom". prefers process evaluation E18 "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" requires critical thinking skills training. E19 "evaluating students from the process and students' development rather than the outcomes or products were considered preferable." requires critical thinking skills training. E20 "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students." TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z "Sapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds nulticultural work environments more motivating. S1 "Snapchat representation Z representationes are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business convinomend, making the worid even more interconnected and globalized" <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
the learning process positively. E15 improve the learning process, as well as to increase pupils' activity at school" Digital content for educational purposes should be updated and monitored frequently. E16 "The challenge is not to post the content the first time, but having the resources and capital to keep the content updated and relevant" technology-assisted traditional classrooms are more effective than flipped classrooms. E17 "Students over- all preferred a traditional classroom" is more willing to share knowledge. E18 "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" prefers process evaluation E19 "evaluating students from the process and students" requires critical thinking skills training. "11 identifies that teachers" "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" carners have a higher level of digital knowledge E20 "having the generation Z the best digital capabilities, with an average of 61.94% " TOTAL 21 "Stanpchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 "Snapchat representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S1 "Snapchat representatives are willing and ready to work in	mobile technologies and applications affect		"mobile technologies will help to optimize and to
Digital content for educational purposes should be updated and monitored frequently. "The challenge is not to post the content the first time, but having the resources and capital to keep the content updated and relevant" technology-assisted traditional classrooms are more effective than flipped classrooms. E17 is more willing to share knowledge. "Students over- all preferred a traditional classroom model instead of a flipped classroom" prefers process evaluation E18 prefers process evaluation E19 requires critical thinking skills training. "It identifies that teachers in higher ducation should develop eight main competencies." E20 "It of all field thinking of students" learners have a higher level of digital knowledge "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. "Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the word even more interconnected and globalized" globoriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 state and finds. S4 uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression. S4 are less willing to hide their personal information and experinces. S6 find finding the motivation. S6 are less willing to hide their personal info	the learning process positively.	E15	improve the learning process, as well as to increase
Digital content for educational purposes File Should be updated and monitored frequently. E16 is more willing to share knowledge. E17 is more willing to share knowledge. E18 prefers process evaluation E19 prefers process evaluation E19 requires critical thinking skills training. "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" requires critical thinking skills training. "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" requires critical thinking skills training. "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the generation Z the best digital capabilities, with an average of 61.94% " trootAL 21 Other Social Sciences "Stapehat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds it more motivating. S1 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. "Sapehat representatives are willing and ready between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" uses social media accounts mostly for self-capted sci." "Ao training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to" 'uses social media accounts mostly for self-capted sci."	Disitel content for churchingly and		pupils' activity at school"
Instance of plance une information is equally. First of the content updated and relevant" is more effective than flipped classrooms, are more effective than flipped classrooms. E17 is more willing to share knowledge. "Students over- all preferred a traditional classroom model instead of a flipped classroom" prefers process evaluation E18 requires critical thinking skills training. "It identifies that teachers in higher ducation and cevelop certable." requires critical thinking skills training. E20 itamers have a higher level of digital knowledge "It identifies that teachers in higher ducation in for information should develop cight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 uses social media accounts mostly for self-expresents. S4 with family and friends. S4 with family and friends. S5 sta a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S6 <td>should be updated and monitored frequently</td> <td>F16</td> <td>time but having the resources and capital to keep</td>	should be updated and monitored frequently	F16	time but having the resources and capital to keep
technology-assisted traditional classrooms are more effective than flipped classrooms. E17 "Students over- all preferred a traditional classroom model instead of a flipped classroom" is more willing to share knowledge. E18 "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" prefers process evaluation E19 "evaluating students from the process and students" development rather than the outcomes or products were considered preferable." requires critical thinking skills training. E20 "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" Icarners have a higher level of digital knowledge E21 "In identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 "Snapchat representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 "Generation Z generation kip may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to" uses social media accou	should be updated and monitored nequently.	L10	the content updated and relevant"
are more effective than flipped classrooms. E17 model instead of a flipped classroom" is more willing to share knowledge. E18 "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" prefers process evaluation E19 "evaluating students from the process and students' development rather than the outcomes or products were considered preferable." requires critical thinking skills training. E20 "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" learners have a higher level of digital knowledge "Sampchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences "Sampchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and globalized" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 glob-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 uses social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S4 with family and friends. S5 with family and friends. S5 was a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 has a hard time admitt	technology-assisted traditional classrooms		"Students over- all preferred a traditional classroom
is more willing to share knowledge. E18 "Women and generation Z had higher motivation for information sharing" prefers process evaluation E19 "evaluating students from the process and students' development rather than the outcomes or products were considered preferable." requires critical thinking skills training. E20 "It dentifies that teachers in higher education Z the best digital capabilities, with an average of 61.94%." learners have a higher level of digital knowledge "TotTAL 21 Other Social Sciences "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" refers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating. S1 "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" gob-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S2 "Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" uses social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S4 "Maintaing relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to." *** S5 "In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support wile solving problems in their families and among closest friends" *** S6 "The new generation Z case interlocutor and take off their mistakes during interperson	are more effective than flipped classrooms.	E17	model instead of a flipped classroom"
E18 Water and generation genera	is more willing to share knowledge		"Women and generation Z had higher motivation
prefers process evaluation E19 "evaluating students from the process and students' development rather than the outcomes or products were considered preferable." requires critical thinking skills training. E20 "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" learners have a higher level of digital knowledge "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. "Sa ipob-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 system Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" "Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" uses social media accounts mostly for self-expression. "In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends" has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 "The new generation (Z) senior school students were rel	is more winning to share knowledge.	E18	for information sharing"
prefers process evaluation E19 requires critical thinking skills training. E19 requires critical thinking skills training. E20 "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" learners have a higher level of digital knowledge E21 TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S2 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 systex social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S4 wift family and friends. S5 systex social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S4 wift family and friends. S5 mate a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S6 systex the ability of the generation Z senior school students were relocation X senior school students were follow worrying for them?"			
E19 development ranker main to outcomes of products were considered preferable." requires critical thinking skills training. "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" learners have a higher level of digital knowledge "Having the generation Z the best digital capabilities, with an average of 61.94% " TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S2 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. "Sapchat representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" yies social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S3 stage there are been and time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. "In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emo	prefers process evaluation	E10	"evaluating students from the process and students"
requires critical thinking skills training. "It identifies that teachers in higher education should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" learners have a higher level of digital knowledge "E20 learners have a higher level of digital knowledge "E21 TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. "S2 job-oriented training opportunities are more with family and friends. "Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance." stage the family and friends. S4 stage the family and friends. S5 mas a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 nas a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 rate less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S7 S7 "The regeneration Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor thines that were deen worrying for them."		E19	were considered preferable."
E20 should develop eight main competencies: facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" learners have a higher level of digital knowledge E21 TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z 21 prefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating. S1 finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. "Sangchat representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" uses social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S3 expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends. S4 S5 "The new generation al support while solving providing emotional support while solving providing emotional support while solving providing emotional support while solving providing emotional support while solving interpersonal communication. S6 "The new generation Z beneration z beneration Z find attractive and popular" "Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" stage apport for their problems with family and friends. S5 expects emotional support for their problems in their families and among closest friends" Thas a hard time admittin	requires critical thinking skills training.		"It identifies that teachers in higher education
120 facilitating the educational process, stimulating critical thinking of students" 1earners have a higher level of digital knowledge E21 "having the generation Z the best digital capabilities, with an average of 61.94%" TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z prefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating. S1 "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S2 "Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 uses social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S4 with family and friends. S5 expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends. S5 finds a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S7 are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S7 S7 "In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"		E20	should develop eight main competencies:
critical thinking of students"learners have a higher level of digital knowledgeE21"having the generation Z the best digital capabilities, with an average of 61.94% "TOTAL21Other Social Sciences (For) Gen ZS1prefers trending social media platforms and finds in more motivating.S1finds multicultural work environments more motivating.S1gibb-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S2job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S3uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S3uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to""In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support wille solving problems in their families and among closest friends."are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S6S7"In the group of self- the generation Z senior school students with family to hide their personal interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students with their families and among closest friends."S7The their prover deeply worrying for their in masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor the instakes during interpersonal conflicts"		E20	facilitating the educational process, stimulating
learners have a higher level of digital knowledge Faving the generation Z the best digital capabilities, with an average of 61.94% " TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z 21 prefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating. S1 finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 'Some treat and treat and popular' "Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. "Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z voluteer attitudes and job performance" uses social media accounts mostly for self-expression. S4 with family and friends. S5 soft make a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 nas a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S6 S7 "In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior School students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their masks", the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their masks", the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust t			critical thinking of students"
Rhowledge E21 capabilities, with an average of 01.9478 TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z **Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular* finds multicultural work environments more motivating. **Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular* 'sob oriented training opportunities are more motivating. **Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized* 'sob training appropriateness' was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance* 'uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression. **I the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving miterpersonal communication. has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S6 S7 **The new generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their wasks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor thines that we deenly worringe for them*'	learners have a higher level of digital	E21	"having the generation Z the best digital competitions with an average of 61.04% "
TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z prefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating. \$1 "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. \$2 "Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. \$3 "Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression. \$4 "Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to" wish family and friends. \$5 \$5 has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. \$6 \$7 "In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor thems'm kay erd den bilty or them?" <td>Kilowiedge</td> <td>L21</td> <td>capabilities, with an average of 01.9476</td>	Kilowiedge	L21	capabilities, with an average of 01.9476
TOTAL 21 Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z *Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 *Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S2 *Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" isses social media accounts mostly for self- expression. S3 *Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression. S4 *Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to" infamily and friends. S5 *In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends" has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 *The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts" are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S7 *In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor thuest haw w			
Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z "Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular" finds multicultural work environments more motivating. S1 "Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized" job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating. S3 "Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance" uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression. S4 "Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to" expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends. S5 "In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends" has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication. S6 "The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts" are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S7 "In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to thell a close interlocutor thines that were deenly worrying for them." <td>TOTAL</td> <td>21</td> <td></td>	TOTAL	21	
(For) Gen Zprefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating.S1"Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular"finds multicultural work environments more motivating.S2"Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized"job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S3"Got training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.S5"In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support wile solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closes interlocutor thicks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor thicks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor thicks', the ability to tell a close inte	Other Social Sciences		
prefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating.S1"Snapchat represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular"finds multicultural work environments more motivating.S2"Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized"job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S3"Got training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.S5"In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close	(For) Gen Z		
prefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating.S1Snapchai represents one of the communication channels the Generation Z find attractive and popular"finds multicultural work environments more motivating.S1"Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized"job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S3"Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"with family and friends.S5"In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S6"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"	motors tranding appial modio platforms and		"Enoughot components and of the communication
Internation in the indertation is in the indertation is in the indertation is in the indertation is interpersonal conflicts"finds multicultural work environments more motivating.S2finds multicultural work environments more motivating.S2iob-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S3globalized""Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S3uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4with family and friends.S5social media difference.S5main time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication."In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S6S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'mask', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply working the merged the ability of the generation of them?"	finds it more motivating	S 1	channels the Generation Z find attractive and
finds multicultural work environments more motivating."Generation Z representatives are willing and ready to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized"job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S3"Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.S5"In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"	mes it more motivating.	51	popular"
motivating.S2to work in a multicultural business environment, making the world even more interconnected and globalized"job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.S3"Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.S5"In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"	finds multicultural work environments more		"Generation Z representatives are willing and ready
making the world even more interconnected and globalized"job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating."Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression."S4uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression."Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends."In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to tully trust their closest interlocutor their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrving for them."	motivating.	S 2	to work in a multicultural business environment,
job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating."Job training appropriateness" was found to be an important moderator for improving the relationships between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.S5"In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"		~-	making the world even more interconnected and
Job offended naming opportanities are moteS3 <th< td=""><td>ioh-oriented training opportunities are more</td><td></td><td>"Iob training appropriateness" was found to be an</td></th<>	ioh-oriented training opportunities are more		"Iob training appropriateness" was found to be an
S3Free Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.S5"In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"	motivating.		important moderator for improving the relationships
performance"uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression.S4"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends."In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	\$3	between Gen Z volunteer attitudes and job
uses social media accounts mostly for self- expression."Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends."In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication."The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7S7S7			performance"
expression.S4using, but mainly it is because they desire to express themselves to"expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends."In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication."The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"	uses social media accounts mostly for self-		"Maintaining relationship may be a defining role for
expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends."In the case of Z generation, the priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication."The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.S7S7"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"	expression.	84	using, but mainly it is because they desire to express
with family and friends.S5In the case of 12 generation, and priority in providing emotional support was related to providing emotional support while solving problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication."The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences."In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"	expects emotional support for their problems		"In the case of Z generation the priority in
S5providing problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication."The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences."In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"	with family and friends.		providing emotional support was related to
problems in their families and among closest friends"has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication."The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences."In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"		S5	providing emotional support while solving
Interpersonal communication.S6"The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences."In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"			problems in their families and among closest
nase a nare time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.The new generation (Z) senior school students were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during interpersonal conflicts"are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences."In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"	has a hard time admitting their mintaless in		"The new generation (7) seriesh1 -to-1 -to-1
interpersonal conflictssowere relation to acknowledge their instates during interpersonal conflictsare less willing to hide their personal information and experiences."In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deenly worrying for them"	interpersonal communication	S 6	were reluctant to acknowledge their mistakes during
are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences. S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7 S7	merpersonal communication.	20	interpersonal conflicts"
information and experiences. S7 the ability of the generation Z senior school students to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"	are less willing to hide their personal		"In the group of self-disclosure skills there emerged
S7 to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"	information and experiences.		the ability of the generation Z senior school students
their 'masks', the ability to tell a close interlocutor things that were deeply worrying for them"		S 7	to fully trust their closest interlocutor and take off
			things that were deeply worrying for them"

expects their instructors to be more technology proficient than they are.	S8	"Students often outdo their teachers in the ability to use new technologies, and expect changes to be taken into account in the educational process"
interfaces for online media should be easy, simple and flexible.	S9	"Designing and developing modern software with an easy and flexible user interface that improves the motivation"
VR applications have a positive effect on learning.	S10	"The implementation of a virtual reality simulation into an inter- professional course had a positive learning effect"
their digital identities affect their real personalities more than other generations.	S11	"The types of data (name, gender) which were previously filled in formally have now become a means for self-presentation affected by Internet discourse"
if they are wanted to interact, the only way is to persuade them.	S12	"The only way to interact with them is through persuasion"
gives importance to security and stability in the business environment.	S13	"This study confirms than Gen Z wants stability and security when looking for a job after they graduate"
TOTAL	13	
TOTAL CODES	34	

After the coding process, the codes were counted and subjected to frequency and percentage analysis. Table 3 shows the findings of the analysis for the suggestions in the field of education and this answers the first and third research questions.

Table 3.

Frequency and Percentage of the Codes for Suggestions in the Field of Education

Codes	Labels	Frequency (f)	Percentage (%)
In the field of education (For) Gen Z		n=77	
wants feedback and guidance more frequently and faster than other generations	E2	9	11,6
Usually prefers visual materials in education processes	E6	8	10,3
mobile technologies and applications affect the learning process positively.	E15	8	10,3
active learning practices should be emphasized	E14	7	9
higher order thinking skills (planning, monitoring and evaluating their own learning) bring success in online environments.	E8	7	9
educational applications such as online games and competitions have shown a positive effect in terms of success and satisfaction.	E5	6	7,7
there should be formal educational practices for their digital competencies.	E10	5	6,4
uses the internet mostly to reach information and search for news.	E3	4	5,1
there should be reflective thinking activities.	E9	3	3,8
is interested in student-produced content and learning practices based on these contents.	E12	3	3,8

finds online environments that support inclusive education and multicultural education practices more beneficial.	E1	2	2,5
technology-rich practices such as the flipped classroom and blended learning environments are positive in terms of knowledge and skills building and engagement.	E4	2	2,5
prefers process evaluation	E19	2	2,5
requires critical thinking skills training.	E20	2	2,5
is more distant to group work practices.	E13	2	2,5
prefers instructional designs that are short and effective, as they have short attention spans and are accustomed to acquiring information quickly.	E7	2	2,5
Nomophobia (fear of lack of mobile technology) is high, so there should be necessary educational applications for this.	E11	1	1,2
Digital content for educational purposes should be updated and monitored frequently.	E16	1	1,2
technology-assisted traditional classrooms are more effective than flipped classrooms.	E17	1	1,2
is more willing to share knowledge.	E18	1	1,2
learners have a higher level of digital knowledge	E21	1	1,2
TOTAL	21	77	100%

According to this table, the most common suggestion that emerged in the studies on Gen Z in the field of education was "They want feedback and guidance more frequently and faster than other generations". This is followed by "Gen Z usually prefers visual materials in education processes", "mobile technologies and applications affect the learning process positively", and "active learning practices should be emphasized.". Considering these most repeated suggestions, it was seen that these suggestions were mostly related to the learning environment, content and learner role.

In Table 4 research questions two and three are answered. The results of frequency and percentage analysis of the suggestion codes in other social science articles are shown below.

Table 4.

Frequency and Percentage of the Codes for Suggestions in the Other Social Sciences

Codes	Labels	Frequency (f)	Percentage (%)
Other Social Sciences (For) Gen Z		n=27	
prefers trending social media platforms and finds it more motivating.	S1	4	14,8
are less willing to hide their personal information and experiences.	S7	3	11,1
expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.	S5	3	11,1
finds multicultural work environments more motivating.	S2	3	11,1

interfaces for online media should be easy, simple and flexible.	S9	3	11,1
job-oriented training opportunities are more motivating.		2	7,4
uses social media accounts mostly for self-expression.	S4	2	7,4
expects emotional support for their problems with family and friends.	S5	1	3,7
has a hard time admitting their mistakes in interpersonal communication.	S6	1	3,7
expects their instructors to be more technology proficient than they are.	S8	1	3,7
VR applications have a positive effect on learning.	S10	1	3,7
their digital identities affect their real personalities more than other generations.	S11	1	3,7
if they are wanted to interact, the only way is to persuade them.	S12	1	3,7
gives importance to security and stability in business environment.	S13	1	3,7
TOTAL	13	27	100

The suggestions in this table, on the other hand, stand out with their themes, rather than the order of frequency. While Gen Z finds popular media tools and social media platforms more educationally useful, it is understood that they may need support in terms of protecting their personal information and safe online environment. Another remarkable result is that they expect emotional support for their problems about family and friends.

Educational suggestions that emerged in educational sciences and other social sciences were analyzed in two different groups. However, some codes show similarities between the two groups. The first example of this situation is the suggestions of "Gen Z finds online environments that support inclusive education and multicultural education practices more beneficial." coded with E1 and "They find multicultural work environments more motivating" coded with S2. Although the second suggestion was revealed to include business life and working environment, the frequency of the suggestions and the importance given to multiculturalism or interculturalism seem to be the same. Another example is motivation and its function within the scope of technology. Another theme similarity was Gen Z's perception of speed and the importance given to speed in educational sense.

From this point of view, it is understood that the suggestions obtained and the codes they belong to can be combined under some main themes and the suggestions can be classified in a more concrete and inclusive way. The result of the main theme analysis conducted for this purpose is shown in Table 5.

Table 5.

Thematization of the suggestions

Themes	Sub-themes	
Speed	Fast feedback	
	Fast interface of online environment	
	Mobile learning environment and fast access	
	Fast and sectional instructional design	
Motivation	Online games and recreational activities	
	User friendly and flexible online environment interface	
	Personal problems and needs to be heard	
	Job oriented educational programs	
Content	Prefered visual materials	
	Student-produced content	
	Educational content about digital competence and security.	
	The use of game and gamification elements.	
	Updating and tracking digital content	
Learning Environment	More technology-proficient teachers	
	Multicultural or intercultural learning environment	
	reflective thinking activities	
Active learning	Practices for gaining autonomy	
	Process evaluation practices	

The main purpose of creating the main themes was to make the learning preferences and tendencies of Gen Z more understandable in line with the suggestions of scientific studies. During this process, while the items related to interaction could form a main theme, "interaction" was not included in the table as a separate main theme. The reason for this is that almost every item has made a suggestion that can positively affect learner-content, learner-teacher and learner-learner interactions of Gen Z. However, this does not mean that interaction is ignored in this study. On the contrary, it should be remembered that all of the suggestions above are suggestions that will positively affect instructional and curriculum designs aimed at improving the interaction of the Gen Z with the teacher, content and other learners.

Conclusion and Suggestions

Gen Z has the potential to be successful entrepreneurs or innovators of the future. These unique talents of the youth could have economic and social potential only if a modern and inclusive education for the new generation can be provided for them. Designing open and distance learning according to the new generation by taking the above-mentioned suggestions that have been brought together through this study into account, can keep the young generation, who are easily bored and tend to drop out of the system, in the system.

This study shows that schools, universities and even workplaces that use their young learners effectively need to be more innovative. If innovation is a key component of addressing social, environmental and economic challenges, it is thought that the more the youth increase their meaningful participation in their communities, the more successful they will be in addressing these problems. The suggestions that emerged and emphasized in the findings of this study, such as active learning practices, participation of students in

Düzenli, H.

the instructional process, and even having a say in the production of their own learning content, support this argument.

In their study, Shatto and Erwin (2016) made the following suggestions for educators about Gen Z learners:

- Make use of mobile technology and applications as much as possible.
- Give readings that can be done on smartphone and tablet.
- Encourage collaboration using social media sites such as Facebook®, Tumblr, Twitter, blogs and discussion groups.
- Reinforce concepts with YouTube videos.
- Use interactive games like Kahoot® and Socrative®.
- Bring lab skills into classroom.
- Record reporting nurses and have learners practice having reports; at the end of the lesson, have the learners record themselves as they report and have them self-report and reflect on their presentation of the relevant material.
- Limit readings to only essential information.
- Include discussions on inclusion and tolerance; group work should focus on changing perspectives; the use of narrative and storytelling is particularly useful when teaching students from diverse backgrounds.

Most of the above recommendations are also consistent with the findings of this study. The increasing interest of young people in producing content in online environments ("youtubers", "influencers" or "social media phenomenon" can be good examples) can also be used in educational environments. An important feature that should not be forgotten about Gen Z is that they have a very low level of tolerance towards those who have difficulty in understanding the ever-changing infrastructure (Gale, 2015). For this reason, it is necessary for educators to follow this change quickly and update their own competencies and teaching methods.

However, the findings in this study only make sense if we determine how to fully realize the potential that young people have. In other words, the data about speed and motivation revealed in the findings, and the data that although Gen Z is thought to have high level of technological competence, they still need to receive a formal digital competence training underline the need for help and guidance while realizing the potential of the younger generation. This support requires that the feedback and guidance processes needed by the learners be compatible with the speed theme emphasized in this study, and that especially the feedback processes must be fast, effective and encouraging. A more difficult educational decision may be the transition from youth and adult relationships based solely on "guidance, support and resources" to a more democratic, power sharing environment where young people become more autonomous. In business, government and organisations, this change can happen through intergenerational partnerships where young people and adults work together towards a common goal and contributions of the youth are valued. Research explains that when young people with bold ideas are reached and when they work collaboratively in a cross-generational context, it can be a way to effectively address complex social and environmental issues (Ho et al., 2015). In educational institutions, and especially in the context of open and distance learning, these decisions may initially manifest themselves in the production, selection and arrangement of content.

Themes from this study can be used to develop questionnaires in future research contexts. Although generational studies are universal, it is recommended that researchers, administrators and educators working in the field of education make evaluations in their own contexts and compare the characteristics of Gen Z in the examined context to universal findings.

References

- Cilliers, E. J. (2017). The challenge of teaching generation Z. *PEOPLE: International Journal of Social Sciences*, *3*(1), 188-198.
- Dimock, M. (2019). Defining generations: Where Millennials end and Generation Z begins. *Pew Research Center*, *17*(1), 1-7.
- Gale, S. (2015). Forget Gen Y: Are You Ready for Gen Z. https://www.chieflearningofficer.com/2015/07/07/forget-gen-y-are-you-ready-for-gen-z/
- Gough, D., Oliver, S. & Thomas, J. (2017). Introducing systematic reviews. In D. Gough, S. Oliver & J. Thomas (Eds.), An introduction to systematic reviews (2nd edition, pp. 1–18). London: Sage.
- Ho, E., Clarke, A., & Dougherty, I. (2015). Youth-led social change: Topics, engagement types, organizational types, strategies, and impacts. *Futures*, 67, (52–62). *doi:* 10.1016/j.futures.2015.01.006
- Howe, N., & Strauss, W. (1992). The new generation gap. Atlantic-Boston-, 270, 67-67.
- Kaptan, S. (1995). Bilimsel araştırma ve istatistik teknikleri. Ankara: Rehber Yayınevi.
- Kuran, E. (2019). Z bir kuşağı anlamak. İstanbul: Can Sanat Yayınları.
- Kushnir, N., Manzhula, A., & Valko, N. (2013). New Approaches of Teaching ICT to Meet Educational Needs of Net Students Generation. *In ICTERI Vol. 2013* (pp. 195-208).
- Loring, A., & Wang, J. (2021). Engaging Gen Z in professional selling: a systematic literature review. *European Journal of Training and Development*. *N/A* (N/A)
- Moore, K., & Frazier, R. S. (2017). Engineering education for generation Z. American Journal of Engineering Education (AJEE), 8(2), 111-126.
- Opriș, I., & Cenușă, V. E. (2017). Subject-spotting experimental method for gen Z. *TEM Journal*, 6(4), 683.
- Özsari, G., & Saykili, A. (2020). Mobile learning in Turkey: Trends, potentials and challenges. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, *3*(1), 108-132.
- Plitcher, J. (1994). Mannheim's sociology of generations: An undervalued legacy. *British Journal of Sociology*, 45 (03), 481-495.
- Prensky, M. R. (2010). Teaching digital natives: Partnering for real learning. Corwin press.
- Saxena, M., & Mishra, D. K. (2021). Gamification and Gen Z in Higher Education: A Systematic Review of Literature. *International Journal of Information and Communication Technology Education* (*IJICTE*), 17(4), 1-22.
- Schroth, H. (2019). Are you ready for Gen Z in the workplace?. *California Management Review*, *61*(3), 5-18.
- Shatto, B., & Erwin, K. (2016). Moving on from millennials: Preparing for generation Z. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 47(6), 253-254.
- Somyürek, S. (2014). Öğretim sürecinde Z kuşağının dikkatini çekme: Artırılmış gerçeklik. Eğitim Teknolojisi Kuram ve Uygulama, 4(1), 63-80.
- Vikhrova, O. (2017). On some generation Z teaching techniques and methods in higher education. *International Information Institute (Tokyo)*. *Information*, 20(9A), 6313-6324.

- Turner, A. (2015). Generation Z: Technology and social interest. *The journal of individual Psychology*, *71*(2), 103-113.
- Zhitomirsky-Geffet, M., & Blau, M. (2017). Cross-generational analysis of information seeking behavior of smartphone users. *Aslib Journal of Information Management*, 69(6), 721-739.

References of the Articles Used in the Systematic Review

- Al Amiri, N., Daradkeh, F., & Al Kaabi, A. (2019). Leadership styles and competence among generation Z Emirati nursing students. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research*, 18(9), 23-45.
- Alhadlaq, A., Kharrufa, A., & Olivier, P. (2019). Exploring e-mentoring: co-designing & unplatforming. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, *38*(11), 1122-1142.
- Ali, R., Jamil, N. I., Ahmad, S. N. D., Mohamed, N., & Yaacob, N. A. (2017). The impact of XRace game board as an experiential learning approach. *Advanced Science Letters*, 23(11), 10648-10651.
- Andheska, H., Suparno, S., Dawud, D., & Suyitno, İ. (2020). Writing motivation and the ability in writing a research proposal of generation z students based on cognitive style. *Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists*, 8(1), 87-104.
- Arslankara, V. B., & Ertuğrul, U. S. T. A. (2019). Lise öğrencilerinin sanal ortamlardaki güven durumları ile sanal yalnızlıklarının sanal risk algısı bağlamında incelenmesi. *Gazi Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi*, 5 (Special Isuue), 274-286.
- Basantes-Andrade, A., Cabezas-González, M., & Casillas-Martín, S. (2020). Digital competences relationship between gender and generation of university professors. *International Journal on advanced Science, Engineering, Information Technology*, 10(1), 205-211.
- Beytekin, O. F., & Doğan, M. (2019). Intergenerational conflict between generation x academicians and generation y postgraduate students in higher education. *Eğitim Kuram ve Uygulama Araştırmaları Dergisi*, *5*(3), 382-391.
- Buchman, S., & Henderson, D. (2019). Interprofessional empathy and communication competency development in healthcare professions' curriculum through immersive virtual reality experiences. *Journal of Interprofessional Education & Practice*, *15*, 127-130.
- Budakoğlu, I., Coşkun, Ö., & Özeke, V. (2018). Probleme dayalı öğrenme süreci: mevcut durum, sorunlar ve teknoloji destekli çözüm önerileri. *Journal of Theoretical Educational Science/Kuramsal Eğitimbilim Dergisi*, 11(4),894-921.
- Chicca, J., & Shellenbarger, T. (2018). Generation z: approaches and teaching-learning practices for nursing professional development practitioners. *Journal for nurses in professional development*, 34(5), 250-256.
- Cho, M., Bonn, M. A., & Han, S. J. (2018). Generation Z's sustainable volunteering: Motivations, attitudes and job performance. *Sustainability*, *10*(5), 1400.
- Dabija, D. C., Babut, R., Dinu, V., & Lugojan, M. I. (2017). Cross-Generational Analysis of Information Searching Based on Social Media in Romania. *Transformations in Business & Economics*, 16(2), 248-270.
- Deniz, L., & Tutgun-Ünal, A. (2019). Sosyal medya çağında kuşakların sosyal medya kullanımı ve değerlerine yönelik bir dizi ölçek geliştirme çalışması. *OPUS Uluslararası Toplum Araştırmaları Dergisi*, *11*(18), 1025-1057.

- Dougherty, I., & Clarke, A. (2018). Wired for innovation: Valuing the unique innovation abilities of emerging adults. *Emerging Adulthood*, 6(5), 358-365.
- Dukut, E. M. (2019). Popularizing Indonesian scenes through picturebooks and digital animation software: a World Englishes teaching idea. *Asian Englishes*, 21(2), 142-157.
- Dwidienawati, D., & Gandasari, D. (2018). Understanding Indonesia's generation Z. International Journal of Engineering & Technology, 7(3), 245-253.
- Fedock, B. (2017). Online Dissertation Chairs' Perceptions on the Role of Reflective Mentoring Practices and Changing Student Cross-Cultural and Generational Worldviews. *SAGE Open*, 7(2), 1-8.
- Fedosejeva, J., Boče, A., Romanova, M., Iliško, D., & Ivanova, O. (2018). Education for sustainable development: The choice of pedagogical approaches and methods for the implementation of pedagogical tasks in the Anthropocene age. *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability*, 20(1), 157-179.
- Gentina, E., Tang, T. L. P., & Dancoine, P. F. (2018). Does Gen Z's emotional intelligence promote iCheating (cheating with iPhone) yet curb iCheating through reduced nomophobia?. *Computers & Education*, *126*, 231-247.
- Hampton, D., Welsh, D., & Wiggins, A. T. (2020). Learning preferences and engagement level of generation Z nursing students. *Nurse Educator*, 45(3), 160-164.
- Hanz, K., & Kingsland, E. S. (2020). Fake or for real? A fake news workshop. *Reference Services Review*, 48(1), 91-112.
- Hernandez-Pozas, O., & Carreon-Flores, H. (2019). Teaching international business using virtual reality. *Journal of Teaching in International Business*, 30(2), 196-212.
- Khechine, H., & Lakhal, S. (2018). Technology as a double-edged sword: from behavior prediction without to students' outcomes considering personal characteristics. *Journal of Information Technology Education*, *17*, 63-102.
- Kraleva, R., Sabani, M., Kralev, V., & Kostadinova, D. (2020). An approach to designing and developing an LMS framework appropriate for young pupils. *International Journal of Electrical & Computer Engineering*, 10 (2), 1587-1598.
- Kusá, A., & Záziková, Z. (2016). Influence of the social networking website snapchat on the generation *Z. European Journal of Science and Theology*, *12*(5), 145-154.
- Lifintsev, D., & Wellbrock, W. (2019). Cross-cultural communication in the digital age. *Estudos em Comunicação*, 1(28), 93-104.
- Lifintsev, D., Fleşeriu, C., & Wellbrock, W. (2019). A study of the attitude of Generation Z to cross-cultural interaction in business. *Informacijos Mokslai/Information Sciences*, 86 (2019), 41-55
- Matraeva, L., Vasiutina, E., Belyak, A., Solodukha, P., Bondarchuk, N., & Efimova, M. (2019). Economic Model of Generation Z Behavior. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 8(3), 123-123.
- Meritan, C., & Mroz, A. (2019). Impact of self-reflection and awareness-raising on novice French learners' pronunciation. *Foreign Language Annals*, 52(4), 798-821.
- Mokhtar, M.M., Jamil, M. (2020). Mobile Technology Integration in the 2020s: The impact of technology leadership in the Malaysian context. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 8 (1), 156-163.
- Montiel, I., Delgado-Ceballos, J., Ortiz-de-Mandojana, N., & Antolin-Lopez, R. (2020). New ways of teaching: using technology and mobile apps to educate on societal grand challenges. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *161*(2), 243-251.

- Murillo-Zamorano, L. R., Sánchez, J. Á. L., & Godoy-Caballero, A. L. (2019). How the flipped classroom affects knowledge, skills, and engagement in higher education: Effects on students' satisfaction. *Computers & Education*, 141(2019), 1-18.
- Nayır, F., & Çınkır, Ş. (2017). Değişen zaman, değişen ihtiyaçlar: türkiye'de kuşaklararası eğitimin karşılaştırılması. Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi, 8(1), 19-28.
- Nuzulita, N., & Subriadi, A. P. (2020). The role of risk-benefit and privacy analysis to understand different uses of social media by Generations X, Y, and Z in Indonesia. *The Electronic Journal of Information Systems in Developing Countries*, e12122.
- Ortiz, S., & Green, M. (2019). Trends and patterns of mobile learning: A study of mobile learning management system access. *Turkish online journal of distance education*, 20(1), 161-176.
- Pečiuliauskienė, P. (2018). The structure of interpersonal communication skills of the new generation senior school students: the case of generations X and Z. *Pedagogy*, *130*(2), 116-130.
- Persada, S. F., Ivanovski, J., Miraja, B. A., Nadlifatin, R., Mufidah, I., Chin, J., & Redi, A. A. N. P. (2020). Investigating Generation Z'Intention to Use Learners' Generated Content for Learning Activity: A Theory of Planned Behavior Approach. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET)*, 15(04), 179-194.
- Persada, S. F., Miraja, B. A., & Nadlifatin, R. (2019). Understanding the generation Z behavior on Dlearning: A Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) approach. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET)*, 14(05), 20-33.
- Petrovna, L.A., (2019). Cognitive Strategies of Self-Naming Among Schoolchildren (Gender Aspect). Вопросы Ономастики, 16 (4),151–167.
- Poláková, P., & Klímová, B. (2019). Mobile technology and generation z in the English language classroom—A preliminary study. *Education Sciences*, 9(3), 203.
- Pousson, J. M., & Myers, K. A. (2018). Ignatian pedagogy as a frame for universal design in college: meeting learning needs of generation Z. *Education sciences*, 8(4), 193.
- Puchkova, E. B., YuV, S., & Temnova, L. V. (2017). A study of Generation Z's involvement in virtual reality. *Psychology in Russia*, 10(4), 46.
- Sarker, R. I., Kaplan, S., Anderson, M. K., Haustein, S., Mailer, M., & Timmermans, H. J. (2019). Obtaining transit information from users of a collaborative transit app: Platform-based and individual-related motivators. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 102(2019), 173-188.
- Schlee, R. P., Eveland, V. B., & Harich, K. R. (2020). From Millennials to Gen Z: Changes in student attitudes about group projects. *Journal of Education for Business*, 95(3), 139-147.
- Semenog, O., Yurchenko, A., Udovychenko, O., Kharchenko, I., & Kharchenko, S. (2019). Formation of Future Teachers' Skills to Create and Use Visual Models of Knowledge. *TEM Journal*, 8(1), 275.
- Semenog, O., Yurchenko, A., Udovychenko, O., Kharchenko, I., & Kharchenko, S. (2019). Formation of future teachers' skills to create and use visual models of knowledge. *TEM Journal*, 8(1), 275.
- Seymen, A. F. (2017). Associating the characteristics of y and z generation traits with ministry of national education 2014-2019 strategic program and TÜBİTAK vision 2023 predictions. *Kent Akademisi*, 10 (32), 467-489.

- Shen, Y. S., Choi, H. C., Joppe, M., & Yi, S. (2020). What motivates visitors to participate in a gamified trip? A player typology using Q methodology. Tourism Management, 78(2020), 1-15.
- Sitko-Dominik, M. (2019). Generational Membership and the Intensity of Social Media use Among Young Adults. *The New Educational Review*, 58, (4), 122-132
- Sriprom, C., Rungswang, A., Sukwitthayakul, C., & Chansri, N. (2019). Personality traits of thai gen z undergraduates: challenges in the efl classroom?. PASAA: Journal of Language Teaching and Learning in Thailand, 57, 165-190.
- Sugiarto, E., & Lestari, W. (2020). The Collaboration of Visual Property and Semarangan Dance: A Case Study of Student Creativity in'Generation Z'. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, *10*(12), 100-110.
- Susilo, A., Djatmika, E. T., Mintarti, S. U., & Wahyono, H. (2019). The entrepreneurial learning of generation z students in industrial revolution era 4.0 (a case study in tertiary education of yogyakarta and surakarta, indonesia). *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research*, 18(9), 96-113.
- Syaha, M. F. J., & Harsono, E. R. L. (2020). The Development of Motion-Graphic Media in Learning: An Advanced Use of PowerPoint in Schools for Baby Boomer, X and Y Generation Teachers. *Development*, 12(2).
- <u>Temel Eginli, A., Isik, S.</u> (2020). <u>Generational differences in digital age a research on technology</u> <u>experiences of generations</u>. <u>International Journal of Scientific and Technology Research</u>, 9(2), 3150-3154
- Thinnukool, O., & Kongchouy, N. (2017). Is facebook a suitable tool in modern world technology for active learning in as regards 21st century learning?. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET)*, *12*(10), 173-191.
- Türker, M. S. (2019). Blog kullanımının yabancı dil olarak Türkçe öğrenenlerin okumaya yönelik tutumları üzerindeki etkisi. *Trakya Eğitim Dergisi*, 9(2), 199-210.
- Vladimirovna, K. T., Jaroslav, K., Tomas, K., & Mikhaelovna, M. S. (2016). Meaningfulness of academic migrants' education, its assessment and modeling on IT-based technologies. Экономика региона, 12(2),485-498.
- Wahab, A. N. A., Ang, M. C., Jenal, R., Mukhtar, M., Elias, N. F., Arshad, H., ... & Shukor, S. A. (2018). Mooc implementation in addressing the needs of generation Z towards discrete mathematics learning. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology*, 96(21), 7030-7040.
- Wee, D. (2019). Generation Z talking: transformative experience in educational travel. Journal of Tourism Futures, Vol. 5 No. 2, pp. 157-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JTF-02-2019-0019</u>
- Yu, E. (2020). Student-Inspired Optimal Design of Online Learning for Generation Z. *Journal of Educators Online*, *17*(1). N/A
- Zhilavskaya, I., Ivanova, T., Dubover, D., & Onuchina, K. (2016). Youth Foresight: We Will All Be Media in 2035. *International Journal of Environmental and Science Education*, 11(18), 12245-12252.
- Zhitomirsky-Geffet, M. and Blau, M. (2017). Cross-generational analysis of information seeking behavior of smartphone users. Aslib Journal of Information Management, Vol. 69 No. 6, pp. 721-739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/AJIM-04-2017-0083</u>